


This is the famous portrait found in Corpus Christi College, Cambridge University, 
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Preface 

This book was written to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the author 
of the poems and plays attributed to William Shakespeare was actually Christo­
pher Marlowe. the poetic genius who was supposed to have been killed in 1593. 
It seemed to this writer that if. indeed. Marlowe was the towering genius who 
wrote the thirty-six plays in the First Folio. the readers of those plays would not 
only want to know of the man who wrote them but would also want to honor 
him as the greatest literary genius in all of history. 

Harold C. Goddard wrote in The Meaning of Shakespeare: "We must know 
Shakespeare before we know what he wrote precisely in order to be capable of 
finding out more nearly what he did write." In other words, a writer's biogra­
phy may be as important as the works he authored . 

It took this writer seven years of daily, arduous research to produce a 
chronological account of what must be considered the most extraordinary biog­
raphy in the annals of literature. That it includes some speculation goes with­
out saying. The many biographies of Shakespeare, based on no documentary 
evidence that he was a writer. are more works of fiction than historical fact. 

It was Calvin Hoffman who. in 1955, first advanced the theory that Christo­
pher Marlowe did not die in 1593 as reported, but underwent a faked death to 
protect him from Archbishop Whitgift's inquisition. As editor of the Universal 
Library at Grosset & Dunlap. I reprinted Hoffman's book, The Murder of the 
Man Who Was Shakespeare, in a paperback edition. It was the reading of that 

book that turned me into a Marlovian. 
Since then , I entertained the idea of carrying forth where Hoffman left off. 

Eight years ago [ felt ready to take on the task . Writing this book has been an 
exhilarating experience. and I hope that the reader will have an exhilarating 
experience reading it. 

While the book contains some original conjectures of my own. I have relied 
almost entirely on the mountain of books written about Marlowe. Shakespeare. 
and the Elizabethan era. My work consisted mainly of weaving a tapestry from 
the many strands of biographical information I found hidden and buried in the 
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2 Preface 

published literature. And I continue to find new interesting bits and pieces of 
information that add to what I have compiled. In other words, this is a labor 
that has no end. 

r would like to pay tribute to all of those scholars and biogra phers who have 
paved the way for this writer. Many of them, such as Stanley Wells, A.L. Rowse, 
Tucker Brooke, Kenneth Muir, and others in their league, have spent most of 
their professional lives living and breathing Shakespeare. More recent biogra­
phers of Marlowe - Kuriyama, Nicholl, Riggs, Honan, Kendall- have added 
substantially to what we know about the poet-playwright. But none of them 
ventured forth beyond the questionable events of May 1593. 

1 am especially indebted not only to the work of Calvin Hoffman, but also 
to the work of that intrepid biographer of Marlowe, A.D. Wraight, whose book, 
In Search a/Christopher Marlowe, published in 1965, provides the best pictorial 
biography of the Canterbury poet published to date. My great sorrow is that she 
died before I had a chance to meet her. 

I wish to also acknowledge the help and encouragement I have received 
from John Baker, America's foremost Marlovian. John lives in Centralia, Wash­
ington, and has the liveliest Marlovian website on the Internet. His singular 
devotion to the Marlowe theory is a rare example of a selfless pursuit of truth 
for its own sake . His constant compilation of newly uncovered facts is a daily 
reminder that what we know is only a small part of what remains to be known. 

I also found Michael Rubbo's beautiful and evocative film, Much Ado About 

Something, an encouraging event in the endeavor to bring the authorship ques­
tion to the public. Michael, a gifted Australian cinematographer, was also in­
spired by Calvin Hoffman's work and spent five years making this extraordinary 
film . It is my hope that this book will expand the public's interest in this fasci­

nating and absorbing story. 
I am also indebted to my good friend Carlo T. DiNota of the English Depart­

ment of Berkeley Preparatory School in Tampa, Florida, who was the first to read 
the manuscript as a work in progress. At that time he was teaching English lit­
erature at the Maimonides School in Brookline, Massachusetts, and the reaction 
of his very bright students to my work was so positive that I was greatly encour­

aged to complete the book. 
My gratitude must also go to Cathie Brettschneider for obtaining two 

reports from scholars who commended the project and suggested ways to 

improve it. 
As an octogenarian, I am grateful to all of those who have, in countless ways, 

enriched my life . I am happy that for the last eight years I have been immersed 
in the glorious writings of the world's greatest literary genius and the great his­
torical era in which he lived. If this book does little more than add something 
of value to the world's knowledge of the greatest writer of all time and of his 

tragic exile, it will have served its purpose. 



Prologue 

We begin with questions. 
Does it matter who wrote the plays and poems attributed to William Shake­

speare? Should we care one way or another? What difference does it make, or 
will make, in our appreciation of the works as literature? 

These are questions often asked when the authorship question is brought 
up. My own belief is that the truth in this case is far better than fiction, and that 
the truth should be pursued for its own sake, because truth must be the basis of 
the wisdom we need, not only in the pursuit of our own happiness and well­
being but also in establishing justice with the past for the sake of future gener­
ations. 

There is nothing unreasonable, or illogical, about the premise that the man 
named William Shakespeare did not and could not write the works attributed 
to him . Nothing in the documented biographical data gathered about the man 
in the last 300 years suggests that he was a writer or poet capable of writing the 
greatest plays in literary history. 

To overlook the authorship question, to ignore what it suggests about life 
in Elizabethan England, is to close one's mind to history. The fact that the writer 
of these works is considered to be the grea test dra rna tist of all time is enough to 
force us to investigate this matter, wherever it may lead. The fact that a virtual 
library of books has been written on this subject proves that interest in this mat­
ter of authorship cannot be dismissed as irrelevant to the works themselves. If 
what we are considering is a conspiracy of extraordinary scope, then it is rea­
sonable to assume that clues pertaining to that conspiracy will be found in the 
plays and poems written by the true author. 

It should be stated that the purpose of this book is not to disparage William 
Shakespeare or the legend that has grown up around him. Its purpose is to offer 
an alternative story that provides logical and rational explanations of what took 
place during the years when the plays and poems were being written. 

The difficulty in trying to establish fact for the historian is the remoteness 
of the events that took place and the scarcity of hard biographical and docu­
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4 Prologue 

mentary evidence when it comes to William Shakespeare . There were no com­
puters, or tape recorders, or cameras in those days . There was no television, no 
directories, no daily newspapers with theater reviewers, none of the informa­
tion-age paraphernalia which we take so much for granted . 

In the sixteenth century, printing and publishing were still somewhat prim­
itive. Record keeping was all done by hand and was mainly the function of 
churches, courts, and government bureaus. Important records were often writ­
ten in Latin. Copyright laws, as we know them, didn't exist. The Stationers Com­
pany tried to regulate publication and was often used as a means of censoring 
what reached the public. It was common for a play to be published and circu­
lated without an author's name attached . Extensive biographical data about indi­
viduals, famous or not, was virtually unobtainable. Rumor and hearsay were the 
main sources of popular information. Most of what we know today about Shake­
speare is the result of years of search in government archives, church and court 
records, and the harvest has been by all accounts, pretty meager. 

For example, there doesn't seem to exist a single page of manuscript writ­
ten in the hand of Shakespeare that would establish his authorship . All of the 
manuscripts used in the publication of the First Folio are nowhere to be found. 
Were they deliberately destroyed by the publishers? Where are the original drafts 
of the Sonnets? Anyone who could find such a draft would most likely be paid 
millions of dollars for it at auction. 

What is left for historians and biographers to do? They must take whatever 
hard data exists and simply conjecture what must have happened in between . 
An imagination can run wild under such circumstances, but a circumspect his­
torian will try to stick to the documented facts and use logic and a strong sense 
of probability in filling in the missing pieces of the puzzle. 

And so we launch into this maze of mysteries because , like Mount Everest, 

it is there to be explored and finally conquered . Anyone who has come to love 
the plays and poems written by this author will want to know who he was so 
that he can better understand their hidden depth s. 
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The Mystery Examined 

The long-standing controversy over William Shakespeare's authorship has 
been with us ever since the English clergyman the Rev. James Wilmot concluded 
in 1781 that Shakespeare simpl y did not have the education or experience to have 
written the works attributed to him. Thinking that the great playwright must have 
had a substantial library that, aft er his death, was sold off to the loca l gentry by 
his poor, illiterate heirs, Wilmot investigated every bookcase for fifty miles around 
Stratford and could not find a single volume once belonging to a playwright who 
had made extensive use of source books for his plays. Wilmot concluded that the 
man from Stratford was not the man who wrote the works attributed to him . 
Thus, the question became : who did write the greatest plays in English literature? 

Those who have accepted the view that the man known as William Shake­
speare actually wrote these works have woven elaborate biographies based on 
non-existing biographical data . If there is reference in a play that required a 
knowledge of Latin, they assume that Shakespeare knew Latin . And because in 
the plays there are accurate descriptions of specific places in italy, they assume 
that he must have been to Ita ly. But there is no evidence that the man William 
Shakespeare ever traveled to Italy. 

Graham Phillips and Martin Keatman summed up the biographical prob­
lem in their book, The Shakespeare Conspiracy (pp. I, 6, 13): 

The life of William Shakespea re is shrouded in mystery. T here is no record of him 
receiving an education , bu ying a book or writing a single letter, and no o riginal 
manuscript of a Shakes peare play survives. There is no direct reco rd of his conver­
sations, and no one in his home town seems to have known tha t he was a successful 
playwright while he was a live . There is no t even a contempora r y portra it to reveal 
his true appearance .... 

Almost every thing in the orthodox life of William Shakespea re is fictitiou s.. . 
Any theories concerning how Shakespeare joined the thea tre , or how he first 

began writing , are simpl y that - theories. The only record o f Shakespeare from his 
marriage at eighteen , until around his thirtieth year , are the birth s of his children, 
and his name on a legal document relating to his moth er .... This furmative period 
remains a total mystery. 
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6 The Marlowe-Shakespeare Connection 

We know that Shakespeare was part owner of a theatre company, an actor, 
and a shrewd businessman. But was he also a writer? Mark Twain, a serious 
doubter of Shakespeare's authorship, was particularly disturbed by the total 

absence of anything related to authorship in Shakespeare's will, written in 1616 
shortly before his death . Twain wrote : 

It named in minute detail ever)' item of property he owned in the world - houses, 
lands, sword, silver-gilt bowl , and so on. It mentioned not a single book . The 
will mentioned not a play, not a poem, not an unfinished literary work, and not 
a scrap of manuscript of any kind . Books were much more precious than swords 
and silver-gilt bowls, and when a departing person owned one he gave it a high 
place in his will. 

Not even Shakespeare's son-in-law, John Hall, a noted physician and author 
of a medical book in Latin , knew that his wife's father was a writer of any kind. 
Hall and his wife Susanna were the chief beneficiaries of Shakespeare's will. 

Henry James commented: "I am haunted by the conviction that the divine 
William is the biggest and most successful fraud ever practiced on a patient 
world." 

However, those who believe that Shakespeare was not the author, have the 
problem of coming up with the person who was. The greatest plays in al\ of 
English literature did not write themselves. There was an author, but who was 
he? If Shakespeare did not write them, who did? 

There have been three major contenders for authorship: Edward de Vere, 
seventeenth Earl of Oxford (1550-1604); Francis Bacon (1561-1626); and Christo­
pher Marlowe (1564-1593?). But each contender poses problems that have to be 
solved before being acclaimed author. 

Oxfordians have several very serious dilemmas: Oxford died in 1604 well 
before the last plays were written . There is no documented evidence anywhere 
that he wrote any of the works attributed to Shakespeare. Also, the question of 
motivation comes up. Why would the creator of the greatest works in Engli sh 
literature keep it a secret? Yes, he was of the nobility, but considering the value 
of the works in question, it seems unbelievable that the author would not have 
claimed his rightful place in literary history by saying something in a will or else­
where about having written these immortal works. In addition, he was neither 

a literary genius nor a professional writer. 

The case for Francis Bacon is also weak. He died three years after the pub­
lication of Shakespeare's Works in the First Folio in 1623. Ifhe had been the true 
author, there would have been some indication somewhere that he had had a 
hand in the great book that was being published. And why would he have hid­
den his authorship? He wrote a good deal in the scientific and philosophical 

fields. So there would have been no reason for him to deny having written these 
extraordinary plays and poems if he had actually done so. 

The simple truth is that the only contender who had the talent and genius 
to write the poems and plays was Christopher Marlowe. And he had the most 
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compelling reason to maintain the secrecy of his authorship: he was supposed 
to be dead' 

The history books tell us that Marlowe was killed in a tavern brawl in 1593. 
But was he actually killed, or was the killing a staged plan to get Marlowe out 
of harm's way? He was on the verge of being indicted by the Privy Council on 
serious charges of blasphemy, atheism , and sexual immorality, all punishable 
by hanging. He was out on bail, living at the house of his patron and benefac­
tor, Sir Thomas Walsingham, a cousin to Sir Francis Walsingham, founder of 
Queen Elizabeth's secret intelligence service. Marlowe had been recruited into 
the network as a student at Cambridge University and had performed valuable 
service for Walsingham as a spy in France . Thomas Walsingham had also 
served as an agent and courier for his cousin. He and his staff were all involved 
in the spy network. They had access to passports, papers, ships crossing the 
Channel. 

To save Marlowe's life, they had to stage a phony incident in which Mar­
lowe would be killed. His "death" would close the book on the prosecution. But 
they had to come up with a body that the Coroner could accept as the dead Mar­
lowe. Apparently they found a body, and we are now quite certain whose body 
it was. As for the body-switching idea, we don't know who originated it. We can 
only speculate. But we do know that in Measure for Measure there is a body­
switching plot in which a body is used to substitute for someone alive slated for 
execution. Marlowe left all sorts of clues in the plays he wrote after his alleged 
death. 

By 1593, Marlowe had already established himself as a superb playwright 
and poet. 

h should be noted that both Marlowe and Shakespeare were the very same 
age, having both been born in 1564. When Marlowe was supposed to have died 
on May 30, 1593, at the age of 29, he had already wri tten Ovid's Elegies, The First 
Book of Lrlcan, Hero and Leander, Dido, Queen of Carthage, Tamburlaine I & II, 
The Massacre at Paris, The few of Malta, Doctor Faustus and Edward II. 

Before William Shakespeare reached the age of 29, he wrote nothing. 
Shakespeare's first registered work is the poem Venus and Adonis, registered 

anonymously on April 18, 1593, at the Stationers Company and published on Sep­
tember 28, 1593, with Shakespeare's name not on the title page but at the end of 
an unauthorized dedication to the 20-year-old Earl of Southampton . Interest­
ing coincidence: When Marlowe's official career ends, Shakespeare's begins. 

So what was Shakespeare's role in all of this? He became the frontman 
through whom the plays and poems of Marlowe could reach the stage and the 

public. 
Every Shakespearean scholar acknowledges the enormous inf1uence that 

Marlowe had on Shakespeare's works. Yet, there is no evidence that Marlowe 
ever knew Shakespeare or worked with him. But there was one man who knew 
both Marlowe and Shakespeare and no doubt knew the truth about their rela­

tionship. 
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He knew that Marlowe had not been killed, that his murder had been faked 
by his wealthy patron, Sir Thomas Walsingham. That man was Edward Blount, 
who published Marlowe's Hero and Leander in 1598, dedicated to Sir Thomas. 
Twenty-five years later, Blount was the prime mover behind the publication of 
the famous First Folio, containing Shakespeare's full works. 

If it wasn't for the First Folio, Shakespeare's name would have probably 
fallen into total obscurity. His death in 1616 was not acknowledged by anyone 
in the literary world. He was not brought to Westminster Abbey for burial. Prior 
to his death, Shakespeare's name appeared on only nine plays, which became part 
of the Shakespeare canon. The first of them, Love's Labour's Lost, was published 
in 1598, five years after his name had first appeared on the dedication of Venus 
and Adonis. Then two years later, in 1600, four plays were published with Shake­
speare's name on them. Another was published in 1602, one in 1603, one five 
years later in 1608, and the last one in 1609. 

Shakespeare's name also appeared on a number of plays that have never 
been accepted as part of the Shakespeare canon. In all, only 16 of the 36 plays in 
the First Folio were published before 1623 and only nine of those bore Shake­
speare's name. The remaining twenty plays appeared in print for the first time 
in the First Folio. And it is only because Shakespeare's name is on the Title Page 
of the First Folio as author, that he was given authorship of all of the plays, pub­
lished and unpublished. Among those twenty unpublished plays were such mas­
terpieces as Julius Caesar, Measure for Measure, Twelfth Night, Macbeth, and 
Antony and Cleopatra. 

But where did those twenty plays come from? Shakespeare's will mentioned 
no such unpublished plays. Nor did his heirs make a bee-line to the publishers 
of the First Folio requesting remuneration for the use of their father's works. 

The one man w~o probably knew where to find the twenty plays was 
Edward Blount. In 1623, Thomas Walsingham was still alive . There is good rea­
son to believe that he had some of them in his possession. Some of them were 
also in the archives of the theatre that owned them. But Blount knew where to 
find them all. And undoubtedly he knew which ones were the genuine articles. 

We don't know exactly when Marlowe died, but we believe that he lived 
long enough to edit and revise the plays being prepared for the First Folio of 
1623. Apparently he stopped writing plays in 1611, which is why Shakespeare 
"retired" at about that time. With no more plays forthcoming from the foun­
tainhead of genius, Shakespeare could leave London and retire to Stratford-on­
Avon in affluent splendor. 

There are many mysteries in this story that must be solved. New discover­
ies that confirm Marlowe's life after 1593 have made it most likely that we can, 
at last, identify the true writer of the Shakespeare canon. We shall attempt to 
present all of the facts that will make it possible to finally resolve the author­
ship question. But even should it be proven beyond a shadow of a doubt that 
Marlowe was indeed the author of the works attributed to the man from Strat­
ford-on-Avon, the very fact that Shakespeare's name appears as author of the 
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First Folio guarantees that his name will continue to be credited with author­
ship by most people . 

Then, what value is it to go to aU the trouble to establish Marlowe's author­
ship if in the end Shakespeare's name on the First Folio will forever grant him 
credit as author? The value is that all shall be able to read the Sonnets and the 
plays with different eyes. As Wayne Dyer, author of The Power of Inrention, has 
observed: "When you change the way you look at things, the things you look at 
change." In other words, readers shall be able to enjoy the poems and plays on 
a new level as never before . Also, readers shall be forced to know much more 
history, which is not a bad thing. And readers shall find new biographies being 
written to explain how this bizarre conspiracy involving the greatest literary 
genius in all history came to pass. 
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Canterbury and Stratford 

There is great and startling contrast between the lives of Christopher Mar­
lowe and William Shakespeare if we simply look at the biographical data avail­
able. It is only when one has a detailed knowledge of Marlowe's life that one 
begins to find all sorts of references to that life in the works attributed to Shake­
speare. Indeed, Marlowe's life adds tremendous depth and color to the works 
themselves. 

Both men were born in 1564, Marlowe in historically rich and magnificent 
Canterbury, the ecclesiastical capital of England, Shakespeare in tranquil rural 
Stratford. Marlowe's education is fully documented, from his scholarship to the 
prestigious King's School in Canterbury to his scholarship to Cambridge Uni­
versity. There is no documentation at all relating to Shakespeare's education. 
There is much data available on Marlowe's career as a playwright and poet right 
up to the day of his supposed death. There is no data about Shakespeare having 
written anything before the publication of Venus and Adonis several months 
after Marlowe's supposed demise, at which time Shakespeare suddenly emerges 
as a full-blown poetic genius without prior publication or known education. 

Christopher Marlowe was born on or about February 26, 1564, in Canter­
bury. Because it was the ecclesiastical capital of England, it was the center of 
tremendous religious turmoil. Canterbury, located some 62 miles south of Lon­
don in Kent, is a city steeped in history. It was the city through which Chris­
tianity was introduced to England in A.D. 597 by Augustine and his missionaries 
from Rome. It is the city in which Thomas a Becket, the Archbishop appointed 
by Henry II, was murdered in the cathedral in 1170. It is the city of pilgrimage, 
of Chaucer's famous Canterbury Tales. And it is the city that became the focus 
of the Anglican faith with its Archbishop becoming the Primate of all England. 

Pilgrims came from all over the world to visit the Becket shrine. Those who 
came from abroad are said to have taken the path that is now the North Downs 
Way, which today offers walkers beautiful views of fields, hop gardens and the 
sea. People also came from other towns in England like those in the Canterbury 
Tales. 

10 



11 2. Canterbury and Stratford 

The bejeweled shrine that commemorated the murder of Becket was 
destroyed during the reign of Henry VIII and the Dissolution of the Monaster­
ies. The ruins of SI. Augustine's Abbey near the Cathedral are a stark reminder 
of the religious strife that rocked England in the early sixteenth century. 

The present Cathedral, which dominates the center of the city, was com­
pleted in 1154. In 1376, Archbishop Sudbury ordered the building ofa new nave. 
The first cathedral was built in AD 597 when the town was known to the Sax­
ons as Cant-wara-byrig, which means the borough of the men of Kent. It was 
built for the baptism of King Ethelbert of Kent, whose Queen, Bertha , was already 
a Christian. 

The King's School, which Marlowe was to attend, occupied buildings adja­
cent to the Cathedral, and was developed out of the early teaching provided at 
the monastery. It was refounded by Henry VllI in 1541 as the King's School after 
the dissolution of the monastery in 1538. Thus, Marlowe was born in a city with 
a great and rich historical tradition that affected all of England. And there is lit­
tle doubt that all of this became part of his psyche, his understanding of history, 
and his place in it. 

To better understand the Canterbury context, it is necessary to know the 
background of the religious struggle that created so much turmoil in England 
and throughout Europe. The Reformation movement began in 1517 when Mar­
tin Luther (1483-1546) nailed his famous 95 theses to the front door of the Cas­
tle Church in Wittenburg, Germany. At that time Henry VIII (1491-1547) was 
king of England. He reigned from 1509 to 1547. Henry was a good Catholic at 
the time of Luther's rebellion and wrote a book on the Sacraments in reply to 
Luther, for which he received the title of "Defender of the Faith" from the Pope. 
But when the Pope refused to grant Henry a divorce from his first wife, Cather­
ine of Aragon, he divorced her anyway and requested Parliament to help him 
end financial and legal ties with Rome. He assumed to himself the title of Pro­
tector and Supreme Head of the Church and Clergy of England. 

Henry, in dire need of money, then launched a campaign to confiscate the 
property of the Catholic Church. In Canterbury, the bejeweled shrine that com­
memorated the murder of Becket was destroyed and SI. Augustine's Abbey fell 
victim to the Dissolution of the Monasteries, which began in 1536. 

Henry VIII died in 1547 and was succeeded by Edward VI, a son by his 
third wife, Jane Seymour. Henry had had six wives: Catherine of Aragon, mother 
of Mary I, divorced; Anne Boleyn, mother of Elizabeth I, beheaded; Jane Sey­
mour, mother of Edward VI, died; Anne of Cleves, divorced; Catherine Howard, 
beheaded; and Catherine Parr, who outlived the King. 

Edward was only nine years old when he ascended the throne so that the 
country was ruled essentially by his uncle, Edward Seymour, the Duke ofSom­
erset (1506-1552), and a regency council of sixteen. The Duke had been helped 
by the ambitious John Dudley, Earl of Warwick, who later became Duke of 
Northumberland. Seymour, the "Protector," with Archbishop Cranmer, pro­
ceeded at once to further the Reformation in England. They drew their main 
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reformist theology from John Calvin (1509-1564), whose Institutes of the Chris­
tian Religion was published in the early 1540s . John Knox, Nicholas Ridley, Hugh 
Latimer and Hooper, all Calvinists, were appointed Court preachers. Cranmer's 
Book of Common Prayer written in 1549 was introduced to bring uniformity of 
worship and turned England into a Protestant state, causing a rebellion in the 
southwest and widening the gap between Catholics and Protestants. In 1551, 
Parliament adopted the Forty-two Articles, setting forth the doctrines of the 
Anglican Church. The Forty-two Articles reflected the growing influence of 
Calvinist teaching . 

In foreign affairs, Edward inherited his father's problems with Scotland 
and France . The Duke of Somerset launched an invasion of Scotland in order to 
force the Scots to agree to a marriage between Edward VI and four-year-old 
Mary Stuart. Although the Scots were defeated in 1547, they sent young Mary 
to France where she later married Francis, heir to the French throne. Northum­
berland then managed to depose Seymour in 1549 and replace him as the King's 
protector. In 1552, the efforts of Dudley and his allies led to Somerset's execu­
tion on charges of high treason . 

By 1553. it became obvious that the young king was dying of consumption. 
In order to prevent the King's Catholic sister Mary from ascending the throne, 
Northumberland conspired to have Lady Jane Grey (1537- 1554), daughter of 
the Duke of Suffolk, named successor to the throne by Edward VI. According 
to this plan , Northumberland's son, Lord Guilford Dudley, would marry Jane 
Grey who would then be Queen. 

Following Edward's death in July 1553, the sixteen-year-old Lady Jane was 
proclaimed Queen. However, too many Englishmen resented Northumberland's 
attempt to deprive the rightful heir of her throne. The coup collapsed and Mary 
entered London with her supporters. Northumberland was imprisoned and exe­
cuted. Lady Jane Grey, whose reign lasted only nine days, was executed a year 
later with her husband. 

Mary Tudor , England 's first reigning queen, had been raised as a Roman 
Catholic and believed her mission was to restore Roman Catholicism in England 
and, as the daughter of Catherine of Aragon, to forge an alliance with Catholic 
Spain, her mother 's homeland . 

Thus , her first act as Queen was to repeal the religious legislation enacted 
during the reign of her younger brother. In July 1554, she married Philip of 
Hapsburg, son of the Holy Roman Emperor Charles V. Two years later, he became 
King Philip II of Spain. 

Acting on her own authority, Mary forced continental Protestants to leave 
England and instal.led Catholic bishops in office. John Knox went into exile, tak­
ing refuge with John Calvin in Geneva. Stephen Gardiner (1493-1555), the bishop 
of Winchester, became lord chancellor. In November 1554, Cardinal Reginald 
Pole (1500- 1558 ), the papal legate, went before a session of Parliament and 
received England back into the Roman Catholic Church . In the Act of Repeal of 
1554, Parliament repealed the Act of Supremacy of 1534 and other anti-Papal 
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laws dating from the reign of Henry VIII. However. there was no attempt to 
restore the confiscated monastic lands. 

During 1555 and 1556, Mary stepped up the persecution of Protestants. 
Some 300 who refused to recant were burned at the stake, including Protestant 
bishops Hugh Latimer, Nicholas Ridley. as well as former archbishop of Can­
terbury, Thomas Cranmer. As a result of her reign of terror. the Queen became 
known as Bloody Mary. 

After a five-year reign, Mary I died in 1558 and was succeeded by Eliza­
beth I (1533-1603), daughter of Henry VII! by his second wife, Anne Boleyn. 
The new queen. the last of the Tudors, inherited an England torn by religious 
strife. Under her tutelage. the Parliament of 1559 enacted two famous statutes: 
the Act of Supremacy. which finally severed England from Rome by substitut­
ing royal for Papal supremacy in the Church; and the Act of Uniformity. which 
gave the Anglican Church its Prayer Book and made England a Protestant coun­
try. With Protestantism restored as the religion of England. Elizabeth chose a 
very capable council of Protestant advisors: Cecil (later Lord 13urghley). Wals­
ingham. Bacon, Leicester. Drake, Raleigh. all of whom helped Elizabeth create 
stability and strength to the English state . Although the Protestants were now 
in power. the Catholics still remained a subversive threat. 

This was the England that Christopher Marlowe was born into in 1564. 
Elizabeth had been on the throne for five years . Marlowe's parents had migrated 
to Canterbury from other towns in Kent. His father. John Marlowe, was born 
in the village ofOspringe beside Faversham in 1536. during the reign of Henry 
VIII. His mother. Katherine Arthur came from a family in Dover. She spent her 
girlhood among the colorful surroundings of the busy port and great stronghold 
of Dover. 

John Marlowe came to Canterbury in 1556• . iust at the time when Bloody 
Mary was burning Protestant martyrs at the stake at the sandy hollows at 
Wincheap. half a mile from Canterbury, where more than 40 Protestant mar­
tyrs perished. In 1559. John became apprenticed to Gerard Richardson, a cob­
bler, or shoemaker. Four years later. John became a freeman of Canterbury. He 
was now an established craftsman. In May 1561. he married Katherine Arthur. 

John and Katherine Marlowe were to produce nine children. Mary, the first 
born. was baptised on May 21. 1562, and died two years later. Christopher was 
baptised on February 26. 1564. Margaret, the third child. was baptised on Decem­
ber 18. 1565. She married John Jordan. a tailor, in June 1590. She lived to the age 
of76. Child number four. born in October 1568. died a few days later. Jane. the 
fifth child. was christened on August 20,1569. married John Moore in 1582. and 
died in childbirth in 1583 . Thomas. the sixth child. was baptised July 26.1670. 
and died three weeks later. Anne Marlowe. the seventh child. was baptised on 
July 14. 1571. She married John Cranford. a shoemaker in Canterbury in June 
1593. and died in 1652 at age 81. 

Dorothy Marlowe, the eighth child, was christened on October 18, 1573. 
She married Thomas Graddell. glover and later vintner, innkeeper and hack­
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neyman in Canterbury, She outlived her husband who died in 1625. Thomas, 
the ninth child, was baptised on April 8, 1576, He is listed as choirboy at Arch­
bishop Whitgift's Cathedral Visitation in 1589, Since he was not mentioned in 
his mother's will , it is probable that he was dead by the time it was drawn up in 
1605, 

Thus, Christopher Marlowe was brought up in a hOllse of four baby sis­
ters, which may have added something to his psychological understanding of 
women. Since he was a highly intelligent youngster, we can imagine the kind of 
chatter that went on between the future poet and his sisters. And his father's 
customers must have given him ample opportunity to observe human beings of 
every shape and humor. 

Sixteenth century Canterbury, with a population of between 3,000 and 
4,000 persons, was a wonderfully busy place in which to grow up. It was a city 
close to the countryside. Cows grazed within 100 yards of John Marlowe's shop 
and local women went milking every morning. Gleaning went on at harvest time 
in Barton Fields. The parish of St. George, in which Marlowe's shop was located, 
also lay between the cattle market on the one side and the butchers' shambles 
on the other. A dominant sound of Marlowe's youth must have been the moans 
of cattle being led to the slaughter only a few yards away. The tubs of blood and 
entrails that had to be disposed of no doubt produced an unpleasant odor in the 
neighborhood . 

As a place of pilgrimage, Canterbury brought an endless parade of human 
beings to its streets. It was also a city of commerce located on the road from 
Dover to London. It was also a walled city, with "two lofty turrets that com­
mand the town" at the West Gate. There was a grim prison in the South Tower 
where Protestant martyrs awaited death at the stake during the reign of Catholic 
Mary Tudor. 

Canterbury was also a city of great pageantry and pomp. In September of 
1573, Elizabeth came to Canterbury on one of her many royal visits to the city 
where she held Court at the King's Lodging, a palace built outside the city by 
her father, Henry VIII. 

As a child Marlowe was able to see with his own eyes the ruins of the once 
great Abbey, the physical evidence of that great conflict between Henry VIII and 
the Pope in Rome. The antagonism between Catholics and Protestants would 
become a major factor in his life. The city was also full of Huguenot refugees 
from France, many of whom had fled after the SI. Bartholomew's Massacre that 
began in Paris on August 24, 1572, in which thousands of Huguenots were 
slaughtered by order of King Charles IX under the influence of his mother, 
Catherine de Medici. Marlowe would one day write a play about that horrible 
event, The Massacre at Paris, 

The Huguenots, or French Calvinists. were a very moral, frugal, and highly 
industrious group of refugees, and Marlowe undoubtedly got to know some of 
the families. If he had attended a Huguenot primary school. he would have 
learned French and gotten to know some of the children and their parents. Also, 
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his knowledge of French would hold him in good stead in later years when he 
was asked to go on a spying mission to France. 

The main economic activity in Canterbury was in the hands of craftsmen 

and shopkeepers of middle rank. Among John Marlowe's customers were the 
town's professional men, including clergy, lawyers, school teachers) physicians 

and surgeons. 

It was also in Canterbury that Christopher was introduced to the world of 

the theater. The city authority organized and financed religious drama, and there 
was a cycle of biblical plays based upon SI. Dunstan's church outside the west­
ern city walls. In almost every year of Marlowe's boyhood there is a record of 

travelling players coming into Canterbury. Groups of actors with the required 
aristocratic patrons frequently performed plays in the town . 

There is good reason to believe that when Christopher was eight he was 
recruited as a page to serve one of the young noblemen about to embark on a 
tour of the Continent. Marlowe was a child prodigy who no doubt attracted the 

attention of Archbishop Matthew Parker, a close friend of Lord Burghley's . We 
believe that the nobleman in need of a page was Philip Sidney, nephew of the 
Earl of Leicester's) who, in 1572, at the age of 18, was preparing for a two-year 
tour of the Continent with the blessings of the Queen . 

What did a page do during such a journey? He tended the horses, went on 

errands, kept an eye on the baggage, delivered messages, was at the beck and call 
of his master, and learned the art of obedience. It was good training for an 
inquisitive young mind. Later, as a playwright, Marlowe would use pages in sev­
eral plays. In Love's Labour's Lost, we are given a very humorous idea of what 
went on between a Master and his Page, the latter being far more intelligent and 

witty than his Master. 

Who was Philip Sidney? Born at the family home at Penshurst Place in Kent 
in 1554, Sidney was the son of Sir Henry Sidney and Mary Dudley, the daugh­
ter of the ill-fated Earl of Northumberland and sister of the Earl of Leicester, 
the Queen's closest confidant. Both Sidneys served the Queen, Sir Henry as Lord 

President of the Welsh Marches and later as Lord Deputy of Ireland, and Lady 
Sidney as a lady-in - waiting to the Queen. When Elizabeth came down with 
smallpox, it was Lady Sidney who nursed her, catching the disease herself and 
passing it on to her son Philip, who was slightly pockmarked for life. 

In October 1564, at age 10, Sidney entered Shrewsbury School at the same 
time as his lifelong friend, Fulke Greville (1554-162tl ). Four years later he entered 
Oxford and was a brilliant student. In the spring of 1572, he was ready for his 
tour of the Continent. He would not travel alone. He was attached to the suite 
of the Earl of Lincoln who was going to Paris to s ign the Treaty of Blois. Sidney 
followed the earl to Dover with his own company of three servants and four 

horses. Was young Christopher Marlowe one of the servants? The dates and cir­

cumstances fit perfectly. 
And so, for the next six years young Marlowe was to travel across Europe 

with Master Philip Sidney, visiting Paris, Frankfort, Vienna, Venice, Padua, and 
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other cities. In Paris he would witness the massacre of the Huguenots. He would 
learn much about religion and politics. He would also learn how the aristocracy 
lived and the values they held. He would return to England with Sidney and 
continue to serve him until he was ready, at age 14, to enter the King's School 
in Canterbury. 

By the time Christopher was fifteen, his father, a well-respected freeman, 
had risen in status to the point where he became a bondsman for couples seek­
ing marriage licenses. John Marlowe took his religion seriously and became a 
churchwarden. 

Thus, it is not surprising that Christopher was marked for the church early 
in life. As the bright and highly literate son of a cobbler, the church offered 
upward mobililty toward a very important profession, with respectable social 
standing, and economic security. Undoubtedly, young Marlowe's talents were 
recognized by the authorities who decided that Christopher was eligible for a 
scholarship to the King's School where he would receive the kind of education 
reserved for the elite. 

As for William Shakespeare, he was baptised on April 26, 1564, in Strat­
ford-on-Avon. He was the oldest son of John Shakespeare and Mary Arden, an 
heiress from a good family at Wilmcote. John Shakespeare's marriage enabled 
him to playa prominent part in the town's affairs for some twenty years, end­
ing lip in 1568 as bailiff, or mayor, of the borough. Although he could have sent 
William to school, there is no record of his having done so, even though there 
was a grammar school in town. Despite several hundred years of research, we 
know almost nothing of William's childhood. While researchers keep finding out 
more and more about Christopher Marlowe, they are finding less and less about 
Shakespeare. The reason? There is nothing there to be found . 

Stratford, a village with about 2,000 inhabitants, was a country market 
town. The family lived in a house on Henley Street, where John Shakespeare had 
his glover's shop. William had two brothers and a sister. His brother Edmund 
followed him into the theater to become a player. He died at age 27. In all, there 
are only two substantiated facts known about William Shakespeare's early life: 
his birth, and his marriage at age 18 to Anne Hathaway in 1582. 

As for Marlowe's experience as a page, the reader will find in later chapters 
a more detailed account of Philip Sidney's travels on the Continent and Mar­
lowe's relationship with Sidney's famous sister, the Countess of Pembroke. 
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The King's School 

On January 14, 1579, Christopher entered the King's School on one of the 

fifty scholarships reserved for poor boys between the ages of nine and fifteen. 

Marlowe , just short of fifteen by a few weeks, was still eligible, and made it 

under the wire . He still had the voice of a boy soprano and an obvious aptitude 

for learning. It is probable that his service as a page to Philip Sidney added to 

his eligibility for a scholarship. 

Charles Norman writes of the school: 

Piety and Latin made up the curriculum, and a responsive psalm began and ended 
the day. Belled in his gown , he went punctually to and fro from St. Andrew's, past 
the Rush Market, the Bishop's palace, and almost to the city's walls, storing his 
mind with magnificent, medieval images- the towers, streets and streams of Can ­
terbury; churches at dusk blazing like jewels , and priories and friaries standing 
watch at the outposts of the city [p. 121 . 

What kind of an education did young Christopher acquire at the King's 

SchooP A. D. Wraight in her book, In Search of Christopher Marlowe, describes 

how rigorous it was (pp. 40-41): 

According to the Statutes of 1541 governing the curriculum, by the time a boy 
reached the Fourth Form (and Marlowe would have gone into this straight away at 
least, or probably into a higher grade) he would have been required to know his 
Latin syntax thoroughly, and there he would be "practiced in poetic tales, the famil­
iar letters of learned men, and other literature of that so rt." In the Fifth Form Latin 
oratory and classical rules of verse-making were taught, and here Christopher 
would have made a beginning in "translating the most chaste Poets and best Histo­
rians ." In the Sixth and highest form he would cope with Erasmus and "learn to 
vary speech in every mood" in Latin . Here the boys would be given the opportunity 
to "taste Horace, Cicero and other authors of that class, and shall compete with 
one another in declamations, that the competition may encourage them in their 
studies." 

The entire school of fifty boys underwent examination by the headmaster once a 
week , and those who had shown themselves proficient might expect to be upgraded 
at any of the three yearly periods when this was do ne . 

17 
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Although school lessons concluded at 5 P.M., there was "prep" to be done 
between 6 and 7 P.,\\. under the supervision of the masters . This took the form of 
repeating the lessons they had learnt "to their fellow pupds who have become ripe 
in learning." It may be assumed that Kit was usually one of the latter since he was 
later favoured with a second scholarship, which is hardly likely to have been 
granted to the shoemaker's son if he had been lazy at his work. 

Obviously, the main function of the school was to provide the pupils with 
a thorough grounding in Latin and Greek. To help develop fluency, theatrical 
performances using these languages were given by the pupils at Christmas. We 
can imagine that these performances stirred in Marlowe an interest in drama 
that led him later to try his hand as a playwright. 

Indications of the rigor and extent of Marlowe's education at the King's 
School and later at Cambridge are to be found in all of his works as well as in 
the works attributed to Shakespeare. Scholars assume that Shakespeare knew 
Latin because there is so much of it in the plays and poems. Although there was 
a grammar school in Stratford, there is no indication anywhere that Shakespeare 
attended the school or received elsewhere the kind of intensive classical educa­
tion that Marlowe had. As Harvard professor William Allen Neilson bluntly 
wrote in 1923: "Of the education of the poet [Shakespeare] we have no record." 
This naturally has led many to believe that Shakespeare could not possibly have 
written these works-even though no record does not mean no education. 

Probably the most influential individual at this moment in young Mar­
lowe's life was the school's headmaster, John Gresshop, a man of considerable 
scholarly attainments, a graduate of Christ Church, Oxford . Gresshop owned a 
remarkable private library of 350 books, one of the largest libraries in the king­
dom, a library larger than almost anyone outside the circles of bishops and 
noblemen, far greater than the private collections of university dons . In his col­
lection were classical works by Plato, Cicero, Virgil, Theophrastus, Thucydides, 
Aristophanes, Plautus, Terence, Sophocles, Isocrates, Claudian, luvenal, Caesar, 
Aulus Gellius, and Boethius. 

Gresshop had a good many Bibles: a "Latin Bible" (Jerome's Vulgate), a 
Geneva Bible, a couple of Greek Testaments, another Latin Bible in the version 
of Sante Pagnino and yet another rendered by Sebastian Castallio . [n addition 
to medical and history books, he had a good collection of books on education: 
Sadolet's De Pueris Instituendis, a volume titled De HCltione Scudii Pucrilis, Castal­
lio's Dialogi, and the educational classic of the day, Roger Ascham's Scholcmas­
ler, with its advanced and humane theories of teaching methods. 

The collection also included works by the Reformers: Luther, Bishop Fisher, 
Bucer, Melancthon, Beza, John Knox, and others. But probably the one book 
that must have boggled the mind of young Marlowe was Gresshop's copy of 
Ovid's Metamorphoscs, illustrated with its hundred or more woodcuts depict­
ing heady riots, incests, rapes, a book which might astonish and shock and would 
probably have been kept well away from the schoolroom door in the lower study. 

William Urry writes in Christopher Marlowe and Canterbury (p. 48): 
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The influence of Gresshop upon Christopher Marlowe is impossible to determine 
but remains a tantalizing possibility. Had the headmaster been prepared to allow 
his boys near his books then Marlowe would not have been compelled to wait until 
his arrival at Cambridge before having the chance to browse through a learned 
library. The mere proximity of books to the schoolroom may, of course. have acted 
as a stimulus to inquiring minds. Indeed, Gresshop may have conveyed something 
of his books and his interest in them to his pupils. Perhaps in one way or another 
Gresshop and his library were crucial to Marlowe's development. 

It is easy to imagine that Gresshop was immediately captivated by the intel­
lectually lively and curious Christopher Marlowe and permitted the future play­
wright to read what he found of interest in his library. Gresshop might have even 
shown the young scholar the illustrated Ovid, for we know that Ovid played a 
very important part in Marlowe's literary life. His translation of Ovid's Amores 

might have even been started at the King's School where translating from Latin 
to English was an important part of the curriculum. By then, Marlowe had 
undoubted ly become com pletely fascinated by the sexual mores of the ancients. 

lohn Gresshop died in February of 1580, when Marlowe had been a scholar 
for one year. The headmaster was unmarried at the time of his death. On Feb­
ruary 23,1580, Canon John Hill of the cathedral headed a group of members of 
the cathedral foundation which met at the late headmaster's house to make an 
inventory of his goods. They made a list of all of the books in his private library 
and an inventory of his clothes, which tells LIS something of what the headmas­
ter must have looked like to his students: "Two pairs of kersey hose, two old 
doublets, one of smooth fabric called 'rash' and the other of 'mockadew' [a sort 
of mohair]. He had an old Spanish leather jerkin, a cap and a hat, with an old 
mockadew cossack. There were old cloaks and old gowns. There was a jacket of 
old damask probably surviving from younger days at Oxford, with a girdle of 
changeable silk" (Urry, p. 46). 

As for the scholarships, surviving cathedral accounts for 1578-79 and for 
1580-81 indicate that scholars were provided with an allowance of 4 pounds per 
annum, well above the amount on which some families of poor workmen lived. 
Marlowe received his first quarterly payment at Lady Day 1579 and received his 
one pound at Midsummer 1580 and at the following Michaelmas. 

The school day was long and arduous. ft began at 6 in the morning with 
prayers in Latin . The students prayed for the Queen and recited Psalm 21, which 
begins: "The king shall rejoice in thy strength, 0 Lord: yea how greatly shall he 
rejoice in thy salvation." 

That was followed by verses and responses and the Lord's Prayer. At the end 
of the long school day came Evening Prayer as the cathedral clock struck five 
and the boys stood up to recite the little psalm, Ecce nunc benedicte. There was 
a meal at 6, after which the boys had to recite their lessons to seniors who had 
become "ripe in learning." 

Recitation was the key method of learning used in classical education right 
up to the nineteenth century. Educator John S. Hart wrote in 1869 (In (he 5ch(lol 
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Room): "It is by telling other people what we have learned, that we learn it more 

effectually, and make it more completely our own." He also wrote: 

Memory is God's gift , by which alone we are able to retain our intellectual acquisi­
tions .... And whatever increases the activity and power of the memory, gives at 
once value and growth to every other power. '" Memory is the store-house of our 
ideas [pp. 47-48). 

The creeds and cate(hisms of the Christian church are among the best products 
of human intellect as mere specimens of verbal statement, and are valuable, if for 
nothing else, as a means of exercising the memory. A child who has thoroughly 
mastered a good catechism has his intellectual store - house already reduced to some 
order and system .... Constant, almost endless repetition is the inexorable price of 
sound mental accumulation [pp. 49-50). 

The kind of exercises in memorization that Marlowe underwent at the 

King's School no doubt gave him an intellectual confidence that made it possi­

ble for him to produce the celebrated poems and plays which he began writing 

as a student at Cambridge. The emphasis on language study was crucial. Hart 

writes: "The study of language, more than any other study, tends to make the 
mind acute, discriminating, and exact" (p. 68). 

There is no documentary evidence that Shakespeare had that kind of edu­
cation, and without it, it is doubtful that he could have written the plays attrib­
uted to him. Recitation and memorization in English and Latin, which Marlowe 

had in abundance, were not experienced by Shakespeare. They were not the kind 

of mental skills you could pick up on your own without rigorous school instruc­

tion. Were it so , "there would have been some evidence of it in Shakespeare's life. 

Also, Marlowe must have learned much about the eighty or so pupils who 

attended the school with him. Many went on to become members of the Angli­

can clergy, and one appears to have become a Justice of the Peace. Two became 
lawyers, three became schoolmasters, and one a Cathedral choirmaster. One 

classmate, Samuel Kennett, was converted to Catholicism and eventually became 

a Benedictine monk. Another schoolmate, Leonard Sweeting, was apprenticed 

to the registrar of the church courts, and at age 23 became a Notary Public. Like 

Gresshop, he became a book collector, and in an inventory taken at his death, 
among his books of poetry was a copy of Marlowe's Hero and Leander. 
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Marlowe at Cambridge 

In December of 1580, three weeks before Christmas, Christopher Marlowe, 
at age seventeen, bade farewell to his family and friends in Canterbury, and 
made his way to Cambridge where he presented himself to the University author­
ities. He held an Archbishop Parker scholarship for Corpus Christi College as a 
divinity student. He was to spend the next six years of his life at Corpus Christi 
with the presumed goal of preparing himself for Holy Orders. 

The Canterbury scholarships had been established by Archbishop Matthew 
Parker in 1569 with income from Westminster rents. The students were nomi­
nated from pupils attending the King's School in Canterbury and two schools 
in Norfolk. The Archbishop's goal was to help talented young men pursue cler­
ical careers in the Anglican church. He wrote in his will : "I wish my Executors 
to make ready a chamber in that college, now called A Storehouse, for three 
other of my scholars to inhabit, for each of which 1 wish three pounds,' six 
shillings and eight pence to be given annually in the form which my Executors 
shall prescribe in writing. Of which scholars I wish the first to be chosen from 
Canterbury [King'sl School, and to be a native of that place ." 

When the Archbishop died in 1575, his son John Parker, Executor of his 
father's will, retained control of the nominations. He added to the will: "All 
which said schollers shall and must at the time of their election be so enterd into 
the skill of song as that they shall at the first sight solf and sing plaine song. And 
that they shalbe of the best and aptest schollers well instructed in their gramer 
and if it may be such as can make a verse ." 

We can assume that it was Christopher Marlowe 's record at the King's 
School and his service as a page to Philip Sidney that made him eminently eli­
gible for a scholarship to Corpus Christi. No doubt, John Parker, must have 
been greatly impressed by Marlowe's exceptional intelligence and outstanding 
academic talents which were recognized by his teachers and the headmaster. 
That Marlowe got the scholarship is a tribute not only to his exceptional 
talents but to the community's desire to advance such talent at the community's 
expense. 

21 
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By entering Cambridge, the cobbler's son was well on his way to becom­
ing a member of England's literary elite. According to Urry, the Cambridge of 
Marlowe's day was a community of over 1,800 teachers and students , set in a 
flourishing town with a population of about 5,000. There was a wide variety of 
academic buildings, some from the Middle Ages, with new building and rebuild­
ing going on. Christopher Marlowe's quarters were probably in the old quad­
rangle at Corpus Christi College. The living Quarters for Parker 'S scholars were 
equipped with a small but useful collection of texts and reference books such as 
Greek and Latin Bibles, Erasmus's New Testament, a Latin Bible concordance, 
classical lexicons, and a history of Cambridge. We can assume that the bookish 
Marlowe took advantage of every opportunity to read the books available to 
him. The plays and poems he was to write reflected the enormous storehouse of 
literary knowledge he acquired at the University. 

It is also in 1580 that we first hear of Marlowe's future benefactor, Thomas 
Walsingham, who was born in 1563 and was therefore a year older than Mar­
lowe. He was already working for his cousin, Sir Francis Walsingham, head of 
Elizabeth's secret service, as a courier, bringing letters from Her Majesty's ambas­
sador in Paris to London . 

Where was William Shakespeare in 1580? Having been baptised on April 
26,1564, he would have been 16 in 1580. He was still in Stratford, no doubt help­
ing his father in his various businesses. On November 28,1582, at age 18, Shake­
speare obtained a license to marry Anne Hathaway, a woman eight years his 
senior. Within six months of the marriage, a daughter, Susanna, was born to 
the couple on May 26,1583. The record of baptism of Shakespeare's only other 
children, the twins, Hamnet and Judith, in February, 1585, practically exhausts 
the documentary evidence concerning Shakespeare in Stratford until 1596. 

During this period, Shakespeare's father was undergoing great financial 
difficulties and undoubtedly needed the assistance of his son. H. Snowden Ward 
writes in Shakespeare's Town and Times: "Meanwhile, what do we know of 
William Shakespeare? There is no certain evidence, but the probability is that 
he was busy in his father's trade .... Until further evidence is forthcoming we 
must consider him a glover. ". We are fairly safe, therefore, in saying that dur­
ing the few years before his marriage, the poet was engrossed with the myster­
ies of skins and wool, tan-bark and timber, looking after the farm-land, and the 
glove sewers at their houses. " 

In 1581, the colleges at Cambridge numbered some 1,862 students with 
about 100 preachers among them . To obtain a Bachelor of Arts degree, students 
were required to be in residence for sixteen terms or four years. The daily reg­
imen was quite rigorous. Students rose at four in the morning, joined in prayers 
for an hour in the chapel, then entered into private study or common lectures 
until evening. 

The first year of studies leading to a B.A. were devoted to lectures in rhet­
oric, in which the works of Quintilian, Hermogenes and Cicero were read. The 
second and third years were devoted to logic in which Aristotle's dialectical 
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works and Cicero's Topics were read. The fourth year was devoted to the study 
of philosophy in which the works of Aristotle, Pliny, and Plato were read. 

According to a Cambridge University document dated October 29, 1581, 
now in the I3ritish Museum, we know which professors taught which subjects 
and who were the students they lectured to. In the listing we find that Marlowe, 
(spelled Marley, one of the many variants in the spelling of his name), was attend­
ing lectures by Professor M. lohnes in Dialectics. As an undergraduate, one also 
studied Greek, arithmetic and elements of astronomy. After obtaining the B.A ., 
one continued with the more advanced courses in astronomy, mathematics, and 
philosophy. Divinity, medicine and law were undertaken after receiving a Mas­
ter of Arts degree. 

It is probable that Marlowe started writing poetry in that first year at Cam­
bridge. He was in the midst of academic brilliance, professors and students rep­
resenting the cream of the Elizabethan intellectual elite. The challenge to exercise 
his own talents no doubt drove him to start writing . His first effort was a trans­
lation of the Elegies in Ovid's Amores, one of the most erotic works of the 
ancients . Howdid a 17-year-old divinity student at Corpus Christi College exer­
cise his libido' By translating the erotic poetry from a less sexually repressed civ­
ilization. It would be years before Ovid's Elegies would be published in book 
form. But Marlowe was certainly aware that he was blazing a new trail in English 
verse. 

Stephen Orgel, in a brief critique of the Elegies, (Christopher Marlowe: The 
Complete Poems and Translations) wrote in 1971 (p. 233): 

The Amore; were the least well known of Ovid's major works to the Elizabethans, 
and Marlowe's translation is the first in English. His interest \vould have been 
as much in their urbanity of tone as in their world of erotic possibilities .... But 
Marlowe's Ovidian elegies are more than translations. They undertake, with 
remarkable energy and ingenuity, the adaptation of a classical mode to the uses 
of English poetry. In a sense, this is Marlowe's sonnet sequence, the psychomachia 
of a poet-lover whose love is both his creation and his ultimate monomania, 
frustration and despair. The excitement that Marlowe brought to these poems 
is obvious, as much in the vividness and wit of the language as in the evident haste 
and occasional carelessness of the composition . At least six early and surreptitious 
editions (one of which was banned and burned by episcopal order in 1599) testify 
to the excitement readers got out of the work. But licentiousness is not the Elegies' 
primary claim on our attention; indeed, by current standards they are barely warm. 
Their rhetoric, however, brings a new lOne and a new range of possibilities into 
Engl ish verse. 

We can imagine that Marlowe must have shown some of these verses to fel­
low students who shared his erotic interest. In Elegia II he wrote (p. 114): 

Unwilling lovers love doth more torment 

Than such as in their bondage feel content. 

Lo, I confess, I am thy captive, I, 

And hold my conquered hands for thee to tie. 


(17-20( 
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Here's a sample from EJegia V ( p. 118 ): 

How smooth a belly under her waist saw I, 

How large a leg , and what a lusty thigh' 

To leave the rest, all liked me passing well; 

[ clinged her naked body, down she fell. 

Judge you the rest: being tired she bade me kiss; 

Jove send me more such afternoons as this. 


121-271 

Marlowe translates Ovid's interesting comment on prostitution in Elegia X 

(p. 128): 

Only a woman gets spoils from a man, 

Farms out herself on nights for what ~he can, 

And lets what both delight, what bot h des ire, 

Making her joy according to her hire . 

The spo rt being such as both alike swee t try it, 

Why should one sell it and the other buy it l 


[29-341 

Marlowe also repeated a theme one finds later in the Sonnets attributed to 

Shakespeare : 

In verse to praise kind wenches 'tis my part, 

And whom Jeternize by my art. 

Garments do wear, jewels and gold do waste, 

The fame that verse gives doth for ever las t. 


159-621 

Thy sco pe is mortal , mine eternal fame, 
That all the world may ever chant my name. 

IElegia XV: 7-81 

Therefore when flint and iron wear away, 
Verse is immortal, and shall ne'er decay. 

[31-321 

The suffering ploughshare or the flint may wear, 
But heavenly poesy no death can feaL 

[p. 136: 32-331 

On the subject of sexual arousal Marlowe wrote (Book II, Elegia IV): 

If any eye me with a modest look, 
I burn, and by that blushful glance am took . 

111-12 ] 

That line reminds us of the most famous lines of all from Hero al/d Lean­
der (Sestiad I, pp. 21-22): 

It lies not in our power to love or hate, 

For will in us is overruled by fate. 

When two are stripped, long ere the course begin 
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We wish that one should lose, the other win; 

And one especially do we affect 

Of two gold ingot s like in each respect. 

The reason no man knows: let it suflice, 

What we behold is censured by our eyes. 

Where both deliberate, the love is slight; 

Who ever loved, that loved not at first ~ightl 


[ 167-1761 

That last line is probably Marlowe's best known . It clearly demonstrates 
Marlowe's all-consuming interest in the subject of love and sex. He even 
approached the pornographic in Book III, Elegia VI, when he wrote: 

Nay more, the wench did not disdain a whit 

To take it in her hand and play with it, 

But when she saw it would by no means stand , 

But still drooped down , regarding not her hand , 

"Why mock'st thou me," she cried, "or being ill. 

Who bade thee lie down here against thy wiJl1 

Either th' art witched with blood of frogs new dead, 

Or jaded cam'st thou from some other's bed. " 


173-80[ 

One can imagine the raging libido that young Marlowe lived with at Cam­
bridge. And certainly he was .not the only one among the students who had the 
same problem. But from his poetry we gather the depth of his interest in love 
and lust, all the while preparing himself for a life in Holy Orders. With the idea 
of gaining lasting fame as a poet, we can surmise that Marlowe was willing to 
bide his time at Cambridge, doing the studies required of him while also trans­
lating Ovid. and thinking of the first play he was to write. 
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The Cambridge Experience 

For Christopher Marlowe life at Cambridge consisted of more than just 
prayers. lectures. and required studies. It also inevitably meant getting to know 
many new people. Thomas Nashe (1567-1601) was in residence from 1582 to 
1586. Nashe was later to collaborate with Marlowe in the writing of. Dido. Queen 
of Carthage. Also in residence was Robert Greene (1558-92). who got his B.A. 
in 1580. obtained an M.A. in 1584. He went on to write short romantic novels 
and pseudo-historical plays. Another resident at Cambridge at the time was 
Robert Cecil. crippled son of Lord Burghley (1520-98). the Lord Treasurer of 
England and Chancellor of the University. Burghley had probably known Mar­
lowe since his days as a page to Philip Sidney. 

Then there was Gabriel Harvey (1545- 1630). renowned as a rhetorician and 
orator. and friend of poet Edmund Spencer. who had been at the University a 
decade before. A pompous pedant if there ever was one, Harvey was known at 
court and stood high in the esteem of Cambridge's intellectual and theological 
leaders. As a literary critic, he had his own ideas about English poetry: it should 
follow classical prosody. preferring the hexameter. He thought he could intlu­
ence the author of The Fairie Queene to abandon his smoothly cadenced. rhyming 
stanzas for the hexameter. But Spenser kept to his own style, rejecting his friend's 
influence. 

Harvey was so impressed with his own importance and his friendship with 
Spencer that he actually published a little book of their correspondence, aptly titled: 
Three Proper. and wittie, familiar Letters: lately passed between two Universitie men: 
touching the Earthquake in April/last, and our English reformed VersIfying. 

In later years. Harvey was to become a bitter opponent of Thomas Nashe. 
Elizabethan England was a small world. and the literary elite an even smaller 
one. As for Marlowe, he was anything but a gentle. unassuming poet like Spenser. 
He burned with ambition and the desire for fame. And he achieved it in the only 
way a cobbler's son could, by sheer brilliance in writing. 

The University reflected the social divisions of the time . According to A.D. 
Wraight (In Search of Chris lap her Marlowe) (p. 58): 

26 
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There were three classes of students in Marlowe's day. The first were fellow­
commoners (the sons of gentry); next came the "pensioners," of which Marlowe 
was one and lucky to be so as a mere tradesman's son, for these were usually in 
the third class, the poor "sizars," whose task it was to act as "fags" cleaning boots, 
rousting their masters in time for prayers and waiting on them at high table. It was 
compulsory to attend evensong in the chapel before supper in Hall at seven P.M. 

This was "not much better than the dinner" of a pottage of salted beef and oatmeal. 
Entries in the buttery books show that Kit frequently betook himself to the buttery 
bar for a snack to eke out this meagre fare, and fortunately he seems to have been 
able to afford it. 

At Corpus Christi, Marlowe found himselfin a rather young heterogeneous 
community. Although he was a good two years older than most in his year, oth­
ers nearing the end of their six years of study would have been his seniors. The 
college had just passed through a period of great expansion, almost tripling its 
numbers from a decade before. There were ninety members, thirteen of these 
being Fellows, twenty scholars, four Bible-clerks, and fifty-four in the student 
body of fellow commoners, pensioners, and sizars. To make room for all of these 
people, every nook and cranny of the College was used. Attics were furnished, 
Marlowe's room was a converted store-room; and the Fellows in the first-floor 
rooms in the Old Court had to share their chambers with one or two students. 

Another resident was Francis Kett, who had been a Fellow from 1573 to 
1580. He was still at Corpus Christi for a short while after Marlowe was admit­
ted. He would be burned at the stake eight years later for holding heretical opin­
ions. There is no evidence that Marlowe got to know Kett or was influenced by 
his unorthodox views. But there is no doubt that Marlowe's views on religion 
underwent radical change while he was at Cambridge. 

Kett was a fanatic who went to his fiery death, leaping and dancing, clap­
ping his hands and crying "blessed be God" until he was stifled with smoke. 
Religion was a controversial, if not dangerous, subject in England and particu­
larly at Cambridge where the Catholic-Protestant conflict was a subsurface 

preoccu pa t ion . 
After the death of Mary Tudor and the end of Catholic persecution of 

Protestants, the latter were determined to never permit the Catholics 10 rule 
England again . The Catholics, of course, were equally determined to bring 
England back into the Papal fold. They placed their hopes on bringing Catholic 
Mary Stuart, Queen of Scots, to England to replace Elizabeth. 

But their plans were thwarted by three brilliant members of Elizabeth's gov­
ernment: William Cecil, who later became Lord Burghley, Francis Walsingham 
who set up Elizabeth's secret service, and to a lesser extent Nicholas Bacon, father 
of Anthony and Francis Bacon. AI/three would touch Marlowe's life one way or 

another. 
William Cecil (1520-1598) was of Welsh origin. In 1535 he entered St. John's 

College at Cambridge where he studied under the famed professor John Cheke 
and came under Protestant influence . It was in 1517 that Luther had launched 
the Reformation. And in Geneva, John Calvin had recently completed his 
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Institutes of the Christian Religion in 1536, which became the Protestant hand­
book for reformers. 

Cecil's father had acquired his status by serving the Tudors as groom of the 
wardrobe, and young William adopted his father's loyalty by serving as a page 
of the robes at court. Thus, very early in life, Cecil was rubbing shoulders with 
the most powerful men in the court of Henry VIII. 

In J541, Cecil married the professor's sister, Mary Cheke, who died two 
years later, leaving him with a son. He left Cambridge in 1541 and began his 
legal studies at Gray's Inn. In 1542, for defending royal policy, he was rewarded 
by Henry VIII with a place in the Court of Common Pleas. A year later he first 
entered Parliament. Through his second marriage to the learned and pious Mil­
dred Cooke in 1545, he joined an influential Protestant circle at court. 

After Henry's death, 13urghley served under the boy king Edward VI as sec­
retary of state. He was knighted in 155!. But two years later, when Catholic Mary 
Tudor became Queen, he went into retirement. By keeping a low profile and yet 
showing loyalty to a Tudor Queen, he could survive while Protestants were being 
burned at the stake or going into exile. Almost 300 Protestant martyrs were put 
to death under Bloody Mary. 

With Mary's death in 1558, Burghley was at once sworn in as a minister by 
Queen Elizabeth. He was Secretary of State from 1558 to 1572, after which he 
became Lord Treasurer. Although he disliked war, he favored and organized 
direct action in Scotland to end French domination there. The result was the 
Treaty of Edinburgh which paved the way for the eventual union between Scot­
land and England. 

[n 1587 Burghley brought the long drawn-out crisis over the fate of Mary, 
Queen of Scots, to an end by dispatching the signed execution warrant speed­
ily, to forestall any last minute change of mind by Elizabeth. He knew that as 
long as Mary Stuart lived, Elizabeth would never be safe from assassination. 

As chancellor of the University of Cambridge from 1559, Burghley influenced 
discipline rather than the curriculum, but he made his household a resort ofschol­
ars and an educational center for the Queen's wards and the young aristocracy. 

Sir Francis Walsingham (1530-1590) was second only to Lord Burghley in 
contributing to the success of Elizabeth's domestic and foreign policies. The son 
of a prosperous lawyer in Kent, he studied at King's College, Cambridge, for 
two years beginning in 1548, but did not take a degree. He traveled abroad for 
two years, returned to London and soon left England as a Protestant exile from 
Queen Mary's counterreformation. 

Walsingham's two trips abroad in the 1550s epitomize his entire career. The 
foundation in politics and languages laid during the first trip served him well 
when he undertook the conduct of Elizabeth's foreign affairs and the manage­
ment of a secret service essential to England's survival. The second stay on the 
Continent affirmed his strong Protestant commitment. Like many of the Mar­
ian Exiles, he absorbed the advanced Protestant doctrines of Calvinism; unlike 
most of them, he attained high political office. 
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Walsingham was admitted 10 the bar in 1552, and in 1563 he obtained his 

first seat in Parliament. William Cecil (Lord Burghley), the principal secretary, 

recognized the potential of Walsingham and helped him climb the career lad­

der in Elizabeth's government. From 1568 to 1570 Walsingham was employed in 
obtaining information on the activities offoreign agents in London. From 1570 

to 1573 he served as ambassador to the French court. He was in Paris when the 
horrible St. Bartholomew's Day massacre of Protestant Huguenots took place. 

That strengthened his determination to do all in his power to prevent the 
Catholics from ever coming back to power in England . 

In the two decades following 1570, when Protestant England's survival was 
threatened by external invasion from Spain and internal subversion by Jesuit 
missionaries working with a radical fringe of English Catholics, Walsingham's 
espionage network on the Continent and his secret-service surveillance of Roman 

Catholics at home was vital. He recruited some of the brightest students and grad­
uates ofOxford and Cambridge to work as spies . He helped develop highly sophis­
ticated tools for espionage, particularly in the making and breaking of codes. 

Until 1587, the main hope of the papacy and Spain lay in the possibility that 
Elizabeth might be assassinated by conspirators or deposed by a Catholic upris­

ing, thus placing the deposed Catholic, Mary Stuart, Queen of Scots, on the 
throne. Walsingham and his agents frustrated these plans via the famous Babing­

ton plot which established the complicity of Mary, who had been held as Eliza­
beth's prisoner since 1568. It was Walsingham who supplied the evidence against 
Mary, and he and Lord Burghley finally convinced Elizabeth to sign Mary's death 

warrant in February 1587. 
Walsingham also used his position to aid the Puritans in the English Church 

who felt that the Reformation had not gone far enough. The harsh treatment of 
Puritans by Archbishop John Whitgift in the 1590s, after Walsingham's death, 
testified to how effectively the secretary had shielded them from Elizabeth's dis­

taste and her prelate's wrath. Although a staunch Puritan, Walsingham was also 

a patron of scholars and literary men, but he had no use for drama . 
Walsingham was married three times. His daughter Frances had three hus­

bands, including Sir Philip Sidney, the great poet, who died in 1586, and Robert 
Devereux, the 2nd Earl of Essex, who was executed by Elizabeth in 1601. 

The third man on the team protecting Elizabeth was Sir Nicholas Bacon 

(1510-1579), father of Anthony and Francis Bacon. He was admitted to the bar 
in 1533 and made attorney of the court of wards and liveries. He married the 
strongly Protestant Anne Cooke, sister of Mildred Cooke, who became the wife 
of Lord Burghley. Thus, the two men were brothers-in-law. Despite his known 

Protestant sympathies, Bacon managed to retain his office during the reign of 

Catholic Mary (1553-58). 
Upon the accession of Elizabeth, Bacon was made Lord Keeper of the Great 

Seal, in which capacity he began to exercise the full Judicial authority of Lord 
Chancellor in January 1559. In this position he worked with Burghley to main­
tain the relatively moderate Protestantism of the Elizabethan church. 
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Marlowe's Early Works 

Biographers and scholars agree that Marlowe wrote his earliest works while 
a student at Corpus Christi. The translation of Ovid's Elegies is considered his 
first work, followed by the translation of the first book of Lucan's Pharsalia and 

subsequently by the first draft of Dido, Queen of Carthage. Marlowe's love of 
Ovid probably began back at the King's School where he might have had access 
to Headmaster Gresshop's copy of Ovid's Metamorphoses with its erotic illus­
trations. What teen-age boy would not be so impressed, particularly one of such 
literary talent as the young M arlowe 1 

Marlowe must have felt a keen affinity for the Roman poet who was born 

in 43 S.c. and died in exile in A.D. 18, having been banished from Rome by Em­
peror Augustus. Ovid 's love of beauty and of nature was to be found in every­
thing he wrote, and that same sense of beauty was to be found in Marlowe's work. 
And if that is the case, shouldn't that same love of Ovid be found in the works 
of Shakespeare if Marlowe was indeed their true author? In fact, A. L. Rowse 

writes in his biography of Shakespeare, in which he tried to construct an edu­
cation for his hero out of thin air : "In the upper school he went on to Ovid, and 

this was the love of his life among Latin poets." 
It is highly improbable that the lascivious Ovid would have been taught in 

any school Shakespeare attended. Marlowe's translation of Ovid was undoubt­
edly undertaken as a private exerci se in sensuality, which he might have shared 

with several of his classmates. 
Joseph Sobran, in his book on the Oxford theory, Alias Shakespeare, writes 

(p. Ill): "Shakespeare echoes Ovid so often that Francis Meres suggested the 
Roman's soul had transmigrated into the English poet." Sobran further com­

ments (p. 178): 

Shakespe<1re's favorite classical poet is not Virgil, however, but Ovid. It is a com­
monplace of scholarship that he draws on the Metamorphoses In both the original 
Latin and Arthur Golding's Iranslalion. Venus I1nd AdoniS is drawn from Metamor­
phoses, 'file Rape of Lllcrece from Ovid', Fastl . 

3 1 
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But it was Ovid's complete emancipation from all moral restraints that 
eventually led to his downfall. His Ars Amnroria (Arr of Love) was considered 
the most Immoral work ever written by a man of genius . 

U.M. Ellis-Fermor writes (p. !O) : " Marlowe's choice of theme in the Elegies 
suggests that this work attracted him as an escape from the rigid life of an Eliz­
abethan student. ... In the Elegies of Ovid he found part of what he sought - a 
full and irresponsible love of life - just as in his other early translation, the first 
of the Pharsalia, he found a partial expression of his thirst for sovereignty and 
love of arms." 

What is particularly interesting about Lucan's Pharsalia, is that Marlowe 
wrote it in blank verse, an innovation that was noted as a great creative advance 
in play wr iting. Also, the subject of this extraordinary poem was civil war, in 
marked contrast to the erotic themes in the Elegies. Apparently, unlike the sur­
reptitious Elegies, this translation was one that he could show his professors as 
an example of his competence with Latin. And the subject had relevance to what 
was going on in England. The war between Caesar and Pompey could be seen 
as a prototype of the struggle between Elizabeth and Mary Stuart. 

Some of the lines exquisitely express the irony of Rome's political fate: 

Rome, if thou take delight in impious war, 
First conquer all the earth, then turn thy forces 
Against thyself: as yet thou wants not foes. 

121-231 

Rome was so great it could not bear itself. 
So when this world's confounded union breaks, 
Time ends, and to old Chaos all things turn . 

173-751 

And then we get this very salient bit of political philosophy that sums up 
exactly what the problem was between Elizabeth and Mary Stuart, Queen of 
Scots, a view that must have pleased Lord Burghley had he read the poem: 
"Dominion cannot suffer partnership" (93). 

There is also an interesting set of lines depicting pagan practices and beliefs: 

And you, French Bardi, whose immortal pens 

Renown the valiant souls slain in your wars, 

Sit safe at home and chant sweet poesy. 

And, Druides, you now in peace renew 

Your barbarous customs and sinister rites; 

In unfelled woods and sacred groves you dwell, 

And only gods and heavenly powers you know, 

Or only know you nothing. For you hold 

That souls pass not to silent Erebus 

Or Pluto's bloodless kingdom, but e.lsewhere 

Resume a body; so (if truth you sing) 

Death brings long life. Doubtless these northern men. 

Whom death, Ihe greatest of all fears . affright not, 
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Are blest by such sweet error ; this makes them 
Run on the sword's point and desire to die, 
And shame to spare life which being lost is won. 

r443-458] 

What Marlowe found in Lucan's Pharsalia was the political violence he saw 
around him in Elizabethan England. And it prepared him for the violence in 
Dido, Queen ofCarthage, and Tamburlaine, which he began to write before leav­
ing Cambridge. 

It is generally acknowledged that Dido was Marlowe's first play and that it 
was written while he was still a 21-year-old student at Cambridge in the years 
1585-86. So much of the education he got was in the classics. F.5. Boas has shown 
how memories of lines from Ovid appear in nearly everything Marlowe wrote . 
His classical allusions come mainly from the Roman poet, and his mind was 
filled with memorized phrases from Ovid's poetry. As a student preparing for 
Holy Orders, he knew the Bible as well as he knew the classics, and in their con­
trast he found his own way. 

But it was Virgil's Aeneid, particularly Books I, II and IV that provided 
Marlowe with an exciting, dramatic subject for his first play. H. J. Oliver writes 
in his introduction to Dido Queen of Carthage (p. xxxvi): "Working from the 
Latin text, Marlowe sometimes translated, (often brilliantly), sometimes para­
phrased, sometimes summarized. He also often rearranged, or altered the 
emphasis; and sometimes he invented." He already knew how to take an origi­
nal epic that was generally known to Elizabethan theatergoers and adapt it in a 
way to produce the effects he wished to make on the stage. 

The story is of the fall of Troy and the escape of Aeneas and a group of his 
followers by ship from the city, which has been destroyed by the Greeks. While 
on the way to Italy, the ship is wrecked on the shores of Carthage. Dido, the 
Queen, welcomes Aeneas with open arms and falls desperately in love with him. 
He is determined to repair his ship and sail on to Italy. But Dido begs him to 
stay. After agreeing to stay, he changes his mind and finally leaves. Dido then 
kills herself. 

That's the bare outline of a much more complicated plot which includes 
the machinations of gods and goddesses, a few other characters, and several sub­
plots. The play opens with a delightful scene in which Jupiter has his young 
lover Ganymede on his knee, and Ganymede complains of how badly treated 
he's been by Jupiter's sister Juno. Their conversation leads to Jupiter's promise 
to put Juno in her place. He then asks Ganymede what kind of a present he 
would like. The adolescent lover replies with typical teenage greed: 

J would have a jewel for mine ear, 
And a fine brooch to put in my hat, 
And then ['II hug with you an hundred times. 

[46-48 1 

Venus enters and addresses Jupiter : 
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Ay, this is it; you Cdn sit toying there, 

And playing with that female wanton boy, 

VVhiles my Aeneas wanders on the seas, 

And rests a prey to every billow's pride. 


150-531 

Jupiter agrees to help and manages to bring Aeneas' ships to the Carthage 

shore. Venus witnesses her son's arrival but does not make her identity known. 

Aeneas is then brought to Queen Dido's court where he and his son are cordially 

welcomed and put at ease. Dido then asks Aeneas: 

May I entreat thee to discourse at large, 
And truly too, how Troy was overcome? 

12.1. 106-1071 

What follows, of course, is the harrowing tale of the entry of the Trojan 

Horse into Troy and the massacre that ensued. Particularly graphic is Aeneas's 

description of the murder of King Priam by blood-thirsty Pyrrhus: 

At last came Pyrrhus, fell and full of ire, 

His harness dropping blood, and on his spear 

The mangled head of Priam's youngest son, 

And after him his band of Myrmidons, 

With balls of wildfire in their murdering paws, 

Which made the funeral flame that burnt fair Troy; 


12.1. 213-2181 

My mother Venus, jealous of my health, 

Convey'd me from their crooked nets and bands; 

So [ escap'd the furious Pyrrhus' wrath; 

Who then ran to the palace of the King, 

And at Jove's altar finding Priamus, 

About whose wither'd neck hung Hecuba, 

Folding his hand in hers, and jointly both 

Beating their breasts and falling on the ground, 

He, with his falchion's point raised up at once, 

And with Megaera's eyes, stared in their face, 

Threat'ning a thousand deaths at every glance; 

To whom the aged King thus trembling spoke: 

"Achilles' son, remember what I was: 

Father ot' (Ifty sons, but they are slain; 

Lord of my fortune, but my fortune's turn'd; 

King of this city, but my Troy is (Ired-

And now am neither father, lord, nor king. 

Yet who so wretched but desires to live? 

o let me live, great Neoptolemus!" 

Not mov'd at all, but smiling at his tears, 

This butcher, whilst his hands were yet held up, 

Tredding upon his breast, struck off his hands. 


Dido. 0 end, Aeneas, I can hear no more' 
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At which the frantic Queen leap'd on his face, 

And in his eyelids hanging by the nails, 

A little while prolong'd her husband's life. 

At last, the soldiers pull'd her by the heels, 

And swung her howling in the empty air, 

Which sent an echo to the wounded King; 

Whereat he lifted up his bed-rid limbs, 

And would have grappled with Achilles' son, 

Forgetting both his want of strength and hands: 

Which he disdaining whisk'd his sword about, 

And with the wound thereof the King fell down. 

Then from the navel to the throat at once 

He ripp'd old Priam; at whose latter gasp 

Jove's marble statue gan to bend the brow 

As loathing Pyrrhus for this wicked act. 


[2.1. 221-2581 

The reason why we've quoted this lengthy excerpt from the play is because 
of what we find in Hamlet some years later. In Act 2, Scene 2, Hamlet welcomes 
a troupe of players who will act in the play that will catch his uncle. He a~ks the 
players to give him a sample of their talents. They ask him what would he like 
to hear. Hamlet speaks: 

I heard thee speak me a speech once, but it was never acted, or if it was, not above 
once, for the play, I remember, pleased not the million; 'twas caviary to the general: 
but it was- as I received it, and others, whose judgments in such matters cried in 
the top of mine - an excellent play, well digested in the scenes, set down with as 
much modesty as cunning. I remember one said there were no sallets in the lines to 
make the matter savoury, nor no matter in the phrase that might indict the author 
of affectation, but called it an honest method, as wholesome as sweet, and by very 
much more handsome than fine. One speech in't I chiefly loved. 'Twas Aeneas' tale 
to Dido, and thereabout of it especially where he speaks of Priam's slaughter. If it 
live in your memory, begin at this line-let me see, let me see: 

"The rugged Pyrrhus, like th' Hyrcanian beast-" 
'Tis not so; it begins with Pyrrhus: 


"The rugged Pyrrhus, he ,,,hose sable arms, 

Black as his purpose, did the night resemble 

When he lay couched in the ominous horse, 
Hath now this dread and black complexion smeared 
With heraldry more dismal. Head to foot 
Now is he total gules, horridly tricked 
With blood of fathers, mothers, daughters, sons 
Baked and impasted with the parching streets, 
That lend a tyrannous and a damned light 
To their lord's murther. Roasted in wrath and fire, 
And thus o'ersized with coagulate gone, 
With eyes like carbuncles, the helilish Pyrrhus 
Old grandsire Priam seeks ." 

So, proceed you. 
122. 454-487 J 
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The pla yer then proceeds to deliver an emotive monologue of about 45 
lines depicting the slaying of Priam and Hecuba by Pyrrhus. II is a broad par­
ody of the lines in Marlowe's Dido. But some lines come awfully close to Mar­
lowe's original. Marlowe wrote: 

Which he disdaining whisk'd his sword about 
And with the wound thereof the King fell down. 

12.1. 253-2541 

The author of Hamlet wrote: 

Pyrrhus at Priam drives, in rage strikes wide, 
But with the whiff and wind of his fell sword 
Th' unnerved father falls. 

12.2. 494-4961 

Many Shakespeare scholars have commented on Hamlet's lengthy allusion 
to and paraphrasing of Dido. They generally assume that Shakespeare had access 
to the play, had read it, or seen it. It was published in 1594 and Hamlet was writ­
ten in about 1600 or 160i. But it is odd indeed for one playwright to make so 
extensive use of another playwright's work . 

Indeed, the scene in Hamlet can be read on many levels. If, however, you 
believe that Marlowe wrote Hamlet and inserted a portion of Dido very cleverly 
into a play about a Danish prince - who might have seen the play performed 
by a traveling English troupe in Denmark or seen it on a theatergoing junket to 
London - then the reference to Dido becomes one of the many clues that Mar­
lowe put in so many of the plays that point to him as the true author. 

Also, he may have inserted the reference to Dido in order to stimulate inter­
est in the play - giving it a plug - since Hamlet calls it an "excellent play, well 
digested in the scenes, set down with as much modesty as cunning." These days 
a statement like that would be considered a rave review. 
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Marlowe and 

the Secret Service 


In 1584, at the age of 20, Marlowe received his Bachelor of Arts degree, and 
it is at about this time that he was recruited into Her Majesty's Secret Service. 
We don't know the exact circumstances of his recruitment, but obviously Lord 
Burghley had his agents looking out for possible candidates. What we do know 
is that there was a strong Catholic presence at the university since some of the 
students had been born and reared as Catholics, and that both Lord Burghley 
and Sir Francis Walsingham had good reason to be concerned about Catholic 
subversion at their old Alma Mater. Charles Nicholl writes in The Reckoning 
(p.96): 

As early as 1581, during Marlowe's first year at the university, the [English Catholic] 
seminary [at Rheimsl had established a recruitment network at the university. This 
was one of the achievements of the first Jesuit missions to England, spearheaded by 
Edmund Campion and Robert Persons. In September 1581, Persons reported to 
Claudius Acquaviva, the General of the Jesuits at Rome: 

At Cambridge I have at length insinuated a certain priest into the very univer­
sity, under the guise of a scholar or gentleman commoner, and have procured 
him help not far from the town . Within a few months he has sent over to 
Rheims seven very fit youths . 

And so, this invisible Catholic subversion at the university, as Burghley and 
Walsingham suspected, was very real and had to be dealt with. Thus, Walshing­
ham, master of the infiltration technique and employer of agents provocateurs, 
searched for potential government spies among the Protestant students at Cam­
bridge. Where beller to find them than at Corpus Christi, where students were 
being prepared to enter Protestant Holy Orders and had a strong theological 
commitment to the Reformation. 

It is very likely that when Marlowe was recruited into the service he fell 
under the guidance of a control, that is, a seasoned and experienced member 
who would teach him the ropes and give him his instructions from Sir Francis. 
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Who was that controP It could have been Thomas Walsingham, cousin of Sir 
Francis, who si nee 1581 had been a courier, conveyi ng letters from the Engl ish 
ambassador in Paris to the Queen in London. It could have been Thomas Wat­
son, the poet, who shared rooms with Thomas Walsingham in Paris and was also 
working in the secret service. Or it could have been Robert Poley, a Cambridge 
alumnus and ten years Marlowe's senior, who became Walsingham's chief dou­
ble-agent working among the Babington plotters. He was known among 
Catholics as Walsingham's most capable spy, an expert in double-dealing, a well­
experienced informer, and a very clever agent provocateur. 

Being recruited into the Secret Service meant not only new and interesting 
connections for Marlowe, but extra spending money. Since Marlowe had for­
saken his career in Holy Orders for one as a playwright, the need for a source 
of income was probably one of the reasons why he willingly entered the secret 
service. Also, it brought him into contact with Thomas Walsingham, a year older 
than he, who later became his patron and benefactor. In short, by entering the 
secret service Marlowe also entered a new world of people of influence dealing 
with the highest policies of government. 

Marlowe's first assignment was to go to the English Catholic seminary at 
Rheims. The College had been founded by English Catholic exiles in 1568 at 
Douai, Flanders, but due to political unsettlement moved to Rheims. There, 
politically protected by the Duke of Guise and financially supported by the Vat­
ican, the seminary prospered. It became a rallying point for Catholic English­
men from all soc ial classes, including students from Camb ridge and Oxford. It 
became a training ground for militant Catholics who returned to England to fur ­
ther efforts to return England to the Catholic church. 

Charles Nicholl writes (p. 121): 

Rheims was high on Walsingham's French agenda. The purpose of his operations 
against the seminary can be summed up as t\vo-fold. The first was intelligence: to 
gather details of Catholic strategy, both military and political, and to get advance 
warning of priests intending to enter England. The second was sabotage: to sow 
faction and disunity in the very heart of the Catholic mission .... 

Life at the semina ry was frugal and scholarly .... The sem inarists wore black 
gowns and tricorn hats, attended divinity le ct ures. subsisted on simple fare­
dinner was a ' little broth , thickened merel y with the COm monest roots' - and 
contemplated the murals of blessed mart yrdom painted on their chamber-wall s. 
It was an intensely tight-knit community. These were young men a long wa), from 
home, surrounded by hos tile locals, and steeped in a fanatical ideal of devotion and 
sacrifice: 'soldiers of Chr ist.' 

What was Marlowe's mission at Rheims? It is believed that he went there 
primarily to deliver a message to Gilbert Gifford, one ofWalsingham's double­
agents at the seminary. Gifford was a key player in the Babington plot in that he 
was able to persuade fellow seminarist lohn Savage to join the conspirators and 
take an oath to kill Queen Elizabeth. Marlowe arrived at Rheims in July of 1585 
and returned to Corpus Christi in the fall. He no uoubt found easy access to the 
se minary, which was happ y to welcome any student from Cambridge interested 



39 7. Marlowe and the Secret Service 

in becoming a Catholic, and Marlowe no doubt gave the impression that he was 

considering conversion or had already converted. 

He probably stayed long enough to gather the information from Gifford that 

Walsingham wanted and to make other useful observations. As a budding play­

wright he eagerly absorbed the sights and sounds and characters he encoun­

tered. He could also practice his French on the locals in town . And as a secret 
agent he was learning how to skillfully deceive and dissimulate. 

Was Marlowe sent on other missions? We can only speculate by consider­
ing his absences from Cambridge during the years 1584 to 1587. Between his 
arrival in December 1580 and his graduation as Bachelor of Arts in April 1584, 
there is no record of absence. However, during the academic year of 1584-85, 
Marlowe received less than half the scholarship payment due him, indicating 

two prolonged periods of absence in 1585: the first of eight weeks from the mid­
dle of April until mid-June; the second, a nine- week absence from July to Sep­
tember. This last period accounts for the time he went to Rheims. 

However, even though he had received less of his scholarship money, he 
was receiving remuneration from the government for his work in the secret serv­

ice. In 1585, Marlowe's spending at the Corpus Christi buttery increased con­
siderably, indicating that he was beginning to enjoy his newly gained prosperity. 
Indeed, it is in 1585 that the famous portrait believed to be of Marlowe was 
painted with its mysterious motto: Quod me mltrit me destruit. (That which 

nourishes me, destroys me.) It was the portrait of the young man as poet and 
playwright, not the pursuer of Holy Orders . No doubt he was also working on 
his great play, Tamburlaine, which would launch his career in London in 1587. 

[n November 1585, Marlowe visited his family in Canterbury where he wit­
nessed the drafting of a neighbor's will. He read the text of the will out loud to 
the assembled company, which included his father, uncle, and brother-in-law. 

This will, discovered in 1939 in the archives of Canterbury, contains the only 

known specimen of Marlowe's signature. 
Marlowe was also absent from Corpus Christi for nine weeks in April, May 

and June of 1586. We can only speculate that he was performing some sort of 

work for Walsingham. 
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The Babington Plot 

You have to know something about the Babington Plot in order to under­
stand not only the conspiratorial nature of Elizabethan politics but also to under­
stand the centuries old struggle between Catholics and Protestants in the 
English-speaking world, which may finally end in Northern Ireland. The Puri­
tans brought that same state of mind to the new world when they settled New 
England in the early 1600s. Although Marlowe had performed his small part in 
the ensuing drama, he was also preparing himself to take the London stage by 
storm with Tamburlaine. 

In a sense , the plot was the inspiration of Walsingham and Burghley who 
wanted, once and for all, to free England of the possibility of a Catholic return 
to power. They did not want another Bloody Mary with hundreds of martyrs 
burned at the stake. This meant getting rid of Mary Stuart whom the Pope had 
proclaimed as the rightful Queen of England . He had excommunicated Eliza­
beth in 1570 by way of a Papal Bull that absolved Elizabeth's subjects from their 
allegiance to the Protestant sovereign, an obvious incitement to rebellion. Thus, 
from 1585 to February 8,1587, when Mary was finally executed, all ofWalsing­
ham's energies and resources were devoted to ending the threat to Elizabeth as 
well as to Walsingham, Burghley and other Protestant leaders who would be 
hanged if not burned alive if the conspirators won. It should be recalled that 
Wals ingham was in Paris in August 1572 during the St. Bartholomew's Day mas­
sacre of the Huguenots, led by the Guises, to whom Mary Stuart was closely 
related. It was an event that one was unlikely to forget. 

The problem with the Queen of Scots began in 1568 when Mary fled to 
England after abdicating the throne in Scotland. She had been accused of com­
plicity in the murder of her husband. In England she was held at a castle far dis­
tant from London. After lengthy consultation with Cecil (Lord Burghley) and 
the Scottish opposition to Mary, Elizabeth decided to imprison her. There was 
always the possibility that Catholic Mary might succeed Elizabeth should the 
latter die unexpectedly. While Mary Stuart had a much pleasanter disposition 
than Mary Tudor, it was her future militant followers who were to be feared. 
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The "plot" began in March 1586 at a meeting at the Plough Inn, outside 
Temple Bar in London. Present were Robert Barnwell, an Irishman, Harry 
Dunne, a young Kentish gentleman, Chidiock Tichbourne, a poet. These were 
minor players. The two men at the core of the plot were Anthony Babington and 
John Ballard. Babington was a charming, 24-year-old lawyer, son of a rich squire, 
who had studied law at Lincoln's Inn. As a devout Catholic, he had developed 
at an early age a fierce loyalty to Mary Queen of Scots. He served as a courier 
conveying messages from Thomas Morgan to Queen Mary. Morgan. a Welsh 
Catholic and a master of intrigue, was Mary's agent in charge of communica­
tion between her and her supporters in France. However, Elizabeth had banned 
correspondence between Mary and her followers. In any case, by 1586 Babing­
ton had ceased to be a courier. He was thinking of going into exile on the Con­
tinent. He and a friend had tried to get passports but to no avail. Thus, from 
the very beginning he was not the strongest supporter of the plot. 

The real animus behind the conspiracy was Father John Ballard, a militant 
priest and a missionary Catholic from Rheims. He wore a stylish secular dis­
guise and used the name "Captain Fortescue" to detract from his true identity. 
His inseparable companion was one Barnard Maude, who had connections in 
high places and was able to get the two of them false passports to facilitate their 
crossing over to France. Ballard's purpose in France was to confer with Morgan 
and other English Catholic exiles in Paris and with the Spanish ambassador. Don 
Bernadino de Mendoza. The project was the long-awaited Catholic invasion of 
England. 

Whatever was discussed at the Plough meeting would soon be known to 
Walsingham, for Ballard's right-hand man, Barnard Maude, the "fixer" as he 
was called, was one of Walsingham's own agents. 

In May 1586, Ballard returned from France and went immediately to Babing­
ton's lodgings to tell the young lawyer the exciting news. The invasion of England 
was a done deal. It would take place in the summer, by September at the latest. 
A strike force of 60,000 soldiers were in preparation, French troops under the 
Duke of Guise, and Italian and Spanish troops under the Duke of Parma. What 
was needed was a plan for the home front: an uprising of English Catholics to 
act in concert with the invasion. 

However, in order for the invasion to succeed, the removal of Elizabeth was 
an absolute precondition. The people could not be counted on to rise up if 
Queen Elizabeth was still on the throne. Ballard then told Babington that they 
had a willing assassin : John Savage, who had vowed to perform the bloody act. 

Shortly after this, Savage visited Babington, having returned to England 
from Rheims. He was now reading law at Barnard's Inn but was still pledged to 
carry out his mission to kill the Queen. Gifford had reminded Savage of his vow. 

Babington, appalled at the scope of the conspiracy, began to have second 
thoughts. There was much discussion among the plotters, two of whom consid­
ered the removal of the Queen out of the question. Babington wanted out. He was 
now more than ever eager to go abroad, but he and Salisbury, his companion, 
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needed passports. How to get them? It so happened that an acquaintance knew 
someone with contacts at court, a friend of Catholics. He was an employee of 
Lady Sidney, daughter of Sir Francis Walsingham, who obviously had access to 
her father. The employee's name was Robert Poley. 

Although Babington knew something of Poley's reputation, he offered him 
a fee of 300 Pounds if he could obtain the two passports. Poley brought Babing­
ton's request to Walsingham. He came back with a very interesting offer: Babing­
ton would have to take Poley into his service, pay his expenses, travel with him, 
and after the travel was over provide Poley with a yearly stipend. Babington 
agreed. [n the last week of June 1586, Poley brought Babington to Greenwich 
for a personal interview with Walsingham who endeavored to enlist the Catholic 
lawyer as an informer for the government. 

Meanwhile, Walsingham had Barnard Maude providing him with intelli­
gence about Ballard, and Gifford urging John Savage to remain true to his vow. 
But despite all the help from these agents, Walsingham and Burghley knew that 
the only way they could indict the Queen of Scots was to have her give assent 
to the plot in a letter in which she agreed with the removal of Elizabeth. But 
since Mary was not permitted any correspondence with the outside world, how 
were they going to get this vitally needed written evidence? Easily, by setting up 
a clandestine correspondence channel which, unbeknownst to Mary and her 
supporters, Walsingham would control. 

This was done mainly by Walsingham's agents Poley and Gifford. Mail to 
Mary was sent from Paris to London via diplomatic pouch to the French embassy 
in London. There the mail piled up since it could not be delivered to Mary. Gif­
ford visited the French ambassador and, as a supporter of Mary, said that he had 
devised a secret method whereby mail could be delivered to Mary at Chartley 
where she was being held. It so happened that every Friday a keg of beer was 
delivered to Mary by a local brewer and an empty keg returned. Mary was led 
to believe that the brewer was a supporter and would help her. The plan was to 
put the letters in a waterproof leather sack that could be inserted in the ingoing 
keg . Outgoing mail would be inserted in the outgoing keg. 

Mary was overjoyed by the plan, which now permitted her to reach the out ­
side world. Her letters were written in code. But what she didn't know is that 
after Gifford retrieved the packet of letters from the brewer, he first delivered 
them to Walsingham whose very crafty assistant Thomas Phelippes decoded 
them, then dispatched them to their proper destinations. 

Gifford was able to get the pile of letters from the French embassy to Mary 
via the new secret channel. Among the letters was one from Morgan in Paris in 
which he officially approved of Babington as a contact. On June 25, Mary wrote 
a short note to Babington requesting that he convey to her whatever packets of 
mail he had for her from Paris and Scotland . The letter was conveyed by Gifford 
to Walshingham, who read it. It reached Babington on July 6. Spurred on by Bal­
lard and Gifford, Babington wrote the letter that was to lead to Mary's fatal, self­
incriminating reply, 
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Charles Nicholl writes (p. 152): 

The letter was long ~nd dangerously specific in its itemisation of the conspiracy's 
aims. First, to prepare the ground for the Catholic invasion force: "ports to arrive 
at appointed, with a strong party at every place to join with them ." Second, the 
"deliverance" of Mary from captivity. And third, "the despatch of the usurping 
competitor," Elizabeth. For this last act, he writes, "there be six noble gentlemen, 
all my private friends, who for the zeal they bear to the Catholic cause and your 
Majesty's service, will undertake that tragical execution .... " 

Babington's letter to Mary was a request for her assent, for legitimisation of the 
plot : "forasmuch as delay is extreme dangerous, it may please your most excellent 
Majesty to direct us, and by your princely authority to enable such as may advance 
us." It was also precisely what Walsingham was waiting for: the point at which this 
carefully nurtured treason actually touched the Queen of Scots. 

Mary received the letter on July 14. [t had already been read by Walsing­
ham who now knew about as much about the conspiracy as the plotters them­
selves. He was eager to see what Queen Mary would write in return. Finally, on 
July 17, she wrote back to Babington a long letter in which she generally approved 
of the scheme. She tacitly accepted that part of the conspiracy involving the 
removal of Elizabeth. But more than anything, she was concerned with her own 
escape from Elizabeth's imprisonment and believed that foreign help was 
absolutely necessary for the plan to succeed. Mary had written the letter in 
French, which her aides translated into English, then ciphered and dispatched 
through the brewer's pipeline. 

The letter was received and read by Walsingham on July 19. But he was not 
totally satisfied with it. It needed a more direct and explicit approval of Eliza­
beth's assassination. And so his adept decoder, Phelippes, forged a postscript to 
the end of the letter, also in cipher, in which Mary was made to ask for the names 
of the six gentlemen who would perform the deed. 

Gifford, knowing that this letter would lead to the arrest of the plotters and 
endless cross-examinations, decided that his role as agent provocateur was at an 
end and fled to the Con tinent. 

It wasn't until July 29 that Babington received Mary's letter after it had 
been thoroughly digested and copied by Walsingham and Phelippes. No doubt 
Burghley also read it or was informed of its contents. 

While the noose was tightening around the plotters, Poley spent much time 
with them. On July 28, he, Babington and Savage dined together at the Castle 
Inn. And on August 2, Babington and a group of the plotters dined in Poley's 
garden, a house provided for him by the government. Finally, on August 4, John 
Ballard was arrested at Poley's garden house. Young Thomas Walsingham was 
seen conferring with Poley that morning. 

On learning of Ballard's arrest, the conspirators scattered, but by August 
14 had all been taken into custody. After strenuous interrogation they were all 
found guilty of high treason and sentenced to death. On September 20, Ballard, 
Babington, Savage, Barnwell, Tichbourne, Tilney and Abingdon were executed. 
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Four days after Babington had been arrested, so was Poley, who was com­

mitted to the Tower. After his arrival at the Tower , he wrote out his own "con­

fession," a detailed diary of his relationship with Babington from their first 

mee ting in mid-June to their farewell on August 4. 

The imprisonment of Poley fooled few Catholics. Nicholl writes (p. 162) : 

For [Jesuit Robert ] Southwell, there [was] no doubt that the government was 
responsible for the entire plot: "the matter of Babington was wholly of their plot­
ting and forging, of purpose to make Catholics odious and to cut off the Queen of 
Scots." Babington and his accomplices were "drawn blindfold to be the workers of 
their own overthrow. " This was why they were allowed to remain free so long: 
weeks before their apprehension, they were "pointed at in the streets of London, 
and yet not touched until the matter was brought to that pass to which the Council 
would have it come." He accuses Walsingham, Leicester and Burghley as the "chief 
plotters," and Poley as the "chief ac tor in it here in England. " 

Poley remained in the Tower for about two years, during which time he 

practiced his old role of prison informer. Poley was released in 1588, after which 

Walsingham provided him with permanent employment. 

As for the Queen of Scots, a dramatic two-day trial took place on October 

J5 and J6 of 1586 at Fotheringhay, with Walsingham and Burghley present, after 

which Mary Stuart was found guilty of treason and sentenced to death. Eliza­

beth hesitated in signing the warrant for the execution. But eventually she did. 

The signed warrant was sent speedily to Fotheringhay lest Elizabeth change her 

mind. The Queen of Scots was beheaded on February 8,1587, in one of the sad­

dest execution scenes in history. When Elizabeth heard of the execution she was 

enraged at all of the ministers involved. But in time she realized that what her 

ministers had done was for her own safet y and the safety of England . 

Many historians have compared the characters of the two female sovereigns 

in an attempt to find justification for Mary's execution. But perhaps the most 

brilliant and incisive observation was made by Algernon Swinburne in the biog­

raphy he did of Mary Stuart for the Eleventh Edition of the Encyclopedia Bri­
tannica (vol. 17, p . 823): 

Three months after the massacre of SI. Bartholomew had caused some additional 
restrictions to be pl aced upon [Mary's] freedom of action, Shrewsbury writes to 
l3urghley that "rather than continue this imprison ment she sticks not to say she 
will give her body, her son , and country for liberty"; nor did she ever show any 
excess of regard for any of the three. For her own freedom of will and of way, of 
passion and of ac tion, she cared much ; for her creed she cared something; for her 
country she cared less than nothing. She would have flung Scotland with England 
into the hell fire of Spanish Catholicism rather than forg o the faintest chance 
of personal revenge .... Elizabeth, so shamefully her inferior in personal loyalty, 
fidelity and gratitude, was as clearly her superior on the one all-important point of 
patrioti sm. The saving salt of Elizabeth's character, with all its wellnigh incredi ble 
mixture of heroism and egotism, meanness and magnificence, was simply this, that, 
overmuch as she loved herself, she did yet love England better. 
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Marlowe Goes to London 

With the conclusion of the BabinglOn conspiracy, Marlowe's stay at Cam­
bridge was also about to come to an end. It also meant the finality of the deci­
sion not to pursue Holy Orders. A young man of his intelligence and literary 
skills could have easily become a bishop or even a future Archbishop of Can­
terbury had he the religious fervor needed to sustain such a career and the ambi­
tion to move upward in the clerical hierarchy. 

But Marlowe was a member of the younger Elizabethan generation, burn­
ing with ambition to astonish the world. The older generation had labored to 
create a stable, prosperous societ y, safe from the depredation s of Elizabeth's ene­
mies home and abroad. Burghley, Walsingham, Bacon, Leicester, and others had 
toiled mightily to bring about institutions that would provide political stability 
and security, yet posed challenges to the younger generation. Elizabeth had the 
temperament and sense of moderation that permitted Burghley and others to 
do their work with efficiency and vision. They never underestimated the threats 
to the kingdom's equilibrium and they enlisted the younger generation in its 
maintenance . 

Marlowe was a beneficiary of the system. Although he was not of the aris­
tocracy, he had the education of an aristocrat and the freedom to do hIS writing 
unimpeded . At Ca mbridge he had the opportunity to make connections. His 
recruitment into the secret service had brought him to the attention of the two 
most powerful men in the realm . They valued him because it wasn't often that 
a young literary genius was available for such service. 

But before he could leave the academic cocoon that had nursed and shel­
tered him for six years, he had to complete his studies for his Master's degree, 
which would be granted at Commencement in July. And so, on March 31, 1587, 
Marlowe made his final supplicant at Master and Fellows at Corpus Christi. But 
the university authorities rejected his supplication because of his absences dur­
ing the year. Rumors had floated about the university that he had become a secret 
Catholic because of his stay at the seminary at Rheims . But he could not si m­
ply tell the authorities that he had gone there as a spy. No doubt it irked him to 
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have to prove his loyalty to the state . Obviously, what he needed and what the 
authorities required was confirmation from the highest levels of government 
that his absences were in service to the Queen. 

Apparently, he got word to Walsingham or Burghley or both about his 
dilemma. Both statesmen were up to their ears in efforts to counter the fallout 
from Mary's execution in February of that year and dealing with complicated 
foreign policy matters that required their urgent attention. In addition, Burgh­
ley was suffering from gout. Nevertheless, the Privy Council was able to get a 
letter off to the university, dated June 29, 1587, which explained the circum­
stances of Marlowe's absences and his attending the Catholic seminary In 
Rheims. It stated (in modern spelling) (quoted in Wraight, p. 88): 

Whereas it was reported that Christopher Morley [one of the alternate spellings of 
Marlowe's name] was determined to have gone behind the seas to Reames and there 
10 remain, Their Lordships thought good to certify that he had no such intent, but 
that in all his actions he had behaved himself orderly and discretely whereby he had 
done her Majesty good service, & deserved to be rewarded for his faithful dealing: 
Their Lordships request was that the rumor thereof should be allaied by all possible 
means, and that he should be furthered the degree he was to take this next Com­
mencement: Because it was not her Majesty's pleasure that anyone employed as 
he had been in touching the benefit of his Country should be defamed by those that 
are ignorant in the affairs he went about. 

The letter was signed by the Archbishop, the Lord Chancellor, the Lord 
Treasurer (Burghley), the Lord Chamberlain, and the Lord Comptroler. Burgh­
ley, the most powerful statesman in Elizabeth's government, was also Chancel­
lor of Cambridge University. His word was as good as the Queen's. 

It goes without saying that Marlowe's prestige among the university author­
ities was greatly enhanced and that they made sure that the aspiring poet got his 
Master's degree. 

Now, at age 23, Marlowe was ready to make his mark as a playwright. He 
had completed Tamburlaine the Great while still at Corpus Christi, and he was 
chafing at the bit to get it staged. The theatre in London was thriving and attract­
ing huge audiences and there was an ever urgent need for new, exciting plays. 
So. when he got to the capital, he went to the newly erected Rose Theatre in 
Southmark, built by Philip Henslowe and John Charnley. Henslowe bought the 
play. The role ofTamburiaine was played by Edward Alleyn of the Lord Admi­
ral's company of players. It was an immediate smash hit. 

Marlowe's instinct had been correct in choosing this exotic subject for his 
first big play. Tamburlaine, the Scythian warrior, who had risen from shepherd 
to conqueror , was larger than life. He was modeled on Timur who in the four­
teenth century ruled in Samarkand and subdued Persians, Tartars, Syrians and 
Turks. IVlarlowe had done his research on the Middle East by studying Ortelius's 
map of the region in his atlas. This was the legendary region where Alexander 
had made his conquests. The audiences loved this marvelous conquering hero 
of low birth but with a burning lust for power. 
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With this play, Marlowe had given the stage a new form of blank verse that 

unleashed his own literary power in a way never before expressed. Thomas Nashe 

wrote that Marlowe was trying "to outbrave better pens and the swelling bom­

bast of a bragging blank verse and the specious volubility of a drumming deca­

sy llation." 

There was another side to Tamburlaine that struck a chord with Elizabethan 

audiences: the play's sheer poetic brill iance. Swinburne wrote about it over 300 

years later: 

The first great English poet was the father of English traged}' and the creator of 
English blank verse. Sublimity is the test of imagi nation as distinguished from 
invention or from fancy; and the first English poet whose powers can be ca lled 
sublime was Christopher Marlowe. 

The majestic and exquisite excellence of various lines and passages in Marlowe's 
first play must be admitted to relieve, if it cannot be allowed to redeem, the s to rmy 
monotony of Titanic truculence which blusters like a simoon through the noisy 
course of its ten fierce acts. With many and heavy faults, there is something of 
genuine greatness in Tamburlain e the Grea t; and for two grave reasons it must 
always be remembered with distinction and mentioned with honor. It is the first 
poem ever written in English blank verse, as distinguished from mere rhymeless 
decasyllabics; and it contains one of the noblest passages- perhaps, indeed, the 
noblest in the literature of the world - ever written by one of the greatest masters 
of poetry in loving praise of the glorious delights and sublime submission to the 
everlasting limits of his art. 

Marlowe is the greatest discoverer, the most daring and inspired pioneer, in all 
our poetic literature . 

There is no doubt that the audiences sensed this greatness in the play they 

were watching and listening to with rapt attention. Marlowe had had his finger 

on the pulse of the younger generation of Elizabethans, among whom he had lived 

for six years at Cambridge. They represented those in the society with th e bright­

est futures and highest aspirations. 

An interesting study of this younger generation was published in 1966, The 
aspiring mind of the Elizabethan younger generation by Anthony Esler (Duke 

University Press). Esler writes: 

The court was the center of the lives of the young gentlemen of Elizabethan England, 
and the operation of the courtier system their major preoccupation. High aspira­
tion, manifested most commonly as personal ambition, provided the motive force 
of their careers .... 

Toward the end of IElizabeth'sl reign, howeve r, the phrase "asp iring mind" 
acquired a new overlay of associations and emotional significance. In the 1580's 
and 1590's, there appeared what might be called the Marlovian aspiring mind, 
the mind of Marlowe's heroes, ofTamburlaine the Great and Doctor Faustus, o f 
Barabas and Guise. These tremendously popular characters were aspiring minds 
with a passion and a style seldom seen before, and with new or strangely modified 
goals for their ambitions. They were towering supermen driven by lust for power 
and glory, for wealth and for knowledge infinite. The novel connotations of the 
term "aspiring mind" as ep itomized in Marlowe's heroes reveal a new attitude 



48 The Marlowe-Shakespeare Connection 

toward ambition, and a broader, more positive, and even idealistic concept of the 
content of ambition itself. 

The passage in Tamburlaine that Esler found so revealing of the Elizabethan 

mind is in Act 2, Scene 5 (Meridian Edition, edited by Leo Kirschbaum). Tam­

burlaine speaks to Cosroe after crowning him king of Persia and then, later, 

deciding to take the crown for himself: 

The thirst of reign and sweetness of a crown 
That caus'd the eldest son of heavenly Ops 
To thrust his doting father from his chair 
And place himself in empyreal heaven, 
Mov'd me to manage arms against thy state. 
What better precedent than mighty Jove? 
Nature that fram'd us of four elements, 
Warring within our breasts for regiment, 
Doth teach us all to have aspiring minds: 
Our souls, whose faculties can comprehend 
The wondrous architecture of the world, 
And measure every wanderi ng planet 's cou rse, 
Still climbing after knowledge infinite, 
And always moving as the restless spheres , 
Wills us to wear ourselves, and never rest , 
Until we reach the ripest fruit of all, 
That perfect bliss and sole felicity-
The sweet fruition of an earthly crown. 

[52-691 

Elizabethans remembered such a battle over the kingship when the Duke 

of Northumberland had tried to prevent Mary Tudor from ascending the 

throne after the death of her brother Edward in 1553. Northumberland had had 

the Marlovian "aspiring mind," or unbridled ambition, long before Marlowe 

was born. His scheme, involving the Lady Jane Grey, who at age 17 reigned as 

Queen for nine days, failed. Had he succeeded, the Dudleys would have become 

the royal family of England and Elizabeth would have never become Queen. 

Northumberland, Lady Jane Grey and her husband, the duke 's son , were duly 

executed. 
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The Power of Tamburlaine 

It is part of the human psyche to worship heroes, particularly strong mili­

tary heroes who win battles and protect a nation from its enemies. And, of 
course, Elizabethan England had its galaxy of heroes: Sir Francis Drake, Sir WaI­
ter Ralegh, the Earl of Essex, and Sir Philip Sidney. 

Francis Drake (1543-1596) rose from humble beginnings to become admi­
ral of the Queen's fleet. He was the first Englishman to circumnavigate the globe. 

He attacked Spanish shipping and brought tons of treasure back to England, 

which made him a legend during his lifetime. He was admired as a daring cor­
sair , although the Spaniards simply called him a pirate . He stimulated the preda­
tory instincts of the aristocracy and gentry, the financial and commercial 
ambition of businessmen, and the adventurousness of seamen. He had all the 
attributes of a hero: strength of character which enabled him to rise from hum­
ble origins and achieve fame for extraordinary feats, determination and will 
power, courage before the enemy in daring and adventurou s exploits, patriot­
ism , and strong religious belief. During his last expedition to the Caribbean, he 
became ill with dysentery, died on shipboard , and was buried at sea. He was a 
true Elizabethan hero. 

Walter Ralegh (1552-1618), a courtier, writer, and Oxford alumnus, achieved 
hero status as a result of his exploration and settlement of North America . His 
successes against the Spanish reinforced his image as a military hero. However, 
after the death of Elizabeth, James , son of Mary Queen of Scots, acceded to the 
throne . The Virgin Queen had left no heirs, thus ending the reign of the Tudors . 

James imprisoned Ralegh because of rumors that he had opposed the new king . 

He was condemned to death. However, the king, fearing negative public reac­
tion, decided against execution and committed Ralegh to the Tower of London 
for thirteen years. He was finally released in 1616 and embarked on a new expe­
dition, but because he disobeyed the King's order not to attack the Spanish, he 
was imprisoned on his return to England and beheaded on October 29, 1618, at 

age 66. One of the witnesses, greatly moved by Ralegh's courage in the face of 
death, wrote (Irwin , p. 314): 

49 
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Great Heart' Who taught thee so to die? 
Death yielding thee the Victor y' 
VVhere took'st thou leave of life? If here 
How could'st thou be so far from fear l 
But sure thou died'st and quit'd 's t the state 
Of Flesh and Blood before that Fate. 
Else what a Miracle were wrought, 
To triumph both in Flesh and Thought! 
I saw in every Stander-by 
Pale Death; Life only in thine Eye. 
Farewell' Truth shall this Story say, 
We died ; Thou only lived'st that Day. 

Margaret Irwin, Ralegh's biographer, wrote (p. 314): 

Ralegh's head was put in a red velvet bag and taken away with his body in a 
black coach .... The body was buried in the front of the Communion table at St 
Margaret's, Westminster; the head was embalmed, and kept by his widow till she 
died, twenty-nine years later; and then by his son Carew until his death, when it 
was buried with him. 

It is said that James suffered a troubled conscience for having consigned 
this genuine hero to the executioner's axe. G.M . Trevelyan, the historian, wrote 
that "the ghost of Ralegh pursued the House of Stuart to the scaffold." 

Another ill - fated hero was the dashing, impetuous Robert Devereux , 2nd 
Earl of Essex (1567-1601), who became Elizabeth's favorite courtier at age 20 
when she was 54. Brought up as a ward in Lord Burghley's household, he was 
given a good Cambridge education . He fought bravely against the Spanish in 
the Netherlands in 1586 at age 19. In 1590 he married the daughter of Sir Fran­
cis Walsingham, widow of Sir Philip Sidney. In 1596 he led a successful force 
against Cadiz, which put him at the height of his fortunes. But then, after a dis­
astrous campaign in Ireland, he suffered an ignominious decline and rebelled 
against the Queen. 

Robert Lacey, the Earl's biographer, writes: "When Francis Bacon compared 
him to Icarus, his soaring flight destroyed by the sun , he captured not only the 
spirit of the man but the essence of the historical tragedy in which he was 
trapped." But he died like a hero. At his execution in the Tower of London, he 
said, "I confess I have received an honourable trial and am justly condemned. 
And I desire all the world to forgive me, even as I do freely and from my heart 
forgive all the world ." He and Ralegh had been rivals, and Essex had now wanted 
a reconciliation before dying. But Ralegh, thinking that Essex did not want to 
see him, had left the scaffold and gone up into the Armoury in the Tower, where 
he stood alone at the window. 

Lacy writes : "Then [Essexl knelt down on the straw and repeated the Lord's 
Prayer. Some of the onlookers joined in. Others looked away. He stripped off 
hi s black satin doublet to reveal beneath it the scarlet waistcoat with which his 
life 's blood was soon to be stained . [Hel fitted his head to the notch in the block. 
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He refused a blindfold .... The executioner struck. The first blow drove into the 

condemned man's shoulder. The second also missed the neck. It was not until 

the third stroke that the Earl of Essex's head lay severed from his body and the 
executioner could brandish it in the air. 'God save the Queen.'" He was 34, and 

thus ended a heroic life. 

But probably the most popular of Elizabethan heroes was Sir Philip Sidney 
(1554-1586), poet, statesman and soldier, who died from wounds inflicted on 

the battlefield. Born in Kent, he was educated at Oxford and Cambridge and 

became one of Elizabeth's favorites. In 1581, he had a quarrel with the Earl of 
Oxford, and the Queen interposed to prevent a duel. In 1583 he married Frances 
Walsingham, daughter of the Queen's secretary. In that same year he was 
knighted. He wrote poetry, political tracts, translated the Psalms. Although Sid­
ney had wanted to sail with Drake in an expedition against the Spanish in Amer­
ica, Elizabeth had her own plans for him. She appointed him governor of Flushing 
in the Netherlands, where English troops were helping the Dutch overthrow 

their Spanish rulers. 
In a battle at Zutphen on September 22, 1586, in which Essex, Lord Wil­

loughby, Sir John Norris and many other valiant soldiers took part, Sidney was 
gravely wounded. He had not worn his thigh armor because his marshal could 

not wear his over a wound he had suffered. The fatal musket ball hit Sidney in 
his unprotected thigh, shattering the bone. After weeks of intense suffering, he 
died on October 17, 1586. Before his death he bequeathed his best sword to the 

Earl of Essex, who, at the age of 19, had fought his firSt battle against the 

Spaniards. Two years later, Essex would marry Sidney's widow, a marriage that 

would infuriate the Queen. 
A great funeral was held for Sidney in which the highest members of the 

government marched in the procession to St. Paul's Cathedral where he was 

buried. Many from Cambridge attended the funeral and undoubtedly Marlowe 
was among them. Sidney's war-horse was led by a black-clothed footman and 
was ridden by a little page who trailed a broken lance. It was a spectacle that 

added to Marlowe's understanding of the world he lived in. He was in the process 
of creating his own superhero in Tamburlaine. The tragic fates of Ralegh and 

Essex were years away. 
But Tamburlaine's fate is not dependent on the favors of a fickle King or 

Queen. He is a superman who falls in love with his own captive, Princess 

Zenocrate. The power of love is a theme to be found in all of Marlowe's work. 
In Dido, love leads to the Queen's suicide. In Tamburlaine it personifies a cen­

tral source of power and happiness. 
Marlowe's skill as a playwright is apparent in the very opening scene where 

Mycetes, the King of Persia, is consulting with his jealous brother Cosroe over 
Persia's weakened state. Cos roe attributes this weakness to his brothers "fickle 
brain." Mycetes replies, "I might command you to be slain for this." But his 

counselor advises, "Not for so small a fault, my sovereign lord." To which 

Mycetes replies, "I mean it not, but yet I know I might." The introduction of 
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intense conflict between brothers in the opening lines of the play proved the keen 
instinct for drama that Marlowe possessed . 

There is then discussion of what to do about Tamburlaine, "that sturdy 
Scythian thief that robs your merchants of Persepolis." Mycetes then orders his 
commanding general, Theridamas, to go after Tamburlaine with a thousand 
horsemen and tells him to come back "loaded with the heads of killed men : ... 
that makes a dainty show!" Meanwhile, a group of soldiers and gentlemen, fed 
up with Mycetes' weak rule, urge Cosroe to usurp his brother's throne. Cos roe 
replies: 

Well, since I see the state of Persia droop 

And languish in my brother's government, 

I willingly receive th' imperial crown, 

And vow to wear it for my country's good. 


11.1. 155-158J 

Cos roe then sets out with his own army to catch up to Theridamas in the war 
against Tamburlaine . 

Scene Two takes us to Tamburlaine's camp where he is in the process of 
wooing Princess Zenocrate, captive daughter of Soldan of Egypt. The fascinat ­
ing exchange between the two is in Marlowe's exquisite poetry. The mighty war­
rior has fallen head over heels in love. Meanwhile, news reaches Tamburlaine of 
the approaching Persian army. A parley is arranged and Theridamas approaches 
Tamburlaine, who tells the Persian: 

Forsake thy king, and do but join with me, 

And we will triumph over all the world! 

I hold the Fates bound fast in iron chains, 

And with my hand turn Fortune's wheel about. 


(1.2 . 172-175J 

Theridamas struggles with Tamburlaine's "strong enchantments." "Shall I prove 
a traitor to my king?" Tamburlaine replies, "No, but the trusty friend of Tam­
burlaine." Theridamas surrenders. "Won with thy words, and conquered with 
thy looks. I yield myself, my men , and horse to thee, to be partaken of thy good 
or ill, as long as life maintains Theridamas. " 

With the uncanny talent to turn enemy into loyal friend, Tamburlaine is 
almost godlike . He is indeed master of his fate and can even "turn Fortune's wheel 

about. " 
With such remarkable opening scenes, one can see why Tamburlaine 

became an instant hit. Tamburlaine not only had the extraordinary character­
istics of a hero, he even looked like one. In Act 2, Scene 1, Cosroe asks Menaphon 
what does Tamburlaine look like. Menaphon replies: 

Of stature tall , and straightly fashioned, 

Like his desire, lift upward and divine: 

So large of limb" hi s joints so !>trongly knit, 

Such breadth of shoulders as might mainly bear 




53 10. The Power of Tambtlrlaine 

Old Atlas' burthen: 'twixt his manly pitch 

A pearl more worth than all the world is plac'd, 

Wherein by curious sovereignty of art 

Are fix'd his piercing instruments of sight, 

Whose fiery circles bear encompassed 

A heaven of heavenly bodies in their spheres, 

That guides his steps and actions to the throne 

Where honor sits invested royally : ... 

His arms and fingers, long and sinewy, 

Beckoning valor and excess of strength-

In every part proportioned like the man 

Should make the world subdued to Tamburlaine. 


17-18; 27-30 I 

And, indeed, by the end of the fifth act, the world is subdued to Tam­
burlaine, who was played by Edward AHeyn, the leading actor of his day. And 
to think that Marlowe wrote this remarkable play at the age of 24, and that 
Alleyn was even younger than he. 
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Tamburlaine II 

The extraordinary success of Tamburlaine the Great prompted Marlowe to 
write a sequel, no doubt at the behest of the theatre owners and Edward Alleyne 
who realized that the public could not get enough of the Sythian warrior. The 
prologue to the play says as much: 

The general welcomes Tamburlaine recei v'd, 

When he arrived last upon the st age , 

Have made our poet pen his Second Part, 

Where death cuts off the progress of his pomp, 

And murderou s Fates throw all his triumphs down. 


The first act opens with Orcanes, the Moslem king of Natolia, who had con­
quered Christian Europe up to the gates of Vienna, making a pact with King Sig­
ismund, Christian king of Hungary, to join forces in combatting Tamburlaine. Both 
kings take oaths to solemnize their alliance againstTamburlaine. Sigismund states : 

By Him that made the world and sav'd my soul, 

The Son of God and issue of a maid, 

Sweet Jesu s Christ, I solemnly protest 

And vow to keep this peace inviolable' 


King Orcanes states in turn: 

By sacred Mahomet, the fri end of God, 

Whose hol y Alc oran remains with us, 

Whose glorious body, when he left the world, 

Clos'd in a coffin mounted up the air, 

And hung on s tat~l y Mecca's temple-roof, 

I swear to keep this truce inviolable' 


11.1. 133-142) 

The two kings Ihen celebrate their alliance with a banquet. The next scene 
takes us to Tamburlaine's prison where Call apine, son of Bajazeth the Turkish 
king captured by Tamburlaine and kept in a cage, lures his jailor, Almeda, to help 
him escape by promising to make him a king . Callapine tells the naIve keeper: 

54 
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Amongst so many crowns of bunish'd gold, 
Choose which thou wilt, all are at thy command: 
A thoLlsand galleys, mann'd ,,,ith Christian , Iaves, 
I freel y give thee , '''hich sha ll cut the Straits, 
And bring armadoes, from the coasts of Spain, 
Fraughted with gold of rich America: 
The Grecian virgins shall allend thee, 
Skilful in music and in amorous lays 
With naked negroes sha ll thy coach be drawn, 
And, as thou rid 's t in triumph through the streets, 
The pavement underneath th y chariot wheels 
With Turkey-carpets will be covered. 

[1.2.30-43 1 

Obviously, an offer Almeda could not resist, and so he deserts Tamburlaine 
and helps Ca lla pine escape. All of this prepares the audience for the battle scene 
to come. Meanwhile, in a fascinating domestic scene, Zenocrate, Tamburlaine's 
wife, asks her husband, "when wilt thou leave these arms, and save thy sacred 
person free from scathe, and dangerous changes of the wrathful war?" Tam­
burlaine's answer: "When heaven shall cease to move on both the poles ... " Tam­
burlaine then complains to Zenocrate abollt their three sons: "methinks their 
looks are amorOllS, not martial as the sons of Tamburlaine ." Two of the sons 
convince their father of their martial valor. However, the third son, Calyphas, 
tells his father: 

But, while my brothers follow arms, my lord, 

Let me accompany my gracious mother: 

They are enough to conque r the world, 

And you have won enough for me to keep. 


To which Tamburlaine responds angrily: 

Bastardly boy, sp rung from some loward's loins, 
And not the issue of great Tamburlaine l 

[1.3 . IiS - 70 [ 

The other two so ns afllrm their willingness to follow in their father's foot­
steps. The scene then shifts to Tamburlaine and his African commanders who 
relate to their chief what they have accomplished in creating armies to help Tam­

burlaine. 
In Act 2, King Sigismund is urged by his two Christian allies, Frederick and 

Baldwin, to use this tt:mpor;)ry truce with Orcanes as an opportunity to take 
revenge on the Moslems for their killing of Christians. But Sigismund replies: 
"This should be treachery and violence against the grace of our profession." To 

which Frederick replies with passion : 

Assure )'our grace, 'ti, superstitIOn 

To stand so strictly on di,pensive faith, 

And, should we lO St' the opportunity 

That God hath given to venge our Chri stians' death, 
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And scourge their foul blasphemous paganism, 

As fell to Saul, to Balaam, and the rest, 

That would not kill and curse at God's command, 

So surely will the vengeance of the Highest, 

And jealous anger of his fearful arm, 

Be pour'd with rigour on our sinful heads, 

If we neglect this offer'd victory. 


12.1. 49-59J 

Sigismund agrees to attack Orcanes, which leads to the defeat of the Chris­

tians and Sigismund's own death. Obviously, Marlowe's knowledge of the Bible 

and Christian history, which he studied and pondered over at Cambridge, gave 

him a perspective that enhanced his dramatic affect. Ironically, Orcanes the 

Moslem, calls on Christ to give him victory over Sigismund. He states: 

Thou, Christ. that art esteem'd omnipotent, 

If thou wilt prove thyself a perfect God, 

Worthy the worship of all faithful hearts, 

Be now reveng'd upon this traitor 's soul, 

And make the power I have left behind 

(Too little to defend our guiltless lives) 

Sufficient to discomfit and confound 

The trustless force of those false Christians!­

To arms, my lords l On Christ still let us cry: 

If there be Christ. we shall have victory. 


155-641 

And victory they achieve, with Sigismund admitting that "God hath thunder'd 

vengeance from on high, for my accurs'd and hateful perjury." 

In Scene 4, Zenocrate dies, with Tamburlaine experiencing a terrifying grief 

at the loss of his loving wife. 

In the first scene of Act 3, Tamburlaine's foes, Orcanes, Calla pine and con­

federates, prepare to do battle with the Sythian. Zenocrate's funeral takes place 

in Scene 2, in which Tamburlaine orders the burning of the town in which his 

wife died. Tamburlaine then instructs his sons in the rudiments of war to make 

sure that they know of the hardships expected of them : 

I' ll have you learn to sleep upon the ground, 

March in your armour thorough watery fens, 

Sustain the scorching heat and freezing cold, 

Hunger and thirst, right adjuncts of the war; 

And, after this, to scale a castle-wall, 

Besiege a fort, to undermine a town, 

And make whole cities caper in the air; 

Then next, the way to fortify your men; ... 

The ditches must be deep; the counterscarps 

Narrow and steep; the walls made high and broad; 

The bulwarks and the rampires large and s trong, 

With cavalieros and thick counterforts, 

And room within to lodge six thousand men, 
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It must have privy dit ches, countermines, 

And secret issuings to defend the ditch; 

It must have high argins and cover'd ways 

To kee p t he bulwark-fronts from battery, 

And parapets to hide the musketeers, 

Casements to place the great artillery, 

And store of ordnance, that from every flank 

May scour the outward curtains of the fort, 

Dismount the cannon of the adverse part , 

Murder the foe , and save the walls from breac h. 


[3.2 . 55-821 

Where did young Marlowe learn all of this' No doubt, he had studied the 
ancient walls of the city of Canterbury, its defenses , along with methods of sol­
diery and warfare . He also read a lot at Cambridge. All of this he poured into 
his drama to give it the sense of total reality. 

Tamburlaine's effeminate son remarks: 

My lord, but this is dangerous to be done; 
We may be slain or wounded ere we learn. 

[93-94] 

To which Tamburlaine angrily replies : 

Villain, art thou the son ofTamburiaine, 
And fear'st to die, or with a curtle-axe 
To hew thy flesh , and make a gaping wound? 

[95-97[ 

Tamburlaine cuts his arm to prove his total disdain for pain. 

A wound is nothing, be it ne'er so deep; 
Blood is the god of war's rich livery. 

[ 115-\l6[ 

This is the kind of language the audience must have relished. 
In Scene 3, Tamburlaine's forces reach the town of Balsera in Soria, today's 

Syria, "wherein is all the treasure in the land." Theridamas tries to persuade 
Captain, the town's governor, that it would be futile to resist and that he ought 
to surrender the town peacefully in order to avoid bloodshed and destruction. 
But Captain is resolute, he will fight rather than surrender. However, he is fatally 
wounded in the ensuing battle, and his wife Olympia is captured by Theridamas 
as she is about to kill herself. Theridamas successfully dissuades the woman from 
suicide, telling her: "Madam, I am so far in love with you, that you must go with 
us. " He carries her off. 

In Scene 5, Tamburlaine's enemies, Orcanes, Callapine, Almeda, and oth­
ers, confer before setting off into battle. Tamburlaine and sons enter the scene 
and exchange threats, insults and grisly images o f what is to come. 

Act 4 begins with a fascinating scene involving Tamburlaine's sons. The 
alarm has sounded for battle, and the two brave ones confront Calyphas, their 
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pacifist, effeminate brother. "Away, ye fools! My father needs not me," he cries. 

They accuse him of cowardice in the face of attack. Calyphas replies: 

I know, sir, what it is to kill a man; 
It works remorse of conscience in me. 
I take no pleasure to be murderous, 
Nor care for blood when wine will quench my thirst. 

[4.127-30] 

They leave in disgust, while their brother sits out the battle playing cards. The 

battle ends with another great Tamburlaine triumph, and the captive Moslem 

kings are put in chains. It is in this highly charged scene that Tamburlaine stabs 
his coward son to death. He then says: 

Theridamas, Techelles, and Casane, 
Ransack the tents and the pavilions 
Of these proud Turks, and take their concubines, 
Making them bury this effeminate brat; 
For not a common soldier shall defile 
His manly fingers with so faint a boy: 
Then bring those Turkish harlots to my tent, 
And I'll dispose them as it likes me best.­

[ 159-166] 

Then lurning to his captives, Tamburlaine says: 

Well, bark, ye dogs: ['II bridle all your tongues, 
And bind them close with bits ofburnish'd steel, 
Down to the channels of your hateful throats. 

[182- 1841 

In Scene 2, Theridamas tries to persuade Olympia to marry him . But she 

remains loyal to her dead husband and son. In an ingenious ruse, she manages 

to have Theridamas inadvertently kill her. 

Scene 3 is undoubtedly the most popular and best known scene in the play. 

According to the directions, "Tamburlaine, drawn in his chariot by the Kings 

ofTrebizon and Soria, with bits in their mouths, reins in his left hand, and in 

his right hand a whip with which he scourgeth them," shouts: 

Holla, ye pamper'd jades of Asia' 
What, can ye draw but twenty miles a-day, 
And have so proud a chariot at your heels, 
And such a coachman as great Tamburlaine, 
But from Asphaltis, where I conquer'd you, 
To l3yron here, where thus I honour you 1 

[4.3.1-6] 

The intensity of the drama along with its ironic humor must have had the 

audiences reeling with laughter and awe. Ifnothing else, Marlowe knew how to 

entertain the playgoers. His knowledge was instinctive because his experience 

as a playwright was almost non-existent. It was with Tamburlaine the Great that 
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he was able to test his talent with a real live audience. And it was not only the 
complex plot, suspenseful action, and panorama of colorful characters that 
thrilled the audiences, but the poetry, rich in color, sublime in philosophy. The 
two plays were masterpieces, sheer works of genius. 

In Act 5, Tamburlaine's forces are about to assault Babylon . The Governor 
is urged by his chief advisor and citizens to surrender the city to Tamburlaine. 
But the Governor will not yield. He is determined to fight to the death. How­
ever, when he is captured, he pleads for his life. Tamburlaine has him killed and 
orders all the inhabitants to be slain. 

Tamburlaine then turns to one of his aides: 

Now, Casane, where's the Turkish Aleoran, 
And all the heaps of superstitious books 
Found in the temples of that Mahomet 
Whom I have thought a god? They shall be burnt .... 
In vain, I see, men worship Mahomet: 
My sword hath sent millions of Turks to hell, 
Slew all his priests, his kinsmen, and his friends, 
And yet [ live untouch'd by Mahomet. 
There is a God, full of revenging wrath, 
From whom the thunder and the lightning breaks, 
Whose scourge I am, and him willI obey, 
So, Casane; fling them in the fire, ­
Now, Mahomet , if thou have any power, 
Come down thyself and work a miracle: 
Thou are not worthy to be worshipped 
That suffer'st flames of fire to burn the writ 
Wherein the sum of thy religion rests .. 
Well, soldiers, Mahomet remains in hell; 
He cannot hear the voice ofTamburiaine: 
Seek out another godhead to adore; 
The God that sits in heaven, ifany god, 
For he is God alone, and none but he. 

[5.1. 171-174; 177-189; 196-2001 

It is shortly after that speech, that Tamburlaine feels "distemper'd suddenly." 

Whatsoe'er it be, 
Sickness or death can never conquer me. 

[219-2201 

Meanwhile, Callapine has assembled a new army to conquer Tamburlaine. 

He states: 

All Turkey is in arms with Callapine; 

And never will ''>Ie sunder camps and arms 

Before himself or hIS be conquered: 

This is the time that must eternise me 

For conquering the tyrant of the world. 


[5.2 . 51-551 
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Meanwhile, Tamburlaine's loyal men are beside themselves at the thought 
of their leader dying. The physician gives his pessimistic diagnosis : 

I view'd your urine, and the hypostasis, 

Thick and obscure, doth make your danger great: 

Your veins are full of accidental heat ... 

Your artiers which alongst the veins convey 

The lively spirits which the heart engenders, 

Are parch'd and void of spirits, that the soul 

Wanting those orgonons by which it moves, 

Cannot endure by argument uf art. 

Yet, ifyuur majesty may escape this day, 

No doubt but you shall soon recover all. 


15.3. 82-991 

From where did Marlowe learn so much about the medical practices of his 
time? Probably from the books at Cambridge . 

Despite his illness, Tamburlaine joins his troops in going after Callapine, 
whose army flees from battle, thus escaping defeat and capture by Tamburlaine. 
Knowing that death is near, Tamburlaine asks his sons to bring him a map so 
that he can relate to them all of his conquests and what is still left to conquer. 
After seeing his eldest son crowned in his place, his last words are: 

Farewell, my boys' My dearest friends , farewell l 

My body feels , my soul doth weep to see 
Your sweet desires depriv'd my company, 
For Tamburlaine, the scourge of God , must diel 

12 45-248} 

Thus ends this extraordinary epic, the first poem ever written in English 
blank verse. As Swinburne put it, "Marlowe is the greatest discoverer, the most 
daring and inspired pioneer, in all our poetic literature." Yet his works are hardly 
staged today, ironically eclipsed by the works attributed to Shakespeare. 
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Both the Pope and Philip II saw the invasion as a sacred Catholic crusade 
to liberate the English from the tyranny of the Protestant heretics. Philip II had 
been married to Mary Tudor, Elizabeth's Catholic sister, who had launched a 
reign of terror against the Protestants, and therefore Philip II, as former brother­
in-law to Elizabeth, maintained a sort of God-inspired mission to liberate 
England from the Reformation. Since Mary Queen of Scots was no longer alive 
to take possession of the throne, the Pope and Philip II designated Cardinal 
William Allen, a Lancashire-born Oxford academic who had gone into exile at 
the start of Elizabeth's reign, to take charge of the new Catholic government. 

An invasion of England would also put an end to the depredations visited 
on Spanish shipping by such adventurous privateers as Sir Francis Drake . As late 
as December 1586, Drake had received orders to "impeach the provisions of 
Spain," raid her supply lines and capture her shipping at sea. But Drake went 
further than his instructions allowed. Having learned that there was a great gath­
ering of Spanish shipping in Cadiz, Drake headed in that direction and steered 
straight into Cadiz harbor. He attacked the surprised Spanish warships, inca­
pacitating them. All the defenseless merchant ships in the harbor now lay in 
Drake's hands. The ships were looted, burned, and sunk, and by nightfall Philip 
II's ships had all been destroyed or disabled. 

It was also in 1587 that Drake managed to capture, near the Azores, the San 
Felipe, the largest merchant vessel in the world, the private property of Philip 
11. She had come all the way from the Far East laden with spices, silks, Chinese 
porcelain, pearls, velvets, furniture. The capture of this great ship with its incred­
ibly valuable cargo was the crown jewel in Drake's campaign that year. These 
feats were a devastating blow to Spain's prestige, and Philip II was determined 
to avenge them with the great Armada. 

In December 1587, Elizabeth gave Drake command of an independent fleet 
of thirty ships, seven of which were to be Royal Navy vessels. Lord Howard of 
Effingham was appointed Lord Admiral of England, or Commander-in-Chief 
of all naval forces. The pattern of command for the crisis year of J588 had taken 
sha pe. 

Despite these preparations, Queen Elizabeth was anxious to avoid war and 
she sent a peace party to the Netherlands to negotiate a settlement with the Duke 
of Parma. In January 1588, a commission to treat with Parma crossed to Ostend. 
Its members were Lord Derby, Lord Cobham, Dr. Dale and Sir James Croft. 
After offering some very generous concessions to Philip II, the commission 
returned to London only to learn that the Queen was furious over the conces­
sions offered. Besides, as it turned out, the King of Spain was in no mood for 
peace. He wanted his crusade to go forward. Neither were Walsingham, Burgh­
ley, Drake and Howard in a mood for peace. The Catholic war against Protes­
tant England had to be engaged once and for all and defeated. 

By May of 1588, the Armada of 125 ships and 30,000 men, the largest fleet 
the world had ever seen, was ready to set sail on its mission. According to King 
Ph ilip II's plan, the Armada was to sail up the English Channel and rendezvous 
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in the straits of Dover with the Spanish invasion forces stationed in the Nether­
lands, known as the Army of Flanders. It would then escort a substantial part 
of that army, aboard specially prepared landing craft, to a beach-head in Kent. 
From this point the whole operation would come under the supreme command 
of the Duke of Parma, Philip II's nephew. 

Parma's 18,000 men would land in the vicinity of Sandwich, upon which the 
Armada would off-load supplies, munitions, reserve troops and a heavy artillery 
train . This hard-hitting mobile army would then launch a fast-moving assault 
on London. The plan was, in essence, a reconstitution of the plan hatched in 1568. 

The king's Captain-General in command of the Armada was 38-year-old Duke 
of Medina Sidonia, a landsman without previous experience of war afloat. The 
Duke had replaced the former admiral of the Spanish fleet, Alvaro de Bazan, 1st 
Marquis of Santa Cruz, who died in February of 1588. The Duke of Medina Sido­
nia was, in Garret Mattingley's words, "a grandee of such dazzling eminence that 
no officer in the fleet could feel insulted by his promotion, or find it beneath his 
dignity to obey him." He was a devout Catholic and fully understood the religious 
nature of the mission. Ernie Bradford, in his biography of Drake, writes (p. 193): 

It was on the 25th April that the Duke of Medina Sidonia had gone to the Cathedral 
of Lisbon, ~ had taken from its altar the sanctified standard which he was to bear 
aboard his'~agship in the crusade against the heretics . The Archbishop of Lisbon 
had pronounced a benediction on the Enterprise of England . Every man who took 
part in it was given Papal ab solution and indulgence, since he was going as a soldier 
of Christ against the legions of the Devil. 

In other words, even the crews were imbued with the holiness of the Armada's 
mission, and they were warned against swearing and other sins that would de­
fame the enterprise . Of course, with the failure of the peace mission, Walsing­
ham, Burghley, and the Queen were aware that Philip II was intent on carrying 
out his plan. Walsingham had gotten many details of the plan from the Babing­
ton plotters and his spies on the continent. But in any event, an enterprise this 
gigantic could hardly be kept secret. However, they still did not know the 
specifics, how many ships would be involved and exactly where along the coast 
the invasion would take place. 

Although the Armada had already set sail in May, bad weather and some 
mishaps forced it back to Lisbon. As Elizabeth Jenkins writes in Elizabeth and 

Leicester (p. 347): 

Meanwhile, in England the shires were directed 10 muster men at arms, and the 
landowners provided and equipped contingents of their own servants and tenants. 
Preparations were made for barricading roads and destroying bridges, and a great 
chain of beacons was established on headlands and on hill s to carry the alarm when 
it should be received, from Land's End up to Cumberland with the speed of light. 

Since Canterbury was close to the Channel coast where the invasion was 
most likely to take place, Marlowe's father was involved in its defense. Philip 
Henderson writes in Marlowe (p. 6) : 
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In the year of the Armada, when his son's Tamburlaine was scourging kingdoms 
with his conquering swords and harnessing kings to his coach on the London stage, 
John Marlowe appears in city records as a member of the second platoon of Canter­
bury archers who left to join the trained bands to fight the Spaniards. 

And what was Christopher Marlowe doing) Apparently Walsingham decided 
to send him on a simple but important mission to the Netherlands. One ofWals­
ingham's cleverest spies in the Netherlands was a merchant by the name of Jan 
Wychgerde who supplied the Spanish army with butter and cheese, salt fish, and 
wheat for biscuits. He knew the Duke of Parma personally and could converse 
with him. Hugh Ross Williamson writes (p. 126) : 

The question which Walsingham wanted [Wychgerdel to answer was whether 
Parma's present siege of Ostend, which was defended by an English garrison, 
was intentionally languid and undertaken mainly as a cover for the secret peace 
negotiations or whether it was merely a feint to cover a projected attack elsewhere 
which would lead to an intensifICation of the war in the Low Countries. 

It was Marlowe's mission to get the appropriate answer from the Dutch 
merchant. Williamson speculates that the mission took place in 1587, while Mar­
lowe was still a student at Cambridge. However, we can speculate that as the 
Armada reached the Channel in 1588, Marlowe may have gone down to the coast 
to observe the scene as so many other Englishmen did. His mother's family lived 
in Dover, not far from where the invasion was to take place. 

On May 28, 1588, the duke of Medina Sidonia led his great Armada out of 
Lisbon harbor to the ocean. But its progress northward was slow and difficult. 
On June 19, the fleet put into the harbor at Corunna for replenishment. Twenty­
four ships had been left outside the harbor. During the night a fierce storm bat­
tered the 24 ships and scattered them far and wide. Alarmed by this turn of 
events, Medina Sidonia called for a council of war among the fleet command­
ers who decided to attempt to persuade the king to call off the enterprise. Med­
ina Sidonia argued that perhaps the storm had been a sign warning them that 
God did not favor the enterprise. But Philip II was not deterred and commanded 
them to proceed as planned. 

On July 21, with almost all of the scattered ships reunited with the Armada, 
Medina Sidonia set sail again. On July 25 he sent a pinnace to Parma, inform­

ing him of his approach. 
On the next day an English force of 64 ships, of which only 24 were fight­

ing vessels, were at sea. By that afternoon, Drake and Howard had the Armada 
in sight off Dodman Point. The wind at this point was favorable to the Armada, 
the largest fleet the world had ever seen. It took the Armada 17 days to reach the 
Channel where its rendezvous with Parma was to take place. 

During those 17 days the English could do little more than harass the fleet 
with minor skirmishes and some cannon fire, inflicting minor damage. One of 
the Spanish ships accidentally exploded, and Drake saw the opportunity to gain 
a prize. He captured it and towed the ship into Plymouth harbor where it was 
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stripped of anything of value. Another Spanish ship was involved in a collision, 
disabling it. Howard managed to capture it and tow it into port. 

[t was during that slow procession toward the Channel that Medina Sido­

nia began to have serious concerns about Parma. His message had not reached 
Parma, and he had heard nothing from Parma. He wanted Parma to be waiting 

for the Armada when he got there, with barges fully loaded with men ready to 

cross the Channel and land on English soil. 

Finally, on Saturday, August 6, the Armada reached the Channel and dropped 

anchor in Calais Roads, beyond which point Medina Sidonia dared not proceed. 
Parma and his invasion force were nowhere to be seen. And if Parma did not 
come soon , and with plenty of fresh supplies of ammunition, food and water, 
there was no way the Armada could achieve the invasion Philip II had so pas­
sionately dreamed of for so many years. 

At Calais, the Armada and it s commander were greeted by the Catholic 
governor , who offered Medina Sidonia a large present of fresh fruit. The 

Spaniards were permitted to go ashore and purchase water, fresh vegetables, and 
other foods. But Medina Sidonia worried that if they were anchored too long at 
that place, they'd be sitting ducks for the English. 

Meanwhile , on Sunday, August 7, a council of war met aboard Howard's 

Ark Royal attended by Howard, Drake, Hawkins, Seymour and Frobisher. 

Howard knew instinctively what Medina Sidonia was thinking. His objective was 
not so much to destroy ships as to create confusion, chaos, and panic through­
out the Armada. Th us , the decision was made to use the deadliest weapon one 
fleet could use against another, the fireship. Howard designated eight suitable 

ships for the job. The ships were emptied of gear and stores and filled with any­

thing combustible. 
But Medina Sidonia was prepared for such an attack. He set a screen of small 

craft to grapple and tow any fireships that approached. When the attack took 
place at midnight, two of the fireships were indeed intercepted and dragged into 

the shallows. But the other six got through. As the fireships drew nearer, the 

Duke ordered all ships to cut or slip their cables and move away from the path 
of thefireships . He ordered that as soon as the danger was over, the fleet should 
re-anchor as close to the original position as possible. But that was more easily 

said than done. Most captains simply cut their cables and fled. 
The Royal Navy took advantage of the confusion and began pummeling the 

remaining ships with close range cannon fire, inflicting heavy damage. The 
Armada had lost its tight defensive formation and its battle discipline. Nor could 
it wait much longer for Parma to show up with his invasion force, which was 
being prevented from doing so by the Dutch who believed that the Armada was 
aimed at an invasion of the Netherlands. Colin Martin and Geoffrey write in 

The Spanish Armada: 

The battle which followed last ed nine hours, and was fought along the fringes of 
[he shoal 'vaters hetween Gravelines and Ostend. It was fierce and vcry con fused, 
but it may be summarised as a running light in which the Spaniards strove to 
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maintain their defence in a unified and compact formation, and to keep as close as 
possible to Parma's ports of embarkation, while the English endeavoured to cut out 
the weathermost ships and force the rest leewards into the shallows. A vital factor 
was the wind, which veered steadily throughout the day from south -south-west to 
north-west, setting the Spanish fleet at an increasingly greater disadvantage as it did 
so. The weather too had deteriorated ; the sea was now rough and visibility poor. 

Despite heavy damage and casualties and the fact that the Armada was no 

longer together, Medina Sidonia was determined to wait for Parma as long as 

he could. On the evening of August 9, the Armada was helped by favorable winds 

to clear the Flemish shoals and into the North Sea . Medina Sidonia held a coun­

cil of war to determine what strategy the fleet should now adopt. The council 

was unanimous: if at all possible the Armada, or what wa s left of it, would turn 

about and go back to the Channel for a second attempt to pick up Parma's forces 

and invade England. But the winds had now pushed the Spaniards too far, and 

they did not turn back. 

On August 19, Queen Elizabeth addressed her army at Tilbury, where Leices­

ter had set up camp. There was still fear that Parma might launch his invasion. 

Wearing a dress of virginal white velvet and her most fiery red wig, she sat regally 

on horseback, and said: 

My loving people ' My loving people ' We have been persuaded by some that are 
careful of our safety, to take heed how we commit ourselves to armed multitudes 
for fear of treachery. But I do assure you, I do not desire to live to distrust my 
faithful and loving people ... . I know I have the body of a weak and feeble woman, 
but I have the heart and stomach of a King, and of a King of England too, and 
think foul scorn that Parma or Spain, or any Prince of Europe should dare to 
invade the borders of my realm, to which, rather than any dishonour should grow 
by me, I myself will take up arms. 

That evening, as the Queen dined with Leicester in his tent, news of the 

great victory over the Armada was received, and throughout the camp, bonfires 

burned far into the night as the troops rejoiced. 

The failure of the Armada was colossal. Many of its ships foundered off Nor­

way, Scotland and Ireland with an enormous loss of life. Those who did not 

drown were slaughtered when they waded ashore . Only about sixty ships ulti­
mately returned to Spain, and more than 10,000 men had perished. For Philip 

11 it meant that his faith in God's favor was certainly deeply shaken as it was in 

the Vatican. The Catholic crusade had suffered a humiliating defeat at the hands 

of the Protestant heretics. Elizabeth had defeated her enemies, and celebrations 

took place all across the realm. England, in triumph, could at last enjoy a period 

of peace and prosperity. 
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Marlowe's Friends 

Back in London, the victory over the Armada was celebrated with tourna­
ments and reviews. The theatre was bursting with activity, and Marlowe was 
already at work on a new play, The Tragical History of the LIfe and Death of Doc­
tor Fau stus. It's about a university intellectual's rebellion against God and the 
pact he makes with the devil in order to achieve power, riches, and the love o f 
beautiful women . Dr. Leo Kirschbaum writes (p. 102-103): 

Let us see the play in the terms of the basic Christian values it preaches, for it is, 
we must recogni ze, a moralit y play .... We must accept, for the occasion, that man's 
most precious possession is his immortal soul and that what he does on earth will 
determine whether he goes to Hea ven or Hell, whether after his worldly life he will 
enjoy perpetual bliss with God or perpetual pain with the Devil. ... 

In the play the Devil and Hell are omnipresent , potent, dangerous, and terrify­
ing realities . But the protagonist makes a bargain with Evil , and for the sake of 
earthly learning , earthly power , earthly satisfaction goes down to horrible and 
everlasting perdition .... Marlowe prot rays his "hero" as a wretched creature who 
for lower values gives up higher ones. Thus, the drama is a morality play in which 
Heaven combats with Hell for the soul of a Renaissance Everyman and, due to the 
laller 's psychological and moral weaknesses, loses . 

That Marlowe should write a play based on orthodox Christian doctrine 
should surprise no one. Six years of intensive study of religion at Cambridge 
provided him with a foundation of Christian doctrine that would be with him 
for the rest of his life. Indeed, Marlowe had written a play that would have 
pleased both Sir Francis Walsingham and Lord ~ his governmental bene­
factors. Both men were devout Protestants who had spent their lives defending 
the faith against England's Catholic enemies. It is inconceivable that Marlowe 
secretly sympathized with Faustus, as some modern critics have suggested . 

It is true that Marlowe began to acquire a reputation for spewing anti­
biblical and atheistic doctrine. But there is nothing in his writings to substan­
tiate these rumors and allegations. Rumors had circulated at Cambridge that he 
had become a Catholic because of his visit to the Catholic Seminary at Rheims. 
It is doubtfullhat he revealed to anyone the real nature of his mission. 

67 
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He had left Cambridge in 1587 at age 24 to make his literary fortune in 
London. There, Marlowe shared rooms with Thomas Watson, fellow member 
of the secret service who had known the Walsinghams since 158\. Watson, ten 
years older than Marlowe, was probably given the task by Walsingham of watch­
ing over the young spy in hectic London. He had no doubt given Marlowe a 
rundown of what to expect at the Catholic seminary at Rheims and how to 
behave when he got there. Watson, a graduate of Oxford, was highly gifted in 
his knowledge of Latin and became England's best Latin poet. Above all, from 
Marlowe's point of view, Watson had all the right connections. He was the per­
fect friend intellectually and professionally for a novice of low birth embarking 
on a tumultuous literary career while still working for Walsingham. 

Being in London, Marlowe soon became known as one of a group of ambi­
tious authors, educated at Oxford and Cambridge, who were writing plays for 
the thriving theatre business. They included Thomas Kyd, Robert Greene, George 
Peele, Thomas Lodge, and Thomas Nashe. Kyd wrote for the Theatre where 
Edward Alleyn was the leading actor. Son of a highly respected scrivener, Kyd, 
six years older than Marlowe, was the only writer who was not a university grad­
uate. He had attended the Merchant Taylor's School whose headmaster was 
Richard Mulcaster, a brilliant Latinist and Greek scholar, a pupil of Sir John 
Cheke at King's College, Cambridge. The school was the largest in England and 
was distinguished by its alumni, which included Edmund Spencer who had spent 
eight years there. Other alumni included Lancelot Andrewes and Thomas Lodge. 

Kyd's play, The Spanish Tragedy, his best-known work, was enormously 
popular and frequently performed. Marlowe was closely acquainted with Kyd, 
whose rooms he shared in 1592. In fact, Kyd's fate was very much intertwined 
with Marlowe's. 

Thomas Nashe (1567-1601), three years younger than Marlowe, had spent 
nearly seven years at St. John's College, Cambridge. His stay at Cambridge over­
lapped with Marlowe's . That they were good friends is indicated by the fact that 
Nashe collaborated with Marlowe in writing Dido, Q~een of Carthage, and his 
name appears on the title page of the first edition. 

Edward Alleyn, who achieved great success in the roles of Tamburlaine, 
Doctor Faustus, and Barabas, the Jew of Malta, was the most popular actor of 
his time, rivaled only by Richard Burbage. In 1592, he married the stepdaugh­
ter of Philip Henslowe, the great theater builder of the Elizabethan era . Henslowe 
had built the Rose theatre on the south bank of the Thames in 1577. In 1600, 
with Alleyn as partner, he built the Fortune, one of the most popular playhouses 
of the time. His account books or "diary" exist for the years 1592-1603 and 
include theater receipts and expenditures as well as the names of plays and dates 
of their performances. 

During these years the income that Marlowe received as a secret agent for 
Walsingham supplemented whatever he could earn as a playwright. The death 
of Walsingham in 1590 did not end Marlowe's connection with the secret serv­
ice. Lord Burghley took charge of the network . He considered the gifted poet ­



69 IJ. Marlowe's Friends 

playwright to be a valuable asset to the crucial business of gathering intelligence. 
For Marlowe, being an agent enabled him to travel widely in Europe. In 1592 
he acted as courier and messenger between Burghley and the British ambassa­
dor in Paris . 

In September of 1589, Marlowe, living with Watson in London for only a 
year or so, was arrested for taking part in a fight that resulted in the death of 
one William Bradley. William Urry gives an account of what happened (p. 62). 
Here is a slightly shortened version: 

In the early afternoon of Thursday 18 September [Marlowel was set upon by 
William Bradley in Hog Lane on the way up from Moorgate to the theatre district. 
Bradley, the son of William Bradley, landlord of the Bishop Inn, had been involved 
earlier in a quarrel with Marlowe's friend Thomas Watson over a debt owed by 
Bradley to John Allen, innkeeper, and possibly brother of actor Edward Alleyn. 
Bradley may have recognized Marlowe as Watson's friend and attacked him for 
that reason. Shouts were raised by onlookers and Thomas Watson appeared on the 
scene, appeals being made to him to separate the combatants. Bradley turned on 
Watson, wounding him slightly with his sword and his dagger, forcing him back 
to the edge of one of the ditches bordering the lane . Watson lunged at Bradley to 
defend himself and ran his blade into the right side of Bradley 's chest. The wound 
was fatal. 

Marlowe and Watson were jailed in Newgate prison, but Marlowe was soon 
released on sureties arranged by his friend and patron, Thomas Walsingham . Park 
Honan writes in Christopher Marlowe: Poet and Spy (p. 227): "It is reasonably 
clear for the first time that the Privy Council appOinted sureties for both Mar­
lowe and Watson, and lessened their miseries at Newgate." 

Marlowe appeared in court on December 3, 1589. Among the justices was 
Sir Roger Manwood, Chief Baron of the Exchequer. well known to Marlowe as 
a fellow Canterburian. Marlowe was set at liberty, but his friend Watson did not 
emerge from Newgate until the following February. 

There is no doubt that Watson played an important part in Marlowe's life 
as a spy. Charles Nicholl's research into the Walsingham network has provided 
much interesting biographical detail about Watson than was previously known. 

It appears that Watson was born in London in 1556 of a Catholic family . In 
1567, at age II, he was sent to school at Winchester, which had a strong Catholic 
presence among its staff. He then studied briefly at Oxford. In 1570 he embarked 
for Europe. His travels on the continent lasted over seven years . He learned the 
" language and manners" of Italy and France and studied canon and civil law. In 
1576 Watson entered the English College at Douai, in Flanders, the same Catholic 
seminary which later removed to Rheims. to which Marlowe was sent as a spy 
while still at Cambridge . No doubt Watson provided Marlowe with intimate 
details about the seminary and what he should expect to find there. 

In 1577 Watson returned to England. In 1579 he shared rooms with an 
Oxford acquaintance. Mr. Beale. a preacher. Watson also became friends with 
historian William Camden. deputy headmaster at Winchester. who contributed 
verses to Watson's Antigone. At this time. a small group of poets lived in West­
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minster and became known as the University wits. Among them were Spencer, 
Sir Philip Sidney, Edward Dyer, Gabriel Harvey, John Lyly, author of blphues, 
George Peale and Matthew Roydon. 

Watson's first book, a Latin version of Antigone, was published in 1581. It 
was dedicated to Philip Howard, Earl of Arundel. The Howards were the pre­
mier Catholic family in England. The earl's father was Thomas Howard, 3rd 
Duke of Norfolk, executed in 1572 for treasonable dealings with Mary Queen 
of Scots . 

[n 1581 we find Watson in Paris. His recruitment into Walsingham's net­
work seems to have taken place at that time. [t was there that he became 
acquainted with Thomas Walsingham who was then, at age 18, working for his 
cousin as a courier. Nicholl writes (p. 182): 

Evidence of Watson'~ involvement with the Walsinghams is found in his poem 
Meliboeu;, published in 1590. This is an elegy for Sir Francis Walsingham, who 
died that April, and it is addressed and dedicated to Thomas Walsingham .. .. In 
the course of the poem Watson recalls the time of his rlrst friendship with Thomas 
Walsingham, when they were both living 'by the banks of the Seine' in Paris . This 
takes us back to the early 1580s when, as we have seen, Thomas Walsingham was 
working in France as a confidential government messenger, being groomed for Sir 
Francis's service. 

Another individual who was to play an important role in Marlowe's fate 
was Robert Poley. He was one ofWalsingham's key agents in the Babington affair 
in which he arranged the entrapment of the plotters. In August 1586, Poley was 
arrested and imprisoned in the Tower of London so that the government could 
deny the accusation of having concocted the plot itself in order to get rid of 
Mary Queen of Scots. Poley remained in the Tower until the autumn of 1588. 

From his release until 1601, he travelled on at least thirty missions for the secret 
service. 

Getting back to the duel with William Bradley, we can imagine the trau­
matic effect this deadly fight, and Marlowe's stay at the rat-infested Newgate 
prison, had on the poet. Life could indeed be harsh in those days, but he was 
willing to give up the security of a career in Holy Orders for the insecurity of a 
poet's life. Ifhe had any economic security at all, it was through his work as an 
agent for the government. But it was his genius alone that permitted him to 
transcend his low economic status. Marlowe knew the life of the common man 
as well as that of the aristocracy through his service as a page to Philip Sidney, 
rubbing shoulders with the sons of noblemen at Cambridge, and his friendship 
with Thomas Walsingham. 

Genius opened the doors [0 [he rather small coterie offree-thinking intel­
lectuals in Elizabethan society. Thus, Marlowe became a participant in Sir Wai­
ter Ralegh's intimate circle of intellects, which become known as a hotbed of 
atheism. Margaret Irwin, in The Great Lucifer writes (pp. 87-88): 

The circle that [RaleghJ gathered round him al his home , or close by it al eerne 
Abbas in Dorset, soon won for itself the ominous name of "The School of Night." 
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Cerne Abbas has borne a reputation for witchcraft down to our own day, and had 
long before Ralegh's .... They were certainly a group to astonish any countryside. 
One was Thomas Hariot, whom Ralegh, as soon as he had come to Court, had 
employed as his scientific tutor. Hariot was then only twenty-one, but had since 
justified Ralegh's early recognition of his quality by winning a European reputa ­
tion, and his discoveries were later to inspire Descartes himself in algebra and pure 
mathematics .... The sorcerer Dr. Dee, another suspect friend of Ralegh's and visitor 
to Sherborne and Cerne Abbas, had been the first ever to give lectures on Euclid ... 
But they did him no credit with the many English who held that Euclid's "pricks 
and lines" were symbols of magic. Ralegh's closest friend in the group was a Fellow 
of Baliol, Lawrence Keymis, who combined learning with a passion for seafaring 
and exploration, especiall)' if it were with Ralegh. Another member was the enor­
mously wealthy scholar, the Earl of Northumberland; he was collecting a vast 
library, believed to consist chiefly of forbidden knowledge; made sulphurous 
chemical experiments in pursuit of alchemy, and was known as the Wizard Earl. 

Attempts were made by local people to bring the coterie to court on charges 

of atheism, but the county court dismissed the charges. However, allusions to 

"The School of Night" were made in Love's Labour's Lost. first published in 1598. 

"Newly corrected and augmented by W. Shakespeare." The play, a literary tour 
de force, was undoubtedly written by Marlowe, and we shall make our case in 

an ensuing chapter. 

But what concerns us now is the reputation that Marlowe gained of being 

an atheist because of his connection with the Ralegh group. What is important 

to remember is that even though Marlowe no doubt entertained his fellow intel­

lect uals, he was also an agen t of t he govern men t and probably reported back to 

Walsingham and Burghley what went on there. It appeared that the government 

was very much interested in what the Earl of Northumberland was up to. 

Who was Henry Percy, 9th Earl of Northumberland' Born in 1564, he was 

the same age as Marlowe. At age 21 he inherited the Earldom. We get a very lively 

and detailed picture of the Earl in The Reckoning. Nicholl writes (p. 196): 

He was a young nobleman with a profoundly Catholic pedigree. The Percys were 
one of England's premier Catholic families. Henry's grandfather, Sir Thomas Percy, 
was executed for his share in the Pilgrimage of Grace. His uncle Thomas, the 7th 
earl, took part in the revolt of the Northern Earls and was executed in 1572. His 
father steered a more moderate course, but he too became ensnared in conspiracy 
and died in the Tower. 

Despite the Earl's strong Catholic family tradition, he was brought up in 

the Protestant faith. But Catholics saw the young aristocrat as a possible recruit 

to their intrigues in favor of Mary Queen of Scots. When he was eighteen and 

studying in Paris, Charles Paget, the Catholic exile, discretely tried to see if the 

future Earl had any inclination to accept his family's old faith. The young man 

made it clear that he had no interest in being converted to Catholicism. Never­

theless, Sir Henry Cobham, the English ambassador , became suspicious of Paget's 

activities and informed Walsingham. 
Both Walsingham and l:3uq,\hley were concerned that activist, conspirato­
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rial Catholics would try to recruit the future Earl to their enterprises . Nicholl 

writes (p . 198): 

In the autumn of 1583, a Catholic named Francis Throckmorton was arrested . 
Papers found in his stud y, and confessions extracted on the rack, furnished Wal­
singham with evidence of a planned Franco-Spanish invasion, and a list of English 
Catholics ready to assist them . Chief on the list was the old Earl of Northumber­
land, Percy's father. Further guilt by association was added by the dubious Paget, 
who had recently visited the Earl under a false name . The Earl was placed under 
house-a rrest at Petworth, and later imprisoned . On 21 June 1585, he was found 
dead in the Tower, shot through the heart with a "dag. " The official verdict was 
~uicide , but there was no lack of other versions. Henr y Percy was still in Paris 
when news came of his father 's death. He returned to England immediately, and 
was installed to the Earldom of Northumberland . 

Now that the young Lord Percy had become the 9th Earl of Northumber­

land, one of the wealthiest men in England , it was feared by Walsingham and 

BurghJey that he would seek revenge for his father 's death and join the Catholic 

conspirators . It was now more important than ever to have someone close to the 

Earl in order to know what he was up to . 

In 1586, during the height of the Babington plot, Thomas Watson decided 

to dedicate his latest poem, He/errae Raptus, to the twenty-two year old Earl. 

Watson had been in Paris in 158/- 82, working for Ambassador Cobham, while 

the future Earl was also there. Since the English community in Paris was small, 

the two men might have become acquainted. Did Walsingham in 1586 suggest 

to Watson that he become part of the Earl's literary circle by the simple device 

of a dedication? It is likely that he did. 
The Earl 's interest in poetry was well known. He had amassed a huge library 

of over 2 ,000 books at Petworth . His interests also included science, mathemat­

ics, and philosophy, referred to in the popular mind as "magick ," from which 

he gained the title "Wizard Ear\." It was through these interests that he attracted 

the attention of Sir Walter Ralegh. Nicholl writes ( p. 195 ): 

Ralegh, the great Eli7.abethan adventurer, courtier and poet, was an older man, and 
different in temper , but there was a marriage of minds between them , with an 
intermixing of mercenar y motives : Northumberland was deeply wealthy, Ralegh 
more a charismatic freelancer. There is evidence of their growing friendship from 
the first years of Northumberland's accession to the Earldom in t585. 

The twO men exchanged gifts, gambled together at cards, smoked together, 

rode together, and no doubt also discus sed and speculated together. Ralegh had 

lost favor with the Queen, who was now mesmerized by the handsome Essex. 

It is probable that Marlowe found his way into the Ralegh-Northumber­

land circle through Watson. Marlowe had left Cambridge in 1587 and had made 

a hit in London with Tnmburiaine. Walsingham probably thought that two spies 

in the circle were better than one. And there is no doubt that Marlowe's intel­

ligence and talent intrigued them all . But, apparently, it also got him the repu­

tation of being an atheist. 
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Marlowe and 

Sir Walter Ralegh 


Many biographers have written of Marlowe's connection with the School 
of Night, that circle of intellectuals and free-thinking sc holars that gathered 
around Sir Walter Ralegh at Durham House at the edge of the Thames. But one 
biographer contends that Marlowe never actually met Ralegh . So what are 
we to believe? We know that in the 15805 Ralegh wrote a satiric reply to Mar­
lowe's popular lyric poem , The Passionate Shepherd to His Love. Marlowe had 
written the poem while still at Cambridge and under the influence of Ovid . It 
reads: 

Come live with me, and be my love, 

And we will all the pleasures prove, 

That Vallies, groves, hills and fields, 

Woods, or steepy mountain yields. 


And we will sit upon the Rocks, 

Seeing the Shepherds feed their flocks, 

By shallow Ri vers, to whose falls 

Melodious birds sing lvfadrigals. 


And [ will make thee beds of Roses, 

And a thousalld fragrant posies, 

A cap offlowers, and a kirtle, 

Embroidered all with leaves of Myrtle. 


A gown marie of the finest wool, 

Which from Otlr pretty Lambs we pull, 

Fair lined slippers for the cold: 

With b~lckles of the purest gold. 


A belt of straw. and Ivy buds, 

With Coral clasps and Amber Slurls, 

And if these pleasllres /IIay thee move. 

Come live with me, and be my 101·e. 
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The Shepherd Swains shall dan a alld sing, 

For thy delight each MaY- lIlorning, 

If these delights thy mind /rilly move; 

Then live with me, alld be my love. 


Obviously, thi s was a poem about rom antic young love written by a very 
young poet. But Ra legh's decision to write a reply was no doubt motivated by a 
desire to teach young Marlowe something about real life . Ralegh was twelve 
years older than Marlowe, and his direct and personal response indicates that 
he indeed knew the poet and enjoyed the friendship. Ralegh's poem is entitled 
The Nymph's Reply to the Shepherd. It reads: 

If all the world and love were ymmg 

And truth in every Sheph erd 's tongl< e, 

These pretty plellsl<res migh t me move, 

To Jive with thee , and be thy lo ve. 


Time drives the flo cks f rom field to fo ld, 

When Ri vers rage, and Rocks grow cold, 

And Philomel becometh dumb, 

The rest comp lains of ca res to come. 


The flowers do fade, and wanton fields, 

To wayward winter reckoning yields, 

A honey tongl<e, a heart ofgall, 

Is fancy's spflng, but sorro w's fall. 


Th y gowns, thy shoes, thy beds of Roses, 

Th y cap, thy kirtle, and thy posies, 

Soon break, soon wither, SOOIl forgorren: 

In folly ripe, ill reason rorren. 


Thy belt of straw and Ivy blICis, 

Thy Coml Clasps and Amber studs, 

All these In lIle 110 mellns can move, 

To come to thee, lind be thy love. 


lll<t could YOllth laSl , and love still breed, 

Had joys no date, nor age no need, 

Then these delights my mind might move, 

To Jive with thee, and be thy love. 


A serious, ye t amusing response, which must have pleased Marlowe who 
probab ly took it as a token of friend ship and appreciation. How well Marlowe 
knew Ralegh, we have no way of knowing, but it is evident that he saw in Ralegh 
the aspiring hero of the Elizabethan world. 

Ralegh was indeed one of the grea t tragic heroes of his time . 80rn in Devon­
shire in 1552, when Bloody Mary was still Queen, he grew up in a family of 
staunch Protestants. His father, a country gentleman who farmed land he didn' t 
own, had been married three times, and his mother had been married twice, thus 
providing yo ung Walter with many half-brothers and sisters, and cousins. 
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Living on the coast, there was a strong maritime tradition among the fam­
ilies. When Walter was barely in his teens, his half-brother Humphrey wrote his 
Discourse in which he suggested how English ships might reach India and China 
by way of a north-west passage through a sea on the north side of Labrador. The 
idea of such exploration fascinated Walter. 

Walter got hi s first taste of war when, at the age of 16, he volunteered to 
help the Huguenots in France fight against their Catholic persecutors. His cousin, 
Gawain Champernowne, had married the daughter of a French nobleman, a 
leader of the Huguenot cause. The war was fraught with massacres and mur­
ders, and when Walter returned to England, he was both older and wiser. 

In 1572, he registered at Oriel College, Oxford. He gained a reputation for 
high spirits and riotous behavior. In 1575, he registered at the Middle Temple. 
But he didn't study law. He seems to have used it as a means of social enhance­
ment. In 1576, his first book of poetry was published . In London he frequented 
the circle of his half-brother Humphrey Gilbert. There he became acquainted 
with George Gascoigne, a soldier poet who wrote satirical verse and had as patron 
Robert, Earl of Leicester, the favorite of the Queen. 

By then Ralegh had decided that he would pursue the favor of the Queen. 
On June II, 1578, Queen Elizabeth granted Humphrey Gilbert a patent "to dis­
cover, searche , find out and view such remote heathen and barbarous landes, 
countries and territories not actually possessed by any Christian prince or peo­
ple." Walter was to take part in the enterprise. After a false start in September 
1578, a second attempt in November was made to brave the horrible weather. 
Again, the ships returned to Dartmouth harbor. Ralegh, however, in command 
of the Falcon, refusing to turn back found himself tempest tossed in the Bay of 
Biscay amid Spanish shipping. There was a sharp battle in which Ralegh's sh ip 
fared badly, but he manage to get back to Devon in one piece. If anything, he 
had proven that he had courage and tenacity. 

Ralegh was also an imposing figure , six-foot-tall, slender, muscular and 
wearing flamboyant clothes. He wore jewels , a pearl in one ear, and a dark 
pointed beard. Everything about him radiated energy and ambition. And he was 
ostentatiously proud. 

He fought a duel with Sir Thomas Perrott and wound lip in Fleet Prison 
for a week. He then got involved with another fracas that landed him in Mar­
shalsea Prison where he found his cousin Arthur Gorges also incarcerated. 
Gorges , also a soldier poet, collaborated with Ralegh on many literary projects. 
Their friendship developed into a lifelong partnership. But another friendship 
proved to be poisonous. Robert Lacey writes (p. 21): 

Returning to London after the abortive ex pedition of 15 78-9 Walter Ralegh fell in 
with the set that centereu on the libertine Edwa rd de Vere, Ea rl of Oxford. He was 
an unstable young man, and although related to Lord Burghley, his touchstone was 
not the prudence of the great councillor but the erratic temper of companions like 
Charles Arundel and Henry Howard, crypto-Catholics who vented their spleen 
again st the Protestant establishment with anti-social antics, deliberately ca lculated 
to shock. 
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It seems that Lord Burghley and Sir Francis Walsingham were worried about 
the Earl of Oxford's friends and sent Ralegh on a mission of infiltration to find 
out what was really going on in Oxford's circle. Ralegh did so well on his mis­
sion that he became one of the Earl's trusted friends. When the Earl got into a 
confrontation with Sir Philip Sidney by insulting him at a tennis game. Ralegh 
acted as an intermediary and prevented a duel. But in a short time Ralegh and 
the Earl became bitter enemies. 

Ralegh was rewarded for his work by being appointed Esquire of the Body 
Extraordinary. a minor court position. He was then sent to Ireland in the sum­
mer of 1580 to help facilitate the English colonization of the country. In a short 
time he found himself involved in guerrilla warfare which he managed to sup­
press with some ruthless massacres. By the autumn of 1581, Ireland had been 
sufficiently pacified so that Ralegh could return to London as an expert on Irish 
affairs. 

Legend has it that soon after his return, Ralegh had the occasion to make 
a great impression on the Queen by placing his handsome cloak on a muddy pud­
dle so that the Queen could walk across it without wetting her feet. And pretty 
soon he became her favorite. 

RaJegh had cast a spell over the Queen. He delighted her with his impres­
sive physical presence, his poetry, his seductive conversation, his wisdom. And 
she rewarded him with money, jewels and real estate. [n April 1584 he was given 
the leases of two estates belonging to All Souls College at Oxford, and in the fol­
lowing year he was granted the farm of wines, the right to charge every vintner 
one pound a year for the right to retail wine. This source of income became the 
foundation of his wealth. The Queen also bestowed upon Ralegh the use of one 
of the great palaces in London, Durham House, with its turreted walls rising out 
of the Thames. 

The year 1584 was indeed a bonanza year for Ralegh. He was given licence 
to export woollen broadcloths, he became a member of Parliament, represent­
ing Devon county, and the Queen knighted him so that he was now Sir Walter 

Ralegh. 
The Queen also satisfied Ralegh's ambition to build an English empire in 

the new world with a new grant of Letters Patent. Ralegh's half-brother Humphrey 
Gilbert had been lost at sea during an expedition in 1583, and Ralegh was deter­
mined to carryon Humphrey's great legacy of exploration. 

Ralegh's aim was to establish a permanent English colony in North Amer­
ica, which he would name Virginia, after the Virgin Queen. It was at Durham 
House that Ralegh gathered the privateering captains and pilots who would carry 
out the expedition. But the three men Ralegh relied on most for much needed 
scientific and navigational knowledge were Richard Hakluyt. Thomas Hariot, 
and Dr. John Dee. Although by 1584 the Spanish had already established an over­
seas empire in the Western Hemisphere. this was Just the beginning for the 
English . Ralegh's expedition would be the vanguard of England's great colonial 
enterprise in the century ahead. 
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Ralegh's Coterie of Scholars 

Much has been written about the free-thinking intellectuals that gathered 
around Ralegh at Durham House and at Sherborne. While most of the work and 
discussion revolved around the expeditions, scholars have speculated that the 
discussions also involved religion. In fact, Marlowe's reputation as an atheist 
and blasphemer stems from reports about the goings on among the free-thinkers . 
To what extent these reports truly represe nt what was actually said in these free­
wheeling discussions, or were simply attempts by enemies to defame both Ralegh 
and Marlowe will forever be unknown . 

Although Ralegh was also a poet, his interests seem to have been mainly 
scientific. He saw no conflict between his interest in science and his devotion to 
his Protestant faith. In his Trea tise of the Soul, Ralegh wrote, "The mind in 
searching causes is never quiet till it come to God, and the will never is satisfied 
with any good till it comes to the immortal goodness ." Hardly the words of an 
atheist. And these sentiments would later be iterated in Marlowe's Dr. Faustus. 

Yet, these accusations would lead to Ralegh's final and ignominious down­
fall and to Marlowe's extinction as the persona Christopher Marlowe. 

Meanwhile, Ralegh's colony in Virginia suffered greatly during the winter 
of 1585-86, and there were doubts about its survival. But in the spring, Gover­
nor Ralph Lane set about searching for a more suitable site for se ttlement. Chesa­
peake Bay offered the best prospect s. Hut Lane and his men were beset with 
Indian belligerence, which they were fortunately able to overcome. 

In June the fleet of Sir Francis Drake, fresh from its privateering triumphs 
in the Caribbean, arrived at the colony and offered help to the beleaguered set­
tlers. After a huge, disastrous storm, they all chose to return to England. Thus, 
when Sir Richard Grenville's supply ship arrived two days later, he found the 
colony empty. Grenville decided to leave on Roanoke a holding party of eight­
een men with provisions for two years to guard the settlement until a new group 
of colonists could arrive. Despite these setbacks, Ralegh was still determined to 
create for England a colonial empire in the New World as substantial as the one 
created by Spain. Lacey writes (p. 83): 
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Through the autumn and winter of 1586, Walter Ralegh worked on this new joint 
stock basis, offering 500 acres to every man prepared to settle seriously in Virginia 
and to build up a permanent community there with wives, children and its own 
rights of self-government. ... The two great chroniclers of Virginia, White and 
Hariot, had brought back a mass of documentation with them from Roanoke and 
while one busied himself with the preparations for Ralegh's new venture of which 
he would be governor, the other set himself to collate all they had recorded into 
a work that could both stand as a monument to the fIrst Roanoke settlement and 
encourage support for its successor. For over a year 'fhomas Hariot worked to 
produce the volume he modestly entitled A Briefe and True Report of the New FOllnd 
Land of Virginia. 

Hariot predicted great wealth for the colony with its abundant supply of 
cedar wood, pitch, tar, turpentine and sassafras- a bark derivative believed to 
cure venereal disease, But the most important product of all was tobacco thought 
to have great health benefits . Hariot had brought back the clay pipes which the 
Indians used for smoking. The habit caught on rapidly, and smoking became 
quite fashionable at court, The Queen was said to have remarked that there were 
men "who had turned gold into smoke, but Ralegh was the firs t to turn smoke 
into gold," 

In 1586, two of Ralegh's smaller privateers returned from a successful run 
in the Azores with an important prisoner, Don Pedro Sarmiento de Gamboa , 
governor of the Spanish possessions in Patagonia , Rather than ransom his pris­
oner, Ralegh thought that he could use him as a go-between with King Philip , 
He offered to sell the king two of his vessels and to thwart Don Antonio of Por­
tugal from getting assistance from Queen Elizabeth to help free his country from 
Spanish domination, But the king decided he could not trust Ralegh, and the 
scheme failed , 

In June 1586, Royal letter patents named Ralegh as head of a group of West 
Countrymen who would colonize the southern Irish counties of Cork and Water­
side, In February, 1587, Ralegh secured a Privy Seal warrant giving him title to 
42,000 acres. Both Walsingham and Burghley believed that the best way to defend 
England was by colonizing southern Ireland with Englishmen, 

By the spring of 1587 all of Ralegh's energies were devoted to another expe­
dition to Virginia, this time to establish a community known as the City of 
Ralegh at Chesapeake Bay. Hakluyt had advised Ralegh in 1586, "Your best plant­
ing will be about the bay of the Chesapeans," 

The expedition, with 89 men, 17 women, eleven children, and the Indian 
Manteo, set sail from Plymouth on May 8, 1587 under the command of John 
White. When they arrived at Roanoke on July 22, 1587, they found the houses 
standing but the 18 men lert by Grenville missing . What exactly happened to them 
has not been satisfactorily explained to this day, Nevertheless, the new colonists 
installed themselves safely in Roanoke. It was too late in the season to proceed 
to the Chesapeake Bay. John White then set out for England, and after much 
difficulty reached Plymouth in November. He gave Ralegh a list of needed sup­
plies for the infant colony. A relief expedition was planned for the spring of 1588. 
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But the threat of the Spanish Armada forced a postponement. In 1587, the 
Queen had appointed Ralegh captain of her guard and gave him the land of the 
traitor Babington, making Ralegh a landowner with manors in Lincolnshire, 
Derbyshire, and Nottinghamshire. In return Ralegh gave the Queen the Ark 

noyal, which he had built in 1586 as the most advanced fighting vessel of the 
time. Although the ship took part in the war against the Armada, the Queen did 
not want Ralegh to go to sea. Instead, she put him in charge of preparing England 
for the invasion . The country's great vulnerability was in her land defenses. 

Thus, Ralegh spent 1587 and 1588 mobilizing a military force along the 
coast that would defend England against invasion. The defeat of the Armada 
marked the high spot of Elizabeth's reign and marked a watershed for Ralegh. 
It saw the end of Ralegh's meteoric career after which the soaring projectory fiat­
tened out. 

Meanwhile, at court, the young, handsome Earl of Essex had become the 
Queen's new favorite. It created a rivalry between the two favorites. Essex had 
been introduced to the Queen in 1585 at the age of 17 by his stepfather, the Earl 
of Leicester, the Queen's oldest favorite. Essex had fought beside Sir Philip Sid­
ney in the Netherlands where the latter sustained a fatal wound. He was deter­
mined to gain the same kind of reputation for heroism that adorned Sidney. 
After the Armada victory Elizabeth made Essex a Knight of the Garter. 

Elizabeth seemed to enjoy the rivalry of the two men . She thrived on com­
petitions of affection . Ralegh found that life with Elizabeth was no longer the 
thoroughly enjoyable experience that it had been before Essex had entered the 
scene. And so, in the summer of 1589 he went to Ireland to oversee his lands 
and attend to matters in the running of the Irish colonies. 

In Ireland, Ralegh also visited the poet Edmund Spenser , then living some 
thirty miles from Ralegh's house. The poet was working on The Faerie Queene, 
the epic poem which Sir Philip Sidney and the Earl of Leicester had sponsored. 
Ralegh needed the friendship of the poet for two reasons: he wanted Spenser's 
evaluation of his own poetry which dealt with his disenchantment with life at 
court, and he wanted to offer Spenser his own services. Thus, when The Faerie 
Queene was published, it was prefaced by two sonnets, one by Ralegh to Spenser 
and one by Spenser to RaJegh . 

When Ralegh returned to England toward the end of 1589, he brought 
Spenser with him, introduced him to the Queen, who was flattered by the com­
pliment that The Faerie Queene paid her and granted its author a pension of 50 
pounds. 

In 1590, Ralegh fell in love. Its object: Elizabeth Throckmorton, one of the 
Queen's maids-of-honour. Elizabeth was the daughter of Sir Nicholas Throck­
morton, the Queen's first ambassador to Paris. Meanwhile, the Earl of Essex 
sec retly married the widow of Sir Philip Sidney, who was also the daughter of 
Sir Francis Walsingham. When the Queen heard of the couple's marriage she 
was furious and banished Essex from court until she could get over her great 
annoyance. 
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Ralegh and Elizabeth Throckmorton carried on an impassioned love affair 
in secret until secrecy was no longer possible. In the summer of 1592, Bess con­
ceived , and the couple were married at a secret ceremony that fall. 

How does Marlowe fit into all of this? Crucial to Ralegh's ability to deal 
with the complex problems of colonization was the need to draw on the knowl­
edge and expertise of the scholars he gathered around him at Durham House, 
Indeed, since he, himself, was unable to go to Virginia, he was totally depend­
ent on the detailed and accurate reportage of Hariot and White for a proper 
evaluation of the colony's potential. Thus , the legend that Ralegh carried on a 
"School of Night" belies the simple truth: the gatherings at Durham House were 
a vital part of Ralegh's plans for colonizing North America. It was more of a sci­
entific academy dealing with the problems of navigation and astronomy than a 
coterie of pagan mystics. Yet, the legend persists. 

Was Marlowe among the scholars at Durham House? In 1587 Marlowe 
received his Master of Arts degree at Cambridge after an intervention by the 
Privy Council. He had also been on missions for Walsingham. It was also the 
year in which Tamburlaine I was staged. It is believed that it was in 1587 that 
Marlowe entered the Ralegh circle and tried smoking the tobacco that Hariot 
had brought back to England the year before . He had probably been introduced 
to Ralegh by Torn Watson . Marlowe, 23, full of ambition and independent views, 
proud of the success of Tamburlaine I, no doubt said things about religion that 
were meant to shock and draw out from his audience their own private senti­
ments which would be reported back to Walsingham and Burghley, 

In 1588, the year of the Armada, Tamburlaine II was successfully staged. 
Also, for the first time, Marlowe was accused of atheism by Robert Greene in 
his Perimedes. Who was Robert Greene? 
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Who Was Robert Greene? 

The Eleventh Edit ion of the Enc yclopedia Britannica (Vol. XII, pages 
539- 41) devotes more than two whole pages to Robert Greene, indicating that 
he held a place of some notoriety among Elizabethan authors as a dramatist, nov­
elist , and pamphleteer. It is believed that he was born in Norwich in 1560, mak­
ing him four years older than Marlowe, and died in 1592 , one year before 
Marlowe's exit from the scene. It is assumed that Marlowe had met him at Cam­
bridge, which Greene had entered at 51. John's College as a sizar in 1575, obtained 
his B.A. in 1579, and an M.A. in 1583 from Clare Hall. 

Marlowe had entered Corpus Christi in December 1580, and thus the two 
men may have become known to one another during that three-year period. It 
is interesting to note that Marlowe was recruited into the Secret Service as a stu­
dent while Robert Greene was not. His life at the university was, in his own 
words, spent "among wags as lewd as himself, with whom he consumed the 
tlower of his youth." At Cambridge Greene also became friends with Thomas 
Nashe. 

Between the years 1578 and 1583 Greene tra veled extensively in France, 
Germany, Poland and Denmark. While at Cambridge he gained the enmity of 
Gabriel Harvey, who wrote of Greene's "ruffianly hair, unseemly apparel and 
more unseemly behaviour ; his vainglorious bearing; his monstrous swearing; 
his imp ious profanity with sacred texts; his other blasphemous and scandalous 
raving." Hardly the kind of unsavory fellow that Marlowe would have wanted 
to get close to. Marlowe had his eye on those above him, the nobility, and he 
was more likely to have befriended Burghley 's charge, the Earl of Southampton 
than a neer-do-welllike Greene. 

Nevertheless, Greene managed to achieve some popular success with his 
writin gs . He married in 1586 but turned out to be an unfaithful husband. He 
\Vas well known in the alehou ses. Hugh Ross Williamson writes of him (pp. 
151 - 52 ): 

However un satisfactory Greene's life , his writing was success ful enough . He was a 
born journalist with an intuitive' perception of what the publi c wanted . His novels 
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were best- sellers . He was equally adept at love-romances and slightly fictionised 
tales of the underworld of London . His satirical pamphlets were snapped up as 
soon as they were advertised .. 

Greene had not so far attempted a play. He considered that as a University man 
it was beneath his dignity to write for the common stage. Also, he disliked actors . 
But the success of Tamburlail1e bred second thoughts and Marlowe was gratified 
to notice that he diligently allended every performance of the pia)' that Henslowe 
put on. Marlowe's altitude, however, changed considerably when the reason for 
Greene's interest became apparent. As a result of his intensive stud y, Greene 
constructed an Oriental conquest - play punctuated by perpetual slaughter in 
exact imitation of Tamburlaine which he called AlphonslIS King of Aragon and 
in which the scen es, the plot, the versification and the general style were as close an 
approximation 10 Marlowe's as he could manage. 

But it was a nop. And we can imagine that what he wrote about Marlowe 

was the result of his own jealousy and envy. On March 31, 1588, Greene regis­

tered hi s pamphlet, Perimedes the Blacksmith. at the Stationers' Hall. In it he says 

that the reason why his imitation of Tamburlaine was a nop was because 

[ could not make my verses jet upon the stage in tragical buskins. every word 
filling the mouth like the fa-burden of Bow Bell, daring God out of heaven with 
the atheist Tamburlan. or blaspheming with the mad priest of the sun. But let me 
rather pocket up the ass at Diogenes's hand than wantonly set out such impious 
instances of intolerable poetry. such mad and scoffing poets that have prophetical 
spirits as bred of Merlin's race. If there be any in England that set the end of schol­
arism in an English blank verse , I think it i~ the humour of a novice that ti(kles 
them with self-love, or so much frequenting the hothouse. 

This bitter tirade against Marlowe and his blank verse was the first to inti­

mate that the author of Tamburlaine was an atheist. Greene was above writing 

"such impious instances of intolerable poetry." Obviously, he wished he could, 

but he simply did not have the genius. As for "the mad priest of the sun," Charles 

Nicoll believes that Greene was referring to the Italian philosopher-mathemati­

cian, Giordano Bruno, an apostate Dominican. who had visited England in 

1583-1585, and created a sensation at Oxford by his lectures on pantheism. God 

as the "world soul," and the cosmological theories of Nicolas Copernicus, the 

Polish astronomer. Nicholl writes (p. 207): 

This volatile, hereticalltalian, with his sun-centered magical religion, is the man 
Greene describes as the "mad priest of the sun ." To the reader of 1588, [ think. the 
identification would be obvious . This riddling reference actually turns out to be 
part of this same association between Marlowe and magic. Marlowe is an admirer 
of the mad priest Bruno, just as he is a poet "bred of Merlin's race ." 

Copernicus (1473-1543) had challenged the ea rth-cen tered cosmology of 

Ptolemy. the prevalent doctrine that the earth was the center of the universe, 

and that the sun revolved around the earth. Copernicus, a master astronomer, 

had studied the heavens and concluded that the sun was the center of the known 

universe, and that the earth revolved around the sun. [n 1543 he announced his 

sun-centered cosmology to the world . 
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is dropped, and Greene directly offers his readers the fruits of his repentence in the 
form of a series of moral imperatives. This is followed by a letter to three of his 
"fellow scholars about this city": Marlowe and (probably) Nashe and Peele. 

Greene's Groatsworth oj Wit was largely autobiographical, a sort of literary 
last will and testament, written by Greene on his death bed. In it, he thrashed 
out against those in the theater business who had used him and then left him 
to die in poverty. He was referring to the actor-managers who profited greatly 
from the work of writers like himself. In those days, a dramatist sold his play to 
the actors' company for a sum of a few pounds. Once sold it became the prop­
erty of the players' company. A much-performed play could make an actor-man­
ager wealthy while its author lived in poverty. That was the case with Alleyn and 
Burbage, the leading actor-managers of the time, who became quite rich and 
often lent playwrights money at interest. And so, in this last testament, Greene 
bitterly lashed out at Edward Alleyn whom he disliked intensely. He addressed 
his fellow playwrights (B.H . Blackwell, Oxford, 1919, pp. 72- 73): 

Is it not strange, that I, to whom they all have been beholding: is it not like that 
you, to whom they all have been beholding, shall (we re yee in that case as I am 
now) be both at once of them forsaken? Yes trust them not: for there is an upstart 
Crow, beautified with our feathers, that with his Tygers hart wrapt in a Players 
hyde, supposes he is as well able to bombast out a blanke verse as the best or you: 
and being an absolute lohannes rac totum, is in his owne conceit the onely Shake­
scene in a countrey. 0 that I might intreat your rare wits to be imploied in more 
profitable courses: & let those Apes imitate your past excellence, and never more 
acquaint them with your admired intentions. I know the best husband of you all 
will never prove an Userer , and the kindest of them all will never prove a kind 
nurse: yet whilest you may, seeke you better Maisters; for it is pittie men of such 
rare wits, should be subject to the pleasure of such groomes. 

It is obvious that the Shake-scene is the actor AHeyn , the 26-year-old upstart 
superstar, who had achieved great notoriety as Tamburlaine, Barabas, and Faus­
tus. He could indeed shake a scene with his bombast and at the same time become 
wealthy as part owner ofa theatre. Ifwe refer to Henslowe's Diary, which begins 
in 1591, we can see why Greene had reason to fulminate against "the painted mon­
sters." In 1591, two of Greene's plays , Friar Bacoll and Friar Bongay and Orlando 
Furioso, were performed by Lord Strange's Men of whom Alleyn played all or 
most of the heroes. 

In that same year, and well into 1592 and 1593, there were numerous per­
formances of The few oj Malta and Henry VI, both of which proved to be enor­
mously popular. Which is why Shakespeare scholars have stretched credibility 
to the limit by trying to prove that William Shakespeare was already writing 
plays in 1591. But Henslowe makes no mention of authors. He only enters the 
names of plays and how much they earned at each performance. 

Who wrote Henry VI, Part One' It was never published in Shakespeare's 
lifetime . But since it is included in the Firs t Folio of 1623, Stratfordian scholars 
have been forced to believe that Shakespeare actually wrote it. But they all have 
reservations. Harold Bloom writes (p. 43): 
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Attempts by critics to ascribe much of Henry VI, Part One, to Robert Greene or 
George Peele, very minor dramatists, do not persuade me, though .1 would be 
pleased to believe that other botchers had been at work in addition to the very 
young Shakespeare. What I hear, though, is Marlowe's mode and rhetoric appropri­
ated with great zest and courage but with little independence, as though the novice 
dramatist were wholly intoxicated by the Tambllrlaine plays and The few of Malta. 
The laments for Henry Y, whose funeral begins the play, sound rather like dirges 
for Tamburlai ne the Greal. 

I3100m gives the impression that "the very young Shakespeare" was quite younger 
than Marlowe , when in fact they were the same age . A.L. Rowse writes (p. 757) : 

The dominant influence observable again and again in Henry VI is Marlowe's. He 
had patented this grandiloquent poetic diction, in splendid blank verse, in Tam­
burlaine. The actor copied it.. .. The only text of the First Part of King Henry VI is 
that of the Folio ... . This is almost certainly Shakespeare's first play.... 

Though there are touches from Holinshed, the dominant theme in shaping the 
Henry VI plays came from Edward Hall's book, The Union of the two noble and 
illustrious (amilies York and Lancaster, of which there had been several editions in 
the 1540's. 

My own theory about the Henry VI plays is that they/~vritten by Marlowe 
when he was under the influence of Philip Sidney's sis ter Mary, the Countess of 
Pembroke, who believed that English dramas should follow the formula set by 
the French dramatist Robert Garnier. Indeed, she may have supported Marlowe 
financially while he wrote the three plays . Margaret P. Hannay writes in her biog­
raphy of the Countess (p . 119): 

By translating Robert Garnier's Marc Antoine and sponsoring Samuel Daniel's con­
tinuation in Cleopatra, the countess helped to naturalize Continental historical 
tragedy in England. A dozen works followed the closet drama form of Garnier, but 
far more sig nificant was the use of historical drama as a privileged genre for politi ­
cal content, the use of "times past" to comment on current affairs. 

We shall discuss the fascinating relationship between Marlowe and Mary 
Sidney in a later chapter. 

Judging from the many performances of the Henry VI plays, my guess is 
that Marlowe offered them to Henslowe and Alleyn because of financial need. 
They were performed by the Countess's own theater group, Pembroke's Men. 
Sir Francis Walsingham had died on April 6, 1590, deeply in debt. Elizabeth's 
salary was not nearly enough to finance the spy-master's farflung intelligence 
network, and thus he paid his spies out of his own pocket. 

For Marlowe, Walsingham's death obviously created a financial problem. 
But the Countess of Pembroke may have solved that problem temporarily. 

As for Greene's reference to Shake-scene, it is clear that it had nothing to 
do with William Shakespeare whose biographers have been grasping at straws 
to provide the Stratfordian with some kind of history or credential as a writer 
before his name appears for the first time on a published work, Venus and Ado­
nis, in 1593. 



87 16. Who Was Rober! Greelle? 

But there is also the matter of the quote from Henry VI, Pari III (Act I, Scene 
4), "Tygers hart rapt in a Players hyde." Clearly, that is a reference to Alleyn. It 
comes from a scene in which York, played by AHeyn, denounces Queen Mar­
garet as cruel and ruthless, "0 tiger's heart rapt in a woman's hyde." Which 
means that the play was written before Greene died in September 1592. 

And where was Shakespeare at that time? He was not among the Ralegh 
coterie, or the Northumberland set, nor among the University Wits. The seven 
years succeeding the birth oC Hamnet and Judith in 1585 are a blank in Shake­
speare's biography. Yet his biographers assert that by 1592 he had written the 
three Henry VI plays. Where did he write them, and where did he have access 
to Holinshed or Hall' 

In addition, we know that Nashe, in Pierce Penni/esse, denounced the Groals­
worth of Wi! as "a scald, trivial, lying pamphlet." Henry Chettle, its publisher, 
assumed the responsibility for preparing Greene's badly written manuscript for 
the printer. In a preface to his Kind-Heart's Dream, which appeared in Decem­
ber 1592, Chettle confessed that Greene's "letter written to divers play-makers" 
had been "offensively by one or two of them taken." The two were probably 
Marlowe and Nashe. Chettle wrote: 

With neither of them that take offence was 1 acquainted, and with one of them 
I care not if never be. The other, whom at that time I did not so much spare as 
since I wish I had, for that as I have moderated the heat of living writers, and might 
have used my own discretion (especially in such a case, the author [Greene] being 
dead)- that I did not, I am sorry as if the original fault had been my fault, because 
myself have seen his demeanor no less civil than he excellent in the quality he pro­
fesses. Besides, divers of \vorship have reported his uprightness of dealing, which 
argues his honesty, and his facetious grace in writing, that approves his art' 

Shakespeare scholars, again, construe that Chettle was talking about Shake­
speare when it is obvious that he was talking about Nashe. And yet, in all of 
Greene's writings and in Chettle's commentaries, the name Shakespeare never 
appears. 
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Doctor Faustus 

It is hard to believe' that the man \Vho wrote !Joelar f'iHiSIUS was an atheist. 
The play's entire premisl' is hdseJ on orthodox Christianity, in which Marlowe 
had been educated both at the King's School in Canterbury and at Corpus Christi, 
Cambridge. in Cact, C:orpu~ Christi was a hotbed of Calvinist Puritanism. And 
there is no doubt that Marlowe was gredtly influenced by Calvin's doctrine of 
man's innate depraved nature. 

John Calvin, the great French Protestant reformer, was born in 1509 and died 
in 1564, the very year of Marlowe's birth. It was during the reign of Bloody Mary 
(1553-58) that many of England's prominent Protestants took refuge on the con­
tinent, spending time with Calvin in Geneva. Calvin had been persecuted by the 
French king, had taken refuge in Switzerland, and wrote his monumental/nsti­
tutes of the Christian Religion, published in 1536. He finally settled in Geneva, 
which became a magnet for Eng.lish and Scotch reformers, including John Knox. 

Calvin's doctrine that the monarch was subject to God's law was not very 
welcome among the absolute rulers in Europe. William Haller writes in The Rise 
of Puritanism (p. 8): 

The dynamic Pauline doctrine or faith, with its insistence on the overruling power 
of God, on the equality of men before Cod, and on the immanence "fCod in the 
individu,,1 soul, had long appt'aled to the English mind, and the struggle of the 
English people to secure their indepenJence from foreign power as symbolized 
to them by the papa(y had cuni'lrmeJ that appe,il. What Calvinism did for them 
WJS to suppl)' a current flHrnulatllJn of historic do([rine in lucid, trenchant terms, 
strikingly supported by the succc'ss of rhe state whi(h Calvin's genius had called 
into being at Ct'ncvd. There in Cent'v3 r~nglish Protestant churchmen, when driven 
from horne by the vicissirudes of dll!11estic religious politics, had found congenial 
rdu~e ... Th<'nn: they hJJ issued that English vnsion "fthe word which became 
colTllllonly knuwn a, the (;enev;1 lIibk and which , completed in t560, became the 
Hible \)f the Elizahethan populace, 01' tht' Scurti,h Refllr1l1Jtion, and of the New 
England Pilgrims. 

With the dedth of Bloody MJrY in 1551l and the accession to the throne by 
Elizabeth, the exiles returned with the hope that Calvini .... t doctrine would intlu­
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ence the new queen. But she found it unpalatable. The Puritans wanted a sim­
pler church, without the ostentatious accouterments of hierarchy. Elizabeth 
enjoyed the ceremonies and robes and being the titular head of the Anglican 
Church. But her two most important ministers, Walsingham :md Burghley were 
Puritans at heart and did much to aid and defend Puritans when it was in their 
power to do so. 

/Joetor Faustlls, which was probably written in 1598, after the triumph of 
Tambur/a;ne / 6- If, is not only one of the great plays of the Elizabethan era but 
also a lucid specimen of orthodox Christianity. Educated for six years to become 
a cleric, Marlowe knew the Bible so well that, had he wanted, he could have 
become the most eloquent preacher in the realm. Instead, he chose the stage as 
his pulpit and used his poetic genius to convey religious truth in a way that 
would astound his audience. In this compelling story, Marlowe dramatizes the 
contlict in the soul of a university intellectual who sells his soul to the devil for 
magical powers Jnd earthly riches. I.co Kirschhaum in The Plays a/Christopher 
Marlowe writes (pp. 102 - 1(3): 

The premise's ofhdslc C:hristl.lllity arc;: inhert'nt in t'very line \)f Poclor Faustus. The 
doctrine of damnation pervJdc's iI. 

If the modt'rn mind. for example, St'es Mdrlowe's main character as the noble 
victim of a tyrannical Deity, it is simply bt'ln~ blllld. On the contra!")', Cod is 
exceedingly good in his gifts to tht' "hero." until the latter becomes the victim of 
his own Insatiable desires----and even then God is wtlling fa forgive if the magician 
repents. 13ut Faustus willfully refuses all aid - and so goes down to damnation. 

The average English illiterates who tlocked to churches to hear stirring ser­
mons were the same men that Marlowe was reaching through the theater. Haller 
writes (p. 32): 

The preachers no less than the playwrights had to give the Elizabethan and Jacobean 
public something approaching what it wanted .... They were to discover that their 
listeners, still keeping undiminished their zest for wit and rhetoric, took a livelier 
interest in sin itself than in its categories. in the psychology of spiritual struggle 
than in the abstract analysis of moral behavior or even the satirical exposure of vice 
and foil)'. Who that saw Tamburlaine, raustus and Richard on the boards was more 
concerned with edifying identIfication of th~ sin or pride than with the proud souls 
ofTamburiaine. Faustus and Richard l Who that could enjoy the two-hour traffic 
of the stage with such figures, though he no doubt had hi, own private fears for 
the welfare of his soul, could be any longer inclined to see his own moral life 
.ldequdtely reflected in the seven deadly sins of medieval mordl science l Men 
kn,nv whal it IVas to h~ sinners. They longed to know what they must do to be 
saved. 

ivIarlowe\ L'ducJtion gaVt' him an advdntdgc that other writers simpl)' did 
not have. J Ie k new the nat u re of man and he knew L)f t he eternal struggle between 
good and evil, heaven and hell. And one will hnd that overwhelming Jwareness 
in all of the play, he wrole, including thmL' attrihuted to William Shakespeare. 

The source uf Marlowe" dralllJtization was a hook published in CermallY 
in ISH7, His(oria l' Or! lJ. /Ohllll I,Il/stCIl, in which a university intt'llectual gives 



90 The Marlowe-Shakespeare Connection 

his soul to the devil in exchange for twenty-four years of earthly power. An 
English translation of the book was published in 1592 under the title The Histo­
rie of the damnable life, and deserved death of Doctor John Faustus, Newly 
imprinted, and In convenient places Imperfect matter amended ... and translated 
into English by P.F. Gentflemall}. 

It is not known whether an earlier edition of the English translation was 
ever published. Thus, scholars have disagreed about the date Marlowe's play was 
written. Some scholars, who date it 1589, assume that Marlowe had obtained the 
book while on a mission in Germany and read it in German. Others believe that 
he got his story from the English translation . Indeed, he may have known the 
translator and had access to his manuscript before 1592. 

In any case, we know that the story was adapted by Marlowe and made into 
a magnificent drama. The playwright had developed the ability to make his 
opening scenes as compelling as possible. In Doctor Faustus, the play opens with 
a Chorus providing us with a biographical background of our protagonist: 

Now is he born of parents base of stock 

In Germany within a town called Rhode; 

At riper years to Wittenberg he went 

Whereas his kinsmen chiefly brought him up. 

So much he profits in divinity 

That shortly he was graced with doctor's name, 

Excelling all, and sweetly can dispute 

In th' heavenly matters of theology; 

Till swoll'n with cunning, of a self-conceit, 

His waxen wings did mount above his reach 

And melting, Heavens conspired his overthrow' 


[ 11-211 

Wittenberg is also the university Hamlet attended. It is where Martin Luther 
(1483-1546) became a professor of theology in 1511. [n 1517 he nailed his famous 
95 theses to the church door at Wittenberg, attacking the corrupt practices of 
the papacy. Thus, it was at Wittenberg that the great Protestant Reformation got 
its start, which had a profound effect on England. 

In Act One, Scene Two of Hamlet, the King tells Hamlet: 

... For your intent 

In going back to school in Wittenberg, 

It is most retrograde to our desire. 


[ 114-1161 

And his mother tells him: 

I pray thee stay with us, go not to Wittenberg. 
[ 1211 

Hamlet decides to obey his mother. But why the reference to Wittenberg, 
if not to give Hamlet a characterization of intelligence and intellect' Marlowe 
had spent six years at Cambridge and intimately knew university life and the 
pedants imbued with intellectual pride. 
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\Vhen thc' (horu~ c'ntls WL' lind h1U,tus in his study mming over the vari ­

ous professions npl'fl to J UlliVl'fsitl' doctor: Logician, Phnician, and L;lw, of 
which he says : 

This ,tudy filS a mtTcenary drudge 

Who aims at n\lthing but external trash, 

Too ,ervile and illiberal for me . 


When all is done , divinity is bes!. 

132-351 

But then he goes on to explore divinity as a profession: 

Jerome's Bible, Faustus, view It well. 
Sripendum pucari mors est. Ha' Sripelldllm er celera. The reward of sin is death l 

That's hard: Si pet't'assf negalllu5,!allimur, el nulla e51 in nobis veriras. (fwe say that 
we have no sin, we deceive ourselves, and there is no truth in us . Why, then belike, 
we must sin, and so consequently die. 

Ay, we must die an everlasting death. 

What doctrine call you this? Che sera, sera; 

What will be, shall bel Divinity, adieu' 


136-441 

Where did Marlowe pick up the Italian colloquialism, "ehe sera, sera"? 
Probably as a page with Philip Sidney in Italy. 

As for Divinit y, buth J\!Iariowe and I:au .\ tus knnv their 13ible well. But faus­
tus had other, more (ompl'lling Intl'rCsts: 

These ml'taphysics of mdglcians 

And nt~romantll bOllks are heavenly; 

Lines, (Ireies, ktters, character, - · 

Ay, these are those that FauslllS most desires . 

0, what a world o( profit and delight. 

or power, of honor, dnd omnipotence 

Is promised to the studious arti san l 


All things that move between the quiet poles 

Shall be at my cummand; emperors and kings 

Are but obeyed in their several provinces, 

Nor ca n they raise the wind, or rend the clouds; 

But his domInion that exceeds in this 

Stretcheth dS far as doth the mind of man: 

A sound magician is a demi-god' 


145-57 1 

And so, Faustus would be as Cod, all-powerful and omnipotent. He is intox­

icated with the idea, and he sends his servant Wagner to fetch Valdes and Cor­
nelius who will teach him the black arts. Meanwhile, the Good Angel and the 
Bad Angel enter the scene, articulating the spiritu;ll conflict inside Faustus. The 

Good Angel sa)'S: 

oJ FJustus, lay that Jamned b,)(lk ,isidt' 
,(~lJ gdze not nn it lest it tempt thy soul 
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And heap God's heavy wrath upon thy head' 
Read, read the Scriptures. 

165- 681 

The Bad Angel urges Faustus to continue his quest: 

Go forward Faustus, in that famous art 

Wherein all nature's treasure is contained. 

Be thou on earth as Jove in the sky, 

Lord and commander of these elements' 


[69-721 

Faustus goes on to muse on all of the wonderful things he will do with his mag­
ical powers. Valdes and Cornelius then enter the scene. He begs his friends to 
instruct him in the arts of magic, and they agree to do so. Cornelius tells Faus­
tus : "The miracles that magic will perform Will make thee vow to study noth­
ing else." 

In Act I, Scene 3, Faustus uses his newly acquired magical knowledge to 
conjure up the devil. Mephistophilis arrives . But he looks tOO ugly, and Faustus 
tells him to go and return as an old Franciscan friar. "The holy shape becomes 
a devil best," he says. Mephistophilis returns and asks Faustus, "What wouldst 
thou have me do?" Faustus replies: 

1 charge thee wait upon me whibt [ live 

To do whatever Faustus shall command, 

Be it to make the moon drop from her sphere 

Or the ocean to overwhelm the world. 


Meph. [ am a servant to great Lucifer 
And may not follow thee without his leave . 
No more than he commands must we perform. 

Faust. Did not he charge thee to appear to me' 
Meph. No, [came now hither of mine own accord. 
Faust. Did not my conjuring raise thee Speak.' 
Meph. That was the cause, but yet per accidens: 

For when we hear one rack the name of God, 
Abjure the Scriptures and his savior Christ, 
We fly in hope to get his glorious soul. 
Nor will we come unless he use such means 
Whereby he is in danger to be damned. 
Therefore the shortest cut for conjuring 
Is stoutly to abjure the Trinity 
And pray devoutly to the prince of hell. 

[ 1.3.33-511 

In this striking conversational manner Marlowe is able to give his audience 
some real lessons in Christian theology. And it gets better when Faustus asks: 
"Tell me, what is that Lucifer thy lord'" 

1'v1eph. Arch - regent and commander of all spirits . 
[-"tlIIS/. \Vas not that Lucifer an angel once) 
Meph. Ye, Faustus, and most dearly loved of Cod. 
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raWf. How comes it then that he is prince of devils! 
Meph. 0, by aspiring pride and ins olence, 

For which God threw him from the face of heaven. 
Fal/Sf. And what are you that live with l.ucifer! 
Mcph . Unhappy spirits that fell with Lucii"n, 

Cons pired ,]gainst our Cod with l.ucif4;!r , 
Alld are I'mever damnl'd with l.uClfer. 

!-'n/;(. Wht'rl' Me \ 'OU ddlllllt'lii 
Meph , In hl'il. 
hlLl)(. How co mes it tilt'n that thuu.Ht out ,,( hl'lI) 
M~l'h Wh y thIS is hell, nm '1m l u ut of it. 

Think'st thou that I wh o saw the face llfCod 
And tasted th e eternal JOYS of heaven 
Am not tormen ted with tcn thousand hells 
In being deprivcd of everlasting bliss! 
o Fau st us, leave these i"rivolou~ demand" 
Which strikes a terror to m y fain ting soul ' 

160-791 

But Faustus is not deterred by Mephistophili s' tormented so ul, and instructs 
him to go to Lucifer and tell him that faustus is ready to make his pact with 
him. Again Faustus is raced with the two angels dramatizing the spiritual con­
flict raging in his soul. But he is reso lute. 

When Mephistophilis returns he tells Faustus that Lucifer has agreed to 
accept Faustus' soul in exchange for twenty-four years of service by Mephis­
tophilis . The pact must be written with Faustus' own blood. Faustus cuts his arm, 
and with the trickle of blood starts writing. But then his blood congeals. Faus­
tu s thinks it may be an omen of some sort. But Mephistophili s says quickly, "I'll 
fetch thee tire to di ssolve it straight." He leaves and returns with a portable 
grate, which uncongeals the blood . The pact is finally signed, at the end of which 
Faustus proclaims, Consun/mC/rus t:5 t' the very words uttered by )csus on the 
cross. 

After signing the pdLl, r~lUstus Jsb, "Tell rnl', where is the place that men 
tall hell1 " 

,\I.:ph . L:ndL'r the hl"lwns , 

I-l ,WI. I\ Y, ,0 arc all things else, but whereabouts) 

A'lel'l1. Within the bowels of the"e eleme nts, 


\,Vhcre we are tortur'd dnd remaill I'or ever : 

Hell h~th no limib, nor IS circumsuib'd 

In one selr place; but whe re we are is hell, 

And where hell IS, there mu;t we ever be: 

And, to be short, when Jllthe world dissolves, 

And eve ry creature shall he purified, 

All places shall be hdlthat is not heaven . 


J-'aw(. I think hell's a fable. 
Meph. 1\)" think so, tlil t:xperience change thy mind' 

12 1113 - 1251 
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This is the kind of theological argument that Elizabethans loved, and to see 
it dramatized so cleverly on stage created rapt attention. The argument is not 
resolved, but then Faustus tells Mephistophilis that he cannot live Ivithout a 
wife. The latter obliges by bringing him an ugly she-devil. Faustus, in disgust, 
says, "Here's a hot whore indeed l No, I'll have no wife." To which Mephistophilis 
replies, "Marriage is but a ceremonial toy." He then promises to provide Faus­
tus with "the fairest courtesans, And bring them ev'ry morning to thy bed." 

But Faustus remains in constant inner turmoil as dramatized by the two angels. 
He finally tells Mephistophilis that he will not repent, saying, "Come, Mephis­
tophilis, let us dispute again, And reason of divine astrology." And after discussing 
the planets and the zodiac, Faustus asks: "Now tell me, who made the world?" 

Meph. I will not. 
Faust. Sweet Mephistophilis, tell me. 
Meph. Move me not, Faustus. 
FC/~Ist. Villain, have not I bound thee to tell me any thing? 
Meph. Ay, that is not against our kingdom. 

This is: thou are damn'd; think thou of hell. 
FallSI. Think , Faustus, upon God that made the world. 
Meph . Remember this. [hitl 
Faust. Ay, go, accursed spirit, to ugly hell! 

'Tis thou has damn'd distressed Faustus' soul. 
Is't not too late? 

[2.2.64-75 [ 

The two angels enter again, with the Bad Angel telling Faustus that It IS 
indeed too late, and that ifhe repents Lucifer will tear him to pieces . The Good 
Angel tells Faustus that it is never too late to repent. And so, Faustus cries out, 
" 0, Christ, my Saviour, my Saviour, Help to save distressed Faustus' soul l " 

At this point Lucifer, Belzebub, and Mephistophilis visit Faustus and remind 
him of the pact he signed with his own blood. Like three Mafia enforcers they 
remind him of the consequences of his reneging on his vow. And to make him 
feel good about it all, they decide to amuse him with a show of the Seven Deadly 
Sins. This was great theater. 

In Act 3, we find Faustus soaring across the heavens in a chariot drawn by 
dragons. He travels to Mount Olympus in Greece, over Europe, and then to 
Rome. There, in an invisible state, they park themselves in the Pope's privy­
chamber where Faustus will perform his magic antics to upset the Pope and his 
Cardinals, all of which will greatly amuse an anti-Papal audience in London. 

It is toward the end of the play that we find Marlowe's most memorable 
lines. It is in Act 5, Scene I, in which Faustus asks Mephistophilis to bring forth 
Helen of Troy "whose sweet embraces may extinguish clean those thoughts that 
do dissuade me from my vow, and keep my oath I made to Lucifer." 

Meph This, or what else, my Faustus shall d~sire, 
Shall be perform'd in twinkling of an eye. 

15 .190-911 
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Helen enters and passes over the stage berween two ClIpids. 

Few>t. Was this the face that launch'd a thuusand shipo, 
And burnt the tople~s towers of llium?­
Sweet Helen, make me immortal with a kiss. ­

She kisses him. 

Fausr. Her lips suck forth my soul: see where it flies l-
Come, Helen, come, give me my soul again. 
Here will I dwell, for heaven is in these lips , 

[5.1. 92-971 

This scene no doubt had the audience holding its breath, The rest of the 

play brings us to Faustus' inevitable doom. His scholars try to save him, but it 

is too late, The two angels enter to deliver their last messages, 

C;ood ling. 0 Ihou has IlIsl (ckslial happinc'S>, 
Plea,ures un speakable, bliss withoul end. 
He'll, or Ihe d~vil, had hOld no power on thee . 
Hadst thou kt'pt on thai way, faustus, hehold, 
In what resplendent glory thou hadst sit 
In yonder tbrone, like those bright shining saints, 
And triumph'd over ht'lI; that hast thou lost: 
And now, poor soul, must thy good angel leave thee, 
The jaw~ of hell are open to receive thee. 

/Jad Ang. Now, hlustuo, let thine eyeo With horror stare 
Into that vast perpetual torturc-hou~e. 
There art' Ihe Furies tossing damned souls 
On burning forks; their bodies boil in lead; 
There arc live ljuarters brotling on the (oals, 
That ne'er can die: this ever-burning chair 
Is for o'er- Iortured souls to rest them in; 
These that are fed with sops of flaming fire, 
Were gluttons and 10v'J only delicates. 
And laugh'd to see the poor starve al their gates: 
Ilut yet all these are nOlhing; thou shalt see 
Ten thousand tortures that more horrid be. 

15.2 108-129[ 

When the angels leave, the clock strikes eleven. Faustus has one hour to live, 

and Ma r\owe, as d ra ma list, makes I he mosl of it. The aud ience wai ts with bated 
breath to see what hJppens in thai lasl hour. ,\nd dl the strokc of midnight, 
Lucii'cr, Hell.chub, Jnt.! :\lcphl,rophilis leJr l:dUSIUS to PIL'Ct'S. 

Tht' Ch,Hu, l'nds the f)IJI' wilh these \Vordo Dr admonition: 

IC,lLl,IU; i, gone rCl'ar,1 hI' hclli , h iJil, 

\Vho;e licndi'ui i'orIUIlt' rn,I Y exhort thl' wi,e, 

Only to wonder al ulllaw(ul thing~, 


Wh(hc Jet'pll~o' Joth elltice such f'orw.Hd wits 

To prJ(ticc mort' than heJ\'cnly power permits. 


[5.3.23-271 

http:f'orw.Hd
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Pure Protest ant Christian theology. It's hard to believe that Marlowe wrote 
this play when he was only 25. And it is easy to see why this play has endured 
as one of the great dramas of the Elizabethan era. 
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Henslowe's Diary 

Philip Henslowe, the best known theatrical entrepreneur of the Elizabethan 
era, began his theater career in 1584 when he bought land in Southwark on which 
stood the Little Rose playhouse, which he afterward~ rebuilt as the Rose The­
atre . Edward Alleyn, the great actor, teamed up with Henslowe as partner, mar­
ried the latter's step-daughter, and became the leading actor of Henslowe's 
productions. 

As an actor, AI/eyn was always on the lookout for plays in which he could 
perform the leading role. The fact that he became the quintessential hero in 
Marlowe's plays strongly suggests that he knew Marlowe well and may have 
helped him write the kind of effective lines and soliloquys that would enable 
AI/eyn to "shake the scene." 

From 1591 to 1609 Henslowe kept a diary that has become an important pri­
mary source about the Elizabethan theatre. It was first discovered by the great 
Shakespeare scholar, Edmond Malone (1741-1812), in the library at Dulwich 
College, which had been founded and endowed by Edward AI/eyn. Apparently, 
Alleyn had gathered all of the books and documents related to his theatrical 
career, after the death of Henslowe in 1616, and deposited them in the college's 
library. 

Malone was working on his own eleven-volume edition of Shakespeare's 
plays, and he studied the Diary carefully in order to determine the chronology 
in which the plays were written. But he found no mention of Shakespeare in the 
Diary. In fact, he disputed the genuineness of the three parts of Henry Vl. The 
Diary, edited by J. Payne Collier, was published in 1845 by the Shakespeare Soci­
ety. The Introduction states: 

The manuscripl from which Ihe presenl volume has been prinled conlains minute 
and valuable information respecting the hislOry and condition of our early drama 
and slage, from the year 1591 to the year 1609, during the whole of which period 
Sha kespeare \vas exercisi ng his u nequa lied powers for I he publ ic i nsl ruct ion and 
~1musement. Although his name nowhere occurs in the text of the following pages, 
the company of players to which he belonged was dcting, if not in concert, in the 
joint occupation of the same Iheatre for two whole years. viz., from the beginning 
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of June, 1594, to the middle of July, 1596; and it will be seen that in the list of plays 
performed not a few names occur, either identical with, or very similar to, the titles 
borne by some of Shakespeare's undoubted productions. 

The diary was a depository of memoranda regarding all payments to, or 

transactions with, dramatists, players, and others, for a period of almost twenty 

years. Henslowe also recorded the names of plays, the dates of their perform­

ances, and their box-office receipts. However, memoranda of this kind between 

1584 and 1591 have not been found. It is assumed that Henslowe kept records 

before 1591, but they have not come down to us. This is unfortunate, since we 
know that when Marlowe left Cambridge in 1587, with Tamburlaine under his 

arm, it was performed by the Lord Admiral's players, with Edward Alleyn in the 

leading role . The play was so successful that Marlowe hurriedly wrote its sequel, 
Tamburlaine II, which was performed in the autumn of 1587. A truly remark­

able achievement for any writer. 

In those days, plays and all their rights were bought by the theater owners, 

who engaged various theater troupes to perform them. The writers were paid a 

single amount no matter how popular the play became, or how many perform­

ances were staged. Many writers were paid a sum in advance on the basis of 
an outline or an idea. They were then paid the remainder when the play was 
finished. 

Robert Greene was one of those writers who wrote for Henslowe and became 

quite bitter over his dependence on theater owners for his sustenance. Living in 

poverty, he blamed people like Henslowe and Alleyn for his plight, considering 
them as bloodsuckers who exploited writers who had no choice but to accept 
the terms offered by Henslowe . 

We do not know if Marlowe shared Greene's views of theater owners. He 

had a source of income from the secret service, and he had the patronage of 

Thomas Walsingham. Also, Marlowe had a ready buyer of his plays, for Alleyn 
was in constant need of new astounding and heroic roles to perform. In fact, 

Henslowe's Diary provides a running chronicle of the performances of The Jew 
of Malta, Doctor Faustus, Tamburlaine I & II, The Massacre at Paris, and other 
plays later attributed to Shakespeare in the First Folio where they were pub­

lished for the first time in 1623. Among those plays are the Henry VI trilogy and 
Titus Andronicus. 

Of course, both Malone and the Shakespeare Society were disappointed 

that the Bard's name appeared nowhere in the Diary. The Introduction states: 

[Rjecollecting that the names of nearly all the other play-poets of the time occur, we 
cannot but wonder that that of Shakespeare is not met with in any part of the man­
uscript. The notices of Ben Jonson, Dekker, Cheuie, Marston, Wilson, Drayton, 
Monday, Heywood, Middleton, Porter, Hathway, Rankins, Webster, Day, Rowley, 
Haughton, &c., are frequent, because they were all writers for Henslowe's theatre. 

And that is precisely why Shakespeare's name is not to be found among the writ­

ers: he was not one of them. He may have been an actor and part owner of a 
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theatre, but he was clearly not a writer. What we do find in the Diary is evidence 
of the many performances staged of Marlowe's plays, before and after he departed 
the scene, a great tribute to their popularity. 

From 1591 to 1597 Henslowe 's records show that The Jew of Ma/ta was per­
formed 36 times; Doctor Faustus 20 times; Henry VI 16 times; Harey the V 12 
times; Massacre at Paris 10 times; and, in revival, Tamburlaine 13 times; Tam­
burlaine 117 times. The plays were performed by Lord Strange's Men, the Lord 
Admiral's Men, Lord Pembroke's players and the Earl of Sussex's Men. It should 
be noted that Marlowe's plays had to compete with many other plays by Kyd, 
Greene, Chettle, Jonson, and others, few of which have come down to us. Also, 
the theater was closed for many months during the plague. 

But what is also of great interest in the Diary are the payments made to 
writers in the form of advances, or I.O.U.s. What follows is a selection of such 
entries, in their original spellings, that provide an insight into how writers, the­
ater owners, and actors made financial arrangements in those days : 

I received forty shillinges of Mr Phillip Hinslowe , in pHt of five pounds for the 
playe of Wi 11m Longsword, to be deli vered presently, within 2 or three days, the 
20th of January 1598. Mi c. Drayton [po 95). 

Paid unto Thomas Dickers, the 20 of Dese mbr 1597, for adycyons [additions) to 
Fostus twentie shellinges, and fyve shellinges for a prolog to Marloes Tamberlen, so 
in alii saye payde twentye fyve she/linges [p. 71). 

Received in pt of palOlent of Damon and Pythias, this 16 of February 1599. By me, 
Henry Chettle [20 shillings[ [po 93) . 


Lent the 14 May 1597, to Jubie, uppon a notte from Nashe, twentie shellinges more, 

for the Jylle [Islel ofdogges [Dogs ], wch [which) he is wry tinge [writing) for the 

company Ip. 94) 


Lent unto I3engemen Johnsone [Ben Jonson], the 3 of dese mbr 1597, upon a Booke 

wch [which) he was to writte for us befor crysmas [Christmas) next after the date 

hereof, wch he showed the plotte unto the company: I saye lente in Redy money 

unto hime the some of(20 shillings) [p. 106). 


Layd owte for caper lace for the litlell boye, for a valle [veil) for the boye, ageanste 

the playe of Dido and fneus, the 3 of jenewary 1597. [This \vas probably a revival of 

Marlowe's Dido: Queen of Carthage. \ 


Lent unto Robarte Shawe, the 18 of febreary 1598, to paye unto Harton for a 

comodey called a Woman will have her will, the some of (20 shillings) [po 119) . 


Lent unto Thomas Dowton, and Rob art Shaw, and Edwarde Jeweby, the I of marche 

1598 , to bye a boocke of Mr Dickers, ca lled the trepleseti e of cockowlles [The Trip ­

licity of Cuckolds) , Ihe some offyve powndes. I say lent [p . 119[. 


Lenl unto Thomas Downton, the 22 of Janewary 1598, to leand unto Mr Chapman, 

in earneste of a boocke called the world rones a whelks [The World Runs on 

Wheels J, the some of (2 pounds) [p. 143\. 


Receaved by me Robt. Shaa, of phillip Henslowe, to paye H. Chettle, in full pai­

ment of a book .. called the stepmolher s tragedy, for the use of the company, 30 

pounds I say Receaved [po 157) . 
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Lent unto Thomas Downton, the 3 septmbr 1599, to lend unto Thomas Deckers, 

Bengemen Johnson [Ben Jonson], hary Chettle, and other Jentellman, in earneste of 

a playe called Robart, the second, Kinge of Scottes tragedie, the sum of 40 shillings 

[po 1561. 


This 16 of october 99 Receved by me, Thomas Downton, of phillip Henslow, to pay 

Mr Monday, Mr Drayton, and Mr Wilson and Hathway, for the fust pte of the Iyfe 

of Sir Jhon Ouldcasstell [John Oldcastle], and in earnest of the second pte for the 

use of the compayny, ten pownd, I say receved [po 158J. 


Lent unto Robert Shawe and Mr Jube, the 19 of Maye 1601, to bye divers thinges for 

the )ewe of malta, the some of (five pounds) [po 1871. 


Lent unto Mr Alleyn, the 25 September 1601, to lend unto Bengemen Johnson, 

upon his writtinge of his adicions [additionsl in Geronymo the some of 40 shillings 

[Apparently, Alleyn borrowed money to lend Ben Jonson so that the latter could 

add lines for Alleyn.1 (p. 2011. 


Lent unto Thomas Downton, the 29 of maye 1602, to paye Thomas Dickers, Dray­

ton, Mydellton, and Webester, and Mondaye, in fulle paymente for ther playe called 

too harpes [Two Harpies] [A good example of five writers collaborating on one 

pia)'.] Jp. 2221· 


Lent unto the companye, the 22 of novmbr 1602, to paye unto Wm Birde and 

Samwell Rowley, for ther adicyones [additionsl in Doctor Fostes [po 2281. 


Lent unto Thomas Hewode, the 21 of octobr 1602, to paye unto Mr Dickers, chet­

tell , Smythe, Webester and Hewode, in fulle payment of ther playe of ladye Jane, 

the some of (5 pounds, 10 shillings) [po 242]. 


The above represents a small fraction of the transactions in the Diary. In 
all, Henslowe paid advances to: Henry Chettle, Robert Greene, Ben Jonson, 
George Chapman, Michael Drayton, William Haughton, Anthony Monday, 
Samuel Rowley, Thomas Heywood, Richard Hathway, Thomas Dekker, John 
Webster, Thomas Middleton, John Day, Henry Porter, John Singer, Martin 
Slater, Robert Wilson, Willliam Rankins, and Thomas Nashe. And certainly he 
paid Marlowe for his plays, but these transactions took place before this Diary 
recorded them. And where was the prolific William Shakespeare in all of this 
activity~ Nowhere to be found. 

It should be noted, as already mentioned, that Henslowe's Diary was 
published by the Shakespeare Society and edited by J. Payne Collier. Although 
Collier was a competent scholar and made significent contributions to Shake­
speare scholarship, it turns out that he was also a fraud, an expert forger. He 
started out as a reporter for The Times where he was reprimanded for misre­
porting a speech in the House of Commons . That led to his transfer to the Morn­
ing Chronicle. 

In 1806, Collier bought a copy of the Shakespeare Third Folio, after which 
he embarked on a career as literary scholar. In 1835, Thomas Rodd published 
Collier's New Facts Regarding the Life of Shakespeare, which, according to S. 
Schoenbaum, "exhibits Collier's principal contributions to biographical mis­
representation." Collier was prone to "contaminate the flow offactual narrative 
with his own fabrications." 
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In 1840, three eminent scholars- Rev. Alexander Dyce, Charles Knight, 
and J. O. Halliwell-founded the Shakespeare Society. Collier became its direc­
tor and worked on twenty-one of its publications . He gained access to the 
Hensiowe-Alleyn papers at Dulwich College. One of his fabrications in The 
Memoirs of Edward Alleyn (1841) is a list of King's players in which Shakespeare's 
name appears second among the actors of the company. This "fact" was concocted 
to prove some other "facts" about Shakespeare's wealth. 

It was Collier who also put significant credence behind the notion that 
Greene's Groatsworth of Wit was an attack on Shakespeare. No one in the decades 
following the publication of Greene's pamphlet believed that it had anything to 
do about Shakespeare. It wasn't until 1766, when a scholar by the name of 
Thomas Tyrwhitt found the pamphlet and assumed that "Shake-scene" referred 
to Shakespeare. That point of view, which Collier promoted, has been accepted 
by all future Shakespeare scholars as revealed truth. From that pamphlet, writ­
ten in 1592, before Shakespeare's name had appeared on anything, Collier was 
able to deduce that Shakespeare was already "a writer of original plays, an adapter 
and improver of those already in existence, (some of them by Greene, Marlowe, 
Lodge, or Peele) and no doubt he contributed prologues or epilogues, and 
inserted scenes, speeches, or passages on any temporary emergency. Having his 
ready assistance, the Lord Chamberlain's servants required few other contribu­
tions from rival dramatists." (p. 138, Schoenbaum: from Collier's The Life of 
William Shakespeare, Vol. I, p. cxxxii .) 

However, the actual chronology of events proves that Collier's deductions 
were false. 
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Marlowe and Edward Alleyn 

Edward Alleyn was acknowleged by his contemporaries as the finest actor 
on the Elizabethan stage, comparabJe to "Proteus for shapes, and Roscius for a 
tongue." Indeed, Marlowe was fortunate in having such a superb thespian bring 
to vibrant life his marvellously conceived characters: Tamburlaine, Doctor Faus­
tus, and Barbaras the Jew of Malta. It is without question that Alleyn 's perform­
ances made these plays and their characters as popular as they became. 

One must assume that AJleyn knew Marlowe, and probably both men dis­
cussed how the plays should be staged and their characters interpreted. Alleyn 
may have even suggested adding or changing lines to enhance the projection of 
the characters by him. 

According to the Memoirs of Edward AI/eyn, by J. Payne Collier (1841), 
derived from Alleyn's family papers preserved in Dulwich College, the great 

actor was born in SI. Botolph's parish in September of 1566, making him two 
years younger than Marlowe. His father, a man of some property, died when 
Alleyn was four. His mother subsequently married a person named Browne, an 
actor as well as a haberdasher. It was Browne who brought Alleyn and his elder 
brother John to the stage. And it was during this time, in the 1570's, that the 

theater business began to grow. Collier writes (p. 5): 

The first public theatre upon record was opened labout 15711; and the Curtain was 
in use before 1576.. .. The Blackfriars theatre was also constructed in 1576; and the 
Whitefriars theatre was in the possess ion of a theatrical company soon afterwards. 
The Rose, Hope, and Swan theatres, on the Bankside. were opened either shortly 
before or after 1580; so by the time Alleyn was sixteen years old dramatic represen­
tations were extremely frequent and popular in all quarters of the metropolis .... In 
1585 Queen Eli zabeth took into her services twelve players selected from the most 
dis tinguished assoc iations of the day. 

Thus, there were plenty of employment opportunities for actors. Few of 
the nobility were without companies of players, performing under the protec­

tion of their names. In fact. companies of actors were required to have the spon­
sorship of a nobleman in order to guarantee their morality. Young boys were 
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attached to theatrical companies because of the need for them to play female 
roles, and as a young boy Alleyn undoubtedly got his start by performing female 
parts. 

By 1592, Alleyn, at the age of 26, had achieved a very high reputation as an 
actor. He is mentioned twice in Pierce Peni/esse by Thomas Nashe, published in 
1592, as a performer of the most deserved distinction. It was also in that book 
that Nashe accused Robert Greene of having written a "scald trivial lying pam­
phlet," Greene's Groatsworth of Wit. That famous pamphlet is used erroneously 
by Shakespeare scholars to establish Shakespeare as a playwright as early as 1592 
because of Greene's reference to a "Shake-scene." But it is obvious that Greene's 
Shake-scene was Edward Alleyn, for it was Alleyn who acted in Greene's most 
popular play, Orlando Furioso, for which Greene was probably paid a pittance. 
Collier writes (p. 7): 

One of the parts which Alleyn "surmounted in" we may now assert for the first 
time, was Orlando, in Robert Greene's play of Orlando hlrioso. Among the MSS. 
at Dulwich College is a large portion of the original part of Orlando, as transcribed 
by the copyist of the theatre for the actor. It is in three pieces, one much larger than 
the others, all imperfect, being more or less injured by worms and time. Here and 
there certain blanks have been supplied in a different hand-writing, and that hand­
writing is Alleyn's. We may conclude, therefore, that this is the very copy from 
which he learnt his part .... We have no hesitation in pronouncing this one of the 
most singular theatrical relics in existence. 

We wonder what else lies buried in the archives at Dulwich College. Col­
lier, writing for the Shakespeare Society, was anxious to find something relating 
to Shakespeare as a writer. But there was nothing except a reference to "Willes 
newe play" in a poem on wagers laid on Alleyn, involved in an acting competi­
tion among fellow players, Collier was unable to date the poem, but it must have 

been written after 1596 since it mentions the Globe Theatre, which wasn't com­
pleted until 1596. In modern spelling, it reads (p. 13): 

Sweet Ned, now win a not her wager 
For thine old friend and Fellow stager. 
Tarlton himself thou dost excell, 
And Bentley beat, and conquer Knell, 
And now shall Kempe overcome as well. 
The money is down, the place the Hope, 
Phi.llippes shall hide his head and Pope. 
Fear not, the victory is thine; 
Thou still as matchless Ned shall shine. 
If Rossius Richard [Burbage I foams and fumes, 
The globe shall have but empty rooms, 
If thou dost act; and Willes new play 
Shall be rehearsed some other day. 
Consent then, Ned; do us this grace: 
Thou cannot fail in any case; 
For in the trial, come what rna)" 
All sides shall brave Ned Alleyn say. 
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We do not know the title of the new play, nor the last name of Wille. But 

the association with Richard Burbage and the Globe Theatre would tend to affirm 

that Wille was indeed William Shakespeare. As we have noted, Shakespeare's 

name first appeared on a published work, Venus and Adonis, in 1593, several 

months after Marlowe's supposed death. Note that it first appeared on a poem, 

not a play. Henrietta C. Bartlett writes in Mr. William Shakespeare (1922) (p. 3): 

This is t he first work by Shakespeare to appear in print and was dedicated to his 
friend and patron , Henry Wriothesley, Lord Southampton. The story is founded 
on Ovid's Metamorphosis but Shakespeare may have known it only through 
Golding's translation of 1567. He was undoubtedly influenced by Lodge's Scil/aes 
lvletamorphosis, 1589, and the poem has a close resemblance to Marlowe's Hero and 
Leander, which was written before 1593 , though not printed until 1598. 

The only other Wille that comes to mind is William Rowley. Of him, Swin­

burne wrote : "Of all the poets and humorists who lit up the London stage for 

half a cen tury of unequalled glory, William Rowley was the most thoroughly loyal 

Londoner : the most evidently and proudly mindful that he was a citizen of no 

mean city" (p. 187). But Rowley was born in 1585, making him too young if the 

above poem was written in the late 1590s. 

Collier is also very much concerned with the authorship of some of the 

plays listed in Henslowe's Diary. He writes (p. 21): 

The probability certainly is, that Alleyn never performed in any of Shakespeare's 
plays; but in our present state of information, it is impossible to speak at all deci­
sively upon the point. The " Leir ," the "Romeo," the " Henry VIII ," the "Moore in 
Venis," and the "Pericles," of the preceding inventory, may have been the Lear, 
Romeo, Henry V Ill. Othello, and Pericles of Shakespeare. 

But what makes it unlikely that these plays were written by Shakespeare is 

the fact that the Globe was still under construction while these plays were being 

staged by the Lord Admiral's players and the Lord Chamberlain's players between 

1594 and 1596. Henslowe lists the performances as follows in his usual creative 

spelling (p. 22): 

9 June 1594 Rd at Hamlet 
11 June 1594 Rd at the Tamynge of a Shrowe 
12 June 1594 Rd at Andronicus 
25 Augt 1594 Rd at the Venesyon Comodey 
17 Sept 1594 Rd at Palamon and Arsett 
8 Nov. 1594 Rd at Seser and Pompie 
20 June 1595 Rd at Antony and Vallea 
26 June 1595 Rd at the 2 pt e of Seaser 
28 Nov. 1595 Rd at Harry the V. 
22 June 1596 Rd at Troye 

Collier comments (p. 23): 

If none of these plays were by Shakespeare , but dramas of which he availed himself 
in the composition of his own plays, the above list shews that he had perhaps been 



19. Marlowe and Edward AI/eyn IDS 

in some way concerned in the representation of them , and his altention might thus 
have been especially directed to them. 

While Collier is of the belief that Alleyn never acted in a Shakespeare play, 
he provides ample evidence of the actor's great success in Marlowe's plays. He 
writes (p. 8): 

Another of AI/eyn's famous characters was Barabas, in Christopher Marlowe's 
tragedy, The Rich lew of Malta; and 10 this fact we have the evidence of his 
contemporary, Thomas Heywood, the dramatist, wh o had been an ac tor in Alleyn's 
company in 1596, and doubtless recollect ed the effect produced by him in the part. 
Possibly, Heywood did not recol/ect the first production of the tragedy, about 1589 
or 1590; but it continued a favourite with the town for many years, most likely 
until Alleyn finally quitted the stage. It was not printed until 1633, when it was 
revived at the Cockpit Theatre in Drury Lane, and its success there recommended 
it for representation at Court. 

Marlowe's Doclor Faustus was another great favorite, and legend has it that 
Alleyn was so effective in portraying the man who had sold his soul to the devil, 
that on one occasion the old Rose Theatre "cracked and frighted the audience," 
while seeing a devil on the stage. 

An interesting question is why didn't Alleyn ever act in a Shakespeare play? 
If the plays had actualJy been written by Marlowe after he had been reported 
dead, some arrangement would have been made with the actor and part-theater 
owner Shakespeare to get the plays produced. We don't know exactly when the 
first "Shakespeare" play was staged at the Globe with Burbage in the leading 
role, but we do know that the building of the Globe was completed by the sum­
mer of 1596, a good three years after Marlowe had exited the scene. 

And why didn't the purveyor of the new Marlowe plays bring them to Alleyn 
for staging and not to Shakespeare? Probably because Alleyn, so well acquainted 
with Marlowe's style, would have recognized them as Marlowe's work and thus 
become aware that Marlowe was still alive. And that is why Alleyn became famous 
for his portrayals of Marlowe's characters, while Burbage became famous for his 
portrayals of Shakespeare's great heroes. 

On October 22,1592, Edward AlJeyn married Joan Woodward, the daugh­
ter of Philip Henslowe's second wife, Agnes Woodward. It was a very happy 
marriage. Very soon after the wedding, the plague broke out in London, and 
the theater was closed. AlJeyn and Lord Strange's Men went out into the coun­
try to put on plays. According to the dates on Alleyn's letters to his wire, whom 
he called Mouse, he was in Chelmsford on May 2,1593, then Bristol on August 
I, 1593. Although Marlowe had been supposedly killed on May 3D, 1593, there 
is no mention of that event in any of the letters from Alleyn to his wife or in 
Henslowe's letters to his son-in -law. Hensl owe's lette rs were a bleak narrative 
of the horrors of the plague and the many deaths of people all around them . How­
eve r, by September, the plague had subsided. 

Queen Elizabeth died in 1603, and James VI of Scotland, son of Mary Queen 
of Scots, became James I of England. On his accession, James took into his pay 
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the Lord Chamberlain's servants, and they were afterwards calJed the King's 
Players . This was the company to which Shakespeare was attached. Queen Anne 
adopted Lord Worcester's players, of which Thomas Heywood was one, as her 
theatrical servants. And Prince Henry took as players Alleyn and thirteen of his 
associates, who had previously belonged to the Earl of Nottingham. 

In April 1604, the list of the King's Players included : Burbage, Shakespeare, 
Fletcher, Phillips, Condie, Hemminges, Armyn, Slye, Cowley, Hostler, and Day. 
Collier had altered the list and placed Shakespeare's name second in order to 
enhance his status. 

It should be noted that both Henslowe and Alleyn were also involved in the 
lucrative animal fighting business. Henslowe owned the Bear Garden where these 
shows were put on. In March 1603-4, King James sent for Alleyn and requested 
that he bring his dogs from the Bear Garden to bait a lion in his den. Alleyn 
complied with the King's request, and it was quite a spectacle as the three dogs 
went after the lion and the lion wiped the floor with them. An account of the 
exhibition, published in Stowe's Chronicle, states: 

The 2 first dogs dyed within a few dayes, but the last dog was well recovered of all 
his hurts, and the young Prince commanded his servant E. Allen to bring the dog 
to him to S. James, where the Prince charged the said Allen to keepe him, and make 
much of him , saying, he that had fought with the King of Beasts, should never after 
fight with any inferior creature. 
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Barabas: The Jew of Malta 

Of all of Marlowe's plays, Th e Jew of Malta was the most popular. It was 
performed at Henslowe's theater thirty-six times from 1591 to 1597. Edward 
Alleyn's performances as Barabas, the Machiavellian villain, was considered one 
of his best roles and certainly contributed to the success of the play, in which 
costume and make up no doubt enhanced the production. For all intents and 
purposes, the play is a horror story in which Barabas and his villainous side­
kick-slave Ithamore perform one horrible deed after another. Apparently, Eliz­
abethan audiences loved horror stories, and Marlowe had a talent for giving 
them what they wanted. 

Marlowe scholar Leo Kirschbaum tells us that the sources of the play "are 
popular folklore plus the pseudo-Machiavelli of Gentillet and others." He con­
siders The Jew of Malta to be Marlowe's "most theatrically mature play .... There 
is progressive novelty in the variou s scenes. We are constantly being entertained 
with variety of action and emotion .. .. To trace the working out of the plot of 
The Jew of Malta is to become shocked at the critics' inability to appreciate the 
progress which Marlowe was able to achieve in the drama in the short time of 
five years. " 

Machiavelli, expressing the spirit of sixteenth-century Italy, reacted against 
the asceticism and scholasticism of the Middle Ages. He believed that truth is 
only what is experientially effective. Thus, he shunned imagination, which was 
merely an escape from reality. "The world is what we make it ourselves, and 
each ... person is his own Providence and his own fortune" (I, 465-6). "Every 
man on this earth has his mission, suited to his abilities" (II, 547). If Marlowe 
had read this while still at Cambridge, it may have driven him to give up a secure 
life in divinity for an uncertain life in poetry. 

Marlowe was a keen student of politics, but as a student of divinity he was 
well versed in Calvin's dictum concerning man's innate depravity. What he found 
in Machiavelli was corroboration of that view of mankind. He had read The 
Prince (1513 ) and The Discourses ( 1512 - 22), and it was in the latte r (Book Ill, 
Chapter IV) that he found an excellent description of the lust for power: 

107 
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This desire to reign is so powerful that it not only dominates the minds of those 
born with the expectation of a throne, but also that of those who have no such 
expectations. This was well illustrated by the wife of Tarquin the younger, daughter 
of Servius, who, urged on by this mad desire, regardless of all filial piety, stirred up 
her husband to deprive her father of his life and kingdom; so much more did she 
value being a queen than being the daughter of a king. 

Thus, the Machiavel in Marlowe's prologue is atheistic, murderous, sadis­
tic, usurious, revengeful, and hypocritical. He is not The Prince. He is a demonic 
version which the French Huguenot, Gentillet, exposed in his book published 
in 1576. This Machiavel sets the stage for what the audience will hear and see as 
the play unfolds. He announces: 

Although the world thinks Machiavel is dead­

Yet was his soul but flown beyond the Alps­

And, now the Guise is dead, is come from France 

To view this land and frolic with his friends' ... 

Admir'd I am by those that hate me most. ... 

I count religion but a childish toy, 

And hold there is no sin but ignorance .... 

Might first made kings, and laws were then most sure 

When like the [Draco'sl they were writ in blood. 


But whither am I bound; I come not, I, 

To read a lecture here in Britain, 

But to present the tragedy of a Jew, 

Who smiles to see how full his bags are cramm'd­

Which money was not got without my means .... 

J crave but this: Grace him as he deserves! 

And let him not be entertain'd the worse 

Because he favors me. 


Marlowe is a master at establishing the theme of his play in the opening 
scene, which, in the Jew of Malta is summed up in the Biblical adage that "The 
love of money is the root of all evil," which is immediately followed by "which 
while some coveted after, they have erred from the faith, and pierced themselves 
through with many sorrows" (I Timothy 6-10). Thus the play opens with Barn­
abas in his counting house with heaps of gold before him. He speaks of his com­
mercial enterprises, comparing his various customers. Barabas has become the 
richest merchant in Malta, and it is his understanding of wealth that is the key 
to his success. He speaks: 

So that of thus much that return was made; 

And of the third part of the Persian ships 

There was the venture summ'd and satisfied. 

As for those Samnites, and the men of Uz, 

That bought my Spanish oils and wines of Greece, 

Here have I purs 'd their paltry silverlings. 

Fie, what a trouble 'tis to count this trash! 
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Well fare the Arabians, who so richly pay 

The things they traffic for with wedge of gold, 

Whereof a man may easily in a day 

Tell that which may maintain him all his life. 


Give me the merchants of the Indian mines, 
That trade in metal of the purest mould; 
The wealthy Moor, that in the eastern rocks 
Without control can pick his riches up, 
And in his house heap pearl like pebble stones, 
Receive them free, and sell them by the weight' 
Bags of fiery opals, sapphires, amethysts, 
Jacinths, hard topaz, grass-green emeralds, 
Beauteous rubies, sparkling diamonds, 
And seld-seen costly stones of so great price, 
As one of them, indifferently rated, 
And of a carat of this quantity, 
May serve, in peril of calamity, 
To ransom great kings in captivity. 
This is the ware wherein consists my wealth; 
And thus methinks should men of judgment frame 
Their means of traffiC from the vulgar trade, 
And, as their wealth increaseth, so inclose 
Infinite riches in a little room. 

[1.1. 1-11, 19- 371 

Thus, in that opening scene we get a dazzling insight into Barabas's eco­

nomic philosophy. He is rich because he understands the foundation of wealth. 

As the scene continues, Barabas expresses concern for his ships laden with mer­

chandise which are due to arrive at Malta. Merchants inform Barabas of the safe 

arrival of his ships . The reason for the lateness of his argosy from Alexandria is 

because of a Spanish fleet that was giving chase to the galleys of the Turk. Barabas 

instructs the merchants to get clearance from the custom house to unload the 

ships. Alone, Barabas muses: 

Thus trawls our fortune in by land and sea, 

And thus are we on every side enrich'd. 

These are the blessings promis'd to the Jews, 

And herein was old Abram's happines, : 

What more may heaven do for earthly man 

Than thus to pour out plenty in their laps, 

Ripping the bowels of the earth for them, 

Making the sea their servant, and the winds 

To drive their substance with successful blasts) 

Who hateth me but for my happiness) 

Or who is honour'd now but for his wealth) 

Rather I had, a Jew, be hated thus, 

Than pitied in a Christian poverty ; 
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They say we are a scattered nation: 
[ cannot tt'll; but we have scambled up 
More wealth by far than those that brag of faith. 
There is Kirriah Jair im, the great Jew of Greece, 
Obed in I3airseth, Nones in Portugal, 
Myself in Malta, some in Italy, 
Many in France, and wealthy everyone; 
Ay, wealthier far than any Christian. 
I must confess we come not to be kings: 
That's not our fault: alas, our number 's few, 
And crowns come either by succession, 
Or urg'd by force; and nothing violent, 
Oft have [ heard tell, can be permanent. 
Give us a peaceful rule; make Christian kings, 
That thirst so much for principality. 

1104-116,122-1361 

Thus, Marlowe sums up the political status of Jews in Europe in the six­
teenth century. It is a rather sympathetic picture of a persecuted people achiev­
ing material success despite their social handicaps. At that time no Jews were 
permitted to settle in England, but a wealthy Jewish merchant in Malta could 
be used as a marvelous Machiavellian character in a tragic play. But why Malta? 
Because that Christian island was in middle of the Mediterranean Sea where an 
ongoing war was waging between the Spanish and the Turks. After the Catholics 
had conquered Granada in 1492, the Moslems were expelled. They revenged, 
with the help of the Turks, by piratical attacks on the coast of Spain . 

But Christian Malta, close to Sicily, was able to avoid being despoiled by 
the Turks by agreeing to pay them tribute. 

After his monologue, several Jews enter to bring Barabas some troubling 
news. A fleet of warlike galleys has come from Turkey, and their leader is con­
ferring with the governor. But Barabas is unconcerned for, "The Turks and those 
of Malta are in league." But his concern is heightened when he is told that the 
governor has ordered all the Jews of Malta to come to the Senate House. 

Scene Two takes place in the Senate House where Ferneze, Governor of 
Malta, and Calymath, son of the Pasha of Turkey, are conferring. Why this visit, 
Ferneze asks, what do you want? And Calymath replies: "The ten years' tribute 
that remains unpaid." But we can't pay it now, pleads the governor. Can you give 
us a month to raise the money, he asks . Calymath agrees: 

We grant a month , but see you keep your promise. 
Now launch our galleys back again to sea, 
Where we'll attend the respite you have ta'en, 
And for the money send our messenger. 

11.2.29-321 

Once the Turks are gone, the governor turns to the Jews who have come to 
the Senate House. He levies a tax, requiring them to pay one half of their estates 
so that Malta can payoff the Turks. Anyone who refuses to pay shall become a 



III 20. Barabas: The lew of Malta 

Christian. And he who refuses conversion shall pay all he has. And because 
Barabas objects to all of this, the Governor declares that the state will seize all 
of his wealth. But Barabas makes this a religious issue: 

Barabas: Will you, then, steal my goods' 

Is theft the grou nd of )'OU r rei igion' 


rerneze: No, Jew; we take particularly thine, 
To ,ave the ruin of a multitude. 
And better one want for a common good, 
Than many perish for a private man. 
Yet, Barabas, we will not banish thee, 
But here in Malta, where thou gott'st thy wealth, 
Live still, and, if thou canst , get more. 

Barabas: Christians, what or how ca n I multiply? 
Of naught is nothing made. 

First Knight: From naught at fir st thou cam's t to little wealth, 
From little unto more, from more to most. 
If your first curse fall heavy on thy head, 
And make thee poor and scorn'd of all the world, 
'Tis not our fault, but thy inherent sin. 

Barabas: What, bring you Scripture to confirm your wrongs? 
Preach me not out of my possessions. 
Some Jews are wicked, as all Christians are; 
But say the tribe I descended of 
Were all in general cast away for sin, 
Shall I be tried for their transgression? 
The man that dealeth righteously shall live; 
And which of you can charge me otherwise' 

Ferneze: Out, wretched Barabas l 


Sham'st thou not thus to justify thyself, 

As if we knew not thy profession' 

If thou rely upon thy righteou sness, 

Be patient, and thy riches will increase. 

Excess of wealt h is cause of covetousness; 

And covetousness, 0, ' tis a mons trous sin' 


Barabas: Ay, but theft is worse ... if you rob me thus, 
I must be forc'd to steal, and compass more . 

11.298-131) 

There is no doubt that Barabas is an exasperating debater, and hi s argu­
ments simply annoy the Governor, who finally loses patience. He orders Barabas's 
ma nsion to be sei zed and turned int o a nunnery. 

How marvelousl y Marlowe is able to weave all o f these elements to create 
an enthralling reality for his audience: the predicament of the persecuted Jew, 
the obsessive love of money, the ongoing war between Catholic Spain and the 
Ottoman Turks, the fate of Malta, commerce in the Mediterranean and its haz­
ards, current events, economic philosophy, the moral dial ogue between Chris­
tian and Jew, etc., all in one remarkable play. (n the conflict between Christian 
and Moslem, Barabas becomes the consummate enemy of both, among whom 
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he must live. But whatever sympathy he may arouse in the early part of the play 
is soon lost as his monstrous deeds multiply. 

Marlowe's knowledge of sixteenth-century geopolitics, the Bible, human 
nature, and the historical context of the events in the play is quite amazing. He 
knew his history and his world. It should be noted that the Turks and their 
Barbary allies on the North African coast continued to demand tribute from 
Christian nations for safe passage in the Mediterranean as late as 1820. Indeed, 
America's first war after establishing its national government was in 1801 
against the Barbary pirates who were extorting tribute from the United States 
government. 

Following the frustrating argument with the Governor, Barabas's fellow 
Jews try to console him over his terrible loss. They compare his lot with Job's. 
But Barabas complains that he has lost more than Job. He dismisses his fellow 
Jews as a bunch of losers, and after they leave him, stewing in hi s bitterness, he 
says: 

See the simplici ty of these base slaves, 
Who, for the villains have no wit themselves, 
Think me to be a senseless lump of clay, 
That will with every water wash to dirt! 
No, Barabas is born to better chance, 
And fram'd of finer mould than common men, 
That measure naught but by the present time. 
A reaching thought will search his deepest wits, 
And cast with cunning for the time to come; 
For evils are apt to happen ever y day. 

1219-228 J 

So we see Barabas as an egotist of the first order, "born to better chance." 
Suddenly, his beautiful daughter Abigail enters the scene. She tells her father how 
distraught she is over his losses and that she is willing to go to the Senate House 
"and rent their hearts with tearing of my hair, till they reduce the wrongs done 
to my father." Barabas tells her that that won't be necessary. Much of his wealth 
is hidden beneath the floor in the house, and he tells Abigail that she must pre­
tend to become a nun so that she can get back into the house, find the gold and 
jewels and bring them out to him. 

She is distraught at having to lie and dissemble, especially when it comes 
to religious faith. But Barabas tells her: 

As good dissemble that thou nt'ver mean's t 
As lirst mean truth and then Jissemble it: 
A counterfeit profession is better 
Than unseen hypocrisy. 

1300-3031 

Abigail then convinces the Abbess that she wants to become a nun and pass 
away her life in penitence. The Abbess accepts Abigail's plea and permits her to 
enter the mansion. But Barabas pretends that he is greatly upset over his daugh­
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ter's conversion, which two friars, Jacomo and Bernardine, vie to take credit for. 
Meanwhile, Barabas protests loudly over this daughter's conversion while whis­
pering to her in asides, giving her instructions for carrying out his plan. Just as 
they are all about to leave, Mathias, a young man with romance on his mind, 
enters. He observes the scene and says: 

Who's this' Fair Abigail, the rich lew's daughter, 

Become a nun' Her father's sudden fall 

Has humbled her, and brought her down to this. 

Tut, she were fitter for a tale of love, 

Than to be tired out with orisons; 

And better would she far become a bed, 

Embraced in a friendly lover's arms, 

Than rise at midnight to a solemn mass. 


[378-3851 

Immediately, Mathias's friend Lodovick, the Governor's son, enters the 
scene, and asks Mathias why he's "in a dump," Mathias explains. Lodovick 
responds : "And if she be so fair as you report, 'twere time well spent to go and 
visit her. How say you? Shall we" Mathias responds positively, and the scene 
ends. 

Does not the above scene remind one of Hamlet, Act 3, Scene I, in which 
Hamlet speaks his famous soliloquy, at the end of which, as he hears Ophelia 
approaching, says: "Nymph, in thy orisons be all my sins remembered." Which 
is soon followed by "Get thee to a nunnery, why wouldst thou be a breeder of 
sinners .... " Orisons, of course, are prayers. The words spoken by Hamlet are 
echoes of words uttered by Mathias. 

Act 2, Scene I, opens with an exquisite bit of poetry spoken by Barabas as 
he awaits Abigail near the nunnery: 

Thus, like the sad presaging raven, that tolls 

The sick man's passport in her hollow beak, 

And in the shadow of the silent night 

Doth shake contagion from her sable wings; 

Vexed and tormented runs poor Barabas 

With fatal curses towards these Christians. 


[2.1. 1-61 

Abigail then appears with the bags of gold and jewels which she has retrieved 
from the house. Barabas is ecstatic: 

My gold, my fortune, my felicity, 

Strength to my soul, death to mine enemy! 

Welcome the first beginner of my bliss! 


o girl' 0 gold' 0 beauty' 0 my bliss' 
[51-53,57 ) 

Abigail then returns to the Nunnery. Barabas is now wealthy enough to buy 
another house. Scene Two, which probably occurs d few clays later, takes place at 
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the Senate House where the Governor is conferring with Don Bosco, Vice -admi­

ral to the King of Spain, who has brought his ship to Malta . He relates how he 

had been in a battle with Turkish galleys, all of which were sunk, except for one, 

The captain's slain; the rest remain our slaves, 
Of which we would make sale in Malta here . 

12 .2. 17-181 

But because Malta is part of a tributary league with the Turks, the Governor can­

not permit the sale to take place . But encouraged by the First Knight, Don Bosco 

tries to persuade the Governor to break his pact with the Turks. He says: 

Will Knights of Malta be in league with Turks, 

And buy it basely too for sums of gold? 

My lord, remember that, to Europe 's shame, 

The Christian Isle of Rhodes, from whence you came, 

Was lately lost, and you were stated here 

To be at deadly enmity with Turks. 


What is the sum that Calymath requires? 

Ferneze: A hundred thousand crowns. 

Don B05co: My lord and king hath title to this isle, 


And he means quickly to expel you hence. 

Therefore be rul'd by me, and keep the gold: 

I'll write unto his majesty for aid, 

And not depart until I see you free. 


Femeze: On this condition shall thy Turks be sold. 
Bosco, thou shalt be Malta's general; 
We and our warlike knights will follow thee 
Against these barbarous misbelieving Turks. 

128-461 

And so, Malta is now at war with the Turks. Scene Three opens in the mar-

ket-place where the slaves are to be sold. Barabas enters : 

In spite of these swine-eating Christians, 
(Unchosen nation, never circumcis'd, 
Such as, poor villains, were n'er thought upon 
Till Titus and Vespasian conquer'd us ,) 
Am I become as wealthy as I was. 
They hop'd my daughter would ha' been a nun; 
But she's at home, and I have bought a house 
As great and fair as is the governor's; 
And there, in spite of Malta, will [dwell, 
Having Ferneze's hand, whose heart I'll have, 
Ay, and his son's too, or it shall go hard. 
[ am not of the tribe of Levi, I, 
That can so soon forget an injury. 
We Jews can fawn like spaniels when we please, 
And when we grin we bite; yet are our looks 
As innocent and harmless as a lamb's. 
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I learn'd in Florence how to kiss my hand , 

Heave up my shoulders when they call me dog, 

And duck as low as any bare-foot friar, 

Hoping to see them starve upon a stall, 

Or else be gat her'd in our synagogue, 

That, when the offering-basin comes to me, 

Even for charity, I may spit into' t. 


[ 2.3.7-291 

At [his point, Barabas would have lost the sympathy of any audience. Any­
one who spits into an offering plate is a pretty vile person. Lodowick enters and 
seeks out Barabas. He wants access to Abigail, and so he asks Barabas if he has 
a diamond to sell. Barabas, leading him on, says yes. An interesting conversa­
tion ensues, until they reach the market-place. Lodowick tags along with Barabas 
who wants to buy a slave. Barabas's repartee with the slaves is amusing and fas­
cinating . Every word Barabas utters reveals his true character. Marlowe was 
indeed a master at creating character and using the subtleties of conversation to 
pa int vivid pictures. Finally, Barabas comes upon a slave he likes. 

Barabas: Where wast thou born) 

Ithamore: In Thrace, brought up in Arabia. 

Barabas: So much the better; thou art for my turn. 


An hundred crowns) I'll have him; there's the coin. 
Gives money. 

Firsr Officer: Then mark him, sir, and take him hence. 

Barabas (aside ): Ay, mark him, you were best; for this is he 


That by my help shall do much villainy. 

(Aloud) My lord, farewell.- Come, sirrah; you are mine. 

(To Lodowick) As for the diamond, it shall be yours. 

I pray, sir, be no stranger at my house; 

All that I have shall be at your command. 


[2.3. 133-1431 

Meanwhile, Mathias and his mother Katherine enter the scene. They too 
are seeking to buy a slave. Mathias sees Lodowick conferring with Barabas. He 
senses that it is about Abigail. After Lodowick leaves, Mathias approaches 
Barabas, while his mother is looking over the slaves, and asks what they were 
talking about. Barabas answers, "We talked of diamonds, not of Abigail." Mother 
then approaches: "Tell me, Mathias, is not that the Jew'" 

Mathill s: Yes, madam, and my talk with him was 
About borrowing a book or two. 

Katheril1e: Converse not with him; he is cast off from heaven.­
Thou hast thy crowns, fclloVJ.- Come, let's away. 

Mmhias: Sirrah Jew, remember the book. 
[ 161- 1661 

Barabas now turns to his newly purchased slave, to see what he has bought. 
l3arabas asks his name, birth, condition, and profession. The slave replies that 
his name is Ithamore and that his profession is "what you please." 
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Barabas: Hast thou no trade l Then listen to my words, 
And 1 will teach thee that shall stick by thee. 
First, be thou void of these affections: 
Compassion, love, vain hope, and heartless fear; 
Be mov'd at nothing , see thou pity none, 
But to thyself smile when the Christians moan. 

lrhamore: 0, brave master' I worship your nose for this. 
Barabas: As for myself, I walk abroad a-nights, 

And kill sick people groaning under walls. 
Sometimes I go about and poison wells; '" 
Being young, I studied physic, and began 
To practice first upon the Italian; 
There I enrich'd the priests with burials, 
And always kept the sextons' arms in ure 
With digging graves and ringing dead men's knells. 
And, after that, was I an engineer, 
And in the wars 'twixt France and Germany, 
Under the pretence of helping Charles the Fifth, 
Slew friend and enemy with my strategems: 
Then after that was I an usurer, 
And with extorting, cozening, forfeiting, 
And tricks belonging unto brokef)', 
I fill'd the gaols with bankrupts in a year ... 
But tell me now, how hast thou spent thy time' 

lrhamore: Faith, master. 
In setting Christian villages on fire, 
Chaining of eunuchs, binding galley slaves. 
One time I was an hostler at an inn, 
And in the night time secretly would I steal 
To travellers' chambers, and there cut their throats. 
Once at Jerusalem, where the pilgrims kneel'd, 
I strewed powder on the marble stones, 
And wherewithal their knees would rankle so, 
That I have laugh'd a-good to see the cripples 
Go limping home to Christendom on stilts. 

1173-199,207-2181 

Barabas is delighted that he has gotten the kind of accomplice in evil he 

was looking for. Indeed, Barabas's catalog of crimes is a list of evil acts Jews were 

customarily accused of in the Middle Ages. It is also a list of Machiavellian 

strategems. And what follows in the play is a demonstration of each of these strat­

agems at work. For example, Barabas, with the help of a forged letter, manages 

to turn Lodowick and Mathias into jealous hatred of one another over Abigail 

so that they fight a duel in which both die. 

When Abigail finds out what has happened, she leaves her father and joins 

the nunnery and converts to Christianity. 

Her conversion so incenses Barabas that he manages to poison everyone at 

the nunnery, including Abigail. The scene in which Barabas prepares the poi­

son with the help of Ithamore must have mesmerized the audience. (It reminds 
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one of Boris Karloff and Peter Lorre in one of t heir ghoulish movies.) Bu t before 
Abigail dies she tells the two friars, Jacomo and Barnardine, that her father had 
poisoned rhem all. The two friars then confront Barabas. In order to save his 
skin, Barabas pleads with the friars to baptize him , offering great wealth to some 
religious hou se that would have him. The two friars wind up fighting one another 
over who should convert Barabas. Having gained time, Barabas manages to kill 
off the two friars in a plot that is both comic and demonic . 

Meanwhile, Marlowe develops a marvelous sub-plot in whi ch Ithamore 
becomes involved with Bellamira, a courtesan, who is after the Jew's gold. She 
uses her seductive talents to induce Ithamore to do her bidding . The slave is now 
madly in love, and Bellamira tells him that she will marry him. He responds with 
poetry that is very Marlowe : 

We will leave this paltry land, 
And sail from hence to Greece, to lovely Greece, 
I'll be thy Jason, thou my golden fleece; 
Where painted carpets o'er the meads are hurl'd , 
And Bacchus' vineyards overspread the world; 
Where woods and forests go in goodly green; 
I'll be Adonis, thou shalt be Love's Queen; 
The meads, the orchards, and the primrose-lanes, 
Thou in those groves, by Dis above, 
Shalt live with me, and be my love. 

[4.2.90-100J 

Echoes of Venus and Adonis and "Come live wirh me and be my love." But 
the lovers need money, and so they concoct a scheme to extort 300 crowns from 
Barabas. Ithamore wrires a letter demanding the money or else he will expose 
Barabas's crimes. Bellamira's bully attendant, Pilia - Borza , takes the letter to 
Barabas. But Barabas laughs and jeers and gives the attendant 10 crowns. Infu­
riated, Ithamore writes another letter demanding 500 crowns. 

This time Barabas decides to pay up becau se he knows that Ithamore can 
reveal his crimes. But he vows to kill them off. To do so , he will disguise him­
self as a French mu sic ian and bring them poisoned flowers. 

In Scene Four, Ithamore, drinking with Bellamira and Pilia-Borza, and 
quite drunk, reveals the crimes that he and Barabas have committed. 

lthamure: You know Mathias and the Governor's son. 
He and I killed 'em both, and yet never touched 'em .... 
I ca rried the broth that poisoned the nuns ; 
And he and I strangled a friar. 

Bellamira: You two alone ' 
rthamare: We two; and 'twas never known, nor 

never shall be for me. 
[4.4. 18-251 

Bellamira and Pilia-Borza, in an aside, decide to bring this information to 
the Governor. They also decide that this information warrants more gold from 
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Barabas . But just then, Barabas enters the scene disguised as a French musician, 
with a lute, and a poisoned nosegay in his hat. Bellamira requests the flowers, 
which Barabas happily gives her while speaking with a broken French accent. 
This is easily the funniest scene in the play, with one villain trying to do in three 
others . One has to read that scene line by line to appreciate its comic action and 
repartee. Marlowe skillfully developes character and plot in this effortless way, 
using dialogue to amuse and create suspense. The audience knows that Barabas 
will have his comeuppance. But how, we have no idea . 

After Barabas in disguise leaves the three lowlifes, Bellamira tells lthamore 
to write another letter to Barabas demanding a thousand crowns. But Ithamore 
says he will send the message by word of mouth . 

Act 5, Scene 1, opens with the Governor and First Knight making plans to 
defend Malta against Calymath, the Turk, who has come to demand tribute. But 
Bellamira and Pilia-Bori'a go to the Governor and reveal the crimes of Barabas. 
Ferenze orders his officers to bring him Barabas and lthamore. The officers 
return with both men. Barabas realizes that he didn't put sufficient poison in 
the flowers to kill them sooner, but believes they will soon die. The Governor 
puts them all in prison where they all die. The Governor orders all but Barabas 
to be buried. Barabas is thrown over the wall to be eaten by vultures. 

The Governor and his men then hasten on their mission to defend Malta. 
Barabas, now alone, awakens. He had given himself a sleeping potion. Now, 
awake, he vows revenge against the Governor by helping Calymath conquer the 
town. 

Presently Calymath enters with Bassoes and Turks and sees Barabas who 
identifies himself. 

Calymath: Art thou the Jew whose goods we heard were sold 
For tribute money1 

Barabas: The very same my lord: 
And since that time they have hir 'd a slave, my man, 
To accuse me of a thousand villanies. 
1 was imprisoned, but scap'd their hands. 

[5l.74-791 

Barabas then tells Calymath how he and his men can conquer the city by 
using the water tunnels to get inside and open the gates. "If this be true ," says 
Calymath, "['II make thee Governor." 

In the next scene, Calymath, in triumph, leads the Governor and Knights 
as prisoners. The Christians groan in defeat, and Calymath proclaims Barabas 
Governor of Malta. 

Calymath then provides Barabas with the protection of a group of lanizary 
guards, and he and his men then leave to tour the town to see "the wrack we 
made." Alone, Barabas considers his new position in Malta: 

1 now am Governor of Malta; true,­
[3ut Malta hales me, and, in haling me , 
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My life's in danger; and what boots it thee, 
Poor Barabas, to be the Governor, 
Whenas thy life shall be at their command' 

130-34 1 

Barabas orders Ferneze be brought before him. Barabas asks, 

What will thou give me, Governor, to procure 
A dissolution of the slavish bands 
Wherein the Turk hath yok'd your land and you' 
What will you give me if 1 render you 
The life of Cal ymath, surprise his men, 
And in an out-house of the city shut 
His soldiers, till I have consum'd 'em all with fire' 

177-83/ 

Freneze replies that he will raise "great sums of money for thy recompense," and 
that Barabas can even remain as Governor. Barabas responds: 

Nay, do thou this, Ferneze, and be free. 
Governor, I enlarge thee. Live with me; 
Go walk about the city, see thy friends. 
Tush, send not letters to 'em; go thy self, 
And let me see what money thou canst make. 
Here is my hand that I'll set Malta free. 
And thus we cast it: to a solemn feast 
I will invite young Selim Calymath, 
Where be thou present, only to perform 
One strategem that I'll impart to thee, 
Wherein no danger shall betide thy life, 
And I will warrant Malta free for ever. 

191-102/ 

Ferneze agrees . Meanwhile, Calymath has completed his tour of the city 
and is preparing to leave the island when he receives an invitation from Barabas 
to join the Governor in a banquet at the citadel. A banquet has also been pre­
pared for his army at an old monastery outside the city. Calymath accepts the 
invitation. 

In Scene 5, we find Barabas and the carpenters making finishing touches 
on their elaborate trap that will bring Calymath to his death. Ferneze enters 
with a hundred thousand pounds for Barabas, who is satisfied. But Barabas 
refuses to take the money until the plan is successfully carried out. He tells the 
Governor that Calymath's army will be destroyed in the old monastery which 
has been set up to explode at the appointed signal. As for Calymath and his con­
sorts, Barabas explains: 

Here have r made a uainty gall ery, 
The floor whereof, this cable being cut, 
Doth fall asunuer. so that it Joth sink 
Into a deep pit past recovery. 
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Here, hold that knife; and, when thou seest he comes, 
And with his bassoes shall be blithely set, 
A warning-piece shall be shot off from the tower, 
To give thee knowledge when to cut the cord , 
And fire the house . Say, will not this be brave' 

[55.35-4 31 

Barabas is impressed with his own ingenuity, and so is Ferneze. And as 
Calymath and his consorts come to the banquet, Barabas, the ultimate Machi­
avel, says to himself: 

Why, is not this 
A kingly kind of trade, to purchase towns 
By treachery, and sell 'em by deceit' 
Now, tell me worldlings, underneath the sun 
If greater falsehood ever has been done' 

[ 48-521 

But then Barabas's doublecross is thwarted by Ferneze's doublecross. rust 
as Calymath is about to follow Barabas up the stairs to the banquet gallery, Fer­
neze tells him to stay, "For I will show thee greater courtesy than Barabas would 
have afforded thee." A charge is sounded, and Ferneze cuts the cord. The floor 
of the gallery gives way, and Barabas falls into a cauldron placed in a pit. Barabas 
cries for help, but his fate is sealed, and he dies. 

As for CaJymath, Ferneze takes him prisoner. His men were killed when 
the monastery blew up. Ferneze explains: . 

A Jew 's courtesy. 
For he that did by treason work our fall, 
l3y treason hath deliver'd thee to us. 
Know, therefore , till thy father hath made good 
The ruins done to Malta and to us, 
Thou canst not part; for Malta shall be freed, 
Or Selim ne'er return to Ottoman .... 
So, mar..:h away; and let due praise be given, 
Neither to Fate nor Fortune, but to Heaven . 

[114-120, 129-1301 

Thus ends the play - with Christian triumph. Anyone who reads this remark­
able play can have no doubt that Marlowe was capable of writing all of the works 
in the Shakespeare canon . It is one of the masterpieces of the Elizabethan era. 

Today, of course, it would be considered anti-Semitic. While Barabas was 
the epitome of the Machiavellian villain, other Jews in the play - Abigail, the 
other Jewish merchants- were law-abiding, normal people. Marlowe also man­
aged to poke fun at the Catholic friars, which amused his Protestant audience. 
Spain's role in getting Ferneze to break his treaty with the Turks put Spain, 
England's enemy, in a bad light. While Calymath comes off as a respectable, if 
not noble, representative of the Ottoman power, Ithamore represents the true 
Moslem hostility toward Christians . 
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That Marlowe was able, so successfully, to put all of this in one play, is a 
tribute to his genius . The excerpts we quoted hardly pay service to the poetry 
throughout the work. That is why it has to be read line by line for its sheer 
artistry. However, in the climate of today, it is unlikely that we shall ever see it 
staged. 

It is also evident that the man who wrote The Jew of MalIa was quite capa­
ble of writing The Merchant of Venice years later. Both plays reflect the genius 
of one man. Harold Bloom characterizes Shylock as a "comic villain," which can 
also be said of Barabas, whose outrageous offenses border on the comic. Bloom 
further writes (pp. 171-2): 

Shakespeare's England did not exactly have a Jewish "problem" or "question" in our 
later modern terms, only about a hundred or two hundred Jews, presumably most 
of them converts to Christianity, lived in London. The Jews had been more or less 
expelled from England in 1290, three centuries before and were not to be more or 
less readmitted until Cromwell made his revolution. The unfortunate Dr. Lopez, 
Queen Elizabeth's physic ian, was hanged, drawn and quartered ... having been 
more or less framed by the Earl of Essex and so perhaps falsely accused of a plot 
to poison the Queen. A Portuguese converso, ... poor Lopez lives on as a shadowy 
provocation to the highly successful revival of Marlowe's The Jew of MalIa in 
1593-94. 

It was inevitable that Shakespeare scholars would have to compare The Jew 
of Malta to The Merchant of Venice. They would have to compare Barabas with 
Shylock. We shall have more to say about that when we do our own compari­
son and analysis la ter in this book. 
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Setting the Stage 

for Edward II and 


The Massacre at Paris 


Marlowe's last two plays, Edward II and The Massacre at Paris, are politi­
cal plays. They have more to do with Marlowe as an agent for Sir Francis Wals­
ingham and Lord Burghley than as a pure poet-playwright. In Edward II. as 
always, Marlowe announces his theme in the opening lines, in which Gaveston, 
the king's favorite, has just received word that the king's father, who had ban ­
ished him, is dead, and that Gaveston can once more take his place beside Edward 
II and share ruling the kingdom. The rest of the play is about how the king's 
obsession with his favorite finally leads to open rebellion, the alienation of the 
Queen, the favorite's death and the king's murder. 

Marlowe got the basic facts about the real Edward II, whose reign began in 
1307, from the second edition of Holinshed's Chronicle (1587). But he added 
much more of his own creation to the bare facts of the historical Edward. The 
reason for this is quite evident once one becomes aware of what was happening 
politically in England and Scotland. 

The Massacre at Paris is based on the actual events, which took place in 
August of 1572. The event solidified Protestant opposition to any thought of a 
return to Catholic rule by Mary Queen of Scots. But in order to understand the 
context in which all of this came about, a brief review of the Scottish queen's 
tragic life provides the needed background. 

After the execution of Mary Queen of Scots, all of Elizabeth's attention 
turned toward M;Jry's son, j;Jmes VI of Scotland, who had become the most 
direct successor to the English throne after Elizabeth. The Act of Succession of 
1543 provided for the succession to the throne of Henry the Eighth's three chil­
dren, Edward (son of Jane Seymour), Mary Tudor (daughter of Catherine of 
Aragon), ilnd Elizabeth (daughter of Anne Boleyn) in thilt order. But since Eliz­
abeth had borne no heir, the next in line was Mary Stuart's son James. I\nd so, 

122 
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Walsingham and Burghley spent much time finding out what the young king was 
like in the context of a continuing struggle between Catholics and Reformers in 
Scotland aided and abetted by his mother's French connection. James had been 
born in 1566 and educated by James Buchanan . Scotland's most learned Calvin­
ist tutor. Thus, he was very well educated. He was 21 when his mother was exe­
cuted in 1587. 

James had become ki ng at 13 mon t hs of age after his mother, 1I nder duress, 
abdicated the throne in 1567. He was crowned on July 29, 1567, in the Protes­
tant church just outside the gates of Stirling Castle. James's mother. born in 
1542. was the daughter of King James V of Scotland, and Mary of Guise. a devout 
Catholic from a noble French house that produced nuns. abbots. abbesses, and 
cardinals. Mary Stuart was born just before her father died. Thus she became 
Queen of Scotland before she was a week old . 

Henry the Eighth saw the newly born Mary Stuart as an ideal match for his 
son Edward, who became king after Henry's death. But Edward died in 1553 
when Mary Stuart was eleven years old. [n any case, Mary's mother would have 
never approved of the marriage since Edward was Protestant and Mary Stuart 
was Catholic. Indeed, Mary of Guise had sent her young daughter to France to 
live in the home of Henri II and Catherine de Medici and be educated by her 
Guise relatives in the Catholic faith . 

Mary of Guise remained in Scotland as Regent and protector of her daugh­
ter's throne. [n France, Mary Stuart was betrothed to the Dauphin, born in 1544. 
In April 1558, at age 16, Mary Stuart married the Dauphin at the Cathedral of 
Notre Dame, the very same cathedral in which her mother and father (he by 
proxy) had been married twenty years before. 

On November 17, 1558, Ca tholic Mary Tudor. " Bloody Mary," Queen of 
England. died leaving no children. Her throne was inherited by her 25-year-old 
half-sister Elizabeth. a Protestant. Because Eli zabeth was a Protestant, and the 
Vatican did not recognize the divorce of Henry VIII from Catherine of Aragon 
or his marriage to Anne Boleyn, the Vatican considered Elizabeth to be lilegit­
imate and therefore barred from succeeding her sister to the throne. With that 
break in the succession. Mary Stuart would have been the rightful Catholic heir 
to the throne. 

At that juncture. King Henri II of France formally caused his daughter-in ­
law to be proclaimed Queen of England, Ireland and Scotland. This very polit­
ical act on the part of the French king was to be !lung in Mary Stuart's face for 
the rest of her life. What's more, in order to guaran tee French protect ion of her 
throne, Mary signed several Secret Treaties that made Scotland subordinate to 
France. 

In June 1558, Henri II was killed in a horrible tournament accident. His 
son, the Dauphin, was crowned Francis II at Rheims . ivlary Stuart became Queen 
of France . A great seal was struck bearing the royal figures of Francis and Mary. 
King and Queen of the French, Sco ttish , English, and Iri sh, dated 1559. 

But the reign of Francis II did not last long. Always sickly, he died fifteen 
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months later in December 1560. His younger brother, at age 10, became Charles 
IX , with his mother Catherine de Medici ruling as Regent. Meanwhile, Mary's 
mother had died in June of that year. By now. Mary was eighteen years old. and 
she had no choice but to return to Scotland. But before returning. Mary offered 
to marry Don Carlos. heir to the Spanish throne. A Spanish-Scottish alliance 
would not only bring Scotland back into the Vatican fold but would make it pos­
sible for Mary to gain the English throne. But the Spanish king, unwilling to get 
on the bad side of Elizabeth, chose someone else for his son. 

Returning to Scotland in August 1561, Mary was welcomed with proces­
sions. pageants and banquets . Although Scotland had become officially Protes­
tant by edict of Parliament in August 1560. Mary announced that as Queen of 
all the Scots she would be tolerant of all religious factions. 

By 1563. Mary began to look for a husband 111 earnest. Elizabeth suggested 
that Mary consider Henry Stewart. Lord Darnley. the young, handsome son of 
the Earl of Lennox. Lennox had been exiled to England. where his son had been 
brought up. Mary had already met Darnley when he came to the French court 
on an official visit of condolence in 1561. Then he was only 15 . a descendant of 
King James IV of Scotland and Henry VII of England, and also a Catholic. Thus, 
in Elizabeth's eyes. it seemed that he was a perfect match for her Scottish cousin. 

When Darnley visited Mary in early 1564 , he was over six feet tall and phys­
ically very attractive. Mary fell in love, and they were finally married in July 1565. 
in a Catholic ceremony. after which Mary proclaimed the 19-year-oJd bride­
groom Henry Stewart, Earl of Ross and Duke of Albany. King of Scots. But John 
Knox, the intrepid leader of the Reformed church. preached a scathing sermon 
against the ruling couple. Knox. an ardent Calvinist. insisted that the sovereigns 
were subject to the sovereignty of God and not merely their own kingly rule. [n 
addi tion, Elizabeth had a change of heart and disa pproved of the marriage. 

Objecting to this Catholic match. the queen's Protestant half-brother, the 
Earl of Moray. one of her father's bastards. declared himself an enemy of the 
Catholic Lennoxes. This led Mary to establish relations with the Vatican in an 
effort to get a Papal subsidy. She also began to alienate the nobles by creating a 
sort of middle-class bureaucracy to run her affairs at court. Also, she engaged 
a 35-year-old hunchbacked Italian. David Riccio, a musician from Savoy, who 
then became her secretary. The Protestant nobles were convinced that he was an 
agent of the Pope. 

Meanwhile. Darnley turned out to be a very ineffectual king. preferring the 
hunt to dull kingly business. The marriage lost its bloom. and Darnley began to 
drink heavily and behave badly. By December. the queen was pregnant with the 
future James VI who was born on June 19, 1566. 

Aware of the Protestant opposition to her ruk. the queen intended to use 
a session of Parliament to confiscate the lands of the Protestant rebels and put 
Catholics on an equal footing with Protestants. But the Protestants knew that 
mutual toleration between the two religions was impossible. Either one or the 
other must rule. And so, in order to stop the Parliamentary process, a group of 
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these rebellious nobles conspired to get rid of Mary and have Oarnley rule as 
king. The queen's husband had been brought into the conspiracy by being told 
that it was Riccio who had caused Mary's pregnancy, not he, which was patently 
fal se. 

All of this culiminated on March 9, 1566, when the conspirators invaded 
Mary's apartment at Holyrood during supper and killed Riccio. The poor hunch­
back died of over fifty stab wounds . Mary survived the assault. The conspira­
tors' plan was to imprison the queen until she gave birth. However, she was able 
to beat them at their own game. She was able to persuade guilt-ridden Oarnley 
to help her. He had begged for her forgiveness. They were able to escape Holy­
rood and rode through the night to Dunbar Castle where the queen was able to 
assemble a force of 8,000 men to defend her. 

The murder of Riccio was an important turning point in the life of the Scot­
tish queen . She rescued Riccio's body from a common grave and had it reburied 
according to the Catholic rite in the royal chapel. By now, what had been love 
for Oarnley had turned to bitter hatred. Yet she was obliged to pretend before 
the public that her husband was innocent. She wanted a state of normalcy to 
prevail until the child could be born . 

Meanwhile, she turned to the one man whose loyalty she could always count 
on, notably James Hepburn, Earl of Bothwell, and she made him her chief advi­
sor. Bothwell , born in 1536, inher ited his father 's titles, lands, and hereditary 
offices in 1556. Though a Protestant, he had supported the government of Mary's 
mother, and supported Mary as Queen when she returned to Scotland. As Lord 
Burghley observed, Bothwell was "as naughty a man as liveth and much given 
to the most detestable vices .. . as false as a devil. " Burghley was no doubt refer­
ring to Bothwell's not orious wom anizing. 

On June 19, 1566, after much painful labor, the Queen of Scots gave birth 
to a healthy male child who would one day rule England and Scotland. The birth 
of a male heir was greeted with great rejoicing in Edinburgh, but with a sense 
of bitterness by Elizabeth. The birth of James enhanced Mary's merits as a legit­
imate heir to the English throne. 

Meanwhile, as Mary's distaste o f her husband grew more intense, her affec ­
tion toward Bothwell grew stronger. In October of 1566, Mar y fell violently ill, 
and it was thought she would die. But, miraculously, she recovered . However, 
she feared that had she died , Darnley would have grabbed the throne. In fact, 
she feared that DarnJey might conspire to kill her in order to rule without her. 
Mary made it known to the Protestant nobles, her protectors, that she longed 
to be free o f Darnlq', and they obliged by forming a bond to murder him . 

On December 17, 1566, the future James I of England was baptised in a 
Catholic rite at the chapel in Stirling Castle in an extravagant ceremon y. He was 
barely six months old. Meanwhile, Darnley, who did not attend his son's bap­
tis m, took himself to Glasgow where he became ill with syphilis . 

On January 20,1567, Mary went to Glasgow and brought her sick husband 
back to Edinburgh. Because he needed constant bath s to improve his condition, 
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Darnley chose to stay at a large house on the outskirts of Edinburgh known as 
Kirk o'Field. 

What happened then has been the subject of endless speculation to this very 
day. As Mary's biograp her , Antonia Fraser, writes: "The unreliability of the dep­
ositions, many of them made under torture, and the political 're-writing' of his­
tory which went on at the time of Mary's trial mean s that the detailed story of 
Kirk o'Field can only be guessed at, or pieced together, rather than established 
with total certainty" (p. 289). 

After the Protestant nobles had decided to murder Darnley, the problem 
became of how to do it. They decided to fill the room beneath Darnley's bed­
room with gunpowder and blow him up . But shortly before the explosion was 
to take place, something alerted Darnley to danger, and he and his servant got 
out of the house, which immediately exploded. But the conspirators, surround­
ing the house, grabbed Darnley and his servant as they were escaping, and stran­
gled them to death. 

One can imagine the turmoil that broke out in Edinburgh when it became 
known that the King of Scotland had been murdered . The Queen was beside her­
self. First, her secretary Riccio and now her husband had been murdered within 
a year, not by low assassins, but by the chief men of the kingdom . Even though 
she had wished to be rid of Darnley, whom she suspected of plotting against her 
own life, she no doubt would have objected to the way it was done . Neverthe­
less, in her letters to France she claimed that she too had been the target of assas­
sination and was saved only by a miracle. 

Bothwell became the prime suspect behind the conspiracy, and even though 
he had superintended all the preparations for the explosion on the night of the 
crime, February 9,1567, he feigned innocence and in April was tried and declared 
not guilty. 

Bothwell's power was now at its height, and the prospect of becoming King 
of Scotland was indeed intoxicating, and all he had to do to get there was marry 
the newly widowed Queen. But to do so, he needed the support of his fellow 
nobles. He drew up a document urging the Queen to choose the strong and res­
olute Bothwell to fill the vacancy provided by Darnley's death . Eight bishops, 
nine earls and seven barons signed the bond. 

But the Queen refused the proposal, as Fraser narrates, "on the grounds that 
there were too many scandals about her husband's death, despite the fact that 
Bothwell had been legally acquitted of complicity by Parliament." 

And so, Bothwell, undaunted, decided to take matters into his own hands. 
With a force of 800 men, Bothwell abducted the Queen while she was traveling 
from Stirling to Edinburgh. The weakened Queen willingly rode with Bothwell 
to Dunbar Castle where she was ravished by her abductor. In short, Bothwell 
had put the Queen in a situation where she had no choice but to marry him . 
Thus, three weeks later, on May IS, 1567, Bothwell became Mary's third hus­
band and the King of Scotland. 

But now, the nobles - both Protestant and Catholic - who had favored the 
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marriage, strongly disapproved of Bothwell's abduction and ravishing of the 
Queen. They now urged Mary not to marry Bothwell. But she was so much 
under Bothwe.II's spell, that she indeed did marry him over the objections of the 
lords. 

The reactions of Elizabeth and the French to Mary's marriage was that she 
"had totally lost her head in thus allowing herself to be wedded to the disrep­
utable Bothwell." During the five weeks as consort to the Queen, Bothwell 
behaved well, projecting a sense of order and stability. The Queen even reiter­
ated her commitment to religious toleration. 

Meanwhile, Bothwell's fellow nobles were seething in rebellion against their 
new king. Matters came to a head on June 15, 1567, when the armed forces of 
the rebels confronted the royal forces of Mary and Bothwell. The rebels urged 
Mary to abandon Bothwell. She refused. However, in order to avoid bloodshed, 
a compromise was arranged. Bothwell would be given a safe-conduct to return 
to Dunbar, while the Queen would remain with the rebels. Thus, Mary and 
Bothwell, after a warm and emotional embrace, were separated, never to see each 
other again. 

Mary's surrender to the rebels caused her even greater pain as she was 
assailed as an adultress who had become the willing bride of a murderer. She was 
imprisoned at Lochleven Castle where she awaited her fate. Bothwell, at liberty, 
tried to organize a force to rescue Mary. But when he was officially called to 
answer for murdering Darnley, kidnapping the Queen, making her promise to 
marry him, and failed to answer the call, whatever support he had rallied rap­
idly melted away. Bothwell was now being hunted as a fugitive from justice. 

Mary was now being urged to divorce Bothwell. But she refused. She did 
not want to compromise the legitimacy of her unborn child who would be con­
sidered a bastard and thus illegitimate. However, the Queen, in her fourteenth 
week of pregnancy, miscarried what turned out to be tWIl1S. 

Her captors were now determined to have Mary abdicate the throne in 
favor of her infant son. She refused. They threatened to kill her. And so, on July 
29,1567, Mary signed the papers of abdication and the infant James was crowned 
king. Her half-brother, the Earl of Moray, became regent. Meanwhile, Bothwell 
was able to evade capture and escaped to Norway. 

To justify Mary's continued imprisonment, Mary was herself publicly 
blamed for the death of Darnley. But the Scots people could see for themselves 
that many nobles, far more intimately involved in the crime than Mary, were 
now running the government. In the meantime, all of the lesser individuals 
involved in the murder of Darnley were publicly executed. 

Meanwhile, Mary was determined to escape from Lochleven Castle, which 
was located on an island in the middle of the lake. The laird of the castle was 
Sir William Douglas, half-brother of the Earl of Moray. They had the same 
mother, Margaret Erskine, but not the same father. His father was Robert Doug­
las, nephew of the Earl of Mar, his mother's brother. 

The residents at the castle included the laird, his wife, Lady Douglas, two 
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young Douglas girls, aged 14 and 15 , the laird's mother, and a younger brother , 
George Douglas , a handsome young man who virtually fell in love with the 24­
year-old Mary the moment he met her. According to Fraser , "The young man 
was personable and gallant, and only too happy to see in his sovereign a frail 
and helpless woman, the victim of a cruel fat e. Her fragile beauty drawn with 
suffering, coupled with her romantic history, could not fail to move him fur­
ther; Cecil [Lord BurghleyJ said afterward s that he fell into 'a fantasy of love' 
with the queen." 

The queen wrote letters to Elizabeth and her former mother-in-law Cather­
ine de Medici for help in escaping the island. But it was with George Douglas's 
help that Mary was finally able to escape from the castle prison. In the late spring, 
Lady Douglas gave birth to a child, which relaxed surveillance over Mary. The 
key to a successful escape was getting off the island to the mainland . An elabo­
rate escape plot was hatched by George Douglas with the help of several con­
federates, including Willy Douglas, an orphaned cousin of the Douglases, who 
quickly became devoted to Mary. Thus , on May 2, after ten and a half months 
of captivity, Mary was smuggled off the island on a small boat and aaoeL was 
finally free. 

News of Mary's escape rallied her supporters throughout Scotland, partic­
ularly in the west. The Regent Moray was outraged. But in her des ire to be 
restored to her throne at all costs, Mary was prepared to negotiate with Moray, 
her once-loved half-brother, who rejected the idea. By then Mary's army of sup­
porters had grown to 6,000 as opposed to Moray's 4,000. A battle was fought in 
the village of Langside where Mary's army, for a variety of reasons, was badly 
beaten. 

Mary, who had watched the battle on horseback from a nearby hill, was 
forced to flee. She fled into the southwestern territories that were still strongly 
Catholic. Reaching the Maxwell castle at Terregles, Mary had a brief moment 
in which to decide whether to remain in Scotland, go to France, or seek refuge 
in England. She chose England because she believed that Elizabeth would help 
her. 

Thus, on May 16, Mary, with a small party of loyalists. embarked on a small 
fishing boat to England. They arrived at the small port of Working ton that eve­
ning . The deputy governor, warned in advance of Mary's arrival, had her installed 
in semi-captivity at Carlisle castle. Mary's hope was that Elizabeth would pro­
vide her with an army that would enable her to recover the throne in Scotland. 

But Elizabeth's advisers were in a quandary. If they refused to help her 
retrieve her throne, at Moray's expense, and she remained at liberty in England, 
she would become the focus of Catholic loyalty. If they permitted her to go to 
france, that might lead to a French invasion of Scotland and the overthrow of 
the Protestant regime . And then there W<JS the unresolved matter of Darnley's 
murder. It provided Elil.abeth with the pretext for not receiving Mary at court 
and keepi ng her can fined as <J guest - C3 pt ive. 

EI il.abet h insisted t ha t Mar)' subject hersel r to :I t rial to determi ne whet her 
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or not she was responsible for Darnley's death. An investigatory trial lOok place 
at Westminster, which ended on January II, 1569, with neither side having won. 
Moray had brought incriminating documents from Scotland, including the infa­
mous "Casket Letters," while Mary's commissioners testified in her defense. 
Mary herself had not been permitted to travel to London to plead her case. The 
verdict of the tribunal was that neither party had been able to prove sufficiently 
anything against the other. 

As a result of the non-verdict, Mary became a prisoner of Elizabeth's for 
the indefinite future. She was considered too dangerous to be set free. She was 
moved from Bolton to Tutbury Castle in Staffordshire where Elizabeth appointed 
George Talbot, Earl of Shrewsbury, to be her jailer. 

Meanwhile, it was thought that a marriage with a Protestant Englishman 
might open the door to Mary's freedom and return to the Scottish throne. The 
potential bridegroom was widower Thomas Howard, Fourth Duke of Norfolk, 
aged 33. The marriage negotiations were conducted in strict secrecy from Eliz­
abeth. But when Elizabeth found out, she was enraged. She imprisoned Norfolk 
in the Tower. 

On January 11,1570, Moray was assassinated in Edinburgh by a Hamilton, 
one of Moray's most vicious enemies. James's grandfather, Lennox, was chosen 
as the new Regent. Mary then tried to reestablish contact with her son, but James 
had been told that his mother had cold-bloodedly murdered his father to marry 
her lover. 

Norfolk was released from the Tower in August 1570 and immediately 
became involved in the Ridolfi plot, a highly impractical scheme dreamed up by 
an Italian banker based in London. It involved an invasion of England by Span­
ish troops from the Netherlands, an uprising of Catholics in England, Norfolk's 
marriage to Mary, the imprisonment of Elizabeth, and the placement of Mary 
on the English throne. 

But the plot was uncovered . Norfolk was arrested, tried for treason in Jan­
uary 1572 and executed in June . As Antonia Fraser put it: "Mary was now seen 
as a foreign-born Catholic spider, sitting in the centre of England spinning her 
webs in order to depose the English Protestant queen." 

But what happened laler in France shocked English Protestants and sealed 
Mary's fate as a permanent prisoner in England. 
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The Massacre at Paris 
and Philip Sidney 

A brief but excellent summary of the horrendous SI. Bartholomew's Day 
Massacre in Paris, which began on August 24,1572, and in which thousands of 
Huguenots were slaughtered, is given in the Eleventh Edition of the Encyclope­
dia Britannica as follows: 

The initiative for the crime rests with Catherine de Medici. Irritated and disq uieted 
by the growing influence of Admiral Coligny, who against her wishes was endeav­
ouring to draw Charles IX into a war with Spain, she resolved at first to have him 
assassinated. The blow failed, and the admiral '''as only wounded. The attempt , 
however, infuriated the Hugut' nots, who had !locked to Paris for the wedding of 
Henry of N<l varre and J\.Llrgucritc de V,linis . Charles IX decla red that the assassin 
should rec ei ve condign punishment. Catherine then (()nceived the idea of killing 
at a blow all the Hugu enot \caders, and of definitely ruining the Protestant part y. 
After holding a council with the Cat holic leade rs, including the duke of Anjou, 
Henr y of Gui se, the marshal de 'i'avannes, the duke of Nevers, and Rene de l3irague, 
the keeper of the seals, she persuadeu the king that the massacre was a measure of 
public sa fet y, and on the even ing of the 23rd of August succeeded in wringing his 
authorization from him ... The massacre began on Sunday at daybreak, and contin­
ued in Par is till the 17th of September. Once let loose, it was impossible to restrain 
the Catholic populace. From Pari s the massacre spread to the provinces till the 3rd 
of October.... Francois Hotman estimates the number killed in the whole of France 
at 50,000. 

It so happened that Eliz.abeth's ambassador at Pari s at that time was Sir 
Francis Walsingham, who was able to recount fi rs t-hand the frightful events that 
took place. Visiting Walshingham was Sir Philip Sidney. All of the perpetrators 
of the crime were Mary Stuart's relatives, her former mother-in-law, her former 
brother-in-law, and members of the Guise family. 

Although Mary Stuart had nothing to do with the massacre, neve rtheless 
it reflected on her reputation as a devout Catholic, cha llenging Elizabeth as the 
rightful occupant of the English throne. She was seen as an ally of the murder­
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ers of the Huguenots. Indeed, Catherine de Medici received the congratulations 
of all the Catholic powers, and Pope Gregory XIII commanded bonfires to be 
lighted and a medal to be struck. 

It is generally believed that The Massacre at Paris was the last play written 
by Marlowe under his own name. According to Henslowe's Diary, its first per­
formance took place on January 30, 1593, after which the theatres were closed 
because of the plague. The play was again performed in June, July, and Septem­
ber of 1594. 

The plot is virtually a straightforward but compressed retelling of the hor­
rible events that took place in Paris, to which Sir Francis Walsingham and the 
IS-year-old Philip Sidney were witnesses. The characters were not fiction but 
the actual people involved. Emma Marshall Denkinger, in her biography, Immor­

tal Sidney, writes: 

[t was two hours after midnight on the morning of Sunday, August 24. Shortly, 
with dawn, would come the fcast of Saint Bartholon1t'w. Suddenly the great bell of 
Saint Germain l'Auxerrois hegJn 10 1011. Sllon every steeple in Paris had taken up 
the sound. The air \vas ashiver with brazen banging - the signal for the massacre! 

Out of the darkness, candles blazed up at casements. The streets must be light, 
lest the Huguenots escape, lest Catholics be slain. To guard against that, the mur­
derers wore white crosses on their hats, and on their arms, white kerchiefs .... 

In the forefront of the assassins was the Duke of Guise. Hastening to the 
Admiral's dwelling, he ordered his servants to go in and kill Coligny. When the 
fellow threw down the corpse, the Duke turned it over with his foot. He wanted no 
mistake this time! Then, satisfied as to his own vengeance, he went on to wholesale 
public slaughters.... 

t\ mile out of the city in the Faubourg-Saint-Germain, the tocsin was not 
heard .... While Paris was reeling in carnage, the household ofWalsingham slepl. ... 
nut as the dull day dawned, the noise of confused shots, of cries, of church bells 
ringing at unaccountable times caused Walsingham to send a servant to ... discover 
what was happening 

llefore evening, Walsingham's house was crowded with English refugees ... All 
were terrilied. Each group had its tale of atrocities ... . lIy now there were many dead 
in the lanes and gardens of fauhourg-Saint-Cermain. 

The massacre would haunt Walsinghdlll and Sidney for the rest of their lives­
ami also Christopher Marlowe. As Sidney's pagl:, the young Christopher Mar­
lowe was also able to experience the massacre first hand. 

Young aristocrats like Sidney, when they embarked on a European tour, 
usually hJd a page to tJke (are of the many chores involved in travel. Marlowe 
was at the right age to be such a boy servant. It certainly solves the problem of 
wondering where young Marlowe was before he entered the King's School in 

Can terbury. 
If young Marlowe was, indeed, part of Sidney's retinue, he may have also 

known Nicholas Faunt, a Cant('rburian, who knew the Marlowes and was work­
ing for Francis Walsingharn as a courier. It was Faunt who brought back to Eli%­
abdh an eye -witness account of the massacre. And so, Marlowe too would not 
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only have witnessed the massacre, of which he later wrote a play, but he would 
have traveled with Sidney on the rest of his tour. Sidney, a devout Calvinist, was 
going to meet the most important Protestants of Europe. 

Philip Sidney, the son of Sir Henry Sidney, was also a Dudley through his 
mother, who was the daughter of John Dudley, the Duke of Northumberland. 
It was he who was executed for his role in the attempt to put his son Guildford 
on the throne with Lady Jane Grey in place of Catholic Mary Tudor who was set 
to succeed her brother Edward VI. But Mary, with much popular support, won 
the battle of succession and executed Northumberland, his son and Lad y Jane 
Grey. The rest of Northumberland's sons- Robert, Ambrose, John, and Henry ­
were spared. Sidney'S uncle Robert Dudley became Earl of Leicester , Elizabeth's 
legendary favorite . 

Robert Dudley and Elizabeth were both born on the same day and in the 
same hour. Together they had been Mary's prisoners in the Tower. Thus , they 
were intimate childhood friends . And when Elizabeth became Queen she chose 
Dudley as her closest advisor and Master of the Queen's Horse . 

While in Paris, before the Massacre, Philip was able to meet a brilliant group 
of people, including staunch Calvinist Admiral Coligny, Petrus Ramus , the 
French philosopher whose interpretation of Aristotle had made him famous 
throughout Europe, and Hubert Languet, a scholar and statesmen, who had 
lived in Denmark and Lapland and was something of a citizen of the world . He 
and Philip became fast friends. Languet took a strong interest in Sid ney, in whom 
he saw "a store of purest gold ." His biographer writes: "Philip loved him devout­
edly, enough to endure all the good advice. And never was the mind of a youth 
shaped by pressures of greater dignity." There were other influences as well. 
Denkinger writes (p. 57): 

This Philip was no ordinary young man' With a mind as open, he was hearing 
Francois Hotman enuncia te certain thoughts with regard to free governments 
which would find an echo in a French Revolution centuries later. He was hearing 
Philippe de Mornay voice ideas on tyrants which would annoy Stuarts yet unborn , 
thanks to a pernicious theor y to the effect that if a monarch did not behave himself. 
he might be eliminated, with propriety. 

Of course, that was pure, unadulterated Calvinism. I f young Marlowe was 
in a position to overhear some of these conversations anel observe how these great 
men behaved, he 100 was learning far more than he would have ever learned in 

his father's shop. 
In September 1572 Sidney and his retinue left Paris. After making their way 

through the Vosges mountains and the Rhine valley, they reached their first des­
tination, Frankfurt, Germany, where Languet was already there to greet him . 
Denkinger writes: 

Fittingly enough, while Philip remained there, he and Languet resided with the 
printer Andreas Wechel, a line old humanist in his sixties. Like tht!m, he had 
esca ped Bartholomew. He had known Philip's honored friend, Ramus, in Paris 
\,-here he printed all his works. 
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Scholars from all ovcr the world came to 'Nechel's shop, ,\s other men met at 
inns to drink and gloat over the da y's adventures, scholars foregathered here. 

And so, Sidney, Languet and Wechel spent the ensuing fall and winter weeks 
reading, discussing, learning, Sidney, and possibly young Marlowe, were the 
beneficiaries of this lively intellectual atmosphere . 

When the warmer months came in 1573, Languet was summoned to the 
imperial court in Vienna, He urged Philip to come with him. But Philip first 
wanted to visit the University of Heidelberg where he met Henri Etienne who 
had spread the New Learning throughout France . They became fast friends. They 
traveled together to Strassburg where Etienne gave Philip his famous edition of 
Plato in three volumes, From there Philip journeyed to Basle, where he paid 
hommage at the tomb of Erasmus. He finally reached Vienna in September 1573. 

No sooner was he in Vienna than he told Languet that he longed to go to 
Italy with his young friends. Protestants regarded Italy as a hotbed of moral cor­
ruption. Languet was concerned that Philip was too young for such a journey, 
but finally gave his consent. Denkinger writes: 

When he finally took leave of languet in his long furred gown, Philip carried 
south with him many injunctions dnd warnings, He must take care of what he ate, 
and drank, He must write regularly, Above all, he must not return the "Italianate 
Englishman," who was the very devil incarnate , wearing ruffs of immoral cut, 
swearing strange oaths, and practising "foreign" VICes, 

In Venice Philip was taken in hand by the Count of Hanau, He was the per­
fect guide to a city of great art and history, In 1571, Venice rose to defend Fam­
agusta and a few months later defeated the Turk at Lepanto. Nevertheless, Venice 
was forced to cede Cyprus to the Turk and also pay indemnity, 

On February 26, 1574 Philip sat for his portrait by Paolo Veronese. The 
painting took three days, Languet considered it elegant. From Venice, Philip 
went to Genoa and Florence, In Padua Philip took a house where he could study. 
Walsingham had studied law at the University, and a number of Englishmen 
were in residence . In November 1574, Philip journeyed to Poland, but then spent 
the winter in Vienna. There time passed quickly with Languet directing his stud­
ies. The Emperor's esquire of the stable, Pugliano, trained Philip for tilt of which 
he was to become quite adept. 

In March of 1575 Philip began his journey back to England. By the last day 
of May he was in An twerp wai t i ng for the sh i p home, H is bags were full of books 
~lJ1d maps, which young Marlowe no doubt helped care for, The young future 
playwright was 11 years old, and vtrtuall), everything he learned by accompany­
ing the emint·ntl), Intelligent Jnd II1tcrl'sting I)hilip Sidney would find itself in 
his future plays, 

Back in England, young Marlowe probably remained in service to Sidney 
and lived in the family mansion in London or at Penshurst. tvleanwhile, Uncle 
Robert, the Earl of Leicester, brought Sidney to court where he became one of 
Elizabeth 's u)urtiers as royal cupbearer. Marlowe was no doubt at hi s master's 
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beck and call during this period, which enabled him to observe Gloriana's court 
life in all its pageantry and follies. 

One of the great occasions that the II-year-old Marlowe probably attended 
as Sidney 's page was the great party that Leicester threw for Elizabeth at Kenil­
worth in July 1575 during the Queen's summer progress. The romantic gaieties, 
the ambrosial feasts, the ceremonious devotion to the Queen, the sparkJing enter­
tainments, the merrymaking, the idyllic twilight interludes with exquisite music 
and dance will all be found years later in a play called A Midsummer Night's 
Dream. 

In February 1577, Sidney once more had the occasion to travel to the Con­
tinent. Elizabeth had ordered him to condole the death of Maximilian II in 
Vienna. Among his suite were two of his closest friends, Edward Dyer and Fulke 
Greville. As ambassador of the Queen, his train was richly appointed . Denkinger 
writes (p. 112): 

A number of Elizabeth's most practised diplomats swelled his splendid train, since 
she believed in impressing the neighbors, especially when she could do so for mere 
"board wages" and horse hire. As fine as money (and credit) could make him, 
Philip went forth in all the magnificence due to his magnificent mistress and his 
quite as magnificent uncle . 

Their first stop was Brussels. A few days later Sidney rode over to Louvain 
to see Don John of Austria, the handsome bastard brother of Philip II who was 
now Viceroy In the Low Countries. He had defeated the Turk at Lepanto six years 
earlier and had become the idol of Catholic Europe. Denkinger writes (p. 113): 

Sidney's impressions of Don John have not come down to us . But he must have 
been stirred by the sight of this man who at Lepanto had traveled from galley to 
galley in a tiny frigate, standing in the prow in light armor with a crucifix in his 
hand, heartening his Christian hordes against the terrible Turk. 

Two weeks later, in Heidelberg, Sidney wrote Walsingham that Don John 
was talking of marrying Mary Queen of Scots and stirring up trouble in England. 
But Don John died suddenly before his plan could be fulfilled. 

Part of Sidney'S mission was to study the new incumbents of thrones, to 
observe conditions in Germany and the Empire, and to report on the prospects 
of a league of the Protestant princes of Europe. The party reached Vienna in 
April 1577, and Sidney paid his respects to Maximilian's widow, the Empress 
Maria. He then proceeded to see if the projected League was a possibility. 
Denkinger writes: (p. 116): 

On May 1st, 1577 he had a conference with Prince Lodowick, the new Elector of the 
Rhine . Bad feeling between hi s brother who was a Lutheran and Casimir ,,,ho like 
the dead father was a Calvinist, threatened an immediate rupture. When Sidney 
saw him, Lodowick was industriously uprooting Calvinism. 

Sidney concluded that the disunity among the princes made a league of 
Protestant princes an unlikely prospect. But he had opened the way for further 
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negotiations. Just as he was about to leave, Sidney received orders to visit the 
PrInce of Orange at Certruidenhcrg In rh", l.ow Coulltries. He found the prince, 
who was rht' power ht'hlnd the Dutch re'ht'ls, to he of Puritan simplicity, with a 
depth of religious faith Sidney hoped to emulate. 

13y June 10, 1577, Sidney was home, and we suppose Marlowe was also. At 
age 13, Sidney must have talked with hiS highly Intelligent young page about his 
future education. He probably had heen informed that young Christopher was 
eligible for a scholarshif) at the King's School in Canterbury. The scholarships 
were offered to worthy boys from poor families aged 9 to 15. Marlowe obtained 
his scholarship on January 14, 1578/9 and began studies in the Michaelmas term 
of 1578/9. And so, Marlowe got his scholarship rather late at age 14, having 
stayed with Sidney as long as he could. 

But we can imagine the incredible experience and knowledge of language 
and geography that Marlowe brought with him when he entered the King's 
School. By then, the young poet had gotten to know some of the most influen­
tial people in the artistocracy. Through Sidney he had gotten to know Walsing­
ham, Leicester, 13urghley, Greville, Dyer, Sidney's little sister Mary who married 
Henry Herbert, Earl of Pembroke, and who knows who else. And much of what 
he learned and experienced would wind up in his future plays. 

As for The Massacre at Paris, it was no doubt written as literary propaganda 
in the ongoing war between Protestants and Catholics in England in which Mar­
lowe had played his part as an agent for Walsingham and Burghley. The English 
public had to be reminded of what had happened in 1572 when Protestant men 
of honor were murdered by the perfidious Catholics in their quest for political 
power. The message was that Catholics must never be permitted to gain the 
throne of England. 

The play opens in Paris, with the French king, Charles, praising the mar­
riage between the J-]uguenot King 01' Navarre and Catholic Margaret of Valois 
as a sign of a religious league bcrween the two factions. 

'The Duke of Guise, the mastermind hehind the massacre along with Cather­
ine de Medici, enters lfl Scene Two, and In a lengthy soliloquy reveals his evil 
philosophy of politics. He says: 

Now, Guise, begins those dcep-engender'd thoughts 

To burst abroad those never-dying flames 

Which cannot be extinguish'd but by blood. 

Oft have J levdl'd, and dt last have learn'd 

That peril is the chiefest way to happiness, 

And resolution honour's fairest aim. 

What glory is there in a common good 

That hangs for every peasant to achieve) 

That like J best that flies beyond my reach ... 

For this, this head, this heart, this hanJ and sword, 

Contrives, imagines, anJ lully executes 

!\·Iatters of import, aim'J at by many, 

Yet understood hy nOIle' ... 
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The Mother Queen works wonders for my sake 

And in my love entombs the hope of France, 

Rifling the bowels of her treasury, 

To supply my wants and necessity .... 

Then, Guise, since thou hast all the cards within thy hands 

To shuffle or cut, take this as surest thing; 

That, right or wrong , thou deal thyself king .... 

The plot is laid, and things shall come to pass 

Where resolution strives for victory. 


III. 31-39, 49-52, 73- 76, 85-87, 104-1051 

The massacre takes place as planned. There is a gruesome scene in which 
Admiral Coligny is brutally murdered. Marlowe also provides us with a harrow­
ing scene in which the philosopher Ramus, the friend of Philip Sidney, is bru­
tally stabbed to death on orders from the Guise. 

As a result of the massacre, King Charles dies of remorse and is succeeded 
by his younger brother, Henry. The Guise himself is murdered by King Henry's 
men in Scene XXI. When the King is shown Guise's body, he says: 

Ah , this sweet sight is phY.jc to my soul! 
Go fetch his son for to behold his death. 
Surcharg'd with guilt of thousand massacres, 
Monsieur of Lorraine, sink away to hell! 
And in remembrance of those bloody broils 
To which thou didst allure me, being Jlive , 
And here in presence of you all, I swear 
I ne'er was King of France until this hour. 
This is the traitor that hath spent my gold 
In making foreign wars and civil broils. 
Did he not draw a sort of English priests 
From Douai to the seminary at Rheims 
To hatch forth treason 'gainst their natural Queen? 
Did he not cause the King of Spain's huge fleet 
To threaten England and to menace mel 
Did he not injure Monsieur that's deceas'd? 
Hath he not made me in the Pope's defence 
To spend the treasure that should strength my land, 
In civil broils between Navarre and mel 
Tush, to be short, he meant to make me monk, 
Or else 10 murder me and so be- King. 
I.et Christidn princ~s Ihal shall hear of this 

(As all the world shall know our Cuise is dead) 

Rest satisfied with this, that here 1 sw~ar, 


N~'er was there king of France so yok'd as I. 

IXXI. 91-1151 

Note Marlowe's reference to the seminary at Rheims, where he had been 
sent by Walsingham to spy on young English Catholics being trained "to hatch 

forth treason 'gainst their natural Queen ." 
King Henry then orders his murderers to strangle the Cardinal of Lorraine 
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All the evidence point s, then, to the probability that the Octavo Massacre af Paris 
is a corrupt text put together by memorial reconstruction .... The Massacre at Paris 
is almost certainly one of the group of Elizabethan texts- best known rrom the 
Shakespearian "Bad Quartos" such as the First Quartos of Hamlet and Romeo and 
fuliet- that are corrupted or "stolne and surreptitious" versions or the plays as 
written and, probably as originally acted. 

Interestingly enough. there exists at the Folger Shakespeare Library in Wash­
ington, D.C., a manuscript page from The Massacre at Paris. Some scholars 
believe that it was, Indeed, written by Marlowe himself. If that is true. then we 
have an example of Marlowe's handwriting that may prove crucial In getting to 
the bottom of the authorship mystery. 
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Edward II 

As already noted, Edward II is a political play with several themes that 
emerge as the natural consequences of the King's having adopted Gaveston, a 
base-born Frenchman, as his favorite. He elevates him to positions of power 
and privilege that anger the King's peers, incite rebellion, and result in the mur­
der of the favorite, the alienation of the Queen, and the final murder of the King 
himself. Each moment of the play is filled with high drama and conflict involv­
ing political issues that were very much on the minds of Marlowe's audiences. 
And as a master of the horror show, Marlowe gives us a royal murder that is cer­
tainly one of the strangest and most powerful murder scenes in English drama. 

The notion that a king's obsession with a favorite could result in tragic 
political consequences was no doubt suggested by the obsession that 14-year­
old James VI of Scotland had for his handsome French cousin, Esme Stuart 
d'Aubigny, whom the Guise and Catherine de Medici had sent to Scotland in 
1579 to convert James to Catholicism. It created such dangerous political con­
flict between the Reform and Catholics in Scotland, that James finally was forced 
to get rid of Esme in order to survive. 

Both Walsingham and Burghley had watched these developments very 
closely as they touched on the larger problem England had with Catholic attempts 
to depose Elizabeth and install James's mother on the throne. They were haunted 
by what would happen should the Catholics regain power in England and bring 
about another SI. Bartholomew's massacre. 

While Esme had been sent to seduce the young Scottish king, the future king 
of England, into becoming a Catholic, the King actually turned the tables and tried 
to convert Esme. Otto Scott, in his brilliant biography of James, writes (p. 100 ): 

The ~ubiect of Esme's religion was a key in both his relation ship with jnmes and to 
his rISe in Scotland. The young king was immensely learn~d in a theological sense, 
although his ardor was less a matter of faith than of training. His effort to co nvert 
his beloved could not, obviously, fail without rupturing their relationship . O n the 
other hand, d't\ubigny, already living one lie, \V,IS 100 ,\stute to belray skepllCism in 
an area so important. He and his masters in france had known he would have to 
assume whatever gui,,: was ncceS'df ), to ,K hieve his goal ..-and thai he would have 
to do so uedibly. 
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Rcligious conflict is not a theme in Edward /I since England was th en 
Catholic . But obsessio n with a favorite is, and Marlowe makes this clear in the 
very opening lines of the play in which Caveston reads a letter from newly 
crowned Edward announcing the end of his ex ile. He speaks and reveals some­
thing of his own selfi sh motives in his a ttachmen t to th e young king , cxercising 
his new sovere ign power: 

"My father is deceas'd. Come , Gaveston, 

And share the kingd om with thy dearest friend ." 

Ah, words that make me surfeit with delight' 

What greater bliss can hap to Gaves ton 

Than live and be the favor ite of a king? 

Sweet prince, I come' These, these thy amorous lines 

Might have enforc'd me to have swum from Fra nce 

And, like Leander, gasp'd upon the sa nd 

So thou would'st smile and take me in thine arms' 


[1.1.1-9 [ 

Note the reference to Leander from Marlowe's poem Hero and Leander, 
which would not be published until 1598. Gaveston later says: 

I must have wanton poets, pleasant wits, 

Musicians that with touch ing of a string 

May draw the pliant King which way J please. 

Music and poetr y is his delight. 

Therefore I' ll have Italian masks by night, 

Sweet speeches, comed ies, and pleasing shows; 

And in the day when he shall walk abroad, 

Like sylvan nymphs my pages shall be clad: 

My men, like sa t)'rs grazing on the lawns, 

Shall with their goat feet dance an antic hay. 


[SI-tiO [ 

And so, Gaveston's idea of perfecl happiness is pleasure and power and the 
ability to manipulate the king . The scene then shifts to the palace where the king 
is already confronted with disgruntled peers who want him to send Gaveston 
back into exile. Young Mortimer and hi s uncle are particularly upset because 
they had sworn to uph o ld the wishes of the king's father, that Gaveston never 
be permitted to return. Lancaster speaks: 

My lord, why do you thus incense your peers 
That naturally would love and honor you 
But for that base and obscure Gaveston l 

Four earldoms have I, besides Lancas ter­
Derby, Salisbury, Lincoln, Leicester-
These will I sell to give my so ld iers pay 
Ere Caveston shall stay within the realm' 
Therefore ifhe be come, expel him straight' 

199- 106 1 
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But the King will not be swayed, and thus the conflict between him and his 
peers becomes ever more threatening. When Gaveston and the King are once 
more together, the King immediately makes him Lord High Chamberlain, Chief 
Secretary of State, Earl of Cornwall, King and Lord of Man. Gaveston is exhil­
,Hated. He sa ys: 

It shall suffice me to enjoy your love, 

Which whiles I have, I think myself as great 

A, Caesar riding in the Roman street, 

With captive kings at his triumphant car. 


1171-174 1 

This is certainly a reference to the famous scene in Tamburlnine fl, in which 
the Scythian warrior has his captive kings pull his chariot. When the Bishop of 
Coventry complains to the king about Gaveston, he is roughed up and sent to 
the Tower. His house is seized for Gaveston's benefit. Delighted, Gaveston 
remarks: 

What should a priest do with so fair a house? 
A prison may best beseem his holiness. 

1206-2071 

News of this incenses the peers even more, especially when they learn that 
Gaveston has been made an earl. Young Mortimer, expressing the sentiments of 
the peers, says: 

Were all the earls and barons of my mind, 
We'll hale him from the bosom of the King 
And at the court-gate hang the peasant up: 
';Vho swoln with venom of ambitious pride 
Will be the ruin of the realm and us. 

11.2·28-32J 

The Archbishop of Canterbury arrives, expressing outrage at what has been 
done to the Bishop of Coventry. Young Mortimer asks: "Then will you join us 
that be his peers to banish or behead that Gaveston?" Mortimer is indeed con­
cerned with the legal justification of their rebellion. 

Queen Isabel then enters and tells young ivlortimer: 

.The King regards me not, 
But dotes upon the love of Gawston. 
He claps his cheeks, hdng, about his nc:ck, 
Smiles in his face, whispers in his ears, 
And when I Lome he frowns, 3S who should say, 
"Go whither thou wilt ,eeing I have Caveston!" 

149-541 

Elder Mortimer comments: "Is it not strange that he is thus bewitch'd?" The 
Archbishop then explains that he and his counsellors will meet with the King 
and try to persuade him to banish Gaveston. All of this turns on the argument 
of whether or not it is legal to take arms against the King. 
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In the scene·that follows, the political issues are clearly delineated when the 
King and Gaveston, seated side by side, confront the nobles. Elder Mortimer 
remarks: "What man of noble birth can brook this sight?" To which the King 
replies: "Lay hands on that traitor Mortimer!" Elder Mortimer responds: "Lay 
hands on that traitor Gaveston!" Marlowe, a master of theatrical commotion, 
continues: 

Kent [the king's brotherl: Is this the duty you owe your King? 
Warwick: We know our duties. Let him know his peers. 
King Edward: Whither will you hear him? Stay, or ye shall die' 
Elder Morrimer: We are no traitors, therefore threaten not. 
Cavesron: No, threaten not, my lord, but pay them home. Were I a king­
Yo~mg Murrimer: Thou villain, wherefore talk'st thou of a king 

That hardly art a gentleman by birth' 
King Edward: Were he a peasant, being my minion , 

I'll make the proudest of you stoup to him. 
r 1.4 .22 -311 

The nobles remove Kent and Gaveston. The Archbishop and the nobles 
finally force Edward to sign a document banishing Gaveston. Edward tries to 
bribe them with new positions of power, if only they would leave him "some 
nook or corner left to frolic with my dearest Gaveston." 

Young Mortimer asks: "Why should you love him whom the world 
hates so'" Edward replies: "Because he loves me more than the whole world'" 
This is the kind of juvenile statement that clearly describes Edward's adoles­
cent state of mind, very much like the mind of teenage King James of Scot­
land when he was in love with Esme. Nevertheless, the King is forced to sign 
the document. Young Mortimer remarks: "The king is love-sick for his minion." 
The nobles then leave, and Edward is left alone to contemplate his unhappy 
state. 

How fasl they run to banish him I love' 
They would nOI stir, would it to do me good. 
Why should a king be subject to a priest? 
Proud Rome, that hatchest such imperial grooms, 
For these thy superstitious taper-lights, 
Wherewith thy antichri stian churches blaze , 
I' ll fire thy crazed buildings and enfor(e 
The papal towers to kiss the lowly ground ' 
With slaughter'd priests may Tiber's channel swell, 
And banks rais 'd higher with their sepulchers' 
As for the peers that back the (iergy thus , 
If 1be King, nol one of thl'm shall live. 

195-·100 1 

Of course, that's exactly what 11enry Vlli clid when the Pope refused to let 
him divorce Catherine or Aragon. With the destruction of the monasteries, 
Henry ushered in the Protestant reformation In England. Marlowe, as a child, 
no doubt played among the ruins oftht' monastery in Canterbury. As an insight 
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into Edward's psychology, Marlowe has him fantasize what he would do to the 
peers. Words of an adolescent king living in a fantasy world in which his min­
ion rules . When this play was written no one knew what to expect when James 
would become king of England. 

In order to comply with his forced agreement to send Gaveston into exile, 
Edward decides to make Gaveston governor of Ireland and says "there abide till 
fortune call thee home." The king and Gaveston then exchange pictures and 
embrace. When Queen Isabella suddenly appears, Edward lashes out at her: 
"Fawn not on me, French strumpet' Get thee gone'" Which echoes Hamlet's 
famous rejection of Ophelia, "Get thee to a nunnery'" 

What ensues is a shouting match between Isabella and GaveslOn who 
accuses the Queen of having an affair with Mortimer. Edward then tells Isa­
bella that unless she can get Gaveston's exile repealed, "thou com'st not in my 
sight." 

The Queen, alone, bemoans her fate, which she blames on Gaveston, "for 
never doted Jove on Ganymede so much as he on cursed Gaveston ." The refer­
ence to Jove and Ganymede reminds us of the opening scene in Dido. 

The Queen then persuades young Mortimer to bring Gaveston back from 
exile in order to have him secretly murdered. The nobles agree to the plan. They 
inform the King that Gaveston's exile has been repealed. The King now is so 
overjoyed that he kisses the Queen. " Let this be a second marriage 'twixt thy­
self and me," he tells Isabt'lla. The King then rewards the nobles with new posi­
tions of imlJortance. He also inform, them of his intention of marrying 
Gaveston, Earl of Cornwall , to his niece, tht· elaughterofthe late Earl ofGlouces­
ter. On th is ha ppy note, Ed ward t'x its t he stage, leal' i ng the two Mortimers alone. 
The Elder Mortimer speaks to his nephew: 

Nephew, I must to Scotland. Thou stayest here. 
Leave now to oppose thyself against the King. 
Thou seest by nature he is mild and calm. 
And seeing his mind so dotes on Gaveston, 
Let him without controlment have his will: 
The mightiesl kings have had their minions­
Great Alexander lov'd Hephestion; 
The conquering Hector for Hylas wept; 
And for Palrocius stern Achilles droop'd. 
And not kings only, but the wisest men ­
The Roman Tully lov'd Octavius; 
Grave So~rates, wild Alcibiades. 
Then let Hi" Grace, whose youth is nexible 
And promiseth as much as we can wish, 
Freely enjoy that vain, light-headed carl, 
For riper years will ,,'ean him from such toys. 

1388-403) 

Hut this appeal for tolerance, based on a wise man's knowledge of ancient 
history, falls on deaf ears. Young lvlortimcr replies: 
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Uncle, his wanton humor grieves not me. 

But this I scorn, that one so basely born 

Should by his sovereign's favor grow so pert 

And riot it with the treasure of the realm 

While soldiers mutiny for want ofpay.... 

r have not seen a dapper Jack so brisk: 

He wears a short Italian hooded cloak, 

Larded with pearl, and in his Tuscan cap 

A jewel of more value than the crown .... 

I will not yield to any such upstart' 


[404-408,414-417,4251 

Thus, the objection of the nobles is not that the young king has a favorite, 
but that this impertinent, base-born favorIte has been given political powers 
over the nobles. 

In the next scene we find young Spencer, a servant of the Earl ofGlouces­
ter, in conversation with Baldock, the tutor. He asks Spencer, now that the Earl 

is dead, which of the nobles will he serve' Spencer replies: 

Not Mortimer, nor any of his side, 

Because the King and he are enemies. 

Baldock, learn this of me: a factious lord 

Shall hardly do himself good, much less us; 

But he that hath the favor of a king 

May with one word advance us while we live. 

The liberal Earl of Cornwall is the man 

On whose good fortune Spencer's hope depends. 


Baldock. What, mean you then to be his follower? 
Y. Spencer. No, his companion, for he loves me well, 

And would have once preferr'd 	me to t he King. 
[2.1.4-141 

The intimation here is that Spencer had been Gaveston's lover before the 

King made the young henchman his favorite. Here we see a microcosm of how 
politics are played and influenced by male lovers who form a clique or network 
of pol i t ica I power by bolsteri ng one anot her. On the ot her hand, Mortimer, who 
has no sympathy for such sexual attachments, represents the heterosexual's view 
of power as imposed by heredity, force, and, in the end, tyranny. 

Spencer then advises Baldock on how to gain favor with the nobles: 

You must cast the scholar off 
And learn to court it like a gentleman l 

'Tis not a black coat and a little band, 
A velvet-caped coat (faced before with serge), 
And smelling to a nosegay all the day-
Or holding a napkin in your hand-
Or saying a long grace at a table's end­
Or making low legs to a nobleman ­
Or looking downward with your eyelids close 
And saying, "Truly, an't please your honor," 
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Can get you any favor with great men. 
You mList be proud, bold, pleasant, resolute: 
And now and then stab as occasion serves. 

131-431 

No doubt, that is how Marlowe, a mere cobbler's son, managed to deal 
with such men as Walsingham, Burghley, Raleigh, and others in the ruling class. 
He not only understood their psychology but how one advanced in a system 
dominated by heredity. 

Meanwhile, the King's niece enters the scene showing great joy at having 
received a love letter from Gaveston, who tells her that he will be seeing her soon 
and that they will be married. 

The scene at court is one of great expectations as Edward awaits the 
arrival of Gaveston. But when his favorite does arrive, he is mocked by the 
nobles. The scene then degenerates into a physical battle between Lancaster, 
Young Mortimer and Gaveston, in which the latter is wounded by Mortimer's 
sword. The King, furious, swears to make the nobles pay for their attempts to 
kill Gaveston. 

Meanwhile, Young Mortimer has received news that his uncle has been 
taken prisoner by the Scots and requires a f1ve-thousand-pound ransom to gain 
his release. Mortimer insists Ihat the King pay the ransom since his uncle had 
gone to Scotland on a royal mission. The King lells Mortimer to pay the ransom 
himself wilh Ihe help of others. "You shall have the broad seal 10 gather for him 
throughout the realm ," says the King (2 .2.147). "'Your minion Gaveston hath 
taught you this'" exclaims LancasteP( 148). What fol.lows is a long tirade by Lan­
caster and Mortimer describing the ruinous policies of the King. The King's 
brother tells Edward: 

My lord, I see your love 10 Gaveston 
Will be the ruin of the realm and you, 
For now the wrathful nobles threaten wars. 
And therefore, brother, banish him forever. 

[ 208-2111 

The King's reaction is to brand his brother a traitor. "Begone, whine thou with 
Mortimer'" To which Kent replies, "So willi, rather than with Gaveston." 

In the next scene we find the Queen, the King's niece, Gaveston, Baldock 
and Young Spencer on stage. On the recommendation of his niece, the King 
adopts Baldock and Spencer as his servants. He speaks: 

Cousin. this Jay shall be your mJrriage !'fast ­
And. C;,lvcstnll. think that I love thee well, 
To wed thee' tu our niece. the only heir 
Unto the Earl ofGlouct'ster late deceas'd .. 
Come. let's away' And when the marriage ends, 
Ilave at the rebels and their compliees' 

1257- 260. 265-2661 
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Meanwhile Kent has joined the rebellious nobles, They decide to attack the 
castle where the marriage has just taken place, Mortimer states: 

This 101lered ensign or my ancestors, 

Which ,wept the desert shore or that Dead Sea 

Whereof we got the name or Mortimer, 

Willi advance upon this castle's walls, 


123.22-251 

An interesting reference to the Crusades, wherein Mortimer's ancestors 
fought in the Holy Land and adopted the name Mortimer from the French mer 
de mort, Dead Sea. This is the kind of historic touch that makes us marvel at 
Marlowe's knowledge of history and how well he integrates it into a play, 

Edward then urges Gaveston and his niece to escape: 

Fly, fly, my lords' The earls have got the hold, 
Take shipping and away to Scarborough, 
Spencer and I will post away by land. 

[2.4,4 - 6 [ 

The King bids farewell to everyone except the Queen, who asks plaintively, 
"No farewell to poor Isabel thy Queen l " To which the King replies: "Yes, yes, 
for Mortimer your lover's sake l" The Queen responds: "Heaven can witness [ 
[ove none but you!" 

What follows is the pursuit ofGaveston and his capture by the nobles. They 
are about 10 hang him when the Earl of Arundel brings the nobles a message 
Crom the King. 

His Majesty, 

Hearing that you had taken Gaveston, 

Entreateth you by me, yet but he may 

See him before he dies, For why, he says, 

And sends you word , he knows that die he shall: 

And if you gratify His Crace so far 

He will be mindful of the counesy. 


12,536-421 

The nobles object. but the Earl of Pembroke, willing to gratify the King's 
request, undertakes to take Gaveston to the King and bring him back, "Upon 
my oath, I will return him back." 

But, of course, something goes wrong, Pembroke leaves Gaveston overnight 
in the care of the Earl of Arundel who is attacked later that night by the Earl of 
Warwick, whose men take Gaveston and execute him, 

Arundel brings the news ofGaveslOn's death to the King. He describes War­
wick's treachery: 

Warwick in ambush lay 
And bare him [Gavestonllo his death: and in a trench 
Strake olf his head - and mdrch 'd unto the camp. 

[3.2.121-1231 
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Young Spencer urges the King to avenge Gaveston's murder. And the King, 
fired up, agrees: 

By earth, the common mother of u~ all, 

By Heaven and all the moving orbs thereof. 

By this right hand, and by my father's sword, 

And all the honors 'longing to my crown , 

I will have heads and lives for him as many 

As I have manors, castles, towns, and towers! ... 

And in this place of honor and of trust, 

Spencer, sweet Spence r, I adopt thee here · 

And merely of our love we do create thee 

Earl of Cloucester and I.ord Chamberlain , 

I)espite of times , despite of enemies. 


1131-136,146-1501 

Now that Gaveston is gone, (he nobles are ready to renew their loyalty (0 

their king, provided he get rid of Spencer, whom they characterize as: 

...A putrefying branch 

That deads the ro yal vine, whose golden leaves 

Empale your princely head, your diadem, 

Whose brightness such pernicious upstarts dim. 


1165-1681 

To the nobles, maintaining royal-blood lines was of the greatest Impor­
tance in securing and sustaining a stable and legitimate monarchy. Edward had 
violated that imperative with Gaveston and was now violating it with Spencer, 
who was a mere servant of the Earl ofGloucestor, now suddenly elevated to earl ­
dom by a young king throwing dynastic tradition to the winds . In England hered­
itary rights and privileges were the foundation of the royal system. Marlowe, 
who knew his place in Ihe social scheme of things, had risen as far ~s one could 
go without royal blood or the connections of the landed gentry. His parents, 
though respectable, were at the bottom of the social ladder. But it was his genius 
and education at Cambridge that opened the door to the society of nobles. Obvi­
ously, he himself had no choice but to accept the society he lived in and to make 
the most of it. 

But Edward refuses to get rid of Spencer: 

Rebels, will they appoi nt their sovereign 
His ,ports, his pleasures, and hiS company? 

1177-1781 

The King declares war against the nobles, preferring, in Young Mortimer's words, 
to "balhe thy sword In subjects' blood, Ihan banish that pernicious company." 

Edward calls for civil war, and Warwick exclaims: 

r\ desperJte and unnatural resolution! 
Alarum to the fight ! 
51. 	Ceorge for England, and the barons' right! 

[220- 2221 
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To which Edward replies: "Saint George for England, and King Edward's right" 
(223). 

In the ensuing battle, Edward captures the barons, including Young Mor­
timer, Warwick and Lancaster. He has the latter two beheaded for murdering Gaves­
ton, and Mortimer and the rest are sent to the Tower. The King, now triumphant, 
sends a messenger to France to inform the Queen and his son of his victory. 

Meanwhile, Edmund (Earl of Kent) , the King's brother, prepares to sail for 
France with Mortimer who has escaped from the Tower. He speaks: 

Fair blows the wind for France. Blow gentle gale, 

Til Edmund be arriv'd for England 's good. 

Nature, yield to my country's cause in this. 

A brother' No, a butcher of thy friends' 

But I'll to France, and cheer the wronged Queen, 

And certify what Edward 's looseness is. 

Unnatural King, to slaughter noblemen 

And cherish Oatterers' Mortimer , I stay 

Thy sweet escape. Stand gracious, gloomy night, 

To hi s device' 


141 I-III 

In France, the Queen has been unsuccessful in gaining the help of her 
brother, the King. She is soothed by the young Prince Edward: 

Madam, return to England, 

And please my father well. And then a fig 

For all my uncle's friendship here in France. 

I warrant you, I'll win His Highness quickl y. 

A loves me better than a thousand Spencers. 


[4.2.4-81 

When Edmund and Mortiner arrive, the Queen is ecstatic with joy. With the 
help of Sir John of Hainault , they plan to return to England with an army. 

Meanwhile, back in England, Edward and Young Spencer read a list of all 
the nobles who have been executed throughout the realm. They also set a reward 
on Mortimer's head . They are also informed that the Queen, Prince Edward, 
Edmund and Mortimer will soon be returning to England to wage war against 
them. The King responds : 

Ah, villains, hath that Mortimer escap'd' 

With him is Edmund gone associate? 

And will Sir John of Hainault lead the round' 

Welcome, a Cod's name, madam, and your son: 

England shall welcome you and all yo ur rout' . 

"h , nothing grieves me but my little boy 

Is thus misled to countenance their ill s. 


14.3 511-62, 68- 691 

Back Oil English soil, the Queen, the Prince, Edmund, Mortimer, Sir John 
and soldiers prepare for battle. The Queen speaks: 
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Misgo"nn'd kings Mt' cau,,' of 3111hi,\ wreck. 
AnJ Edward, Ihou arl one among Ihem all 
Who se looscnc'ss halh bClray'J Ihy land 10 spod 
And made Ihe channels overflow wilh blood 
Of Ihine own people. 

[ 4.4.9-131 

Knowing that they are about to be attacked by superior forces, the King, 
Spencer, and Baldock f1ee for their lives toward Ireland, When Edmund reaches 
the palace he finds them all gone, And he suddenly has a change of heart: 

This way he fled, but I am come too late, 

Edward, Jlas, my heart relents for thee! 

Proud traitor, Mortimer, why dost thou chase 

Thy lawful King , th y sovereign, with thy sword 7 


[4.5.10-131 

After cursing him self for betraying his brother, he says: 

Dissemble or thou diest . for Mortimer 
And Isabel do kiss, while they conspire: 
And yet she bears a face of love forsooth' 

121-23 1 

Thus, Edmund brings into the drama the illicit love affair between Mortimer 
and lsabel. There is so much in this play that reminds us of the sordid details of 
Queen Mary's love affair with Bothwell. The two were accomplices in the mur­
der of the King of Scotland, Lord Darnley, Both Mary dnci Isabel were close to 
the French throne. Esme was hench, and so was Gaveston, Obviously, Marlowe 
IS telling us that history repeats itself'. 

After the Queen's ar my tS victOriOUS, Edmund asks how will she deal with 
the King, Mortimer answers: 

My lord of Kent, what needs Ihese queslions 7 


'Tis nOI in her controlment, nor in ours. 

BUI as Ihe realm and parliamenl shall please: 

So shall your brolher be disposed of. 


[43-46) 

Young Spencer's father is taken prisoner. Mortimer orders him be headed. 
But before the old man is led away, he says to Mortimer: 

Rebel is he Ihat lights ag:lin~t his prince' 
So fought not Ihe y Ihat fought in Edward 's right. 

182-831 

Finally. the King, Spencer, and l3aldock are captured before they can embark 
to Ireland , Marlowe gives us thi s touching scene between Edward, Spencer, and 
Baldock as they are separated. 

K. lA w. Spe ncer, ah sweel Sp("ncer, Ihus then musl we pari' 
Y SPfl1 . We must, m~ lord ' So wililhe angry heavens. 
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K. 	 Edw. Nay, so will Hell and cruel Mortimer' 
The gentle heavens have not to do in this. 

Bald. 	My lord, it is in vain to grieve or storm. 
Here humbl)' of Your Grace we take our leaves: 
Our lots are cast , I fear me so is thine. 

K. 	 Edw. In Heaven we may, in earth ne'er shall we meet. 
And, Leicester, say, what shall become of us) 

Lelcs. Your Majesty must go to Killingworth. 
K. 	 Edw. Musr.' Tis somewhat hard when kings mllsr go. 

[73- H3) 

Marlowe conveys the political complexities and conflict in all of this so that the 
audience can recognize the difficulties Elizabeth's government faced in dealing 
with Mary Queen of Scots . 

At Killingworth, Edward bemoans his dreadful state : 

But when I call to mind I am a King, 
Methinks I should revenge me of my wrongs, 
That Mortimer and Isabel have done. 
But what are kings when regiment is gone 
But mere shadows in a sunshine da),) 
My nobles rule: I bear the name of King; 
I wear the crown : but am controlI'd by them­
By Mortimer and my unconstant Queen 
Who spots my nuptial bed with infamy! 

[5.1.23-31) 

A line so remindful of the "incestuous sheets" in Hamlet. 
The Bishop of Winchester then requests Edward to give up his crown to 

his son, Prince Edward. The King argues that it is ambitious Mortimer who 
wants the crown. Butthe Bishop insists that it is for the young Prince. [n a highly 
emotional scene that must have gripped the audience, Edward takes off the crown 
and then puts it on again. He yells : 

Inhuman crcdtures nurs 'd with tiger ', milk, 
Why gape you for )'our sovereign's overthrow. 

171-72) 

We can imagine how Edward Alleyn made the most of these lines and oth­
ers in this scene! There can be no doubt that the audience was torn between sym­
pathy for the King and disdain for his actions that led to his downfall. The King 
is finally convinced to give up his crown, for ifhe refuses to do so, his son would 
lose his right to the throne. "Commend me to my son," he says, "and bid him 
rule better than I." 

Once he has given up the crown, Edward's fate is sealed. Mortimer replaces 
Leicester, the King's sympathetic jailer, with Berkeley, his own man. And now 
that they have disposed of all of Edward's allies, they must decide what to do 
with Edward. With the Prince on the throne and Mortimer as his regent, the lat­
ter and Isabel will now rule the realm. 13ut both realize that as long as Edward 



151 23. Edward II 

lives, they can never be sure of their power. They are also aware that Edward's 
brother, Edmund, the Earl of Kent, IS engaged in a plot to set his brother free. 
Thus, Isabel speaks: 

But, Mortimer, as long as he survives, 
What safety rests for us or for my son i 

Y. l\l(or. Speak, shall he presently be despatch'd and die i 

Q. 	lsav. I would he were, so 'twere not by my means! 
[5.2.43-461 

The audience certainly saw this scene as a virtual reenactment of what Mary 
Queen of Scots and Bothwell must have said when they agreed to get rid of 
Darnley. Elizabeth had Justified the imprisonment of Mary on the basis of that 
suspected murder plot. 

Mortimer engages Matrevis and Gurney to replace Berkeley as the King's 
guardian. He gives them instructions: 

As thou inlend'st to rise by Mortimer-

Who now makes Fortune's wheellurn as he please' ­

Seek all the means Ihou canst to make him droop, 

And neither give him kind word nor good look. 

And this above the rest. Because we hear 

That Edmund casts to work his liberty, 

Remove him still from place to place by night 

And at the last come to Killingworth-

And then from thence to Berkeley back again' 


155-641 

As the men arc about to leave, the Queen steps forward and gives them a 
jewel to take to the King: 

Commend me humbly to His Majesty, 

And tell him that I labor all in vain 

To ease his grief and work his liberty. 

And bear him this as witness of my love. 


[72-751 

The men leave, and Mortimer turns to Isabel: 

Finely dissembled' Do so still, sweet Queen. 

Here comes the young Prince with the Earl of Kent. 


Q. lsav. Something he whispers in his childish ears. 
Y Mar. If he have such access unto Ihe Prince, 

Our plots and stratcgems will soon be da sh·d. 
Q 	/s"V. Use Edmund friendly as if all were well. 

[77-1l21 

Marlowe creates suspense, intrigue and conflict III virtually every scene of 
the play. His ingenuity as a playwright is boundless' He has transformed Mor­
timer and Isabel Into prime villains. Note Mortimer's reference to the Wheel of 
Fortune, a device Marlowe uses to characterize the climb to power. 
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In t he next scene Mortl mer and Edmu nd engage in mortal con nict over the 

fate of Edward and who will rightfully succeed him. The action reveals the deft ­

n ess with which Marlowe is able to create in a short scene intense connict 

between all of the major characters. It begins quietly : 

Y Mar. How fares my honorable lord of Kent 7 

Kent. In health , swee t Mortimer. How fares Your Crace 7 

Q. /sab. Well. if my lord yo ur brother were enlarg'd. 
Kent. I hear of late he hath depos 'd himself. 
Q. /sab. The more my grief. 
Y. Mar. And mine. 

Kent. (Ah , they do dissemble!) IAside.1 

Q. isab. Sweet son, come hither, I must talk with thee. 
Y Mor. Thou being his uncle and the next of blood, 

Do look to be protector over the Prince7 

Kent . Not I, my lord . Who should protect the son 
But she that gave him Iife 7 I mean the Queen. 

P. 	 Edw. Mother, persuade me not to wear the crown. 
Let him be Kingl I am too young to reign. 

Q. /sab. But be content, seeing it is His Highness' pleasure. 
P. Edw. Let me see him first, and then I will. 

Kent. Ay, do, sweet nephew ' 

Q. /sab. Brother, you know it is impossible. 
P. Edw. Why, is he dead 7 


Q. /sab. No, God forbid' 

Kent. I would those words proceeded from your heart' 

Y Mor. Inconstant Edmund, dost thou favor him 


'T'hat wast a cause of his imprisonment 7 

Kent . The more cause have I now to make amends' 
Y. 	 Mar. I tell thee , ' tis not meet that one so false 

Should come abou t the person ofa Prince. 
My lo rd, he hath betrayed the King his brother , 
And therefore trust him not. 

P. Edw. But he repents and sorrows for it now. 
Q. /sab. Come son, and go with this gentle lord and me. 
P. Edw. With you I wi ll, but not with Mortimer. 
\~ Mar. Why, you ngling, 'sdainst thou so of Mortimer? 

Then I will ca rr y thee by force away. 
P. Edw. Help, uncle Kent' Mortimer will wrong me' 

IMortimer grasps the Prince. Kent tries to intervene. 1 

Q. /sab. Brother Edmund, strive not. We are his friends. 
Isabel is nearer than the Earl of Kent. 

Kent. Sister, Edward is my charge, redeem him. 
Q. /sab. Edward is my son, and J will keep him. 
Kent. IA side.1 (Mortimer shall know that he hath ,vrong'd me. 

Hence will I haste to KillinglVorth Castle 
i\nd resc ue aged EdlVard from his foes 
To be revt'ng'd on Mortimer and thee') 

183-1241 
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The scene shifts to the dungeon in the castle where Edward is being held. 
Matrevis and Gurney, Mortimer's men, shave the King and wash his face in pud­
dle water. Edmund arrives to free his brother but is thwarted by Matrevis and 
Gurney who have him arrested and taken to Mortimer. Meanwhile, the two men 
take the King to Killingworth where he will meet his end. 

We then see Mortimer alone, weighing his predicament. He speaks: 

The King must die, or Mortimer goes down. 

The commons now begin to pity him, 

Yet he that is the cause of Edward's death, 

Is sure to pay for it when his son is of age; 

And therefore will I do it cunningly. 


[5.4.1-5 j 

Mortimer concocts a scheme whereby it will appear that Matrevis and oth­
ers will bear the blame of the King's death . Mortimer calls in Lighthorn, a pro­
fessional assassin who will do the job of kill ing Edward. Lighthorn is proud of 
his professionalism. He tells Mortimer: 

You shall not need to give instructions. 

'Tis not the first time I have kill'd a man: 

I learn'd in Naples how to poison flowers, 

To strangle with a lawn thrust through the throat, 

To pierce the windpipe with a needle's point, 

Or whilst one is asleep, to take a quill 

And blow a little powder in his ears, 

Or open his mouth and pour quicksilver down . 

And yet I have a braver way than these. 


Y Mor. What's that' 
Light. Nay, you shall pardon me . None shall know my tricks. 

[2 9-391 

Note that Marlowe used the poisoned flowers in The Jew of Malta and that 
the blowing of poison in the ears of a sleeping individual is the means that Ham­
let's uncle used to kill his father, the King. 

Mortimer now revels in his power: 

The Prince I rule, the Queen do r command, 

And with a lowly conge to the ground 

The pruudest lords salute me as I pass . 

I seal, I cancel, I do what I will. 

Fcar'd alll I Illore than lov'd -let me he fear'd 

t\nd when I frown make all the court look pale .... 

Now is all sure. The Queen and ~'Iortimer 


Shall rule the realm , the King; and none rule us. 

Mine enemies willI plague , my friends advancc . 


148-53,65-671 

The young prince is then crowned King. After which Edmund is brought 
before Mortimer, the Queen, and the new young King. Mortimer orders Edmund 
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to be beheaded . But the young King wants Edmund. his uncle. to live. Edmund 
struggles with the soldiers and the young King argues with Mortimer. But Mor­
timer prevails and Edmund is taken away to be beheaded. after which the young 
King says, pointing to Mortimer: 

What safet y may I look for at his hands 
If that my uncle ~hall be murder'd thus? 

Q. {sab. Fear nOt, sweet boy, I'll guard thee from thy foes. 
Had Edmund liv'd, he would have sought thy death. 
Come, son , we'll ride a-hunting in the park. 

[110-114 [ 

The scene shifts to the dungeon where the King is being kept "in a vault 
up to the knees in water to which the channels of the castle run." Matrevis and 
Gurney have done all in their power to make the King as miserable as possi­
ble. But then Lightborn enters and, in the name of Mortimer, takes custody 
of Edward. He tells the two men to "see that in the next room I have a fire, 
and get me a spit and let it be red-hoI." He also wants a table and a feather­
bed. 

What follows is one of the most bizarre murder scenes in all of English 
drama. The conversation between the sadistic murderer and his royal victim 
must have held t he a udience in hushed 5ta tes of pit y and dread. Th is was Mar­
lowe at his psychological besl. 

After the King is killed, Lightborn asks Matrevis and Gurney, "Tell me, 
sirs, was it not bravely done t " To which Gurney replies: "Excellent well! Take 
this for thy reward!" and he stabs Lightborn to death. 

Matrevis returns to Mortimer to bring news of the King's death. Gurney 
has fled, and Matrevis is afraid that he will betray them, which he does with a 
letter to the young King . The Queen informs Mortimer of this turn of events. 
"The King my son hath news His father's dead, and we have murder'd him .... 

Now, Mortimer. begins our tragedy." 
The young King orders Mortimer to be executed. The Queen implores her 

son to pity Mortimer and spare his life . But Mortimer tells the Queen that he 
would rather die than "sue for life unto a paltry boy." He says: 

Base Fortune, now I see, that in thy wheel 
There is a point, to which when men aspire, 
They tumble headlong down . That point I touch'd , 
And seeing there was no place to mount up higher, 
Why should I grieve dt my declining fall 1 

Farewell. fair Queen, weep not for Mortimer, 
That ~corns the world, and as a traveller 
Goes to discover countrie~ yet unknown. 

[5.6.59-66 [ 

Note Marlowe's reference to the Wheel of fortune, a symbol for unbridled 
ambition that ofkn leads to death, as in the case of Northumberland . Also, the 
idea of death leading to "countries yet unknown" reminds us of Hamlet. 
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The young King then orders his mother to be committed to the Tower and 
stJnd trial as an Jccomplice In the murder of her husband. All of thi s brings to 
mind the trial and execution of Mary Queen of Scots. 

One can only marvel at how Marlowe was able to weave contempo rary pol­
itics and exquisite free-verse dialogue in a drama that is as exciting to read today 
as it was when it was first performed. 
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Henry VI, Part One 

It makes no sense to believe that the unknown country bumpkin, William 
Shakespeare, started his career as a dramatist by writing three ingeniously con­

ceived plays about the War of the Roses. The subject matter alone, with so many 
historical characters and events, would have been daunting enough for an expe­
rienced writer let alone a novice with no known education emerging from out 
of nowhere . 

Were it not for the mistaken belief that Greene's "Shake-scene" referred to 

an unknown writer na med Shakespeare instead of the well-known actor Edward 
Alleyne, the notion that these plays could be written by a novice would be totally 
untenable. The plays were written between 1589 and 1590 when Shakespeare was 
a nonentity. 

In writing these great historical plays , Marlowe drew his information from 
two sources available at the time: Edward Hall's The Union of two noble and illlls­
trioHS families York and Lancaster and Holinshed's Chronicles of England, Scot­
land and Ireland . The second edition of Holin shed was published in 1587. But 

Marlowe may have had access at Cambridge to the first edition published in 
1578. The earliest editions of Hall's book go back to the 1540's and 50's . And so, 
Marlowe, as a student, would have been able to absorb all of this history, pro­
viding him with more than enough m a terial for his dramas to come. 

In order to establish that Henry VI, Part On e, was written by M a rlowe, it 
is essential to maintain a precise chronology of events . We know from I-Ienslowe's 
Diary that Henry VI, Parr One, was tirst performed at the Rose Theatre on March 
3, 1591, by Lord Strange 's Men who performed other f-llays by Marlowe. Shake­
speare had no connection with Lord Strange's Men or with Pembroke's Men. This 
was two years before IVlarlowe's alleged demise, two years before the name Shake­
speare appeared on any work of lit e rature - Venlls and Adonis, in 1593 - six years 
before his name appea red on the publication of a play, Love's Labors Lost, in 1598. 

Henslowe did not name the author of Henry VI, since it was not his habit 
to name the authors of plays he li s ted, but only to give their dates of perform­

ance and receipts. Henry VI. Part One, was performed during the same period 

156 
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in which Marlowe's other plays were being staged. From 159110 1597, Henry VI, 
Part One, was performed sixteen times. Its first performance earned Henslowe 
more than three pounds. Thus, it was nOI only a popular play, but a very prof­
Itable one as well. 

Thomas Nashe, a close friend of Marlowe's, referred to Henry VI in his 
book, Pierce Penilesse, published in August 1592. In a section of the book in 
which he praises play-going as a virtue, he wrote (pp. 86-87): 

Nay, what if I prove plays to be no extreme, but a rare exercise of virtue? First, for 
the subject of them: for the most part it is borrowed out of our English chronicles, 
wherein our forefathers' valiant acts, that have lien long buried in rusty brass and 
wormealen books, are revived, and they themselves raised from the grave of obliv­
ion and brought to plead their aged honours in open presence, than which what 
can be a sharper reproof to these degenerate effeminate days of oursl 

How would it have joyed brave Talbot, the terror of the French, to think that 
after he had lien two hundred years in his lomb he should triumph again on the 
stage, and have his bones new-embalmed with the tears of ten thousand spectators 
at least, at several times, who in the tragedian that represents his person imagine 
they behold him fresh bleeding' 

Since Pierce Pellilesse was published before Marlowe's alleged death in 1593, 
we can safely assume Ihat Marlowe was in agreement with Nashe and viewed 
play-writing as a means of educating the public as well as entertaining it. The 
full title of Nashe's book is Pierce Penilesse his Supplication to the Divel/. Describ­
ing the over-spreading of Vice, and Suppression of Vertue, published by The Bod­
ley Head Ltd, 1924. 

Henry VI, Part One was not known as a play written by Shakespeare until 
it appeared in print for the first time in the First Folio of 1623. The prime mover 
behind the First Folio was the publisher Edward Blount who had known Mar­
lowe, his patron Sir Thomas Walsingham, the latter's wife, Lady Audrey Wals­
ingham , and the actor William Shakespeare. In other words, Blount's life spanned 
the years in which the entire conspiracy took place and he knew all of the prin­

cipals involved. 
Blount had published Marlowe's Hero and Leander in 1598 with a glowing 

tribute to the presumably dead author. Obviously, he was in a position to know 
the true author of the plays he assembled for the First Folio. He did not include 
any of the many plays that bore Shakespeare's name but were not Marlowe's. He 
also knew where to find the twenty plays that had never been published, some 
of which had never even been staged. How did he know they existed and were 

all written by the same person? 
Had Blount and Walsingham not been alive in 1623 , there would never have 

been a f'ir~t Folio. Up unlilthat tirnL', only nine of the thirty-six plays that ended 
up in the First Folio bore the namt' o( Shakespeare in their earlier quarto pub­
lications. Hellry VI. Part Olle, had not been published before 1623. So how did 
I.Iloul1l know it belonged in the First Folio{ Edward Alleyn, who was still alive 
in 1623, would certainly have known who the author was. He might even have 
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been privy to the conspiracy. Henslowe died in 1616, the same year in which 
Shakespeare died. Nashe was dead in 1601. Richard Burbage was dead in 1619. 

Greene had died in 1592. 

And because Blount and his colleagues decided to put Shakespeare's name 
on the First Folio, the public has had nothing but distortions and inventions 
from scholars concerning Shakespeare's life as a writer. Henry VI, Part One, is 
of particular importance to scholars because most of them believe it to be Shake­
speare's first play. A. L. Rowse, who built a career writing about the Bard from 
Stratford, writes in The Annotated Shakespeare (p. 756): 

This is almost certainly Shakespeare's first play.... The dominant influence observ­
able again and again in Henry VI is Marlowe's. He had patented this grandiloquent 
poetic diction, in splendid black verse, in Tambllrlaine . ... Marlowe was the senior, 
the initiator, the leader; but the influence was not all one way. Before he died, so 
lamentably, he [Marlowe] copies from Henry VI and wrote his Edward II. 

Of course, if you didn't believe that Marlowe was the author of both plays, 
you might indeed come up with the absurdity that Marlowe, who had already 
written so many great plays, had to copy from the work of a novice in order to 
write another great dramatic masterpiece, Edward lI. The reason there is so much 
Marlowe in Henry VI is because he wrote it. 

Tucker Brooke, in the Yale edition of The First Part of King Henry the Sixth, 
comments on the various views held by scholars on the authorship of the play. 
There were those who argued that Shakespeare had no part in writing the play; 
those who believed that Shakespeare had indeed written the entire play; and 
finally those who believed that the play was written by Shakespeare in collabo­
ration with others, notably Marlowe, Greene, and perhaps Peele. Brooke writes: 

Fleay gives precise, but highly dubious details (Life and Work of Shakespeare, 1886): 
About 1588-9 Marlowe plotted, and, in conjunction with Kyd (or Greene), Peele, 
and Lodge, wrote I Henry VI for the Queen's Men .... In 1591-2 the Queen's Men 
were in distress and sold, among other plays, I Henry VI to Lord Strange's Men, 
who produced it in 1592 ... 

Brooke also listed !1fteen Marlowe "echoes" - or lines in the play that were 
close to lines in Marlowe's plays, much like the parallelisms that Calvin Hoff­
man quoted in his book, The Murder of the Man Who Was Shakespeare. 

And so, virtually all of the Shakespeare scholars admit that there is an awful 
lot of Marlowe in Henry VI, Part One. We have already quoted Harold Bloom 
in Chapter 16, in which he notes the "mode and rhetoric" of Marlowe through­
out the play. The great scholar also wrote: 

Change the names of the monarchs, substitute Scythia for England, and you would 
have passable Marlowe. Robert Greene was incapable of that good a Marlovian imi­
tation, and George Peele shied away from too overt tracking of Marlowe IShake­
speare: '{he Invflltiorr of the Human, p. 441· 

If, as it has been asserted, that Marlowe wrote the Henry VI trilogy between 
1589 and 1590, then it was something of a departure from his previous plays 
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which were centered around a strong main character: Tamburlaine, Barabas, 
Faustus. In Part One, Henry VI is too young to be the center of the drama. Great 
historical characters such as Lord Talbot and Joan of Arc march across the stage 
as if to give the audience lessons in history. 

All of which suggests that Marlowe wrote these plays under the strong influ­
ence of the wealthy Countess of Pembroke whose ideas about drama were taken 
from the French playwright Robert Garnier (1545-1590). Garnier wrote histor­
ical plays based on a Senecan model, although as a Christian, he differed greatly 
from the pagan Roman playwright. 

After the death of her brother Philip, Mary Sidney, the Countess of Pem­
broke, took upon herself to advance Philip's ideas about reforming English 
drama. She became the center and patroness of a group of writers including 
Edward Dyer, Edmund Spenser, Fulke Greville, and some younger poets, notably 
Samuel Daniel who became her protege and wrote his own version of the War 
of the Roses. She also persuaded her husband to form Pembroke's Men, which 
performed many of Marlowe's plays. The group dissolved in 1593, probably 
because of Marlowe's departure from the scene. David Riggs writes in The World 
of Christopher Marlowe (p. 282): 

The little we know about Pembroke's Men mainly derives from the remarkable 
group of texts that were sold to the printers when the company broke up .... 
According to the title pages of four plays published in 1593-94, the company's 
repertory included Shakespeare's TilliS Alldronicus, The True Tragedy of Richard, 
O(lke of York and The Taming of a Shrew, along with Marlowe's Edward II. The 
True Tragedy and The Shrew were adaptations of Shakespeare's J Henry VI and 
The Taming of rhe Shrew. The Contention between the HOl/ses of York and Lancaster, 
an adaptation of Shakespeare's 2 Hel/ry Vl, almost certainly belonged to Pembroke's 
Men as well. 

It is easy to see how an astute biographer like David Riggs, who uncriti­
cally accepts "Shake-scene" as Shakespeare, has no choice but to distort history 
in order to make the square peg fit into the round hole. His assertions that 
Shakespeare wrote Tiws Andronicus, the Henry VI trilogy, and The Taming of 
the Shrew are not based on fact but on the raise Shake-scene premise. The Titus 
AndroniClis Quarto does not have Shakespeare's name on it. The Taming of the 
Shrew Quarto was published in 1631, eight years after the play's first publication 
in the First Folio. The three Henry VI plays were not published in their present 
forms until they appeared in the First Folio. By accepting a false premise, his­
torians and biographers can make a mess of the truth. 

Henry VI, Part One has all of the earmarks of a Marlowe work: the expert 
use of dialogue to convey intense conflict, poetic ingenuity, and an astute knowl­
edge of history. There is no record of its having been published as a Quarto. How 
it finally wound up in the First Folio thirty-two years later is a tribute to the 

diligence of Edward I3l0unt. 
The play opens at the funeral of Henry V at Westminster Abbey. In attendance 

are the Duke ofl3edford (Regent of France), Duke of Gloucester (Protector), Duke 
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of Exeter, Earl of Warwick, t he Bishop of Wi nchester, and Duke of Somerset. They 
all sing praises to the late king, reminiscent ofTamburiaine. But Marlowe quickly 
turns the scene into one of conflict. The Bishop states: 

He was a king bless'd of the King of Kings ... 
The bartles of the Lord of Hosts he fought; 
The church's prayers made him so prosperous. 
GlouceSfer. The church) Where is ie Had not churchmen pray'd, 
His thread of life had not so soon decay'd. 
None do you like but an effeminate prince 
Whom like a schoolboy you may overawe. 
I-\' inche,ter. Gloucester, whate'er we like, thou are Protector 
And lookest to command the prince and realm. 
Thy wife is proud. She holdeth thee in awe 
More than God or religious churchmen may. 
Gloflce>rer. Name not religion. for thou lov'st the flesh. 

11.1. 28. 31 - 411 

Bedford intervenes , "Cease, cease these jars, and rest your minds in peace." He 
hopes to quell these "civil broils" before they do great damage to the state. 

A messenger then brings bad news from France. The English have been 
driven out of seven cities. The cause' Want of men, money, and disputing among 
the generals. A second messenger brings further bad news: the Dauphin Charles 
has been crowned king in Rheims and has gathered around him a group of con­
federates: the Bastard of Orleans, Reignier, the Duke of Anjou, and the Duke of 
Alencon. A third messenger brings additional bad news: Lord Talbot has been 
captured by the enemy after a ferocious fight. Meanwhile, Orleans is besieged, 
and the English army, weakened and faint , needs fresh supplies. The nobles pre­
pare to go to France, while Winchester plots to take control of the young king 
when the nobles are away. 

The next scene takes us to France to the Dauphin's camp before Orleans. 
They comment on the weakness of the English, but are beaten back by them. The 
Dauphin is furious . The Bastard of Orleans arrives and tells the Dauphin that he 
brings with him "a holy maid," Joan Puce]le. The maid speaks to the Dauphin: 

Dauphin, I am by birth a shepherd's daughter, 
Ivly Ivit untrain'd in any kind of art.. .. 
God's mother deigned to appear to me, 
And in a vision full of majesty 
Will'd me to leave my base vocation 
And free my country from calamity : 
Her aid she promi,'d and assur'd success 
Ask mt· what question thou canst possible, 
And 1will answer unpremeditated. 
My courage try by combat, if thou dar'st 
And thou shalt find that J ,'xcerd my sex. 
Resolve on this: thou shalt be fortunate 
If thou receive me for thy warlike matc. 

11.2.72-73,78-82,87-921 
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The Dauphin is impressed. After a test of strength, in which Joan defeats 
the D~llphin, he exclaims, "Tholl ~rt an Amawn and fightest with the sword of 
Deborah." 

Joan then vows to rai,e the English siege ilgainst Orleans. Reignier speaks : 
"Woman, do what thou canst to save our honours. Drive them from Orleans 
and be immortaliz'd." 

The scene then shifts to London where Gloucester is trying to enter the 
Tower but is denied by Cardinal Winchester's men. But when Gloucester threat­
ens to burst the gates open, he is finally let in. What ensues is hot verbal exchange 
between Gloucester and the Cardinal, which results in violence. The Mayor 
finally arrives to separate the two forces. However, he cannot stop the two antag­
onists from threatening each other. 

The scene then shifts back to France, to Orleans, where the English are 
ready to defend their position. Talbot enters, having been exchanged for a French 
prisoner, arranged by Bedford. He speaks with Salisbury, the veteran warrior, 
who taught King Henry V how to win wars, describing how he was treated as a 
prisoner. The French begin their attack, and Salisbury is mortally wounded. Tal­
bot vows revenge. However, his army is in retreat. "A woman clad in armour 
chaseth them," he says. 

Talbot then briefly encounters Joan. He is determined to "chastise this high­
minded strumpet." But Joan is too busy to stop and fight. "Thy hour is not yet 
come," she tells him. "I must go victual Orleans forthwith. O'ertake me if thou 
canst! ( scorn thy strength .... This day is ours, as many more shall be." 

(n Scene 6, the French exult in their victory in Orleans. The Dauphin speaks: 

'Tis Joan, not we, by whom this d~y is won; 
For which I will divide my crown with her.. 
No longer on Saint Denis will we cry, 
~ut Joan la Pucelle shall be France's saint. 

11.6.17- 18,28- 291 

In Act 2 the English, led by Talbot, retilke Orleans by finding a weak point 
in the French defense and scaling the wall. The French, taken by surprise, blame 
Joan for giving them a false sense of security. She sets forth a new strategy: 

Question, my lords, no further of the case, 

How or which way. 'Tis sure they found some pl~ce 


But weakly guarded, where the breach was made. 

And now there rests no other shifl but this-

To gather our soldiers, scatler'd and dispcrs'd, 

And lay new platforms to endamage them. 


12.1. 72-771 

In the next scene a messenger brings an invitation to Talbot to visit the 
Countess of Auvergne at her castle so "that she may boast she hath beheld the 
man whose glory fills the world with loud report." Talbot accepts the invitation. 
Of course the Countess is plotting to kill Talbot once she takes him prisoner. 
But Talbot outwits her by having his suldiers surround the castle and entering 
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it on cue. When the Countess realizes that the game is up, she invites Talbot to 
stay. "With all my heart, and think me honoured to feast so great a warrior in 
my house." 

The next scene takes us to London, to the garden at Temple Hall, where a 
verbal duel is going on between Richard Plantagenet and Somerset, witnessed 
by Warwick, Earl of Suffolk, Vernon, and others. The dispute is over who is 
telling the truth. Somerset asks Warwick to judge between them, but Warwick 

claims to be "no wiser than a daw [a stupid bird I." Richard then suggests that 
those who believe him pluck a white rose off the brier, while Somerset plucks a 
red rose. Most of the onlookers pluck white roses, which causes Richard to com­
ment, "Hath not thy rose a canker, Somerset?" To which Somerset replies, "Hath 
not thy rose a thorn, Plantagenet?" I)ut the crux of the duel is revealed in the 
fo 1I0w i ng exc ha nge: 

Somerset. Uy him that made me, I' ll maintain my words 
On any plot of ground in Christendom! 
Was not thy father, Richard Earl of Cambridge, 
For treason executed in our late king's days? 
And by his treason stand'st not thou attainted, 
Corrupted, and exempt from ancient gentry? 
His trespass yet lives guilty in thy blood, 
And till thou be restor 'd thou art a yeoman. 

Richard. My father was attached, not attainted; 
Condemn'd to die for treason, but no traitor; 
And that I'll prove on better men than Somerset, 
Were growing time once ripened to my wil!. ... 

Somerset. Ah, thou shalt find us ready for thee still; 
And know us by these colours as thy foes, 
For these my friends in spite of thee shall wear. 

Richard. And, by my soul, this pale and angry rose, 
As cognizance of my blood -drinking hate, 
Will I for ever, and my faction, wear 
Until it wither with me to my grave 
Or flourish to the height of my degree .... 

Warwit·k. And here I prophesy: this brawl to -day 
Grown to thi, faction in the Temple Garden 
Shall send, between Red Rose and the White 
A thousand souls to death and deadly night. 

12.4. /l8-99, 104-111, 124-1271 

Thus began the War of the Roses, which did not end until the time of Black­

heath held, in 14Y7. 
The next scene takes place in the Tower of London where Richard Planta­

genet has gone to visit his aging uncle Mortimer who has been a prisoner there 
for many yt:ars. He asks the aged man why his father, Earl of Cambridge, was 
beheaded. Mortimer, who was once a legitimate heir to the throne, tells a long 
complicated tale of family intrigue, rivalry, and royal ambition, at the end of 
which Richard concludes that his father's execution "was nothing less than 
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bloody tyranny." Ivlortimer dies in Richard's arms, and Richard vows [0 redeem 
his name. 

The Third Act opens at the Parliament House with the King, Exeter, 
Gloucester, Winchester, Suffolk, Richard Plantagenet attending. The scene opens 
wi t h Winchester and Gloucester engaged in hea ted argu ment. Fi nally, t he young 
King speaks : 

Uncles of Gloucester and o f Winchester. 

The special watchmen of our English weal, 

I would prevail, if prayers might prevail , 

To join your hearts in love and amity. 

0, what a sca ndal is it to our <.:fawn 

That two such noble peers as ye should jar! 

Believe me, lords, my tender years can tell 

Civil dissension is a viperous worm 

That gnaws the bowels of the commonwealth. 


[3.165-731 

But it takes the Mayor to stop the fighting between the two men's factions 
outside the Parliament. Arter much pleading by the King, the two men reluc­
tantly decide to be as friends. The King is overjoyed. His next bit of business 
regards Richard Plantagenet of which the King says, "Our pleasure is that Richard 
be restored to his blood." To this Winchester agrees. The King speaks to Richard : 

Stoop then and set yo ur knee against my fout, 

And in rcguerdon of that duty done 

I girt thee with the valiant sword of York. 

Rise, Richard, like a true Plantagenet , 

And rise created princely Duke of York. 


[3.1168-172J 

And while all are congratulating Richard, Somerset, seething with hate and 
resentment, in an aside says menacingly: "Perish, base prince, ignoble Duke of 
York!" Meanwhile, the King and his men prepare to sail to France. But Exeter 
expresses fear of the future. Alone, he says: 

A)" we may march in Engl and or in France, 

Not seeing what is likely to ensue. 

This late dissension grown betwixt the peers 

Burns under feigned ashes of forg'd love 

And will at last break out into a name. 

As fest'red members rot but by degree 

Till bon es and nesh and sinew, fall awa)'. 

So \\'ill this base and envious discurd breed .. 

Which is so plain that Exeter doth wish 

His days may Ilnish ere that hapless time . 


[3.1 186- t93 , IY9- 2001 

Scene 2 takes us to France. before Rouen , where we find Joan Pucelle dis­
guised with four soldiers with sacks on their backs. Joan's plan is for them to 
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enter the city as poor market folk seeking to sell their corn. They succeed in gain­
ing entry. Joan then , usi ng a torch in a tower, signals to the french forces where 
they may enter the city. As the french enter, they encounter Talbot, Burgundy, 
and Bedford, who is wounded. Talbot cu rses Joan , "that witch, that damned 
sorceress." He dares /\Iencon, "Dare ye come forth and meet us on the field'" 
Alencon declines the invitation. 

Sir John Fastolfe and a Captain enter the scene, which provides the audi­
ence with a bit of comic relief. 

Captain. Whither away, Sir loh n Fastolfe, in such haste) 
Pasta/fe. Whither away] To save myse lfby nigh!. 

We are like to have the overthrow again. 
Captain. What; Will )'OU fl y, and leave Lord Talbot t 
Fa5to/fe. Ayl All the Talbots in the world, to save my life. 
Captain. Cowardly knight , ill fortune follow thee l 

[3.2. 104-1091 

The coward in battle is always a source of humor on the stage. Meanwhile, 
Joan, Alencon and Charles also flee. Despite their setback, they continue to have 
faith in Joan's ability to lead them to victory. 

Joan decides to entice the Duke of Burgundy away from Talbot. A parley 
is arranged whereby Joan will be able to speak with the Duke in private . She 
speaks to him with passion, appealing to his French patriotism. When she IS 

done, he says to himself: 

I am vanquished' These haughlY words of hers 
Have batt 'red me like roaring cannon-shot 
And made me almost yield my knees .... 
My forces and my power of rnen are y()urs . 
S() farewell, Talbot' "II no longer trust thee. 

13 3 7!l- 84] 

Scene 4 takes us to the Palace in Paris where we find Henry, Gloucester, 
Winchester, Richard Duke of York, Suffolk, Somerset, Warwick, Exeter, Vernon, 
Basse t, and Talbot. Talbot report s of their military successes , having recaptured 
fifty fortresses, twelve cities, and seven walled towns . The King, having heard 
about Talbot from his father, and now meeting him for the first time, knights 
him, making him Earl of Shrewsbury. Everyone exits the stage except Vernon 
and Basset. Vernon , a follower of the Duke of York, and Basset, a follower of 
Somerset, get into a vicious argument in which Vernon strikes Basset. Basset 
vows to take the matter up wi th the King. 

In /\ct Four, Henry is crowned King Henry VI in the Palace in Paris . After 
the Governor of Paris takes his oath of loyalty to the English king, Fastolfe enters 
carrying a letter from the Duck of Burgundy. Talbot takes this opportunity to 
berate Fastolfe and str ip him of his knighthood for his cowardice. The King then 

banishes Fastolfe. 
Gloucester then reads the letter fro m Burgundy in which the Duke states 

tha t he has switched h is allegiance to Cha r1es, " the righ t ful Ki ng of france." The 
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King sends Talbot to show I3urgundy "how ill we brook his treason," Vernon 
and Basset then enter begging the King to grant them combat over insults made 
between Somerset and York concerning the character of their respective roses. 
The King is annoyed beyond measure, but the two men will not be reconciled, 
Gloucester speaks: 

Presumptuous vassals, are you not asham'd 
With this immodest clamorous outrJge 
To trouble and disturb the King and us' 

14,1. 125-1271 

To which the King adds: 

Come thither you that would be combatants 

Remember where we are, 

In France, amongst a fickle wavering nation, 

If they perceive dissension in our looks 

And that within ourselves we disagree, 

How will their grudging stomachs be provok'd 

To wilful disobedience, and rebel I , 


Cousin of York, we institute your Grace 

To be our Regent in these parts of France; 

And, good m)' Lord of Somerset, unite 

Your troops of horsemen with his bands of foot; 

And like true subjects, sons of your progenitors, 

Go cheerfully together and digest 

Your angry choler on your enemies, 


[134-147,162-1681 

The scene ends with Exeter alone on stage mulling over the situation: 

",No simple man that sees 

This jarring discord of nobility, 

This shouldering of each other in the court, 

This factious bandying of their favourites, 

But that it doth presage ,ome ill event. 

'Tis much when ,,:eptres are in chilJren's hands, 

But more when envy breeds unkind division, 

There comes the ruin, there begins confusion, 


IIR7-19.J 1 

In Act 4, Scene 2, we find Talbot before Bordeaux urging the General of the 
French to surrender the city and thereby avoid bloodshed, But he rejects the 
offer, informing Talbot that the Dauphin's forces are strong enough to defeat 
him, 

Meanwhile, York and his troops, in the Plains of Gascony, are informed by 
a messenger that the Dauphin's army is headed toward Bordeaux to fight Tal­
bot. But York cannot move to help Talbot because Somerset has not provided 
the promised su pply of horsemen. Without tha t aid, Talbot. who has been joi ned 
by his son, are doomed, Sir William Lacy enters the scene and urges York to go 
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10 Talbot's aid. But York realizes that to do so without Somerset's horsemen 
\vould lead to defeat. 

The scene then shifts to elsewhere in Gascony where Somerset and his men 
are gathered. One of Talbot's captains is with him. 

Somerset. It is too late; I cannot send them now. 
This expedition was by York and Talbot 
Too rashly plotted .... The over-daring Talbot 
Hath sullied all his gloss of former honour 
By this unheedful, desperate, wild adventure. 
York set him on to fight, and die in shame, 
That, Talbot dead, great York might bear the name. 

[44. HI[ 

Sir William Lacy enters and chastises Somerset for not joining forces with 
York. But Somerset insists that the disaster is all York's fault. 

Scene Five takes us to the English camp nt'ar Bordeaux. Talbot and his son 
John engage in a moving father-son dialogue, somewhat similar to an operatic 
recitative with rhyming lines. Here are several: 

'{a/bar. Shall all thy mother's hopes lie in one tomb i 

John. Ay, r«ther than I'll shame my mother's womb. 
Talbot. Upon my blessing I command thee go. 
John To fIght I will, but not to fly the foe. 
Ta/bot . Part of thy father may be sav'd in thee. 
John. No pan of him but will be shame in me. 
Ta/bar . Thou never hadst renown, nor canst not lose it. 
John . Yes, your renowned name. Shall flight abuse it i 

[4.534-41[ 

Only a superb poet could have written such moving dialogue, which mllst have 
been an actor's dream. 

Scene 6 takes place on the field of battle, with Talbot and son once more 
engaging in eloquent rhyming dialogue discussing whether to Oy from the scene 
or die in battle. The son dies first, and Talbot dies soon after. 

The French enter the scene and Charles comments on the defeat of Talbot: 
"Had York and Somerset brought rescue in, We should have found a bloody day 
of this." Sir William Lucy enters and takes possession of the bodies from the 
scornful French. The death of Talbot emboloens Charles and Joan to march on 
Paris. "All will be ours, now bloody Talbot's slain," exults Charles. 

Act Five takes us to the Palace in London where the King, Gloucester , and 
Exeter are present. The King has receiveo letters from the Pope, the Emperor, 
ano the Earl of Armangnac urging him to end the wars between two Christian 
nations. In order to facilitate peace, Arl11Jngnac offers his daughter'S hand in 
marriage 10 King Henry "with a large and sumptuous dowry." The King pro­
fesses that he is too young for marriage, but will do whatever is best for his 
country. 

At this point, Winchester, in Cardinal's habit, l'nters with three ambassa­
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dors, including a Papal Legale. Exeler recalls to himself what Henry V had told 

him: "I:, once he come to be a cardinal, He'll make his cap coequal with the 
Crown. 

The King then directs the ambassadors and Winchester to go to France to 
make arrangements for the marriage. All leave the stage, except Winchester and 
the Legate. 

WincheSler. Stay, my Lord Legate . You shall first receive 
The sum of money which J promised 
Should be delivered to his Holiness 
For clothing me in these grave ornaments. 

Legale. I will attend upon your lordship's leisure. (Leaves) 
Winchesler. Now Winchester will not submit, 1 trow, 

Or be inferior to the proudest peer. 
Humphrey of Gloucester, thou shalt well perceive 
That neither in birth or for authority 
The Bishop will be overborne by thee. 
I'll either make thee SlOOp and bend the knee 
Or sack this country with a mutiny. 

[ 5.1.51-621 

Scene 2 takes us to the Plains in Anjou where we meet Charles, Burgundy, 
Aiencon, Bastard, Reignier and Joan. A scout informs them that the English 
army, once divided, is now united and poses a formidable opposition. But Joan 
scoffs at this new situation. 

loan. or all base passions fear is mosl accurs'd. 
Command Ihe conquesl, Charles, il shall be thine, 
Lei Henry frel and alilhe world repine. 

[5.2.1l:\- 201 

And so the French move on toward battle. In Scene Three, they reach the 
scene of battle. York has conquered, and the French are in flight. Joan asks for 
a sign from the Monarch of the North, Lucifer, ofwhal will happen. The fiends 
enter but are silent. "Help me this once," she cries, "That France may get the 
I'idd." They shake their heads and leave. "My incanlaliom are too weak," she 
lamenls, "and hell too slrong for me 10 buckle with. Now, France, Ihy glory 
droopeth to the dust." 

The French fly, but Joan is laken prisoner by York. They exit the stage as 
Suffolk and Margaret enler. She, the daughter of Reignier , is his prisoner. He is 
smitten by her beauty and has fallen in love. "She's beautiful, and therefore to 
be woo'd; She is a woman, therefore to be won." But he is already married. And 
so he hits on a scheme to have Margaret marry King Henry. He confers with her 
father, who, in the interests of peace, consents 10 the marriage. 

Scene Four takes us to the Duke of York in Anjou. Joan is condemned to 
be burned at the stake. After attempting 10 save herselfby pleading pregnancy, 
her story falls apart amid shouting and argument. She is finally led away to her 
fale. 
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Cardinal Winchester then enters with a commission from the King to York 
to settle this war and come Lo terms with the French, York is outraged, 

Is all our travail turn'd to this erlect 7 

After the slaughter of so many peers. 
So many captains. gentlemen. and soldiers. 
That in this quarrel have been overthrown 
And sold their bodies for their country's benefit. 
Shall we at last conclude effeminate peace! 

154 102-1071 

But Warwick reassures him, "Be patient. York, Ifwe conclude a peace, It shall 
be with such strict and severe covenants As little shall the Frenchman gain 
thereby, " 

Charles, Alencon, Bastard, Reignier , and others enter to confer with the 
"lords of England" concerning the terms of the peace. York insists that Charles 
pledge loyalty to the King of England, He refuses at first, but then is cajoled by 
the others to accept. Charles pledges fealty to the crown of England and the rest 
give tokens of fealty, And thus a solemn peace is established. 

Scene Five takes us back to the Palace in London, Suffolk tries to persuade 
the King to marry Margaret. The King is won over. But he is already commit­
ted to marry the daughter of the Earl of Armangnac. Gloucester and Exeter try 
to have the King honor his promise to marry Armangnac's daughter who would 
bring a very large dowry. But Suffolk cleverly argues that a marriage based on 
love is better than one based on force. The King finally succombs to Suffolk's 
persuasion and agrees to marry Margaret. He directs Suffolk to go to France and 
bring the beautiful Margaret back to England, 

The scene ends with Suffolk, alone , revelling in his victory, 

Thus Suffolk hath prevail'd; and thus he goes 

As did the youthful Paris once to Gree(e, 

With hope to rind the like event in love 

But prosper better than the Troyan did, 

Margaret shall no'" be Queen. and rule the King; 

But I will rule both her . the King . and the realm, 


15.5. t03- lOS I 

Thus ends the play with a clear indication of what is to come in the sequel. 
The chance that someone without any known education, without any record 

of having written anything before 1593, at age 29. would be able to write a play 
of such complexity, with so many historical characters, is not only remote but 
beyond normal possibility, The play required a thorough and intimate knowl­
edge of fifteenth-century English history acqUired through many hours of read­
ing and analysis, It also required the author to transform all of that detailed 
history into a drama enhanced by nothing less than poetic genius, 

There was only one writer capable of such a daunting task: Christopher 
Marlowe, who had the education, the knowledge, and poetic skill to put it all 
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together. The reader finds his ingenious dramatic sense in virtually every scene, 
in which dialogue is sk illfully used to quickly sketch characters in conflict with 
each other. The play revealed enormolls talent and mastery o f stage presenta­
tion, which would fa re him well in the future. 
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Henry VI, Part Two 

Henry VI, Part Two begins where Part One leaves off. In the last scene of 
Part One, Suffolk has succeeded in persuading the King to marry Margaret, 
daughter of Reignier, and is sent to France to make the necessary arrangements. 

Act I, Scene I takes place at the Palace. Suffolk has returned and informs 
the King that he married Margaret as the King's proxy in an elaborate ceremony, 
and he has brought Margaret to the King, who is quite taken by her beauty and 
"grace in speech." 

Suffolk then asks Gloucester (Duke of Humphrey), the Protector, to read the 
"articles of contracted peace" between King Henry and French King Charles. But 
when Gloucester reads "that the duchy of Anjou and the county of Maine shall be 
released and delivered to the King her father," he suddenly drops the document 
and is unable to read any further. He claims to have become ~uddenly ill. The Car­
dinal of Winchester, Gloucester's enemy, picks up the reading, after which the 
King, Queen and Suffolk leave to attend Margaret's formal coronation as Queen. 

Gloucester addresses the remaining peers, Salisbury, Warwick, York, Som­
erset, Buckingham, and the Cardinal of Winchester. lIe is griefstricken with the 
terms orthe marriage contract in which the King received no dowry but gave away 
Anjoll and Maine which had been conquered at great cost in blood. He cries out: 

o peers of England, shameful is this league! 
Fatal this marriage, cancelling your fame, 
13lotting your nJmes from books of memory, 
Rasing the characters of your renown, 
Defacing monuments of conquer'd France, 
Undoing all as all had never been! 

[1.1. 97-102 ) 

The Duke of York speaks: 

I never read but England's kings have had 
Large sums of gold and dowries with their wives, 
And our King Henry gives away his own 
To match with her that brings no vantag~s. 

[ 127-130) 

170 
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After Gloucester leaves, the Cardinal cautions the peers: " Let not his sooth­

ing words bewitch your hearts; be wise and circumspect." He then leaves to 

counsel the Duke of Suffolk. But it is the Duke of York who is most affected by 

the growing dissension among the peers. Alone, he speaks: 

Anjou and Maine both given unto the French? 
Cold news for mel For I had hope of France, 
Even as I have of fertile England', soil. 
A day will come when York shall claim his own; 
And th~refore I will tak~ the Nevils' part s , 
And make d show of love to proud Duke Humphrey, 
And when I spy advantage, (' Iaim the crown, 
For that's the golden mark I seek to hit.. .. 
Then York, be still awhile, till time do serve. 
Watch thou and wake while others be asleep, 
To pry into the secrets of the state, 
Till Henry, surfeiting in joys of love, 
With his new bride and England's dear-bought queen, 
And Humphrey with peers be fall'n at jars. 
Then will I raise aloft the milk-white rose, 
With whose sweet smell the air shall be perfum'd, 
And in my standard bear the arms of York 
To grapple with the house of Lancaster; 
And force perforce I'll make him yield the crown 
Whose bookish rule hath pull'd fair England down. 

[235- 242,247- 2581 

Scene 2 takes us to the house of the Duke of Gloucester in London. The 

Duke and his wife Eleanor enter the stage . She asks the Duke why does he look 

so unhappy. He tells her that he has had a bad dream: 

Methought this staff, mine office-badge in court, 
Was broke in twain ; by whom I have forgot, 
But as I think, it was by th' Cardinal ; 
And on the pieces of the broken wand 
Were plac 'd the heads of Edmund Duke of Somerset 
And William de la Pole, fir st Duke of Suffolk . 
This was my dream . What it doth bode, Cod knows. 

[1.2.25-311 

His wife tells him it means that "he that breaks a stick ofGoucester 's grove 

shall lose his head for his presumption." Then she goes on to relate a dream of 

her own: 

Methought I sat in seat of majesty 
In the cathedral church of Westminster 
And in that chair where kings and queens were crown'd; 
Where Henry and Dame Margaret kneel'd to me 
And on my head did set the diadem . 

136-4U ) 
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Gloucester chides her. Aren't yo u powerful enough as wife of the Protector' 

And wilt thou still be hammering treacher y 
To tumble down thy husband and thyself 
From top of honour to disgrace's feet' 

14 7-4\11 

[t was only a dream, she replies. "Next time ['II keep my dreams to myself and 
no t be check'd." The Duke is assuaged . "I am pleas'd again," he says, ending the 
argument. A messenger than enters and tells the Duke that his presence is 
requested by the King and Queen to hawk at Saint Alban's. The Duke asks his 
wife to come with him. She tells him that she will follow presently. Alone she 
speaks: 

Follow J must; I cannot go before 

While Glo ucester bears this base and humble mind. 

Were J a man, a duke, and next of blood, 

I would remove these tedious stumbling blocks 

And smooth Ill y way upon their headless necks; 

And being a woman, I will nOI be slack 

To play my pari in FOrlune's pageanl. 


161-671 

In her obsess ive quest for power she has enlisted the assistance of priest lohn 
Hume, Ma rgery Jourdain, a witch, and Roger Bolingbroke, a conjurer. She pays 
Hume in gold. But what she doesn' t realize is tha t Hume is already in the pay o f 
the Ca rdinal and Suffolk to entrap her and Gloucester. 

Scene 3 takes place in the Palace in London. Several petitioners have come 
to deliver their supplications to the Lord Protector. But he is not there . The 
Queen and Suffolk enter and request to see the supplications. One petitioner 
accuses his master, the Armourer, of having said that the Duke of York was the 
rightful heir to the crown. This upsets the Queen who tells them all to take their 
suits up with the Protector. When the Queen and Suffolk are alone, she com­
plains about the King: 

I th oug ht King Henry had resem bled thee 
In courage, cour/ship, and proportion; 
But all his mind is bent 10 holiness , 
To number Ave-Maries on his beads; 
His champions are the prophets and apostles. 
H is weapons holy saws of sac red writ; 
His study is his lilt yard, and his lows 
Are brazen images of ca nnonized saints. 
1 would Ihe college of Ihe Cardinals 
Would choose him Pope and carry him to Rome 
And SCI the triple (rown upon hi , head' 

IU'ii-ti ll 

She also complains about the peers: Gloucester, the Cardinal , Somerset, 
Guckingham, and York. But her bitterest complaint is against Gloucester's wife : 
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Not all these lords do vex me one half as much 
As that proud dame, the Lord Protector 's wife . 
She sweeps it through the court with troops of ladies, 
l\'lore like an empress than Duke Humphrey's wife .... 
Shall 1 not live to be aveng'd on her l 

Contemptuous base-born callot as she is, 
She vaunted 'mongst her minions ('other day, 
The very train of her worst wearing gown 
Was better worth than all my father's lands 
Till Suffolk gave two dukedoms for his daughter. 

[73-76,80-851 

Suffolk tells the Queen that the Lord Protector's wife will soon be taken care 
of. But he adds: 

Although we fancy not the Cardinal 
Yet must we join with him and with the lords 
Till we have brought Duke Humphrey in disgrace. 
As for the Duke of York, this late complaint 
Will make but little for his benefit. 
So one by one we'll weed them all at last, 
And you yourself shall steer the happy helm. 

[92-981 

At this point the King, Gloucester, the Cardinal, Buckingham, York, Somer­
set, Salisbury, Warwick, and the Duchess of Gloucester enter and join Suffolk and 
the Queen. The issue is who will be Regent in France. The King doesn't care who 
it will be. Which leads to an argument between the Queen and Gloucester, the 
Protector. Suffolk, the Cardinal, Somerset, Buckingham, and the Queen gang up 
on Gloucester and accuse him of corruption, cruelty, and misuse of public funds. 

Gloucester leaves the chamber in d huff. The Queen drops her fan and 
accuses the Duchess of picking it up. "Give me my fan," she cries, and boxes the 
ear of the Duchess. " Was it you l " 

VI/chess. Was't II Yea, 1 it W3S, proud Frenchwoman' 
Could I come near your beauty with my nails, 
l'lel set my ten commandments in your face. 

[ 138-140] 

After this delicious display of feminine fury, Gloucester returns to the cham­

ber. He had walked about the quadrangle to cool his anger. He is now ready to 
deal with the affairs of the commonwealth. He recommends York to be Regent 
in France. 13ut Suffolk protests. 

The petitioner who accused the Armourer of having said that York was the 
rightful heir to the English crown is brought back into the chamber. The accused 
denies having ever made such a statement. Humphrey decides that because this 
dispute casts suspicion on York, that Somerset should be the Regent to France. 
He also condemns both petitioner and the Armourer to tight it out between 
themselves. 
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Scene 4 takes place in Gloucester's garden where it has been arranged for 
Eleanor Humphrey, the Duchess, to question the spirit that the witch and Bol­
ingbroke will bring forth. When Eleanor asks why it is taki ng so long for the 
spirit to rise up, Bolingbroke explain s: 

Patience, good lady; wizards know their times . 
Deep night , dark night, the silent of the night, 
The time of night when Troy was set on fire; 
The time when screech owls cry and bandogs howl 
And spirits walk and ghosts break up their graves­
That time best befits the work we have in hand. 

[1.4.14-191 

This whole scene reminds us of Doctor Faustus, and the reference to Troy 
reminds us of Dido. Marlowe had probably learned a lot about wizards and 
spirit s from his relationship with the Ralegh group, and he may have even 
attended a seance or two. The Duke of Northumberland was numbered among 
his friends. 

During the seance, Bolingbroke asks the spirit what sha ll become of the 
King, and what fate awaits the Duke of Suffolk. One of the priests present writes 
down the questions and answers. As the spirit descends to darkness, the session 
is interrupted by the sudden appearance of the Duke o f York, Buckingham, and 
guards. All present are arrested, including the Duchess . 

York. The King is now in progress towards Saint Alban's, 
With him the husband of this lovely lad y. 
Thi ther goes these news as fast as horse can carry them­
A sorry breakfast for m y Lord Protector. 

171-74 1 

Act 2, Scene I takes place at Saint Alban's. On stage we find the King, Queen, 
Gloucester, the Cardinal, Suffolk, and the falconers. Whenever Gloucester and 
the Cardinal are in the same scene we can expect fireworks. Add Suffolk and 
the Queen and we get rOYJI sa rcasm and accusations. The King finally ca ll s for 
peace . 

Meanwhile , in a series of insulting asides, the Cardinal challenges Glouces­
ter to a duel, "This evening at the eas t side of the grove ." 

Al l of this is interrupted by someone cry ing "A miracle'" It appears that a 
blind man has suddenly received sight at Saint Alban's shrine. After an elabo­
ratt: comic scene, tht: blind man proves to be a fraud . Buckingham then arrives 
to bring the news of the arrcst ofGlouccster's wife for dealing with witc hes and 
con jurers, raising up wicked spirits, demanding of King Henry life and death . 

Gloucester is shocked. "I banish her my bed and company and give her as 
a p rey to law and shame that hath dishonoured Gloucester's honest name." 

Scene 2 takes place in London, a t the Duke of York 's garden . On stage are 
York, Sa li sbury and Warwick. York spends most of the scene expla in ing to these 
peers the historical background to hi s claim to the throne. After which, both 
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Salisbury and Warwick pledge loyalty to York. York thanks them, but tells them 
that he is not their king until "my sword be stain'd with the heart-blood of the 
house of Lancaster." 

Scene 3 takes place in the Hall of Justice where Gloucester's wife and her 
accomplices have been tried before the King and found guilty. They are all con­
demned to death, except for the Duchess who is banished to the Isle of Man in 
the care of Sir John Stanley. Gloucester is grief-stricken. Before he goes, the King 
asks for his staff as the King, urged by the Queen, now feels quite capable of 
protecting himself. 

Glollcester. My staff? Here, noble Henr y, is my staff. 
As willingly do I the sa me resign 
As e'er thy father Henry made it mine . 

[2.3. 32-34] 

After Gloucester leaves, York invites the King to witness the duel between 
the petitioner and the Armourer. This is another of Marlowe's light comic scenes. 
The petitioner wins. 

Scene 4 is one of the saddest in the play. It takes place in a London street 
where Gloucester is waiting to see his wife led in a humiliating procession. 
Presently, the Duchess enters, barefoot in a white sheet with papers pinned upon 
her back and a candle burning in her hand. She is led by the Sheriff, and offi­
cers, and Sir John Stanley. She pleads with Gloucester to "ban thine enemies, 
both mine and thine." He replies: 

Thy greatest help is quiet, gentle Nel!. 
1 pray Ihee sorl thy heart to patience; 
These few days' wonder will be quickly worn. 

[2.4. 67-69] 

Meanwhile, a herald informs Gloucester that he is summoned to the King's 
parliament at the first of the month. He then asks Sir John Stanley to treat his 
wife well, and leaves. 

Act 3, Scene I takes us to the Parliament where the King, Queen, Cardinal, 
Suffolk, York, Buckingham, Salisbury and Warwick are waiting for Gloucester 
to arrive. The Queen fills her husband with her own hatred and suspic ion of 
Gloucester. "Humphrey is no little man in England. First note that he is near 
you in descent, and should you fall, he is the next will mou nt." 

Suffolk then accuses Gloucester of having instigated his wife's "devilish 
practices" and of being fu II of "deep deceit." Bu t the King defends Gloucester as 
being "virtuous, mild, and too well-given to dream on evil or to work my down­
fall." Somerset, the Regent of France, then enters with some very bad news. 

King. Wekome, Lord Somerset. VVhat nc\vs from France) 
Somerset. That all your Interest in those territories 

b utterly bereft you. AI! is 1051. 

Killg . Cold nt'WS, l.ord Somerset' BUI God's will be done. 
[3.!. R3 - R6[ 
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Gloucester finally arrives, and Suffolk loses no time in arresting him for trea­
son. York makes accusations of corruption, which Gloucester answers forth­
rightly. Suffolk then commits Glo ucester to the Cardinal , "To keep untIl your 
further time of trial." However, the King tells Gloucester, "My conscience tells 
me you a re innocent." And when he is led awa y as a pri soner , the King erupts 
in grief. He cannot hel p him "so mighty are his vowed enemies. His fortunes I 
will weep , and 'twixt each groan say 'W ho's a traitor? Gloucester he is none.'" 

The King leaves, but the Queen, Suffolk, the Ca rdin al, York, and Somerset 
remain behind to plot Gloucester's murder. They all agree that he must be mur­
dered, and the Cardinal promises to "provide hi s executioner." 

A post then en ters informing them that there has been an uprising in Ire­
land and that unless the rebellion be put down, it will spread and get worse. The 
question the n becomes who should the King send to Ireland to quash the rebel­
lion . Somerset and York exchange sa rcas tic barbs . York accuses Somerset ofhav­
ing lost France. Somerset says that York would have done worse. The Cardinal 
hopes to sol ve t he problem: 

My lord of York, try what your fortune is. 
Th' uncivil kerns of Ireland are in arms 
And temper clay with blood of Englishmen . 
To Ireland will you lead a band of men , 
Collected choicely, from each county some, 
And try your hap against the Irishmen? 

[3.1. 309-3 141 

York agrees to go. " Provide me soldiers, Lords, whiles I take order for mine own 
affairs." And so it is agreed by all that York will undertake the task of subduing 
the Irish. 

When all have left the stage , except York, he reveals his true plan in a solil­
oquy that is as powerful as anything one might find in Hamlet. In m y opinion, 
it is further evidence that one man , Ma rlowe, wro te bo th plays. York speaks: 

Now, York, or never, steel thy fearful thought s 

An d change misdou bt to reso lution .... 

Faster than springtime , how 'rs comes th ought on thought, 

And not a thought but thinks on dignity, 

My bra in, more busy than the labo ur ing spider, 

Weaves ted ious snares to trap mine enem ies. 

Well, nobks, well' 'tis politicly done 

To send me packing with a host of men .... 

I take it kindly. Yet be well ass ur'd 

You put sha rp weapons in a maJman's hands. 

Whiles I in Ireland nourish a might y band, 

I will stir up in England some black storm 

Shall blow ten thou sa nd souls to hea ven or hell; 

And this fell tempest shall not cease to rage 

Until the golden circuit on my hcaJ, 

Like to the gltlrious sun 's transparent beams, 

Do ca lm the fury of this mad-oreJ flaw . 
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And for a minister of my intent 
I have seduc'd a headstrong Kentishman, 
John Cade of Ashford, 
To make commotion, as full well he can, 
Under the title of fohn tvlortimer. ... 
This devil here shall be my substitute; 
For that John Mortimer which now is dead 
In face, in gait, in speech, he doth resemble. 
By this I shall perceive the commons' mind, 
How they affect the house and claim of York. 
Say he be taken, rack'd, and tortured; 
I know no pain they can inflict upon him 
Will make him say I mov'd him to those arms. 
Say that he thrive, a, ' tiS great like he will; 
Why, then from Ireland come I with my strength 
And reap the harvest which that rascal sow'd; 
For Humphrey being dead, as he shall be, 
And Henry put apart, the next for mel 

[331-359,371-3831 

Scene 2 takes us to a Room of State at Bury SI. Edmund's. Two murderers 
have just killed Humphrey. They meet up with Suffolk who asb, "have you dis­

patched this thing?" They answer affirmatively. Suffolk then says: 

Why, that's well said. Go, get you to my house. 
I will reward you for this venturou, deed. 

[3.2. 8-91 

The murderers leave, and the King, Queen, Cardinal, and Somerset enter. 
The King is ready for Humphrey's trial and requests that he be brought forth, 
Suffolk goes to get Glouceter, but returns looking pale and trembling. The 
King asks: "What's the matter Suffolk l " He answers: " Dead in his bed, my 

lord! Gloucester is dead." The King faints, and when Suffolk revives him, he 

says: 

I.ay not thy hands on me. For bear, I sayl 
Their tOU<'h affright s me ~s a serpent 's sting. 
Thou baleful messenger, out of my sight' 

146-481 

The Queen, defending Suffolk, then unburdens herself with a long, furi­
OllS diatribe of complaints. " Is all thy comfort shut in Gloucester's tomb," she 
asks the King. "Why, then Dame Margaret was ne'er thy )0)'," At the end of her 

diatribe, she says: 

How often have 1 tempted Suffolk's tongue 
(The agent of thy foul inconstancy) 
To sit and witch me a, Ascanlus did 
When he to madding Dido would unfold 
His father's acts commcnc'd in burning Troy! 

[114-1181 
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Of this passa ge, Kittredge co mments that Ascanius was the young son of 
Aeneas, and that goddess Venus caused Cupid to take the shape of Ascanius to 
bewitch Dido so that she would fall in love with Aeneas. All of this, of course, 
is in Marlowe's play, Dido, Qrleen of CarrhClge, the same play that is referred to 
by Hamlet. 

Warwick now enters with Salisbury and many Commons. They have heard 
that Duke Humphrey has been murdered by Suffolk and the Cardinal. The King 
permits Warwick to enter the chamber and inspect Humphrey's body. After a 
very careful and meticulous examination, Warwick pronounces the cause of 
death murder. 

The Queen and Suffolk protest Warwick's assessment. A ferociou s argu­
ment ensues between Suffolk and Warwick, the latter referring to Suffolk as a 
"Pernicious blood-sucker ofsleeping men'" The two men are about to duel one 
another when Suffolk is set upon by the men of Bury. 

Meanwhile, Salisbury enters with a crowd of commoners to demand of the 
King that Suffolk "be done to death, or banished fair England's territories." If 
not , "they will by violence tear him from your palace and torture him with griev­
ous ling'ring death." The King then gives Suffolk three days to leave the king­
dom or face death . The Qu een pleads for "gentle Suffolk," but this only angers 
the King who repeats his sentence. 

When the Queen and Suffolk are left alone, we have easily one of the most 
exquisite farewell scenes between a man and a woman in English literature. 
Although the two of them are conniving villains, Marlowe sees them as devoted 
lovers whose plans have gone awry. Consider this scene in which the Queen 
kisses Suffolk's hand: 

...Give me thy hand, 

That 1 may dew it with my mournful tears; 

Nor let the rain of heaven wet this place 

To wash away my woeful monuments. 

0, could this kiss be printed in thy hand, 

[Kiss es his hand.[ 
That thou mightst think upon these by the sea l 

Through whom a thou:sand sighs are breath'd for thee' 

So get thee gone, that 1 may know my grief' ... 

Go, speak not to me. Even now be gone' 

0, go not yet! Even thus two frit'nds condemn'd 

Embrace, and kiss, and take ten thousand leaves, 

Loather.l hundred times to part than die . 

Yet now far ewt' II, .lnd farewt'il life with thee' 


[33~-346, 352-3j6[ 

Vaux enters to inform the Queen that Cardinal lleaufort is at the point of 
Jeath , that he is bldsphcming God and talks as if Duke Humphrey's ghost were 
by his side. He then Icaves, and the farewell scene between the two lovers con­
tinues until Suffolk finall y kayes, on his way to France. 

Scene 3 brings us to Cardinal Beaufort's bedchamber where the King, 



179 25. Henry VI, Pari Two 

Salisbury, and Warwick are at the Cardinal's bedside. He is wracked with guilt 
over the murder of Humphrey and is In a dderium. And when he finally dies , 
this very Christian King ~<1ys: 

Forbear 10 judge, for we arc sinners all. 

Close lip his eyes and draw the curtain close, 

And let us all to meditation. 


[3.3. 31-33[ 

Act 4, Scene I takes us to the seashore in Kent. The ship on which Suffolk 
had been sailing to France had been attacked by pirates. Suffolk and other 
gentlemen are prisoners. The sce ne opens on shore where the Lieutenant, the 
pirate leader, is giving each of his mates a prisoner from whom he can collect 
ransom. Suffolk is taken b y a notorious pirate by the name of Walter Whitmore, 
to whom he reveals his identity. The Lieutenant has heard of Suffo lk and his 
nefarious deeds. Whitmore commands Suffolk 10 stoop before him and beg 
for his life. Suffolk refuses: "Le t my head stoop to the block than these knees 
bow to any save to the Cod of Heaven and to my King .... True nobility is exempt 
from fear." Whitmore, furious, beheads Suffolk off-stage . He returns with the 
body: "There let his head and lifeless body lie until the Queen his mistress 
bury it." 

Scene 2 takes us to Blackheath in Kent where Jack Cade's rebellion is taking 
place. Two men, George Ikvis and John Holland , are discussing the situation. 

Bel' IS. I tell thee Jack Cadt' the clothier means to dress the commonwealth and turn 
it and ,et a new nap upon it. 

Holland. So he had need, fo r 'tis thread bare. Well, I say it \vas never merr y world in 
England since gent leme n came up. 

Bevis. 0 miserable age! Virtue is not regarded in ha nd icraftsmen. 
Holland. The nobility think scorn to go in leather apro ns 14.2.4-101. 

Note how Marlowe has these commoners speak in prose. The two men then 
comment on those who have joined the rebellion: Best's son, the tanner of Wing­
ham; Dick the butcher; Smith the weaver. 

Presently Cade enters with Dick Butcher, Smith the weaver, and others. 
Cade quiets the mob and tells them that his father was a Mortimer, his mother 
a Plantagenet, and therefore he is of an honorable house. As Cade speaks, we 
hear cynical Bevis and Holland. in their sarcastic and humoro us asides, tell us 
of Cade's real background. Cade then pronounces hi s economic policy for 
England, which sounds an awful lot like unadulterated communism. He says: 

There shall be in England seven halfpenny loaves so ld for a penny; the three-hoop'd 
pot shall have ten hoops . and I will make it felony to drink small beer. ... There shall 
be no mone),; all shall eat and drink on my score; and r will apparel them all in one 
livery. that they may ag ree like brothers and worship me their lord [57-67[. 

The butcher then adds a comment, which has become one of the most quoted 
lines In the entire First [:o lio canon: "The first thing we do, let's kill all the 

law)'efs." 
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The clerk o f Chart ham is then brought before Cade because he can read and 
write and do arithmetic. "0 mon~trousl" shouts Cade. "Dost thou use to write 
thy name? Or ha~t thou a mark to thyself, like an honest plain-dealing man?" 

Clerk. Sir, lthonk Cod, I have been so well brought up that I can write my name. 
All. He hath con f'ess'd , Away with him' He'> a villain Jnd a traitur l 
Cade. Away with him, I say' l'lang him with his pen and ink- horn ahout his neck. 

191-971 

Although Marlowe was a cobbler's son and understood the psychology of 
the craftsmen he was satirizing, he also understood the social structure of the 
commonwealth with its sharp distinction between the blue-bloods and the com­
mon folk. He himself, as a page to a nobleman and in going to Cambridge, had 
been able to emerge from the commoners and enter the world of the privileged. 
To Marlowe, Jac k Cade's anarchy was bloody and destructive. 

A follower named Michael enters and warns Cade that Sir Humphrey 
Stafford, his brother William, and the King's forces have arrived. They enter and 
confront Cade. 

Stafford. Rebellious hinds, the lilth and scum of Kent, 
Mark'd for the gallowsl Lay yo ur weapons down; 
Home to your cO llages; forsake this groom. 
The King is merciful, if you revolt. 

[ 109-1121 

But Cade tells them that he is the rightful heir to the throne, and he backs 
up his claim with his fiction a l pedigree. Stafford's brother replies: "Jack Cade, 
the Duke of York hath taught you thi s." Stafford, realizing that words are get­
ting them nowhere, orders the herald to go through every town and proclaim 
Cade and hi s followers as traitors. But the Staffords are killed, and that embold­
ens Cade to march toward London . 

Scene 4 takes place in the Palace in London where the King, the Queen 
(with Suffolk's head), the Duke of Buckingham and L.ord Say arc assessing the 
situation. A messenger enters informing the King that Cade has taken South­
wark and urges the King to Oee. 

His army is a ragged Illultitude 
Of hinds and peasants, rude and merciless. 
Sir Humphrey Stafford and his brother's death 
Hath given them heart and courage 10 proceed. 
All scholars, lawyers , co urtiers, gentlemen, 
They call false caterpillars and intend their death. 

14.4. 32-371 

Does not Jack Cade remind us of Pol Pot who ordered anyone who wore 
glasses to be executed, for glasses were a sign of literacy and education' Another 
messenger arrives with even more frightening news. 

lack Cade hath gollen London Bridge; 
The citizens fly and for sake thei r houses; 
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The rascal people, thirsting after prey, 

Join with the traitor, and they jointly swear 

To spoil the city ~nd your royal court. 


[49-53] 

Scene 6 takes place on Cannon Street in London where we find Jack Cade 
and his followers. 

Carle. Now is Mortimer lord of this city. And here, silting upon London stone, 
I charge and command that. of the city's cost, the pissing conduit run nothing 
but claret wine thi s first year of our reign. And now henceforth it shall be 
treason for any that calls me other than Lord Mortimer [4.6. 1-61 . 

A soldier enters shouting Jack Cade l and Cade orders him to be killed. Cade 
is then told that an army again st him has been formed in Smithfield. Cade and 
his men go after to fight them. 

Scene 7 takes us to Smithfteld where the royal forces have all been slain. 
Cade then orders that the Savoy and the Inns of Court be pulled down . The 
Butcher then suggests to Cade that "the laws of England may come out of your 
mouth." Cade agrees : 

J have thought upon it; it shall be so. Away. burn all the records of the realm l My 
mouth shall be the parliament of England .. .. And henceforth all things shall be in 
common [4.7.11-13,161. 

How amazing that Marlowe was able to anticipate the absolute fascist and 
communist dictators of the twentieth century. 

A messenger enters announcing that they have captured Lord Say who is 
then brought before Cade. He is accused of having sold the towns in France. 

Cade. Well, he shall be beheaded for it ten times . .. Thou hast most traitorously 
corrupted the youth of the realm in erecting a grammar school; and whereas, 
before, our forefathers had no other books but the score and the tall y, thou hast 
caused printing to be us'd, and, contrary to the King, his crown and dignity, 
thou hast built a paper mill. It will be proved to thy face that thou hast men 
about thee that usually talk of a noun and a verb and such abominable words 
as no Christian ear can endure to hear 121, 28-3 7 ]. 

All attempts by Lord Say to save his life fail , and he is beheaded . Cade then 
defines his absolute dictatorship: 

The proudest peer In the realm shall not wt:'ar a head on hi s shoulder, unless he pay 
me tribute . There , hall not d mdld be married but .she shall pay to me her maiden­
head ere they have it. Men ~hall hold of me in (<lpill'; and Wt' charge and command 
that their wives be as free as heart can wish or tongue can tell 1112- 117 ]. 

There could hardly be a dictatorship more total than this, and it all comes 
out of the mouth of a commont'r. Obviousl y, Marlowe had no sympathy for the 
common folk whose ignormance he knew well from his own upbringing. As he 
put in the mouth of Lord Say, "seeing ignorance is the curse of God, knowledge 
the wing wherewith we fl y to heaven." 
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Scene 8 takes place in Southwark where Cade is urging hi s men to kill and 
de~troy when he hear~ rhe ~ound for a parlcy. Buckingham and Old Clifford, 
ambassador~ of the King, come tn PJrle}' With CJde and the common~. The King 
offers free pardon to the common~ If the y will for~ake Cade and go home in 
peace. The commons respond positively. But then Cade harangues them to fol­
low him, and the commons hale Cade. But then Clifford reminds them of the 
deeds of Henry V and how his son will defend them again st conquest by the 
French, and the commons decide to follow the King and Clifford . Cade then 
flees, and Buckingham offers a thousand crowns to any of hi s former followers 
that will bring back Cade's head . 

Scene 9 takes place at Killingworth Cas tle. The King , Queen, and Somer ­
set are presen t. Buckingham and Clifford then enter with the commons who have 
surrendered to the King . The King, happ y a t the defeat of Cade, pardons them 
all. A messenger then arrives, informing the King that the Duke of York "is newly 
come from Ireland and with a puissant and a mighty force ... is marching hith­
erward ... His arms are only to remove from thee the Duke of Somerset." The 
King sends Buckingham to ask York "wha t's the reason for these arms." 

Scene IO takes us to Kent where Cade had been hiding out for the last five 
days. Out of hunger he has climbed into a garden owned by Alexander Iden, an 
Esquire of Kellt, to feed himself on greens. He is co nfronted by [den . They figh t 
and Cade is killed. But before he dies, Cade revea ls his identity. (den, thrilled 
with having killed Cade, tell s the dead body: 

Hence will I drag thee head long by the heels 
Unto a dunghill , which shall be thy grave, 
And there cut off th y most ungracious head, 
Which I wiIl bear in triumph to the King, 
Lea ving thy trunk for crows to feed upon. 

[4.10.77-81) 

Act Five, Scene One takes place on the fields between Danford and I3lack­
heath where York's army is encamped. York speaks: 

From Ireland thus comes York to Llaim his right 

And pluck the crown from feeble Henry's head . 


15 1. 1-21 

Buckingham is se nt by the King to find out why York should "raise so great 
a power without his leave or dare to bring thy force so near the court." 

York rep li es that his purpose is to "remove proud Somerset from the King." 
Bucktngham then states that Somerset is a prisoner in the Tower, 

York then te lls his men to dispersc and to meet him "tomorrow in Saint 
George's field" to get their pay. Buckingham and York then go into the King's 
tent. While they are conferri ng, Iden enter~ with Cade's head. The King is over ­
joyed and, at thc sugges tion of Buckingham, knights Iden and awards him the 
one thousand marks. 

'fhe Queen then en ters \vith Someset. When York sees that Somerset is at 
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liberty and not in the Tower, he accuses the King of being a liar and that he is 
not flt to wear the crown. "Give place," he cries. "Thou shalt rule no more o'er 
him whom heaven created for thy ruler." Somerset immediately calls for York's 
arrest for treason. 'When he orders York to "kneel for grace," York retorts: 
"Wouldst have me kneel] First let me ask of these if they can brook I bow a knee 
to man." He then asks tha t his two sons be brought in to be his bail. 

The Queen then bids Clifford to say If "the bastard boys of York shall be 
the surety for their traitor father. " York then turn s to the Queen: 

o blood-bespolled Neapolitan 

Outcast of Naples, England 's blood y scourge' 

The so ns of York, th y betters in their btrth , 

Shall be th eir father's bail; and hane to those 

That for my surety will refuse the boys' 


1ll7-12l] 

Clifford agrees with the Queen that York and his sons are "a brood of trai­
tors," York then calls for the Earls of Warwick and Sa li sbury to come to him. 
When they enter they refuse to bow to the King, All of this leads to battle. 

Scene 2 takes us to the battlefield at Saint Alban's, Warwick calls for Clif­
ford to come out and fight him. But York enters and requests Warwick to let 
him fight Clifford , which he does and kills Clifford . Young Clifford comes across 
his father 's dead body and vows revenge. Meanwhile , York's son Richard battles 
with Somerset and kill s him . The King and Queen , faced with the choice of stay ­
ing or flying to London, fly to safety. 

In Scene 3, the fin al scene of the play, we find York, Richard, Warwick and 
soldiers in a fIeld near Saint Alban's. York is worried about Salisbury, but 
presently Salisbury shows up, rejoicing in their victory over the forces of the King 
who has fled to London to call a present court of parli ament. York declares, "Let 
us pursue him ere the writs go Carth." Warwick , enthused, encIs the play with 
these words: 

Aft er them l Nay, before them if we can' 

Now, by my faith, lords, 'twa s a glo riou s day. 

Sai nt Alban's battle , won by famou s York , 

Shall be etrrnil.'d in all age to come. 

So un d drums and trumpets, and to Lond on all ; 

And more !> ueh days as these to us befall' 


153. 2R- 33 1 

What an incredibly exciting play, a pageant of historical power politics , 
adultery, murder, rebellion, and the terror of a mob-supported dictatorship. All 
in one play. I3rilli ant theatrics by a master playwright. 
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Henry VI, Part Three 

Part Three (lfthe trilogy was probably written in 1591 and performed before 
July of 1592, for in September of that year one of its lines , "0 tiger's heart wrap­
p'd in a woman's hide" was parodied by Robert Greene in his posthumously pub­
lished A Croatsworth of Wit. Thus, its significance has been enhanced by that 
fact. The play continues the story of the War of the K.oses. 

Act I, Scene I takes place at Parliament House. York, his sons Edward and 
Richard, Norfolk, Montague, Warwick and soldiers have arrived at Parliament 
House before the King. They discuss how they will deal with the King when he 
enters. York has seated himself on the throne . Presently King Henry, Clifford, 
Northumberland, Westmoreland, Exeter and others enter. A dispute ensues over 
who is the rightful King. After much acrimonious argument, York makes an 
offer to the King: 

Confirm the crown to me and to mine heirs 
And thou shalt reign in quiet while thou liv's!. 

11.J. 172-1731 

In order to avoid further bloodshed, King Henry, against the strong objec­
tions of his followers, agrees. He addresses York: 

... I here entail 
The crown to thee and to thine heirs for ever, 
Conditionally that here thou tdke an oath 
To cease this civil war, and whi!'t I live 
To honour me a; thy king and sovereign, 
And neither by treason nor hostility 
To seek w put me down and reign thyself. 
Yurko This oath I willingly t<lke, anJ will perform. 

111194-2011 

York and his men leave. The Queen then enters with the Prince of Wales, 
Henry's heir. She is livid with rage having been told by several loyalists what the 
King has done, disinhe-riting hi s own son. She lashes into him: 

1~4 
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Ah, wr<'lched nlJn' Would I hJJ died a maid 
A nd never seen t hc:e, never borne thee son, 
Seeing thou hast prov'd so unnatural a father' 
Hath he deserv 'd to los~ his birthright thus 1 

III 216-219 1 

Henry protests that he was forced into this agreement. But the Queen is 
beside herself in anger: 

Enforc 'd thee 1 Art thou King, and wilt be enforc'd 1 


I shame to hear thee speak. Ah, timorous wretch! 

Thou has undone thyself, th), son, and me, 

And giv'n unto the house of York such head 

As thou shalt reign but by their sufferance. 


11.1. 230- 234 ) 

The Queen then vows to lead an army against York. 
Scene 2 takes place at Sandal Castle near Yorkshire. York's sons Richard and 

Edward and Montague question the wisdom of the agreement their father made 
with the King. "By giving the house of Lancaster leave to breathe, it will outrun 
you, father, in the end," argues Edward (1.2.13-14). 

York protests that he took an oath so that Henry should reign quietly until 
his death. "Your oath, my lord," Richard contends, "is vain and frivolous. There­
fore to arms" (1.2.27-28) . 

Finally convinced to break the oath , York makes plans to take the throne 
by force. However, a messengl'f brings news that the Queen and her army are 
about to besiege the castle. Although York's forces are greatly outnumbered by 
the Queen, he is convinced that he can beat her. 

Scene 3 takes place on a battlefteld between Sandal Castle and Wakefield . 
Clifford has caugl1t York's youngest son Rutland and his Tutor. The Tutor is 
dragged away, and Rutland is killed by Clifford. 

Scene 4 takes us to another place in the field where York, defeated by the 
Queen's forces, confronts Clifford, the Queen, Northumberland, and the Prince 
of Wales . The Queen, exultant in her victory, does all she can to humiliate York, 
yet she gives him the last chance to have his say. 

York. She-wolf of France, but worse than wolves of France, 
Whose tongue more poisons than the adde r's tooth' 
How ill -beseeming is it in thy sex 
To triumph like an Am3lonian trull 
Upon their woes whom fo rtune cap,i v3les' .. 
o tiger's heart wrdPp'd in a woman's hide' ... 
Women are soft, mild, pitiful, and flexible ; 
Thou stern, obdurate, flinty, rough , remorseless. 

114.111-115, 137-1421 

Sec, ruthless queen, a hapless fath er" Icars . 

Thi s (Iulh Ihou d,pp'd" in blood of nw sweet boy, 

And I wilh It'MS do WJsh Ihe bloud awa), ... 
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There, take the crown, anJ with the crown my curse; 
And in thy need such comfort come to thee 
t\S no\" I reap at thy too cruel hand! 
Hard-hearted ClifforJ, take me from the world. 
Ivl)' soul to heaven, my blood upon your heads. 

114 156- 158, 164- 1681 

Roth Clifford and the Queen stab York to death. "Off with his head," she cries, 
"and set it on York gates." 

Act 2, Scene I, takes place on a plain near Mortimer's Cross in Hereford­
shire . York's two sons are wondering what might have happened to their father. 
A messenger arrives bringing them the bad news. He tells them how his father 
was finally killed. 

By many hands your father was subdu'd, 
But only slaughtered by the ireful arm 
Of unrelenting Clifford and the queen .... 
They took his head and on the gates of York 
They set the sa me; and there it doth remain . 

12156-58 , 65-661 

Richard vows to avenge his father's murder. And since Edward has inher­
ited his father's dukedom, he is entitled to the throne that Henry agreed to. At 
this point, Warwick and Montague enter, with their army. Warwick brings addi­
tional bad news. On hearing of York's death, he rallied a force to march toward 
Saint Alban's and intercept the Queen. He and King Henry were determined to 
enforce the agreement made with York at the Parliament. But the Queen was 
determined to nullify it. And in the ferocious battle that ensued, they were 
beaten . 

After lengthy consultation, Richard, Edward, Warwick and Montague 
agree, with the help of the Duke of Norfolk, to tight the Queen and win the crown 
for Edward. Just as they are about to leave, a messenger from the Duke of Nor­
folk arrives informing them that the Queen is coming with a powerful force and 
that the Duke "craves your company for speedy counsel." They immediately 
leave. 

Scene 2 takes place before t he town of York. King Hen ry, Queen Margaret, 
Clifford, Northumberland, and the young Prince enter. Clifford tries to convince 
the King that he mu st be ruthless toward the Yorkists and restore his son's inher­
itance. But the King is committed to honoring the oath he made to York even 
though he can see York's head impaled at the gate. He turns to Clifford: 

...Clifford, tell me, didst thou never hear 
That things ill got had ever bad success) 
And happy always was it for that son 
Whose father for his hoarding went to hell l 

I'll leave my son my virtuous deeds behind, 
And 1V0uid my father had left me no more' 

12.2.45-50/ 
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The Queen then urges Henry to knight his son, as promised, and so he does. 
A messenger then brings news that Warwick with an army of thirty thou­

sand men is on his way to do battle. As they march through the towns they pro­
claim Edward, the Duke of York, as King . When they finally reach York, a parley 
takes place between the leaders of the two forces. 

Edward demands that King Henry live up to his oath and crown him the 
legitimate ruler. But Henry is paralyzed by the arguments that go forth between 
Richard and Warwick with Clifford and the Queen. Finally, in complete exas­
peration, Edward ends the conference, and opts to settle the affair by war. 

Scene 3 takes place on a battlefield between Towton and Saxton in York ­
shire. Warwick enters breathless and exhausted. The battle has gone poorly, and 
they face defeat. Richard enters and urges Warwick not to give up but to con­
tinue to seek revenge for the death of his brother, the Duke of York. Warwick 
vows to keep fighting and die in the process. 

Scene 4 takes place in another part of the field. Richard and Clifford have 
come face to face. They fight, but when Warwick enters, Clifford flees. Richard 
vows that he will "hunt this wolf to death." 

Scene 5 takes place in another part of the fIeld. King Henry, now alone, 
bemoans his fate. The battle is still undecided. The King's attitude is "To whom 
God will, there be the victory'" He wishes he were dead, "for what is in this 
world but grief and woe." In this fifty-three line soliloquy he compares his trou­
bled life to that of a homely shepherd whose life he sweetly enjoys. 

Suddenly, a son who has mistakenly killed his father in battle enters. The 
King is griefstricken at the sight of this horrible tragedy. But then, at another 
door, enters a father who ha s mistakenly killed hi s son. The King , witnessing all 
of this tragedy, is beyond consolation. He thinks: 

0, pit )" pit y, gentle heaven, pity' 

T he red rose and the white are on his fac e, 

The fatal colours of our striving houses. 

The one his purple blood right well resembles; 

T he other his pale cheeks, methinks, prese nteth. 

Whither one rose , and let the other flourish' 


[2.5 . 96-1011 

The Queen, the Prince, and Exeter enter. The Prince urges his father to flee 
with them, for Warwick "ra ges like a chafed bull," and Edward and Richard "a re 
at our backs." And so the King leaves with them . 

Scene 6 takes place at another part of the lield. Clifford enters wounded. 
He thinks on his own tragic fate and faint s. Edward, Richard, Warwick, Mon­
tague, Clarence, and wldiers ente r the scene. They hear Clifford, who moans 
and then dies. Warwick, coming upon the bod y, decides that York's head will be 
rep laced by Clifford's at the gate. He speaks: 

And now 10 London with triumphant march, 
There to be crowned England's royal King ; 
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hom ,,,hence shall Warwick cut the sea to France 
And ask the Lady Bona for thy queen. 
So shalt thlm sinew both these lands togcther. 

12687-91 1 

Act 3, Scene J, takes plact· in a forest in the north of England. The scene 
opens with two Keepers, Sinklo and Humfrey, with crossbows in their hands. 
They are deer hunting. King Henry enters wearing a disguise. They overhear him 
talking to himself about what has happened. They approach him and ask whether 
or not he is the former king. Henry admits that he is. After much discussion, 
the Keepers decide to arrest Henry and bring him to the local officials. 

Scene 2 takes us to the Palace in London. King Edward, Richard ofGlouces­
ter, Clarence, and Lady Grey enter. Lady Grey has come to the King to gain back 
her husband's lands which were seized in the battle of Saint Alban's in which 
her husband was killed. The King is willing to grant the suit but wants some­
thing in return. He finds the widow most attractive and is willing to give her 
what she wants provided she lie with him. The widow replies, "To tell you plain, 
I had rather lie in prison." But Edward will not be denied, and so he proposes 
to marry her and make her queen. He does this with the full knowledge that 
Warwick is in France arranging a marriage between Edward and the French 
king's sister, Lady I3ona. 

The King is then informed of King Henry's capture and they all leave for 
the Tower, except Richard who remains alone. In a seventy-seven line soliloquy 
Richard revea Is his true mu rderous nature. He is intensely jealous of h is brother 
Edward who wears the crown, which he himself wants. He bemoans his horri ­
ble deformities: 

Why. love forswore me in my mother's womb; 

And, for I ,hould nllt deal in her soft laws, 

She did corrupt frail nature "'ith some bribe 

To shrink mine arm up like a wither 'd shrub; 

To make an envious mountain on my back, 

Where sits deformity to mock my body; 

To shape my legs of an unequal size; 

To disproportion me in every part .... 

And am I then a man to be belov'd l 


o monstrous fault to harbour such a thoughtl 

'1'hen, since this earth affords no joy to me ... 

]'11 make my heaven to dream upon the crown .. 

And yet I know not ho'" to get the crown , 

For many lives stand between me and home. 


[3.2.153-1731 

In thinking of the horrible things he will have to do to gain the crown, he will 
"set the murderous Machiavel to school. " 

Scene 3 takes place in the King's Palace in Franct'. Enter Lewis, the French 
King, his sister Bona, hiS admiral Bourbon, PnnL'L' t~dwanJ, Queen Margaret, 
and the Farl of Oxford. Queen Iv]argart·t explains ht:r predicament to the King 
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who offers her future help. Meanwhile Warwick enters . With great diplomatic 
eloquence he asks the King to agree to ;) marriage between King Edward and 
Bona. An argument breaks out between Warwick, Margaret, and Oxford . The 
King puts a stop to the arguing, and questions Warwick: 

Now, Warwick, tell me, even upon they conscience, 
Is Edward your true kingl For I were loath 
To link with him that were not lawful chosen ... 
Then further: all dissembling set aside, 
Tell me for truth the mea,ure of his love 
Unto our sister Bona. 

[3 .3. tt3-t21[ 

Again, Warwick uses his eloquence to affirm Edward's love and legitimacy. 
The king agrees to the match. "Our sister shall be Edward's." Margaret protests, 
but to no avail. 

But then the post arrives with letters for Warwick, the King, and Margaret. 
Warwick is shocked to Jearn of Edward's marriage to Lady Grey. He speaks: 

King Lewis, I here protest in sight of heaven 
And by the hope I have of heavenly bliss 
That I am clear from this misdeed of Edward 's­
No more my king , for he dishonours me, 
But most himself, if he could see his shame .... 
I here renounce him and return to Henry. 
My noble queen, let former grudges pass, 
And henceforth I am thy true servitor. 
I will revenge his wrong to Lady Bona 
And replant Henry in his former state. 

[3.3.181-18 5, 194- 198 ) 

Queen Margaret is overjoyed at this turn of events. Warwick then asks the 
king I'or his assistance in overthrowing Edward and placing Henry back on the 
throne . The king agrees to furnish Warwick with an army of five thousand men 
to do battle with Edward . And as a sign of unchanging loyalty, Warwick pledges 
to give his daughter's hand in marriage to Prince Edward. 

Act 4, Scene I, takes place at the Palace in London. Richard, Clarence, Som­
erset and Montague are present. They are all concerned with Edward 's marriage 
and its ramifications in France. King Edward then enters with his new queen, 
Lady Grey, and with Pembroke, Stafford, and Hastings. The King wants to know 
their opinions: who is for him and who against. They all express misgivings over 
the new state of affairs. But what really riles Richard and Clarence is the fact that 
the King has given his wife 's relatives special favoritism. 

Hichard. And yet methinks your Grace hath not done well 
To give the heir and daughter of Lord Scales 
Unto the brother of )'our loving bride. 
She better would have fitted me or C1arrnce; 
But in your bride you bury brotherhood. 
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Clarence. Or else you would have be,tow'd the heir 
Of 1he Lord Bonville on your new wife's son 
And lcave your brothers to go speed elsewhere. 

[4.1. 51-581 

[3u t Ki ng Edward promises to make amends. "I will prov ide thee." Bu t then 
he leaves no doubt as to who is boss. "Leave me or tarry, Edward will be King 
and not be tied unto his brother's will" (65-66). 

A Post enters bringing news from France. While delivering Edward's let­
ters to King Lewis, Warwick, and Margaret, he heard their reactions. Edward is 
anxious to know Warwick's reaction. 

Posr. He, more incens'd against your Majesty 
Than all the rest, discharg'd me \vith these words: 
"Tell him from me that he hath done me wrong, 
And therefore I'll uncrown him ere't be long." 

King Edward. Ha ' dur,t the traitor breathe out so proud words? 
Well, J will Mm me, being thus forewarn'd. 
They shall have wars and pay for their presumption. 
!:lut say, is Warwick friends with Margaret? 

Posr. Ay, gracious sovereign. They are so link'd in friendship 
That young Prince Edward marries Warwick's daughter. 

Clarence. Belike the elder; Clarence will have the younger. 
Now, brother king, farewell and sit you fast; 
For J will hence to Warwick's other daughter, 
That, though J want a kingdom, yet in marriage 
I may not prove inferior 10 yourself. 
You that love me and Warwick , follow me. 

14.1. 108-1231 

Clarence and Somerset leave. The King is left with Richard, Pembroke, 
Stafford, Hastings and Montague. They prepare for war. 

Scene 2 takes us to a plain in Warwickshire where we find Warwick and 
Oxford with French soldiers. Warwick assures Oxford that the common people 
are with them. Clarence and Somerset enter, declaring their friendship. War­
wick is delighted and pledges his daughter to Clarence. He also tells Clarence 
that he is planning a surprise attack against King Edward's camp. 

Scene 3 takes place at Edward's camp, near Warwick. Warwick and his men 
steal silently toward Edward's tent, overcome the guards, and capture the King. 
Warwick removes the crown from Edward's head and reduces him back to the 
Duke of York. He instructs Somerset to take Edward to his brother, the Arch­
bishop of York, \",here the 

Duke will be held prisoner. Warwick then leads his forces to London to free 
King Henry and "see him seated on the regal throne." 

Scene 4 takes us to the Palace in London, where we find the Quec::n, Lady 
Grey, and her brother Rivers, discu,sing their predicament. She is pregnant with 
Edward's heir and decides to seek ,afety at it pro(('cted sanctuary. 

In Scene 5, which takes ~)lace in a park near Middle Castle in York>hire, 
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Richard, Lord Hastings, and Stanl~y plan to free Edward from captivity. The 
Archbishop has permitted Edward to engage in the hunt, accompanied by a 
huntsman, while in captivity. They manage to encounter Edward and the hunts­
man, and Edward quickly makes his escape, with the huntsman joining the force. 

Scene 6 takes us to the Tower in London where Warwick, Clarence, Som­
erset, Oxford, Montague, and young Henry Earl of Richmond have freed King 
Henry from imprisonment. The King is extremely grateful and appoints Clarence 
and Warwick as Protectors of the realm so that he can pursue his religious devo­
tions in his latter days. 

King Henry then requests that Queen IVlargaret and his son Edward be 
brought from France as soon as possible. 

A Post then enters and informs them all of Edward's escape from the 
Bishop's confines. This means further war. 

Scene 7 opens before York. Edward, Richard, and Hastings have just 
returned from Flanders where they had gone after Edward's escape to prevent 
his recapture. Now they have returned with soldiers and want to enter York. But 
the Mayor will not let them in since they now owe their allegiance to King Henry. 
But Edward claims to only want his dukedom and is a friend to the king. After 
which the Mayor opens the gates and lets them in. 

Upon entering the town , Edward is greeted by Sir lohn Montgomery and 
his soldiers who expect Edward to proclaim that he is king. t)ut Edward's plan 
is to "forget our title to the crown and only claim our dukedom till God please 
to send th~ rest." 

But Montgomery had come to defend a king not a duke and is about to leave 
when Edward is persuaded by Richard and Ilastings to forgo caution and pro­
nounce himself King. This Edward does and announces his plan to go immedi­
ately after Warwick, Clarence , and Henry. 

Scene 8 takes us to the Bishop of L.ondon's Palace in London. There we find 
King Henry, Warwick, Montague, Clarence, Oxford, and Exeter. They have 
learned that Edward has returned from Belgia with "hasty Germans and blunt 
Hollanders" and is marching toward London. Warwick instructs his men to 
return to their home counties and round up their armies and meet in Coven­
try. They all depart, leaving King Henry alone with Exeter. 

Suddenly, Edward and his men enter the palace and take Henry captive. 
"Hence with him to the Tower," orders Edward. "Let him not speak." Edward 
then instructs his forces towards Coventry, "where peremptory \"'arwick now 
remains." 

Act 5, Scene I, takes us to Coventry where Warwick awaits the arrival of 
troops with Oxford, Montague, and C1art:nce. But Edward and his forces arrive 
before Warwick's troops can reach him. Edward calls for a parley with Warwick. 

l-:d"'lIrd . Now, "Varwick, wdt thou ope Ihe lil y gal e~, 

Speak genlle word~, Jno humbly bend Ihy knee, 
C dl Edward king, ~nd at hi~ hand~ beg merc)" 
And he ,.,hall pardun tht'l' tht'~~ outrage:, . 
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Warwick. Nay rather, wilt thou draw thy forces hence, 
Confess who set thee up and pluck'd thee down, 
Call Wanvick patron, and be penitent' 
And thou shalt still remain the Duke of York. 

15121-281 

Richard then informs Warwick that Henry his king is now Edward's pris­
oner in the Tower. And while the parley is gOing on Oxford, Montague, and 
Somerset arrive wilh their troops. But Clarence switches sides and goes back to 
his brother Edward. "Pardon me, Edward," he cries, "I will make amends." The 
two sides then agree to do battle on a field near Barnet. 

Scene 2 brings us to the battlefield where Warwick has already been mor­
tally wounded. Left alone by Edward 10 die, Warwick reflects philosophically 
on his life: 

These eyes, that now are dimm'd with death 's black veil 
Have been as piercing as the midday sun 
To search the secret treasons of the world ... . 
Lo now my glory smear 'd in dust and blood l 

My parks, my walks, my manors that I had, 
Even now forsake me; and of all my lands 
Is nothing left me but my body's length l 

Why, what is pomp, rule, reign, but earth and dust' 
And, live we how we can, yet die we must. 

[5.2 . 16-18, 23-281 

At this point, both Oxford and Somerset arrive and inform Warwick that 
Queen Margaret has landed with her troops and is ready to oppose Edward. 
They also inform Warwick of Montague's death, after which Warwick dies. 

Scene 3 takes place at another part of the battlefield . King Edward in tri ­
umph is conferring with Richard, Clarence and others about how to meet the 
new threat from Queen Margaret 's forces. They have also learned that her force 
is headed toward Tfwkesbury. Edward orders hiS forces to head in that direc­
tion, picking up support from the towns they pas; through. 

In Scene 4, at the Plains near Tewksbury, Queen Margaret speaks to her 
lords. She compares their cause to a foundering ship. 

We will not from the hdm, to sit and weep, 

But keep our C0urse (though the rough wind say no) 

from shelves and rocks that threaten us with wrack. 

As good to chiJe the waves as speak them fair. 

And what is Edward but a ruthless sea' 

What Clarence but a quicksand of deceit' 

And Richard but a ragged fatal rock' 

All these th~ enemies to our poor bark. 


[5.4.21-28) 

With certain defeat staring them in the face, Margaret then gives those 
"would fly from us," permission to do so. For "there's no hop'd for mercy with 
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the brothers more than with ruthless waves, with sands and rocks ." A messen­
ger then comes informing them that "Edward is at hand, ready to fight." 

In Scene 5 the battle has already taken place and King Edward has won. 
Oxford and Somerset have been taken prisoner and executed. Henry's son, Prince 
Edward, arrives and demands that King Edward kneel before him and acknowl­
edge Henry's sovereignty. But the Prince is insulted by Richard and he calls them 
all traitors. King Edward then stabs the young Prince, I{ichard stabs him, and 
Clarence stabs him. Richard also offers to kill Queen Margaret, but Edward tells 
him to hold off. 

Richard then takes off for the Tower in London, while Queen Margaret, 
grief-stricken, laments the murder of her yo ung son. She begs Clarence to 
kill her. She looks for Richard to kill her, but he's not there. She is then led 
away. 

King c·dward. Where's H.ichrtrd gone) 
Clarfllce. To I_ondon, all in post; ~nd, as I guess, 

To make a blood y supper in the Towe r. 
King Edward . He's sudden if a thing comes to his head. 

No\v march we hence , discharge the common sort 
With pay and thanks, and let's away to London 
And see our gentle queen how well she fares. 
By this, I hope , she hath a son for me. 

15.5. 83-90) 

Scene Six takes place in the Tower of London . King Henry greets Richard 
who has come to kill him . What takes place is the same kind of s trange conver­
sation that took place between Edward II and his executioner. Marlowe has a 
special talent for writing such bizarre scenes. 

King Henry. But wherefore dost thou come) Is't for my life) 

Richard. Think's t thou I am an executioner) 

King Henry. A persecutor I am sure thou art . 


If murdering innocents be executing , 
Why, then thou art an executioner. 

Richard. Thy son I killed for his presumption. 
Klllg Hl'I1ry. Hadst thou been kill'd when first thou didst presume , 

Thou h~ds t not li v'd to kill a son of mine . 

And thus I prophesy, that man y a thousand .. 

Shall rue the hour th at ever thou wast born. 

The owl shriek'J at th y birth, an ev il sign ; 


15.6. 29- J7, 43-44) 

King Ilenry then calls Richard '';JJl indigested and deformed lump" ( 51 ) , at 
\vhich pointl{ichard stabs King Ilenry to death . l{ichard then reit erates his desire 
to be king. 

Richard. King Henr ~ and tbt' IJrin(e hi s son are gone. 
Clarent'c~, th y turn is next, and th en the rest. 

189-90) 
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Scene 7 takes us to the Palace in London where we find King Edward, Queen 
Eli/.abeth, Clarence, Richard, Hastings, and a Nurse with the little Prince. Edward 
is most pleased with the fact that he is now the uncontested King of Engl and 
and that all of his enemies have been va nquished. lie kisses hi s son, and then 
invites Clarence and Gloucester (Kichardl to kiss him. 

Uicharrl . And that I love the tree from whence thou sp rang's t 
Witness the loving kiss I give the fruit. 
IA;idel To say the truth, so Judas kiss'd his master 
And cried "All hail!" when as he meant all harm. 

King Ldward. Now am 1 seated as my soul delighls, 
Having my country's peace and brothers' loves. 

15.7 31-361 

As for Margaret, she was ransomed by her father, Reignier, and was sent back 
to France. 

Thus ends the saga of King Henry and victory of the House of York over 
the House of Lancaster. 

One can hardly believe that these three highly complex masterpieces were 
the work of a novice who, as far as we know, never had any schooling and was 
not known as a writer. And that is why so many scholars find it so difficult to 

prove that these three plays wert' the !irst works of William Shakespeare, The 
author had to take lhe bare bones of a very complicated histo ry, put the fle sh of 
poetry and character on the bones, and create a thrilling, suspenseful drama, It 
is true that the author took sume liberties with the historical record, but in gen­
eral his telling of the story is as historically accurate and compelling as anyone 
could have made It. 

In addition, the narrative, which starts in Part One, is not only carried forth 
as a single drama to its end in Part Three, but is historically carried forw ard to 
the next play in which evil Kichard takes center stage, 

An intensive study of the three parts of Henry VI, should lea ve no doubt 
that the plays were written by Marlowe, There is a continuity of style from ear­
lier Marlowe pla ys right through the three parts of Henry VI. He gave the Eli z­
abethan audiences a breathtaking and harrowing view of what it took in term s 
of evil connivance and ambition to become a king, 
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Marlowe and Burghley 

There are seve ral significant documents that es tablish a close relationship 
between Christopher Marlowe and Lord Burghley, the most powerful man in 
Queen Eli za beth 's government. The start of thi s relationship is unknown, but it 
may well have begun when Marlowe was a mere boy of eight and recruited as a 
page for Philip Sidney, in whom Burghley had taken great interest. Burghley 
himselfhad been a page at age eight and therefore knew of their practical help­
fulness to nobles embarking on Continental tours. Burghley had obtained a 
wardship in 1553, and in 1561 became Master of the Court of Wards, in charge 
of the destinies of many heirs and heiresses of the nobility and gentry, the future 
lead ers of England. He was probably also responsible for recruiting pages to 
serve the young nobles . 

That young Marlowe was indeed a page is corroborated by the fact that he 
did not serve as his father's apprentice. Ordinarily, as the oldest son, he would 
ha ve been an apprentice to his father, a cobbler. But the evidence indicates that 
John Marlowe hired an apprentice to serve in his son's place, and that he was so 
well compensated by his son's service as a page, that the fam ily was able to move 
to better quarters. It probably did not take much persuading by Archbishop 
Parker for John Marlowe to allow his precocious and talkative son to better hi s 
station in life by serving as a page to an aristocrat. 

Who brought the young, bright Christopher to the attention of 1311rghley~ 
It was probably Matthew Parker, the Archbishop of Canterbury, under whose 
auspices Marlowe later entered the King's School. Burghley was responsible for 
getting Queen Eli za beth to appoint Parker as Archbishop in 1559, an d he prob­
ably relied upon the prelate to find potential pages among the young boys in 
Canterbury. 

One of Burghley's most important wards was the young Earl of Southamp­
ton, who lived in 13urghlcy's household and whose proper education was the 
st atesma n's great concern. Burghley enrolled him at St. John's , his own alma 
mater. The Earl entered the college in the autumn of 1585, at age 12 as Fellow­
commoner, and he matriculated as a member of the university on December II. 

195 
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He remained at Cambridge for the next four years as a student. Marlowe had 
been at Cambridge since December 1580, and Burghley may have employed 
Marlowe to tutor the young Earl. A.L. Rowse writes of Southampton's educa­
tion at Cambridge (p. 47): 

He became fond of books and writers, appreciated their company and set much 
store by being regarded as a patron of literature. That he in turn was grateful to 
51. John's College is witnessed by the munificent gift of manuscript and books 
which he subsequently made , to become a chief glory of the college library 
there. 

Was it Marlowe's tutoring that inspired the young Earl with a lifelong love 
of poetry? Robert Cecil, Burghley's son, was also at Cambridge at the same time 
as Marlowe. It is likely that Burghley made sure that the two students, Cecil was 
a year older than Marlowe, would get to know one another. It was also while 
Marlowe was at Cambridge that he was recruited into Elizabeth's Secret Service, 
run by I)urghley and Walslngham. 

Marlowe's first major assignment was a dangerous mission to the Catholic 
seminary at Rheims in July of 1585, where he pretended to be interested in con­
verting to Catholicism in order to ingratiate hImself with the authorities there. 
Both Walsingham and Burghley wanted to know what the English Catholic stu­
dents at Rheims were plottIng. The great battle between Protestants and Catholics 
was very much in evidence at Cambridge and had become of great concern to 
Burghley and Walsingham. 

However, when Marlowe returned from Rheims he had trouble getting his 
Master's Degree because it was suspected that he had secretly converted to 
Catholicism. It was at this point that Burghley came to the rescue by having a 
letter sent from the Privy Council to the university authorities, informing them 
of Marlowe's loyal service to the Queen and of his being entitled to receive his 
Master's Degree. 

That letter from the Privy Council, with Burghley's signature on it, is evi ­
dence of what was certainly a close working relationship between the young poet 
and the most powerful man in the realm. And one can hardly doubt that Mar­
lowe continued to be a valuable asset in Burghley's intelligence efforts. Marlowe 
was indeed intelligent, trustworthy, reliable, resourceful, a great writer, and said 
to have had an extraordinary memory. And he was also fluent in French and 
probably in Italian, learned whilt- in Italy wIth Sidney. He may have also learned 
Cerman during the tIme spent in Germany and Vienna. He may have been 
l3urghley's most intelligent spy. 

130th Burghley and Walsingham were in great need of good intelligence. 
They were concerned with goings on in Scotland, France, and Spain and among 
Catholics in England itself. As Walsingham had commented, no price was 100 

high for good intelligence. Under such circumstances, Marlowe was indeed a 
prized asset. 

It should be noted that Ivlarlowe was not the first Parker scholar to enter 
government service. Nichobs faunt, who became Walsingham's secretary in 
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15ll0, had dttended both the King's School and Corpus Christi. Faunt, ten years 
older than Marlowe, and a fellow, Cantaburian, was abo at the embassy in Paris 
at the tl me of the Sl. Ba rt holomew massacre, and he IS cred i ted wit h hav i ng been 
sent by Walsingham to give Queen Eliz<lbeth an oral account of what took place. 
Thus, it is highly probable that Marlowe and Faunt knew one another. 

There is also evidence that Burghley took good advantage of Marlowe's tal­
ents as a tutor and managed to have him tutor Arbella Stuart, an heir, after 
James, to the throne of England. Arbella, born in 1575, was the daughter of 
Charles Stuart, 5th Earl of Lennox, younger brother of Lord Darnley, and ofEliz­
abeth, daughter of Sir William Cavendish and "Bess of Hardwick," her illustri­
ous grandmother who had five husbands. She was next in succession to James 
VI of Scotland to the thrones of England and Scotland after Queen Elizabeth. 
Her father died a year after her birth, in 1576, at the age of21. 

Lord Burghley took an interest in her education, not only because she was 
next in line after James to succeed Elizabeth, but because he favored women 
being given the best education possible. His wife and sister-in-law were perfect 
examples of well-educated women. We believe that it was Marlowe who pro­
vided that classical education to Arbella. Sara Jayne Steen writes in her book The 
Letters oj Lady Arbella Swart (p. 4): 

Stuart was one of the last of the aristocratic Englishwomen to be formally educated 
in the classical tradition of Greek and Roman learning and languages, an education 
normally reserved for men but that had been extended to women by the early 
Renaissance humanists. 

The result is that she became known as intel.ligent, verbal, and well-read. 
Apparently, she had been provided by her grandmother with excellent tutors, 
one of whom was probably Marlowe, recommended by 13urghley. Marlowe had 
left Cambridge for London in 15117 where Arbella was also living at the Talbots' 
Coleman Street residence. If Marlowe had indeed tutored the princess, it would 
have been between 1587 and 1592. We find corroboration of this in Mary S. 
Lovell's biography, Bess oj Hardwick. Lovell writes that Lord Burghley had learned 
of a Jesuit plan to kidnap Arbella (p. 392): 

Burghley, who always realised Arbella's potential in connection with the throne 
(even though the Queen chose to ignore it), warned l3ess 10 check the neighbour­
hood for jesuits and Catholics . 

... Having had the district searched for "traitorous and naughty persons," Bess 
advised IBurghleyJ that there was a seminary about a mile from Hardwick, but that 
there was only one man of whom she was really suspicious. He had been Arbella's 
tutor for the past three and half years. 

Bess related to l3urghley how, when they visited Chal>worth, this man, Morley­
the-tutor, had told Arbella he Wished to kave her t"mpluymenl. I\t lirst he attempted 
10 get t\rbelld to give him an annuity, or;1 kase of land "worth 1..10 a year ," alleging 
he lVas much p<'naiisnl, linancially JIIlI otherWise, by hdvlng left the university 
(Cdmhrldge' ) to turn priv~tc tUIllr. Arbclla ,aid ,he coulJ not oblige. so he went 
to !:less \\·ho listencd stuny . ('aed before she sent him J\Va~' empty-handed. On the 
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following day Morley returned , telling Arbella he would work for no recompense 
if on ly he could remain in her employment. Ever practical, Bess was immediately 
sllsp lcious of In)' man who offered to work for no money, espec iall y following his 
rema rks orthe previous day. She was f~ir-minded, though, and aumilled that she 
"(Quid not accuse him of papistry. " 

As Arbella's tutor, Marlowe was in a position to provide useful inside infor­
mati on to 13urghley about Arbella herself and what went on in the Hardwick 
household. Marlowe's need for financial help may have been spurred by the fact 
that Si r Francis Walsingham had died in 1590, in great debt, and that this source 
of income for Marlowe had ended. The Queen had expected Walsingham to 

fin ance his spy network out of his own pocket, which drove him into deb t and 
hi s spies, after his death, without pa y. 

It is also likely that Burghlcy made use of Marlowe's talents as a poet. !3urgh­
ley was most concerned that his granddaughters find husbands from good fam­
ili es with fine character. He had managed to have his daughter Anne marry one 
of hi s wards, the Earl of Oxford, Edward de Vere. But that marriage was no t a 
happy one. No sooner was the marriage consummated than the Earl took off for 
It aly where he stayed from 1574 to 1576. He returned to England a Roman 
Ca tholic and estranged from hi s wife and father-in - law. From then on, Anne 
suffered miserably. Nevertheless, the marriage produced three daughter s. She 
died in 1588. 

It was the futures of these three girl s that Burghley, as grandfather, was 
most concerned with. He very much wanted Elizabeth, the eldest, to marry the 
young, wealthy Earl of Southampton. The only trouble was that the earl was in 
no marrying mood. This was all taking place in 1590 when Marlowe's great ta l­
ent s as a poet were well known by Burghley. It is probable, and certainly possi­
ble, that he asked Marlowe to write a number of sonnets urging the young, 
handsome Southampton to marry. And the sonnets were produced, the firs t 17 
of the 154 attributed to Shakespeare, who, by the way, is nowhere to be see n dur­
ing this period. Here is sonnet I: 

From faires t (features we desire incr~ase, 
That thereb~ beauty's K.ose might never die, 
13ut as the riper should by time decease, 
His tender heir might bear his mem ory: 
But thou , con tracted to thine own bright eyes, 
Feed'st th )' light's flame with self-substantial fuel, 
Making a famine where abundance lies. 
Th )'se lf thy foe, to th y sweet se lf too cruel. 
Thou that art now the world 's fre sh ornament, 
And on ly herald to the gaudy spring, 
Within th ine own bud buriest thy con tent, 
And, tend er ch url, mak'st waste in niggarding. 
Pity the world, or else this glutton be, 
To eat thl' I"orld', due, by the grave and thee. 



199 27. Marlowe al1d Bl'rghlq 

Sonnet 3 is even more to the point : 

Look in thy glass, and tell the face thou viewest 

Now is the time that face should form another; 

Whose fresh repair if not thou now renewest , 

Thou dost beguile the world, unbless some mother. 

For where is she so fair whose uneared womb 

Disdains the tillage of thy husbandry) 

Or who is he so fond will be the tomb 

Of his self-love, to stop posterit y) 

Thou art thy mother's glass, and she in thee 

Calls back the lovely April of her prime: 

So th ou through windows of thine dge shalt see, 

Despite ofwrinldes, this thy golden time . 

But if thou live, remember'd not to be, 

Die s ingl~ , and thine image Jies with thee. 


Sonnet 6 urges the young man to have as many as ten children. [t read s in 
part : 

Ten times th yse lf were happin than thou art, 

If ten of thine ten times refigured thee : 

Then what could death do , if thou shouldst depart 

Leaving thee living in posterit y? 

Be not sel f-will'd , for thou art much too fair 

To be death's conquest and make worms thine heir. 


In Sonnet 10, Burghley, the earl's gu ardian , inserts his own emotional self 
when the poet writes: 

Make thee another self, for love of me, 
That beauty still may live in thine or thee. 

The same theme is expressed in Sonnet 13: 

0, none but unthrift s: dear my love, you know 
You had a father; let your son say so. 

Apparently, the sonnets had no effect, for the earl decided tha t he did not 
want to marry at all. But the existence of the sonnets bears witness to the rela­
tionship of the poe t to Lord Burghley. 

Even more indicative of the closeness of the rela tionship between Marlowe 
and Burghley is a bil.arre incident which took place in January 1592. Marlowe 
had been sent on an intelligence mission to Flu shing in the Netherlands. The 
nature of the mission has neVer been d is closed. However, the reason we know 
that he was in Flushing a t the time is beca use of his arrest there as a counter ­
fe iter and his de po rt a tion back to England on Januar y 26, 1592. 

The governor of flushing, Sir Robert Sidney, younger brother of the 
deceased Philip, summed up the case in a Idter to Lord Bu rghle y. This lett e r 
came to light in 1976 as the result of sea rc hes by Professor Richard B. Wernham 
through the unca talogued reces ses of SP84 - St a te Papers ( Holland J- at the 
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Public Record Office. Here is that Ieller as reproduced in Charles Nicholl's The 
Reckoning (p . 235): 

Right honourable, 
Besides the prisoner Evan Flud, I have also given in charge to this bearer, my 

ancient, two other prisoners: the one named Christofer Marly, by his profession a 
scholar, and the other Gifford Gilbert , a goldsmith, taken here for coining , and 
their money I have sent over unto your Lordship. 

The matter was revealed unto me the day ~fter it was done, by one Ri: Baines, 
whom also my ancient shall bring unto your Lordship. He was their chamber­
fellow and, fearing the success, made me acquainted withal. The men being 
examined apart never denied anything, only protesting that what was done was 
only to see the goldsmith's cunning, and truly I am of opinion that the poor man 
was only brought in under that colour, whatever the intent of the other two had 
at that time. And indeed they do one accuse another to have been the inducers of 
him, and to have intended to practise it hereafter, and have as it were justified him 
unto me. 

But howsoever it happened, a Dutch shilling was uttered, and else not any piece . 
And indeed I do not think that they would have uttered many of them, for the 
metal is plain pewter and with halfan eye to be discovered. Notwithstanding, I 
thought it fi! to send them over unto your Lordship, to take their trial as you shall 
think best. For I will not stretch my commission to deal in such matters, and much 
less to put them at liherty and to deliver them into the town 's hands. Being the 
Queen's subJc(ts, and not required neither of this said town, I know not how it 
would have been liked, cspe(ially since part of that which they did counterfeit was 
Her Majesty 's lOin. 

The goldsmith is an excellent workman, and if I should speak my conscience, 
had no intent hereunto. The scholar says himself to be very well known both to the 
Earl of Northumberland and my Lord Strange . Baines and he do also accuse one 
another of intent to go to the enemy, or to Rome, both as they say of malice to one 
another. Hereof I thought fit to advertise your Lordship, leaving the rest to their 
own confession, and my ancient's report. And so do humbly take my leave. At 
Flushing the 26 of January 1592. 

Your Honour 's very obedient to do you service, 
R. Sydney 

This letter contains a wealth of information that will help us understand how 

Marlowe's life would be placed in mortal danger through the accusations of the 

same Richard Baines in 1593. 

It is obvious that Robert Sidney knew who Marlowe was . He surely knew 

of his sister's coterie of poets and playwrights and of the formation of Pem­

broke 's l'vkn, which performed some of Marlowe's plays. Thus, the letter is sim­

ply a pro-forma narration of events as he understood them. 

Needless to say, Marlowe was brought before Lord Burghley who must have 

asked his young friend, "What's this all about?" And Marlowe's explanation no 

doubt satisfied the elder statesman, who, as Elizabeth's treasurer, knew a great 

deal about coinage. After Elizabeth had become Queen, Burghley went to work 

to restore the dcba~ed coinage whi(h the Queen had inherited from her sister. 

As a member of the commi~sion appointed to ~upervisc the Mint while the ba~e 
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money was being converted, Burghley had expert help from Sir Thomas Gre­
sham, from whom he learned the technicalities of high finance. 

But what we learn from this incident is that Marlowe must have enjoyed a 
kind offather-son relationship with Burghley. If, as we have asserted, Burghley 
had known Marlowe since he was a page, and followed his career through Cam­
bridge, and used him as a tutor for Arbella, and a writer of sonnets for Southamp­
ton, and as a reliable intelligence agent, his fatherly attachment to the young 
poet-playwright must have been at least as strong as it was to any of his wards. 

In the Ten Precepts that Burghley addressed to his son Robert, there must 
have been some of the wisdom learned from his relationship with Marlowe, 
when he wrote: 

Be sure to keep some great man thy friend, but trouble him not for trifles. Compli ­
ment him often with many, yet small, gifts, and of little charge. And if thou hast 
cause to bestow any great gratuity, let it be something which may be daily in sight. 

We can easily imagine Marlowe bringing back from some mission abroad a book 
or some other small gift for Walsingham and Burghley in gratitude for the sup­
port he was given by the most powerful men in the realm. 

There is another factor to consider. By 1592, Burghley had given his son 
Robert Cecil ever greater responsibilities . Since it is highly probable that Robert 
had known Christopher at Cambridge, here was another connection which 
would work in Marlowe's favor, especially since Marlowe had become a success­
ful playwright and had written of historical matters of particular interest to 
Burghley and son. The latter two must have found Henry VI, Parts I, II, III, most 
interesting because of their vivid, tumultuous story of royal succession, a sub­
Ject they had to deal with in considering who would succeed Elizabeth, for Robert 
Cecil's future career depended on a smooth succession from Elizabeth to 
whomever would ~ucceed her. And Marlowe's knowledge of history, royal pol­
itics, and Machiavellianism would be a very valuable asset to Robert in the future. 

Thus, the friendship between Marlowe and Robert Cecil would be crucial 
in the events that would take place in 1593. And so, Marlowe emerged from this 
incident unscathed. It is probable that Robert Cecil and his father both ques­
tioned Marlowe about the counterfeiting incident and were quite satisfied with 
the playwright's explanation. But Marlowe's enemy, Richard Baines, would not 
rest until he had destroyed the poet for good. 
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Burghley and Son 

An understanding of the relationship between Lord Burghley and his son, 
Robert Cecil, is cruci al to understanding of what was going to happen to Mar­
lowe in 1593. Not only was l3urghley protective of his son, who was merely a 
year older than Marlowe, but he was grooming him to take his place In Queen 
Elizabeth's government. Grooming Robert became even more urgent when Wals­
ingham died in 1590. According to Robert 's biographer, Algernon Cecil, "Wals­
ingham's work fell under two heads. There was, on the one hand, the conduct 
of English relations with foreign countries, and on the other the man ageme nt 
of the famous spy service, which did more than anything else to preserve Eliz­
abet h's life." 

Burghley took control of the conduct orforeign affairs, and brought hi s son 
into the ever expanding bureaucracy of the foreign office, its confidential clerks, 
voluminous correspondence with diplomats and a mbassadors , and formulation 
of foreign policy. He was also introduced into the secre t world of espionage in 
which matters of plots and treaso n were part and parcel of the Secretary's work. 
l3urghley stressed the importance of having the best intelligence possible. Alger­
non Cecil writes: 

There seems to have been few better methods of ob taining credi t at Court, than 
the possession of reliable knowledge about the plam and machinations of the 
enem y. And when the whole future of the country, It s religion, its independence, 
the relative stabilit ), of its government, might be said to hang on the slender thread 
of the Queen's life . the importance of that kind of Information could hardl y be 
exaggera ted. 

And only good spit'>, among whom was Marlowe, could get that kind of 
information. In other words , i'vLlrlowe was a valuabl e asse t to Cecil, who needed 
that intelligence to move ahead of his rivals at Court. 

When Walslngham died , a great many secret service agen ts found them­
selves stranded and payless . Some went to work under Burghley, who assumed 
contro l ofWalsingham's spy network . The Earl of Essex saw the death of the Sec­
ret ary as an opportunity to se t up a secret serv ice of his own , under the direc­

202 
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tion of Anthony Bacon, who had worked for years under Walsingham. Nicholas 
faunt, an old Jnd trusted friend of the l3acons, Jnd cipher expert and forger 
Thomas Phel ippes, joi ned t he Essex group. t [owever, Marlowe's loyalt y to Burgh­
ley and Robert Cecil made it highly unlikely that he would ever join forces with 
Essex and the Bacons. Robert Cecil needed him, and Marlowe no doubt enjoyed 
his special status with the two most powerful men in Elizabeth's government. 
In the rivalry between Essex and Cecil, Marlowe knew where his loyalty and best 
interests lay. 

Francis Bacon, Burghley's nephew and younger brother to Anthony, aspired 
to a high position in Elizabeth's government. He attached himself to Essex 
because Burghley would not favor him over his own son. When the position of 
Attorney-Generalship became vacant in 1593, Essex did all in his power to have 
Francis Bacon appointed by the Queen. But she was not pleased with a speech 
that Bacon had given in Parliament in opposition to the subsidies. And so she 
appointed the highly experienced Sir Edward Coke to the position, which infu­
riated Essex and greatly disappointed Bacon. 

But there were other matters of importance that Burghley and his son had 
to deal with, namely the Puritan opposition to the Anglican Church. The Puritan 
movement was started by those Protestant ministers who went into exile when 
Catholic Mary assumed the throne in 1553 and began her persec ution of Protes­
tan ts, which resulted in the burn ing of some 300 as heretics, including Archbishop 
Cranmer, who had helped her father, Henry VIII, divorce her mother. 

The exiles spenllhose five years of Mary's reign in the Reform states on the 
continent, and in particular in Geneva, where they absorbed the teachings of 
John Calvin and attended the simple congregational churches of which Calvin 
and other reformers were the architects. Gone were all the ornate trappings of 
the Catholic church, the incense, the Mass, the fancy surplices and sq uare caps 
of the bishops, the "relics of Popery," etc. The worship of God was now made 
simple and pure, and the congregations controlled their churches under God's 
benign sovereignty. These were the churches which would one day flourish in 
the colonies of New England. Ca lvi n had taught that the ruling sovereign was 
subordinate to God's sovereign rule, and thu s his philosophy of government 
was considered a threat to the power of kings and queens. 

When Elizabeth became queen after the death of her sister in 1558, the 
exiles began to return, expecting to tran sfo rm the English church into its 
Genevan model. But they were sore ly disappoint ed when Elizabeth, like her 
father , beca me head of the church and kept much of the ornamentation, ce re­
mony and church hierarchy that reminded the exiles o f the Catholic church. 
When Theodore Bela, Calvin's disciple, had the English situation expl ai ned to 
him by an embittered Puritan, he concluded that "the papacy was never abol ­
ished in that country, but rather transfL'rred to the sovereign." And so, the exiles 
had a difficult choice: conform to what the' QUL'cn wanted and become part o f 
the ,\nglican Church , or ITmdin our.-;ick the state church and preach their PUrI­

tan doctrines wh('rever they could. 
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Thus, when Elizabeth ascended the throne, there were two religious fac­
tions she had to contend with: the Catholics and the Puritans. The foremost 
danger came from the Catholics, particularly when the Pope excommunicated 
Elizabeth in 1571 and told English Catholics that they no longer owed loyalty to 
their Protestant monarch. To Walsingham and Burghley this meant that all 
English Catholics were suspect. Their espionage network was expanded to mon­
itor and uncover every Catholic plot against the Queen hatched in England and 
abroad. In that, they were eminently successful. 

However, when it came to the Puritans, with whom both Walsingham and 
Burghley were in sympathy (Walsingham and Burghley's father - in-law had been 
exiles), the government was faced with a more difficult problem. When Henry 
VIII broke with the Church of Rome because the Pope would not sanction his 
divorce from Catherine, the issue was not liturgical. The church became the 
English national church with the sovereign instead of the Pope as its head. The 
reform of the church service and points of theology took place under Henry's 
son, Edward VI. The boy king had been greatly influenced by his Calvinist teach­
ers and he approved of the reforms they wanted. Thus, the Book of Common 
Prayer, which replaced the Mass as the form of worship, was written, approved 
by Parliament, and adopted by the church. 

The young king's protector, Edward Seymour, was instrumental in advanc­
ing ecclesiastical reform with a new set of Articles of Faith. Back in 1549, when 
Burghley was still William Cecil, he saw the need to check extremism. He 
approved the measures which freed Protestants from the threat of burning for 
heresy and execution for treason. The Uniformity Act of 1549 with its mild 
enforcement of the new Prayer Book satisfied the moderates. Cecil was cautious 
about the new world into which some of his reforming friends were struggling 
with imprudent haste. He preferred a gradual approach . 

Meanwhile, by the 1560's and '70's, the Puritans had created a church within 
the church. Patrick Collinson in his book, The Eliwbethan Puritan Movement, 

writes (p. 45): 

Amongst these potential dissenters were several leading members of the English 
congregation in Geneva who lingered abroad, uncertain whether to support the 
new regime or to wait for a still more favourable day. They included the translators 
of the Geneva Bible, William Whittingham and his 1OIiaborators .... In October 1559 
Knox was slill advising hi, intimates that "we ought not to justify with our pres­
ence such a mingle-mangle as now IS commanded in ~our kirks," while censuring 
those who stayed away "only for negligence." When they did reach England, the 
men of Geneva found that the advocacy of active resistance to the ungodly ruler in 
those political tracts of Knox and Christopher Goodman which had appeared from 
Geneva in 1558 had deprived them of any hope of influence under Queen Elizabeth. 

The result was the creation of an underground church of Puritan preachers, 
known as "roving apostles." Collinson writes (p. 51): 

There were conferences of the preaching clergy devoted to systematic Biblical expo­
sition. By the popular interest which they attracted and the indoctrination and 



205 28. Bllrghley al/d Son 

homiletical training which they offered to the more ignorant clergy, the prophesy­
ings did more than any other agency to propagate and establish the new religion in 
Elizabethan England .... 

rn the ranks of the "roving apostles," the parish lecturers and the town preach­
ers, in their sermons, prophesyings, and psalm -singing, one can already trace the 
outline of a "church within the church," even before these activities attracted the 
unfavorable attention to those in authority. 

"Prophesying," by the way, was a kind of lliblical conference derived from 
the example of many reformed churches on the continent. It was an academic 
exercise that replaced logical discourse as the means of schooling future minis­
ters. It was based on a text from St. Paul: "Let the prophets speak two or three 
and let the other judge ... For ye may all prophesy one by one, that all may learn, 
and all rna y be com forted. " 

But it wasn't until the underground Puritan press began to publish satiric 
criticism of the established church, that the government began to feel the need 
to crack down on the dissenters , Nevertheless, the radical preachers had power­
ful friends in the hierarchy: the Earl of Leicester, the Earl of Bedford, Sir Fran­
cis Knollys, Sir Anthony Cooke (Burghley's father-in-law), Sir Nicholas Bacon, 
and others. They could protect some of the Puritans from prosecution, but they 
had no lIlfluence with Eli zabe th herself. 

In fact, the campaign against Puritan nonconformity began on January 25, 
1565. Elizabeth had become alarmed at the increasing "diversity of opinions and 
specially in the external, decent, and lawful rites and ceremonies to be used in 
the churches," Burghley drafted the letter issued by the Queen, which was in 
effect a cautionary warning to his friends . 

Only one prelate - Archbishop of Canterbu ry Grindal- ever dared to 
explain to the Queen's face that as a bishop of Christ's Church he was subject 
to a higher power, and the result was his suspension from office in 1577 and the 
loss of her favor. Of course, the very exalted position of the archbishop it se lf 
was anathema to the Puritans , 

There was also the lunatic fringe among the Puritans to contend with. In 
October 1573, a young man of the Inner Temple, Peter llirchet, stabbed a man 
he thought was Sir Christopher Hatton, the Queen's favorite. He was arrested 
for murder and hanged a month later. But the Queen had wanted her govern­
ment to fllld out "who had moved him to it." The incident led the Privy Coun­
cilto set up a special commission to Inquire into Puritan disobedience. Its pro­
cedures would be inqUisition a l. To escape this new-styled inquisition, some of 
the leaders escaped to the continent where they continued to publish their tracts. 
But for the time being, the Puritan movement in England lost its momentum. 

However, it wasn't until the underground Puritan press published the sen­
sational Martin Marprelate pamphlets that the government, in the person of 
Archbishop Whitglft, decided that enough was enough. He launched an all-out 
attack on the dissenters which sent some of the leaders to the gallows. 
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Martin Marprelate 
and John Penry 

The Martin Marprelate tracts or pamphlets were the products of a highly 
organized effort among underground Puritan writers and their benefactors deter­
mined to sway the public against the Anglican Church, its Archbishop, and its 
episcopal hierarchy. The tracts , which began to be published in 1587, were witty, 
well written, satiric, and caustic . They were distributed and read throughout the 
kingdom causing increasing annoyance among the establishment. 

The Puritans, in particular, had been going after the Church hierarchy for 
years. They wanted the positions of Archbishop and bishops abolished, intimat­
ing in 1574 that Archbishop Parker, the 70th Archbishop, might be the last. 
Parker had written a hi story of Britai n's archbishops with hi s own biography at 
the end. The idea that he might be England's last archbishop was a theme nour­
ished by the Puritans . They went so far as to produce their own annotated ver­
sion of Parker 's biography, written by an anonymous satirist, "wi th venom as 
well as wit," or by a syndicate of young satirists, printed overseas in 1574. 
Collinson writes (p. 146): 

In case the reader should miss the point, it was announced on the title-page: This 
nllmbre of seventy is;o compleat a nllmber as it is great pitie ther shold be one more: 
but that as Augustin wa s th e first, so Mathew //light be the lnst. 

The Puritans themselves were somewhat divided as to what kind of church 
governance should replace the episcopalian setup of the Anglican Church . There 
were three possible choices of church governance: Episcopalian, which was the 
present form in England, Presbyterian, which John Knox established in Scot­
land , or Congregational, the church form adopted by Calvin and his followers 
in Geneva. 

In Episcopalianism , the supreme authority is a diocesan, or regional, bishop. 
In Presbyterianism, the duthority rests with a church council composed of rep­
resentative presbyters, or elders. In Congregationalism it is the members of the 

206 



207 29. Marrin Marprclllre (Il1d John Penry 

congregation assembled in church meeting who decide on all matters pertain­
ing to the church. This is the form that was favored by the Puritans who migrated 
to North America. Thus, it may be said broadly, that in Episcopacy the govern­
ment is monarchical; in Congregationalism, democratic; and in Presbyterian­
ism, aristocratic or representative. 

Archbishop Parker died in 157'). Born In 1504, he was sent in 1522 to Cor­
pus Christi College, Cambridge, which Marlowe was to attend under a Parker 
scholarship in 1580. After receiving his M.A. in 1528, he came under the influ­
ence of the Cambridge reformers, and after Anne l:3oleyn's recognition as queen 
he wa s made her chaplain. Tn 1537 he was appointed chaplain to Henry VIlI, 
and in 1544 he was elected master of Corpus Christi. In the following year he 
became vice-chancellor of the university. His Protestantism grew under Edward 
VI's short reign. He was a supporter of Northumberland who tried to prevent 
Mary from ascending the throne by sponsoring his son and Lady Jane Grey as 
the new king and queen. But Ma ry prevailed. Under the Catholic queen, Parker 
was deprived of his preferments but was not molested . 

It was Elizabeth, on gaining the throne, who chose Parker to be Archbishop 
of Canterbury in 1559 because of his moderation, and probably also because he 
had been her mother's chaplain. With the return of the Marian exiles, Parker 
had to deal with Puritan opposition to the Anglican Church from the very begin­
ning. In time, disputes about vestments expanded into a bitter controversy over 
the entire field of church governance. When he died in 1575, he lamented that 
Puritan ideas of governance would "in conclusion undo the queen and all oth­
ers that depended upon her." 

Parker was succeeded by Edmund Grindal who was Archbishop of Canter­
bury from 1576 to 1583. Born in 1519, Grindal was educated at Magdalene and 
Christ's Colleges, then at Pembroke Hall, Cambridge, where he graduated B.A. 
in 1538. He obtained his M.A. in 1541. He became one of Edward VI's chap­
lains after the boy king ascended the throne in 1547. [n October 1552, he was 
one of the six divines to whom the Forty-two articles were submitted for exam­
ination before being sanctioned by the Privy Council. On Mary 's accession in 
1553, he abandoned his preferments and went into exile, making his way to 
Frankfurt. There he endeavored to reconcile the disputes between those who 
regarded the 1552 Prayer Book as perfect, and the Knoxians who wanted fur­
ther simplification. 

When Grindal returned to England in January 1559, he was appointed one 
of a committee to revise the liturgy. In July he was elected Master of Pembroke 
Hall and Bishop of London. His Puritan sympathies made him a lukewarm 
defender of Elizabeth's church. 

[n 1570, because of his inability 10 curb Puritan nonconformism in London, 
Grindal was removed to York, where Puritans were few and coercion would be 
required mainly against Roman Catholics. Upon Parker's death, Lord Burghley 
and Dean Nowell recommended Grindal for the archbishopric of Canterbury. 
The Queen appointed him Archbishop but wanted him to be more aggressive in 
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suppressing nonconformism. Uut his reluctance finally drove her to demand his 
resignation. However, he died in 1583 before he could officially resign. 

The next man to become Archbishop of Canterbury, John Whitgift, was a 
man after the Queen's own heart. He was no pussycat when it came to defend­
ing Elizabeth's church and suppressing Puritan nonconformism . He was born 
in 1530, son of a prosperous merchant, and educated at St. Anthony's school in 
London, then at Queen's College, Cambridge, and finally at Pembroke Hall. 
There his preference for the reformed religion was confirmed. He received his 
M.A. in 1557. Throughout Mary's reign, Whitgift kept a low profile by concen­
trating on his studies. 

Upon Elizabeth's accession, Whitgift finally felt free to enter the service of 
the church. He studied at Cambridge where Calvinistic views were in the ascen­
dant. Throughout his career Whitgift suoscribed to Calvin's theology, but not 
to his principles of church government. lie became a defender of Anglican rit­
ual and episcopal governance. This put him in immediate conflict with Thomas 
Cartwright, leader of the Calvinists at Cambridge, whose ouster he advocated 
in 1571 and succeeded in getting. 

In 1572, two violent tracts, entitled "An Admonition to the Parliament," 
recommended reforming the church on presbyterian principles. Whitgift 
answered the "Admonition" in a pamphlet entitled "A n Answere to a certain 
Libel .... " Whitgift's argument was that the episcopal form of governance guar­
anteed law and order in the state. Cartwright wrote "A Replye .... " Whitgift 
returned with a "Defense of the Answsere .... " Cartwright answered with a "Sec­
ond Replye" and "The Rest of the Second Replye ." But Whitgift refused to engage 
in further argument. 

1n 1573 Whitgift was for a second time elected vice-chancellor of Cam­
bridge University under Uurghley who had been chancellor since 1559. In March 
of 1574 he preached about church government before the Queen at Greenwich, 
and his sermon was published. Two years later he was nominated to the bish­
opric of Worcester and was enthroned by proxy. 

When Edmund Grindal died in July of 1583, Whitgift was nominated to 
succeed him. The Dictionary of National Biography (p. 132, vo!' XXI) recounts: 

He was enthroned on 23 OCI. Unlike his three immediate predecessors- Cranmer, 
Parker , and Cindal- he lOok part in the ceremony in person instead of by proxy. 
Hi, father had left him a privJte fortune, which enabled him to restore to the 
primac)' s() rllething of the feudal magnificence which had characterised it in earlier 
days. I-Ie maintained an army of relainers .... flis hospilality was profuse. His 
siables and armoury wert' bett er furnished than those of the richest noblemen. 
The queen ,lpproved such oulward indications llf dignily in her offICers of Siale, 
and Ihe friendly fe t' ling she had long cherished for him increased afler he was 
inst~lIed al l.ambeth . She pbyfully called him "her little black husband," and 
treated him as her confesso r. to whom she was reported 10 reveal "the very secrets 
or her soul." The whole care of the church WJS, she declared , delegaled to him. She 
was frequenlly his guest dt LJmbeth , and until her death the 3mity belween them 
knew no inlerruption. 
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No sooner WJS Whitgift installed than he began to plan hi s own little reign 
of terror against the Puritans. While the Roman Catholics were more of a polit­
ical problem thJn a religious one, the Puritans represented a spiritual force capa­
ble of undermining not only the established Anglican Church but the very stJte 
isel f. 

His first step was to prohibit all preaching, reading or catechising in pri­
vate homes and to forbid anyone to carry out church functions unless he sub­
scribed to royal supremacy, followed the Book of Common Prayer and accepted 
the Thirty-nine Articles. 

The high commission court was also granted greater powers. It was 
expanded to consist of fort y- fou r com missioners with the power of discoveri ng 
and punishing heretics and schismatics. A new procedure obliged a suspected 
minister to answer under oath whether he was in the habit of breaking the law, 
thus forcing the accused to testify against himself. This rankled Lord Burghley 
who complained to Whitgift that his anti-Puritan campaign "too much savoured 
of the Romish inquisition." 

Leicester, a great friend of the Puritans, urged Whitgift to show greater 
moderation . But he refused. And in order to crush adverse criticism he caused 
to be passed in the high commission court in January 1586 the exceedingly severe 
Star-chamber decree, making public criticism virtually impossible. No manu­
sc ript was to be sel up in type until it had been looked at and licensed by the 
archbishop or the bishop of London. 

While the Puritans were exasperated by Whitgifl's actions, they continued 
to defy him with their underground press. John Penry, a fiery young Puritan, 
arranged with his friends to secretly publish a se ries of attacks on the episco­
pate under the pseudonym of Martin Mar-Prelate. 'The chief target of the attack 
was Whitgift himself, who was called the "Beelzebub of Canterbury," "the Can­
terbury Caiaphas," "a monstrous Antichri st," and "a bloody tyrant." 

Who was the defiant John Penr y, willing to take on this powerful arch­
bishop? A native of Wales, Penry was born in 1559, making him five years older 
than Marlowe. In 1580 he matriculated as a pensioner at Peterhouse , Cambridge. 
While at the university he read the works of Bishop Bale and Cartwright and 
adopted Puritanism in its most extreme Calvinistic form. He graduated B.A. in 
1584 and subsequently studied at Sl. Alban Hall at Oxford where he got his M.A. 
in 1586. He preached at Cambridge and Oxford and in Wales where the spiri­
tual destitution of the people compelled him to write a book describing the ter­
rible ecclesiastical condition of the Principality. It was published in 1587. Its title 
more or less described what was needed: "A Treatise addressed to the Queen and 
Parliament conta ining the Aequit y of an Humble Supplication in the behalfe of 
the countrey of \ 'Vales, that some order may be taken for the preaching of the 
Gospe l among those people. Wherein is also set downe JS much of the estate of 
ou r people as wi thou t offence could be made known, to t he end (if it please God) 
lhal it may lw f)ilieJ o( lhem who arc not of this assembly, and so they may he 
driven to labour 011 our behalfe." 
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For all intents and purposes, it was an attack on the church for its incom­
petence and neglect by the clergy. Whitgift was not at all pleased by the Trea­
tise and pronounced Penry's opinions heretical. Penry was ordered to recant, 
but he refused and was sent to prison for twelve days. He asked for information 
about his offense, but was not told. A few days after his release he married 
Eleanor Godley of Northampton. 

Penry's ordeal with Whitgift stirred Puritans all across the country. He 
decided that the only way to wage war effectively against the establishment was 
by wa)' of the underground press and the publication of pamphlets critical of 
the Archbishop and the Anglican episcopacy. Penry had carefully studied the 
writings of Knox and Beza who had developed polemical theology into a high 
art. The joint writings of the group would bear the pseudonymous signature of 
Martin Mar-Prelate. 

A printing press was purchased and delivered to a safe house, and the pub­
lishing venture began its notorious and historical operation . Within three weeks, 
the first of the Martin Mar-Prelate pamphlets were printed and circulated. The 
satiric attacks and ridicule were devastating. Whitgift and the commission were 
determined to find the culprits and put them out of business . He chose Dr. 
Richard l3ancroft, a future archbishop, as chief agent in rooting out heresy. 
Bancroft commissioned writers Nashe, Greene, Munday and Lyly to write anti­
Marprelate pamphlets. 

The printing press had to be moved several times to avoid capture. In 
August 1589, the secret press was seized by the authorities. Suspicion fell on 
Penry. When John Udall, Penry's associate, was captured, much information 
about the publishing venture came to light, including Penry's direct involvement. 
To avoid capture, Penry and his wife escaped to Scotland where he was well 
received by the presbyterian clergy Jnd preached in the churches. 

In September 1592, when the Ivlartin Marprelate controversy was subsid­
ing, Penry returned to England and joined a congregation of separatists near 
Stepney. At first he was not molested. But in the following year, the vicar of 
Stepney recognized him, and on March 22, 1593 he was arrested. According to 
the DNB}f' 794): 

t\lthough the evidence in the possession of the authorities naturally suggested that 
he would be charged with complicity in the authorship of the Mar-Prelate tracts, 
no accusation was drawn up against him on that score. On 21 May 1593 he was put 
011 his trial before the court of quecn's bench, on a charge of having, while at Edin­
burgh, feloniously devised and written c\Orlain words with inlenl 10 excite rebellion 
and insurrection in England .... Despite the insufficiency of the evidence as set forth 
in these indiclments, Penry was found guilty of treason and sentenced to death. 

Penry immediately wrote letters to l3urghley and Essex protesting the ver­
dict. He said that he renlained loyal to the Queen. Burghley had indeed saved 
other Puritans from the gallows, but he couldn't save Penry from Whitgift, who 
would not be moved. Penry had been convicted on May 21, two days after Mar­
lowe's arrest on equally serious charges which no doubt alarmed Burghley and 
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Robert Cecil. But then something very strange happened concerning the date of 
execution. Author David A. More, editor of The Mar/ovian, in an Internet arti­
cle on a site entitled Marlowe Lives' Association devoted to john Penry, pro­
vides the details: 

On the 25th of May, sentence of death was formally pronounced . Family 
and friends showed up at the place of execution, but for some reason it was 
delayed, giving them hope, perhaps, that his sentence might be commuted or 
reversed. Her husband's banishment to Scotland would be like heaven to Eleanor 
Penry and her four small girls. But on May 29, Whitgift entered the council 
chamber with the Sirs john (Puckering and Popham, the Lord Keeper and Lord 
Chief Justice ) to sign the warrant. "john Cant." Signed first. 

Penry's first biographer, John Waddington, observed : "the instrument was 
sent immediately to the sheriff, who proceeded on the same day to erect the gal­
lows at 51. Thomas a Watering." This place of execution for the county of Sur­
rey was located close to the second milestone on the Kent road, and near a brook 
dedicated to St. Thomas a Becket. 

The execution was delayed for four days, which may have given Penry the hope 
that his letters to 13urghley and Essex had resulted in a commutation of the sen­
tence. He had hoped to be able to return to Wales and continue his much-needed 
work. But it was not to be. The Dictionary of National Biography relates that "while 
at dinner on May 29, John Perry was suddenly ordered to prepare for execution," 
and at five o'clock in the afternoon he was carted off to the gallows. William Pierce, 
in his life of Penry, provides a fascinating view of the macabre scene: 

In the midst of his meal, Penry without ceremony was hurried on to the hurdle 
and dragged to 5t. Thomas a Watering, where a gallows stood waiting its next 
victim. Having arrived there, Penry found no friend among the sprinkling of 
people who saw the grim cortege pass, and were drawn to the scene by their morbid 
curiousity. It was part of [Whitgift'sJ mean design to have none of the condemned 
man's friends present; and in any case, peremptory orders were issued to deny him 
the ordinary courtesy of the times, an opportunity at the gallows to bid farewell to 
the world, profess his innocence and loyalty. 

Years later, an official version of Penry's tragic end was given by the chap­
lai n of King Charles during the Stuart restoration. "Penry was executed with a 
very thin company attenJing on him, for fear the fellow m igh t have raised some 
tumult either in going to the gallows, or upon the laJder" (Pie rc e, p. 480) . 

Of the pathetic scene at the hanging, John Waddington wrote: "Penry would 
have spoken, but the sheriff insisted, that neither in protestation of his loyalt y, 
nor in the avowal of his innocence, should he utter a word. His life was taken, 
and the people were dispersed. The place of his burial is unknown" (p. 204). 

Why these strange circumstances surrounding Penry's execution? Why do 
we not know where he was buried? Did it have anything to do with Marlowe's 
arrest two Jays before Penry's conviction? In the next chapter we sha ll see that 
the change in execution Jates for Penry was, as unbelievable as it may seem, 
Burghley's means of saving the life of Christopher Marlowe. 



30 


The Plot to Save 

Christopher Marlowe 


The events that led to the arrest of Christopher Marlowe on May 20, 1593 
must be viewed in the context of what the political climate was like in London 
in that year. This was the time of Whitgift's inquisition in which his High Com­
mission had acquired, with the Queen's approval, great intimidating powers. 
Otto Scott, in his biography of James I, describes the scene (p. 130): 

The sweep of the High Commission extended not only to ca non law and ecclesiasti­
cal rules, but included "ht'retical opinions, seditious writings, con tempts, conspira­
cies, false rumours, and slanderous words." This enormous net over the realm was 
cunningly crafted, and those who refused a summons to appear could be nned or 
Jailed .. " The Commission could summon, question, charge, convict, and punish 
and allowed no law yers for the defense . 13efore Whitgift 's commission even began, 
the Privy Council was deluged by complaints from the Church of England's minis­
ters who could not subscribe to Whitgift's doctrines as laid down and who were 
already thrown out of their posts . Burghley and Walsingham, as well as the entire 
Reform element of the ci ties and countryside, were appalled. 

Walsingham had been so outraged by Whitgift 's actions that he urged the 
other members of the Privy Council to write reproving letters to the Archbishop. 
But the Queen let her councillors know that she approved of Whit gift's iron rule 
and appointed him to the Privy Council, the only instance in her reign in which 
a churchman had been appointed to the Council. This gave to the Archbishop 
even greater power. 

The specific event that led to the unforeseen dangerous consequences for 
Marlowe was the Dutch Church libel, the nailing of a 53-line doggeral poem on 
the wall of the Dutch churchyard in Broad Street. It threatened the Dutch immi­
grants living in London with harm and violence if they did not leave. 'Thi s was 
only one of a number of libels against the French, Dutch and Belgian immigrants 
which had started to appear Oil April 15 , 15<;13. The writers demanded that the 
"strangers" kave the country within three months or suffer violence. 

212 
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All of this was probably caused by the action of the House of Commons on 
March 21, 1593, extending the privileges of resident aliens. An important dis­
senting voice was that of Sir Walter Ralegh's. Ralegh advocated their expulsion. 
Hesaid: 

Whereas it is pretended that for strangers it is agai nst charit)" against honour , 
against profit to expel them, in my opinion it is no mailer of charity 10 relieve 
them ... . In the whole ,ausl;' I see no matter of honour, no matter of (harity, no 
profit in relieving them. 

The Queen favored the legislation, and her ministers voted for it. However, 
when the libels began to appear, the Queen ordered an investigation, and the 
Privy Council set up a commission of five men to "examine by secret means who 
may be the authors of the said libels." 

What was special about the Dutch Church libel is that it was written in 
iambic pentameter, signed Tamburlaine, and contained allusions to several of 
Marlowe's plays. Charles Nicholl speculates that all of this had to do with the 
fierce rivalry that existed between the Earl of Essex and Ralegh for the Queen's 
favor. The Dutch Church libel pointed a finger at Marlowe who supposedly 
shared with Ralegh atheist views. It is believed that the libel itself was written 
by Richard Cholmeley, one of Essex's servants. Nicholl writes (p. 300): 

The man most likely 10 be handling Cholmeley was Thomas Phelippes, the old 
Walsingham code-breaker who was now Essex's operational chief in secret matters. 
A little-kno\vn fact which now becomes significant is that Phelippes was a member 
of the special commission set up by the Privy Council to investigate the anti-Dutch 
libels .... He used forgery and fabrication to incriminate Babington, and through 
him , Mary Stuart. The campaign against Marlowe and Ra\egh in 1593 has some­
thing of his trademark; his position on the secret commission gives him a logistical 
base; his role in the Essex retinue gives him the motivation. 

It should also be noted that the Bacons, Anthony and Francis, were allied 
to Essex, and were competing with Kobert Cecil for the highest positions in Eliz­
abeth's government. Indeed, Essex was not too happy with Cecil's lack of sup­
port for francis Bacon ;JS the new Attorney-General when the post became V;Jcan!. 
Cecil and his father considered Bacon too yo ung and inexperienced compared 
to Sir Edward Coke, the Queen's choice. 

But for Essex the choice of L3acon was crucial in proving his power over the 
Queen. In a heated conversation with Kabat Cecil on the matter, he said: "I Flor 
the Attorneyship for Francis is that I must h;Jve, and in that will spend all my 
power, might, authority and amity, and with tooth and nail defend and procure 
the same for him against whomsoever; and whosoever getteth this office out of 
my hands for any other before he have it, it shall cost him the coming-by" (Alger­

non Cecil, p. 81). 
However , there was the post ofSolicitor General. vacated by Coke, that had 

to be filled. Again, the Queen thwarted Essex and gave the position to Serjeant 
Thomas Heming. It was difficult for Essex to live with these defeats. They also 



214 The Marlowe-Shakespeare Connection 

undercut the confidence of his followers who were led to believe that he had more 

power over the Queen than he actually had. 

Meanwhile, on May II the Council of the Star Chamber decided to take 

measures to counter the potential violence posed by the libels. The full text of 

the Dutch Church libel was believed lost until 1971 when it was found among 

the collection of Sir Thomas Phillipps. It begins with the threat of violence: 

Ye strangers yt doe inhabite this lande, 

Note this same writing doe it vnderstand. 

Conceit it well for savegard of your Iyves, 

Your goods, your children, & your dearest wives 


Then the writer makes an obvious reference to Marlowe's The Jew of Malta: 

Your /'VIachiavellidn Marchant spoylcs the state, 

Your vsery doth leave vs dll (or deade 

Your /\rtifex, & craftsman worb our fate, 

And like the lewes, you cate us vp as bread 


The next twelve lines describe how the immigrants sell their wares throughout the 
country, creating unfair competition with local merchants. The writer continues: 

Noe prize comes in but you make claime therto 

And every merchant hath three trades at least, 

And Cutthrote like in selling you vndoe 

Us all, & with our store continually you feast: 

We cannot suffer long. 

Our pore artificers doe starve & dye .... 


The libel then accuses the immigrants of causing increases in rents because 
so many of them are living in one house, dispossessing the natives. Again, the 
writer threatens violence and uses a reference to another play by Marlowe, The 
Massacre at Paris. 

Since words nor threatcs nor any other thinge 
Canne make you to avoyd this certaine ill 
Weele cutte your throtes, in your temples praying 
Not paris massacre so much blood did spill 

Finally, the libeller accuses men in high places o( corruption, which was no 

doubt meant to offenJ the men on the commission: 

'v\'ith Spani~h gold, you all are infected 
,\nd with yt Ithatl gould our Nobles \"ink at feats 
Nobles said P Nay men to be relectt'd, 
Upstarts yt Ithatl enjoy the noblest seates 
Thai wound their Countrll'S brt'st, for lucres "ake 
,\nd wrong our gracious Queenc & Subjcds good 
l.\y lettin!; Slran!;Crs make llur harts to ake 
For which our s\\,oru, dre ",het, tll shedd their blood 
And for a truth let It be vnder,;toode . 
ny, I'lye, & never returne. 
Per. T3mberlalnt' 
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The reference to Tamberlaine was obviously meant to point the finger at 
Marlowe. The entire libel was meant to provoke and outrage the Privy Coun­
cil, which is exactly what it did. 

Present at that Council meeting were: Archbishop Whitgift; the Queen 's 
Chancellor and Keeper of the Creat Seal, Sir John Puckering (also president of 
the Star Chamber); the Lord Treasurer, Burghley, and his son, Robert Cecil; the 
Earl of Derby; Lord Buckhurst; and Sir John Fortescue. They sent a letter to Sir 
Richard Martin and the aldermen of London, authorizing them to take far­
reaching methods against anyone inciting the people to violence. They were par­
ticularly anxious to capture the culprit who wrote that provocative libel: 

There have bin of late divers lewd and mutinous libells sct up within the citie of 
London, among the which there is some set uppon the wal of the Dutch Church­
yard that doth exceed the rest in lewdness, and for the discouerie of the author and 
publisher thereof hir Maiesties pleasure is that some extraordinarie paines and care 
be taken by you commissioners appointed by the Lord Mayor for th' examining 
such persons as maie be in this case anie wa)' suspected. Theis shalbe therefore to 
require and aucthorize you to make search and apprehend euerie person so to be 
suspected, and for that purpoze to enter into al houses and places where anie such 
maie be remayning . And, uppon their apprehanciun, to make' like search in ~nie the 
chambers, studies, (hestt's, or other like places for al manner uf writings ur papers 
that may geue yuu light for discoucrie of the libellers. And after you shall haue 
examined the persons , if you shal finJe them dulie to be suspected, and they shal 
refuze to confesse the truth, you shal by ducthoritie hereof put them to the Torture 
in Bridewel, and by the extremitie thereof. to be used at such times as often as you 
shalthink fit, draw them to discouer their knowledge concerning the said libells 
[Wraight, p. 2351 . 

And so, the search for the author of the Dutch Church libel went on with 
great vigor. Suspicion fell on playwright Thomas Kyd who had shared his rooms 
in Norton Folgate with Marlowe two years earlier. Why was a finger pointed at 
him? Probably because he had been working on a play with several collabora­
tors about Sir Thomas More, the Sheriff of London who had figured promi­
nently in the riots against foreign immigrants. The theme of public dissatisfaction 
with the aliens seemed to the writers to be a relevant subject at the time. But the 
play failed to pass the censor because of its controversial subject. 

The collaborators included Anthony Munday, Thomas Heywood, Henry 
Chettle, Thomas Dekker, and Thomas Kyd. There was also a sixth collaborator 
who has never been identified. Shakespeareans believe the sixth collaborator was 
Shakespeare. nut there is no proof of that. Also, Hcnslowe's diary is full of such 

literary collaborations by the known writers of the time, and the name Shake­
speare is nowhere to be found . 

Thomas Kyd's rooms were searched, and the searchers found among Kyd's 
papers a manuscript copy ofa treatise on the beliefs ofa herdic known as Arrian. 
I t had been publ isht'd in 1549 as The Pnl of rill: Lale ;\ rrian by John Proctor, and 
cledicated to princess Mary Tudor befort' she became queen. A.D. vVraight writes 
(p. 238 ): 
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It was this paper that the eye 01" the commissioner lighteJ upon , What was this? 
Heres )'? Atheism? A lind inc.leecl' In v~in poor Kyd attempted to explain, protesting 
that the paper, belonged not to him hut to Marlowe, and that they had Jpparentl y 
heen "shut'tled with some of ml'ne (unknown to me ) by some occasion of or 
wry tinge in one chamber twoe years svnct'," I1ls >lOry \Va, not believed, He was 
arrested and marched off to Bridewell under the authority of the order of the Star 
Chamber, anc.l there put to the torture, 

Apparenty, Kyd , under torture , denied that he was an atheist, but told his 
interrogators all he knew about Marlowe, accusations which he later spelJed out 
in a le tter to Puckering and enumerated in a Note that could be used in an 
indictment of Marlowe on charges of atheism, blasphemy, etc. And so, on May 
18, 1593, the Privy Council issued a warrant of arrest and the apprehension of 
Marlowe who, at the time, was living at the home of Thomas Walsingham at 
Scadbury in Chiselhurst. [t reads: 

Warrant to Henry Maunder one of the Messengers of her Majesty's Chamber to 
repair to the house of Mr. Thomas Walsingham in Kent, or to any other place 
wh ere he shall understand Christopher f'..'larl ow to be remaining, and by virtue 
hereof to apprehend and bring him to the Court in his company, And in case of 
need to require aid, 

Maunder showed up at Scadbury, and Marlowe duly accompanied him to 

the Court in London, made his appearance and was immediately released on bail. 
The document of release reads : 

This day Christofer Marley of Lond on, gent. Being sent for by warrant from their 
Lordships, hath entered hi s apparance accordinglie for his Indemnit y herein; and 
is commanded to give his daily atlcndance on their Lord ships, until he shall be 
Iyccnsed to the Co ntrar y, 

[t was obvious to J3urghley and his son that fellow Councillor Puckering 
was out to get Marlowe , and that their best intelligence agent was in trouble and 
somehow had to be saved fro m a Star Chamber inquisition, [f Marlowe was 
found guilty of the charges against him, he would be hanged, It was probably 
al so recognized by Burghley and Robert that the case against Marlowe wa s 
designed by the Earl of Essex to undermine Burghley and son, for if Marlowe 
were put to the torture, there is 110 telling what he might be forced to reveal abo ut 
Burghley, Robert Cecil, and Ralegh, Essex was capable of doing anything he 
could think of to destroy his rivals for political power. 

It also appears that Puckering was a follower of Essex 's, "an old association 
which went back to his days on the Council of the Marches, and which was to 
assist in creating personal difficulties between the Lord Keeper and the em bat­
tled Lord President Pembroke IMary Sidney's hu sband), " (Roy Kendall , p, 303 ) 

To augment his case against Marlowe, Puckering decided to use Kyd's state­
ments about Marlowe as well as evide nce procured from a group of slea sy 
informers, including Richard Cholmeley, Thomas Drury, and Richard Baines, 

An indictment of Marlowe could also lead to an indictment of Ral egh, 
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Essex's arch rival for the favor of the Queen. Indeed, Ralegh and his circle would 
be investigated after the supposed conviction and execution of Marlowe. 

In any case, Marlowe's arrest and release on bail gave Burghley, Robert 
Cecil, and Thomas Walsingham little time in which to protect Marlowe from 
the gallows. However, they were aided by the fact that in the ten days following 
Marlowe's appearance at the Star Chamber on May 20, the Privy Council met 
only three times- on the 23rd, 25th, and 29th. 

Whose idea it was to stage a phony death for Marlowe, we do not know. 
But it may have been the inventive Marlowe himself or perhaps Robert Cecil who 
had become adept in the spy business with its phony identities and passports. 
Walsingham's men would carry out the phony murder, substitute Penry's body 
for Marlowe's, and send off Marlowe to wherever Burghley and Robert wanted 
him go under a new identity. All of this could be done in Deptford where 8urgh­
ley maintained a safe house for the spy network and where the Queen's coroner, 
William Danby, could perform the inquest because Deptford, some three miles 
on the Thames south of London, was in the verge, since the Queen would be in 
Greenwich. 

And so the faked murder was planned to take place at the house of Eleanor 
Bull, widow, at Deptford Strand . Charles Nicholl did extensive research on 
Eleanor Bull, discovering that she was "a woman of substance, well-born and 
well-connected, not at all the shabby old ale-house keeper she is often portrayed 
as." Nicholl also discovered an interesting connection with Burghley. "There is 
a point at which family connections grow tenuous, but technically speaking 
Eleanor 8ull was related to Lord Burghley, the Lord Treasurer of England .... " 
Nicholl concludes ( p. 37): 

Marlowe died not in a tavern or bawdy-house, but in the house of a local official's 
widow. His hostess was a woman of standing, both by birth and marriage. She was 
someone who could call on COllrt connections if she needed, someone who might 
serve court connections if they needed. 

Deptford, it should be noted, was also the home port of the Muscovy Com­
pany, also known as the Russia Company. It was founded in 1555 by a group of 
investors as a joint-stock company and chartered by the Privy Council. Among 
the earliest investors were Lord Burghley and Sir Francis Walsingham. Its pur­
pose was to promote trade with Russia and /\sia and sponsor maritime explo­
rations. 

In his book, The Farly History of the [~lIssia CompallY, T. S. Willian writes 
(p.254): 

In December 1593 Christopher Baker ,,'as authorized to receive into the storehouse 
at Deptford "of /'vir. Marloe, mcrchaunte agent of the tvtuscovy House," 44 cables 
which had becn ordered by Sir John Hawkins and the Lord Admiral. 

Apparently, not only was Deptford a very busy place for the Muscovy Com­
pany, but it appears that a distant relative of Christopher's, Anthony Marlowe, 
was merchant agent of the company. In fact, he served in that capacity from 1576 
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to 1599. Also, Walter Ivlarlowe, Anthony's uncle, was a charter member of the 
company. And it also appears that Eleanor Hull's late husband, Richard Bull, 
who died in 1590, worked for Christopher Browne, another of Anthon), Mar­
lowe's relatives. He supervised Bull's work as a clerk of the Creencloth, whose 
duty it was to receive all goods destined for the Queen's ro)'al household. 

Thus, Eleanor Bull's house was more than just a safehouse for Burghley's 
secret agents. It was also an office for the Muscovy Company. Was Marlowe 
acquainted with the activities of the Company and its affairs in Russia? It has 
been conjectured that Marlowe may have used Ivan the Terrible (1530-1584) 
as his model for Tamburlaine. Ivan's conquests had expanded Russia into 
Siberia and he was known as a cruel tyrant. He was given to fits of rage, in one 
of which he killed his eldest son. In Marlowe's play, Tamburlaine kills his effem­
inate son. 

It is doubtful that anything at the Muscov), Company had any bearing on 
the events involved in Marlowe's faked death. But we can be sure that this gath­
ering of four of Burghley's secret agents at Deptford was not a social event. 

In any case, the timing for the phony murder was crucial. It had to be coor­
dinated with the hanging of John Penry, whose body was going to substitute for 
Milrlowe's. That hanging took place on May 29,1593, at St Thomas a Wiltering, 
three miles from Deptford, and Marlowe's supposed murder took place the very 
next day at Deptford, enough time for Penry's body to have been moved to 
Eleanor Bull's house in preparation for the Coroner's inquest. It should be noted 
that it was probably llurghley or Robert Cecil who managed to delay Penry's 
hanging so that it could coincide with what was planned at Deptford. 

The Coroner's Inquest is undoubtedly the most important document in 
this whole plot. It describes the circumstances in which Marlowe was "mur­
dered," and obviously does not describe what actually took place at Mrs. Hull's 
house. Since the murderer and witnesses were all Walsingham's men, their job 
was to create a plausible scenario that would lead to the acquittal of the mur­
derer as having acted in self-defense. And that's what the Coroner's Inquest tells 
us. This Inquest was discovered by the indefatigable Elizabethan scholar J. Leslie 
Hotson of Harvard ill 1925 while searching through the Public Record Office in 
London. It is a handsome document written in impeccable Latin by a profes­
sional scribe. Here is the English version, interspersed with this writer's com­
ments: 

Kent. Inquistion in duplicate taken at Detford Strand in the aforesaid county of 
Kent ,vithin the verge on the lirst day of June in the thirt y-fi fth year of the reign 
of Elizabet h, by t he grace of God Queen of England, France & I rrla nd, defe nder of 
the faith. etc., in the prl'st'nce of William Danbv. g~ntleman, (oroner of the house­
hold of our " lid lady I he Qucl'n, in vic'''' "llhe body llf Christopher Morle y, there 
lying dead & ,IJin, up"n the "<lth 01' Nich"l,ls i)r<'pc'r, gentkman. Wo\stan Randall, 
gentiL'lll.ln, William Curn. I\Jrian \\"llkL'r. John Barkr. I{"bert Haldwyn, Ciks 
reid, Cl'orge Iialfpcnnv. fknrv /\wger./amL's Batt. fil"l1ry Ikndvn. Thomas flatt 
senior, John l)aIJwyn . A!t-xand er l\urragL', Ldmlll1d Cood(hccpe IX Henry 
Dabyns .. 

http:gentiL'lll.ln
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None of these sixteen witnesses to the coroner's inquest had ever known 
Marlowe or Penry and thus were in no position to certify the identity of the 
corpse they were looking at. They were individuals with good reputations in 
their communities. They were yeomen, land-owners. wharf-owners. bakers. a 
grocer. a miller. 

Who S3y upon their oath that when one Ingram Frysar. late of London, Gentleman. 
and the aforesaid Christopher Morley and one' Nicholas Skeres. late of London, 
Gentleman. and [{obert Poley of L,ondon aforesaid. Gentleman. on the thirtieth 
ddy of May in the thirty-fifth year above mentioned, at Detford Strand aforesaid 
in the aforesaid County of Kent within the verge, around the tenth hour before 
noon of the same day met together in a room at the house of one Eleanor Bull. 
widow and there passed the time together and lunched. and after lunch kept com­
pany quietly and walked in the garden belonging to the aforesaid house until the 
sixth hour after noon of the same day, and then returned from the aforesaid garden 
to the room aforesaid and there together and company dined .. 

What was Marlowe and two of Walsingham's servants doing in Deptford, 
spending a full day in idleness and hours walking in a garden (who spends hours 
walking in a garden?), at a seaport where Burghley's spies conveniently went 
abroad and returned and could freshen up at Eleanor Bull's safe house before 
making their way to London? They were joined that day by Robert Poley who 
had just returned from Holland, Shouldn't Marlowe have been at Scadbury. 
available for appearance at the Star Chamber in London at a moment's notice? 

and after dinner the aforesaid Ingram anti Chri~,(oper Morley were in speech and 
exchanged divers malicious words beca use they could not concur nor agree on the 
payment of the sum of pence, that is to say, Ie re,'knYllge. there .... 

Why this fuss over a bill that was either to be paid by Walsingham or Burgh­
ley? The four men were there on some sort of "business," So the idea that there 
would be a dispute between Ingram and Marlo\ve over the bill is preposterous. 
But it provides a pretext for what was to happen soon afterward: 

and the aforesaid Christopher Morley then lying on a bed in the room where they 
dined and moved with anger "pinst the aforesaid Ingram Frysar because of the 
aforesaid words that had passed between them. And the aforesaid Ingram then and 
there sitting in the aforesaid room with his back towMds the bed where the afore­
said Christopher Morley then lying. near the bed, that is silting nere rite bed and 
with the front part of his body toward the table and the aforc,aid Nichola, Skeres 
and [{obert Poley sitting on either side of the same Ingram so that the sa me Ingram 
frysar wuld in no way take night, thus it bekll that the aforesaid Christopher 
Morley suddenly and of malice <lforethought towards the aforesaid Ingram then 
and there drew the dagger of the aforesaid Ingram which was at his back, and with 
the same dagger the aforesaid Christoper Morley then and there gave the aforesaid 
Ingram two wounds on his head of the length of twO inches and of the depth of 
a quarter of an inch; whereupon the aforesaid Ingram, in fear of being slain and 
silling on the aforesaid bench bctw~en the aforesaid Nicholas Skeres and Robert 
Poley. so that he was not able to withdraw in any way, in his own defense ilnd to 
save his life then and there struggled with the aforesaid Christopher Morley to take 
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hack from him his aforesaid dagger, in which s~me affray the same Ingram (ould 
not wit hd raw from the aforesa id Ch r ist opher Morley. 

Picture this unlikely situation: Marlowe is lying on a bed behind the backs 
of three men seated at a table. They are facing no one. Usually when several men 
are seated at a table conversing, dining, or playing backgammon with one 
another, they sit facing each other. They would not all be seated on one side of 
the table facing the air. And when Marlowe stole the knife from Ingram's back, 
did he then stand up and cut Ingram's head with the knife, which Ingram then 
grabbed out of Marlowe's hand, turned around and stabbed Marlowe in the eye 1 

Why would Marlowe have tried to kill Ingram Frysar over a silly dinner bill ' 
And if he really wanted to kill Frysar, why didn't he stab him in the back And' 
why did Skeres and Poley do nothing (0 subdue Marlowe and help Ingram' If 
ever there was a phony scenario, this was it. What these men were probJbly 
doing in that room was preparing Penry's body for the inquest. And what they 
probably did the night before was bring Penry's body in a cart to the Bull house 
from the gallows at St Thomas a Watering, three miles away. It is even proba­
ble that Marlowe was not there at all since the dead Penry would be used as his 
stand-in. 

And thus it befell in that affray that the said Ingram, in defense of his life and with 
the aforesaid dagger of the value of 12 pence, gave the aforesaid Christopher then 
and there a mortal wound above his right eye of the depth of two inches and of the 
breath of one inch , of which same mortal wound the aforesaid Christopher Morley 
then and there instantly died. 

There have been comments made by physicians that a wound such as the 
one described in the inquest would not kill a man. It would simply damage brain 
tissue as in a prefrontal lobotomy. 

And thus the aforesaid Jurors say upon their oath that the aforesaid Ingram killed 
the afores.lid Christopher Morley the aforesaid thirtieth day of May in the thirty 
fifth year abovementioned in the aforesaid I)etford Strand in the aforesaid county 
of Kent within the verge in the room ~foresaid Within the verge in the manner and 
form aforesaid in defense and for the salvation of his life, against the peace of the 
said lady the Queen, her present crown & dignity. And further the said Jurors say 
upon their oath that the said Ingram after the slaying aforesaid perpetrated & done 
by him in the manner & form aforesaid neither fled nor withdrew himself. But 
concerning whilt good; or chatlels, bnds or tenement> the said Ingram had at the 
time of the aforesaid slaying done & perpetrated by him in the manner & form 
aforesaid, the said Jurors are totally uninformed . In witness whereof the aforesdid 
Coroner as well as tht' Jurors af<lresaid to this Inquisition have in turn set their 
seals. I)"ted the day & vear ahovementioned, ctl . 
by William Danby 
Coroner 

And so, with Christopher Marlowe pmnounced officially dead, the case 
pending against him at the Iligh Commission was closed. As for the body, it was 
taken Jfter the inquest (rom Eleanor Uull's house to the church of St. Nicholas 
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and buried there in an unmarked grave. The church records state that the body 
was Christopher Morley's. But it was undoubtedly Penry's. 

On Thursday, June 28th, just four weeks after the events in Mrs. Bull's 
house, the Queen issued a formal pardon of Ingram Frizer for having murdered 
a man in self-defense. The case was closed. 

Where did Marlowe, with a new identity, go after May 30,15931 Did he go 
to France' Did he go to Scotland' It can be assum<t.that he continued to work 
for Burghley and Cecil in whatever capacity they thought necessary. What is 
known is that plays continued to be written, which is the best proof we have 
that Marlowe did not die as reported on May 30, 1593. Nor is it likely that the 
Illan William Shakespeare, who supposedly inherited Marlowe's mantle, was a 
writer since there is no evidence to confirm such a career for the gentleman from 
Strat ford-¢-Avon.,. 



31 


The Plot to Destroy 

Christopher Marlowe 


The complex chain of events that ended at Deptford can be said to begin 
with the Bacon brothers, Anthony and Francis, who were frustrated and disap­
pointed with their uncle Burghley's reluctance, if not unwillingness, to promote 
Francis to a high position in Elizabeth's government. 13urghley wanted his own 
son Robert Cecil to become Secretary of State, the position held by Sir Francis 
Walsingham until his death in 1590. Besides, Burghley, a religious family man, 
probably knew and disapproved of his nephews' sexual proclivities which he 
probably regarded as a liability when it came to government positions of high 
responsibilit y. 

Burghley had enjoyed a close friendship with their father, Sir Nicholas 
Bacon, Lord Keeper of the Great Seal, until the latter's death in 1579. 13urghley, 
Bacon and Walsingham were the solid trio who protected Queen Elizabeth from 
her enemies. Lady Ann Bacon, nee Cooke, Bacon's second wife, was the sister of 
Burghley's second wife, Mildred. Thus, with such intimate connections, it is 
easy to understand why Anthony and Francis expected almost as much from 
Burghley as they would have had from their own father. And, in fact, Burghley 
did help Francis obtain some very good but minor government assignments. 
However, in reality, the two brothers were their own worst enemies, and their 
railures could not be blamed on Burghley. 

Anthony, born in 1551), was three years older than Francis, born in 1561. 
130th brothers were the issue of their father's second marriage and thus had six 
siblings from their father's first marriage. Ann Bacon gave her sons the best edu­
cation available in England. Both were privately tutored, attended Trinity Col­
lege at Cambridge and Gray's Inn where their father had been treasurer. Both 
had been groomed for careers in law. 

In 1576, rrancis, at age 15, was sent abroad to assist Amias Paulet, the 
Queen's ambassador at Paris. There Francis met Thomas Bodley, an elite spy, 
gathering information for the government. Francis was expected to report to 
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Bodley on whatever he found in his travels. In later years Bodley was to become 
librarian at Oxford where he founded the Bodleian library. It was also at the 
embassy that Francis learned how to cipher and use cryptography. He became 
friends with Thomas Phelippes, a servant of Walsingham's, who had been sent 
to France to provide the ambassador with the exceptional skills he had in lan­
guages ,md ciphering. 

Lisa Jardine and Alan Stewart, in their biography of Francis Bacon, write 
(pp.55-57): 

Working for Walsingham throughout the ISIlUs on the continent. notably Paris, he 
IPhelippesl became one orthe most important personal centres of English intelli ­
gence .... \'Vhat "raneis learnt'd from Thomas Phelipp(', remained with him for the 
rest of hi s life .. .. Francis was also entrusted with bringing messages to the Queen. 
The mi ssio n hJd to be strictly confidential- even the identit y of the mess<'nger 
needed to be kept seeret.. .. Clearl y, the beHer needed to be someone well educated, 
well informed, trustworth y, Jnd intimately acquainted with the business of the 
em bassy. 

On February 20, 1579, Nicholas Bacon, Lord Keeper, died. Francis imme­
diately returned to England only to find to his distress that his father had made 
provision s for each of his children, except Francis , having died before he could 
finish the task. Thus, Francis was left in the position of having to earn a living 
in order to sustain the lifestyle he had become accustomed to. And that is why 
he needed a patron, such as his uncle. But uncle Burghley 's focus was on his own 
son who needed all the support he could get from his father. 

And that is why Bacon turned to the Earl of Essex, the Queen's current 
favorite. While the Earl was intelligent and well educated, he was certainly in 
need of the lucid advice and council that only a Francis Bacon could provide. In 
gratitude, the Earl was willing to go to any length to get Francis the position he 
wanted in Elizabeth's government -the attorney generalship. In Hostage to For­
t~lne: Th e Troubled LIfe of Francis Bacon, we read: 

Though dynastically well placed, Bacon's prospec ts were obstructed throughout his 
ca reer by Sir Robert Cecil, tht, equall y ambitious son of his mother's sister, Mildred 
Cooke, wife of Lurd Burghley. Francis hedged his bets bct,"een the two fact ions 
which between them controlled the Elizabethan co urt in the 1570s-the Cecils and 
Essex. His preferred champion, the I:arl of Essex, WJS charismatic, charming an d 
well educilted -the kind of man for ,yhom throughout his life rrancis Bacon had 
a weJkncss. But this fldmbovant patron with whom Bacon threw in his lot increas ­
ingly publIcl y was, in matters uf state. head strong .Ind reckless, regularly ignoring 
the measured advice offered by those whose ca uses he supported, in his dealings 
with the Qucen. 

Meanwhile, Anthon y, in [)ecember 1579, twenty-one years of age. ten 
months after hi s father's death. left England with uncle Burghley's recommen­
dation . He was accompanied by two menservant s. He quickly es tabli shed him­
se lf as a very capable intelligence gatherer, taking instructions from Burghley 
and Walsingham . It was through Walsingham that Anthony became a lifelong 
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friend of Nicholas Faunt's, one of Walsingham's personal secretaries, who car­
ried post between Anthony and Walsingham. It was Faunt who provided 
Anthony with news of what was going on with his mother at Gorhambury and 
brother Francis. 

Anthony stayed on the continent, mainly in France, for twelve years, dur­
ing which time he met eminent intellectuals, sent numerous reports to Burgh­
ley and Walsingham, became a friend of Henri of Navarre, and got into trouble 
in Montauban in the summer of 1586, where he was charged with sodomy with 
a page and in danger of being executed. However, it was Henri of Navarre who 
came to his rescue and got him released. But it was this incident which would 
haunt him for the rest of his life, not knowing who in England - the Queen or 
Burghley - knew of the charges. 

There was also the matter of Anthony's recurring illnesses which required 
medication. Both Francis and Anthony came to rely heavily on "physic-opiates" 
for relief, which led to a mild opiate addiction. 

Anthony finally returned to England in February, 1592. He was met by his 
friends Thomas Lawson and Nicholas Faunt, who brought him a letter from his 
mother. A room at Gray's Inn h<ld been prepared for him by Francis. 

Meanwhile, francis had gone about helping Essex create his own intelli­
gence network. Walsingham's death had left many of his intelligence-gatherers 
unemployed, and Francis began to recruit some of them into Essex's service, 
including Thomas Phelippes who brought members of his own network to work 
for Essex. And when Anthony returned to England, Francis lost no time in 
recruiting his brother. Alison Plowden writes in The Elizabethan Secret Service 
(pp . 115-116): 

Anthony !:lacon had been captivated at first sight by the "rare perfections and 
virtues" of this handsome, courteous young nobleman and longed for an opportu ­
nity to show the Earl ho"v much he honoured and esteemed his excellent gifts, 
how earnestly he desired to deserve his good opinion .. 

This then was Anthony's chance. While brother Francis acted as Essex's 
political counsellor, he let Anthony take over responsibility for foreign affairs 
and re-activate the networks that had been allowed to languish since Walsingham's 
death .... If, with the Bacons' help, the Earl of Essex could begin to acquire the repu­
tation for omniscience which had done so much for Francis Walsingham, it must 
increase his prestige and give him the right to be regarded as a serious character. 
For the Bacons, of course, the scheme offered an opportunity not to be missed for 
undermining the power of the Cecils. 

Meanwhile, Robert Cecil was using his own network of intelligence gath­
erers to provide him with important information . Among them was experienced 
ChrislOphcr Mar/owe. It is not known whL·ther or not Marlowe had been 
JPproached and ,lsked to (!cSt'rt the Ct'cils for bsex. Hut clearly, Marlowe owed 
too much to Hurghll'y to even contemplate such di,lo)'alty. Besides, what Mar­
lowe needed was time to write and thL' IllL'ans to earn Burghley 's continued 

su ppOf!. 
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Another good reason for Marlowe to have avoided having anything to do with 
the crowd at Essex House was its rq)utation. Jardine and Stewart write (p. 17): 

ITlhe exclusively male, intense and passionate forms of service which surrounded 
Essex, in which buth Anthony anJ Francis Bacon were implicated until the death of 
the earl, could readily be represented in a less respectabk light as a Ivorld rife with 
male sexual intrigue and sudomy. Lampoons, letters and intelligence reports frum 
the periud cuntain frequent suggestiuns that one or uther uf the rising yuung men 
is involved in sume humusexual sexual liaison or uther. A feW-Anthony Bacun 
among them - actually fuund themselves brought to court for alleged sodumitical 
activity. 

There was another matter that drove the emotionally unstable Essex mad 
with the desire to destroy: Sir Walter Ralegh, whose relationship with the Queen 
he could hardly tolerate. Using some of the more unsavory characters at Essex 
House, he or Phelippes or all of them combined came up with a plan that would 
undermine the Cecils and destroy Ralegh. They would use an attack against 
Marlowe that would lead to an investigation ofRalegh for atheism by Whitgift's 
inquisition. The Bacon brothers knew Whitgift well, having lived with him when 
they were students at Trinity College. 

The rash of threatening libels nailed to the immigrant churches in London 
in April of 1593 provided the opportunity. In early May, the 53-line doggeral 
poem signed Tamburlaine was nailed to the wall of the Dutch churchyard. As 
we wrote in the previous chapter, Cholmeley, one of Essex's men, probably wrote 
the libel to implicate Marlowe. No doubt, l3urghley, Robert Cecil and Marlowe 
quickly realized what the Essex people were up to: creating a situation in which 
the Cecils and Marlowe would be discredited and using Marlowe to open the 
way to an investigation of Ralegh for atheism. 

It required quick thinking on the part of the Cecils and Marlowe to find a 
way to thwart the Essex-Bacon plan. It was Thomas Walsingham's loyal friend­
ship with Marlowe and his continued loyalty to Burghley that made the faked 
murder possible. 

Charles Nicholl, in The Reckoning, devotes an entire chapter to exploring 
in great detail how Essex's secret operatives concocted the plan. A letter from 
one of them, Thomas Drury, to Anthony Bacon in August 1593 indicates that 
Anthony was quite aware of what was going on. The operatives included Thomas 
Drury, Richard Cholmeley and Richard Baines, whose "Note" provided the most 
damning evidence against Marlowe. Nicholl writes (p. 310): 

This ducument, which has perplexed and scandalised Marlowe's biographers for 
centuries, tells us nothing fur certain except that Richard Baines wished to accuse 
Marluwe of heresy. That is all we can be sure of: its motive. which is to incrimi­
nate, to make Marlowe a criminal.. 

There is one other curiosit), about the Baines "Note" that needs looking into: 
its timing. As already noted, the contemporary cviJencc is contradictory. There 
are two copies uf the "Nute." One is almost certainly autugraph. The other is an 
official copy, smartly written in scribal hand .. 
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.. . There Jre a few minor variations in the text, but it is otherwise a verbatim 
copy. After the copy was made, however, someone went thr ough it, writing fast and 
in a slapdash hand, and made certain editorial changes to the text. Some of these 
are unimportant, but three passages are deleted entirely. The first is Marlowe's 
famous quip abou t loving tobacco and boys. The second is the paragraph about 
coining: Marlowe's statement abou t his "right to coin" and about his acqua intance 
with Poole at Newgate. Thirdly, the whole of the las t paragraph is deleted: this is 
Baines's conclusion. summarising Marlo we's attitude, promising to bring witnesses 
forward, and so on. The effec t of the corrections seems to be to concentrate on the 
purely religious aspects of Marlowe's unorthodoxy. Related subversions- sexual , 
criminal- are no longer considered relevant. 

Baines, of course, was the same character who turned Marlowe in the year 
before for coining in the Netherlands. He obvi ous ly had no love for Marlowe. 
Burghley dismissed the charge , and Marlowe went free. Should anyone have 
believed Baines l He was one of the more unsavory characters in the spy busi­
ness, which depended greatly on unsavor y characters to d o much of the dirt y 
wo rk . Walsingham had hired him in the great struggle agains t Ca tholic intrigue 
and used him as a double-agent. 

Richard Baines was of an older generation than Marlowe's. He had a ttended 
Christ's College at Cambridge' in 1568 , and in 15 73 moved to Caius, a Catholic 
stronghold. He received his MA in 1576. Two years later he enrolled at the 
Catholic seminary at Rheims, France, the same seminary that Marlowe would 
visit ten yea rs later. Nicholl describes what life was like at the seminary (p. 123) : 

The seminarists wore black gowns and unicorn hats, attended divinit y lectures , 
subsisted on simple fare ... and contemplated the murals of blessed mart yrdom 
painted on their chamber-wall s. It was an intensely tight-knit community. These 
were young men a long way from home, surrounded by hostile locals, and steeped 
in a fanatical ideal of devotion and sacrifice: "soldiers of Christ." 

On September 21,1581, Baines was ordained as a full priest . But apparently 
he had been sent to Rheims as a double- age nt , with the intention of destroying 

th e seminary. He hoped to flnd confederates among the sc holars by sowing 
discontent and ta lking about "flesh pies and carnal delights." He revealed his 
plan to a fellow-seminarian whom he tried to recru it by promising a very gen­
erous payment from Wabingham. But the seminarian took all of thi s to Dr. 
Allen, the head of the college. Baines was arrested on May 28,1582. A year later, 
on May 13 ,15 83, Baines wrote and signed a detailed, six-page confess ion, which 
he wrote in exchange for his relea~e. It revealed his nefari ous plans to destroy 
the seminary, including a plan to poison its water-supply. 

Equally interesting is what the confession revea led about Baines's person­
ality. !-Ie believed that there was a "devil" within him driving him to do terri­
ble evil. He confessed that he "delighted in profane writers, and the worst s~ 
of them. sLich as etther wrote agaInst the truth , Of had least taste of feiIgIofi\" 

(Nicholl, p . 12StJ1Nicholl writes (p. 129 ): 

Suddenly tht' young Ca thol ic stands before a duc trinal Jbys; of doubt and rejection. 
"Proceeding fJrth~r ~nd farther in wicked ness. " he "began to Illock at the lesse r 
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points of religion ." From there he went on to "uller divers horrible blasphemies in 
plain terms against the principal points of religion." In all this he tried to influence 
the other semi narists, "'b:-- arguments and often communications." 

Nicholl then offers a fascinating and plausible speculation: 

The extraordinary thing about this part of I3aines's confession is its closeness to 
that other product of his pen, the "Note" on Marlowe .... This immediately throws 
new light on the Baines "Note." In one sense, it makes it more psychologically 
complex .. .. He was, on the evidence of the confession, far closer to Marlowe than 
we have realised. He has travelled down this "highway to heresy." Yet it also makes 
the "Note" more questionable as an indictment of Marlowe. 

In other words, Baines may have been writing more about himself than 
Marlowe. For, how well could he have actually known Marlowe and his religious 
beliefs? Burghley and Walsingham knew Marlowe much, much better, and that 

is why Burghley and son took the risk of staging a phony murder to save him. 
But there is another aspect of Baines's six-page confession that Nicholl 

seems to have missed. A full copy of that confession, translated from the orig­
inal Latin , was published in Roy Kendall's Christopher Mar/owe and Richard 
Baines, Journeys through the Ellzabetha/l Underground, published in 2006. Kendall 
states that the Latin original "has never been printed in any Marlovian context," 
and that he " located the original text, had it translated from the Latin , and 
printed it in full" in his hook. In that confession there is not only a detailed 
account of Baines's horrible sins, but a recontotion and a solemn pledge of loy­
alty to the Roman Catholic Church. He avers (p. 28): 

Now therefore I shall make reparation to God's Church as far as I am able and call 
the Holy Trinity and all those in heaven to witness that by this retraction, which I 
confess to have written by my own hand, in all things I cling to and believe the 
holy, Catholic, apostolic and Roman Church and that I submit myself to that 
supreme governor of it, our most holy master Gregory XIII, Christ's highest minis­
ter on earth. And also I detest, execrate, reject and abjure from my mind all here­
sies, schisms and sects, especially the heresies of Luther and Calvin and all others to 
which I seemed to join by my own will, in that I was wont to be familiar with new 
men and enemies of the true religion. I testify by God and the holy mother Church 
that no longer do they \Vish me saved or pardoned by divine mercy in that I strive 
for and defend with all my power and faith, handed down by our forefathers, which 
the aforesaid apostolic chair promotes and teaches . 

Given in my chamber at Rheims on 13 May 1583 in the pre~ence of Thomas llai­
ley, priest, Humphrey Fly, doctor of law and Seth Foster, priest. 

I acknowledge that this is my retraction . Richard Bainy, priest. 

Baines's retraction was made eleven months after his incarceration, during 
which time he undoubtedly underwent 0 profound change of heart. But his 
pledge to "detest, execrate, reject, and abjure" dil heresies meant that he would 
do all in his power to s ilence and destroy such " heretics" as Christopher Mar­
lowe, whose anti-Catholic play, Massacre 111 Paris, must have rankled Catholic 

13aint:s. 
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Apparently, Walsingham and I)urghley discounted Baines's return to his 
Catholic faith and believed that his recantation was merely a means of getting 
ou t of the Sem i nary, f(lr t hey con t in ued to use him. One can imagine tha t Bu rgh­
It'y suspected something wrong when Baines accused Marlowe of counterfeiting 
and decided to give the suspected double, now triple, agent his w:llking papers. 
How Baines then became involved in writing his damning Note against Mar­
lowe is interesting. 

Constance Kuriyama tells us in Christopher MarlolVe: A Renaissance Lij'e, 
that Kyd, under torture, had said enough about Marlowe so that "Puckering 
smelled blood in the water, and consequently prodded Kyd to provide more spe­
cific information about Marlowe's opinions and associates." (p. 145) Kyd did 
indeed provide Puckering with the information he wanted, information that 
later wound up in Baines's famous Note. 

How did Baines becoming involved' Kuriyama writes (p. 146): 

Drury, we will recall, was an associate of Richard Cholmeley whom Cholmeley 
managed to have arrested in July 1591. In late 1592 Drury, who \vas still in prison, 
or ba.:k in prison, was recruited by Lord 13ackhurst and PUlkering to perform 
certain unspecifIed services for them, evidently intelligence related. 

Lord Puckering released Drury from prison on the proviso that he find 
Baines and bring him to the Privy Council, which Drury proceeded to do. With 
Baines in hand, Puckering instructed him to compose a strong incriminating 
Note, based on Kyd's revelations, that could be used to convict the great poet 
and playwright. Undoubtedly Baines complied with Puckering's request with 
great relish. 

Apparently, Burghley and son knew enough of what Puckering was plan­
ning to have felt a great sense of urgency. They had to move fa st to thwart the 
Lord Keeper, and they succeeded in carrying out one of the greatest and most 
unbelievable feats of escape in all of history. 

Nicholl believes that Marlowe was indeed murdered. But those of us who 
believe otherwise have the greatest proof of all: the plays that were written after 
Marlowe's supposed death, plays and poems that could not have been written 
by anyone else. 

Did the Bacon brothers know what Puckering had been planning and how 
the Burghleys solved the problem? There is evidence that Anthony's close friend 
Nicholas Faunt was at Dover on May 30,1593, when the phony murder took place 
and Marlowe may have gone rrom Deptford to Dover to embark on a ship to 
France. It is probable that Marlowe's Canteburian compatriot would have been 
happy to know that the poet had escaped the Star Chamber's inquisition. 

Also, it is hard to believe that either Anthony or Francis would have wanted 
so great a genius like Marlowe to be executed for "heresy." Anthony had barely 
escaped the hangman's noose at Montauban, and Francis was too much of an 
independent, fair - minded intellectual to have enjoyed seeing Marlowe h;lI1ged. 

Apparently, events that started with the Dutch Church libel, spun out of 
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control, and ended in near tragedy. Marlowe continued to live and write the 
greatest literary works in the history of civilization. The Earl of Essex contin­
ued to lead an anti-Cecil faction until 1601 when he rebelled against the Queen, 
was prosecuted by his former friend Francis Bacon, and beheaded for treason. 
Anthony Bacon died shortly thereafter, but Francis went on to greater heights 
under James I, became Attorney-General in 16/3 and Lord Chancellor from 1618 
to 1621. A Parliamentary committee found him guilty of corruption and he was 
sent to the Tower. But James, who recognized and admired Bacon 's great intel­
lect , pardoned him. J3acon has been proposed as the true author of the works 
attributed to Shakespeare, but he died in 1626 , three years after the publication 
of the First Folio, about which he said nothing. 
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Enter William Shakespeare 

The name William Shakespeare enters the annals of literature for the first 
time with the publication of the poem Venl/s and Adonis in London in 1593. 
Although the poem was registered with the Stationers Company anonymously 
on April 18, 1593, it wasn't published until September 22, 1593, four months 
after Marlowe was pronounced dead. That is the publication date accepted by 
Prof. Leslie Hotson in Shakespeare's Sonnets Dared. The name William Shake­
speare does not appear on the title page, but at the end of a dedication to the 
Earl of Southampton , the Right Honorable Henry Wriothesly, then 20 years of 
age. It reads (in modern spelling): 

I know not huw I shall offend in dedicating my unpulished lines to your lordship, 
nor how the world will censure me for (hoosing so ;. trong a prop to support so 
weak a burden : only, if )'our honour seem but pleased, I account myself highly 
praised, and vow to take advantage of all idle hours, till [ have honoured you with 
some graver labour. But if Ihe fHst heir of my invention prove deformed, I shall be 
sorry it had so noble a god-father, and never after ear so barren a land for fear il 
yield me so bad a harvest. I leave il to your honourable survey, and your honour 
to your heart's content; which I wish may answer your own wish and the world's 
hopeful expectation. 

Your honour 's in all dUlY, 

William Shakespeare 


Note that Shakespeare refers to the poem as his "first heir of my invention." 
No mention of all the plays attributed to him by future biographers which he 
was supposed to have written before 1593. And that is because they cannot square 
their fictional biographies with the actual chronology of events. And all of this 
disjointed biographical fantasy is based on the misinterpretation of what Robert 
Greene wrote in 1592 about the Shake-scene . Greene was not referring to William 
Shakespeare the unknown writer but to Edward Alleyn , the great actor and true 
shake-scene of his time. Greene knew /\lleyn very well. He never knew or heard 
of someone named William Shakespeare . 

;\l1d because orthodox Shakespearcal1 s are reluct ~ll1t or simply unwilling to 
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believe that their interpretation of Greene', reference to Shake-scene is in error, 
they are forever stuck in a false chronology that is forever confusing and unten­
able. Once you rely on a chronology based on established fact, as we have done 
in this book, it is possible to sort out historical fact from historical fiction. 

Did William Shakespeare actually write VelHls and Adonis l It certainly is 
not the work of an unknown beginner. It was written by someone intimately 
acquainted with Ovid's Metamorphosis, which points us directly to Marlowe 
himself who actually translated Ovid and was a great admirer of the Roman 
poet's works. 

And while we believe that Marlowe wrote Venus and Adonis as well as Hero 
arid Leander, which was published in 1598, the really tantalizing question is who 
was William Shakespeare, where did he come from, and why was he chosen to 
write that dedication to the Earl of Southampton? 

Whether it was Thomas Walsingham, Lord Burghley or Robert Cecil who 
arranged with Richard Field, printer, and John Harrison, publisher, to have the 
poem sold to the public, the reason for doing so is fairly obvious: to make money. 
Harrison was a highly reputable publisher and member of the Stationers' Com­
pany. He may have known who registered the poem in April of 1593. As for 
Richard Field, he was from Stratford-upon-Avon, born in 1561, the son of Henry 
Field, a tanner and friend of John Shakespeare. In 1579, at the age of 18, Richard 
migrated to London and became apprenticed to a printer who taught him the 
trade. Was Field's migration to London the inspiration for Shakespeare doing 
likewise in 1593 or SOl And did Shakespeare go to Field for advice on how to 
find work and a place to stay in the great cityl And who chose William Shake­
speare to front for the true author of this great poeml It is significant that Shake­
speare's name did not appear on the title page but only on the dedication page. 
Was this done to make sure that no one would associate the work with Mar­
lowe There was gossip about Marlowe's demise in London, and it was essen­' 
tial to give the public no reason to suspect that Marlowe was not dead. 

But what about this unknown entity William Shakespeare? E. A. J. Honig­
mann, in his book, ShakespeClre: Ihe "/051 years," writes (p. I): 

Where was William Shak<'speare in the "lost years'· before t592, and how did he 
make a livingl Apart from the reevrds of his baptism (26 April 1564) and license 
to marry (27 November 1582), and of the christening of his children, Susanna (26 
May 1583) and the twins Hamnet and Judith (2 Februar y 1585), the rest is silence. 

But Honigmann is one of the biographers who believes that Greene was 
referring to Shakespeare in his reference to a Shake-scene in his Croatsworrh of 
lViI, published posthumously by Chettle in 1592. That error has caused a tot al 
confusion in the chronology of the plays. 

Neilson and Thorndike write in their book, Tile Facts About Shakespeare 
(p. 20): 

The record of the baptism of Shakespeare's only other children, the twins Hamnet 
and Judith, in February, 1585, practicJIJy exhausts the documcntHY evidence 
cuncerning the poet in Stratford until 1596.. 
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Meanwhile, he was gaining a footing as an actor. The accounts of the Treasurer 
of the Chamber for March 15, 1594-95, bear record of Shakespeare's having been 
summoned along with Kempe Jnd Burbage, as a member of Lord Chamberlain's 
Company, to present two comedle, before the Queen at Greenwich Palace in the 
Christmas season of 1594. This is the earliest mention of the poet as sharing with 
his company a kind of recognition as honorable as it was profitable. 

Meanwhile, in 1594, the poem The Rape oj I.ucrece \Vas printed by Richard 

Field with a dedication to the Earl of Southampton signed by William Shake­

speare. Again, it was another Marlowe work that was published to make money. 

It became very popular and appeared in eight editions by 1655. Henrietta C. 
Bartlett writes in her book, Mr. William Shakespeare, Original and Early Edi­
tions oj His Quarros alld Folios (p. 7): 

This is the s('cond work iss ued by Shakespeare and appeared in 1594 with a dedica­
tion, signed in full, to the same EJrl of Southampton to whom he had dedicated 
Venlls and Adonis the previous year. It is interesting to note the change in the tone 
of the dedication from the formal aJdress of the earlier work to the warm friendly 
tone of this one. 

Here is that second dedication: 

The love I dedicate to your Lordship is without end; whereof this pamphlet, with­
out beginning, is but a superfluous moiety. The warrant I have of your honourable 
disposition, not the worth of my untutored lines, makes it ass ured of acceptance. 
\Vhat I have done is yours; what I have to do is yours; being part in all I have, 
devoted yours. Were my worth greater, my duty would show greater; meantime, 
as it is, it is bound to your Lordship, to whom J wish long life, still lengthened with 
a ll happiness. 

It is still the dedication of a novice writer. Shakespeare's name is not on the 

title page, but on the dedication. It was printed by Richard Field for John Har­

rison. But who actually wrote the dedication? It should be noted that in the 

struggle between Essex and the Cecils for power, the Earl of Southampton had 

gone Over to Essex's side, even though he had been a ward of Lord Burghley's. 

John Michell writes in Who Wrole Shakespeare (p. 52): 

In 1593 a long, passionale, classically refined poem , Venlls and Adonis, was 
dedicat ed in the n.lme of William Shakespeare to the nineteen-year-old Earl 
01 Southampton. The following year a sl'wnd poem, The Rape of LLicrece, was 
similarly dedicated . Southampton made no acknowledgments and, despite ardent 
scholarly researches, there is no hint of evidence that he ever had any connection 
with William Shakspere. 

In 1598 the name Shakespeare or Shake-speare began appearing on th e titlr­
pages of plays, many of ,vhich had previollsly been published anonymousl)'. These 
works were famous and highly praised, yet their nominal author remained obscure. 
No literary people - with the exception of Ben lonson - ever claimed to have 
known him . His only known assoc iates wert' hi s Str3tford neighbours and, in 
London, crooked businessmen and theatre folk 

Of Vet/lis LInd Adonis and Lllera!:, Gerald Eades Bentley writes in Shake­
spwre: A Biographiwl I/alldbook (p. 149 ): 
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~oth texts are much mure free frum errur than those uf any other printed \Yorks of 
Shakespeare, an indication that for them he carefully read proof, thuugh he never 
did so for the printed texts of ,1ny of his plays. 

Perhaps the reason why these two texts were virtually error-free is because 
they were provided directly to the printer and that Shakespeare's name was 
appended to the dedications so that the true author of the poems would not be 
identified as Marlowe, who actually knew Southampton from his days at Cam­
bridge. Concerning Shakespeare's relationship with Southampton, Bentley writes 
(p. 150): 

Actually the unly evidence that exists to shuw that Shakespeare ever had anything 
to do with Southampton ur evcr sought patrunage from him exists in the dedica­
tions of the two poems in 1593 and 1594 .... IA Ifter this there is no clear evidence 
uf any relationship between the two men at all. 

In any case, up to 1594, Shakespeare's name appears on no plays. He is 
known only as a poet. When it comes to the plays, we enter a world of conjec­
ture and guess work as to when rhe plays attributed to Shakespeare were writ­
ten. We believe that those plays attributed to Shakespeare in the early 1590s and 
those in the First rolio written after Marlowe's supposed death in 1593 were 
indeed written by Marlowe in his new station in life. 

How do we know? It was Edward Blount, Marlowe's close publisher friend 
who was also a friend of the Walsingham's, who was the prime mover of the First 
Folio enterprise. Obviously, he knew the true author of the plays and where to 
find them. Indeed, twenty of the plays had never been published, and some of 
them were never staged. Where did he find them, let alone know they even 
existed? Shakespeare had died in 1616, but Marlowe no doubt was still alive when 
the First Folio was published. Shakespeare's manuscripts, we are told, were with­
out blemish, probably because Marlowe's originals hac! been transcribed by a 
professional scribe. 

The hrst time Shakespeare's name appears on a play is in 1598 on a quarto 
publication of Love's Labour's Lost, four years after his name appeared on The 
Rape of Lucrece. What do we know about Shakespeare during those four years? 
According to Eric Sams in The Real Shakespeare (p. 225): In December of 1594, 
"Willm. Kempe, Willm. Shakespeare, and Richarde Burbage, servants to the 
Lord Chamberleyne" are paid twenty pounds for "several comedies" acted before 
the Queen. Two years later, in November of 1596, "Rolls of the Queen's Bench 
in London record that a William Wayte ( rilVeS surt'ties of the peace against 
William Shakespeare 'for fear of JeJth Jnd so forth.'" So wr:: know that Shake­
speare was an actor working with Kenlpe, the great comr::ui;1n , and Burbage, 
another grc;1t shJkt'-scene, who pbyeJ mdny uithe leading roles. 

On i'vlay 4, 1597, Shakespeare bought ~l'W Place, the seconu large~t hOLise 
ill Stratford. \Vhile hi, father's fortunes were in dl'cline, son William was becom­
ing rich from whatever he \Vas doing in London. We surmise that Shakespeare 
had agreeu to front for pbys written b)' someone L'lse for a price. He probably 
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didn't know who the true author was and probably didn't want to know. He was 
probably [old that [ht' author was a nobleman who did not want his identity to 
be known . 

In November of t hilt yea r [ax collectors for the \va rd of Bishopsgate in Lon ­
don listed Shakt'speare as failing to pay a tax of hvt' shillings before leaving the 
area. 

The year 1598 saw the building of the Globe theatre at Southwark and the 
publication of Sir Philip Sidney's collected works by Richard Field. It also saw 
the publication of Francis Meres' Pal/adis Tamia, Wits Treasllry which may 
explain why Shakespeare had become rich enough to purchase New Place. 

In September 1598, Francis Meres (1565-1647), an obscure English clergy­
man who had obtained an M.A. at Cambridge in 1591, published a book called 
Pal/adis Tamia. Wits TreaHlry, described by Bentley as: 

A fat little volume of over 600 pages into which he gathered hundreds of common­
places- similes, allusions, anecdotes, quot~tions- all classified into subject sec­
tions: God 's Providence, The Ju stice of God, Preachers, Sermons, Parents, Women, 
Virtue, Gluttony, Riches, Braggarts, Memory and more than a hundred other cate­
gories. 

But what is of particular interest to us is that he wrote a "Comparative Dis­
course of our English poets with the Greeke, Latin, and Italian poets." In that 
Discourse he mentioned virtually every English poet, including Philip Sidney, 
Spencer, Drayton, Warner, Marlow, Chapman, Roydon, Watson, Kid, Greene, 
Peele, Jonson, Nash, Heywood, Chettle, and Shakespeare. His reference to Shake­
speare is why this book is considered so important to Shakespeare Kholars and 
biographers. He wrote: 

As the soule of blpilUrulis was thought to live In Pythagoras: so the sweet wittie 
soule of Ovid lives in mellifluou s & honytongued Shakespeare, witness his Venus 
and Adonis, his LlIl"fece, his sugred Sonnets among hi s private friends, &c. 

As Plallilis and Senedl are accountcd thc best for Comedy and Tragedy among 
the Latines: so SIl(Ikespeare among 'I ' English is the most excellent in both kinds for 
the stage ; for Comedy, witnes hiS C;e 't Ie 1rIt' , of Verona, his Lrrors, his /.ove labors /051, 

his Love labollrs WC!II ne, his MidslIl/lmer rug III dreame, & his Merchant of Venice: for 
Tragedy his Richard the 2. [(,ch(lrr! Ihe 3. llenry the 4. Ki,.lg John, TilliS Androniws 
and his Romeo 1I11d Julief. 

As fpi~iS Stoia said , that the Ivluses would speake with Plallilis tongue, if they 
could speak Latin: so J sa)' that the rvluses would speak with Shakespeares fine filed 
phrase, if they would speake English. 

So we know from Meres that twelve plays which he attributes to Shakespeare 
were performed and published in spurious, pirated, unauthorized editions. Since 
all but one was published in the First Folio, we can assume that they were all 
Marlowe's work. The one play that scholars have pondered over is Love lavours 

wonne, which some scholars have speculated may actually be The Taming of the 
Shrew or Milch Ado abollt Nothing under an t'Jrlicr title. 

Although Meres attributed the twelve plays mentioned in Palladis Tallliil 
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to Shakespeare, only one of them, Love's Labou,s LOSI, had been published in 

quarto in 1598 with the author's name on the title page: 

A Pleasant Conceited Comedie Called, Loves labors lost. As it was presented before 
her Highnes this last Christmas. Newly corrected and augmented by W. Shakespeare. 
Imprinted at London by W. W lhitel. For Cutbert Burby. 1598. 

This play could only have been written by someone familiar with univer­

sity life and the humor and wit of scholars. It has Marlowe's fingerprints all over 

it. We shall discuss the contents of the play in another chapter. 
TilliS Alldroniws was first published in quarto in 1594 with the following 

title page: 

The Most Lamentable Rom,line Tragedie of Titus ,\ndronicus: As it was Pia ide by 
the Right Honourable the Earle of Darbie, Earle of Pembroke and Earle of Sussex 
their servants. London, Printed by lohn Danter, and are to be sold by Edward 
White & Thomas Millington, at the little North doore of Paules at the signe of the 
Gunne. 1594. 

None of the subsequent quartos of this play, 1600 and 1611, mention the 
author. Richard II was first published in quarto in 1597 without the author's 

name . Its tirle page reads : 

The Tragedie of Richard the second. As it hath beene publikely acted by the right 
Honourable the Lorde Chamberlaine his Servants. London. Printed by Valentine 
Simmes for Androw Wise, and are to be sold at his shop in Paules church yard at 
the signe of the Angels. 1597. 

The quarto of 1598 and subsequent quartos include "By William Shake­
spea re." 

Richard III was first published in quarto in 1597 without the author's name. 

Its title page reads: 

The Tragedy of King Richard the third. Containing His treacherous Plots against 
his brother Clarence: the pittiefull fIlurther of his innocent nephewes : his tyran ­
nicall usurpation: with the whole course of his detested life, and most deserved 
death. As it hath beene lately ,\ctcd by the Right Honourable the Lord Chame-Iaine 
his servants. At London. Printed by Valentine Sims, for Andrew Wise, dwelling in 
Paules Church-yard at the Signe of the Angels. 1597. 

A quarto l)f Henry JV was published in 1598 with no author's name. The 

title page reads: 

The History of Henrie the fourth; With the bancll at Shrewsburic, between the 
King and Lord Henry Percy, surnamed Henry Hot -spur of the North. With the 
humorous conceits of Sir lohn Falstalffe. At london, Printed b)' P Sihorti. For 
Andrew Wise, dwelling in l'ault' s ChurchYdrd, at the signe of the Angell. 159R. 

The quarto of 1599 adds: "Newly corrected by W. Shakespeare. At London, 

Printed by 5.51 tJfford 1 for Andew Wise .... " All subsequent quartos rcpeat, 

"Newly corrected by William Shake-speare." 
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Romeo and Juliet was hrst published in an unauthorized quarto in 1597. 
Bartlett writes: 

It \Va~ first printed anon)'mously, ill 1597, in a pirated edition with a very defective 
text: it wa, undoubtedly stolen from the managers of the Globe Theatre, who were 
the owners, instead of being purchased in the regular way. 

The title page of that quarto reads: 

An Excellent conceited Tragedie of Romeo and Juliet. As it hath been often (with 
great applause) pl aid publiquely, by the right Honourable the L. of Hunsdon his 
Servants. London, Printed by John Danter. 1597. 

In 1599 a good, authentic text was issued which was followed in all later 
quartos . The title page of the 1599 quarto reads: 

The Most Ex-cellent and lamentable Tragedie, of Romeo and Juliet. Newly cor­
rected, augmented, and amended: As it hath bene sundry times publiquely acted 
by the right Honourable the Lord Chamberlaine his Servants. London Printed by 
Thomas Creede, for Cuthbert Burby, and are to be sold at hi s shop near the 
Exchange. 1599. 

Note t he absence of Sha kespeare's name. Nor is his na me on t he qua rto 0 f 1609, 
which was printed for John Smethwick. Nor is his name on a subsequent undated 
quarto, also printed for John Smethwicke. However, another undated quarto 
printed for John Smethwick does have Shakespeare's name as author, as well as 
the quarto of 1637 published after the First Folio. 

Both A Midsumll1er Night's Dream and The Merchant of Venice were first 
published in quarto in 1600 with Shakespeare's name as author. Three plays, 
Gentlemen of Verona, A Comedy of Errors, and King John, were never published 
in quarto. Their texts appear for the hrst time in the First Folio of 1623. 

What all of this tells us is that Meres was able to gather information about 
Shakespeare's plays from already published sources and non-publIshed sources. 
He knew something about the "sugred sonnets" circulating among his private 
friends. The following year saw the publication of an anthology of poetry. Its 
title page reads: 

The PaSSionate Pilgrime. By W. Shakespeare. At London. Printed for W. laggard, 
and are to be sold by W. Leake, at the Grey-hound in Paules Churchyard. 1599. 

Henriett<l Bartlett comments: 

The volume contains the first appearance in print of two of Shakespeare's Sonnets 
which had been mentioned the year bdore by Mere,; as his "sugred Sonnets among 
his private friends. " These were reprinted as Nos. 138 and 144 in the Sonnets, 1609. 

rhe Pa;;iollare Pilgr/lll ,llso contains three poem, by Shdkespeare which appeared 
in /.oves /.avors I.[}". 1598.lhe rcst of the book lOrnprist's poems by M.nlowe, Raleigh. 
Griffin Jnt! others. all C'nten:u JnonYOlously. 

i\ 1612 quarto of FiI~ P{lssionatL' Pilgrill( created a bil of a stir between an 
author and publisher. The title page reads: 
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The Passionatc Pilgrlme'. nr Cert;line I\morous Sonnt:ls, betwcen Venus dnd 
Adonis, newl)' corrected and dugrncntc'd . By W. Shakt:stJt:are . The third Edition . 
Where ·unto is nc'",I ), added two i.ow· Epistles, the fir st from Paris tll Ht:llen, and 
llellem answerc hacke againe tll Paris. Printed hy W. laggard. 1612. 

Bartlett comments (p. 10): 

The addition of the t:pistles from Pari s and }Jelen, which were really by Thomas 
Heywood, moved that poet to an outburst of wrath against laggard which appeared 
in "An Address to the Printer , Ni cholas Okes" in the Apology [ur AClors, 1612. 

laggard was so far affected that he removed Shakespt:are's name from the title-tJage 
of The Passionate Pilgnlrl leaving the space blank, there is no other difference in the 
titles. 

What is interesting in all of this is that prior to 1598, Shakespeare's name 
appears on no quarto of any play. Tht:n, suddenly, in 1598 Shakespeare's career 
as a playwright is given a great boost by Francis Meres and his name begins to 
appear on quartos of plays. Could the reason for this be that Lord Burghley died 
on August 5, 1598, at age 77, thus signalling a new policy regarding the publi­
cation of Marlowe's plays under Shakespeare's imprint? Indeed, the publication 

of Marlowe's Hero and Leander in 1598 may provide the answer to that mystery. 
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Hero and Leander 

The most important literary event of 1598 was not Meres' Palladls Tamia, 

but the publication of Christopher Marlowe's Hero arId Leander, one of the most 
exquisite romantic poems in the English language. According to A.D. Wraight, 
the unfinished poem was written during Marlowe's last stay at Scadbury Manor, 
the home of Thomas Walsingham. She writes (p. 243): 

Far away from the stench of London's plague-infected streets in the quiet of his 
patron's home at Scadbury, surrounded by Kentish woodlands and meadows, and 
the apple orchards in bloom in May, Christopher Marlowe was composing a poem. 
Wrapt in the inspiration of his Muse, he was creating a work of exquisite delicacy 
and unabashed sensuality based on the story of the stdf-crossed lovers of the Helle ­
spont, Hero and Leander. ... He left only the lirst two sestiads completed, but these 
stand apart as one of the most perfect poetic achievements of the entire Elizabethan 
age. With their posthumous publication Marlowe's reputation amongst his contem­
poraries rose to even greater heights than before. 

Apparently the events at Deptford interrupted Marlowe's completion of the 
poem. That it was published six years after his supposed departure from life was 
probably due to the need to maintain secrecy among those involved in saving 
Marlowe. By 1598, those who would have testified against Marlowe, Thomas 
Kyd and Richard Baines, were dead. Also, the Essex challenge to Robert Cecil 
had been quashed. The Bacon brothers were up to their ears in debt, and Essex 
himselCwas in trouble with the Queen. The IJck oCmoncy spelled the end of the 
Essex intelligence network . Meanwhile, the prospects Cor Walsingham were on 
the rise. The Queen had visited Scadbury in 1597, during which she maul" 
Thomas, Sir Thomas. During the entire Essex escapade, Walsingham had 
remained loyal to Lord Burghley, Robert Cecil, and Christopher Marlowe. 

But what is orthe greatest interest is the fact rhJt the unfinished poem was 
published by Edward Blount and dedicated to Sir Thomas Walsingham, Mar­
lowe's patron. It reads: 

To the Right Worshipful, 

Sir Thomas Walsingham, Knight . 


2.38 
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Sir: we think not oursl'ivc> discharged of the duty we owe to our friend when we 
have brought the breathless body to the earth; for albeit the eye there taketh his 
ever farewell of that beloved object, yet the Impression of the man that hath been 
dear to us, living an after life in our memory, there putteth us in mind of farther 
obsequies due unto the deceased. And namely, of the performance of whatsoever 
we may judge shall make to his living credit, and to the effecting of his determina­
tions prevented by the stroke of death. By these mediations (as by an intellectual 
will) I suppose myself executor to the uphappily deceased author of this poem, 
upon whom knowing that in his lifetime you bestowed many kind favours, enter­
taining the parts of reckoning and worth which you found in him, with good coun­
tenance and liberal affection: I cannot but see so far into the will of him dead, that 
whatsoever issue of his brain should chance to come abroad, that the first breath it 
should take might be in the gentle air of your liking; for since his self had been 
accustomed thereunto, it would prove more agreeable and thriving to his right 
children than any other foster countenance whatsoever. At this time seeing that 
this unfinished tragedy happens under my hands to be imprinted, of a double 
duty, the one to yourself. the other to the dtxea>ed, I present the same to your 
most favourable allowance, offering my utmost self and ever to be ready, at your 
worship's disposing. 

Edward Blount 

There is no doubt that the posthumous publication of Hero and l.eander 
was meant to rehabilitate Marlowe's reputation as a poetic genius and a human 
being. It was also meant to generate revenue for Marlowe's clandestine upkeep. 
We don't know how or where Marlowe was living. Was he living at Walsing­

ham's estate' Was he still traveling on missions for Robert Cecil' 
Blount tells us that he is the "executor to the unhappily deceased author of 

this poem." He was probably also the liaison between Marlowe and the actOr 

Shakespeare at the Globe Theatre where the plays were being performed. No 
one, including Thomas Walsingham, Lord Burghley, Robert Cecil, or Edward 
Blount, could have foreseen how prolific a playwright Marlowe would continue 

to be. But arrangements had to be made to get this steady stream of plays on the 

stage . They could not possibly be attributed to him, since the people involved 
in the plan to save him could be greatly compromised. Robert Cecil's future 
career with the new monarch depended on maintaining the strictest secrecy. He 

was also in a position to make good use of Marlowe's skills as a spy, using what­

ever identity that fitted the mission. 
In fact, there has been much speculation about one "Willm Halle," who was 

on CX9I's payroll. According to the Shakespeare CUllspimcy by Phillips and Keat­
man'1(p. 15'1): 

On 2 October IAtl! J "vVillm Hillle" is mentioned by the Secretary of State's (Ierk 
as having r('turm'd I-\Ith intdligl'Ill't' from J)enmark. This presents ,Inothn possible 
link to ShJkespcJre. HOlllier was written ,Ir(lund IAOI (it was registered in 1602) at 
about the same time thelt I'IJII returncd frllm LJenlllHk . 

Indccd, "Willm Hallt:" might very well havc been Marlowe under one of 
his many disguises. 1\lso, since we believe that it was Marlowe who wrote 
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Hamlet, it is more plausible that "Willm Halle" would have been tVlariowe rather 
than Shakespeare. In any case, there is no evidence anywhere that Shakespeare 
traveled to Denmark or was involved in Cecil's spy network. 

During his lifetime Shakespeare maintained a prudent silence about the 
source of the plays he was bringing to the Globe Theater. Although some of the 
plays were published in quarto with his name on them, they were not author­
il.ed by Shakespeare or the Globe Theatre. They were all pirated editions. 

As for Marlowe's unl'inished poem, we read in an Introductory Note to a 
Scolar Press Facsimile of Hero al1d Leal1der published in 1973: 

The work was entered in the Srarioners' l?egi5ter to John Wolf on 28th September 
1593, but from the evidence of the earliest surviving text published by Edward 
Blount, it did not appear in print until 1598. Blount's edition contains Marlowe's 
work only, but later in the same year Paul Linley published Marlowe's puem 
tugether with the continuation by George Chapman. It seems that the section 
by Marlowe in Linley 's edition was set from a copy of Blount's edition. 

The poem became enormously popular with editions appearing in 1600, 
1606,1609,1613,1617,1622,1629 and 1637. Obviously, this erotic, romantic poem 
was capable of generating a good deal of money for the publisher and anyone 
else involved. A.D. Wraight describes Hero al1d Leal1der as " the most luscious 
piece of love poetry which the Elizabethan age produced, and dealing with the 
wooing of two virgin lovers of classical Greece." 

The first edition of 1598, published by Blount, contains only the first two 
Sestiads written by Marlowe. The Linley editiun adds four additional Sestiads 
written by George Chapman and dedicated to Lady Walsingham, wife of Sir 
Thomas, whom he identifies as "one or the Ladies of her Majesties Bed-Cham­
ber." The Walsinghams were abuut as close to the Queen as one could get. The 
Queen actually and privately visited the Walsinghams at Scadbury in 1597. 
Wraight writes (p. 250): 

Lady Audrey Walsingham's name does not appear in any Court references until 
1599, but from then on regular mention of her in association with Sir Thomas 
\Valsingham in the giVing and receiving of New Year 's gifts to and from Queen 
Elizabeth is recorded. In th~ New Year's Cifts List of 1599-1600 Sir Thomas 
Walsingham is linked with "the Lady Walsingham Junior" in giving the Queen 
"parte of a pett), cote of clay-color satten, embroidered allover with branches of 
silver. Delivered to the Robes." In return l.ady Walsingham received twenty -seven 
and a half ounces of gilt plate, and Sir Thomas likewise. 

Thomas Walsingham also enjoyed a close relationship with Lord Burghky 
and his son Robert. Which is why Burghley, Robert Cecil and Walsingham were 
able to collaborate so effectively in their very daring plan to save Marlowe. 
13urghley provided the substitute body with that of John Penry's, and Walsing­
ham supplied the men who carried out the phony murder at Deptford. It should 
be pointed out that Ingram frizer, who supposedly killed Marlowe in self­
defense, was granted a Queen's pardon on June 28,1593, and on his releJse from 
prison went directly back to work for his master, Thomas Walsingham. 
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In 1727, upon the demolition of Scad bury Manor, an inventory of its house­
hold goods and furnishings were made. According to A. D. Wraight (p. 257), 
there were a great number of pictures, maps, and drawings, including a portrait 
of Lord Cecil, "probably Robert Cecil, as he was exceedingly intimate with the 
Walsinghams and particularly Audrey Walsingham in King James's reign." There 
\vere also portraits of Lord Cecil's son and the Earl of Leicester. Other pictures 
included "17 large Indian pictures," drawn by John White during one of the 
Ralegh expeditions to North America. 

As for George ChJpman, he had been a close friend of Marlowe's, a mem­
ber of the University Wits, and a pJrticipant in the Ralegh circle, which became 
known as the School of Night. It has been suggested by Wraight that the link­
ing of the two poets in Hero al/d Leal/der, \.vith its two dedications, was intended 
as a celebration of the marriage of Sir Thomas to Audrey. In his dedication to 
Lady Walsingham, Chapman wrote: 

I present your ladyship with the last affections of the first two lovers that ever muse 
shrined in the temple of memory; being drawn by 'trange Instigation to employ 
some of my serious time in so trifling a subject , which yet made the first author, 
dIvine Musaeus, eternal .. .. 

This poor dedication, in fIgure of the other unity betwixt Sir Thomas and your­
self, hath rejoined you with him, my honoured best friend, whose continuance of 
ancient kindness to my still-obscured estate, though it cannot increase my love to 
him, which hath ever been entirely circular, yet shall it encourage my deserts to 
their utmost requital, and make my hearty gratitude speak. 

It should be noted that during this time Chapman was deeply immersed in 
his monumental translation of Homer. Seven Bookes of the [liades and Achilles 
Shield both appeared in 1598. 

Concerning Audrey Walsingham, A.D. Wraight writes (p. 263): 

It was, however, in King James's reign that Audrey Walsingham came into her full 
prominence, not only socially but also in politics, and then, alas. not always in 
the most favourable light. She allied herself with the Secretary of State, Sir H.obert 
Cecil, the able and ambitious SLlccessor of his father Lord Burghley and Sir Francis 
Walsingham . ... She was one of those who made the journey to Scotland to wekome 
the new queen, Anne, and accompanied her un the long progress back to London. 
Upon King lames's accession she and Sir Thomas became joint holders of the office 
of Chief Keeper of the Queen's Wardrobe, and Audrey in particular gained many 
favours beside. 

There was also a third poet involved in the publication of Hero (/l1d Lean­
der, llenry Petowe. 1Ji~ adJition appeared in 1598 as The Second Part 0/ Hero 
lind Leander, COlltaining their F~lrther Fortunes . It is dedicated "To the Right 
Honourable Sir Henry Guilford, Knight, H.P" What is of interest to us in 
Petowe's poem is his wonderful n:ferenccs to Marlowe. He writes: 

Quick-sightcd spirits, this supposed Apollo. 
Conceit no other but th' admired Marlowe; 
Marlowe admircd, whose honey-flowing vein 
No English \"riter can a, yet attain; 
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Whose name ill Fame's immortal treasury 

Truth shall record to endless memory; 

Marlowe late mortal, now framed all divine, 

What soul more happy than that soul of thine l 


Live still in heaven thy soul, thy fame on earth 

(Thou dead) of Marlowe's Hero find a dearth .... 

o had that king of poets breathed longer, 

Then had fair beauty's fort been much more stronger; . 

What mortal soul with Marlowe might contend, 

That could 'gainst reason force him stoop or bend l 


Whose silver charming tongue moved such delight 

That men would shun Iheir sleep in still dark night 

To meditate upon his golden lines, 

His rare cOIKeits and sweet according rhymes. 

But Marlowe, still admired Marlowe's gone, 

To live wilh Beauty in Elysium, 

Immortal Beauty, who desires to hear 

His sacred ponies sweet in every ear; 

Marlowe mu~;t frame to Orpheus' melody 

Hymns all divine to make heavC'n harmoney. 

There ever live the prince of poetry, 

l.ive with tht' living in etnnity' 


157-901 

All of which was meant to acquaint a new ~eneration of readers with Marlowe's 

~enius. A.L. Rowse writes in his bio~raphy of Marlowe, that Hero and Lea~er, 
though unfinished, was "the most perfect and classic of Elizabethan poems." (p. 

37)"We also find in this gorgeous poem some of Marlowe's most sublime lines. 

On Hero he wr·ites: 

Some say for her the fairest Cupid pined, 

And looking in her face, was strooken blind ... 

So lovely fair was Hero, Venus' nun, 

As Nature wept, thinking she Ivas undone, 

l3ecause she took more from her than she left, 

And of such wondrous beauty her bereft. 


[37-481 

In stark contrast to his physical description ofTamburlaine, muscular and 

strong, is Marlowe's graphic description of Leander: 

Hi, body was as straight ,lS Circc's wand; 

Jove might have 'ipped OUI nt'ctar from his hand. 

Fven a.1 deliciou, meat is to the ta,te, 

So W;·b his neck in i(luching, dnd ,urpassl:'d 

The while of Pelops' ,houlder. I could tell VI:' 


How smooth his breast W,I$, and how white his belly, 

And whuse 1111 1110rt al lingers did imprint 

That h~dvcnlv path with many a CUflOUS dint 

The rUlls "long hIS hack, but my rudt' pcn 

Can hardlv blazon forth the: loves of men, 
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lvI u(h Jess of powerful gods .. 

Some s\Vore h,' WJS a maid In man's allire, 

hlr In his I'l<)ks w,'r.: ailihal nlt'n desire. 


161 - 84 1 

Undoubtedly, the poem's most famous lines are these: 

It lies not in our power to love or hate, 

For will in us is overrulrd by fale. 

When two are stripped, long ere Ihe course begin 

We wish that one should lose, the other win .... 

The reason no man knows: let it suffice, 

What we behold is censured by our eyes. 

Where both deliberate, the love is slight; 

Who ever loved, that loved not at first sight? .. 


1167-1761 

Love deeply grounded hardly is dissembled. 
These lovers parled by the touch of hands; 
True love is mute, and oft amazed stands .. 

1184-1861 

Ah simple Hero, learn thyself to cherish; 
Lone women like to empty houses perish .... 

1242-2431 

One is no number; maids are nothing then, 
Wilhout the sweet society of men. 

1255-2561 

There is much ill thi.> poem that reminds us of Romeo Illlri Juliet, with Hero 

in her tower at Scstos, and Leander, s\vimming across the strait and entering the 

tower to reach her. When we consider Marlowe's ob.>ession with the subject of 

love, we can consider him more than Just a poet, but a superb philosopher of 

love and all of its physical and spiritual manifestations. 
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Edward Blount: 

Marlowe's Executor 


Chapter 6 discussed Marlowe's early writings, which included his transla­

tion of Ovid's Elegies and the first book of lucan's Pharsalia, both of which were 

written while Marlowe was at Cambridge. I)ut it wasn't until 1600, seven years 

after Marlowe's supposed demise, that Pharsalia was published for the first time 

by Thomas Thorpe through the auspices of Edward Blount, Marlowe's execu­

tor, to whom the book was dedicated. It shuuld be noted that Thorpe was also 

the first publisher ofShakespearc's complete sonnets in 1609. Did he also get them 

from Blount? Thorpe's dedication to Blount reads: 

To His Kind and True Friend, 

Edward Blount. 


Blount: I purpose to be blunt with you, and out of my dullness to encounter 
you with a dedication in the memor y of that pure elemental wit Chr. lV!arlowe, 
whose ghost or genius is to be seen walk the churchyard in (a t the least) three or 
four sheets. Methinks you should presently look wild now, and grow humorously 
frantic upon the taste of it. Well, lest you should, let me tell you. This spirit was 
sometime a familiar of your own, L IIWII ';;jirs t book translated, which (in regard 
of your old right in it) 1 ha ve raised in the circle of your patronage . But stay now, 
Edward: if! mistake no t, you are to accommodate yo urself with some fe w instruc­
tion s touching the property of d patron, that you are not yet possessed of, and to 
study for your betler grac(, as our gall anls do fa shions. First, you must be proud , 
Jnd Ihlnk you have menl enough in yo u, Ihough you Jre n'er so emply; then, when 
I bring you the book , take' physic, and keep , late, assign me ,] time by your mdn to 
(ome again, dm! afore thl' tla)' be sure In ha ve chJnged your lodging ; in the mean­
lime sleep little, and sweat with the Inv~nlion ()f some pitiful dry jest or two which 
you may happen to uller, wilh some httle (or nol at all) marking of your friends, 
when you have found ~ place for Ihem to come in al; or if by chance somelhing has 
dropped from you worthy the taking up, wear y all that (orne to you with the often 
repetition orit; censure scornfully enough, and somewhat like a traveller ; com­
mend nothing lest you discredit your ( that which you \"ould seem 10 hav e) judge­
ment. These things if you can mould yoursel f to them, Ned, I m~ke no question 

244 
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but the~' will not be(()me ),OLl . One special vi rtue' in ou r patrons of th ese da ys I have 
prom ised mpc'lf you shall (it excc'lIentl)" whi ch is to give nothing; yes, th y love I 
will challenge as my pec uliJr objec t, both in this, dnd (I hope) many mo re succeed ­
Ing offICes. Farewell: I affect not the world should measure my thought s to thee by 
a scale of this nature: leave to think good of me when 1 fall from thee. 

Thine in a ll rites of perfect friendship, 
THOM. TH ORPE 

What do we make of this length y dedication? That Edward Blount ilnd 
Thomas Thorpe were friends and colleagues and both had a reverent regard for 
the genius and works of Christopher Marlowe. Apparently, Blount had access to 
thi s early, unpublished work. Where did he get it? Had Walsingham kept it all 
of these years? And why did Blount give it to Thorpe to be published? Much in 
the dedication is enigmatic and private. Nevertheless, it points to the important 
role Blount was playing in facilitating the publication of Marlowe's works. That 
he finall y winds up be ing the prime mover behind the publication of the First 
Folio in 1623 indicat es that he was the key player in the sche me to get Marlowe's 
post-Deptford plays to the stage. Hut what do we know abo ut Blount? 

He was the son of Ralph Blount , a merchant tailor of London. On June 24, 
15 71), he apprenticed himself to Willi am Ponsonby, a Londo n stationer. On June 
25, 1588, Blount was duly admitted a freeman of the Stat ioners' Company. His 
shops were at the north door of SI. Paul's C hurch ya rd. 1588 was the same year 
in which Marlowe achieved success as a new playwright with the production of 
Tambll r/ain e performed by the Lord Strange 's Men. As a book-lover, Marlowe 
frequently visited the slationers at SI. Paul's Church ya rd and became friends 
with Blount an d other stati oners . Undoubtedly, Blount followed Marlowe's 
career with great interest and was shocked to hear of Marlowe's untimely death. 

The poem, Venus alld Adonis, undoubtedly written by Marlowe, had been 
registered anonymously with the sta tioners in April 1593. Arrangement for its 
publication in September were probably made by Lord Burghley il nd Thomas 
Walsingham . It was probably the printer, Rich3rd Field, who recommended hi s 
fe llow Stratford man, William Shakespea re, as the person to sign the dedication 
to the Earl of So uthamption . The sa me arrangement was repea ted a year later 
wi th the publ ica t ion of the Rape of Lucrece. 

Meanw hile, Edward Blount became friends with Marlowe's patron , Sir 
Thomas Walsingham , and became the liaison between those who received Mar­
lowe's new pla ys and the actor Shakespeare, who had proven himse lf to be both 
a re liable and prudent confederate. We knolV that Marlowe was still working for 
Bu rg hle y and son as an agent, that Marlowe was probably abroad and sending 
hi s plays by di plomatic pouch to Burghley who then passed them on to Wals­
ingharn who then had them transc ribed into a neutral hand and arranged with 
[)Iount to see that they got to Shakespeare in their freshly transcribed version. 
The company's players remarked on the clean, unblot(cd manusc r ipb that Shake­
spt'Jre always brought to (he companv. 

In iVlarch 1596, Blount pLlbli~hed John r:lorio's LJictionarye In Italian and 
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Ellglislre. rlorio had been a friend of Marlowe's and a member of Sir Walter 
Ralegh's free-wheeling discussion group, the so-called School of Night. In 1598, 
Blount published Marlowe's flero and Leander. Two years later Blount gave 
Thomas Thorpe the publication rights to Marlowe's translation of Lucan's 
Pharsalia. In 1609 Thorpe obtained the complete manuscript of"Shake-speare's 
Sonnets" and published them with its enigmatic dedication. Did I310unt make 
the manuscript available to his friend Thorpe? Who else could have had access 
to the 154 sonnets 1 

Robert Giroux, in his study of the Sonnets, The Book Knowl1 as Q, writes 
(p. 4): 

If a guild member gained possessIOn of a manuscript, and the wardens allowed it to 
be entered in the register at the Stationers' Hall, he - not the author - became the 
copyright owner. Q was entered for Thomas Thorpe on 20 May 1609 as "a Booke 
called Shakes pea res sonnelfes." 

The mystery begins: publication of the sonnets apparently met with total 
silence; there was no second edition of what unquestionably ranks with the greatest 
poetry in the language. On 19 June 1609 Edward AlIe)'n, the star of the Lord Admi­
ral's Men , the actors who were the chief rivals to Shakespeare's company, recorded 
in his household accounts the purchase of Q for live pence; no other undisputed 
reference to the newly published book is known .... 

A not widely known fact is that Q went underground for one hundred years. 
The sonnets did not r<'appear in their original form until 1711. 

Who caused the Sonnets to go underground for a hundred yearsi There was 
only one man in England capahle of causing that to happen: Robert Cecil, Sec ­
retary of State. He knew who the true author of the sonnets was: Christopher 
Marlowe. The poems were too autobiographical and they clearly revealed that 
Marlowe was still alive after 1593. 

In 1603 l3Iount published John Florio's translation of Montaigne's Essays, 
and in 1607 he published Ars Aulica, translated by himself from the Italian of 
Lorenzo Ducci and dedicated to the brothers William, earl of Pembroke, and 
Philip, s.,arl of Montgomery, who would become the t~ patrons of the First 
Folio. ::. 

In 1620, 13lount published the !irst English translation of Cervantes' Don 
Quixote. The book was in two parts, and Blount prefaced the second with a ded­
ication by himself to George Villiers, Marquis of 13uckingham, one of James's 
favorites . The translator was the mysterious Thomas Shelton, whose biograph­
ical data is virtually nonexistent. The Encyclopedia Britannica, lith Edition, Vol. 
XXIV (p. 833) states: 

In the dedication of The delighlflll hi:ilory ofllie wiltie Knight, DOll Qlli'/lOte (1612) 
he [Sheltonl explains to his patron, Lord Howard de Walden, afterwards and Earl 
of Suffolk, that he had translated 0011 Quixote from Spani~h into English some 
rive or six years previously in the period ()f forty Jays for a "very dear friend" who 
was unable to understand the original. Shelton did not use the original edition ()f 
Cervantes, but ()ne publish~d in 13russ.:\:; in 1607. On th~ appearance of the Brussels 
imprint of the SCWIlJ part of 0011 Qllixote in 1616, ht' translated that also into 
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English, cumpleting his task in 1620, and printing at the ~ame time a revised 

editiun of the first part .... 


It seems that the ghostly Shelton was also a spy, no doubt in the employ of 
Robert Cecil. The Br;la11l1iw continues: 

It seems safe to identify him with the Thumas Shelton who wrote a sonnet prefixed 
to Restitlilioll uf Qecayed Inlclligen ce (1605) uf Richard Verstegan, who was must 
likely the friend referred to in Shelton's preface, for there is reason to believe that 
both of them were then employed in a mailer of duubtfulloyalty, the intrigues 
of the Roman Cl1hulics in England . He was acquilinted with the "cries of the wild 
Irish," and seems tu have been honestly employed in carrying lellers 10 persons in 
England from Lord Deputy Fitzwilliam at Dublin Castle. But in 1599 he apparently 
acted as ~gent for Florence McCarthy to offer his service tu the king of Spain, a 
commission for which hi~ knuwledge uf Spanish especially fitted him. Suon after­
wards an official precis of the facts was drawn up, in which Shelton was implicated 
by name. A second version of this ducument in t617 is actually signed by him, but 
all reference to his share in the mailer is omitted. Lady Suffolk, the wife uf his 
patron, received yearly liOO() in secret service money from the Spanish king, and 
Shelton may have been her accomplice . If the "many affairs" uf his preface were 
offlcial he wuuld nut wish 10 call attention to his antecedents by owning friendship 
with Verstegan. 

Was Thomas Shelton Christopher Marlowe in a new incarnation? How 
many secret agents did Robert Cecil have who could translate D011 Quixote into 
English in forty days? Obviously, a lot more research must be done in order to 
unravel the fuJi extent of Shelton's operations in Spain. The name Thomas Shel­
ton itself is of interest. The "Thomas" is undoubtedly from Sir Thomas Wals­
ingham, and the "Shelton" is from Audrey Shelton, Thomas's wife 's maiden 
name. 

Surprisingly, there is a lot about Shelton on the Internet. Here is some of 
it from a website entitled Thomas Shelton ana [-[arllet Benege/i: 

In the opinion of Fitzmaurice- Kelly, Shelton was a "man of letters." He brought to 
thl:' execution l)f his enterprise an cnduwment and a tcmperament such as no late 
arrival could pretend 10 boast . He owned an alert intt'lligence, a perfect sympathy 
fur the author's theme, and a vocabulary uf cxct' eding wealth and ra rity .... In narra­
tive, as in description, the Englishman vies Ivith the Spanidfd in dignity, grace ~nd 
fleetness . With inimitable felicity of phrase and setting, with sustained sunority 
and splendour, in passages ofuncummon majesty, he continues his deliverance ofa 
classic masterpiece .. .. 

In his introduction to the Second Part uf Don Quixote, Fitzmaurice-Kelly states 
that of all the tran slators, Cervantes owes "lvlust to Shelton, Lord of the gulden 
Elizabethan speech, an exquisite in the noble style." 

Cervantes Ivas indct'd fortunate in having such a brilliant translator. If his iden­
tity were known, he would have his rightful pla<c as one mure distinguished figure 
in that guldL' n age uf English literature. As it is, t'ew people even know his name. 

But we can be sure that Blount knew his true name. And it is also possible 
that Shelton's patron, Baron Howard de \Valden. 1st Earl of Suffolk, knew the 



2-18 The ivbrlowe-Shakcspearc Connection 

identity of the author, albeit under another name. The Baron had held high posi­
tions in James's government until his downfall in 161tl, when he was charged with 
misappropriatlllg money. His second wife, Catherine, was guilty of taking bribes 
from Spain. One of the Baron 's three daughters was the notorious Frances 
Howard, who, after divorcing her hrst husband, Robert Devereux, iarl of Essex, 
married Robert Carr, ~arl of Somerset, one of James's favorites, and instigated 
the poisoning of Sir TIi"omas Overbury. 

Did Robert Cecil have Marlowe, AKA Thomas Shelton, infiltrate the Earl 
of Suffolk's circle so that he could uncover corruption in James's government~ 

In 1623, Blount joined with another stationer, Isaac laggard, in producing, 
with the assistance of Heming and Condell, the First Folio of Shakespeare's plays. 
Shakespeare had died in 1616. His will did not mention a single play, or poem, 
or any unfinished literary work or manuscript of any kind. Yet, Blount was able 
to assemble thirty-six plays, twenty of which had never been published before. 
Where did he find them all~ We shall discuss the First Folio in depth in another 
chapter. However, at this point it is pretty clear that Blount knew who was the 
true author of the plays in the First Folio. According to the DNB, "The imme­
diate supervision which Blount exercised in the preparation of all his books for 
the press has led to the reasonable inference that Blount was the active, although 
not very careful, editor of this edition of Shakespeare's plays." 

Nor was the publication of the First Folio the end of Blount's career as a 
publisher. In 1632 he collected for the first time John Lyly's Sixe COllrl Come­

dies, and had them printed by William Stansby for publication by himself. Lyly 
died in 1606, but Blount apparently had access to Lyly 's manuscripts. It is believed 
that Blount died in late 1632. 

Blount's career covers the entire span of the Marlowe-Shakespeare collu­
sion. He knew all of the principals involved and he was able to gather their finan­
cial cooperation in producing the second most import;ll1t book in English literary 
history - the first being the King James Version of the Holy Bible. In doing so, 
he had remained loyal to his beloved friend Christopher Marlowe. 
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Marlowe and the Pembrokes 

One of the great mysteries that has baffled Shakespeare scholars for cen­
turies is the identification of the WH. in Thomas Thorpe 's cryptic dedication, 
with its strange punctuation, which prefaced his publication of Shakespeare's 
sonnets in 1609. It reads: 

TO.THE.ONLlE.IIEGFTI' EK.OF. 

THESE. INSVING.sONNHS. 

M r.W.H.ALL.HAPPINESSE. 


AND. THATETERN !TIE. 

PROMISED. 


BY. 
OVR .FVFR-UV ING.POET 


WISHETH . 

THf.WELL,WISHING. 


ADVFNTVRER.IN. 

SETTING. 

FORTH . 


TT 


Some scholars believe that the myslerious WH. was Henry Wriothesley, the 
Earl of Southampton, to whom Shakespeare dedicated Venus and Adonis and the 
aape of Lflcrece. But the initials clearly don't match: W.H. is not H.W Others 
have speculated that the initials stand for William Herbert, 3rd Earl of Pembroke 
(158U- 1630), lhe son of the 2nd Earl of Pembroke and his wife, the famous 
Countess of Pembroke, nee Mary Sidney, sister of Sir Philip Sidney. She mar­
ried the Earl in 1577. He was twenty years her senior and had had two previous 
wives, both of whom were childless. Was the earl infertile? 

Marlowe-Shakespeare scholar John Baker believes that Marlowe, at the age 
of IS, had an affair with the 18-year-old Countess, which resulted in the birth 
of William Herbert in April 1580. The idea may not be as far-fetched as it would 
seem at first blush. If the Earl was twice the age of his young bride, was indeed 
infertile and strongly desirous of an heir, he might have told the Countess, with 
a quiet sense of urgency, to find a suitable male to impregnate her, so that he 
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could have a male heir to succeed him as Earl of Pembroke. Of course, she must 
use the greatest discretion and secrecy in her choice of inseminator. Back in 
those days there VJere no fertility clinics for married couples to go to for help 
in such matters . And so, the Countess was obliged to use the tried and true 
method: a discreet affair with a suitable male. Whom did she choose l 

She had known the young Marlowe as her brother's intelligent, good-look­
ing, healthy, and highly literate page, and had spent some time with him at the 
family estate, Penshurst, not far from Canterbury where he was now at the King's 
School. He was the perfect candidate, for he was a commoner, socially invisi­
ble, respectful of the nobility, and a person who would never embarrass or betray 
Philip Sidney's loving sister. Thus , in the summer of 1579, there must have been 
a convenient occasion in which the young Countess was able to seduce the vir­
ginal, testosterone-driven C hri sto pher Marlowe. And there is every likelihood 
that, as a result of this first sexual experience, Marlowe not only considered it 
a privilege to contribute his blood to the Sidney-Pembroke line, but also fell 
madly in love with the Countess. 

All of this may sound like a romantic historical novel, but it seems to have 
the ring of truth. What we do know is that William Herbert was conceived dur­
ing the summer of 1579 and born nine months later on April 8,1580, just three 
years after Mary's marriage to the elderly earl. She had fulfilled her primary 
responsibility and wifely duty of providing her husband with an heir. Needless 
to say, the earl was ecstatic and entertained the entire parish at dinner to cele­
bra te the bi rth of his son. 

Was Marlowe indeed in love with the Countess? A.L. Rowse, in his biog­
raphy of Marlowe, writes (p. 169): 

[n September of 1592 Robert Greene had died, at the age of thirty-five, and about 
the same time Thomas Watson followed at much the sa me age. In November Mar­
lowe wrote a Latin dedication for Watson's Amil1lae Catldia to the famous Countess 
of Pembroke, patron of the Muses. Sir Philip Sidney's sis ter. herself a poel. She wa s 
an appropriate patron to seek . since her husband's [Pembroke's Menl had per­
formed edward II . This dedication has usually been overlooked. since it ca me out 
undcr the initials C. M.; but bent'a th the customary floridity of the Latin -florida 
vcr/Jorllll1 vel/WIllS - we detect not only MHlowc the sc holar. but something more 
about him. 

To the most illustrious heroine . endowed with gifts of both mind and body, 
Mary. Co untess of Pembroke . Delia. born of a laurelled race. true sistcr of Sid­
ney. (\pollo's prophet ; fostering parent of kttcrs. to whose immaculate embra(c 
virtue. outrageJ by Ihc a>,,,ult ofbarhJrlsm .lnd ignorance, !lies for refuge, as 
oncl' Philomela from the tyrant ofThracc: Muse of the poets of (lur time dnd of 
all most happily burgeoning wits; heJvenl), "ffspring. who impartest now to my 
rudc pen the lofty inspiration whereby my poor self gains power to surpass \\,hat 
my unripe taknt is wont to bring forth - deign to be patron to this posthumous 
Am)'ntas. as to thy adopted son. the more so in that his dying father humbly 
bequeathed him to your keeping .... So shall I. wh(lse slender wealth is but the 
sea shore myrtle of Y.:nus, Daphne's evergreen laurel. invoke you on the rlrst 
page of every pocm as mistress of the Muses. 
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If ever Marlowe had written a love letter to the Countess, this was it, a lbeit in 
Latin. 

Hugh Ross Williamson, in Kind Kit, provides addi tional insight into the 
Pembroke-Marlowe connec tion (p. 196 ): 

A new theatrica l company was forming under the patronage of the Ea rl of Pem­
broke whose seat, as President of Wales and Warden of the Marches was at Ludlow, 
but whose residence wa s at Wilton in Wiltshire. It would ha ve been more accu rate 
to have called the new group of acto rs "t he Cou ntess of Pemb roke's Co mpany," for 
it was she, the elde rly Earl 's third wife whom he had married when she was sixteen, 
who had turned Wilton into a ce ntre of the arts and sc iences so that it was " like a 
college, there were so many learned and ingenious persons ." The young Countess, 
"a beautiful lady of exce llent wit, wit h a sharp-ova l face and hair o f a reddish­
yellow," was the adored sister of Sir Philip Sidney. To her "my dea r Lad y and Sister, 
principal orna ment to the famil y of Sid neys" he had dedicated his Arcadia and after 
his death she considered it her duty to continue his patronage of poetry and to tr y 
to raise the stage to the level o f his ideals as he had expressed them in hi s Defence of 
Poe; ie. 

The Countess also had her own ideas abo ut pl aywri ting, which we believe 
had an influence on Marlowe . William son writes (p. 196): 

The Countess co nsidered that the conte mporary French dramati st, Robert Garnier, 
with his historical plays written in a classica l Senecan manner , pointed to the 
style to "c hase away gross barbar ism." She herself translated into English Garnier's 
traged y on Mark Antony and encouraged the poet Samuel Daniel , who was tutor 
to her ten- year-old son, to write a companion piece on Cleopatra. Her own work 
she had published in a fine edition, but the obvious necess ity was an acting 
company. 

Apparentl y, the Earl had no objec tion to his yo ung wife 's desire to crea te 
an ac ting company. The Pembroke name alone would ensure the appearance of 
his players at Court. The Countess's interests also brought her into the Ralegh 
group. Williamson writes (p. 197): 

The Countess of Pembroke's activities and interests naturally overlapped th ose of 
the Raleigh "school" - Sir Walt er 's half-brother, Adrian Gi lbert, ac tually worked 
wit h her in her alchemi ca l labora tory-a nd Marlowe, when the matter was 
broached to him , was willing eno ugh to provide a new play for the new company. 

Were the Henr y the Sixth plays written in conformit y with the Countess's 
wishes' The decision to write three highl y complex hi storical plays telling the 
complicated story of the War of the Roses may have been writt en at the behest 
of the Countess, willing to ~upport the author financiall y during the writing, 
She was known to ass ign topics to different writers in her circle. It is no small 
coincidence that the Co untess's protege, S;Jmuel Daniel, living at Wilton, also 
embarked on writing his own version of the War 01' the Roses, The Civile Wars 
vetlveene the l/owst!s of l.anca ste r alld Yorke, written in the late 1590s and 
I.nlbll,hed in 1609. Other poets Within the Count ess's coter ie Included her 
brother 's friends Edward Dyer, Fulke Crcville, and Samu~1 Brandon. Thomas 
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Kyd, desperate for a new patron after his brush with the Star Chamber, pro ­
duced a translation or Garnier's Cornel/e. llut he died in 1594. 

As ror Marlowe's relations with the Countess, the)' ended with his reported 
death in 1593. In fact, Pembroke's Men disbanded shortly after the Deptford 
event. And when the Countess's husband died in January 1601, she could no 
longer afford her extravagant ambition to reform the Elizabethan theatre . 

Charles Nicholl writes in The Reckoning (p. 172): 

A man much closer to Marlowe in time and circumstances was the poet Samuel 
Daniel, author of the influential sonnet-sequence Delia. In late 1585, having 
recently left Oxford without taking a degree, Daniel was "licensed" by Sir Francis 
Walsingham to ··travel into France." This was not a recruitment as such: Daniel's 
intention was, as he put it, "to study, 10 the end 10 render myse lf fit for the service 
of my country." 

In 1581, the Countess gave birth to a daughter , Katherine, who died three 
years later, and in 1583 she had a second daughter, Anne, about whom we know 
very little. However, in 1584, she gave birth to a second son, Philip Herbert. If 
Henry, the Second Earl of Pembroke, was indeed infertile, one must ask who 
was the father of Katherine, Anne, and Philip Herbert? Was it the young poet 
Samuel Daniel born in 1561, who was 22 in 1583, the year of Philip Herbert 's 
conception? We do not know when the poet first met the Countess, but we do 
know that when Daniel returned to England in September of 1586, he was hired 
by the Countess to tutor her son Willi am . What we also know is that the Count­
ess was deeply religious and throughout her life carried a heavy burden of guilt 
for her personal sins and transgress ions. 

Did William Herhert ever know the identity of his true rather' This deli­
cate si tuation reminds us of the scene in King John (1.1. 249-260) where Philip 
the llastard begs his mother to tell him who his true father is . And when she tell s 
him that it was King Richard Cordelion, he remarks: "I would not wish a better 
father." Hannay tells us (p. 169) that Willi am , aged 20, expressed no grief when 
the 2n d Earl of Pembroke died in January 160l. 

Whatever the truth may be, the Countess's two sons rose in prominence 
and became important figures during the reign of King James I. William Her­
bert, the Third Earl of Pembroke, was a conspicuous figure at the court of James 
I. On seve ral occasions he opposed the schemes of George Villiers, Duke of Buck­
ingham, the King's favorite . Nevertheless, Pembroke served as lord chamberlai n 
of the ro ya l household from 1615 to 1625 and lord steward from 1626 to 1630. 
He was chancellor of Oxford in 1624 at which time llroardgates Hall was renamed 
Pembroke College in his honor. 

We believe that Pembroke is the "Mr. W.H." of Shakespeare's sonnets and 
his mistress, Mary Fitton, the "da rk lady " of the poems . When Fitton became 
pregnant Pembroke promised to marry her. But when the child was st illborn, 
Pembroke coldly rejected her. [n 1604, Pembroke married Lad y Mary Talbot , 
who then became the Countess of Pembroke, repl ac ing Mary Sidney Herbert with 
that titl e. The couple li ved regal ly, and the Earl , quite the bon vivant, spent 
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extravagantly. Philip married Susan de Vere, daughter of the Earl of Oxford, in 
1604, the same year in which Oxford died. 

[n 1623, the Earl of Pembroke and his brother Philip became the "incom­
parable pair of brethren" to whom the First Folio was dedicated. No doubt, it 
was their financial largesse that made the project possible. Was this the crown­
ing achievement of publishing entrepreneur Edward Blount? Was this an invest­
ment that would later payoff welP 

As for Philip ~Ierbert , dpparently he became the chief favorite of James J, 

owing to his good looks and passion for hunting and field spons. In 1605, the 
king made him Earl of Montgomery and l3aron Herbert of Shurtland. At the 
death of his brother in 1630, he became the 4th Earl of Pembroke . 

As for Samuel Daniel, who is the rival poet of the sonnets, he was probably 
the writer most influenced by the Countess. In 1592 he produced his sonnet 
sequence Delia and Rosamund, and subsequently, in 1594, a Senecan tragedy, 
Cleopatra. In 1595, he wrote his epic poem on the War of the Roses. [n 1604, he 
was invited by the new king to provide the first masque of the reign and became 
a licensee for the Queen's Revels Company. [n 1615, he became Inspector of the 
Children of the Queen's Revels. In his last years, he retired to a farm near Beck­
ington, in Somerset. He is known to have been on poor terms with Ben Jonson, 
who thought little of his poetry. He died in 1619. Mary Sidney, dowager Count­
ess of Pembroke, died at her home in London in 1621. Ironically, dead Marlowe 
outlived them all. 
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One of the reasons why commentators on the Sonnets have been so far off 
the biographical mark is that they accept the orthodox view that Greene was 
referring to Shakespeare when he wrote about the Shake-scene in his Groarsworth 
ufWit , thus adopting the notion that Shakespeare was alreJdy known as a play­
wright in 1592, for which there is no evidence. We are quite convinced that 
Greene was referring to Edward Alleyne, the actor, who was indeed the Shake­
scene of his time. Abo, the orthodox commentators accept the view that Shake­
speare's dedications to the young Earl of Southampton in Venus and Adonis in 
1593 and The Rape of LlIcrece in 1594 indicJte that the young man in the Son­
nets on whom ShJkespeare lavished such warm expressions of love was 
Southampton when there is no evidence that Shakespeare ever met or knew the 
young Earl. The dedications were pro forma attempts to gain the patronage of a 
wealthy nobleman. 

But if we approach the Sonnets from the viewpoint that they were written 
by Christopher Marlowe, the poems begin to make sense. As we have asserted, 
the first seventeen Sonnets were written for Lord Burghley who used them to 
persuade the Earl of Southampton to marry his granddaughter. They didn't work 
even though they represent some of the most exquisite poetry in the English lan­
guage. Consider the first four lines in Sonnet 2: 

When forty winters shall besiege thy brow, 
And dig deep trenches in thy beauty', rleld, 
Thy youth's proud livery so gazed on now 
Will be a tottered weed of small worth held. 

Sonnet 3 is equally exquisite: 

Look in thy glass and tell the fact thou viewest. 

Now is the time that face should form another, 

Whosc fresh repair if now thou not renew est , 

Thou dost beguile the world, unbless some mother. ... 

Die single, and thine image dies with thee. 


Two lines in Sonnet 10 are very much to the point: 

Make thee another self for love of me, 
That beauty still may live in thine and thee. 

Sonnet IS was certainly written by a dramatist with Marlowe's experience: 

When I consider evcry thing that grows 
Holds in perfection but J little moment. 
That this huge stage presenteth nought but shows 
Wherein the stars in secret innuence comment. 

[n Sonnet 18 -"Shall I compare thee to a summer's dJY"- the author has 
given us one of the loveliest poems in the English language. For whom was it 
written' J believe that it was written by Marlowe to his patron anti protector 
Thomas Walsingham who was about the same age as Marlowe. The love 
expressed in this sonnet and man}' of the others is not sexual. It is one of 
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devotion and friendship. Indeed, the word love was used extensively among men 

to denote high esteem, worthiness, as well as emotional attachment. This son­

net ends with a theme found elsewhere in Marlowe, that the poem will outlive 
its subject and defy the ravages of time. It is well stated in the last two lines: 

So long JS men can breathe or eyes can see, 
So long lives this, and this gives life to thee. 

In Sonnet 19, the poet defies Time by again asserting the endurance of verse: 

Yet do Ihy worSi. old Time: des pile thy wrong, 
My love shall in my verse cvrr live young. 

Marlowe had already expressed this sentiment in his translation of Ovid's Ele­
gies (Elegia I I I): 

So likewi,L' we will through the world be rung. 
And with my name shall thine be always sung. 

[Book I, Elegia III. 25-261 

In Elegia X, we find a variation of the same theme: 

Garments do wear, Jewels and gold do waste, 
The fame that verse gives doth for ever last. 

[61-621 

And in Elegia XV we read: 

Therefore when flint and iron wear away, 
Verse is immortal, and shall ne'er decay. 

131- 32 1 

And that is why the Sonnets are still read and enjoyed in the twenty-first cen­

tury. 
Sonnet 25 clearly relates to the poet's life after the events at Deptford. He 

writes: 

Let those who are in favour with their slars 

Of public honour ;lnd proud tilles boast, 

Whibt I whom fortune of sLt(h triumph bars 

Unlooked for joy in that I honour mos!.. .. 

The painful warrior famou,ed for right, 

After J thousand victories once foiled, 

Is from the book of honour rased quite, 

And .lil the rest rorgot for which he toiled: 

Then happ)' I that love Jnd am beloved 

Where J may not remove, nor be removed. 


I n Son net 27 we ha ve a pictu re of the poet as he travels awa y from Englanu 

after Deptford: 

Wearv with toil, I haste to my bcd, 

The dear repose for limbs with travel tired, 
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Hut then begins a journey in my head 

To work my mind, when body's work's expired; 

For then my thoughts (from far where [ abide) 

Intend a zealous pilgrimage to thee, 

And keep my drooping eyelids open wide, 

Looking on darkness which the blind do see, ... 

La thu s by day my limbs, by night my mind, 

For thee, and for myself, no quiet find . 


Sonnet 28 repeats the same theme of toilsome travel. Sonnet 44 also deals 
with travel and distance: 

If the dull substance of my nesh were thought, 

Injurious distance sho uld not stop my way, 

For then despite of space [ would be brought, 

From limits far remote, where thou dost stay. 

No matter then although my foot did stand 

Upon the farthest earth removed from thee, 

ror nimble thought can jump both sea and land 

As soon as think the place where he would be. 


In Sonnet 50, the same theme of exile and travel gives us an idea of the agony 
that Marlowe suffered in being separated from his friend Walsingham: 

How heavy do I Journey on the wa)', 
When what I seek (my weary travel's end) 
Doth teach that ease and that repose to say, 
"Thus far the miles are measured from thy friend." 
The bea st that bears me, tired with my woe, 
Plods dully on, to bear that weight in me, 
As if by some instinct the wretch did know 
His rider loved not speed being made from thee: 
The bloody spur cannot provoke him on, 
'1'hat sometimes anger thrusts into his hide, 
Which heavily he answers with a groan, 
More sharp to me than spurring to hi s side. 

Sonnet 51 repeats the same theme: 

Thus (an my love excuse the slow offence 

Of my dull bearer, when from thee J speed : 

From where thou art, why should I haste me thence) 

Till I return, of posting is no need .... 

Since from thee going he went wilful-slow, 

Towards thee I'll run, and give him leave to go. 


Finally, in Sonnet 29 Marlowe reveals the full extent of his unhappy post-

Deptford pred icamen t: 

When in disgrace with fortune and Illen's eyes, 

I all alone bc"weep my llutcast state, 

And trouble deaf heaven with mv hoot less cries, 

I-\nd look upon Illyself and curse my fate, 
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Wishing me like tu one more rich in hupe, 

reaturc'd like him. like him with friends possessed. 

l)esiring this man's art, dnd that man's SCOpt', 

With what I most enJoy contented kas\; 

Yet in these thoughts myself ;fnust despising, 

Haply I think on thee. and then my state 
 ~I 
(Like to the lark at break of day arising 

From sullen earth) sings hymns at heaven's gate, 

For thy sweet love rememb'red such wealth brings 

That then I scorn tu change my state with kings. 


Marlowe would have to live in this "outcast state" for the rest of his life, 

adopting other names and identities. No one could have pred icted that he would 

go on to write the greatest dramas in English, ifnot world, literature, and a way 

would have to be devised to get these dramas produced and staged. 

We find references to the Deptford event in a number of other sonnets. In 

Sonnet 72, the poet writes: 

o lest your true love may seem false in this, 

That you for love speak well of me untrue, 

My name be buried where my body is, 

And live no more to shame nor me nor you. 


Yet, the Marlowe name was rehabilitated by the publication of !-Iero and Lean­
der in 1598 with Edward Blount's dedication to Sir Thomas Walsingham. 

In Sonnet 73, with an c::xquisitc autumnal setting, we find Marlowe's enig­

matic motto found on his portrait: 

That time of year thou mayst in me behold 

When yellow leaves, or none. or few, do hang 

Upon those boughs which shake against the cold, 

[Jare ruined choirs, where late the sweet birds sang .. 

In me thou seest the glowing of such fire 

That on the ashes of his youth duth lie, 

As the death-bed whereon it must expire, 

Consumed with that which it was nourished by. 


That last line is a rendition in English of the motto in Latin on Marlowe's por­

trait: Quod me /lutrit me destrl4it 
Sonnet 74 is, no doubt, about the events at Deptford addressed to Thomas 

Walsingham, written in a state of depression. 

But be contented: when that fell arrest 

Without all bail shall carry me ~Iway, 


Iv!)' life hath in this line some interest, 

Whic·h for memorial still with thee shall stay. 

When thou revicwest this, thou dost review 

The v\;,ry part \vas consecrate to thee: 

The earth can have but earth, which is his due; 

My >pirit i, thine, the better part uf me: 
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So then thou hast but lost the dregs of life, 
The prey of worms, my body being dead; 
The coward conquest of a wretch 's knife, 
Too base of thee to be remembered. 

Sonnet 80 refers to the rival poet, the Countess of Pembroke's protege, 

Samuel Daniel: 

0, how I faint Ivhen r of you do write, 

Knowing d better spirit doth w,e your name 

And in the praise thereof spends all hi s might 

To make me tongue - tied, speaking of your fame' .. . 

Then if he thrive and I be cast away, 

The worst was this ; - my love wa s my detay. 


And in Sonnet 86, he writes: 

Was it the proud full sail of his great verse, 
llound for the pri ze of all too precious you .... 
I:\ut whell your countenance fill'd lip his line, 
Then lack'd I matter; that enfeebled mine. 

Sonnet 78 reminds us of Marlowe's dedication of Watson's poem, Amintae 
Gaudin, to the Countess of Pembroke, who probably inspired him to write the 

three Henry the Sixth plays: 

So oft have I invok'd thee for my Muse 

And found such fair assistance in my verse 

As every alien pen hath got my use 

And under thee their poesy disperse .... 

Yet be most proud of that which r compile, 

Whose influence is thine, and born of thee: 

In others' works thou dost but mend the style, 

And arts with thy sweet graces graced be; 

l3ut thou art all my art, Jnd dost advance 

As high as learning my rllde ignorance . 


Sonnet 108 seems to be about rvJarlolve's relation with his son, William Her­

bert, the W.f 1. of the dedication: 

What's In the brain, that ink may ch.Hdct('[, 

Which hath not ligur'd to thee my true spirit' 

What 's new to speak, whdt new to register, 

Thai m" y cxpre' ss Ill)' love , or thy deH mnit' 

Nothing, sweet boy; but yet, like prayers divine, 

r must each day say o'er the very saine; 

Counting no old thing old, thou mine, I thine, 

Even as when first I hallow 'd Ihy fair name. 


There are many love poems among the Sonnets and it is difficult to know 

to whom they were written: Thomas Walsingham, vViliiam Herbert, the Count­

ess of Pembroke. or someone else. [ believe that many of them were indeed 
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addressed to the Countess with whom Marlowe (ell in love when he was seduced 
by her at the age of 15. Marlowe makes it very clear that his love, as the popu ­
lar modern bJllad says, "is here to stay." He stJtes in Sonnet 116, one of the great­
est love poems ever written: 

Let me not to the marriage of true minds 

Admit impediments. Love is not love 

Which alters when it alteration finds, 

Or bends with the remover to remove: 

0, nol it is an ever-fixed mark, 

That looks on tempests and is never shaken; 

It is the star to every wandering bark, 

Whose worth's unknown, although his height be taken, 

Love's not Time's fool, though rosy lips and cheeks 

Within his benuing sickle's compass come; 

Love alters not with his brief hours dml weeks, 

Hut bears it out .:ven to the edge of uoom. 


If there Ivas ever a poem that detlned true love as e ternal, this is it. 
In the sonnets referring to the so-called Dark Lady, there has been specu­

lation that the mysterious raven-haired beauty was Mary Fitton, mistress to 
William Herbert. Fitton was the daughter of S.ir Edward Fitton, a Cheshire 
knight, who was greatly concerned about his daughter's future. She had become 
Queen Elizabeth's youngest and most beautiful maid of honour and attracted a 
good deal of male attention. In 1600 she became the lover of William Herbert. 
By the New Year, she could no longer conceal that she was pregnant and Her­
bert admitted responsibility, Herbert was put in Fleet Prison and Mary was put 
in the care of Lady Hawkins. But after she delivered a still-born son, Herbert 
refused to marry her. 

Neville Williams writes in All the Queen's Men (p. 252): 

This attitude did not speed his release from prison, where he complained to Cecil 
that being CLlt off from the Quet'n's presence was "he[[" and he asked for a change 
of climate to "purge me of melancholy, for else I shall never be Ilt for any civil 
society." Eventually he returned to Wilton, then married Lady Mary Talbot and 
settled down to become the "Maecenas" of Jacobean England, patronising Ben 
Jonson, Massinger, Chapman, Inigo Jones and many others. Mary was sent back 
to Cheshire in disgrace, her career at court in ruins, a reminder to other maids of 
honour and their admirers to behave more circumspectly. 

It is therefore not unreasonable to believe that when Cecil read the Sonnets pub­
lished by Thomas Thorpe in 1609, he was alarmed by what he read about the 
Dark Lady, the Countess of Pembroke, the rival poet, and other clearly auto­
biographicJI material about Marlowe and he immediately quashed the book's 

distribution. 
But it is Sonnet 76 that provides incontrovertible proof that Marlowe wrote 

the Sonnets, In it the poet not only reveals his fear of being identitled as the 
author of the poems, but he provides us with the best clue that he was' HOWl 
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By writing the name of his friend Thomas Watson in an acrostic in the begin­
ning letter., - TWATSO- of lines 4 through 9: 

Why is my verse so barren of new pride? 
So far from variation or quick changel 
Why with the time do I not glance aside 
10 ne",-found methods and to compounds strange? 
Why write I still all one, ever the same, 
And keep invention in a noted weed, 
That every word doth almost tell m)' name, 
Showing their birth, and where they did proceed? 
Q know, sweet love, I always write of you, 
And you and love are still my argument; 
So all my best is d rcssing old words new, 
Spending against what is already spent: 
For as the sun is daily new and old, 
So is my love still telling what is told. 

It was Watson who had saved Marlowe's life in the fracas with William 
Bradley in 1589. He died in September 1592, a great loss for Marlowe. It was Wat­
son's last poem which Marlowe dedicated to the Countess of Pembroke. ft was 
John Baker, the intrepid Marlovian scholar, who was first to notice the Watson 
acrostic in the Sonnet. None of the hundreds of scholars, who had pored over 
the Sonnets and analyzed each poem for its hidden meaning, recognized the 
acrostic. John Baker proved that when you change the way you look at things, 
not only do the things you look at change, but they leap out at you as you search. 
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ParI I, Hellry VIII, Coriolanus, Til1lon 0{ Athens, /lI/iu5 Caesar, Macbeth, AntollY 
alld Cleopatra, and C)'lIIuelille . 

There were other plays for which the First Folio must be considered their 
first printing: The Merry \Vives oJ Windsor had been published in a surreptitious 
quarto in 1602, an imperfect copy of the author 's first sketch of the comedy. The 
First Folio's copy is the first edition oflhe play in its complete state. Apparently, 
Blount got hold of the author's manuscript. The Taming oJthe Shrew, King John, 
Second Pari oj Henry VI, The Third Parr oj Hellry VI saw their first publication 
in the First Folio. 

In other words, had it not been for the First Folio some of the greatest dra­
matic masterpieces in the English language would have been lost. One must 
credit Edward Blount with having rescued from certain oblivion these great 
works of literary genius . And that was probably the motivating force behind the 
project: the knowledge that there existed these great plays that future genera­
tions should be allowed to enJoy. 

And who were willing to finance this enormously expensive enterprise' 
Why, none other than the two Pembroke brothers, William Herbert, Third Earl 
of Pembroke, and his brother, Philip, Earl of Montgomery. In other words, the 
Marlowe, Blount, Pembroke connection were all there in this monumental 
undertaking . The rest - Jonson's poem, the poems by L. Digges, Hugh Holland, 
I.M., the promotional preface by John Heminge and Henry Conddl- were 
meant to allay any speculation that the plays were written by Christopher Mar­
lowe, who was supposed to be dead. Indeed, Diana Price tells us (p. 122 ): "It 
appears that the selection of Jonson, Digges, and Mabbe II.M.I to write com­
mendatory verses for the Shakespeare collection is owed to their association with 
Edward Blount, the publisher of the First Folio." 

But what is even more interesting is that while Marlowe accepted the use 
of Shakespeare's name as author, he managed to inject in each play some clue 
which future generations of readers would find revealing the true author's iden­
tity. He must have believed very strongly that someday the truth would out. 

We shall now look at the 36 plays in the Folio and see what they tell us about 
their authorship. For our purposes we shall examine each play in its chronolog­
ical order, an order generally accepted by most Shakespearean scholars. 

Henry VI, Parts One, Two, and Three and Richard III 

Thus we begin with the three plays, Henry VI, Parts One, Two, and Three, 
which are the earliest plays attributed to Shakespeare, plus Richard III, which 
can be considered Part Four of this continuous story of the War of the Roses. 
In fact , it is the death of Richard on the battlefield - after that famous line , "A 
horse I A horse My kingdom for a horse!" - that ends the War of the Roses. ' 

The First Folio brings the authorized texts of dll four plays together for the 
first time. It should be noted that the earlier Quartos of Part Two (puhlished in 
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1594 with the erroneous title The First Part of the Contention} and Part Three of 
Henry VI (published in 1595 as The True Tragedy ofRichard Duke of York) are much 
shorter than the First Folio versions of the same plays. All of which indicates that 
a considerable amount of additional writing was done before the plays were ready 
for inclusion in the First Folio. Who did the writing, and when was it done l 

Part One, in which Sir John Talbot is the hero, gives us the Joan of Arc story 
as seen through English eyes. The poetic dialogue between Talbot and his son on 
the battlefield is one of the most poignant in all of Elizabethan literature. The 
play also has thc embryo 0( the great character Falstaff in a cowardly figure named 
Sir John rastolfe. Part Two has the memorable Jack Cade , a sort of Eli7,abethan 
Pol Pot. Part Three has the ramous line, which was paraphrased by Robert Greene 
in 1592 to describe Edward Alleyn, "A Tygers hart wrapt in a Players hide." 

Speaking of Edward AIJeyn, Edward Burns, in his Introduction to the Arden 
edition of Henry VI, Part One, writes (p. 2): 

Edward Alleyn seems the most likely actor to have created the role of Talbot. He 
had created the leading roles in Marlowe's plays and in 1588 moved from the dis­
banded Lord Admiral's Men to Lord Strange's Men. 

The inference is that Alleyn knew that Marlowe had written the pla y. It is 
also probable that Marlowe wrote the three Henry VI plays under the influence 
of the Countess of Pembroke. Her protege, Samuel Daniel, also wrote of the War 
of the Roses in The First FOllr Books of the Civil Wars, which appeared in 1595. 

Daniel, we strongly believe, was the rival poet in the Sonnets. 
Richard III was first published in an unauthorized Quarto in 1597. The play 

is a breathtaking tour de force in character development by Marlowe. In it we 
get a terrifying study of a psychotic character which only Marlowe could depict. 
Marlowe's hand can also be seen in Act I, Scene 4, in which Clarence is mur­
dered by two executioners sent by Richard. [t reminds us of the execution scene 
in Edward II, in which Edward engages in a weird conversation with the man 
sent to murder him. 

Marlowe's style can be found throughout the four plays. A. L. Rowse writes 
in The Annotated Shakespeare (p. 756): 

The dominant inlluence observable again and again in !-{fl1ry VI is MJflowe's . 
He had patented this grandiloquent poetic diction, in splt'ndid blank verse, in 
'f'ambllr{C/ill e.... Uhiquitow. is the intlut'ncl' of school education in the classics and 
of Bible and Prayer 1300k from con,tant edrly dttendalkl' at church. 

I t should be noted tha t Shak<'spcare haJ no schooli ng t hat we k now or and did n't 
even own a 13ible. 

The Comedy of Errors 

The next play to consider is The Comedy of Errors, the shortest play in the 
First Folio. Scholars believe that it was written in 1591-92. Had it not been 
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included In the First Folio, it would have been lost to history. The plot of the 
play is derived from the Menaechmi of Plautus, the Roman comic poet, and 
was adapted by Marlowe from the original Latin. Since it was written before 
the events at Deptford, we can assume that Marlowe wrote it. The fact that 
Blount included it in the First Folio is evidence that it was written by his good 
friend. 

The play is a slap-stick yet sophisticated comedy, which uses two sets of 
identical twins to create absurd, hilarious situations in which confused identi­
ties run riot. [t is skillfully written in delightful verse and takes place in one day, 
in accordance with classical form. 

The poet's genius is revealed in these entrancing lines spoken by Antipho­
Ius of Syracuse: 

He that commends me to mine own conlenl, 
Commends me to Ihe thing I cannot get. 
110 the world dm likt' d drop of water 
That In the ocean se'ek> another drop; 
Who, I'alling there' !O lind his fellow forth; 
Unseen, inquisitive, (onfounds him,elf: 
So I, to lind a mother and a brother, 
In qu esl of them, unhappy, lose myself. 

1Act I, Scene 2, 33-401 

The playwright also managed to insert his own humorous commentaries 
on contemporary geopolitics in a hilarious dialogue between Antipholus ofSyra­
cuse and Dromio of Syracuse as rhey talk about the kitchen wench Nell. She is 
a very fat lady whose body resembles a globe. 

Dromio . ... she is spherical, like a globe; I could find out countries in her. 
Ant. S. In what part of her body stands Ireland l 

Oro/1lIo. Marry, sir, in her buttocks: I found it out by the bogs. 
Alit. S. Where Scotland l 

Dromio. I found it by the barrenness; hard in the palm of the hand. 
All!. S. Where Francel 

Droll/io. In her forehead , armed and re"erteo, making war against her heir. 
Ant. S. Where England l 

Oromio. I looked for the chalky cliffs , but I could find no whiteness in them; but I 
guess it stood in her chin, by the salt rheum that ran between France and it. 

Ant. S. Where Spain? 
Dromio. Faith, I saw it not ; but I felt it hot in her breath. 
Allt. 5 Wh~re Am~rica, the Indies? 
J)romio . 0 , sirl upon her nose , all o'er embellished with rubies, carbuncles, sap­

phires, declining In their rich aspect to the hot breath of Spain, who sent \"hole 
MIllJdot's of car racks to bt' ball ast at ht'r nost' . 

Allt . S Where stood l3l'igia , the Nt'thl'rbnds i 

/)romio . 0, ,ir l I did not look so low. 
I .\lt 3, Scen~ 2, 110-1441 

1'vlarlowe knew how !o entertain and educate at the same time l 
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Titus Andronicus 

It is believed that Tilli s AndnmiclI5 was written in 1593 and first published 
in an unauthorized Quarto in 1594. A. M. Witherspoon, editor of the Yale Shake­
speare edition, writes (p. 121): 

External evidence against ShJkespeare's authorship of "{ilUs has been found in the 
absence of hi; name' from all three Quartos of the play. The conclusiveness of thi s 
evidence is impaired, however, by the fact that the poet's name does not appear 
on any of the Quartos of Henry V, or on any of the three Quartos of ROllleo and 
Juliet .... The character of Aaron is by almost ali critics conceded to be modeled on 
Marlowe's Barabas and Ithamore. Much of the verse also, if not lvlarlowe's, is close 
imitation of that poet 's lines. 

However, the fact that the play was included in the First Folio leaves no doubt 
that it was written by Marlowe. Harold Bloom writes in Shakespeare: The Jnven­
tion of the Human (p. 80): 

An aesthetic defense of Tittls AndrolliClis is possible only if you center it upon 
Aaron, its most Marlovian character, and if you regard the entire playas a bloody 
farce, in the mode of Marlowe's Jew of Malta. 

There are more than enough clues in the text of the play indicating that it 
was written by Marlowe. There are about six references to Dido in the play. In 
fact, ill Act 2, Scene 3, Tamora , in a love scene with Aaron in a sequestered part 
of the woods, recalls the scene in /)/1/0 QI4een ofCnrthllge (Act 3, Scene 4 ) where 
Dido confesses her love to AcnedS in a cave where the two had taken shelter dur­
Ing a storm. [s it not interesllIlg that Tamara should know the details of the 
scene in Marlowe's play' One gets the impression that Marlowe was trying to 
publicize his play by mentioning Dido and the Trojan war in so many places in 
t he text. 

One al so finds echoes of the Sonnets in the play. Tamara's son Demetrius 
says about Lavinia in Act 2, Scene I: 

She is a woman , therefore to be \Yoo'd; 
She is a woman, therefore to be won; 
She is La v i n ia, the refore to be lov'd. 

[ 83-851 

In Sonnet 41 we read: 

Gentle thou art, and therefore 10 be won, 
Beauteous thou art, th..:refore to be d"sailed. 

And in Henry VI, Part Olle (Act 5, Scene 3) the Earl of Suffolk, smitten by 

Margaret, whispers to himself: 

She's beautiful, and thert'fore III be woo'tl; 
She is a woman, therefore to be won. 

[78- 79[ 



268 The Marlowe-ShJkespeare Connection 

No other play in the First Folio is so full of references to classical mythol­
ogy, or has so many Latin expressions and Latinized forms as Titus AndroniclIs. 
In Act 4, Scene 1, Titus's grandson helps speechless Lavinia point out a book in 
her father's library that will tell what happened to her. The book Lavinia chooses 
is Ovid's Metamorphoses wit hits tragic ta Ie of Philo mel who was raped by Tereus, 
King ofThrace, who then cut out her tongue to prevent her from exposing him. 
She is finally able to communicate what happened to her. That same book would 
later turn up as an important part of the plot in eymbeline. 

As for the SOurce of the play, Witherspoon writes, "No single and direct 
source of the story of Titlls Andronicus has ever been discovered." In other words, 
Marlowe made it up based on his reading of Ovid's Metamorphoses and other 
classical writers which he read at the King's School. But obviously his aim was 
to create a horror play with lots of blood and mayhem in the style of Seneca 
whose plays were as full of horrors as the jaded theatergoers of Nero's Rome 
could take. And the Eli/.abethans loved it. The play was entered in Henslowe's 
Diary no less than fifteen times, indicating its popularity and financial success. 

The text of the First Folio was printed from the Third Quarto with textual 
additions, and it actually contains one scene (Act 3, Scene 2) which does not 
appear in any of the Quartos. Which leads us to believe that Marlowe added the 
scene while preparing the play for the First Folio. Also, noteworthy is the fact 
that the play was performed by Pembroke's Men, the company formed by the 
Countess of Pembroke's husband . 

Two Gentlemen of Verona 

We next consider Two Gentlemen of VerOlla, a romantic play about what 
normal people are capable of doing when they fall hopelessly in love. The main 
protagonists are two friends in Verona, Valentine ancl Proteus, ofwhorn the lat­
ter is in love with Julia . Valentine decides to go to Milan where he falls in love 
with the Duke's daughter Silvia. 13ut the Duke wants his daughter to marry Thu­
rio, J very weJlthy suitor whom Silvia dClcsts. Meanwhile, Valentine and Silvia 
plan to elope. Proteus's father then decides to send his son to Milan to improve 
his education, "practice tilts and tournaml'nt~, converse with noblemen." 

13ut when Proteus arrives in Milan, he too Calls in love with Silvia. Julia hears 
of this and decides to go to Milan disguised as a boy. ~vleanwhile, having learned 
of Valentine's plan to elope, Proteus betrays his friend by telling the Duke of the 
planned elopement. Valentine is then banished by the Duke. On his way to Man­
tua he is accosted by three outlaws who persuade him to become their leader. 
Silvia then decides to go after Valentine. Thurio, Proteus, Julia and the Duke 
follow in hot pursuit. l:3ut they are all captured by the outlaws and taken to 
Valentine their new leader. You can imagine the rest. Proteus and Julia are rec­
onciled, the Duke approves or Valentine's marriage to Silvia, and the outlaws 
arc pardoned for their good behavior. 
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The main source of the play IS the story of' Felix and relismena in Dialla 
Enamornrio, a pastoral romance written in Spanish by Jorge de tvlontemayor, 
first printed in 1542. A French translation of Diana was published in 1578 and 
1587. Although Two Gentlemen is mentioned by Francis Meres in his Palladis 
Tamia, published in 159B, there is no text of the play other than the one in the 
First Folio. While scholars are uncertain of when the play was written, a con­
sensus believes it was writtten in 1591-92. A clear indication that it was written 
by Marlowe are the references to Hero alld Leander in Act I, Scene I : 

Valentine: That's on so me shallow story of deep love, 
How you ng Leander cross'd Ihe Helksponl. 

Protel/s: That's a deep story of a deeper love; 
For he was more than over shoes in love. 

Valentill e: 'Tis trLle; for YOLl arc over boots in love, 
And yet YOLI never swum th e f\cllesponl. 

[21-26 [ 

Hero and Leander wasn't published until 1598 by Edward Blount. Yet, here 
it is being discussed by the two protagonists as if the y had read it. Only Mar­
lowe, Blount, or Walsingham had access to the unpublished manuscript. There 
is another reference to Hero and Leander in Act 3, Scene I, when Valentine says: 

Why then, a ladder qLlaintly made of cords 
To cast up with a pair of anchoring hooks, 
Would serv~ 10 seait' another Hero's tower, 
So bold l.L'ander would adventurL' it. 

1117-1 20) 

It should be noted that Valentine had a pC\ge who functioned as a useful go­
between. Also, in Act 2, Scene 3, Launce provides us with an amusing discourse 
on shoes: "This shoe IS my father .... " Was this a reference to Marlowe's father's 

profession? 

The Taming of the Shrew 

The Taming of the Shrew is believed to have been written in 1593, but its 
t"lrst printing was in the First Folio of 1623. However, there is a second play with 
almost the same title, The Taming a/A Shrew. Thomas C. l3ergin, editor of the 

Yale edition comments : 

A stITelY was publi,hed in 1594, and 1 knslowL"s [)iary notes , for funt· or that 
sa llle ),car, a pcrformarlCL' of a pia v ol' lhal ndn1e by Lord Ch~mbcrlain's ServanlS 
(i.e. Shah'speare's com pan y) dl NcwinglLln ~lIIIS, A Shrc'lv is made of coa rser 
st II ff than The Shrew; it IS by (ompa r i,on Llf un poli,hcd te xt Lire, and the eharae­
teril.Jtion is cruder; ind('~d it is by nature a fdfce .... P. Alexander (in the 7'imt's 
l.iterary SlIpplem ellt, Scpl. 16, 1926), hold ; Ihal Ihe printed version of A ,'jhrcw 

is a memorial reconSI rLiCI ion (i.e. J Ver Sion lakcn down from t ht' memorizat ion 
of ador,) of Ihe play thaI we know as Th e Sllrnv, explaining Ih e differences above 



270 The Marlo,ve-Shakespeare Connection 

noted as ,HJaptJtions deemed necessary for the presentation before provincial 

Judiences. 


The title page of the 1594 Quarto of rile Tnnllllg of il Shrew informs us tha t 
it was "sundry times acted by the R.ight honourable the Farle of Pembroke his 
Servants. " 

A.L. R.owse comments in The Allnotateri Shakespeare (p. 117): "The Shrew 
was originally a Pembroke's play, a troupe for which Marlowe was also writing." 

Who wrote The Tami1lg of the Shrew? Again, we find Marlowe's clues 
throughout the play. The theme of the play, the battle of the sexes, the manifes­
tations of love, are found in much of Marlowe's writings, from his translation 
of Ovid's Amores to his poetic masterpiece Hero and Leander. Perhaps the most 
tell-tale clue in the play is the reference in Act 2, Scene I, to the Catholic Sem­
inary at Rheims, which Marlowe had infiltrated as a spy for Sir Francis Wals­
ingham. A. L. Rowse writes (p, 117): 

A reference to Khelms reminds us of Marlowe. who had been sent there to report 
on the activities of the Catholic exiles. Lucentio "hath been long studying at 
Rheims" - there is no reason why he should have studied there if Marlowe had 
not been close by. 

We have written that Marlowe was probably hired by Burghley to tutor 
Lady Arbella Stuart. The Secretary took an interest in her education, not only 
because she was next in line after James to succeed Elizabeth. but because, like 
Signor Baptista, he favored women being given the best education possible. 
Apparently Marlowe drew on his own exasperating experience as a tutor in 
describing the temperamental Bianca as a pupil. She speaks in Act 3, Scene I: 

! am no breeching scholar in the schools; 
I'll not be tied to hours nor 'pointed times, 
BlIt learn my lessons as I please myself. 

118-201 

Marlowe drew on every minute aspect of his own experience to give real­
ism to his plays, He is known to have had an astonishing memory, 

[n addition, we find Marlowe's handling of dramatic situations uniquely 
hts: the use of winy repartee, as between Petruchio and Katherine, to heighten 
the sense of conflict and suspense, dnd his uncanny ability to use dialogue as a 
means of drawing character. 

We should also mention that there is a reference to Ovid, "an outcast quite 
abjur'd" (33), in Act I, Scene I. Also, in the same scene we find a discussion 
of Marlowe's famous idea of "love at first sight" when Tranio asks his master 

Lucentio: 

I pray. sir. 1l'111l1e. IS it posslole 

Th,lt IOVl' shoulJ of a suJJen take such holJ' 

1. IILellli(} . 0 Tranin' Till! founJ II to be true 

I never thought it pu"ible nr like!)'. 
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But see, while idly I stood looking on, 

I found the effect of love in idleness 

And now in plainness do (onfess to thee, 

That art to me as secret and as dear 

As Anna to the Queen of Carthage was, 

Tranio, I burn, I pine, I perish, Tranio, 

If I achieve not this young modest girl. 


1151-1611 

Note the reference to Dido Queen of Carthage and her sister Anna with whom 
she shared her secrets. Also note in Act I, Scene I, where the Lord invites the 
players to dine in the buttery, similar to the buttery at Cambridge where Mar­
lowe and his fellow students partook of their meals. And in order to playa prac­
tical joke on Christopher Sly, a sleeping drunk, he orders hi s page Barthol'mew 
to dress as a lady and pretend to be the drunkard's wife . Is Marlowe comment­
ing on what pages were required to do for their masters' We believe that Mar­
lowe himself was a page and traveled to Italy with Sir Philip Sidney. The play 
mentions Padua, "nursery of arts," "fruitful Lumbardy, the pleasant garden of 
great Italy," Pisa, " renowned for grave citizens." Padua had a famous university 
which Philip Sidney visited during hi s Continental tour with his young page. 
FranCIS Walsingham studied at the university during his Marian exile. As far as 
we know, Shakespeare never traveled to Italy. 

Love's Labour's Lost 

The next play in the generally accepted chronology is Love's LabOlIr's Lost. 
Based on internal evidence, most scholars believe that it was written during 
the plague years of 1592-93 when the theatres were closed. A. L. Rowse writes 

(p. I72) : 

It has long been realised that this pia)' was originally written for private perform ­
ance. It is full of topicalities, references to contemporary events and characters ... 
It is full of private jokes and allusions .... The play is an acutely private one. 

As for the source of the play, Wilber 1.. Cross and Tucker Brooke, editors of the 

Yale Shakespeare cdition, write (p. 127): 

The central idea of l.ove'; I.n/Jour; /.0;( - that a ,cholarly prince binds himself 
and hi s ,ho>",n assoc iate, to;J quasi-rnond,tic schcme of life, which is immediately 
shattered by the intrusion of amorous sentiments- would seem much too obvious 
to be the o:iglnal invention of Shakespeare, yet no earlier work, either of fiction or 
of histo ry, has Ot'cn discovered which can rt'Jsonably be regarded as a ,ourc e of the 
play. 

Ilaroid I3loom writes (p. 121): 

I .UI't·'5 L, II)(>1"'; /.0;( is a festival of !;lngl.l;lge , an l' xuocrant rlrcworks displa y in 
which Shakespeare seems to st'ck the limits of his verbal resources , an d discovers 
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that there are none. Even John Mihon and James Joyce, the greatest masters of 

sound and sense in the English language after Shakespeare, are far outdone by the 

linguistic exuberance of LOI'e's l.abol/r's Lost. 


It is hard to believe that a man with no known education could have 
written this highly literate play. It was obvioLlsly written by a university man 
with a sharp critical eye who had spent six years at Cambridge in the midst of 
scholars and pedants and knew of their idiosyncrasies, pomposity, ignorance, 
and hypocrisies. That writer was Marlowe. He even pulls our leg when he puts 
the word "honorificabilitudinitatibus" in the mouth of a character in Af...t 5, 
Scene I. Concerning Marlowe's influence, the editors of the Yale edition write ~/ 
(p. 131) : 

It is not unlikely that the play is also related superficially to Marlowe's Massa cre at 

Paris (written lO\Vard the end of 1589 ), in whic'h the historical Navarre and Dumaine 

are both introduced , and which opens with Navarre's marriage to the Princess of 

France .... The opening speech of Ihe King ,hows the influence of Marlowe's versi fi­

c'alion in ils ;.pecial sonorousness , Jllit eration, and exhilaration. Compare with Ihe 

present line in Marlowe's Dido, I. 730: " I.est I be made a wonder to the world. " 


Marlowe provides comic relief with the introduction of Cons table Dull and 
Costard, a Clown. The King describes the visiting Don Adriano de Armado as 
"a refined trave ller of Spain, a man in all the world's new fashion planted, that 
hath a mint of phrJses in hi s brain ... I love to hear him lie, and ( will use him 
for my m i nst relsy." 

Don Arm ado and his page Moth enter in Act I, Scene 2, Both engage in a 
witty repartee which is the hallmark of Marlowe's conversational dialogue. Don 
Armado was a take-off on some well-known personalit y whose identity has been 

the subject of much speculation. But most of the play is about the King and the 
Princess and the lords and ladies , The author's genius is in his ability to dram­
atize the male-female dynamic in an entertaining, humorous, and philoso phi­
cal way, And the final outcome is by no means predictable. But the lesson is 
learned, and Berowne spells it out in these lines from a brilliant speech in Act 

4, Scene 3: 

Learning is but an «djunct to ourself, 

And where we 3re our learning likewise is: 

Then when ourse lves we see in ladies' eyes, 

1)0 we not likewise S':t' our lea rning there) .. 

13ut love, fI rs t learned in ,1 laJy 's ey es , 

Lives not alone immured in the brain, 

ilut, with the motion ofalll'iemcnis . 

Never Jurst poct touch a pen to write 

Unlil hi, ink were temper'd "'jth Love's SIghs .. 

I-rom women's eyes this doctnne I deri ve: 

They ,pdrkle slill the right Promelhcan lire; 

They arc: thl' books, Ihl' art" the dCJJemes, 

Th~l ,how, cont,.lin, ,1I11] nourish all the world; 

Else nunc at all in 'lUght proves cXl-t:lknl. 
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Nt'ver has h~terosexual love been better examined philosophi(aily than in 
Love's Labollr's Losr. Yet , Ivlarlowe has been characterized by many biographers 
as a homosexual. They have taken the attacks and accusations of his enemies as 
proof. Yet there is nothing in Marlowe's plays or poems that suggest that he was 
in any way homosexual. His relationship with Thomas Walsingham was pla­
ton ic, t ha tis, nonsexua I. The use of the word" love" in exchanges between males 
in those days had nothing to do with sex. [n Edward If he wrote of a homosex­
ual king whose predilections led to his tragic downfall. The purpose of the play 
was to provide reflection on what might happen should homosexual King James 
of Scotland become King of Eng[and. This was a burning issue with Burghley. 

[n addition, there is a scene in Hero and Leander in which Leander rejects 
the homosexual advances of Neptune. While swimming across the Hellespont, 
Leander replies to Neptune who wishes to make love to him: 

"You are deceived, I am no woman, I." 
Thereat smiled Neptune , and then told a tale, 
How that a shepherd , sitting in a vale, 
Played with a boy so fair and kind , 
As for his love both earth and heaven pined. 

ISestiad II. 192-1961 

So where did this reputation of Marlowe being homosexual come from? It 
came from a campaign of vilification based on rumor and false information 
about his supposed violent death. It came from Richard Baines's note "contain­
ing the opinion of one Christopher Marly Concerning his Damnable Judgment 
of Religion a nd scorn or gods word." I r came from Cat hoi ics who detested Mar­
lowe because he spied on them. It came from Richard Cholrriey who not only 
accused Marlowe of atheism but stated that he , Cholniley, wot:ld have killed the 
Lord Treasurer, Burghley, with his own hands had he the opportunity. Cholm~ 
ley accused the entire Privy Council of being atheists and Machiavellians, "espe­
cially my Lord Admirall." And flllally, the vilification came from Puritans who 
would have liked to ban the theat ers altogether. Charles Norman writes in The 

Mllse's Darling (p. 243): 

The outburst of Puritan wrath against Marlowe is without parallel in literature . No 
vile epithet was too vile for his detractors to use, yet most of them wrote only from 
hearsay, or merely embroidered one another's accounts, hardly one able to contain 
his gloating. 

Could an atheist have written Doctor Faustus? TW. Baldwin writes in On 
the Compositio/1al Genetics of The Comedy of Errors (p. 367): 

From Sha kspere's first pia)' to hi, last, God's prov iJence, a, the \Va y 0 f God to man, 
is upon occasion specillc.tll\' invoked .. .. Whether Shak~perc refers directly to the 
doctrine of GoJ's prOVidence or not, it was a fundamentJI, if not the fundamental, 
doctrine of the universe. 

Hardly the view of an atheist. And the reason why Shakespeare never experi­
enced the vilification suffered by Marlowe is that he was juS! a naille Oil some 
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poems and plays, he made no public statements, was not the subject of public 
controversy, and had no relations with the powers that be. He was not connected 
with the Essex cabal nor with the Ralegh circle. He was not even known as a 
writer among fellow writers, and his ndme is nowhere to be found in Henslowe's 
diary. 

Considering the opprobrium associated with Marlowe's name at the time, 
Thomas Walsingham and Blount must have thought it a good idea to use Shake­
speare's name wherever necessary. And apparently the actor-businessman ben­
efited financi ally from the scheme, for in 1597 he was able to purchase the second 
largest house in Stratford. 

Romeo and Juliet 

It is believed by most scholars that this universally celebrated love story was 
written in 1594 . But oddly enough, Shakespedre's name does not appear on any 
of the Quartos published before the appearance of the First Folio. Harold Bloom 
writes (p. 89) : '" Romeo alld Juliet' is unmatched, in Shakespeare and the world's 
literature, as a vision of an uncompromising mutual love that perishes of Its 
own idealism and intensity .... [T]he play is the largest and most persuasive cel­
ebration of romantic love in Western literature. " 

And the play has many Marlowe fingerprints . First, there is the mention­
ing of Dido and Hero, two important Marlowe heroines, bJ.Mercutio in his 
ruthless but witty panning of romantic love in Act 2, Scenel "Dido a dowdy, Lf-!
Cleopatra a gypsy, Helen and Hero hildings and harlots . Thisbe a grey eye or so 
but not to the purpose" (43-4 5). 

Then there is a reiteration of that constant theme in Marlowe of "love at 
first sight," which both Romeo and Juliet experience at a party given by her 
father. Romeo says: "Sight I For I ne'er saw true beaut y till this night" ( 1.5.54-55). 

Juliet 's experience is just as instant. 
As for the dueling scenes between the Capulets and Montagues in which 

Tybalt kills IVkrcutio and Romeo kills Tybalt, A. L. Rowse writes (p. 1605): 

Though a mockrn mind may rind the feud hetween the Montagues and Carulets 
adolescenl, it W,IS ulterl)' true of the age .... Marlowe's friend, the poet and musician 
Thomas Waban, came to Marluwe's aid in his affra~ with William Bradley and 

killed him. 

Another int eresting allusion to the authorship question is Juliet's remarks 
when she is told that Romeo is a Montague. She tells him: 

'Tis but thy name that is m y ene m y. 
Thou art th yse lf, though not a Montague. 
What 's Montaguei It is nor hand nor foo t 

Nor arm nor face, nor an y other pHt 
llel onging to ,1 man. Oh, be ,am, other name l 
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What's in a name) That which we call a rose 
By any other name woulJ smell as sweet. 
So Romeo would, were he not Romeo called , 
Retain that dear perfection Ivhich he owes 
Without that title. 

[2 2. 38-471 

Marlowe had no choice but to accept someone else's name on his works . The 
name did not change the fact that he had written them. 

Another painful experience Marlowe wrote of was his exile and banish­
ment, which Romeo also experiences when the Prince banishes him from Verona 
after the killing of Tybalt . On being told o f hi s banishment, Romeo exclaims: 

There is no world without Ve rona walls , 
Hut Purgator y, torture, Hell itself. 
I-Ience hanished is bdnisht·J from the wor ld, 
And Ivorld's exile is Jeath. 

13.3 17 - 201 

We also find a nother Marlowesq ue r"ked death and resurrection in the play 
when the Friar gives Juliet a drug that will put he r inlo a temporary death-like 
state that will continue for forty-two hours, after which she will awake "as fr om 
a pleasant sleep ." However, when Romeo is fal sely told that Juliet is actually 
dead, he buys a dram of poison from an apothecary "That will disperse itself 
through all the veins That the life -weary taker may fall dead ." When he finally 
enters the tomb and sees Juliet so bea utiful in death (her sleep was to last sev­
e ral hours longer), Romeo is read y to die : 

Eyes look your la st, 

Arms take your last embrace, and lips ( 0 you 

The doors of hreath) seal with a righteoll s kiss 

A datt'less bargain to engrossing Death l 


Come bitter conduct, come unsav'ry guide, 

Thou desp' rate pilot , now at once run on 

The dashing rocks thy seas ick weary bark. 

Here's to my love l 0 true apothecary, 

Thy drugs are quick. Thus with a ki ss I die . 


15.3 . 112-1201 

Marlowe was very knowledgeable of the use of poisons. We fInd them in The 
Jew of MalIn , Th e Mn ssacre C1I Poris, and Hnmler. 

The friar also reiter ates Marlowe's t'ver constant theme of "love at first 
sight" when he tells I~llmco, "Young men's love then lies Not truly in their hea rts 
but in Ihelr eye.," (2.3. 67-nX). 

As for the play's puhlication, an unauthoril.ed Quarto or the play was first 
published in 159 7, but Shakespeare's lwme dnes not appear on its title page , nor 
does it appear on the Quartu of 1599. It I.' believed thai a playhouse co py of the 
Quano was the one' used by the publisher of the first folio. [t d id not have 
Shakespeare's name on il. 13ut 1~luunt no doubt knew who h;]d written it. 

http:unauthoril.ed
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Richard II 

I<ichard II i.-; a historical drama right out of Holinshed. Like Marlowe's 
Edward II, this play is a story of the deposition of a king and his subsequent 
murder. While the murder of Edward II is dramatic and psychologically weird , 
the murder of R.ichard II is simpler but no less sickening. 

We know that Marlowe wrote Riclwrd!/ not only because it echoes Edward 
If, but also because of its exquisite poetry. There is also the theme of banish­
ment and exile. When Mowbury is sentenced to permanent exile by King 
R.ichard, he laments: 

A heavy sentence, my most sovereign liege, 

And all unlook'd for from your highness' mouth. 

A dearer merit, not so deep a maim 

As to be cast forth in the common air, 

Have [ deserved at your highness's hands. 

The language J have learnt these forty years, 

My native English, now I must forgo; ... 

Within my mouth you have enjail'd my tongue 

What IS thy sentence then but speechless death, 

Which robs my tongue from breathing native breath l . 


11.3. 154- l(iO, 166, 172-1731 

How much more eloquent could Marlowe have been about his own ago­
nies of exile' When Richard banishes Bullingbrooke from England for six years, 
the latter, as he goes into exile, remark s: 

Then, r.ngland 's ground, farewell; sweet soil, adieu, 

My mother, and my nurse, that bears me yet. 

Where ere [ wander, boast of this J can , 

Though banish'd, yet a trueborn Englishman. 


[1.3. 306-3091 

'This patriotic theme is grandly expressed by Gaunt in Act 2, Scene I, in a 
famous speech while on his deathbed. These were clearly Marlowe's thoughts 

about his beloved country: 

This other Eden, demiparadise, 
This fortress built by Nature for herself 
Against infection and the hand of war, 
This happy breed 01" men, this little world, 
This precious stone set in the silver sea .. 
This blessed plot, this earth, this realm, this England 

12..1. 42-46,501 

There is no doubt that Ivlarlowe had a deep love of his country and its magnif­
Icent language, which he mastered as no one had before him. 

In the play Bullingbrooke deposes King Richard. The scene in which the 
king is deposed WilS removed from the play while Elizabeth reigned. She accused 
the Earl or bst:X or having had the play performed tll set the stage for his own 
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A Midsummer Night's Dream 

From all that we know, this incredibly stunning play originated in the mind 
of the author. According to Willard Higley Durham, editor of the Yale edition 
of the play, "nothing has been found which may properly be called the 'source' 
of A Midsuml11er Night's Dreanl ." 

Harold Bloom writes (p. 148): "Nothing by Shakespeare before A Midsum­
mer Night's DreallJ is its equal, and in some respects nothing by him afterward 
surpasses it. [t is his first undoubted masterwork, without flaw, and one of his 
dozen or so plays of overwhelming originality and power." 

As we have speculated , the play, written about 1595, may have been based 
on Elizabeth's progress at Kenilworth, which we believe Marlowe witnessed as 
a page . [t was an extraordinary event which must have left an indelible impres­
sion on his young mind. The whole event was staged by the Earl of Leicester, 
Philip Sidney's uncle. In Act 2, Scene I, there is a reference to Queen Elizabeth, 
"a fair ves tal throned by the west" (58) . Editor Durham of the Yale Shakespeare 
comments in a note on page 83: 

It is fairly certain that tht' "fa ir vestal throned by the west" is Queen Eli/abeth. The 
imagery of the whole pa,sage was very likely suggested by the allegorical figures 
which appeared in the pageants and "triumphs" of the da y, and it is not impossible 
that there is a specific reference to the "Princely Ple as ures" with which the Earl of 
Leicester entertained QL1een Elizabeth at Kenilworth in 1575. 

The story takes place in ancient Athens where King Theseus and Hippolyta, 
Queen of the Amazons, will wed in four days when the new moon appears. The 
King tells his Master of Revels to "Stir up the Athenian youth to merriment, 
Awake the pert and nimble spirit of Mirth" (1.1. 12). 

A citizen by the name of Egeus comes before the King with his daughter 
Hermia and her two suitors, Lysander and Demetrius. Hermia is in love with 
Lysander, but her father wants her to marry Demetrius. The King proclaims that 
under Athenian law, she must obey her father and marry Demetrius or face death 
or a future life as a nun. The King gives Hermia four days in which to make up 
her mind. 

When Hermia and Lysander are alone, he tells her that he has J wealthy 
aunt who lives beyond Athens' jurisdiction and that they must secretly go there 
in order to marry. Tht'y plan to meet in the wood outside of town. Hermia 
speaks: 

My good I.ysa ndcr! 

I swear ((l thet' by Cupid's st rongest bOI" . 

And by th;lt lirt' which burn'd the Carthage queen, 

When thl' f3be Troyan under sdil was st'c n, 

l3y all the vows that ever rn~n have broke" 

In nunrber more than ever women spoke, 

In that ,arne place thou hast dppointed rne, 

To-nrorrow truly wrll I ,neet thee . 


[1.1. 168-16':1, 173 ·- llK ! 
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Note the reference to Dido, Queen of Carthage, .1nd the fact that the Initials of 
Ilermia and Lysander are the same as Hero Jnd Leander. 

The play has all of the elements of a great fairy tale, plus scenes of high com­
edy as a group of rustic amateurs rehearse a play to be performed in celebration 
of the marriage of the King and Hippolyta. Marlowe satiri7.es how plays are put 
on, how parts are assigned, and how some amateur actors try to play all of the 
roles. His portrayal of amateur theatrics reveals his understanding of human van­
ity which anyone will find in summer stock in our day. 

A subsidiary plot involves Oberon, King of the Fairies, and his Queen Tita­
nia, who has left Oberon because of his extramarital affairs. They quarrel over 
Titania's changeling boy, whom Oberon wants to be his page of honor. But Tita­
nia refuses to give him up. 

Puck, Oberon's chief fairy, produces much mischief by bringing the four 
Athenian lovers into total confusion over who loves whom with the use of magic 
herbs. He also uses the herb on Bottom, so that the rustic actor will acquire the 
head of an ass. And he manages to have Titania fall in love with him, which pro­
duces great hilarit y in the audience . 

If we believe that the author of this fantastic play was Christopher Mar­
lowe, then we can unde rs tand the depth of the poet's genius. The actor-busi­
nessman could have never conceived of nor written anything so profoundly 
original and philosophical. Also, in the speech in which Bottom reveals that he 
has had "a most rare vision," he parodies the Geneva Bible's rendering of 1st 
Corinthians 2:9-10 and the text of the Bishops' Bible: 

The eye of man hath not heard, the ear of man hath not seen, man's hand is not 
able 10 tast e, his longue to conceive, nor his hear t to report, whal my dream was. 
I will get Peter Quince to write a ballad of this dream : it shall be ca lled Bottom's 
Dream, because it hath no bottom; ... 

Marlowe, wh o had access to these Bibles at Corpus Christi, would have 
known how to make pleasan t use of these passages. Nor should we forget Puck's 
immortal line : "Lord, what fools these mortals bel" (3.2 .115). 

Concerning Bottom's Dream , Ron Rosenbaum writes in The Shakespeare 
Wars (p. 14 ): "There's much more to Bottom's Drea m than meets t he eye; it 
deserves deepe r consideration than its comic contex t suggests." Indeed , Shake­
spearean scholars have suggested that Bottom's Dream is really a veiled refer­

ence to "t he bottom of God's secrets." 
Equally philosophical are the remarks made by Theseus in Act 5, Scene I: 

l.overs ilnd madmen have such seething brains,. 

The lunatic, the lover, and the poet, 

A re of imagi nation all compact: 

One sees more devils than vas t Hell can hold , 

Thai is the madman; the lover, all as fr antic, 

Sees l!elen's be.1ut y in a brow of Egypt: 

The poel's C)' C, In a fIne frenzy rolling, 

Ooth glance froln heJ vc n to earth, I'rom earth to heaven ; 


http:satiri7.es
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And, as imagination bodies forth 
The forms of things unknown, the poet's pen 
Turns them to shapes, and gil'es to airy nothing 
A local habitation and a name. 

15.14-1 7 1 

No analyst of the imagination could come up with a better description of 
how the writer (an give shape dnd n<.lme to "forms of things unknown." And, 
of course , it was Marlowe, who understood the poet's creative power, speaking 
through the Athenian king. 

Although A MIC/S II III mer Night's Dream was listed by Meres in Palladis Tamia, 
it wasn't until 1600 that a Quarto was pub li shed with Shakespeare named as author. 

The Life and Death of King John 

King John has all of the hallm arks of a Marlowe play. It is believed to have 
been written around 1590. Harold Bloom writes (p. 58): 

There is something curiously antithetical about King John, with much in it that is 
Marlovian rant, yet much more that is very subtle and memorable. I associate this 
mystery of the play with the greatest mystery in Shakespeare, which is the miss ing 
first Hamiel .... The common mystery i~ the nature of Shakespeare's complex 
apprenti<.:es hip to Marlowe's example, the only inOuence relationship that ever 
troubled the greatest and ultimately the most original of all writers. 

A very peculiar statement, in asmuch as neither Marlowe nor Shakespeare ever 
knew or worked with one another. Since Shakespeare was not a writer, there was 
no appren ticeshi p. 

Typical of Marlowe, the play opens with the connict be tween King John of 
England and King Phtlip of fr ance clearly stated tn the ope ning lines. Philip 
demands that King John cede his sove reignt y to his young nephew, Arthur Plan­
tagenet , who, as the son of John's elder brother, is by rtght the lawful sovereign. 
Ki ng Joh n rejects t he demand: "Here we ha ve war for wa r, a nd blood for blood" 
(1.1. 19). 

Meanwhile, the two F,lUlconbridge brothers come before King John for a 
judgmt' nt about their tnheritance. Robert, the younger son of Sir Robert Faulcon­
bridge, aCCllses his older brother PhIlip of being a bastard and thereby ineligi­
ble for any inheritance. He claims that his father revealed a ll of this to him on 
his deathbed. But the Queen l'vlother notices Philip' s resemblance to her son 
Corde lion . She asks him whether he would rather be a Faulconbridge or the 
reputed son of Cordelion' Philip decides to cede his inheritance to his brother 
and accep t the status offered by King John who then knights him as Sir Richard 
and Plantagenet. The Queen is pleased and tells Richard, "I am thy grandam, 
Rich ard; call me so." Thereafter he is known as Bastard. 

Later, when Richard confronts his mother about his real father, she con­
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fesses that it was indeed Cordeleon who seduced her, Richard is overjoyed with 
this confirmation and tells his mother: 

Madam, I would not wish a better father"" 
With all my heart I thank thee for my father l 

[2,1. 260,2701 

Did the Countess of Pembroke ever tell her son William who his real father 
was? All we know is that the Sonnets were dedicated to W,H.- William Her­
bert - and perhaps that is why they were not included in the First Folio. 

In the course of battle, King John captures the young Arthur Plantagenet, 
who is claimed by his mother to be the rightful king, King John orders the boy 
to be put to death, and tells the executioners to prepare hot irons. 

The use of hot irons in this plan to murder Arthur makes us immediately 
think of the execution scene in Edward II, where a hot iron was used to kill 
Edward, Marlowe was extremely adept at creating gruesome murder scenes that 
riveted the audience in spine - tingling suspense, 

Marlowe also used a variety of characters in his plays through which he 
could express his own opinions, In King john, the Bastard fills that role . In a 
fa mous ran t, he sa ys: 

i'vlad world! Mad kings' Mad composition l 


John, to stop Arthur 's title to the whole, 

Hath willingly departed with a part, 

And France, whose armour conscience buckled on, 

Whom zeal and charity brought to the field 

As God's own soldier, rounded in the ear 

With that same purpose-changer , that sly devil, 

That broker, that still breaks the pate of faith, 

That daily break -vow, he that wins all ," 

That smooth-faced gentleman, tickling Commodity, 

Commodity, the bias of the world"" 

And why rail I on this Commodity? 

But for because he hath not woo'd me yet.. 

Well, whiles I am a beggar, I will rail 

And say there is no sin but to be rich; 

And being rich, my virtue then shall be 

To say there is no vice but beggary. 

Since kings break faith upon Commodity, 

Cdin, be m)' lord, for I will worship thee
 ' 

[2 , 1,501 - 59!; 1 

Commodity referred to the economic system in which royal favor played an 
important role in determining who became rich. Obviously, Marlowe had much 
to sav on the subject Jnd was abl e to do it through Bastard, who wa s an out­
sider like he, owned no land, and lived in ned[ poverty, While Marlowe was paid 
something by the St'Lrt't Service for his \'lurk as an intelligence agent, he had to 
keep writing plays in order 10 carn more money. The idea that the plays were 
wrinen as art-for-art's sake ignores the economic factor that motivated him. 
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When the Pope excommunicates King John, the king orders Bastard to re­
turn to England and plunder the Pope's monasteries and abbeys. Bastard replie s: 

13e ll , book, and CIndie shall not dr ive me back 
When gold Jnd silver becks me to come on. 

13.3.12- 131 

One of the most movi ng passages in the pla y is spoken by Arthur 's mo ther, 
Constance, who is overcome by grie f at the capture of her son: 

Gr ier fills the roo m Lip or my absen t child, 
Lies in hi s bed, wa lks up and down with me, 
Puts on hi s prett y looks, repeat s his words, 
Remem bers me or all hi s gracious parts, 
Sturrs out his vacant garmen ts with his rorm: 
Then I have reason to be rand or grier. ... 
o Lord' My boy, my Arthur, my rair son' 
My lire , my joy, my rood, my all the world' 
My widow-co mfort, and my so rrows'cure' 

13.4. 93-98, 103-1051 

There are few passages in al l of li lerature that express a mother's love and 
pain more eloquently than this one . If we believe that William Henr y, the Ea rl 
of Pembroke, was Marlowe 's son , then Wt.' can understand why the Son net s were 
dedica ted to him. 

The publica tion hist ory o f King JuiJn is of great Interest. The pla yas it 
appears in the First Folio is a rev ision of an earlier play written about 1589 and 
published anonymously in London in 15YI. This earlie r version was also pub­
li shed as late as 1622 in Quarto. Yet a revision was mad e for the First Folio. Who 
did the revision i Marlowe , no doubt. Evidence tha t Marlowe wrote the earlier 
vers ion is a passage spoken by Arthur's mother , Constance, lamen ting the loss 
of her chi ld . Heartb roken , she says: " Let Dido sigh, and say she weeps again to 
hear the wrack of Troy. " Another mention of Dido in anothe r First Folio play. 

But we are still stuck with the question of when the revised King John was 
written. Meres mentions the play in his Palladis Tal1lin of 1598. But there is no 
record of a performance between 1598 and 1642. So, which play was Meres re fe r­
ring to: the old play or the rev ised playi 

If the olel play were revised after 1616, then the reviser would have had to 
be Marlowe. That in itself wou ld be incontrovertible proof that Marlowe was 
alive at the time . 

The Merchant of Venice 

T he comparison between Th e iV/erc/wnl uf Ve nice and Marlowe's Th e few 
uf iV/olla is inesca pab le. In ALl 'I, Scene I, we find Shylock referring to i3arabas, 
saying: " I have a daughter; Would any of the stock of Barabas had been her 
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husband than a Christian '" (295-297). When Shylock's daughter runs off with 
Lorenzo, her Christian boyfriend, Shylock cries: 

My daughter' 0 my ducats' () my daughter' 
Fled with a Chri~tian' () my C:hristiJn due.lIs' 

12R 15- 16 1 

Which immediately reminds us of t3arabas in The Jew of Malta who exclaims: 

o my girl' 

My gold, my fortune, my [eliuty... 

o girl' 0 gold' 0 beaut y' 0 my bliss' 

12.1. 50-51, 57 1 

In Act 5, Scene I, we find Lorenzo referring to Dido. He says: 

In suc h a night 
Stood Dido with a willow in her hand 
Upon the wild sea-banks, and waft of her love 
To come aga in to Carthage. 

[5.1. 9-12 1 

As for the source of the play, William Lyon Phelps, editor of the Yal e edi­
tion of the play, writes (p. 106): 

The chief source is probably an Italian work, II Pecorone, written in 1378 by 
Giovanni Fiorentino, and published in 1565. No English translation of this is 
extant. .. II Pecorone is a collection of tales, and one of them has the story of a 
rich woman at Helmont, who is eventually married to a young gentleman, whose 
friend, in order to lend him money, had come within the danger of an avaricious 
Jew, who demanded as sur~ty a pound of Oesh. 

Since we have no indication that Shakespeare could read Italian, he could 
not have written this play. Marlowe had a facility for learning languages, and we 
can be sure that he could read It al ian , since we believe that he was in Italy and 
visited Venice as a page with Philip Sidney. 

A Quarto edition of the play was published in 1600, which is su bstantially 
the text used in the First Folio of 162 3. 

Much has been written by modern scholars and critics about the anti-Semi­
tism in the play. It is obvious that The Merchant of Venice was written as an 
entertainment with no cosmic or transcendental message concerning the rela­
tionships between Christians and Jews. While it is true that Jews were being per­
secuted in Europe, there were no Jews in England. Haraba.s and Shylock were 
colorful and somewhat exotic characters out of the Old Test ament. The Jews were 
no threat to the state, while Catholics and Protestant s were locked in a life-and­
death power struggle for control of kingdoms. 

The Huguenots in France were being far more ferociously persecuted by 
the Catholics than were the jews. The massacre at Paris attests to that. The Puri­
tans were forced to emigrate to the wilderness of North America because of the ir 
persecution by the established church. Bloody Mary had burned Protestants at 
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the stake during her reign. And Catholics were being watched and restrained in 
England by Walsingham and Lord 13urghley. So the attitude of Christians toward 
Jews during that period was simply a part of the general religious conflicts and 
prejudices of the time. Both Barabas and Shylock were stereotypical caricatures 
of Jews as villains. They made good theater. 

In any case, in all probability, both Barabas and Shylock were the product 
of one brain, Marlowe's. 

Henry IV; Part One 

[fyou believe that Nichard 1/ was written by Marlowe, then you must believe 
that Henry IV, Parts aile and Two, and Henry V were also written by Marlowe, 
for they are all one long story. For example, in the closing scene of Richard 1/, 
when Bullingbrooke ([ Icnry IV) has learned of Richard's murder by his man 
Exton, he IS overwhelmed by remose and vows: 

I'll make a voyage to Ihe Holy Land 

To wash this blood off my guilry hand. 


15.6. 49-50 I 

That theme is picked up in the first scene in Henry IV, Part One, where 
Henry IV is forced to put off hiS trip to the Holy Land because of a brewing 
rebel.lion. He says: 

It seems that the tidings of this broil 

Brake off our business for the Holy Land ... 

And for this cause a wh ile we must neglect 

Our holy purpose to Jerusalem. 


11.1. 47-48,101-102] 

Also, Bullingbrooke's concern for his wayward son Hal is revealed in Act 5, 
Scene 3 of Richard 1/, when he tells Percy: 

Can no man tell me of my unthrifty son l 

'Tis full three months since I did see him last. 

If any plague hang over us, 'tis he. 

I would to God, my lords, he might be found 

Inquire at London, 'mong,t the taverns there, 

tor there, they say, he daily doth Irequent, 

With unrestrained loose companions, 

Even such, Ihey say, as stand in narrow lane, 

I\nd beal our walch and rob our passengers, 

Which he', voung and I"anton ,lnd e-ffelllinate boy, 

Tdkes on the point of honor to support 

So dissolute a crew. 


15.3 1-121 

Of course, the "dissolute crew" included Sir John Falstaff, who had be-come 
the beloved friend of the Prince, all of whom we shall meet in flellry IV, Part 
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Ollf. FalstalT is one of the great original ch;H3cters of the author, about whom 
much has been written by critics and scholars. 1\:larlowe's genius was in his abil­
ity to create immortal characters that willlivc as long as civilization exists. 

It is obvious that the reason wh)' Marlowc brought the Falstaff-Hal rela­
tionship into the play is that it not only added much-needed humor but also 
provided wilty philosophical commentary in an historical drama that could 
have been extrcmely dull for a theater audience. Falstaffwas a free spirit in a so­
ciety regulated by the Monarchy, the Nobility, the Church, and the Universities, 
all very rigid institutions. Falstaff was the philosophical inconoclast who could 
dialogue with the Prince in normal street language. The audiences loved it. 

A.L. Rowse writes in The Annotated Shakespeare (p. 115): 

Falstaff is at the Antipodes from Hotspur: he is a coward, but he is certainly no 
fool. Take the point of honour, for which Hotspur would throwaway his life. On 
the battlelield Falstaff catechises the concept thus: 

Can honour set a leg] No. Or an arm] No. Or take away the grief of a wound] 
No. Honour hath no skill in surgery then] No. What is honour] A word. What is 
that word honour] Air. A trim reckoning l Who hath it] He that died a-Wednesday. 
Doth he feel it] No. Doth he hear it] No. 'Tis insensible then] Yes, to the dead . But 
will it not live with the living] No ... Therefore I'll none of it. Honour is a mere 
scutcheon .... 

[I is this kind of iconoclastic philosophizing that made Falstaff one of the 
playwright's most popular and beloved charactcrs. 

Much to the chagrin of the king, Hal is sowing his wild oats with the old 
reprobate Falstafr and his companions. Hal, the future Henry V, is not joyous 
like Falstaff. Even though he joins them in their pranks , he is quite detached from 
them, cool, controlled, and contemptuous. He is a political type like his father, 
which he reveals by telling the crew: 

I know you all. and will dwhile uphold 
The unyoked humour of your idleness .. 
If all the year were playing-holidays, 
To SpOrl would be as tediou s as to work; 
But when they seldom come, they wish'd for come, 
And nothing pleaseth but rare accidents. 
So when this loose behaviour I throw off 
And pay the debt I never promised, 
13y how much better than my word I am .. 
My reformation, glittering o'er my fault, 
shall show more goodly, and attract more eyes 
Than which hath no foil to set It otT. 

[1.2. 218-238 1 

When Hill is tin:!lly reconciled wilh his I'ather , he goes olf to Shrewsbury 
to light Hotspur and put down the rebellion. The Prince encounter, liotspur on 
the battlt·lield and kills him, Meanwhile, "iorthurnberland and the prelatl' Scroop 
have a rmed themselvL's 10 continuL' the rebellion, The King assigns his son John 
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to go after them, while he and Harry will go towards Wales to fight Glendower 
and Mortimer, the Earl of March. And on that note , the play ends. 

How do we know that Marlowe wrote the play? First, it was included in the 
First Folio by Edward Blount, who knew the true author of the plays. Second, 
it follows the same style as the earlier historical plays. There is a continuity of 
style from Henry VI, ParI One to Henry \I Also notable is that the embryo of 
Falstaff can be found in the cowardly character lohn Fastolfe in Act 3, Scene 2, 
of Henry VI, Parr One: 

Cup tel in . Whither JWJY, Si r John Fastolfc, in such haste? 
1-<15101/1' . Whither away; To save myst'lf by flight-

We Jre like to have the overthrow again. 
C(lptain. What? Will you tly, and leave Lord hlbot 1 

Fa,tol!e. Ay, all the Talbots in the world, to save my life. 
Captnin. Cowardly knight, ill fortune follow thee. 

13 .2. lU4-lOYj 

It is believed that Henry rv, Part One was written in 1597. A Quarto was 
published in 1598, and there is little difference between it and the text published 
in the First Folio. 

Henry IV, Part Two 

The play opens with the Earl of Northumberland being informed that his 
beloved son Hotspur has been killed in the battle of Shrewsbury. He vows revenge 
by joining with the Archbishop of York in an attempt to unseat King Henry, who 
is prompted to remark: "Uneasy lies the head that wears a crown" 0.1. 31). 

But the forces against the King realize that they cannot win and thus they 
accept the Earl of Westmoreland's offer of peace. They dismiss their forces, after 
which Westmoreland arrests them all for treason and has them executed. 

With all of the rebellions quashed , King Henry IV becomes ill. He is taken 
to his bed and falls asleep. Prince Henry enters the chamber alone. He sees that 
the king has placed his crown on the pillow beside him. He assumes that his sleep­
ing father is dead and puts the crown on his head, claiming this lineal honor. He 
then leaves the room. The king awakens and calls Warwick, Gloucester and 
Cldrence. "Where is the crown? Who took it from my pillow?" They find the 
Prince and bring him back to his father. What ensues is a wonderful and mov­
ing conversation between father and son. The King rebukes him for a ll the trou­
bles he has caused him over the years. The Prince kneels and explains why he 
put the crown on his head. King Henry, deeply moved, tells his son: 

Come hither, Harry, sit thou by my bed, 

And hear, Ithink, the very latc's t counsel 

Th;1l ever I ~hall breathe. God knows, my son, 

By what by-paths and indirect crook'd ways 

I met thi s crown, and I myself know well 

How troublesome it sat upon my head. 
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To thee it shall desccnd "'ith better quiet, 

Better opinion , beller confIrmation, 

For ,til the soil of the achievement goes 

With me into the earth .... 

How I came by the crown, 0 God forgive, 

And grant it may with thet' in true peace live' 


[4.5. 182-191,219-2201 

The King dies and Prince Harry becomes Henry V. All of the serious scenes 
are interspersed with the comic antics of Falstaff, Pistol, I3ardolf, Justice Shal­
low, Justice Silent, Mouldy, Shadow, Feeble, Wart and the ladies. When Falstaff 
is informed that Hal has become King, he is overjoyed and decides to go to Lon­
don with Shallow and Pistol to see their beloved Hal. They reach Westminster 
just as the Coronation has ended and the new King and his train are departing. 
When Falstaff set'S the King about to pass by, he exclaims: 

Cod save thv Crace , King 11al, my royal Hail 
p,;to/. The heavens thce guard and kcep, most royal imp offame' 
Falstaff God save thee, my 5Wl't't hoy' 
Killg Henry My Lord Chief Justice, speak to thai vain man. 
ChiefJllHi cf . Haye you no wits ' Know you what 'tis you speak) 
Falstaff My King l My Jove' 1 speak to thel' , my heart' 
King Henry. I know thee not, old man , Fall to thy prayers .. 

Reply not to me with a fool-born )eSI; 

Presume not that I am the thing I was; 

For God doth know, so shall the world perceive, 

That I have turn 'd away from my fo rmer self. 


[5,5.43-51, 59-621 

Thus ends the special relationship between Prince Hal and Falstaff. 
Did Marlowe leave any clues in this play? Pistol makes a direct reference 

to Marlowe's Tamburlairre II in Act 2, Scene 4, by paraphrasing Tamburlaine 
who has hitched the captive kings of Asia to pull his chariot. Pistol speaks: 

Shall pack-horses, 

And hollow pamper'd jades of Asia 

Which cannot go but Ihirty mile a day, 

Compare with Caesars and with Cannibals, 

And Troyant Greeks' 


[2. 4.177-181 1 

Tamburlaine's actua l lines are: 

Holia, vi> PJmpt'/ 'J jd,k, of /\sia' 

What , can ye draw but Iwenly milt:s a-day, 

And have SD proud ,1 chariol al ;"ur heels, 

Alld such J (oachman as greal Tdmburlaine ... 


[,13 H[ 

iVI.ulowt" s fingerprints arc found in tht' ve ry structure or the play in which 
he rn,lkes history live. But as In flcnry IV, Purt One, he provides common humor 
to entertain an audience who loved it. 
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II is believed thaI Henry IV, Purt Two was wrillen in 1599. It was performed 
In 1599 by the Chamberlain's Men and printed in a small Quarto in 1600. The 
Folio text is longer by 1700 lines, indicating that the author did the editing. R. 
j. Dorius, editor of the Yale edition writes: "The first Folio of 1623 offers us the 
only good text of the play. It is probabl y taken from a manuscrip t in Shake­
speare's hand .... " Since it is our strongly held opinion that Shakespeare was not 
a writer, the hand mllst have been Marlowe's, proving that he was alive in 1623. 

Henry V 

This is the last of the Henriad plays. It opens with a prologue urging the audi­
ence to use its lively imagination in bringing to reality what cannot be seen on the 
stage. But what can be viewed is a scene with some of Falstaff 's old crones. Falstaff's 
page ent ers and tells them that his master is very sick. Hostess Quickly remarks, 
"The king has kill'd his heart." She goes with the page to visit Falstaff. When she 
returns, she tells them: "Ah, poor heart l He is so shak'd of a burning quotidian tert­
ian that it is most lamentable to behold" (2. 1. 123-126). And so, Falstaff dies. 

This is a play about war and its justifications. As such, it is very modern. 
There is the famous scene in which King Henry in disgu ise wanders among hi s 
troops and to find out ifhis men bdieve in the soundness of the cause, whether 
or not it is worth dying ror the King. One orthe so ldiers comments: "But if the 
cause be not good, the king himselr hath a heavy reckoning to make when all 
those legs and arms and heads chopp'd orf in a battle shall join together at the 
latter day and cry all 'We died at such a place.'" 

Was this not the same debate that took place during the war in Vietnam , 
when many American s began to question whether or not the cause was worth 
dying for? L13}, the American King , sa id it was. Nevertheless, the publi c decided 
against the war and we left Vietnam in defeat. And the war in Iraq has posed 
the same questions. 

But King Henry returns from France a conquering hero. The great victory 
at Agincourt was won on SI. Crispin's da y. Who was 5t. Crispin? He was Patron 
Saint of cobblers, the Saint who protected and blessed Marlowe's father, the 
cobbler. 

In Act 5, the Chorus informs us that King Henry has returned to England 
where the people of London welcomed him back as their conquering Caesar. The 
Chorus t hen adds: 

As, by a lower but loving likelihood, 
Were now the general or our gracious empress, 
As in good time he may, rrom Ireland coming, 
Bringing rebellion broached on his sword, 
How many would the peaceful city quil 
To weicorn .:: him' Much mor.::, Jnd much mllre Ca lI Sl', 

I),d they Ihi , IlJrry. 
[5. 29-3:' I 
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R. J. Dorius, editor of the Yale euition of the play, comments (p. 157): 

Lines 29-34 in the Prolugue to Act V compare the gJoriou~ return frum France 
of EnglJnd's ''conqu'ring Caesar," King Henry, with that of "the general of uur 
gracious empress" from Irel and, "13ringing rebcilion broached on bis ~wurd." This 
genera l has long been identiflL'd ,,,ith Essex, who left Engl;md tu establish fnmly 
England's supremacy ')V('f IreIand In Much 15<)':1 dnd returned in disgrace the 
foilowing September. Since public expectation concnning this venture began to 

,vane by Jun e of that year, Shakespeare', high-spirited parallel must have been 
penned by mid summt' r. 

Since we believe that Marlowe wrote the play, we may ask why did he 
insert this matter about Essex? Probably because it was rumored that Essex 
had failed in hi s mission to destroy the Irish rebellion. Indeed, when he re­
turned from Ireland, he launched his own rebellion against the Queen . Marlowe 
knew that it was Essex and the l3acon brothers who were behind the attempt 
to destroy him as their means of undermining the positions of Robert Cecil 
and Sir Walter Raleigh. Hut Marlowe and his confederates had managed to 
outwit Essex. In the end, it would be Essex who would face the executioner 's 
block. 

The play also has the most charming courtship scene in all of English lit­
erature between King Henry and the French Princess Katherine. It required the 
author to have a fluent knowledge of French, which Marlowe had. 

The more one reviews the plays in the First Folio the more obvious it 
becomes that Marlowe was alive when the project was planned and carried out. 
Only he could have done the editing that was needed. In the case of Henry V. 
extensive editing took place. Henry Norman Hudson writes in the New Hud­
son Shakespeare edition o f the play (p. xviii-xx); 

The tex t of King Henry the Fifth in the QUHtos is kss than half the length of the 
present accepted text, which i ~ mainl y that of Ihe fir st foliu .... In the Quartos, 
as the reproductions of the litk-pages in Ihis <,dition show, Ihe author 's name 
is nuwhere given, ... the live Chorus-prologues, thc whole of the fnst scene, the 
first scene of the third act, the second scene ,)f the fourth act, and rnany other 
pa!isages, Ihose 100 among Ihe best in th(' iJlay, Jnd even ill the whole compass of 
ShakesiJeJre's wurks, being wanling aitogcthn. ;\llihese , besides more Or less of 
~ nlargernent in a great man v places, logL,ther with the mark s of a cMcfullinishing 
hand running thruugh the whole, were supplied in the First Folio . 

Whose "careful finishing hand" ran through the whok of the play to pro­
duce the text in the First Folio? The last of the three Quartos was published 
in 1608. (The Quartos had 1623 lines, the First Folio text 3227 lines,) There 
would have been no reason to completely redo the play before 1623. It was only 
the occasion of the publication of the First Folio, the only authori zed edition 
of all the plays, that warranted that careful finishing hand to produce the final 
~inish eu tex t. And the additi onal 1604 lines could have only bee n written by 
Marlowe. 
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Julius Caesar 

Marlowe's handiwork is found in the very first scene of the play, where a 

grou p of com moners ha ve gathered to see Caesar as he retu rns to Rome. Among 

them is a cobbler. And when the Roman Tribunes, Marius and Flavius, try to 

disperse the crowd, one of them asks: "You, sir, what trade are you?" 

Cubbler. Truly, sir, in respect of a fine workman, 
I am but, as you would say, a cobbler. 


Marills. [lut what trade art thou l Answer me directly. 

Cobbler. A trade, sir, that, I hope, I may use with a safe conscience; 


Which is, indeed, a mender of bad so les. 

Marills. What trade , thou knave l Thou naughty knave, what trade l 


Cobbler. Nay, I beseech you, sir, be not out with me: 

Yet, if you be out, sir, I can mend you. 


Marius . What mean 'st thou by thJt? Mend me, thou sauc), fellow' 

Cubbler. vVhy, sir, cobble yo u. 

Flavius. Thou art a cobbler, art thou? 

Cobbler. Truly, SIr, all that I live by is with the awl: 


I meddle with no tradesman's matters, nor women's matters, but with awl. 

I am , indeed, sir, a surgeon to old shoes; when they are in great danger, 

I recover them. As proper men as ever trod upon neat 's leather have gone upon 


my handiwork . 
Flavius. But wherefore art not in thy shop to-day? 

Why dost thou lead these men about the streets? 
Cobbler. Truly, sir, to wea r out their "hoes, to get myself into more work. 

But, indeed, sir, we make holiday to see Caesar and to rejoice in his triumph. 
11.1. 1O-36J 

Marlowe's father, as we know, was a cobbler, and this was his son's way of 

honoring this common but intelligent man who had his own philosophy of life 

drawn from his craft as a " mender of soles," As a child, Marlowe must have 

watched his father "perform s urgery" on shoes that badly needed repair. 

If there is any humor in this play it is in this opening scene where the cob­

bler talks about his craft, Otherwise, the play advances from conspiracy to assas­

sination to revenge. Many of its famous phrases and lines, read by thousands of 

high-schoolcrs, have become part of everyday speech: 

The Ides of March . 


Yond Cassius ha" a It'dn Jnd hungr y look. 


Thl' fault, dear Ihutus, is not in our "tars 

Ilut in oursc'lvt'.), thai IVt' Jr~ unJnling,. 


It was Cret'k to Ine. 


Et Tu, Brute' 


Friends, Romans, countrymen, lenJ Illt' your ears, 

I (orne to bury CJesar, not tlJ praise him. 
Tht' evil that mcn do livt's Jfter them, 
The good is oft interned with their bonl's; 
So let it be with CJes~r. 
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There is a tide in the affair, of men, 

Which taken at thc' !luod, leads on to fortune. 


This was the most unkindest cut of all. 


The source of the play is Plutarch's Lives, As for its publishing history, the 
earliest extant version of J~11i1l5 Caesar is the one round in the First Folio, In 
other words, there was no Quarto with the author's name on it. As for when it 
was written, we know that it was staged in 1599 , since a German traveler wit­
nessed a performance of the play on September 1st of that year. 

The question is: how did Edward Blount get hold of the original manu­
script Who had it all of those years, Was the version in the First Folio that same 

' 
version staged in 1599? Was the character of the cobbler in the version of 1599 

or added in 1623? Hopefully, we shall be able to answer these questions some 
day, 

As for the quality of the play, Lawrence Mason, editor of the Yale edition, 
writes: 

To this famou s and splendid monument of Elizabethan prose [Thomas North's 
translation of Plutarch I Shakespeare owes the whole action or plot of the play, 
separate incidents, many personal detail s of characterization, some few errors in 
fact, and occasional verbal suggestions: but his supreme skill in selecting, reject ­
ing, combining, and arranging historical material has rarely been shown to better 
advantage than in his handling of the three 'l.ives' on which he drew ~ those, 
namely, of Caesar , Brutus, and Antony. 

Much Ado About Nothing 

This is one of the playwright's romantic comedies, a light entertainment, 
set in Italy, in which he nevertheless manages to create two memorable charac­
ters, Beatrice and I3enedick, as he deals with the vicissitudes of love, There is 
also the love interest between Leonato's daughter Hero and Claudio, Benedick's 
comrade in arms - a case of love at first sight. But Don Pedro, the villain of the 
play, tells Claudio that Hero has been unfaithful to him, and so, Claudio de­
nounces her at their wedding ceremony and storms out. Hero is devastated, She 
protests her innocence, faints and is believed dead. The Friar, convinced that a 
terrible error has bee n made, speaks to Leonato: 

Your daught er here the princes left for dead; 

Let her awhile be secretly kept in, 

And publish it that she is dead indeed ; 

Maintain a mourning ostentation; 

And on your family' s old monument 

Hang mournful epitaphs and do all rites 

That appc' rtain UlltO J bUrial. 


14.1. 2U4 - 2101 

1.t' 011 ,1tO asks, "What will this do'" 
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Friar. /vIarry, this well carried shall on her behalf 
Change slander to remorse .... 
Come lady, die 10 live: Ihis wedding day 
Perhaps is bul prolong'd: have palience and endure. 

1212-213,255-2561 

The Friar persuades Hero to "die to live." Was not this the rationale also 
used at J)eptford? Marlowe made good use of a faked death and resurrection 
plot in several other plays: ROllleo and Juliet, The Winte,s Tale, All's Well that 
Ends Well, and Pencles. 

lvlarlowe's fingerprints arc allover the play. A. L. 1{owse writes in The Anno­
tated Shakespeare (p. 390): 

II is arresling Ihat Shakt'speare should have chosen the name Hero for his hero­
ine .. .. [Pllenly of other names were available, bUI Hero and Leander (whose name 
also occurs) was ready to hand. 

Besides inserting the names Hero and Leander in the play, (Act 5, Scene 2: 
"Leander the good swimmer."), the faked death also reminds uS of Marlowe's 
predicament. Claudio's epitaph is more in keeping with Marlowe's fate than 
Hero's: 

Done to death by slanderous tongues 

Was the Hero that here lies. 

Death, in guerdon of her wrongs, 

Gives her fame which never dies. 

So Ihe life that died with shame 

Lives in death wilh glorious fame. 


15.3.3-8) 

Also, the remarkable dialogues and conversations between Beatrice and Benedick 
are h<llimarks of Marlowe 's ability to create humor as well as tension between 
sympathetic characters. Marlowe's u nCJn ny abil it y to enter the minds of women 
is well demonstrated in this play. 

Another Marlowe fingerprint is a line from Thomas Kyd's Spanish Tragedy: 
"In time the savage bull doth bear the yoke," which J)on Pedro says to Benedick 
in Act I, Scene I. Marlowe h<l(\ shared rooms with Kyd, which led to the latter's 
arrest and torture by Whltgift's inquiSition. Kyd died a year later. This m<ly have 
been Marlowe's way of paying tribute to his dead friend. 

VVhen Benedick is <Isked to write a sonnet, he complains about the diffi­
culty of finding tht' right rimes, which Marlowe must have struggled with : 

J can find out no rime to "I;ldy" bUI "baby," an innocenl rime; for ",corn," "horn," 
a hard rime; for "school," "fool," a babbling rime; very ominous endings; no, I was 
not born under a riming planel .... 

As for the sources of the play, Yale editor Tucker Brooke writes (p. 124): 

No source other than the poel's own invention has been discovered for those pHIS 
of the play which give it its p~rticular charm and interest - the siory of I:lt:nedick 
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and Beatrice Jnd the delectable folly of Dogberry.. The author turned to books for 
his material only in the case of Hero Jnd Claudio. 

It is believed that the author took that story from a tale in the writings of 
Italian story-teller Matteo Bandello (1480-1561), published in Lucca in 1554. In 
that story Hero is called Fenicia Lionata. According to Brooke, "No English 
translation of Bandello's tale is known to have existed in Shakespeare's lifetime, 
but a free French version by Francois de Belle-Forest was published in 1582." 

The characters of Dogberry, Verges, the Sexton and their roles in the plot 
were original with the author, who, having lived among commoners and expe­
rienced run-ins with the law, understood their obtuse mentality. It is also pos­
sible that Marlowe had access to a letter that Lord Burghley wrote to Sir Francis 
Walsingham describing the ignorance and stupidity of constables and watchmen. 
The Yale edition reprinted the letter in its entirety. As for publication history, 
Brooke tells us (p. 1211): 

On August 23,1600, this play WdS licemed for publication along \vith the second 
part of Henry IV, and it appeared In the same year in the only early quarto edition. 
This version was l'videntally followed by the (verSlOnl in the t623 Folio, and the 
two texl> exhibit only trivial differences. 

As You Like It 

This is another of the playwright's exquisite entertainments, full of wit 
and wisdom, with some of his best lines, plus a female character, Rosiland, 
who is considered one of the best loved and admired in all of the author's work. 
The play is full of mistaken identities, confusing love affairs, cross-dressing, 
exile and banishment, philosophy about life, themes reflecting Marlowe's own 
predicament. 

It begins with a strong conflict stated in the opening lines by Orlando, 
youngest son of the late Sir Rowland de Boys, who complains of having been 
mistreated by his older brother, Oliver. Orlando complains to Adam, the loy,d 
family servant: 

My brother Jacques he keep, at school, and report speaks goldenly of hi, profit. 
For my part, hl' kceps ille rustically at home, or -tn speak more properly - stays 
me here at home unkt'pt, for call you that keeping of a gentleman of my birth that 
differs nol from the stalling nfan ox) Ilis horses are bred better. ... This is it, Adam, 
that grieves me and the ~pirit of my fdther, whi~h I think is wilhln me, begins to 
mUliny against thi~ servitude'. I will no longer endure ii, though yet [know no wise 
remedy how to avoid it. 

Orlando then confronts his brother and demands that he be given what was 
allotted to him by his father so that he CJn go out on his own and seek his for­
tune. Oliver agrees, but then tries to deprive hiS )'oullger brother of the money 
due him. lie calls in Charles, the wrestler, and dsks what is the news at court. 
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The ~vrestler reports that the old Duke has been banished by his younger brother, 
the new Duke, and that seve ral lords have gone Into exile with the old Duke . 
The Duke's daughter, Rosiland , has stayed behintl to be With Celia, the ne~v 
Duke's daughter. They ~vere broughtllp together and are inseparable. Meanwhile, 
the old Duke and hi s followers have settled in the Forest of Arden where they 
lead a bucolic existence. 

Charles, the wrestler, the n tells Oliver that Orlando has challenged him in 
the next day's wrestling match. Oliver tells Charles that his brother is "a secret 
an d villainous contriver against me .. .. Therefore use thy discretion." 

Ro siland and Ce lia attend the wrestling match. They engage in conversa­
tion with Orlando, who is smitten by " heavenly Rosiland." He wins the match , 
thus thwarting his brother 's plan to disinherit him. 

Meanwhile , the Duke informs Celia that Rosil a nd must leave. The two 
women decide to seek Rosiland 's father in the Forest of Arden. In order to pro ­
tect themselves , Rosiland decides to dress as a man and Celia will wear "mean 
attire" and smirch her face with a kind ofumber. On departing , Ce lia says, "Now 
we go in content to liberty, and not to banishment." 

Scene Two takes us to the Forest of Arden where the Senior Duke and sev­
eral other Lords are enjoying their life . 

Dlike Sen io r. Now, my co-mates and brothers in exile, 
Hath not old eu,tom m~dt' lhi, life more sweet 
Than that of painted pomp? ArC' not thC'se woods 
Mor~ free from pnil than the envi oLl !'> COLirt l ... 

And this our life, C'xempt from public haunt, 
Finds tongues in trces, books in the running broo ks , 
Se rmons in stonl'S, and good in t'vC' rything ... 
Come, shall ,ve go and kill liS ve nison' 

But one among the m, lacques (not the brother earlier named), is again st 
hunting and killing these animals in thei r native dwelling place. Apparently, even 
back in the sixteenth century there were those who opposed the hunt on human­
itarian principles. Was Jacques Marlowe's philoso phical mouthpiece l When the 
Duke remarks to Jacques that "This wide and universa l thea ter Present s more 
woeful pageant s than the scene wherein we play in," Jacques replies : 

All the world's a stage, 

A nd all th C' men and women merely players. 

They have their exits and their entrances , 

And one man in hi s time pla ys many part ;, 

Hi s ~cts being seven ages. At first tht' infant, 

lVlewling and puking in Ihe nurse', arms, 

Then the whining sc hoolbo), with hi , "lichel 

And shining morning fact', crC'eping like ~ sna d 

Unwillinglv to "hool. And then thl' lover, 

Sigh ing like I'urnall', wil h a w()l'fllll)~lIdd 


iVlad e to hi s mistrcs; l'Vl,bro\\,. Thl'n CI suldin, 

1'1I1i of str.tngc oaths dllli be' Clrcle'd likl' Ihe pard, 
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Jealous in honor, ~uddcn and qui ck in quarrel, 
Seeking the bubble Hepllt~tion 
E'en in the cannon's mouth. And then the Justicc, 
In hir round belly with good capon lin'd, 
With eyes s<'vere and beard of formal ( ut, 
Full of wise S.IIV' alld ll1l)dern in,tances; 
And so he pl;IYs his pH!' The sixt agc shifb 
fnto the lean and slipper 'd pantaloon, 
With spectacles un nose and pouch on side; 
His youthful hose well sav'd , a world too wide 
For his shrunk shank, and his big manly voice, 
Turning again toward childish treb le, pipes 
And whistles in his sound , Last scene of all, 
That end s this strange eventful history, 
Is sewnd childishness and mere oblivion-
Sans teeth , sans eyes, sans taste , sans everything. 

It is hard to imagine that such a brilliant and poetic philosophical summing up 
of life could have been written by the actor-businessman Shakespea re , 

We also find in Act 3, Scene 3, several Marlowe clues, A new character is 
introduced. Her name is Audrey, the same name as Sir Thomas Walsingham's 
wife. Touchstone tell s her: " I am here with thee and thy goats as the most 
capricious poet, honest Ovid, was among the Goths," Ovid, as we know, was 
Marlowe's beloved poet. He goes on to say: "When a man's verses cannot be 
understood, nor a man's good wit seconded with the forward child, it strikes a 
man more dead than a great reckoning in a little room." 

Obviously, Marlowe had read the coroner's report on his "death" at Dept­
ford. S. C. !.lurchell, editor of the Yale edition of the play, writes in his notes 
(p, 112) : 

Many editors have seen in this line a reference to i'vIHlowe', death on M~y 30, 1593, 
in a qUMrel over a tavern bdl. linding in addition an echo of hi s line in the Jew of 
Malra: "i nfinite riches in a little room." 

Si nce ed itors asslime that Shakespeare wrote the play, they must also assume 
that he had access to the coroner's report, which gave the details of what took 
place in that little room in Deptford. !.lut that is highly unlikely since Ivlarlowe's 
"death" was the subject of rumor, misinformation, disinformation, and outright 
fal se hoods, Marlowe , through Lord J3urghley or his son, no doubt read the coro­
ner's report, which was not made public. 

Another Marlowe fingerprint. When Touchstone tells Audrey that he will 
marry her, he says, "To that end I have been with Sir Oliver Martext , the vicar 
of the next village, who hath promis'd to meet me in this place of the forest and 
to couple us ," Is not the name Martext shorthand for Marlowe's text' 

When Silvius and Phebt: are having a lovers quarrel, Rosiland steps In 
bt:tween them , She chides Phebe for being cruel to Silvius (Act 3, Scent: 5): 

Must yew bl' therefore proud and pitilt'ss ' 
Wh y, whJt means this' Wh y do you look on rne' 
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I see no more in you than in the ordlllJr y 
Of Nature's sale-work . 'OJs my little life, 
I think she means (() tangle my eyes too. 
No, faith, proud mistress, hope not aft er it; 
'Tis not your ink y brows, your black silk hair , 
Your bugle eyeballs, nor your cheek of cream 
That can entame my spirits to your worship. 
You foolish shepherd, wherefore do you follow her 
Like foggy south, puffing with wind and rain) 
You are a thousand times a properer man 
Than she a woman . 'Tis such fools as you 
That makes the world full of ill-favor 'd children . 
'Tis not her gl:lss but vou th,lI tlattas her, 
And out of vou shl' secs herself more proper 
Th ~ Jl any nfhn lineament, (an .show her. 

Was Marlowe really talking about William Pembroke and Mary Fitton, the 
Dark Lady of the Sonnet s) Pembrok e's liaison with the Dark Lady led to a preg­
nancy that ended in a stillborn. Rosiland also makes an eloquent reference to 
Leander, when she tells Orlando (Act 4, Scene 1): 

Leander, he would have Iiv 'J man y J fair year though Hero had turn 'd nun, if it had 
not been for a hot midsummer night; for , good youth, he went but fo rth to wash 
him in the Hellespont , and be ing taken with the cramp, was drown'd. 

As we have noted, Marlowe often uses a character in his plays as his own 
philosophical mouthpiece. In this play it is the character Jacques who gives a 
short dissertation on melancholy in Act 4, Scene 1. 

As You Like It was not printed in any Quarto before its publication in the 
First Folio. In other words, if the play had not been given to or found by Ed 
Blount, it would have been lost to posterity. With so many Marlowe clues in the 
play, it is quite possible that Blount got the text from Marlowe himself. But what 
is known is that the play was entered on the Stationers' Regi ster as a book to be 
stayed on Augu st 4 of an unspecifi ed year. 

Most scholars have recogni zed the overt references to Marlowe in the play. 
But since they believe that it was written by Shakespeare, they see no unusual 
significance in this. However, to this writer, these references leave no doubt that 
Marlowe was the author, since a pla y of this complexit)" with its many charac­
ters, could have only be\:11 written by him . The fact that Ed Blount included it 
in the first Folio indicates that It was ivlarlowe's. 

The Merry Wives of Windsor 

This is J comical farce in which Falstal'f, the old reprobate, is the central 
11gure , with some characters from previous pla ys- Mi stress Quickly, Justice Shal­
low, Baroolph , Nym and Pistol-- taking part. Falstaffbecomes the butt of a series 
of humiliating jokes as he tries to per~uade two loyal and respectable Windsor 
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wives to commit adultery with him. Much of the play's humor relies on puns 
and the misuses of language. 

One of the most a musing scenes is in Act 4, Scene I, where Mrs. Page, accom­
panied by Mistress Quickly, is taking her son William to school. They meet Sir Hugh 
Evans, a Welsh parson, who questions the boy on the nitty-gritty of grammar. The 
result is one of the most hilarious dialogues in Elizabethan literature. There can 
be no doubt that Marlowe, with his experiences as J schoolboy, wrote it. 

As expected, the play also has its Marlowe clues. In Act I, Scene I, Pistol 
says, "How now, Mephistophilus!" Editor George Van Santvoord writes in his 
notes for the Yale edition (p. 110): "Mephistophilus. The evil spirit attendant 
upon the hero in Marlowe's tragedy, Doclor FClIIstus." And in Act 4, Scene 5, Bar­
dolph talks of the cozeners "like three German devils, three Doctor Faustuses." 
Concerning lines 17-26 in Act 3, Scene I, the Yale editor writes (p . liS): "Stan­
zas from a popular song by Christopher Marlowe . In line 24 Sir Hugh substi­
tutes for one of Marlowe's lines a line from a metrical version of Psalm 137." 

We know that the Countess of Pembroke was writing a metrical version of 
the Book of Psalms . Did that line come from her work? 

In Act I, Scene 3, Falstaff refers to one of the wives he hopes to seduce as, 
"a region in Guiana, all gold and bounty." Santvoord writes in his notes (p. 112): 
"Guiana . In 1596 Sir Walter Raleigh returned from an expedition to South Amer­
ica and published a book entitled 'The Discoverie of the Large, Rich, and 13ewti­
ful Empyre of Guiana, with a relation of the great and golden Citie of Manoa, 
which the Spaniards call El Dorado.'" 

We know that Marlowe was part of that Raleigh circle and no doubt 
remained interested in Raleigh's adventures. 

The Merry Wives oJ Windsor was largely of the playwright's own invention. 
It is the only one of his plays which deals exclusively with English country soci­
ety. It was entered in the Stationers' Register on January 18, 1602 and performed 
a number of times before the Queen who, delighted with Falstaff, is said to have 
requested the author to write a play about Falstaff in love. We wonder who it 
was who conveyed Elizabeth's wishes to Marlowe . 

Hamlet 

Hamlet is no doubt the most famous play ever written. It has no equal any­
where because of its literary excellence, its unforgettable characters, and its 
intense human conflicts. It could have only been written by a superlative poetic 
genius . Every emotion in the play points to Marlowe, whose obvious sufferings 
gave Hamlet's lines the power they have. V.,Ie shall find many Marlowe clues in 
this masterpiece. 

In Act I, Scene 2, the King tries to persuade Ildmlet Ilot to return to tht: 
university at 'vVittenberg. That , Df course, i ... tht' SJme university Doctor Faus­
tu, <lttl'ndecl. IIGmict thell thinks of ~uicid~ III dll eioqu l' nt soliloquy: 
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o that thi s too too sulli ed flesh woulJ melt, 

Thaw, and resolve itself into a Jew. 

Or that the Everlasting had not fixeJ 

His canon 'gain st self-slaughte r. () Cod, God, 

How weary, stale, flat , and unprofitable 

Seem to me all the uses of this worlJ' 


We wondn how oft en Marlowe himself thought of suicide, living in his perpet­
ual exile. 

We discover another interest ing Marlowe clue when the ghost describes to 
Ha mlet how his uncle murdered him by pour ing the "juice of cursed hebona" 
in his ear while he napped. That is the very same poison Barabas used in The 
Jew of Malta to kill h is own da ugh tef. 

[n Act 2, Scene 1, we fllld Polonius conferring with his man Reynaldo 
whom he is sending to Paris to spy on his so n Laertes. Did Marlowe model Polo­
nius on Lord Burghley, his boss in the Secret Service' Polonius's in structions 

to Reynaldo may be one of the techniques that Marlowe was taught by hi s 
me ntor on how to elicit information about a particular person in this indirect 
manner. 

We have already related how Marlowe inse rted a huge chunk from Dido in 

Act 2, Scene 2, of the play. He also has Hamlet echo a passage spoken by Tam­

burlaine in Act 2, Scene 5 in Tamburlaine I: 

Nature, that fram'd us of four elements, 

Doth teach LIS all to have aspiring mind s; 

Our souls, whose faculties can comprehend 

The wondrous architecture of the world, 

An d measure every wandering planet's co urse, 

Still climbing after knowled ge inr,nite 

And always moving as the rest less sp heres. 


Hamlet says in Act 2, Scene 2 , in conversation with Ro senkranz and Guil­

denstern: 

What a piece of work is a mim' Hllw noble in rcason! How inrlnite in faculty' In 
form an d moving how express and Jdmirable' In action like an angel! In apprehen­
sion how like a god' 

As for the origin of the play, Willi a m f arnam writes in the Pelican edition ( p. 20): 

A not very revelator y passage in Thoma, Nashe's epi, tle to Hobert Greene's 
Mellnpholl conta ins a refe rence to "whole Hamlets, 1 should say handfuls, of 
tragicall speeches" as being lifled from St'neca, which indic ates that a Ha mie l wa s 
on the stage by 1589 , the dat e or l"'lenl/pil on, and that it was a Se necan traged y. 
Some even more tantali zi ng words o f Nashe's in the sa me passage have led man)' 
to believe that Thomas K)'d, the authur of the .'ipalli;h hagcdy, wrote thi s old 
Hamiel. A performance of it is reco rded for 1594 and a glimpse of a part of its 
action comes in 1596 in Thomas Lodge's Wit; /v/i ;erie with a desc ription of a 
countenance "pak as th e' Visard of yc ghost which cried so miserally at )'e Theator 
like an oiste r wife, HamIel revenge." 
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Note that Marlowe knew both Thomas Nashe and Thomas Kyd. Thomas 
Lodge (1558-J625) was Marlowe's contemporary. His novel, Ro)(/Iynde (1590), 
was a source for tht' plot of As Yorl Like It. 

The version of the play wt' presently have is bdieved to have been written 
in 1601, bast'd on Francois de Belleforest's The History of Hamblet. The latter's 
source of the story is the twelfth century Historio DaniCCl ofSaxo Grammaticus. 
A bad quarto was published in 1603, which was followed by the publication of 
an authentic copy of the play in 1604-05. The 1623 Folio vt'rsion is believed to 
have come from the theater company's prompt book, but there is no absolute 
verification of this. 

As we have alrt'ady noted, Hamlet is full of Marlowe's clues: the extensive 
reference to lJido, Qlleen ofeC/rlllage; the relationship between r\llarlowe as Ham­
let and Lord Burghley as Polonius; Polonius's lessons on spying; Hamlet's inten­
sive interest in the theater, giving speech lessons to the players; the reference to 
university performances of plays; Polonius's advice to Laertes, very much like 
l3urghley's Jdvice to his own son; the reference to Wittenberg; the soliloquys 
that reflect Marlowt''s state of mind as he lives in perpetual exile and no doubt 
contemplated suicide. Also, as in his other plays, Marlowe maintains a very high 
level of emotional tension and physical conflict. 

Undoubtedly, the most famous soliloquy in all of world literature is Ham­
let's extended thoughts on suicide in Act 3. Scene I: 

To be or not to bc' - that is the que:;tion: 
Whether 'ti:; nobler in the mind to suffer 
The slings and arrows of outrageous fortune 
Or to take arms against a sea of troubles 
And by opposing end them. To die, to :;Ieep­
No more - and by sleep to say we end 
The heartache, and the thousand natural shock> 
That Ilesh is heir tu. 'Ti:; a consummation 
Devoutly to be wished. Tu die. to sleep-
To sleep- perchance to dream: ay, there's the rub, 
for ill that ,leqJ of death what dreams m~y come 
When we have shuffled off this mortal (oil, 
Mu:;t give us pdu:;e . There', the re,pcct 
That makes calamit), of su long life. 
For who would be,1[ the whips Jnd scorns of time, 
Th' oppressor', wrong, the proud man's contumely 
The pang' of <kspiscJ love, Ih" I"", ', Jclay, 
The insolence' of o fIi(.: , and the' spurn:; 
That patit'nt merit uf th' unworthy takes , 
When he himself might his quietus make 
With a bare bodkin) Who wuuld fardels bear, 
To grunt and SW~Jt under a weary life, 
Uut that tht' dre'ad of something ,lfter death, 
The undiscOI'l'red countr y, fn)111 ",hOSt' bourll 
No trave'lier returm, puzzles the will, 
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And make, us rather bear thuse ills we have 
Than fly tu others Ih3t we know not oP 
Thus conscience does make cowards of us all , 
And Ihus the native hue uf resolut ion 
Is sicklied u'er with Ihe pale cas t of thought, 
And c:nlerprises uf great pitch and moment 
With this regard their currents turn awry 
And luse the name of action. 

Obviously, it is easier to relate the circumstances of Marlowe's life to Ham­
let's internal agonies than to the life of Shakespeare. When Hamlet speaks of 
"o utrageous fortune," we are easily reminded of Sonnet 29 in which the poet 
writes: 

When in disgrace with fortune and men's eyes 
I all alone beweep my oulcast stale 
And trouble deaf Heaven with my bootless cries 
And look upon myself and curse my fate .... 

Surely, those are not the words of a prosperous businessman , part-owner of 
a theatre, and an actor. They are the words of a tortured outcast, living in disgrace, 
with a ruined reputation. Interestingly, Hamlet did not experience "outrageous 
fortune." He was a prince, an heir to the throne, a student at Wittenberg. His mur­
dered father's ghost urges him to kill his uncle, which he is reluctant to do. So, 
why these thoughts of suicide? Because Marlowe put himself into Hamlet, and 
transferred his own agony to his character. Thus, the melancholy, neurotic Dane 
becomes the means of speaktng to the world from the poet's outcast state. 

And that is why this famous soliloquy can be read out of context by any high­
school student, since what it says is universal in its meaning, notwithstanding 
who the au thor was. 

Whether one agrees with this notion or not, Marlowe's life not only greatly 
illuminates Hamlet, but all of the other plays in the First Folio as well. 

Twelfth Night or What You WiJl 

This romantic comedy has several characteristics that remind us of Mar­
lowe. First, it reflects his obsession with love and the idea of love at first sight, 
then it makes clever and amusing use of the confusion caused by mistaken iden­
tities, a girl pretending to be a boy, as with Rosiland in As You Like It, and finally 
the playwright manages to intersperse, between scenes where love is the subject, 
clownish hilarit y generated by comic characte rs. 

Twelfth Night has some of the loveliest and delightful poetry and songs to 
be found in ~lIly Elizabc,th;]n play. It tak(:'s place in Ill yr ia , an ancient country in 
Southern Europe on the Adridtic SCJ. It's ruler is the romantic Duke of Orsino 
who has fallen in love with Olivia, a wealthy lady, who is mourning her dead 
brother and refuses to see the Duke or entertain hiS proclama tions of love. 
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The idea of a beautiful woman mourning the death of a brother reminds 
us of the Countess of Pembroke's mourning the death of her heroic brother Sir 
Philip Sidney who died from a wound suffered on the battlefield. Mary Sidney 
and her brother both wrote poetry and shared an intense literary life, and his 
death formed a great shadow over he r life. 

Olivia's uncle Sir Toby Belch and his friend Sir Andrew Aguecheek are con­
stantly drunk and she instructs her steward, Malvolio, to put a stop to it. He is 
the perfect butler, and much of the secondary plot of the play is how Belch, 
Aguecheek and Olivia's maid Maria manage to make Malvolio miserable. One 
of the reasons why they so dislike him is that he is a Puritan. Maria says: 

The devil a puritan that he i" or anything constantly but a time-pleaser ; an 
affectioned ass that cons state without book and utters it by great swaths; the best 
per,uaded of himself, so crammed, as he thinks, with excellencies, that it is his 
grounds of faith that all that look on him love him. And on that vice in him will 
my revenge flnd notable cause to work 12.3.159-1661. 

Later, in Act 3, Scene 2, Andrew says: "I had as liefbe a Brownist as a politician" 

[3 3- 341 · 
Maria's accusing Malvolio of being a Puritan who can recite Scripture by 

heart, and Andrew's reference to Robert Browne's religious beliefs assumes that 
the audience knew what Puritans and Brownists believed. There were no Puri­
tans or Brownists in Illyria. All of this relates directly to Marlowe. David Riggs, 
in his biography, The World oJ Christopher Marlowe, writes (p. 93): 

The students and Fellows of Corpus Christi are conspicuou,ly absent from all the 
petitions and lists of Puritan activists at Elizabethan Cambridge .. .. On the other 
hand , key leaders of the radical Puritans who advocated total separation from the 
English Church did attend Corpus Christi. Robert Browne, the charismatic founder 
of the Separatists, took his BA from Corpus in 1572, returned to Cambridge six 
years later, and soon attracted a congregation in the church of St Benet , hard by his 
old college. Browne had come "to be a witness of that woeful state of Cambridge." 
He persuaded Robert Harrison , another Corpus man (BA 1567, MA (572), not to 

take Holy Orders in the English Church, and the two graduates founded an inde ­
pendent Church at Norwich. When the local bishop complained to Burghley in 
1581, the entire congregation migrated to lvlidJleburg. in Holland . Another of 
Browne's followers, John Gr~~nwo()d, still resided at Corpus during Marlowe's nr,t 
six months there . A notation in the Butter y Book indicates that Marlowe bought 
him Jinner during one week in the ~pring of that year. Creenwuod fell under arrest 
in 1586. His wllaborator and co-religionist Henry Barrow took his BA at Clare 
College, but mJ)' have been admitted to Corpus Christi in 1576 to study for his 
MA. 

To what extent was Marlowe inf1uenced by these Puritans who were criti­
cal of the English Church? Marlowe had entered Corpus Christi in December 
1580 and remained there for the next six years. Did the views of the Puritans 
inf1uence Marlowe's deci,ion not to take Holy Orders' And why did Marlowe 
include these references in the play' Wa, thi, another way of letting the audi­
ence know who was the real author of the play? The only people among his 
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audiences who would have recognized these references were university men and 
the young lawyers at the inns. 

The play's amusing charm is based on the author's clever use of mistaken 
identities. Obviously Marlowe himself was living with an identity other than the 
one he was born with. When Viola tells Olivia on meeting her: "What [ am and 
what I would are as secret as maidenhead." we can easily recognize Marlowe's 
own predicament. 

We find another Marlowe clue in Act 4. Scene 2, in which the Fool remarks : 
"I say there is no darkness but ignorance" (46-47). Machiavel says in the pro­
logue to The Jew of Malta . "I count religion but a childish toy, And hold there 
is no sin but ignorance." 

Twelfth Night was first published in the First Folio of 1623. It had not been 
printed before in any Quarto. Had it not appeared in the First Folio. we might 
never have had it, text. It is bt'lieved that it was written in 1601 and was performed 
at the Middle Temple on February 2. 1602. While the love story was taken from 
a number of published sources, the subplot involving Malvolio seems to have 
been created by the author. The editors of the Folger Library's edition comment: 

The particular gossip that Malvolio's portrayal may have touched concerned Sir 
William Knollys. Comptroller of the Royal Household, a pompous and unpopular 
Official, whose quarters adjoined those of some of the Queen's maids of honor. ... 
More than this. though he was married and affected great probity. he secretly 
pursued Mary Fitton, one of the maids of honor, who led him on for sport, though 
she was carrying on a serious love affair with the Earl of Pembroke . The character 
of Malvolio is so like that of Sir William that it is hard to resist the belief that some 
courtier supplied Shakespeare with the material for a caricature that would have 
rocked with laughter everyone except Sir William. 

Since we believe that Marlowe wrote the play, we can assume that he was 
well acquainted with the likes of Sir William Knollys. But whether or not the 
theory of the Folger editors is true will have to be determined by the detective 

work of future scholars. 

Troilus and Cressida 

Troilus and Cressida is a play written by a bitter. cynical, and disillusioned 
Marlowe whose imposed exile must have made his life at times miserable if not 
unbearable. We can imagine that. like Hamlet. he too thought of suicide, but 
in the end decided that life. even as it was, was preferable to death. 

It is doubtful that Troilus and Crcssida was ever performed until recent 
times. There is no evidence ofa performance during the lifetimes of Shakespeare 
or i'vlarlowe. 13ut it is hardly a play that the actor-businessman could or would 
have written. The subject matter reljuired the knowledge and genius of a 

Marlowe . 
The setting -the TrOJan war - was quite familiar to Marlowe . In Dido. we 
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find Aeneas, A Trojan prince who survived the holocaust at Troy and escaped 
by boat, landing at Carthage in a storm. Helen, about whom the war was fought, 
we find in Doctor FaustHs. And in J-Iamlel we find a reiteration of what Aeneas 
had told Dido about the horrible bloodletting in Troy. 

However, the events in hoi/us and Cressida take place before the final deba­
cle, during the Greek siege of Troy. After seven years of siege, the Greeks have 
not been able to destroy Troy, which is so well protected by its walls and tow­
ers. Only by the gift of the famous Trojan Horse were the Greeks able to pene­
trate the city and destroy it. 

Why Marlowe returned to this familiar ground IS probably because it pro­
vided him with characters who demonstrated the tragedy of love when it is mixed 
with the folly of war. Troilus falls madly in love with Cress ida who later betrays 
him when she is exchanged to the Greeks for a Trojan prisoner. Priam's sons 
argue whether Helen is worth the war that will ultimately destroy them. And 
while Helen is a great beauty, she comes across as an ancient bimbo, not unlike 
Paris Hilton, whose idea of enjoyment is counting the hairs on Troilus's youth­
ful chin. 

Harold Bloom writes of this play (p. 328): 

The matter of Troy is reduced to "a whore and a cuckold," Helen and Menelaus, 
and 10 a company of rogues, fools, b~lWtJ", gulls Jnd politicians masquerading as 
sages- th~t is 10 say, to the public figures of Shakespeare's day, and of ours. Yel the 
pla)"s bilterness ,urpasses the limits of ,atire, and leaves us with a more nihilistic 
impression than "heroic farce" or "travesty" would indicate. 

It is the opinion of this writer that hoi/liS and Cressida is one of the great­
est plays ever written. It is a devastating commentary on the Trojan War, which 
could have been avoided had Priam demanded that Paris give Helen back to 
Menelaus. She was little more than a trophy, and the couple lived a life of pleas­
ure, love , and sex. But Priam, so indulgent of his sons, lacked the wisdom or 
will to see the utter superficiality of their relationship and that its cost was far 

above its worth to Troy. 
As one would expect, scholars have been puzzled by this play because they 

believe that William Shakespeare, the actor-businessman, wrote it, and they can­
not see any connection between the incredible emotional power of the play and 

the mild-mannered actor from Stratford. 
But Troi/Hs and Cress ida could not have been written by anyone but Mar­

lowe, who had the genius and understanJing to take this story and turn it into 
a play of stark, common, unrelenting reality. Achilles' dragging Hector's body 
by the tail of his horse is a fitting end to an unvarnished, gut-wrenching account 
of what happened at Troy. Marlowe was able to bring this ancient story to life 
so that its universal power can st ill be felt today. Troilus alld Cress ida is about 
universalities of which we all ex perience: love, tiJelity, betrayal. stupidity, \Var, 

cruelty, self-indulgence , mi sJ udgment , anJ death. 
Scholars believe thattht' play was written shortly before rebru;Hy 1603 when 
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it was first entered in the Stationers' Register. According to Henrietta Bartlett 
(p. 40): "The play was first printed in 1609 with two title- pages, the first stating 
that it had been acted at the Clobe and the second omitting this statement and 
with a preface which says distinctly that it was never acted." 

The first production of the play was actually given in IB9H before King Lud­
wig II of Bavaria. Its first modern production took place in London in 1912. 

Measure for Measure 

Measure Jor Measure is a play about moral hypocrisy and how it corrodes 
a civil society. In the opening scene, the Duke of Vienna, dismayed by the grow­
ing violation of the state's moral laws because of his leniency, decides to take a 
leave of absence and place full authori tyin the hands 0 f his depu ty, Angelo, who, 
because of his dispassionate and severe character , will enforce the moral laws 
more strictly. 

Lord Angelo's first act is to close down the houses of prostitution. He is then 
confronted with the case of Claudio, a young man accused of getting h is fiancee, 
Julietta, with child. Angelo orders him imprisoned. Lucio, a free-floating char­
acter who seems to know his way around the whorehouses, asks Claudio why 
this new moral strictness in the city. Claudio explains: 

From too much liberty, my Lucio, liberty. 
As surfeit is the father of much fast, 
So every scope by the immoderate use 
Turns to restraint. Our natures do pursue, 
Like rats that ravin down their proper bane, 
A thirsty evil, and when we drink we die. 

11.2.129-1341 

That is pure Calvinism. Also, the last three lines are a powerful paraphrasing of 
Marlowe's enigmatic motto on his portrait, Quod me Ilutr;t, me rlestru;t. What 
nourishes me, destroys me. We fll1d that same motto repeated in line 12 of 
Sonnet 73. 

In order to demonstrate that the new laws have real teeth, Angelo orders 
Claudio to be executed "by nine tomorrow morning." Claudio's sister, Isabella, 
a nun, goes before Angelo and begs him to pardon Claudio. Angelo is totally 
captivated by the virtuous Isabella and tells her that he will pardon Claudio only 
if she will give herself to him. But she refuses to submit to his lust. 

Meanwhile, the Duke, disguised as a friar, enters the prison where Clau­
dio is awaiting his execution. He tells Claudio to prepare for death . However, 
after apprising himself of the situation, he decides to save Claudio from execu­
tion. He tells Isabella about Mariana, whom Angelo promised to marry but aban­
doned when Mariana lost her dowry. The plan is for Mariana to take the place 
of Isabella in Angelo's bed. He 1V0n't know the difference because all of this will 
take place in complete darkness. 
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The love encounter successfully takes place, but Angelo reneges on his 
promise to Isabella and sends the following message to the prison Provost (Act 
4, Scene 2): 

Whatsoever you may hear to the contrary, let Claudio be executed by four of the 
clock; and, in the afternoon, Barnardine. For my better satisfaction let me have 
Claudio's head sent me by live. Let this be duly performed, with a thought that 
more depends on it than we must yet deliver 1123- 1291. 

The Duke, still disguised as a Friar, orders the Provost to delay Claudio's 
death. The Provost asks: 

Alack' How may I do it, having the hour limited, and an express command, under 
penalty, to deliver hi~ head in the view of Angelo l . 

Duke. By the vow of mine order I warrant you, if my instructions may be your guide. 
Let this Barnardine be this morning executed, and his head borne to Angelo. 

Pruvus t. Angelo hath seen them both, and will discover the favour. 
Duke. 0, death's a great disguiser; and you may add to it. Shave the head, and tie 

the beard; and say it was the desire of the penit ent to be so bared before his 
death [ 175 -189). 

But Barnadine, in drunken rebellion , refuses to be executed. But as chance would 
have it, a prisoner by the name of Ragozine, a pirate, has just died of fever. He 
is Claudio's age and looks somewhat like him. The Duke remarks: "0, 'tis an 
accident that heaven provides'" (4.3. 81). The Provost cuts off Rogozine's head 
and brings it to Angelo. 

Did Marlowe, Thomas Walsingham, Lord Burghle)', and Robert Cecil con­
sider John Penry's coincidental hanging the "accident that heaven provides'" We 
read that on May 29,1593, Penry was suddently and hurriedly pulled away from 
dinner to be hanged in some obscure place without witnesses, and no one knows 
where he is buried. 

Was John Penry's body substituted for Marlowe's~ Penry was a radical Puri­
tan, executed by Whitgift 's inquisition for having published the Marprelate 
papers . [t was probably Burghley or his son who managed to make the body 
available to Walsinghal1l 's men after the hurried hangtng prior to the planned 
phony murder of Christopher Marlowe. (t is even likely that Walsingham's men 
were authorized to take possession of the body after the hanging and bring it to 
Deptford for the coroner's inquest. 

Note that it is the Duke, with the same authority ot' Lord Burghley, who 
orders the substitution of bodies. fie tells the Provost: "Let this Barnardine be 
this morning executed, and his head borne to Angelo." The Provost comments: 
"Angelo hath seen them both, and will discover the favor." But the Duke replies: 
"0' dealh's a great disguiser. " 

They probably didn't have to do much di sguising at Deptford. Penry was 
only a few years older than Marlowe. All that Walsingham's men had to do was 
stick a knife just above Penry's right eye into his frontal lobe in accordance with 
the story they told of huw Marlowe was killed. And so the coroner at" Deptford 
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and his witnesses were given a body purported to be Marlowe's. It was Walsing­
ham's men who asserted that the body was Marlowe's, and the coroner took their 
word for It. After the Inquest, the body was buried in an unmarked grave in the 
local churchyard. 

Thus, ivlarlowe escaped torture Jnd hanging, and went on to wflte the 
thirt y-six plays in the First Folio . There is a seamless continuity between the 
plays and poems he wrote before Deptford and those he wrote after. All one has 
to do is read both canons in their approximate chronological order to become 
convinced that they are the work of one literary genius. 

It should also be noted that the play was not published in Quarto before it s 
appea rance in the First Folio. j . W. Lever writes in his edition of Measure for Mea­
sure (Methuan, 1965, p. xiii): 

Shakespeare's play was said to have been drastically cut for the court performance 
on 26 December 1604, and then expanded after 1606 by an unidentified reviser 
who added hundreds of lines of pmse and verse couplets to the already revised 
tex t. 

Who was that unidentified rev iser l Marlowe himself? Shakespeare died 
III 1616. Lever also tells us (p. xi) : "It is generally accepted that the copy for 
these plays, as well as for The Wim er's Tn/e, was the work of Ralph Crane, a 
professional scrivener who was connected with the King's Men in the early 
1620's." If these transcriptions were made af ter Shakes peare's death, who ordered 
them' And who wrote the original manuscripts from which Crane made his 

copies' 
Mensure for Measure is considered one of the dramatist's "problem plays." 

What made it a "problem" ha s never been fully or convincingly explained by the 
scholars who have pored over it. ll arold Bloom comments (p. 159 ): 

I W Ie never can be certain as to jus t how we ought tL1 receive the play ... l it I 
involves Ithe l audience in what I am lompelled to call the dramatist 's simultaneous 
invocation and evasion of Christian belief and Christian morals .... I scarcely see 
how the play, in regard to its Christi an allusiveness, can be regarded as other than 
blasphemous. Ultimately that includes the title and its clear reference to the Sermon 
on the Moun!: "With what measure ye mete, it shall be measured to you again," a 
reverberation of "Judge not, that ye be not Judged." 

Professor Bloom's astute comments are illuminating. They reinforce what 
we know about Marlowe's knowledge of the Bible. But it is quite possible to sim­
ply accept the playas one about moral hypoc ris y. I n the end, the dramatist's aim 
was always to entertain his a udien ce . However , it was his genius to provide more 
than just entertainment. He a lso prov ided philosophical discussion, exquisite 
poetry, amusing characters, commen ts on love and lust, beaut y and seduction, 
brothers and si~ters, whores Jnd bawds. And from scene to scene every thing 
flows in a dramatic order tha t givt's the pl ay ~ u s pens(' Jnd meaning. For those 
of us who belil've that l\1arlmvc wrote it, tht' pla y contains some of the strongest 
and most convinc ing Llues that he lVas indeed its creJtor. 



307 37. The First Falla 

Othello 

So many perceptive editors and critics regard Othello a~ a powerful mas­
terpiece about good and evil, that it seems unlikely that the actor-businessman 
from Stratford could have written it. There is nothing in Shakespeare's life that 
even remotely suggests that he himself had ever had to deal with anything so 
powerful as the emotions In this play. 

Othello is a play about the ways of evil written by a man who had faced such 
evil in the person ofthllse who had tried to destroy him, namely Richard Baines 
and others whose slanders have marred his reputation to this very day. As a stu­
dent of Calvinism, Marlowe understood and obviously accepted Calvin's view 
of man's innate depravity, which had been drummed into his head for eight 
years by his teachers. This permitted him not only to understand human nature 
in its mixed manifestations, but also to dramatize it so powerfully in this play. 

Alvin Kernan of Yale University writes in his perceptive analysis of the play 
(Signet Othello, p. xxxiv): 

When lago's schemes are at last exposed, Othello, finding it impossible for a 
moment to believe Ihat a mall could have contrived such evil, stares at lago's feet 
and then says sadly, "but that's a fable. " What he hopes to rind when he looks 
down are the cloven f.:et of the devi!. ... IH Ie is forced to realize that far from living 
in some simplirled, "fabulous" world where evil is a metaphysical power raiding 
human life from without, he dwells where evil is ~omehow inextricably woven with 

good into man himself. 

The basic plot is well known. Desdemona, the beautiful daughter of a Venet­
ian Senator, falls in love with Othello, a Moor, who through his bravery and intel­
ligence has risen to the position of general of the Venetian army. Othello had 
often visited the Senator's home, and Desdemona, captivated by stories of his 
youth, loves him enough to marry him without her father's knowledge . Mean­
while, [ago , Othello's chief officer, becomes intensely jealous of Othello and is 
determined to destroy him. He does this by cleverly convincing Othello of his 
wife's infidelity. Othello, convinced that lago is telling him the truth, rejects 
Desdemona's pleas of innocence, and kills her. When in the end he discovers 
that lago had lied and deceived him, he kills himself. 

The play Itself is masted'ully constructed and proceeds from one dramatic 
scene to the next with ever increasing tension and suspense. When Othello finally 
realizes that he has killed his Innocent wife, he stabs himself, then looks at Des­
demona, and says: "I kiss'd thee ere I kill 'd thee: no way but this, Killing myself, 
to die upon a kiss." 

So ends this magn iticent tragedy which has come down to us as one of the 
greatest plays ever written. Did Marlowe write it? The play itself is one big Mar­
lowe clue. First of all, the subject is far beyond anything remotely connected 
with Shakespeare's life. The actor-businessman could not possibly have written 
about evil in the intense way that only Marlowe could. The {ago in [vlarlowe's 
life was Richard Baines whose aim it was to destroy the playwright. The duel ­
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ing scene between Roderigo and Cassio In Act 5, Scene I,was probably modeled 
on the actual dueling fracas that Marlowe experienced when his friend Watson 
came to his rescue and killed William Bradley. 

The highly dramatic scene in which Othello murders Desdemona reminds 
one of the murder scene in Edward 1/, in which Marlowe created high drama 
and emotional intensity. Marlowe was a master of such scenes. 

As for the source of the play, Thomas M. Parrott, editor of the Tudor edi­
tion, informs us that the Othello plot was derived from an Italian collection of 
tales published in 1565 and not translated IIlto English before Shakespeare's 
death. There were French and Spanish editions. Parrott comments (p. ix): 
"[ T Ihere is perhaps no more st riki ng example in literature of t he power of geni us 
to transmute base metal into gold than the transformation of the Italian novel 
into the English play." As for Its publication, Parrott writes (p. vii): 

The (irsl edition of Othello was puhlished in 1622 .... It was properly entered on the 
Stalioners' Registt'r (Octoher 6,1621), decently printed, and presents a very 
respectahle text .. The text is ~Ihout 160 lines shorter than that in the Folio. 

Lawrence Mason, editor of the Yale edition, writes (p. 150): 

[The First Folio] is unquestionably the better and more authoritative text. The 
Folio contains about 160 lines lacking in the Quarto, many of them absolutely 
essential, while the Quarto contains only about a dozen peculiar to itself, few of 
them important. 

Nothing in the history of the First Folio indicates who made the revisions 
or additions in the fInal Folio texts of the various plays. As we have already 
asserted, only Marlowe himself could have made the revisions and additions. 

A reference to Marlowe is made in the Notes of the Yale edition by Tucker 

Brooke (p. 168): 

Vii.347. Like the base Indian. There is no signiflCance in the lirst Folio spelling, 
"Iudean." Shakespeare i, thinking of the savage who throws away a king's ransom 
because he cannot realize its value. In his mind, probably, were the lines near the 
beginning of Marlowe's lew o(Maltn: 

"Give me the merchants of the Indian mines ... 

The wealthy Moor that in the eastern fl)cks 

Without control can pick his riches up, 

And in his house heap pearl like pebble-stones." 


lLlI'J,21-23] 

In his last speech, Othello identific., himselfas the "base Indian" richer than all 
his tribe, who threw away a pearl. A very signifIcant Marlowe clue. 

The di'lbolical character of lago has intflgued Shakespearean scholars 
almost as much as the inscrutable character of Hamlet. A. L. Rowse writes In 

'fhe Annoldled ;-ihnkespenre (p. 18(4): 

lago is the most complex and Interesting p,ychological study in the plilY.. · In iI way, 
lago IS d psychotic, as IbmletlVds; It ,'orrns another aspect of the universality of 
Shakespeare's genius Ihat he shoulu have had such an intuitive understanding of the 
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operations of psycho,i, .... There is no love in lago; he hdies human beings for the 
fools the)' are .... Perhaps [ago was maJ - he certainl), is not sane - with envy, 
hatreJ and contempt. 

vVhat personal experience could have given the actor-businessman such knowl­
edge of psychotic evil? None that we know of. However, Marlowe's personal 
experience was with Richard Baines, who would fit any man's description of a 
psychotic. He not only tried to get Marlowe tortured and executed, but at one 
time tried to poison everyone at the Catholic Seminary at Rheims. He tried to 
get Marlowe prosecuted for counterfeiting in Holland. The man had the mind 
of a lago, or lago had the mind of a Baines . 

King Lear 

This is a play about the depredations of old age, ungrateful children, and 
sibling rivalry turned murderous. It is a very complex play, with two inter­
twining plots, that requires careful reading and rereading. Harold Bloom writes 
(p.476): 

King Lear, together with Hamlet, ultimately baffles commentary. Of all Shakespeare's 
dramas, these show an apparent inlinitude that perhaps transcends the limits 
of literature .... The experience of reading Killg Lnu, in particular , is altogether 
um·anny.... 1 cmpha,i/e rt'ading, more than ever, because [ have attended many 
stagings of Killg I.e,u, and invariably have regretted being there. 

It is believed that the play was written in 1605 or early 1606, when James 1 
had already been King since April 1603. The play was entered on the Stationers' 
Register on November 26,1607. These years were constdered a particularly dark 
period in the author's life. Which infers that it fits more with Marlowe's unhappy 
circumstances than with those of the actor-bussinessman, who was then wax­
ing quite prosperous. 

Obviously, the so-called dark period could hardly apply to the man known 
as William Shakespeare who was busy buying and selling real estate and suing 
anybody who owed him money. Yet he never sued the publisher who printed an 
unauthorized Quarto of King Lear. Nor did he sue Thomas Thorpe for publish­
ing an unauthorized edition of his Sonnets . [t is highly unlikely that during this 
period he sat down and wrote a play of such Biblical darkness as King Lear. 

The sources of the play were Holinshed and a rather bland play, The True 
Chronicle History of King Leir, published anonymously in 1605. Marlowe recrafted 
the play into the masterpiece we have today. As for its publication, the 1970 Pel­
ican edition stales (p. 27): 

In 160~ a version of Killg I.car appl'areJ in a quarto volume... Its text was repro­
duced In 1619 in a qUHIO falsely dated 160S .... In 1623 a greatly improved though 
"cut" version ell the play JppeM('d in the first folio, evidt'ntly printed from the 
quarto alkr it had bc't' n car<:.'fullv collated With the official playhouse manuscript. 



310 The Marlowe-Shakespeare Connection 

If the official playhouse manuscript was available, why would it have been 
even necessary to correct the Quarto l John Berryman, in his book, Berryman's 
Sh'lkespeart! (p. I1l3). writes that the first Folio version of the play "was printed 
from a copy of the quarto which had been heavil)' cllrrected in order to bring it 
more or less into accord with the prompt book.": 

At some time between 1608 and 1623 a COP)' of it was exten!>ively (orrected by a 
playhlluse ,cribe to bring it into agrcemt'nt with the prompt book at the Globe, 
and was then used by laggard as copy for the folio. (p. 1'.13) 

Again, if the prompt book at the Globe was the correct version of the play, 
why was it necessary to extensively correct the Quarto since the prompt copy 
would have given Jaggard the copy he needed to set the play for the First Folio l 

However, if Marlowe had made the corrections, he would not have needed the 
prompt copy. As the author of the play, he would have known how to correct 
the Quarto, add the needed lines and eliminate other lines to tighten the 
play. Incidentally, neither the corrected Quarto nor the prompt copy have 
survived. 

It is assumed that the only reason why anyone would have corrected the 
Quarto was because correct copy was needed for the First Folio, and it is unlikely 
that a "playhouse scribe" could have made the kind of extensive changes that 
were made by someone, most likely Marlowe, who made changes in many of the 
other plays as well in preparation for the Folio. We know of no scribes or edi­
tors who could have made all of the changes that were made in so many of the 
plays in the Folio. And we can also assume that it \Vas Ed Blount who gave Mar­
lowe the opportunity to make the changes the author wanted. 

Like so many of Marlowe's previous plays, this one also begins with intense 
conflict: between Lear and his daughter Cordelia, Lear and Kent, Cordelia and 
her sisters, the bastard Cdmund and his brother Edgar. Thus the stage is set for 
murder and tragedy reminiscent of13iblical stories. We know that Marlowe knew 
the Bible inside out, chapter and verse. 

Thomas Carter, in his 1005 book Shakespellre lind Holy Scripture, writes 
(pp.3-4): 

No writer has assimilated the thoughts anJ reproduced the words of Holy Scripture 
more copiou,;ly than Shakespeare .... The spontaneolls now of Scriptural ideas and 
phrases which are to be found everywhere in the plays reveals the fact most clearly 
that the minJ of Shakespeare must indeed have been "saturated" with the Word 
of God. He most readily expresses his mind in ~iblic,~1 phrase or illustration .... He 
may be said to use Scripture on an)' and every occasion, to dignify the thought of 
a king, to point the jest ofa wit, or to bright~n the dullness ofa clown. 

Shakespeare's will indicated that he didn't even own a tiible' Carter continues: 

But it is of importance to noti,,;, how much Shakespeare is indebted to the English 
Bible for his vocabulary. 1 have studied every line in the plays in order to trace out 
how far this indebtedness extends, dnd after a careful comparison have c·ome to the 
conclusion that the Ccnevan Bible.> wa, the version lIsed by Shakespeare. 



37 The Firs, folio 31 I 

Marlowe's education and training at the King's School and Corpus Christi at 
Cambridge provided him with as intense a Biblical education as could have been 
had in Elizabethan England. 

What shall we make of King Lear, this immensely moving and passionate 
play? So much cruelty, so much suffering, so much pain. What could have driven 
the author to write such a play' There is no doubt that Marlowe put much of 
his own suffering in this play. Like Edgar, he had lost his identity, was forced 
to live in disguise since May, 1593, and was unable to assert his true identity 
publicly. 

Was he ever able to see his parents since his supposed death' What was 
their reaction to the news of their brilliant son's demise? Did they believe the 
slander heaped on his reputation' Did Marlowe ever disguise himself as a mad­
man in order to see his father John Marlowe before he died in February 1605? 
!I. Bible was listed among the cobbler's goods . Marlowe's mother Katherine died 
barely a month after her husband's death. Was Marlowe ever able to visit their 
graves; 

We know that Marlowe began writing King Lear after the death of his par­
ents. Burdened with grief, was he in a state of mind to pour his own suffering 
into this extraordinary play' The vivid images of Dover must have brought back 
happy moments of childhood with his family. He had the same filial love and 
devotion for his father that Edgar had for Gloucester, that Kent had for the King, 
that Cordelia had for Lear. 

Concerning Dover, we read in Act 4, Scene 1: 

Gloucester. Come hither, fellow. 
Edgar. iAsidel And yet I must.- Bless thy sweet eyes, they bleed. 
Gloucester. Know'st thou the way to Doverl 
Edgar. Both stile and gate, horse-way and footpath ... 
Gloucester. '" Dost thou know Dover l 

Edgar. Ay, master. 
Glollcester. There is a cliff whose high and bending head 

Looks fearfully in the confined deep: 
Bring me but to the very brim of it , 
And I'll repair the misery thou dost bear 
With something rich about me: from that place 
I shall no leading n<:ed. 

[4.1 55-58, 74-X II 

In Scene 6, they reach a rield near the Dover cliff 

C;IOlIlC;(er. When shall I com.: to th' lOp or that s,tme hilll 
Edgar. You do climb It no'''. Look, h'M we labor. 
Glollcester. 1'-1ethinks the ground is .:ven . 
Edgllr. Horrible steep. Ilark, do you hear the seal 
G/(!ilccster. No, truly. 
Edgar. Why then y~ur other semes grow imperfect 

By your eyes' Jnguish. 
G/olltester. So may it be indeed .. 
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l:'dgar. Come on, ,ir; here', the place: stand still. How fearful 
And Jizzy 'tis to cast one" eyes so low l 

The crows and choughs that wing in the midway air 
Show scarce so gross as beetles. Half way down 
Hangs one that gathers sampire, dreadful trade! 
Methinks he seems no bigger than his head. 
The fishermen that walk upon the beach 
Appear like mice; and yond tall anchoring bark 
Diminished to her cock; her cock, a buoy 
Almost tuo small for sigh!. The murmuring su rge 
That on th' unnumb'red idle pebble chafes 
Cannot be heard so high. I'll look no more, 
Lest my brain turn and the deficient sight 
Topple down headlong. 

[4.6. 1-6, 11-24[ 

Obviously, Marlowe is relating in poetic detail the sights he saw so vividly 
atop the Dover cliff when he and his mother would walk or ride from Canter­
bury to Dover to visit his grandparents and other relatives. He even mentions 
the men who gathered sampire, an aromatic herb , from the side of the cliff at 
great risk to life and limb. Only someone intimately acquainted with the Dover 
cliffwould have known thaI. 

It is quite easy to believe that Iv\arlowe identified with Edgar, the hunted 
son who had to live in abject disgui se in order to stay alive. He is the one with 
the vivid memories of Dover. Obviously, Marlowe suffered greatly as he lived 
in social exile, and he must have wondered why God would let this happen to 
him, the same God that had endowed him with such powerful literary gifts. 

Did Marlowe write King Lear under a cloud of despair, having suffered over 
twelve years of namelessness, yet producing one literary masterpiece after another, 
masterpieces that would move audiences for generations to come' We know that 
they will be read and performed as long as Western civilization exists. Yet, they 
were written by a genius who could not even proclaim his authorship. He had to 
use his own code, embedded in each play, to put a mark in its text. If he was no 
longer Marlowe, who was he' Lear asks: "Who is it who can tell me who I am'" 

Did Marlowe ever think of suicide? The answer was given by Hamlet him­
self. Edgar, of course, was faced with the same dilemma . Harry Levin comments: 
"But Edgar's moral ... redefines patience as the ability to bear one's sufferings, 
to face and endure them in calm of mind ; 'Bear free and patient thoughts.'" 
These words, put into the mouth of Edgar, must have reflected Marlowe's own 
philosophy of endurance . He would continue to write plays for as long as he 
could and not complain of "fortune's blows," preferring to think, in the end, of 
those who saved his life and of God's ultimate purpose. 

Macbeth 

This is a play about murder ,1Iul tyr.lnn y as person tiled by Macbeth and his 
wife, d happily married couple, who rnake a deliberat e Jecision to embark on a 
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bloody course of evil. That is the irony of the play: that a happy couple with 
great ambitions should choose to fulfill their dreams in a way that would ulti­
mately destroy them. 

Marlowe, from early on, had a deep interest in that aspect of human nature 
which we call the dark side. He eagerly explored it in order to understand it, for 
he saw it all around him. As a secret agent for Walsingham and the Cecils, he 
had a front-row seat in plain view of the political intrigues which made heads 
roll. He knew the history of Northumberland's attempt to gain the crown for 
the Dudley family. He knew of the struggle between Mary Queen of Scots and 
Queen Elizabeth for the throne of England. He had written about this great 
ambition to be king in Tamburlaine 1 (Act 2, Scene 5), in which Tamburlaine 
rhapsodizes about his restless ambition which would not stop, " Until we reach 
the ripest fruit of all, That perfect bliss and sole felicity, The sweet fruition of 
an earthly crown." 

Although it is probable that Marlowe drew on more than one source for 
the history of Macbeth, Sylvan Barnet writes in the Signet Classic edition of the 
play (p. 136): "Holinshed alone seems to have provided Shakespeare with the 
raw material of the story of Macbeth." One merely has to read what Holinshed 
wrote, selections of which are in the Signet edition, to see how the author made 
changes for the play. Apparently, the changes were more political than literary. 
The play was performed before King James I and his guest, the King of Den­
mark, his brother-in-law, at Hampton Court in 1606. 

Since King James did not like long plays, it should not surprise us that Mac­
beth is "abnormally short" (2,477 lines), as the Yale edition notices. Also, in 
Holinshed 's account, Banquo, Macbeth's fellow general, is an accomplice to the 
murder of King Duncan. But in the play Banquo takes no part in the murder. 
Why' Because King James was a descendant of Banquo who was considered the 
father of the Stuart line. 

Was Macbeth written especially for King James' It probably was, and the 
author was no doubt paid handsomely for his efforts. No Quarto of the play was 
ever published. The only text we have is the one published in the First Folio. 
This is another play that would have been lost had not Blount published it in 
the Folio. 

Another indication that Macuerh was written for King James are the witch­
craft scenes that dominate the play. James was an expert on witchcraft and 
demonology and had written a tract on the subject, Demol"lologie, published in 
1597. He had become interested in the subject in 1590 when there were witch 
trials in Scotland at New Berwick. He personally Interrogated some of the 
accused witches and even prescribed their torture. Antonia Fraser writes in her 
biography of James (pp. 57-58): 

James's interest in the trials led him to send for one or two of the Witches, and be 
fearfully impressed by what he heard: one, Agnes Simpson, was supposed to have 
repeated to him things he whispered to the Queen on their wedding night, malters 
which he swore that dllthc devils in hell could not have discovered. 
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It was th is experience that made James a believer in the power of witchcraft. And, 
as an expert, he was able to judge the authenticity of what was in the play. Mar­
lowe, as we know, had written one of the most popular plays about demonology, 
Dr. Fau5ws. James probably saw it. 

Macbeth also takes place in Scotland, and many of the names in it were 
familiar to James: Ross, Lennox, Fife, GJamis, Angus, all of which must have 
brought to mind memories of the past. Also, in a letter that Thomas Kyd wrote 
in June 1593 to Sir John Puckering in an effort to clear his name of atheism, he 
mentions that Marlowe told him that he '\vold perswade with men of quallitie 
to goe unto the King of Scotts whether I heare Roydon is gon ." Marlowe would 
have made that statement in 1591. Was Marlowe then sent by Cecil to the King 
of Scots on an intelligence mi ssion ' 

The murder scenes in Macbeth have the Marlowe stamp on them. They have 
a reality that can bring any a udience to the edge of their seat s. We get a taste of 
its gore in Lady Macbeth's famous sleepwalking scene (Act 5, Scene I) in which 
she mutters: "Out, damn ed spotl Out, I sayl ... Hell is murky.. .. Yet who would 
have thought the old man to have had so much blood in him '" 

Indeed, Macbeth ha~ mesmeri/.ed audiences for over 400 years, much to the 
glory or its author. 

Antony and Cleopatra 

Antony and Cleopatra is a complicated love story in which two highly sophis­
ticated , jaded adults, with heavy political baggage. manage to create romantic 
electricity on the stage . Antony is the same protagonist who avenged the mur­
der of Julius Caesar by defeating and killing Cassius and Brutus. He is now the 
most celebrated general in Rome. a member of the Triumvirate that rules the 
Empire. Cleopatra, Queen of Egypt. who was once mistress to Pompey the Great 
and also lover of Julius CJesar and bore him a son. has fallen in love with Antony 
who had come to Egypt seeking support for his campaigns in the east. 

Kenneth Muir , in Shakespeare's Suurces, names Plutarch's Life of Antonius 
as the main source of the play (p. 201): 

Shakespeare's portr a it of hi s her o is vcr y clo>c to Plut a rch's, much ci o>er , indeed , 
than his Anton y in the ea rli er pl ay. l1e made use 01 Jlmost every incident in the 
later year> of Antony's life , except the long, absorhing, hut irreleyant account of the 
Parthian campaign. 

Marlowe 's geniu s was in his ability to transform Plutarch's story into a liv­
ing drama of two passionat e adult lovers caught in the political turmoil of their 
day. But what is even more interesting and conrirms our view that Marlowe 
wrote the play, is what Muir tells us dbout the Countess 01- Pembroke: 

There is some evidence that Shakespea re consulted the Countess o( Pernbroke's 
translation 01 Carnicr's MurL' !IIlIOlfle. The clearest parallel has been pointed uut 

http:mesmeri/.ed
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by Profes,or J. Dover Wilson . In the ,\rgument, Antony's marriage is de,cribed in 
these terms : 

Who for knittin~ a straitc:r bond ofalllitie bl'tween them, had taken to wife 
O(fayia. 

Agrippa in Shakespeare's play USt' S a similar phrase in proposing that Antony 
should marry Octavia. 


To hold you in perpetuall amitie. 

To make you Brothers, and to knit your hearts 

With an un-slipping knot, take All/any, 


Octavia to his wife. 

In a later scene Enobarbus prophecies: 

You shall flnde th~ bande that seems to tye their friendship IOgether, will be the 
very strangler of their Amity. 

The links between the two writers are substantial: knitting-knit . bond-band, amitie . 
taken to wife Ouayia-take Ocrayia to his wife . 

Equally interesting is what Muir tells us about the influence of Samuel 
Daniel's work on the author. Daniel. as we know. was the Countess of Pem­
broke's protege, who lived in her house at Wilton and was tutor to her son 
William. He has been identified as the rival poet in the Sonnets. Muir writes (p . 
209): 

There is stronger evidence that Shakespeare made use of Oaniel's Cleopatra and his 
Leiter ro Odal' ill. The latter poem, which first JfJpeared in 1599, ha s an Argument 
preCtxed containing an account of t\ntony's IllJrriage to Octavia. 

For Antonic hauving yet vpon him the fetters of Aegypf, layd on by the power 
ofa most incomparable beauty, could admit no new Lawes into the state of his 
affection . or dispose of himselfe, being not hirn selfe, but as hauing his heart 
turned Eastward, whither the poynt of his desires, toucht with the strongest 
allurements that ambition, and a licentiOus soueraignty could draw a man vntn. 

So in the play, Antony exclaims (l.ii.113 ): 

These strong Egyptian Fetters I must breakc, 

Or loose my selfe in dotage .... 


It is probable that Shakespeare had read the early version of Cleopatra . There are a 
number of detail s common to both plays, which are not to be found in Plutarch. 

What does all of this mean' It means that "Shakespeare" was acquainted 
with both the Countess of Pembroke's translation of Garnier's Marc Alltoille 
and also Daniel's CieopCltra ;Jnd Leiter to Octavia. There is nothing in Shake­
speare's biography to suggest that he knew the Countess or Samuel Daniel. Also, 
we read in A. L. Rowse's The Al/llorMed Shakespeare (p. 2007): 

In 1607 Daniel considerably revised hi, Cleupiltr" in light of Shakespeare's pIJ Y, 
trying to make it more dramatic. Earlier he had been iniluenceJ by Hi,hard [[ in 
revising his dccount in the Civil \\I"r;, 10 which Shakespeare in turn wa s indebted. 

But Muir makes us question !{owsc's ;-ls.mmption. fie writes (p. 215): 

The evidence tlul Daniel rev ised his pl.l:' Jfter " 'c'ing ;1 performance' of Shake­
,peare" is much less conclusive. The J,1IC of Iht' IJtter" not known, Jnd it may 
hJW bet'n wrlltt'n dfter Ihc 1007 edition (If DdllJd 's play. 
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The inability to establish the exact date that An/any ami Cleopatra was written 
makes it impossible to determine for sure which poet was innuenced by whom. 
Although it was never published in Quarto before its publication in the First 
Folio, the Shakespeare play was apparently entered in the Stationers' Register in 
May 160H. 

A likely theory is that the COUI1iL'SS of Pembroke innuenced both Marlowe 
and Daniel and urged them to write historical dramas in the manner of 
Garnier. Her translation of Marc /\ntoine was published in 1592. But obviously 
the Countess, Marlowe , and Daniel had read the original in French well before 
1592. 

There are other indications that An/oilY and Cleopatra was written by Mar­
lowe . Muir writes (p. 217): 

Finally it may be mentioned that Miss Ethel Seaton has pointed out some curious 
echoes of the book of Reveicilion in Al/lOny and Cleopatra. Some of these are in the 
scene in which Antony falls on his sword .... A second paraJlel is to be found in the 
image of the falling star. ... One of Octavius's speeches ,eems to echo 

I will shew thee the damnation of the great whore that sitteth upon many 
waters, With whom have committed fornication the kings of the earth ... 

He hath given his Empire 
Up to a Whore, who now are levying 
The Kings 0' th' earth for warre. 

Cleopatra's description of Antony in the last scene may likewi,e be based on 
another passage from Revelation. 

And, of course, we find in the play Marlowe's usual fingerprints, Dido and 
Aeneas. Antony has just been brought the news of Cleopatra's death. He cries 
out: 

I will o'ertake thee, Cleopatra, and Weep for my pardon .... 
And with our sprightly port make ghost> gaze: 
Dido and her Aeneas shall want troops, 
And all the haunt be (Jurs. 

14.14.44-45,52-541 

He then calls Ems, his dttendant, and orders him to kill him. But Eros cannot 
bear the idea of killing his master, and so Eros kills himself. 

There is no record of the play's plTformance or publication before its appear­
ance in the First Folio. It is believed that the text in the First Folio was derived 
from an original manuscript copy that Ed Blount was able to obtain. From 
whom? 

An additional source of the play is Sir Thomas North's Lives of the Noble 
Grecians and ROII/anes, published in 1579. This was an English translation of a 
french translation of the original Greek of Plutarch's Lives. It is obvious that 
Garnier, the Countess of Pembroke, Samuel Daniel, and Christopher Marlowe 
were well acquainted with Plutarch's Lives either in the French or English trans­
lations. Also, Daniel', sonnet sequence, Delia, with the complaint of Rosamllnd, 
was published in 1592. Henrietta Hartlett writes (p. 120): 
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Shakespeare was much influenced by nasa/lilli/a and traces of" it appear in ["<reer, 
A Luver's COli/plaint and ROil/eo tina fllliet . The subject, are of the same nature and 
are treated in much the same manner. Shakespeare's sonnets also owe a great deal 
to Daniel, c,pecially to Delia, and there are lines in Twelfth Night which are an 
echo of that poem. 

That Daniel was the rival poet in Shake-speares Sonllets becomes increas­
ingly obvious the more we learn of that small coterie around the Countess of 
Pembroke, all writing on the same subject of Antony and Cleopatra. 

Coriolanus 

Corio/all 115 i, a very strang~' play and I'or that reason alone it should be 
attributed to Christopher Marlowe. According to what we know about William 

Shakespeare, he was too normal, too much the businessman, too pedestrian to 
have written this unusual play, or any other play in the First Folio. D. A. Tra­
versi, in An Approach to Shakespeare (1954) writes (p. 216): 

Coriolanus has rarely satisfied the critics. Most of them have found it frigid and 
have even suggested that Shakespeare's interest flagged in the writing of it; on 
the other hand, an important minority - including T S. Eliot and J. Middleton 
Murray - have been considerably attracted by the play, and have even found an 
important place for it in the development of their own experience. The only point 
upon which there seems to be agreement is that Corio/amlS is difficult and that its 
artistic quality is peculiar. 

And that is because of the character of Coriolanus himself, a strange anti­
social character that must have attracted the playwright as a fitting subject for a 
highly dramatic play, Tucker Brooke, in the Yale edition, writes (p. 158): 

The chief and almost sole source of Corio/all us, as Shakespeare's other Roman 
pla}'s, is North's translation of Plutarch's l.ives.. .. About 550 lines of North's prose 
are woven into the text of Coriolanlls, and the verbal adherence of the poet to the 
translator is even closer than it is in the earlier Plutarchian plays of Julills Caesar 
and Antony and Cleupatra. The two principal characters, Coriolanus and Volumnia, 
owe most to Plutarch, though Shakespeare has given to each of them distinguishing 
traits hardl}' implied by his original. 

All of which means that the poet found in Plutarch a gold mine of stories 
for tht> stage. And th.: probahle reason hl' chose to ~"rite about Coriolanus is that 
he found in the story In unrelenting, life-and-death struggle between Caius 
Martius, later known as Coriolanus, and the common citizens, or plebeians, of 
Rome, who were often led :lstrJ)' by venal and corrupt demagogues. Marlowe 
knew how to engage <In audience by stating the conflict in the very opening of 

hiS pia)'. We sec that technique used in the very opening lines of CoriO/Il/{uS: 

I. Citizen. fkfore we proceed any further, heM me speak. 
/ 111 . Speak, speak. 
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I. Citizen. You He all resulved ralher 10 die Ihan 10 famish' 

All. l{esolved, resolved. 

I. Citizen . Firsl, you knuw Caiu$ 1\'lJrlius is chief enemy 10 the people . 
All. We know 't, we know 'I. 

I. Citizen. l.et us kill him, and we'll have corn al our price. Is 'I a verdiCI' 
All. No mort' talking on 'I; leI il be done. Away, away' 

11.1. 1-13) 

Th us begi ns the tragic con fl ict between the 5t ubborn, proud warrior-hero 
and the plebeians, a conflict that leads 10 the hero's own destruction. The audi ­
ence, of course, is totally taken in by the desire to know what comes next. 

Caius Martius had been raised by his mOl her Volumnia to become a fear­
less, brave soldier for Rome. And he became exactly that. But in the process he 
acquired an arrogant and superior sense of self, which rankled the common peo­
ple, for whom he had nothing but contempt. This character flaw is the subject 
of virtually everything that takes place in the play. Harold Bloom calls Coriolanus 
"the greatest killing machine in all of Shakespeare." He bemoans the fact that 
the hero of the play is not another Hamlet, that he is empty, without the least 
introspection, inwarJly barren. "lie is so oddly original a character that descrip­
tion of him is very difficult .... Caius Martius himsell" has very little mind, and 
no imagination whatsoever." Today, we might call him autistic. 

Yet, the playwright does such a superb job ol'eJevating this emotionally crip­
pled warrior to heroic status, that four hundred years later we still read about him. 

After returning victoriously from battling the Volsces, Caius Martius is 
named Coriolanus by the Roman Senate nfter ransacking Corioli, the main city 
of the Volsces. The Serl<lte then decides to honor Coriolanus with the high post 
as Consul. But in order to become Consul, Coriolanus must also get the vote of 
the people. The tradition was ror the candidate to dress himself in modest clothes 
and permit the common people to examine his wounds. Coriolanus is appalled 
at the idea. But the people will have it no other way. 

And so, Coriolanus puts on the gown of humility and reluctantly conforms 
to the ancient custom. He gains the approval of the average citizen . But the dem­
agogic tribunes \vho oppose him manage to get the citizens to change their 
minds . Coriolanus then quarrels with the tribunes only to antagonize them fur­
ther. They call him traitor and call for his immediate death. A trial is held and 
the tribunes sentence Coriolanus to banishment. 

Thus, from being honored by the Senate to being called a traitor and ban­
ished by the plebeians, Coriolanus's pride has suffered too much. Bursting with 
the need for revenge, he goes to his hated enemy, Aufidius, leader of the Volsces 
and offers to help him take Rome. 

But at the gates of the city, CoriolJrlus is met by his mother who pleads 
with him to spare /{ome. I-Ie tells her: 

Du 1101 hid me 
J)iSIlli >s Ill)' ;uldins, or c,lpilliialt' 

t\gain with RUIl1~\ Illl'(llanic>: ILII me nol 
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Wherein I sel'm unnatural: desire nut 
To Jllay mv rJges ,llId rt'Vl'ngt'S wilh 
Your (older rl';I~I>nS. 

15.3 til - linl 

l3ut Volumnia prevails. She tdls her son that if he conquers Rome for the 
Volsces, he will go down in history as the man who destroyed his own country, 
and that his name will be revtled. Coriolanus cannot take his mother's total 
rejection, and he capitulates. 

CorioirllJlIS . 0, mot her, mot her' 
Whdt have you done' Behold, the heavens do ope, 
The gods lu()k down, Jnd this unnatural scene 
They laugh at. 0 my mother' Mother' 0' 
Yuu have wun a happy victory tu Rome; 
But, (ur your son, believe it. 0 believe it, 
Most dangerously yuu haY<' with him prevail'd 
If not most mortal to him. But lei it come. 

IS.3.182-t891 

Here we are reminded of the motto on Marlowe's portrait: "Quod me nutrit, 
me destruit." That which mourishes me, destroys me. 

There is no mother-and-son scene in literature more poignant than this one. 
It is not difficult to understand why Coriolanus has his admirers. He is not 

only a fierce warrior but also a hater of the mob that seeks to destroy its betters. 
Thus, he had a political instinct that his flawed character was unable to use to 
his advan tage. 

As for the composition of the play, it appears to have been written after 
Antony lind Cleopatra in 1608 or 160':1. There is no evidence that it was ever per­
formed before the Restoration. The first inkling we have that the play existed is 
found in the licensing of J group of sixteen uncopyrighted plays, entered at the 
Stationers' Company on November 8,1623 by Ed l3lount and Isaac laggard, pub­
lishers of the First Folio. The fact that CuriO/ail liS had not been copyrighted 
before 1623 probably indicates that it had not been performed prior to that date. 
Concerning the First Folio text, Tucker Brooke writes (p. 163): 

The manuscript upon which the [:olio text of Coriolanl/s WJS ba~ed appears to have 
been carefully prepared. The p!Jy is accurately divided intl} Jds, thuugh nut into 
sct'nt'S, and contains rather (ull and explicit ~tage directions. 

II is highly probable that the manuscript came directly from Mzrrlowe when 
Blount was gathering the plays for the First Folio. In any case, he knew it existed 
and where to find it. 

Timon of Athens 

Timon 0/ Athells is a very bitter and cynical play, which has troubled crit­
ics Jnd scholars ofSh<lkcspcare because ofib deep pessilllism. It is about money, 
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debt, and hypocritical friendship and how they affect human relations. Since 
Shakespeare was a prosperous theater shareholder and a contented money­
lender, the play is totally out of character with the Stratford man. 

The play certainly applies more to Marlowe's life than Shakespeare's. The 
theme of banishment reminds us of Marlowe's own predicament. Timon's choice 
of a cave in a wooded area near the seacoast as his new home may actually indi­
cate where Marlowe was living in social exile when he returned to England, after 
retiring from the Secret Service, in Kent near the seacoast and not too far from 
Scadbury, Thomas Walsingham's home . 

The basic legend of Timon is a very old one. The story of the misanthrope 
in Plutarch's I.ife vf Anrvnills, and Lucian 's comic dialogue, Timon th e MisaN­
thrope , are most likely the sources of the play. 

It is believed that the play was written between 1606 and 1610. Theatrical 
annals record no performance of the play until the close of the eighteenth cen­
tury. It was entered in the Stationers' Register on November 8,1623, along with 
fifteen other unpubli shed plays that Ed Blount and Isaac laggard intended to 
include in the First Folio. Where did Blount find a copy of the manuscript? The 
fact that the play had neither been performed nor published in Quarto before 
1623, would clearly indicate that the manuscript came directly from the play­
wright. Si nce Shakespeare had died in 1616, the on Iy other poss ible owner 0 f the 
original manuscript would have been Marlowe. 

All's Well That Ends Well 

The Airmont edition of All's Well That Ends Well, edited by Beryl Rowland 
of York University, published in 1968, has a good summary of the play's main 
plot (p. vii ): 

All's Well That Ends Well is about a clever girl who, as a reward for healing the 
King of an apparently incuroble disease, gets herself nUrri ed to an unwilling and 
proOigale young nobleman . Her new hu~band refu~es III ,Ieep with her until she 
ha , ((l nU'lwei u child or him. and hi s imposs ible c'oneiilion is fulrilled when. wilh ­
out hi s kno,,'kdgr , she SUb,lilut.:S he rse lf I'or a young \\'01\l;lr1 whom he inlends 10 

,educt' . 

The pla y was obviou sly written as light and witty entertainment, with all 
of the ingredient~ to titillate an Ui/.abethan audience: virginity, lust, seduction, 
lllve , and humorous dialogue with a I:a lsra frlan scoundrel ;ll1d braggart named 
Parolles, who serves the young nobleman in somewhat the same manner that 
falstaff served Prince IJal. Yet, throughout the play there are serious and astute 
philosophical observatiuns, a sure sign that Marillwe wrote it. 

The centrJI character , ~Ielcna, \"ho (ures the King, is virtue personihed. 
Her love for Bertram, the son of the Countess, her foster parent, leads her to 
unusual feats llf theatrical deception, including a faked death . 

The playwright undoubkdly gllt his pillt j'roll1 William Pain ter's Plliace of 
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Plc((5l1rc, published in 1566. Scholars have assigned a tentative writing date of 

1603-04. Inasmuch as there is no record of a contemporary performance, and 

that it was first published in Ihe 1623 !'irst Folio, this may be one of the plays 

th a t Ed Blount got directly from Marlowe himself. A. L. Rowse writes in The 
An/lorated Shakespeare (p. 635): "The texl , from the First Folio is a fair one and 

offers few difficulties. These, however, are fascinating, for they appear to indi­

cate a copy from the author's own manuscript." 

Since there is no mention in Shakespeare's will of any plays, including 

unperformed and unpublished ones, we can assume that this one carne from 

Marlowe. 

The play has its notable Marlowisms. In Act J, Scene 3, the Clown, refer­

ring \0 the heroine's name Helena, sings: 

Was this fair face the cause, quoth she, 
Why the Grecians sacked Troyl 
Fond done, done fond, 
Was this King Priam's joy' 

[1.3.74-771 

Which reminds us of Doctor Faustus who, in awe, utters , upon seeing the beau­

tiful Helen of Troy, "Was this the face that launch'd a thousand ships and burnt 

the topless towers of Illium l " 

Another Marlowe clue is a reference to "Bajaze t's mule," in Act 4, Scene 1 

(47). The editor's footnote reads: "13ajazet is the Turkish sulta n in M a rlowe's 

TamburIaine." There are also other clues, such as references to the I3ible and 

Calvinist teachings, which Marlowe knew by heart from his studies at Corpus 

Christi. The Clown reflects Calvin's doctrine of "innate depravity" when he tells 

the Countess: "I have been, madam, a wicked creature, as you and all flesh and 

blood are; and, indeed, I do marry that I may repent " ( 1.3.27-28). Was this Mar­

lowe speaking to the Countess of Pembroke 
The Clown , through whom Marlowe speaks, also alludes to the ongoing 

conflict between Protestants and Catholics when he tells the Countess (Act [, 

Scene 3): "If men could be contented to be what they are, there were no fear in 
marriage; for you ng Charbon the puritan and old Poysam the pa pist, howsome'er 

their hearts are sever'd in religion, their heads are both one, - they may jowl 

horns together, like any deer i' th' herd" (39-43). 
We nnd a nother Marlowe clue in Act 4, Scene 3 (45-47) in which we learn 

that Helena has faked her own dea th , which is faithfully confirmed by the rec­
tor, much like Marlowe's own faked death at Deptford, confirmed by the Coro­

ner's Inquest. 
The play is full of Marlowe's philosophical (Ollllllents, such as his view of 

Elizabethan modernism, when Lafeu rcmdrks (,\(t 2, Scene 3): 

Th<'y 'dY nllr;!c\es art' p"st; ,'!ld W<' have our philo,,,phi(,d persol" . to !luke' rnod­
ern and familiar, thing, ,upnndlural ,tnt! c~u,;<'k,;,. Hen<e i, il that we mak<' triOes 
or' terrors ensconcing ourselves inll> s<'c oning kn()\"'cdge, ",hen we ,hould subml! 
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ourselves to In unknown fear. Why, 'tis the rarcst Jrgument of wonder that hath 

shot out in our IJtter times. 


Do we not still hotly debat e these sa me issues in the twenty-first cent ury l 

Pericles, Prince of Tyre 

Pericles, Prillce of Tyr e, wa s entered in tht: Stationers' Register in 1608 by 
Edward Blount, Marlowe's executor, but was neither published by him nor 
included in the First Folio o f 1623. This has led scholars to belie ve that there was 
a problem with the pla y. Nt;' vertheless, it was publi shed a yea r later, 1609, by 
Henry Gosson in two Quarto ed itions. Other editions foll owed in 1611, 1619, 1630 
and 1635. It was finally included in the second printing of the Third Folio of 
1664 and the Fourth Folio of 1685. 

As for the sources of the play, the srory appears to have originated as a pagan 
Greek romance, which was later translated into Latin . John Gower, an Engli sh 
poet, contemporary with C haucer, included the stor y in hi s Co nfessio Amalltis, 
written about~rhe fact that Gower is the narrat o r in Pericles and that the play 131 0·1 
opens with an acknowledgment of him as its literary father, indicates that Gower 
was indeed the chief source of the play. 

But in all oftheearlierpublicationsofthestory, the hero is known as Apol­
lonius . How did he become Pericles l Alfred R. Bellinger, ed itor of the Yale edi­
tion orthe pla y, provides an important clu e ( p. 114 ): 

IrIt seems more likel v rhat rhe name was suggesred by Py rocl es, the hero of rhe 

romance , Tile CO llnress of Pemb roke 's Arnl riia wrirren by Philippe Siri ll ei, published 

in 15';)0. There a re other instances 01' similarity ... which make it probable thar 

Sidney 's book was fresh in the playwright 's mind . 


It would also indicate that Marlowe started writing the play much earlier 
in his caree r, whiit' he was still part of the Countess's coterie, and finish ed it later. 
The title page ol'thc 1609 qua rto read s ( in modern spelling): 

The Late, And much admi red Pla y, Called Pericles , Prince ofTyre. With rhe 

true RelatIOn of th e whole Histories, a dventur~ s. ,lJld fortunes of the SJid Prince: 

As also, The no less strange, dnd worth y accidents, in the Uirth and Life, of his 

Daug hter 1'.-'lJriana. I\S it harh been divers and sundr y rimes deted by his Majesty's 

Servants, at the Globe on the Hank-Side. Uy William Shake,pcare. Imprinted at 

London fo r Henr y Casson. dnd are III be sold at the sign of the Sovereign Paler­

nllster row, &c. 16119 [Bartlett, p. 41 ] . 


ft \vould seem that the publication of the pla y and it s sale to Hi s Majest y's 
Servants prov ided the playwright with the cash needed to maint ain himself, and 
that it was Blount who managed all or thi s as an agent ror his exiled author. 

l3ecause of its joyo us, happ y ending, Pericles became a very popular play. 
But it also has seve ral Marlowe c1ut's. In the jousting sce ne, where the knights 
are con tending for Thaisa 's hand. the fourth knight states his motto as: "Qui me 
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alit me extingult," which is a variation of i'vlarlowe's motto "Quod me nutrIt me 
destruit" (2.3. 34). Also, Thaisa's fother , the King, questions Pericles: 

King, Si r, you arc music's master. 

Pericles. The worst of all hcr scholars, my good lord. 


125. 30-311 

Was Marlowe refe rring to his days <It the King's School where students were 
admitted because of their ability to sing' The conversation continues: 

King. Sir, my daughter thinks very well of you; 
Ay, so well that you must be her maSler. 
And she will b~ your sc holar: Ihcrefore look t,) ii , 

Perides . I am unwonh y for her schoolmasler. 
King . She thinks nOI S,) 

137- 411 

Was M;Jrlowe thinking of the days when he tutored the princess Arbella 
at the behest of Lord 13urghley' Th.:re are many questions that will only be 
answered by continued research. The basic facts about Marlowe's life have 
been slowly gathered by scholars and biographers . But when we consider that 
Shakespeare's life has been the subject of thousands If not mIllions of hours of 
research by armies of scholars who have come up with nothing related to the 
man as a professional WrIter, we wonder what could be uncovered if the same 
amount of time and effort were made to answer the many questions raised in 
this book . 

Pericles is full of great action, including an attempted murder of Marina by 
her adoptive father, King Leonine, urged by his Lady Macbeth-like wife Dionyza. 
After Leonine tells Marina that he is dUly-bound to kill her, his pl an is inter­
rupted by an attack of pirates who then kidnap Marina. They sell her to a brothel, 
where she refuses to submit to the owner's ple,ls to be productive. Marlowe 
knows how to use suspense to keep hiS audience guessing as to what will come 

next. 

Cymbeline 

There IS so much exIle, banishment, disguise, mistaken identities, and dirty 
tricks in Cymbclil1c, that one is t.:mpted 10 believe that the only author who 
could possibly have written it must have experienc.:u some of it. ShJkespeare's 
humdrum lif':;ls business man , pMt theatr.: own.:r and Jctor cannot Jccount for 
a tenth ofwhJt goes on in this (ompl.:x and chaotic play, The plot is so prepos ­
terous that Dr. John so n wrote of it ( Bloom, p. 615): 

To remark the folll' of Ihe lictinn, Ihe Jbsurclilv of Ihe conducl, Ihe confusion u( Ihe 
names, and manners nfdltfcrcl1l limes, dnd Ihe impnssibilily o(lh" ,'venlS in any 
sys lem of life, we're 10 WJSle crili(lSm upon unresisting Imbecilit y, upon fJuil s 100 

evident for delcclion, JnJ 100 gro>s fur aggra valion . 
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Harold Bloom writes (p. 615 ): "Nothing fits, anythinggoes in this wild play, 
where Shakespeare reall y does seem to lei himself range ." 

Henry N. Hudson, in Shakespeare: His Life, Art, alln Characters, writes 
(p .420) : 

In it s structure, CYlll belinf is more complex and invo lved than any other of the 
Poet 's dramas. It includes no it'ss than four dis tinct gro ups of perso ns, with each 
it s seve ra l interests and course of action . Fi rst, we have Im ogen, Posthumus, 
Pisanio, and lachilllo. in which group the main interest is ccn tered; then, the 
King, the Queen, and Prince C1otcn, the Queen's sh rewd blockhead ofa so n, 
who carryon a separate scheme of their own; nex t , the Imperial representative, 
Lucius, who comes first as Roman Ambassador to reclaim the neglected tribut e, 
and then as general with an arm y to enfo rce it; la st, o ld llelarius and the two los t 
Princes , who eme rge from their hiding - place to bear a leading part in bringing 
about the catastrophe . 

Yet, the playwright manages to pull the whole thing off quite brilliantly. 
Schlegel called Cymbe line "one of Shakespeare's most wonderful compositions ." 
Bloom has a different view, when he says, "You can say ofCymbeline that noth­
ing works or that everything does, because the play is a large ellipsis with too 
much le ft out." He goes on later to say (p . 635): 

Shakespeare ca nnot stop himself. in hi ., run -on self· parodies .... COIllpubive se lf­
pJrody does not eXist elsewhere in Shakespeare; In CylI/bdinc it passes all bounds . 
Shakespeare prohably CJnnot stop, or if he \"ill not stop , that hardly alters the 
critical question: Why is the s~ lf- travesty so unrelenting! 

It probably had more to do with Marlowe's state of mind at the time than 
with Shakespeare's. Scholars keep trying to ftnd in the man William Shakespeare 
what is not there. If we simply recognize that the name Shakespeare is a cover 
for Marlowe, then we can go to the real source of the unrelenting se lf-travesty. 
l3Ioom seems to put his rInger on it when he draws our attention to Act 5, Scene 
4, in which Posthumus is put in prison. Alone he speaks: 

Most welcome, hondage l for thou art a way, 
I think , to liberty. Yet am J better 
Than one tha t's sick 0' the gout , since he had rather 
Groan so in perpetuity than be cur 'd 
By the sure physician dl'a th , who is the key 
To unbar these locks. 

\5.4.3 - tl \ 

It \",as tvIJrlowe's bos~, Lord 13urghley, who suffered miscr;]bly from the gout. 
Posthumu s then falls asleep and hJS all elaborate weird dream in which his fam­
ily appear~ in a circle ;]fOUnO III ill. III poetic chant they d.::scribe what has hap­
pened to him . They call for Jupit er to appl'ar, which he oocs Jntl predict s future 
happiness for Posthumus . Thl' o rL';] III thl'n l' nos . Posthumus "wakes. li e says: 

'Ti,; ,till a In:ull , or ,·Ist· .\u(h sturf a, InaJlllen 
'illngut' dnJ braill nut; l.'ithl.'r ho th or Ilothing ; 
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father? And in Act 3, Scene 4 (61), Imogen refers to "false Aeneas," a reference 
to the story of Dido, tht' subject of rv!arlowc's earliest play, of which we find ref­
erences throughout the plays in the First Folio. In addition, Marlowe referred 
to the tale of Philomel in his dedication of Watson\ Amilltae Caudia to the 
Countess of Pembroke. 

Cymbeline is one of the twenty plays that saw its first publication in the First 
Folio. As for sources, elements of the complex plot were taken from Holinshed, 
early French romances, and Bocaccio's novels. The French romances had to be 
read in French, and Bocaccio had to be read in Italian. Marlowe could read both. 
Only King C)'mbeline was hi~toric.dly real. Allthe other characters were fabri­
cations of the playwright. 

The Winter's Tale 

The Winter's Tale is a play based on J novel, PanJosto, by Marlowe's old 
belated friend Robert Greene who died in 1592 . Greene, born in 1558, was six 
years Marlowe's senior. He attended SI. John 's College at Cambridge from J575 
to 1578. He is best remembered for his diatribe, A Crolltsworth of Wit bought 
with 11 Millioll of !?cpentcllcc, written during his final illness and edited and pub­
lished by Henry Chettle. Orthodox scholars assume he was referring to Shake­
speare when he wrote of "an upstart crow, beautified with our feathers ... and 
in his own conceit the only Shake -scene in the country." Greene was actually 
referring to Edward /\lIeyn, the famolls actor, who was the great Shake-scene of 
the time and was hated by Greene. In 1592, William Shakespeare was a complete 
unknown. Frederick E. Pierce, editor of the Yale edition of the play, writes 
(p . 128): 

The novel- or novelette , for it can be read in an hour-frum which Shakespeare 
drew most of the plot of his Willter's '{ale was Pandvsta: tile Friumph of Time ... 
which fir st appeared in 1588 and was a "best-seller" for years before Shakespeare 
dramatized it. 

In other words , the playwright took a friend's inferior novel and, after mak­
ing considerable improvements, turned it into a successful play that has survived 
f'our ll'nturies. It w.), lirst st8ged in the Spring DC 1611. It seems to have becomc 
a i"avorIte at King Jdllles's court. No QU.Hto l'ditioJ)s of it exist, and apparently 
irs lirst ap~)l'arJnCe In print was in the rirst I'olio Ill' 1623. 

Thl' pia)' is fast moving, with <Ill easy-to-follow pillt, without the cross­
weaving or several subsidiary plot . .; as in C),III/Ielillc. At the opening we are told 
that Lcontt's, King of Sicily, Jnd Polixenes, Kingof 13ohemio, were raised together 
as children and have become close lifelong friends. Prolixenes has been on an 
~xtended visit to Sicily and now is anxioLlS to return home. But I.eontes urges 
him to stay a week longer. Polixenes protests that he must leave. Leonles then 
asks his wife, Hermione, to usc her powers to persuade her husband's friend to 
stay. The Bohemian king finally gives in and agrees to stay another week. 
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But when Leont es sees his wife, acting the good hostess, go off' with Polix­
enes to make surc that he is well cntC'rtained, Leonte's begins to suspect that the 
two are having an aff;lir. His paranoid nature quickly erupts mto raving sex ual 
jealousy bordering on the psychotic. He orders his luyal advise r, Camillo, to 
poison Polixenes. l3ut Camillo IS too moral to carry out the order and urges 
Polixenes to leave Sicily immediately. Polixenes persuades Camillo to go with 
him to the awaiting ships, and the two it-ave together. 

When Leontes learn s that Polixenes and Camillo have set sail for Bohemia, 
he is furious. He confronts Hermione, calls her an adulteress and orders her to 
prison. 

Meanwhile, after twenty-three days in prison Hermione gives birth pre­
maturely to a little daughter. Paulina, the Queen's lady, insists that the King be 
made aware of the new-born child, and when she does, Leontes calls it a bas­
tard, "the issue of Polixenes," and orders Paulina's husband, Antigonus, to get 
rid of it. 

Antigonus swears to do so, and departs with the child. 
Leontes orlkrs that Hermione be tried for adultery and conspiracy. He has 

already sent emissarlcs to Delphos to get a sealed oracle. When they return, the 
trial begins. Hermione defends ht:rself eloquently. When the sealed Oracle of 
Delphi is opened <lnd read , it states: 

Hermione is chaste; Polixt'ne) blameies); Camillo a true subject; Leontes a jealous 
Iyranl; his innoce nl babe Irul y begotien; and Ihe king shall live withoul an heir If 
thai which is lost be nOI found . 

But Leontes rejects the Oracle as false. Just then a servant enters and informs 
the King that his son is dead. Hermione swoons and Leontes orders her to be 
carried out and tended to. He has a sudden change of heart and begs Apollo for 
forgiveness. 

Paulina then enters and tells the King that the Queen is dead. Leontes is 
overwhelmed with guilt and grief. 

Meanwhile, Antigonus and the new-born infant have landed on the coast 
0[" l3ohemia. (Scholars have noted thaI Ihe author got his geography wrong.) 
The infant is named Perdita, the lost one. He lays down the infant with a bun­
dle and leaves. Antigonus is then killed by a bear. A shepherd, looking for some 
lost sheep, hnds the infant with the bundle and brings them home. The bundle 
is full of gold. 

Sixteen years pass and Perdita is now a beautiful young lady. She is being 
courted by Florizd, the King's son, but without the King's knowledge. 

Pol ixcnes. I have Ihis inlclligence. thai he is sc ldom from Ih(' house of J mosl 
homel)' ,hepherd; J man . the v say, that from Vl'f:' nOlhing, and beyond Ihe irnagi­
IlJtion of his nC'ighbollr" IS grown InlO an unspe.Jkabk eSLllt' 14.2 41 ·-461. 

The King ~llHI ClIndlo deCIde 10 go 10 the shc'phcrd\ h()use In disguise to 
Sl'l' whal Florill'l has heen lip to . 

MeJllwhile, the ,lUtllOr 1I1lro<iuccs ,1 ncw ch.HJctcr III the play, Autolycus, 
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who, in the words of Kenneth Muir, "might have stepped out of any of the pam­
phlets by Greene or Dekker, exposing the iniquities of the criminal." 

Greene had indeed written pamphlets on cony-catching and described in 
detail how pick pockets and cut-purses would use ballad singing as a means of 
drawing a crowd and then announce that someone h'1d lost his purse, so that 
the bystanders would put their hands exactly where their purses were. 

The King and Camillo arrive at the shepherd's house just as a sheep-shear­
ing feast is obout to take place. Marlowe may have gotten the idea of a sheep­
shearing feast after a visit ttl the Countess of Pembroke's vast estate at Wilton 
which wos known as a sheep farm. 

Polixenes, in diguise, then engages his son in friendly conversation . When 
the subject turns to the young man's love for Perdita, he tells his father that were 
he to become the most imperial of monarchs, he would not prize the position 
without Perdita's love. The King in anger removes his disguise, denounces his 
son and tells him that unless he give up Perdita he will be barred from succes­
sion. He then warns the shepherd not to let his son enter that house or else face 
the punishment of death. 

To sum LIp the rest of the story, Perdita and Florizel sail to Sicily where he 
tells Leontes that he has been sent by his father with greetings. Leontes is struck 
by Florizel's resemblance to his father and the beauty of the princess , whom he 
calls a goddess. Later it is revealed that Perdita is the King's long lost daughter. 
Perdita then asks to see the sWtue of her mother kept in a chapel in Paulina's 
house. Meanwhile , Polixenes and Camillo have come to Sicily to take part in the 
grand reconciliation. 

In Act 5, Scene 3, Leontes, Polixenes, Florizel, Perdita, Camillo, Paulina 
and attendants all enter the Chapel in Paulina's house. When Paulina draws back 
a curtain and reveals the statue of [fermione, Leontes remarks that when 
Hermione died sixteen years before, she was "not so much wrinkled; nothing 
So aged as this seems" (27 - 28). 

The life-like statue begins to move, and to the amazement of all, Paulina 
orders the statue to descend. And she does. Leontes embraces her. "0' she's 
warm," he exclaims (110). Paulina then tells Perdita to kneel before her mother 
and ask for her blessing. Hermione then thanks Paulina for preserving her all 
these years so that one day she might see her daughter again. 

And so, we have another faked death and resurrection. Like Marlowe, 
Hermione \Vas reported dead, but then lived in hiding-for sixteen years. But 
unlike I-Iermione, Marlowe was never resurrected. He may have dreamed of 
being resurrected as a great playwright, but that was not to be. l3y 1623, there 
were still too many people whose lives depended on the maintenance of the story 
that Marlowe had died. Robert Cecil had died in 1612, but Thomas Walsingham, 
Ed Blount, and Marlowe were still alive. Shakespeare had died seven years ear­
lier in 1616. l3ut sorneone's name had to be put on the First Folio, and Shdke­
speare's name made sense since he had already been associated with some of the 
pla)'s and was used by Blount to get the plays staged. Marlowe may have wished 
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the same kind of resurrection he gave to some of his characters, but it was not 
to be, 

Of course, the publishers oCthe First rolio had no idea what would be made 
of the authorship problem in the rears to come once it was discovered that the 
actor-businessman could not have written the plays, l)ut their aim was to pre­
serve these masterpieces for future generations, and Marlowe put enough clues 
in the plays so that any enterprising literary detective would be able to figure 
out the truth some day, Were Marlowe ever to be "resurrected" it would have 
to take place long after he had been truly dead, 

The Tempest 

Few oC the plays attributed to Shakespeare have been as difficult to ana­
lyze as The TWlpes{, It is considered the poet's last play, and therefore a kind of 
swan song, Of its source, Robert Lmgbaurn, editor of the Signet edition, writes 
(p, 125): 

There i, no known SllurCC r'or the pillt of -rile '( eli/pesT. As far as we know, The 
'(ell/pesl anu Love 's Lavor 's 1.051 are Shakesp\::He's two original plots"" The names 
of many of the characters probdbly ueriv~ (rom Thomas' History of Ililly (1549), and 
the name "Setebos" Jerives from Robert Eden's HiS/ory o{Travilile (1577), which 
mentions the "great devill Setebos" worshipped by the Patagonians, Shakespeare 
paraphrases a passage from John Florio's translation (1603) of Montaigne's ess~y 
on the American Indians, "Of the Caniballes" '" and he paraphrases a speech of the 
witch Medea in Ovid's Metall1orphoses - using Arthur Golding's translation (1567), 
which he apparently checked against the I.atin original. 

The idea of a ship damaged in a storm and taking shelter off a tropical 
island was probably suggested by Sylvester Jourdain's A Discovery of the Barrnu ­
das, published inihe island manages to feed and sustain the survivors until they 
can repair their snip and continue to Virginia, 

Ha rold 13100m con fesses to bei ng puzzled by certa i n aspects of the pia y. He 
writes (p . 6(2): 

The play is fundamt'ntall y plotlc'", ; , . It is a wddly experimental s tage com('dy, 
prOlllpt('d ultirn ;l!l' ly, I .,u'P(·(t, by 1\lull.lIVc·s /)o((or FrHlSII/S, Pfll,pero, Shak('­
sPl'an:'s magus, cMric's ,l narn(' that is the It~lian trdl1>lation of Faustus, which is 
th(' Latin cognom('n ("tht: t'.1Vorcu one") that Simon Magus the Cnosti c took when 
he went tll 1~()IllC , With "riel, a sprite ur angel ( the name is llebrew for "tht' lion 
o(Cod "), as his familiar rather th.ln M.ulolVe\ :-'1c'phi,lOphelc" Prospero is Shakc­
speare's anti-raust, and a linal trans(cndlng of Marlowt', 

1~loom is certainly right in ftnding an affinity in the play between Shake ­
speare Jnd iVlarlowe , although the latter was supposed to have been deaJ for 
eightecn years, li e writes further (p. (74): "t\uthorit y seems tll me the pla)"s mys­
terious preoccupation, I sa y 'm)'stcrious' because' Prospero's authority is unlike 
anyone elsc's in ShakespeJre," And that's becausc Prospero is Marlowe' Indeed, 

IbID. / 
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if we see the playas having been written by Marlowe, it begins to make sense, 
for it is Marlowe who speaks through Pruspero. 

The plJY open> with a violent tempes t and a shipwreck on the cuast of an 
island in the Mediterranean between Tunis and Italy. The island has only three 
inhabitants : Prospero, his daughter Miranda, and Caliban, their misshapen ser­
vant. Prospero and his daughter were exiled from Milan by his brother Anto ­
nio , who usurped Pros peru's position as Duke of Milan . 

Prospero , a very scholarly man, loved his books more than he loved power, 
and so he let Antonio run the y>ukedom . Eventually, Antonio, tired of playing 
second fiddle, sent Prospero and little Miranda into exile on this remote island 
where they found adequate shelter in a large cave. They found only one hum an 
being on the island, Ca liban, a savage, the son of the witch Sycorax, who had 
bee n exiled from Argier in North Africa to the island and died there leav ing her 
son to fare for himself. 

When Prospero found Caliban, he took him into his dwelling , taught him 
language with Miranda's help, treated him as one of the family until Caliban 
"didst seek to viulate the honor of my child." from then on Caliban would be 
treat ed as a se rvant and ~Iav e . 

Already \ve havt' the beginnings of Marlowe's own situation . He had been 
living in a state of exile since 1593 and it is possible that he had a daughter liv­
ing with him. l3ut wha t is Prosperu l He is an author, who creates characters, 
event s, ane! the world they live in . Miranda knows that her father has these cre­
ative powers and tells him: 

If by yo ur art, my dearest fa ther , you havt' 

Put the wild waters in this roa r, allay them .. .. 

0 1 I ha ve su Ifered 

"Vith those that I sa\, suffer: a brave vessel 

Who had no doubt some noble creature in her­

Dash'd all to pi eces .... 


Prospero. Be collec ted : 
No more amazement. Tell your pit eou s heart 
There's no harm done. 

11.2·1-2,5-8 ,14- 16 1 

In other word s, he had the puwer 10 create the tempest , wreck the ship, and 
save its passengers . And that is the sa me inventive power Marlowe had since he 
sta rted wr iti ng pla ys with characters that have become immortal. [n a sense, the 

'. 	 pla ywright is the god o f hi s ow n univen;e, crea ting a world of peop le from his 
own creative puwers, fictional characlers who have had as much influence on 
mankind as historica l person s. CcorgL' Morrison, in hi s book Christ ill Shake­
speare, underst ands tha t power of crcation vcry well. He explains (p. 13 ): 

It is Ilne mark Ur;\ grt',1t dramati , t that he loses him,ell ill the being, he creJ tes. He 
doc, not ITIJke them ,peak; it IS rathl'f as irhe li stened to them speaking . DIL'kt'llS 
u,eJ to laugh heartily at th~ «lInieal things Sdm Weller sa id, a, though he were 
hearing thelll (ur the lir'>! I I illC' . 
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You c~n gel al Danle or j\lillOn lhrough lheir poems: yo u cannol gel al Shake­
spe~re. He creales, and lhen his ChHJClerS go lheir way, speaking and alling as lhey 
will. The y are nol marionellc's, conI rolled by slrings which HC jerked by ~n eXler­
nal hand; lhe)' arc (rce and sl'if· dclc'rmlncd heings. The things lhey say spring from 
whal lh ey are. They belrav nOlhing ofwhal Shakcspt'are is. 

Prospero i ~ helped in his crl'ative labors by Ariel, his creative spirit, whom 
Prospera sends among hi s characters, to listen to them and see what they are up 
to. Although Prospera has created the m ;lIld put them in place and time, they 
have their own autonomy. Some are good , so me are evil, and they are as real as 
historical h Ll man beings. VVho can deny the reality of Hamlet or Othello or Lear 
or Juliet? Marlowe must have realized th a t there was something supernatural 
about his poetic genius. He could write as no one e lse had ever written or would 
ever write after him, To have that genius withal him was both a great blessing 
and a curse. And therefore, he had no choice but to write. 

Prospera tells Miranda how they were helped in their exile by a noble 
Neapolitan, Gonzalo: 

QUI o( his charil Y ... did give LIS, with 
Rich garments, linens, Sluffs, and necessa ries 
Which since have steaded much; so o( his gentleness, 
Knowing I lov'd my books, he furnish'd me 
From my ow n librar y with volumes that 
I pri ze above my l.)ukedom . 

112. 162- 1681 

The above could easily be seen as an account of how Ma rlowe was helped 
in hi s exile by Blount and Walsingham who also helped him find a comfortable 
COllage with a garde n when he returnt'd to England. T here, surrounded by books, 
he would cnntinue to turn out plays, which were taken to Shakespeare at the 
Globe theatre. 

If anyone truly lo ved books and needed them for his work, it was Marlowe, 
who had haunted the bookse ller s at St. Paul's, where he probably hrst met Ed 
Blount, who was to playa crucia l role in his life. As for Shakespeare, according 
to his will, he had no library and no blloks, not even a Bibl e. 

In Ac t 2, Scene I, we find the survivors of the shipwreck discLlss ing their 
predicament, with most of them bewailing th eir los~. But Gonzal o, optimistic 

by nature, sees the ir prese rvation as a miracle. 

CO/lZ(//o. Here everything ~dvJntageous to life .. .. How .llIsh and lusty lhe grass 
look sl How green l ... Thai our garment;; heing-<1 s they were-drench'tl in the 
sea, hold, notwithstanding, their freshness and glosses, being rather new-dy'd 
than stain'd ,vith salt "'Jter. ... i'-1etIJ inks our garments are now as fre sh as when 
we put them on lirst in ,\(ric, ,11 the marriage of the king 's fair daughl er Claribel 
10 the King of Tunis. 

Selil/;tia/l. 'Twas J "veet marriage, Jnd we pro!>per well in our return. 

;Idnun . Tunis \V,IS nc've r grac'd b c'for~ with such a par,lgon to their 'lueen. 

(;0/1;:(//0 No t since wido'v Dido·s time. 
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Alltullio. Widowl A pox 0' that' Huw came that widow (111 WiJow Dido ' 
Sebastia/l . What if he had '~lid "widllwt' r r\enea;' tool GooJ lord, how you take it' 
Adria//. "Widow Dido" s~lid you l You make me study of that. She wa, of Carthage, 

not of Tunis. 
Conwlo. This Tunis, sir, was Carthage. 
Adrian. Carthage l 

Gonzalo. I assure you, Carthage .. 
Sebastian. Bate, I beseech you, widow DiJo. 
Antonio. Oh, wiJow Dido l Ay, wiJow Dido! [2.1. 4':1-85,100-1011. 

Wh y all this bad i noge about Dicio? Th is was Ma rlowe's code, his way of let­
ting the world know that he wrote this play and all the others in the First Folio. 

However, it is in J\ct 4, Scene I, that Prospero describes the ethereal nature 
ofwhal he has crealeu: 

Ou r revels now are enJed: these ou r actors­
As I foretold you - were all spirits ,md 
Are melteJ into air, into thin air; 
And like the bascie.s.s fabric of this vision 
The cloud-capp'd towers, the gorgeous palaces, 
The solemn temples, the great globe itself, 
Yea, all which it inherit, shall dissolve 
And like this insubstantial pageant faded 
Leave not a rack behind: we are stich SlUff 
As dreams are made on, and our little life 
Is rounded with a sleep. 

1148-1581 

In Act 5, Scene I, Prospero enters wearing his magic robes. An author who 
can create out of nothing a drama filled with characters, gods and goddesses, 
fairies and elves, palaces and temples, is indeed a magician. He can even raise 
the dead. That is the mystery of story telli ng, of narrat ive i nven t ion, of fictional 

dialogue. Out of nothing something, very much like Genesis in which God cre­
ates the universe and its first humans out of the void and darkness. 

Why did Marlowe c1eciue to stop writing plJys? Probably because it was 
extremely hard work, even for a genius. I Ie had been writing plays and poetry 
nonstop for twenty years since his days at Cambridge. II was time to retire. It 
is also signiFicant that William Shakespeare also retired from acting at about the 
S ~lme time, loll. 

King Henry VIII 

King 1-Il!lIry VIII has all of the hallmarks of a iVlarlowe play. The conflict 
between the nobles and Cardinal Wolsey is dramatically stateu in the opening 
scene, the dialogue throughout i, brillant, the characters come alive, and the plot 
moves ahead in a tight, logical way. We know that it was lirst performed on June 
\9,1613 because a cannon used in the play accidentally caused a fire that burned 
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down the entire 13ankside theatre. The text that has come down to us is from the 
r-irst folio of 1623. 

It is probable that the pla y was written long before 1613, but was put aside 
beca use it (kalt with Queen Elizabeth's parents, the divorce of her father from 
his first wife, Katherine of Aragon , who IS treated quite sympathetically by the 
playwright. Henry's meeting with Anne Boleyn (spelled Bullen in the play) at 
Cardinal Wolsey's banquet, the secre t marri age . the extravagant co ronation of 
the new Queen. and the birth and baptism of Eli zabeth, future Queen of England . 
are important event s in this great royal drama. 

Another reason why we can believe that the play was written much earlier 
than its first performance in 1613 is the fact that the playwright had ended his 
writing career in 161 t. when The Tempest, his farewell play. was written . Thus. 
although Henry VUI may have been written earlier, it may not have been per­
formed until 1613 . 

Accord ing to R. A. Foakes. ed itor of t he A rden Ed i t ion of the pia y, the mar­
riage of King James's daughter Elizabeth to Prince Frederick , the Elector Pala­
tin e of Germ any, on Februar y 14. 1613, may have been the occasion for the 
production of the play, which was probably first performed between February 
and June of 1613. Concerning thc playwright's working methods, Foakes writes 
(p. xxxvi ): 

Man y pa~sdges in Ihe lexl give <I n impressio n Ih.!1 Shakespeare was reading two or 
three histories at Ihe ~a me time, ,lnd lak ing ideas from more than one .... In places. 
the sources w.:re ver y closely fo llo wed , and ~ome sp~t' c hes are little more than 
Holinshed or Foxe versirled .... Not a ni), did Shakespeare transfer material fr om one 
time and perso n 10 another. he also amalgamated stories from different sources, or 
took a phrase or an idea from one so urce not o therwise followed in the particular 
cont ex t. 

In other words , the complexity of the playwright's working style. which 
combined intensive research with the poetic skills of a literary genius. was 
beyond anything the ac tor-busi ness man Shakespeare was capable of. Writing 
good plays was hard work, even fo r a genius . As for the quality o f the First Folio 
text, Foakes writ es: "The te xt is a very good one .... [t seems to have been taken 
from a fair copy, possi bly made by a meticulous scribe. of the author's manu­
script." 

The qu es tion then arises: what happened to the original manuscript? Indeed, 
what happened to all the manuscr ipts of the thirty- six pla ys in the First Folio? 
This is a question that has puzzled Shakespearean sc holars for ce nturi es. Since 
sixteen of the plays in the First Foli o had neve r beFore been ent ered in the Sta­
tioners' Register or been published, where did Ed Blount find them? And what 
did he and the Pembroke brothers do with the manuscripts when the Folio was 
finally publi shed? \Vere they destroycd o r hidden ? Shakespeare made no men­
tion of an y unpublished manuscripts in his will drawn up shortly before hi s 
dcath in 1616. 

Concerning the text , r\. I. . I{()IVSC writes (p. 13 cJ9 ): 
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The text of Henry VIII, ,I S it dppe,lf<:d in the Folio, was a tidy one , with m.!ny more 
detailed stage-dircctions than u>ual, (Onslstl' (lt with the dramatist being retired in 
the (lluntry and giving full in>trmtlons for production. 

lt wasn ' t as if ShakespeJre, in retirement in Stratford, could lift up the 
phone and tell his colleagues in LDndon how the play should be staged. It was 
probably Marlowc who provided the play with its detailed stage-directions for 
production in 1613, and then further helped prepare the text for publication in 
1623. And it was probably Ed Blount who was the go-between in all of these 
activities. 

The play ends with the Archbishop Cranmer offIciating at tht' baptism of 
the newly born Princess Elizabeth and predicting that she will become the great­
est monarch in England's history. Of course, Elizabeth had to wait until the death 
of her sister Mary who, as the Catholic Queen , burned Cranmer at the stake, 
before she could ascend the throne and establish the dominance of the Protes­
tant Church of England. 

Harold Bloom makes an interesting observation in his essay on Henry Vlff 
(p.691): 

[cannot solve the puzzle of [{elirY VIII, and I have trouble responding to the rap­
ture and exultation of Cranmer 's concluding propheC)' concerning the infant Eliza­
beth. Dead at fift y-two, Shakespeare never experienced old age , and yet the styl e of 
old age dominates Henry VIII. 

Shakespeare may have not experienced old age, but we have every reason 
to believe that MJrlowe did . The text that has COl11t' down to us was first pub­
lished in 1623, when Ivlarlmvc was 59, which was old in those da ys. l3ut Mar­
lowe was capable of creating convincing characters or any age: witness King 
Lear. 
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The Marlowe-Shakespeare Code 

After having gone through the thirty-six plays in the First Folio, plus Per­
ides, one can only conclude that Christopher Marlowe did use a special code to 
indicate his authorship and provide ['uture generations with the clues needed to 
uncover the truth about hi s life and works. And it is obviou s that the code he 
used had to be carefully inserted in the plays , lest it might lead to the prema­
ture discovery that he continued to live after his reported death at Deptford in 
May 1593. Such revelation would have been fatal to himself and his protectors. 
But four hundred years later, it no longer matters. 

It was obvious to those in positions to know, that the name William Shake­
speare was being used to hide the identity of the true author. But apparently, 
there was no urgent need in those days to know who the true author was. Cer­
tainly that was the case before the publication of the First Folio. During that time, 
many works were published without authors' names on them. There were no 
drama critics writing 'for daily newspapers keeping track of a playwright 's 
evolution. There were no public libraries where a reader might peruse quarto 
editions of various plays. Before the publication of the First Folio in 1623, the 
name William Shakespeare appeared only on the unauthorized quartos of nine 
plays. His name first appeared in print in Septl'mber 1593 , several months after 
the alleged death of Marlowe, on the dedica tion page of Venus and Adonis. His 
name was not on the titk !-lage. Thc sai1l~' is ,llso true for Lucrece, !-lub[ished a 
vea r la ter. 

From 1594 to 1597 his name appeared nowhere. Then in 15911 it appeared 
on the title page of " quarto of /.o ve's Labo1lr's Lost as "Newly corrected and aug­
mented by W. Shakespere." In that same year, J 600- page volume entitled Pa/­
/lI.tis TUn/ill was published in which the author, Francis Meres. credited 
Shakespeare with having written twelve pla ys and revealed the existence of his 
"sugar 'd sonnets" being circulated alllong his friends. 

How many people read Meres' Pill/Ildis '/'omill( [t was a large book contain­
ing anecdotes and quotations under d hundred or more different categories. [t 
also mentions every English [)oct of the time. Therdore, it was probdbly read 
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by every poet mentioned in the book, J rather small circle of literary men, each 
one struggling to further his own career as a writer, 

l3y 1598, therefore, Christopher Marlowe was long forgotten and there was 
no suspicion that he was still alive, living and writing under a different name, 
Therefore, he felt safe in inserting his clues where they would be passed over as 
normal text, particularly if the reader or playgoer was not familiar with his early 
works. It should also be noted that writers were producing hundreds of plays 
that were being staged daily by theaters that needed new plays as badly as todar's 
cinemas need new movies, They didn't have time to wonder about who was 
writing the plays under the name William Shakespeare, Bernard Beckerman 
writes in Shakespeare at the Globe, 1962 (p, 8): 

In the total winter season from August 25, 1595, through February 28, 1596, elf 
which I've have considered four weeks, the company gave one hundred and 11fty 
performances of thirty different plays, Eighty-seven performances, or 58 per cent of 
the total, were of the fourleen new plays produteu that season, Five performances, 
3,3 per cent, were of one play, n,e Jew o[ /\,lalla, revived that sc'ason"" Only twelve 
performances,!\ per cent, were of the seven plays which were more than a year old, 
This distribution, which IS similar for all seasons covered by Henslowe's records, 
emphasizes how dependent the company was on the continuous addition 01' new 
plays to its stock in order to maintain itself in London, 

The sheer volume of production is staggering, How strenuous the demands 
must have been upon the actors l '" in the three-vear period from June 5,1594, to 
July 28, 1597, a leauing actor 01' the Lord Admiral's company, such as Edward Alleyn 
or Thomas I)ownton, had to secure and retain command of about seventy-one 
different roies, Df which number fifty-two or nfty -three were newly learned., ,, 

AlthDugh the names Df J large number of playwrights appear in Henslowe's 
records, most of the new pldys performed by the Aumiral's men came from the 
pens of less than ~ dozen men, 

Obviously, poets and playwrights writing for the theater, actors and pro­
ducers staging so many new plays had no time to think about who wrote what 
under Shakespeare's name, And by the time the First Folio was published in 
1623 , virtually everyone who had known Marlowe was dead, including William 
Shakespeare. But the most important individuals ­

E ward B ount, Sir Thomas Va singham, the Pembroke brothers-were 
still alive. 

What we have uncovered in our review of the plays in the First Folio is the 
code that lVlariowe used to indicJte his authorship , And you have to have read 
MarlolVe's works to be able to tlt-tect the code, which consists mainly of refer­
ences to the plays and poems f)ublished under his own name, 

l'viJrlowe also tnst'rtL,d biographical data which would go undctectt'd by a 
reader unfamiliar with the poet 's life: I'or cxample, in JlIlil~5 Ci/rsi/r, the charac ­
tcr of the cobbler was l1lodeled after his own Lllher; in Hellry V. Henry ct'le­
brJtes his victOr)' Oil St, C rispin's day, Sl. Crispin being tilt' patron saint of 
cobblers, another tribute bv Iv1Mlowe to his father; in King Lt'<lr the wa}' to [)uver 
Jnd the staggering view from the difTs WJs based on Marlowe's own childhood 
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experiences when he and his mother walked or rode from Canterbury to Dover 
to visit his mother's relatives; also the mention of the Catholic Seminary at 
Rheims in The t(l/l/ing oflhe Shrew refers to the spy mission he was sent on by 
Walsingham and Burgh1cy; in Measure for Measure we have a body-switching 
scene much like what must have taken place at Deptford; and in Romeo <lnd luliel 
there is a duel scent' that reminds us of the Jctual tight in which Watson saved 
Marlowe's life by slaying Hradley. And it may be in commemoration of that inci­
dent that Ivlarlowe put the name of Wat~on (TWAfSO) in the first letters of 
lines 4-9 in Sonnet 76. 

It should be noted that IlI/iw Coesar, !'v[easllre for Measure, and The Tam­
illg of the Shrew were not even in print until 1623 so that their hidden clues 
would not have been known to anyone before that time . 

The most frequently used code word by Marlowe was "Dido," from his ear­
liest play, Dido: Queen of Carthage. We found such references in Titus Andron­
iCIIs, The Taming of Ihe Shrew, Romeo and Juliel, A Midsummer Night's Dream, 
King lohn, The Merchanl of Venice, Hair/let, Cymbeline, and The Tempesl . 

We found references to Hero alld Leander in Two Gentlemen of Verona, 
Romeo and luliel, A Midsummer Nighl's Dream, The Merchanl of Venice, Much 
Ado About NOlhing, As You Like II, and Twelflh Night. 

Tamburlaine is referred to in King Henry IV (Part Two), and All's Well ThaI 
Ends Well. Dr. faustus is directly or indirectly referred to in The Merry Wives of 
Windsor, Hamlet, and Troilus and Cressida. 

Marlowe's motto, found on his portrait, Quod me lIutrit, me destruit is reit­
erated in Sonnet 73, Measure for Measure, and Pericles: Prince ofTyre. His famous 
dictum from Hero amll.fllI/der: "Who ever loved, that loved not at first sight l " 

is either repeated or alluded to in The Taming afthe Shrew, Romeo and juliet, A 
Midsummer Night's Dremll, Milch Ado About NOlliing, As You Like [I, Twelflh 
Nighl, The 'J'empesl, and King f-Icnry Vlfl. 

The themes of exile and banishment, the use of disguises, faked deaths, and 
mistJken identities can be found in Richard II, A5 You Like 11, Twelflh Nigh I, Mea­
5!rre for Meas/lre , King Lear, Coriolan/ls, rhc Winler's Tale, Ali's Well That Ellds 
Well, and Cymbeline . 

There are faked clcaths and resurrections in Nomeo and juliet, The Winlcr's 
rale, Much Ado Aboul Nothing, and 1111's \Velllhal Ends Well, 

Obviously, Marlowe, \Vho was forced to live in e,xile and banishment and 
whose death was faked, could write about all of this from experience. He also, 
no cioubt, u~ed disguises to hide his identity. We know that he used the name 
Thomas Shelton for his translation of DOli Quixole, which was published by his 
executor Ed Blount. 

Hallllet, the most famous play ever written, is fuJI of Marlowe clues. The 
same can be said of As You Like It. These are just the more obvious examples 
that we have found in the First Folio plays. J\ more intense ~earch will no doubt 
uncover many more such clues. 

Another important indication that Marlowe wrote the work> :tttributed to 
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Shakespeare is the enormous amount of biblical references one finds through­
out the plays. Marlowt'\ education at the King's School and Corpus Christi gave 
him an intimate knowledge of Holy Scripture, and according to Park Honan's 
2005 biography of Marlowe, the poet in his works "refers to biblical passages 
over a thousand times." And in the works that Marlowe wrote under the name 
William Shakespeare will be found even more biblical references. Whole books 
have been written citing these references. Marlowe's father owned a Bible. But 
Shakespeare, in his will, revealed that he owned not a single book, let alone a 
Bible. 

We have not even mentioned the sources of plays that clearly indicate Mar­
lowe's authorship: nle Winter'> Tille based 011 J novel by his friend Robert 
Greene, or l Inton)' ami Cic:op(1{ra, with its Pembroke - Daniel connection. 

Another proof that Calvin Hollman cites conftrming Marlowe's author­
ship of the first Folio plays is the work performed in the late nineteenth cen­
tury by Dr. Thomas C. Mendenhall, proft'ssor at a college that later became Ohio 
State University. The professor devised a purel), mechanical method of deter­
mini ng the writ i ng st yle of an aut hor by simply coun t i ng the letters in each word 
of that author's published works. With the use of graphs he was able to show 
that each author had his own peculiar characteristics in the use of words. 

Mendenhall hired several women to count the letters in the two million 
words written by Ben jonson, john Fletcher, Christopher Marlowe, William 
Shakespeare, joseph Addison, and others. One day, a wealthy Boston believer in 
the Baconian theory engaged Mendenhall to count the letters in the works of 
Francis Bacon and compare them with the works of Shakespeare. When the 
counting was completed, the graphs of the tWQ writers revealed no possibility 
of similitude. However, when Mendenhall analyzed Marlowe's works, he wrote 
In 1902: 

It was in the counting and plotting of the plays of Christopher Marlowe, however, 
that something akin to a sensation was produced among those actually engaged in 
the work. In the characteristic curve of his plays Christopher Marlowe agrees with 
Shakespeare as well as Shakespeare agrees with himself. 

What does all of this do for the average reader, the lover of Shakespeare' [t 
reveals the plays in a new light and explains what has hitherto been inexplica­
ble. The Sonncts begin to make sense. Some of the ch,Hacters, dialogues, and 
cvents in the plays begin to make more sense. What does it do for the biogra­
phers and historians of the future' It opens new vistas about the past, and pro­
vides an insight into the greatest literary mind in all o(human history, who was 
forced to live and endure his own tragic drama in siknce. 

There is nothing in all of liter,lIure, in all of history, that can match this 
story. 13ut in the world of" b:lizabethan England, with its incredible array of per­
sonalities involved in a life-allli-death religIOUS struggle, the most bizarre con­
spiracy in all of history could take place. 

For over a century, the author~hip L]uestinn has plagul'd LIS bec<lu.'ie of the 
great doubt t hat Shakespeare's biogra phy poses. Yet, wri ters con ti n ue to pou r 
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forth biographies of the Avon Bard. Of these biogr;)phers, Ron Rose nbaum writes 
In The Shakespeare Wars (p. xi): "at their worst Shakespearean biographers are 
like cardsharps, piling suspeLt suppositions upon shaky conjectures into rickety 
houses of cards." Sir Hugh Trevor-Koper, the eminent British historian has 
written: 

Of all the immurtal geniuses uf lilerdture, nunc is personally as elusive as William 
Shakespeare. It is eXdsperating and almosl incredible that he should be so. After 
all. he lived in the full daylight uf the English Renaissance, in the well-documented 
reigns of Queen Elizabeth and King James I .... Since his dea th , and particularly 
during the twentieth cen tury, he has been subjected to the greatest battery of 
organized research that has ever bet'n directed upon a single person. Armies of 
scholars, formidably equippt'd, have examined all the documents that could possi­
bly contain at least a mention of Shakespeare's name. One hundredth of this labor 
applied to one of his insignificant contemporaries would be sufficient to produce a 
substantial biugraphy. And yet the greatest of all Englishmen, after this tremendous 
inquisition, still remains so close to a mystery that even his identity Lan still be 
doubted. 

In other words, the need and yearning to know the truth is what has kept this 
problem alive for so long . We believe that we have at I;)st Cound the truth, so 
that future generations will understand how strange history can be, and how the 
author of the greatest plays ever written sufr-acc! a f;)te even stranger than those 
of his own heroes. 

Irwin Leigh Matus, in his IYY4 book, Shakespeare in fact , wrote (p. 10): 

I will confess that my most memorable evening of theater was at an off-Broadway 
production of Marlowe's Dr. i-'ausrus. I mmt agret' with my dear friend, Roy 
Kendall, that if this play had Shakespeare's name on it, it would be one of the 
most performed of classical dramas. 

Thus, the whole issue of "what's in a name 1" IS at the center of the author­
ship problem. And that is why the great plays that bear Marlowe's name are 
hardly performed today. Was Marlowe thinking of his own predicament when 
he wrote, "A rose by any other name is still a rose"l Had he resigned himself to 
"C he sera sera"~ 

And thu s, while the name of Christopher I"Jar/owe is hardly known today, 
even among universi ty students, we ha ve no doubt that the "M use's Darling" 
wrote the works that fall under the name of William Shakespeare. 

It is the fate of great genius to suffer at the hands of society. Mozart died 
in poverty and was buried In an unmarked grave. Marlowe lived in the prison 
of perpetual exile and yet produced the greatest pl,J)'s ever written. We owe it to 
future generations to restore him as the greatest literary genius that England has 
ever produced. 
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A Summing Up 

The year 2001 saw the publication of Diana Price's exh:lUstive study, Shake­
speare's Unorthodox Biography. In it, the author examined all of the documents 
related to the Bard of Avon unearthed by literary scholars during the past 300 
years, and came to the conclusion that William Shakespeare, also known as 
William Shakspere, was not a writer. "These documents," wrote Price, "account 
for the activities of an actor, a theatre shareholder, a businessman, a money­
lender, a property holder, a litigant, and a man with a family, but they do not 
account for his presumed life as a professional writer." 

[n contrast to Price's picture of Shakespeare based on documentary evi­
dence, we have Caroline Spurgeon's very different view of the poet-playwright. 
[n her book, Shakespeare'; Imagery and What 11 Tells Us, published in 1935, 
Spurgeon came to the conclusion that th.: author is "in many ways in charac­
ter what one can only describe as Christ-like, that is, gentle, kindly, honest, 
brave and true , With d.:ep undnstanding ,lIld quick sympathy for all living 
things." 

Obviously, we are faced with two very different people: Price's actor-busi­
nessman and Spurgeon's Christ-like poet, who resembles Christopher Marlowe 
far more than he does Shakespeare. Indeed, neither Francis Bacon nor the Earl 
of Oxford could be considered "Ch rist-like." 

Of course, Diana Price was not the first scholar to do a book-length study 
of Shakespeare's life and conclude that he was not the author of the works attrib­
uted to him. Probably the most incisive Jnd urbane book of that genre was The 
Shakespeare Problem Restaled by George G. Greenwood, Member of Parliament, 
"of the Middle Temple, Barrister-at-Law, sometime scholar of Trinity College, 
Cambridge," published in lY08. It was in that book that Greenwood made the 
distinction between the actor-businessman from Stratford, whn signed his name 
William Shakspere, and the name William Shake'speare used as a 110m de plume 
for the true author of the works. On Thomas Thorpe's edition of the Sonnets, 
the name is hyphenated as "Shake-speare." 

Considering that thL're is no documentary .:videncl': of Shakspere's educa­
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tion. Greenwood found it impossible to believe that works of so great a genius 
could suddenly emerge from this Stratford actor. He wrote (p. 66): 

If Venus arid Adollis is an ex traorJinary poem, so also is f.ove', L"bO/lr's LoS{ an 
extraordinar y play .... But besides containing some beautiful poetry, it coruscates 
with ingenious wit, and is full of quips anJ quiddities, quibbling, repartee, and 
word -play. Its author mllst have been not only a man of high intellectual culture, 
but one who was intimately acquainted with the ways of the Court, dnd the fash­
ionable society of his time, as also with contemporary fOfl'ign politics .... The names 
of the chief charactt'fs arc drawn from the leaders in the civil war in france, which 
was in progre,s between 15119 anJ 1594, ,md was anxiously wdtchcJ by the English 
public . 

Of course, Marlowe had written about that war in The Massacre at Paris. 
[n sum, Greenwood completely demoli~hel the Shakespeare legend, however, 
without offering an alternative candidate for authorship. Nevertheless. he 
bel ieved that Marlowe wrote some of the ea rlier pia ys at tribu ted to Shakespeare. 
He states (p. 156): 

Malone asserts (and gives arguments in proof ) that "there are certainl y very good 
grounds for believing that the !-'irst Part of the Contention or the Two Houses of 
York and Lancaster, etc., and The True Tragedie of RiLharde Duke of Yorke were 
written by the author or authors of the old King John printed in 1591." He at first 
thought that Greene and Peele (both University men, it m3Y be remembered) were 
the joint authors of the two old quarto plays, or that Creene was the author of one 
and Peele the other. Subsequently. however, he came to the conclusion that Mar­
lowe was the author of King John . 

One hundred years later. we can state that Malone's assertions were cor­
rect. But the big question has always been . if Shakespeare didn't write the works. 
who did? The first American to seriousl y doubt Shakespea re's authorship was 
Delia Bacon. a brilliant woman who made a successful career as a lecturer on 
history. Some of her students considered her a genius. 

Born in 1811 in Tallmadge. OhIO. Bacon turned her interest to literature in 
1852. reading all of Shakespeare and coming to the very unorthodox conclusion 
that the plays in the hrst F() lio revealed a well-hidden, comprehensive philos­
ophy which could ha ve ()nly been written bv several phil()sophcrs- including 
rrancis Bacon. Sir W;iltl'f IZalc·igh. anll othl'l's. She decided to pursue her research 

and writing in England. 
She remain l'd in [:.ngland lil'l' vear,. corresp()nding with Emerson . Ca rlyle. 

and Hawthorne . spending her last months in sickness and near povert y in Strat­
ford-upon-Avon where she had hoped to be able to open Shakespeare's tomb. 
She wrote in one of her letters: "The archives of this secret philosophical soci­
ety are buried somewhe re. perhaps in more places than one." 

Her obsession with the authorship myster y affected her mind. and she was 
brought back to the United States in April 1858. The opening chapter of her pro­
jected book had been published by Putnam's Monthl y in January 1856. hut when 
the book itsdf was published, it was larg('ly ignored, probably eclipsed by the 
Civil War. She died in Sept(,rtlber of 1~59 . 
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The next important mik:~tonc in pursuit of the true author of Shakespeare's 
works wa~ <l book written by Thomas 1. Looncy (pronounced Loney), "Shake­
spclIre" Idelilifiec1 liS Ldward de Vere, the 171h Earl ufOxJord, published in 1920. 
Of this book, Charlton Ogburn wrote in his massive tome, The Myslerious 
William Shakespeare (p. 145) : 

Looney did what no one had done before. He approached the quest for the 
author systematically, and with a completely open mind .... He deduced seventeen 
characteristics of the author and then set out to comb through the annals of the 
Elizabethan age to see who would come closest to possessing them. 

The man, in Looney's opinion, who tit all of the characteristics was none 
other than Edward de Vere, the 17th Earl of Oxford. Looney's work was so 
impressive that Hamilton Basso, in an article in The New Yorker of April 8, 1950, 
wrote: 

He is an earnest level-headed m,ln who hds spent years trying to solve the world's 
most baffling literary mvstery .... Ir the case were brought to cOUr!, it IS hard to see 
how M r. Looney could lo;,e. 

Thu~ was born the Oxfordian theory, which has spurred the publication of 
many books and articles on the subject. Among them was Shakespeare: The Man 
Behind Ihe Name by Dorothy Ogburn and Charlton Ogburn, Jr., published in 
1962, The Mysterious William Shakespeare by Charlton Ogburn in 1984, Joseph 
sobran's Alias Shakespeare, published in 1':1':17, and Mark Anderson's 2005 thick 
tome, "ShClkespeare" by Another Name. 

However, the main problem with the Oxford theory are the dates: he was 
born in 1550 and died in 1604. Diana Price writes (p. 166): 

Ultimately, the Oxfordian attempt to undermine the traditional chronology falls 
apart because they really orfer nothing in Its place .... In fact, the Oxfordians offer 
no chronology at all and the dating or the plays turns out to be an issue in which 
they prove to be especially, one might say woefully, weak. 

The earliest urthe foirst folio plays is believed to have been written in 1590, 
when Oxford was 40, and the 100test in 1612, t:ight years after the Earl's death. In 
fact, thirteen of the plays were written after Oxford's death. 

Also, there is no indication that Oxford had the kind of genius found in 
the plays and poems attributed to the Bard of Avon. Oxford himself was a t01I­
en ted poet, bu t not a gen ius. C. S. Lewis said of hi m: "Edward de Vere, Earl of 
Oxford, shows, here and there, a fOlint tOllcnt, but is for the most part undistin ­
guished and verbose." Nor did he leave a legacy of works under his own name 
that cuulcl be considered \,'orb of genius. Marlowe did. Not unly was Marl()we 
an extraordin,lI'Y genius, but tht: dales III like a glove . 

It was CalVin 1101'1'm,1n who, in hl'i hook The Murder aJ Ihl;' MUll IVha 
11'(/5 Shflkcspet.lre, lirst aci"Jnccci th~' theory thJt ~1,Hlowe did not die at Dept­
Cord a~ reported. It was puhlished in IY55, and an article in h'llIire magazine 
ahuut it caused J bit of J stir. ,.\t that time I was editor of The Universal Library, 
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Grosset & Dunlap's paperback line. It was my job to rind interesting books to 
reprint. One day Calvin Hoffman (amI' to my office' in the hope of getting us 
to reprint his book. I had read several Shakl'speart' plays in high school and 
college, but had no knowledge of the authorship problem. I didn't even know 
that there was such a problem. I assumed like so many other college gradu­
ates that Shakespeare's authorship hJd been solidly establlshed and verified by 
documentary evidence. But after reading Hoffman's book, I realized that such 
was not the case. In fact, it was the reading llfthat book that turned me into a 
Marlovian . 

In this present book, I have carried llil where Calvin Hoffman left ofr. It 
has not been my aim to disparage the legend that has grown up around Shake­
speare's alleged authorship . All of that has been very well done by Delia Bacon, 
Sir Greenwood, Thomas Looney, the Ogburns, Sobran, Price, and others. My 
purpose has been to offer an alternative story that provides logical and rational 
explanations of what took place during the years when the plays and poems were 
written. It requires changing the way you look at things, and when you do so, 
"the things you look at change." 

If it means believing that an incredible conspiracy took place which has 
caused the authorship problem, then that is something each lover of Shake­
speare's works must contend with. As history has shown, it is easier to believe 
a credible falsehood than an incredible truth. Yet, one fact we can be certain of 
is that the thirty-six plays in the First Folio did not write themselves. They were 
written by a superb litt'rary genius who was also a professional writer. No ama­
teur, no dilettante could havt' written them. That is why it is important to read 
the entire Marlowe-Shakespeare (anon as one body of work in ord er to see the 
continuity between Marlowe's works written before Deptford and those written 
after. Only one mind could have written them. Although at that time many writ­
ers collaborated in writing plays, it was Marlowe's forced isolation that pre­
cluded any collaborative effort. And that is why the plays in the First Folio stand 
out as the miraculous work of an extraordinary genius working alone. And that 
is why we must know who he was. 





Postscript 

Is there any evidence of what Marlowe ma y have been doing after his dis­
appearance from Deptford in 15931 Apparently, there is. It appears that among 
Anthony Bacon's records at the Lambeth Palace Library is a list of the contents 
of a chest belonging to one Monsieur Le I)oux. Who was Le Doux' It is sus­
pected that he was an English spy posing as a Frenchman. Could he have been 
Mar lowe' A.D. Wraight writes in Shakespeare New Evidence (p. 58): 

Here in the Bacon Papers, waiting to be researched, IdY papers that had kept their 
secret for almost exactly four hundred years . They are the historical records relat­
ing to an intelligence agent who was introduced to the Earl of Essex as a" French 
gentleman" with the intriguing name Monsieur Le l)oux . The correspondence 
is acco rdingly all in hench , and in addition to his le!!ers Jnd a number of le!! ers 
from other, relaling to him, that" was the most exciting discovery of two vitally 
important document s: 

(I) Monsieur I.e L)oux\ personallihrary li sting fift y-six books belonging to 
him. 

( 2) A li st ofthecontenb of his (hest ofa"lgnment papers, numbering fifty ­
two bundles identifying their subject mattn and naming the correspondenb from 
whom he had received r"ports and confidenliallelters. 

While the above was written in 1996, it is now realized that the papers in 
the chest may not have been Le Doux 's after all, but could have been Anthony 
I3acon's own records with Le Doux 's chest being used as a kind of filing cabinet. 
However , there exist three letters from Monsieur Le Doux to Anthony Bacon, 
which together with other correspondence indicate the activi ties of the enigma tic 
agent from October 1595 to June 1596. Apparently, Marlowe, ifhe was Monsieur 
Le Doux, was working under Anthony Bacon , who directed Essex's intelligence 
service. Both Essex and Lord I3urghley and his son Robert were on the Privy 
Council and undoubtedly shared intelligence in fo rmation . The documents pro­
vide information on \..c [)oux's activities and movements. 

In the Bacon Papers there is a lengthy and dctailed memorandum instruct­
ing Le Doux on his assignment as an agent. Written in french by !:lacon's clerk, 
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Jacques Petit, it outlines the kind of information about the Princes and politics 
in Germany and Italy of interest to the Earl of Essex anJ Elizabeth's government. 
He is also <Isked to prov iJe "pa rticula r descript ions of each Pri ncipali ty of Italy," 
with detailed information about fortifications, economy, etc. It is obvious from 
these instructions that the agent had to be highly intelligent and intellectually 
curious, a good writer with a good memory. 

L.e Doux was then proviJed with passports signed by Essex dated London 
February 10, 15'15/6 and renewed at Richmond on March 10. The Bacon Papers 
also provide us with an itinerary of I.e f)oux's movements during this period. 
In October 15'15, Le l)oux was in England, and arrangements had been made by 
Bacon to have the agent stay at the ~)alatial home of the Haringtons, located at 
l3urley-on-the-Hill near Exton in RutlanJ. The Haringtons were an aristocratic 
family who were good friends of Anthony's. Sir John Harington, knighted in 
1584, had served with the Earl 01' Leicester in the Netherlands in 1585. While at 
Burley, Le Doux, accompanied by Jacques Petit, tutored the Haringtons' three­
year-old son. 

What followed was a raucous Christmas celebration during which the guests 
were regaled with a performance of Titus Anrfroniws. We wonder who it was 
who suggested this playas Christmas entertainment. Also, Le Doux became 
involved with a French Huguenot woman, an ex-nun, who had taken refuge in 
England and was working for the Haringtons. Petit, in an emotional letter, 
complained to Bacon about all uf this, and by January 1596 Le Doux was back 
on the Continent carrying out his intelligence instructions . There are three 
letters from Le Doux to Anthony Bacon during this period. Wraight writes: 
"As suddenly as he emerges in October 1595 at Burley, just as suddenly he 
disappears. We lose track of him after his last letter dated 22nd of June 1596 
written to Anthony Bacon from Mittelburg," a town in the Netherlands near 
Flushing. 

What is of gre<lt internt in all of this are several important things: the list 
of books purchased by Le f)oux, which vcry much fit s the kind of reading M<lr­
lowe was engaged in as an agent anJ as a playwright; and the letters written by 
hand by Le Doux may be the actual h'.ll1dwriting of Christopher Marlowe. 
Wraight thought that tht'se specimens of handwriting could be compared to the 
handwriting on the "Collier Leaf." that surviving page of manuscript from Mar­
lowe's Aiassacre at Paris, which may have been written by Marlowe him self. A 
reproduction of it is in Wr;light 's book. But iftht, "Collier Leaf," 3S some experts 
believe , was not written in iVlarlowe's hond , then comparing the hondwritings 
will be of no significance. It should be noted that the "Collier Leaf" is owned by 
the Folger Library in Washington. 

We owe all of this extraorJinary research to Dolly Wraight, who died in 
2002, and Peter Farey, the avid Marlovian whose website covers much of this 
material. What it implies is that Anthony Bacon knew that Marlowe diJ not die 
at Deptford and was still working as an intelligence agent for l.lurghley and ~(}n. 
ft olsa implies that the IJtter hJd no objection to Marlowe-Lc Doux working for 
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Essex under Anthony Bacon. Since Essex or Bacon himself was paying for all of 
this, the Cecils were probably delighted that someone other than themselves 
were paying for the Queen's intelligence. It should be notee! that such expendi­
tures drove Sir Francis Walsinghalll into virtual bankruptcy. 
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